World Journal of *Gastroenterology*

World J Gastroenterol 2016 December 14; 22(46): 10077-10266





Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc

World Journal of Gastroenterology

A peer-reviewed, online, open-access journal of gastroenterology and hepatology

Editorial Board

2014-2017

The World Journal of Gastroenterology Editorial Board consists of 1375 members, representing a team of worldwide experts in gastroenterology and hepatology. They are from 68 countries, including Algeria (2), Argentina (7), Australia (31), Austria (9), Belgium (11), Brazil (20), Brunei Darussalam (1), Bulgaria (2), Cambodia (1), Canada (25), Chile (4), China (165), Croatia (2), Cuba (1), Czech (6), Denmark (2), Egypt (9), Estonia (2), Finland (6), France (20), Germany (58), Greece (31), Guatemala (1), Hungary (14), Iceland (1), India (33), Indonesia (2), Iran (10), Ireland (9), Israel (18), Italy (194), Japan (149), Jordan (1), Kuwait (1), Lebanon (7), Lithuania (1), Malaysia (1), Mexico (11), Morocco (1), Netherlands (5), New Zealand (4), Nigeria (3), Norway (6), Pakistan (6), Poland (12), Portugal (8), Puerto Rico (1), Qatar (1), Romania (10), Russia (3), Saudi Arabia (2), Singapore (7), Slovenia (2), South Africa (1), South Korea (69), Spain (51), Sri Lanka (1), Sudan (1), Sweden (12), Switzerland (5), Thailand (7), Trinidad and Tobago (1), Tunisia (2), Turkey (55), United Kingdom (49), United States (180), Venezuela (1), and Vietnam (1).

Kuen-Feng Chen, Taipei

EDITORS-IN-CHIEF

Stephen C Strom, Stockholm Andrzej S Tarnawski, Long Beach Damian Garcia-Olmo, Madrid

ASSOCIATE EDITORS

Yung-Jue Bang, Seoul Vincent Di Martino, Besancon Daniel T Farkas, Bronx Roberto J Firpi, Gainesville Maria Gazouli, Athens Chung-Feng Huang, Kaohsiung Namir Katkhouda, Los Angeles Anna Kramvis, Johannesburg Wolfgang Kruis, Cologne Peter L Lakatos, Budapest Han Chu Lee, Seoul Christine McDonald, Cleveland Nahum Mendez-Sanchez, Mexico City George K Michalopoulos, Pittsburgh Suk Woo Nam, Seoul Shu-You Peng, Hangzhou Daniel von Renteln, Montreal Angelo Sangiovanni, Milan Hildegard M Schuller, Knoxville Dong-Wan Seo, Seoul Adrian John Stanley, Glasgow Jurgen Stein, Frankfurt Bei-Cheng Sun, Nanjing Yoshio Yamaoka, Yufu

GUEST EDITORIAL BOARD

Jia-Ming Chang, Taipei Jane CJ Chao, Taipei Tai-An Chiang, Tainan Yi-You Chiou, Taipei Seng-Kee Chuah, Kaohsiung Wan-Long Chuang, Kaohsiung How-Ran Guo, Tainan Ming-Chih Hou, Taipei Po-Shiuan Hsieh, Taipei Ching-Chuan Hsieh, Chiayi county Jun-Te Hsu, Taoyuan Chung-Ping Hsu, Taichung Chien-Ching Hung, Taipei Chao-Hung Hung, Kaohsiung Chen-Guo Ker, Kaohsiung Yung-Chih Lai, Taipei Teng-Yu Lee, Taichung City Wei-Jei Lee, Taoyuan Jin-Ching Lee, Kaohsiung Jen-Kou Lin, Taipei Ya-Wen Lin, Taipei Hui-kang Liu, Taipei Min-Hsiung Pan, Taipei Bor-Shyang Sheu, Tainan Hon-Yi Shi, Kaohsiung Fung-Chang Sung, Taichung Dar-In Tai, Taipei Jung-Fa Tsai, Kaohsiung Yao-Chou Tsai, New Taipei City Chih-Chi Wang, Kaohsiung Liang-Shun Wang, New Taipei City Hsiu-Po Wang, Taipei Jaw-Yuan Wang, Kaohsiung Yuan-Huang Wang, Taipei Yuan-Chuen Wang, Taichung

Deng-Chyang Wu, Kaohsiung Shun-Fa Yang, Taichung Hsu-Heng Yen, Changhua

MEMBERS OF THE EDITORIAL BOARD



No.

Argentina N Tolosa de Talamoni, *Córdoba* Eduardo de Santibanes, *Buenos Aires* Bernardo Frider, *Capital Federal* Guillermo Mazzolini, *Pilar* Carlos Jose Pirola, *Buenos Aires* Bernabé Matías Quesada, *Buenos Aires* María Fernanda Troncoso, *Buenos Aires*



AustraliaGolo Ahlenstiel, WestmeadMinoti V Apte, SydneyJacqueline S Barrett, MelbourneMichael Beard, AdelaideFilip Braet, SydneyGuy D Eslick, SydneyChristine Feinle-Bisset, AdelaideMark D Gorrell, SydneyMichael Horowitz, Adelaide



Gordon Stanley Howarth, Roseworthy Seungha Kang, Brisbane Alfred King Lam, Gold Coast Ian C Lawrance, *PerthFremantle* Barbara Anne Leggett, Brisbane Daniel A Lemberg, Sydney Rupert W Leong, Sydney Finlay A Macrae, Victoria Vance Matthews, Melbourne David L Morris, *Sydney* Reme Mountifield, Bedford Park Hans J Netter, Melbourne Nam Q Nguyen, Adelaide Liang Qiao, Westmead Rajvinder Singh, Adelaide Ross Cyril Smith, StLeonards Kevin J Spring, Sydney Debbie Trinder, Fremantle Daniel R van Langenberg, Box Hill David Ian Watson, Adelaide Desmond Yip, Garran Li Zhang, Sydney

Austria

Felix Aigner, Innsbruck Gabriela A Berlakovich, Vienna Herwig R Cerwenka, Graz Peter Ferenci, Wien Alfred Gangl, Vienna Kurt Lenz, Linz Markus Peck-Radosavljevic, Vienna Markus Raderer, Vienna Stefan Riss, Vienna

Belgium

Michael George Adler, Brussels Benedicte Y De Winter, Antwerp Mark De Ridder, Jette Olivier Detry, Liege Denis Dufrane Dufrane, Brussels Sven M Francque, Edegem Nikos Kotzampassakis, Liège Geert KMM Robaeys, Genk Xavier Sagaert, Leuven Peter Starkel, Brussels Eddie Wisse, Keerbergen



Brazil SMP Balzan, Santa Cruz do Sul

JLF Caboclo, *Sao jose do rio preto* Fábio Guilherme Campos, *Sao Paulo* Claudia RL Cardoso, *Rio de Janeiro* Roberto J Carvalho-Filho, *Sao Paulo* Carla Daltro, *Salvador* José Sebastiao dos Santos, *Ribeirao Preto* Eduardo LR Mello, *Rio de Janeiro* Sthela Maria Murad-Regadas, *Fortaleza* Claudia PMS Oliveira, *Sao Paulo* Júlio C Pereira-Lima, *Porto Alegre* Marcos V Perini, *Sao Paulo* Vietla Satyanarayana Rao, *Fortaleza* Raquel Rocha, Salvador AC Simoes e Silva, Belo Horizonte Mauricio F Silva, Porto Alefre Aytan Miranda Sipahi, Sao Paulo Rosa Leonôra Salerno Soares, Niterói Cristiane Valle Tovo, Porto Alegre Eduardo Garcia Vilela, Belo Horizonte









Brian Bressler, Vancouver Frank J Burczynski, Winnipeg Wangxue Chen, Ottawa Francesco Crea, Vancouver Jane A Foster, Hamilton Hugh J Freeman, Vancouver Shahrokh M Ghobadloo, Ottawa Yuewen Gong, Winnipeg Philip H Gordon, Quebec Rakesh Kumar, Edmonton Wolfgang A Kunze, Hamilton Patrick Labonte, Laval Zhikang Peng, Winnipeg Jayadev Raju, Ottawa Maitreyi Raman, Calgary Giada Sebastiani, Montreal Maida J Sewitch, Montreal Eldon A Shaffer, Alberta Christopher W Teshima, Edmonton Jean Sévigny, Québec Pingchang Yang, Hamilton Pingchang Yang, Hamilton Eric M Yoshida, Vancouver Bin Zheng, Edmonton



Chile

Marcelo A Beltran, *La Serena* Flavio Nervi, *Santiago* Adolfo Parra-Blanco, *Santiago* Alejandro Soza, *Santiago*



Zhao-Xiang Bian, Hong Kong San-Jun Cai, Shanghai Guang-Wen Cao, Shanghai Long Chen, Nanjing Ru-Fu Chen, Guangzhou George G Chen, Hong Kong

Li-Bo Chen, Wuhan Jia-Xu Chen, Beijing Hong-Song Chen, Beijing Lin Chen, Beijing Yang-Chao Chen, Hong Kong Zhen Chen, Shanghai Ying-Sheng Cheng, Shanghai Kent-Man Chu, Hong Kong Zhi-Jun Dai, Xi'an Jing-Yu Deng, Tianjin Yi-Qi Du, Shanghai Zhi Du, Tianjin Hani El-Nezami, Hong Kong Bao-Ying Fei, Hangzhou Chang-Ming Gao, Nanjing Jian-Ping Gong, *Chongqing* Zuo-Jiong Gong, Wuhan Jing-Shan Gong, Shenzhen Guo-Li Gu, Beijing Yong-Song Guan, Chengdu Mao-Lin Guo, Luoyang Jun-Ming Guo, Ningbo Yan-Mei Guo, Shanghai Xiao-Zhong Guo, Shenyang Guo-Hong Han, Xi'an Ming-Liang He, Hong Kong Peng Hou, Xi'an Zhao-Hui Huang, Wuxi Feng Ji, Hangzhou Simon Law, Hong Kong Yan-Chang Lei, Hangzhou Yu-Yuan Li, Guangzhou Meng-Sen Li, Haikou Shu-De Li, Shanghai Zong-Fang Li, Xi'an Qing-Quan Li, Shanghai Kang Li, Lasa Han Liang, Tianjin Xing'e Liu, Hangzhou Zheng-Wen Liu, Xi'an Xiao-Fang Liu, Yantai Bin Liu, Tianjin Quan-Da Liu, Beijing Hai-Feng Liu, Beijing Fei Liu, Shanghai Ai-Guo Lu, Shanghai He-Sheng Luo, Wuhan Xiao-Peng Ma, Shanghai Yong Meng, Shantou Ke-Jun Nan, Xi'an Siew Chien Ng, Hong Kong Simon SM Ng, Hong Kong Zhao-Shan Niu, Qingdao Di Qu, Shanghai Ju-Wei Mu, Beijing Rui-Hua Shi, Nanjing Bao-Min Shi, Shanghai Xiao-Dong Sun, Hangzhou Si-Yu Sun, Shenyang Guang-Hong Tan, Haikou Wen-Fu Tang, Chengdu Anthony YB Teoh, Hong Kong Wei-Dong Tong, Chongqing Eric Tse, Hong Kong Hong Tu, Shanghai



WJG www.wjgnet.com

Rong Tu, Haikou Jian-She Wang, Shanghai Kai Wang, Jinan Xiao-Ping Wang, *Xianyang* Xiu-Yan Wang, Shanghai Dao-Rong Wang, Yangzhou De-Sheng Wang, Xi'an Chun-You Wang, Wuhan Ge Wang, Chongqing Xi-Shan Wang, Harbin Wei-hong Wang, Beijing Zhen-Ning Wang, Shenyang Wai Man Raymond Wong, Hong Kong Chun-Ming Wong, Hong Kong Jian Wu, Shanghai Sheng-Li Wu, Xi'an Wu-Jun Wu, Xi'an Qing Xia, Chengdu Yan Xin, Shenyang Dong-Ping Xu, Beijing Jian-Min Xu, Shanghai Wei Xu, Changchun Ming Yan, Jinan Xin-Min Yan, Kunming Yi-Qun Yan, Shanghai Feng Yang, Shanghai Yong-Ping Yang, Beijing He-Rui Yao, Guangzhou Thomas Yau, Hong Kong Winnie Yeo, Hong Kong Jing You, Kunming Jian-Qing Yu, Wuhan Ying-Yan Yu, Shanghai Wei-Zheng Zeng, *Chengdu* Zong-Ming Zhang, *Beijing* Dian-Liang Zhang, Qingdao Ya-Ping Zhang, Shijiazhuang You-Cheng Zhang, Lanzhou Jian-Zhong Zhang, Beijing Ji-Yuan Zhang, Beijing Hai-Tao Zhao, Beijing Jian Zhao, Shanghai Jian-Hong Zhong, Nanning Ying-Qiang Zhong, Guangzhou Ping-Hong Zhou, Shanghai Yan-Ming Zhou, Xiamen Tong Zhou, Nanchong Li-Ming Zhou, Chengdu Guo-Xiong Zhou, Nantong Feng-Shang Zhu, Shanghai Jiang-Fan Zhu, Shanghai Zhao-Hui Zhu, Beijing



Tajana Filipec Kanizaj, Zagreb Mario Tadic, Zagreb





Otto Kucera, *Hradec Kralove* Marek Minarik, *Prague* Pavel Soucek, *Prague* Miroslav Zavoral, *Prague*



Denmark Vibeke Andersen, Odense E Michael Danielsen, Copenhagen



Egypt Mohamed MM Abdel-Latif, Assiut Hussein Atta, Cairo Ashraf Elbahrawy, Cairo Mortada Hassan El-Shabrawi, Cairo Mona El Said El-Raziky, Cairo Elrashdy M Redwan, New Borg Alrab Zeinab Nabil Ahmed Said, Cairo Ragaa HM Salama, Assiut Maha Maher Shehata, Mansoura

Estonia Margus Lember, *Tartu* Tamara Vorobjova, *Tartu*



Finland Marko Kalliomäki, Turku

Thomas Kietzmann, Oulu Kaija-Leena Kolho, Helsinki Eija Korkeila, Turku Heikki Makisalo, Helsinki Tanja Pessi, Tampere

France



Armando Abergel Clermont, Ferrand Elie K Chouillard, Polssy Pierre Cordelier, Toulouse Pascal P Crenn, Garches Catherine Daniel, *Lille* Fanny Daniel, Paris Cedric Dray, Toulouse Benoit Foligne, Lille Jean-Noel Freund, Strasbourg Hervé Guillou, Toulouse Nathalie Janel, Paris Majid Khatib, Bordeaux Jacques Marescaux, Strasbourg Jean-Claude Marie, Paris Driffa Moussata, Pierre Benite Hang Nguyen, Clermont-Ferrand Hugo Perazzo, Paris Alain L Servin, Chatenay-Malabry Chang Xian Zhang, Lyon



Germany Stavros A Antoniou, Monchengladbach Erwin Biecker, Siegburg Hubert E Blum, Freiburg

Thomas Bock, Berlin Katja Breitkopf-Heinlein, Mannheim Elke Cario, Essen Güralp Onur Ceyhan, Munich Angel Cid-Arregui, Heidelberg Michael Clemens Roggendorf, München Christoph F Dietrich, Bad Mergentheim Valentin Fuhrmann, Hamburg Nikolaus Gassler, Aachen Andreas Geier, Wuerzburg Markus Gerhard. Munich Anton Gillessen, Muenster Thorsten Oliver Goetze, Offenbach Daniel Nils Gotthardt, Heidelberg Robert Grützmann, Dresden Thilo Hackert, Heidelberg Claus Hellerbrand, Regensburg Harald Peter Hoensch, Darmstadt Jens Hoeppner, Freiburg Richard Hummel, Muenster Jakob Robert Izbicki, Hamburg Gernot Maximilian Kaiser, Essen Matthias Kapischke, Hamburg Michael Keese, Frankfurt Andrej Khandoga, Munich Jorg Kleeff, Munich Alfred Koenigsrainer, Tuebingen Peter Christopher Konturek, Saalfeld Michael Linnebacher, Rostock Stefan Maier, Kaufbeuren Oliver Mann, Hamburg Marc E Martignoni, Munic Thomas Minor, Bonn Oliver Moeschler, Osnabrueck Jonas Mudter, Eutin Sebastian Mueller, Heidelberg Matthias Ocker, Berlin Andreas Ommer, Essen Albrecht Piiper, Frankfurt Esther Raskopf, Bonn Christoph Reichel, Bad Brückenau Elke Roeb, Giessen Udo Rolle, Frankfurt Karl-Herbert Schafer, Zweibrücken Peter Schemmer, Heidelberg Andreas G Schreyer, Regensburg Manuel A Silva, Penzberg Georgios C Sotiropoulos, Essen Ulrike S Stein, Berlin Dirk Uhlmann, Leipzig Michael Weiss, Halle Hong-Lei Weng, Mannheim Karsten Wursthorn, Hamburg



Greece Alexandra Alexopoulou, Athens Nikolaos Antonakopoulos, Athens Stelios F Assimakopoulos, Patras Grigoris Chatzimavroudis, Thessaloniki Evangelos Cholongitas, Thessaloniki Gregory Christodoulidis, Larisa George N Dalekos, Larissa Urania Georgopoulou, Athens Eleni Gigi, Thessaloniki



Stavros Gourgiotis, Athens Leontios J Hadjileontiadis, Thessaloniki Thomas Hyphantis, Ioannina Ioannis Kanellos, Thessaloniki Stylianos Karatapanis, Rhodes Michael Koutsilieris, Athens Spiros D Ladas, Athens Theodoros K Liakakos, Athens Emanuel K Manesis, Athens Spilios Manolakopoulos, Athens Gerassimos John Mantzaris, Athens Athanasios D Marinis, Piraeus Nikolaos Ioannis Nikiteas, Athens Konstantinos X Papamichael, Athens George Sgourakis, Athens Konstantinos C Thomopoulos, Patras Konstantinos Triantafyllou, Athens Christos Triantos, Patras Georgios Zacharakis, Athens Petros Zezos, Alexandroupolis Demosthenes E Ziogas, Ioannina

Guatemala Carlos Maria Parellada, Guatemala

Hungary

Mihaly Boros, Szeged Tamás Decsi, Pécs Gyula Farkas, Szeged Andrea Furka, Debrecen Y vette Mandi, Szeged Peter L Lakatos, Budapest Pal Miheller, Budapest Tamás Molnar, Szeged Attila Olah, Gyor Maria Papp, Debrecen Ferenc Sipos, Budapest Miklós Tanyi, Debrecen Tibor Wittmann, Szeged

Iceland Tryggvi Bjorn Stefánsson, Reykjavík



Brij B Agarwal, New Delhi Deepak N Amarapurkar, Mumbai Shams ul Bari, Srinagar Sriparna Basu, Varanasi Runu Chakravarty, Kolkata Devendra C Desai, Mumbai Nutan D Desai, Mumbai Suneela Sunil Dhaneshwar, Pune Radha K Dhiman, Chandigarh Pankaj Garg, Mohali Uday C Ghoshal, Lucknow Kalpesh Jani, Vadodara Premashis Kar, New Delhi Jyotdeep Kaur, Chandigarh Rakesh Kochhar, Chandigarh Pradyumna K Mishra, Mumbai

Asish K Mukhopadhyay, Kolkata Imtiyaz Murtaza, Srinagar P Nagarajan, New Delhi Samiran Nundy, Delhi Gopal Pande, Hyderabad Benjamin Perakath, Vellore Arun Prasad, New Delhi D Nageshwar Reddy, Hyderabad Lekha Saha, Chandigarh Sundeep Singh Saluja, New Delhi Mahesh Prakash Sharma, New Delhi Sadiq Saleem Sikora, Bangalore Sarman Singh, New Delhi Rajeev Sinha, Jhansi Rupjyoti Talukdar, Hyderabad Rakesh Kumar Tandon, New Delhi Narayanan Thirumoorthy, Coimbatore



Indonesia

David Handojo Muljono, Jakarta Andi Utama, Jakarta



Iran Arezoo Aghakhani, Tehran Seyed Mohsen Dehghani, Shiraz Ahad Eshraghian, Shiraz Hossein Khedmat, Tehran Sadegh Massarrat, Tehran Marjan Mohammadi, Tehran Roja Rahimi, Tehran Farzaneh Sabahi, Tehran Majid Sadeghizadeh, Tehran Farideh Siavoshi, Tehran



Ireland

Gary Alan Bass, Dublin David J Brayden, Dublin Ronan A Cahill, Dublin Glen A Doherty, Dublin Liam J Fanning, Cork Barry Philip McMahon, Dublin RossMcManus, Dublin Dervla O'Malley, Cork Sinead M Smith, Dublin



Dan Carter, Ramat Gan Jorge-Shmuel Delgado, Metar Eli Magen, Ashdod Nitsan Maharshak, Tel Aviv Shaul Mordechai, Beer Sheva Menachem Moshkowitz, Tel Aviv William Bahij Nseir, Nazareth Shimon Reif, Jerusalem Ram Reifen, Rehovot Ariella Bar-Gil Shitrit, Jerusalem Noam Shussman, Jerusalem Igor Sukhotnik, Haifa Nir Wasserberg, Petach Tiqwa Jacob Yahav, Rehovot

Doron Levi Zamir, Gedera Shira Zelber-Sagi, Haifa Romy Zemel, Petach-Tikva



Ludovico Abenavoli, Catanzaro Luigi Elio Adinolfi, Naples Carlo Virginio Agostoni, Milan Anna Alisi, Rome Piero Luigi Almasio, Palermo Donato Francesco Altomare, Bari Amedeo Amedei, Florence Pietro Andreone, Bologna Imerio Angriman, Padova Vito Annese, Florence Paolo Aurello, Rome Salavtore Auricchio, Naples Gian Luca Baiocchi, Brescia Gianpaolo Balzano, Milan Antonio Basoli, Rome Gabrio Bassotti, San Sisto Mauro Bernardi, Bologna Alberto Biondi, Rome Ennio Biscaldi, Genova Massimo Bolognesi, Padua Luigi Bonavina, Milano Aldo Bove, Chieti Raffaele Bruno, Pavia Luigi Brusciano, Napoli Giuseppe Cabibbo, Palermo Carlo Calabrese, Bologna Daniele Calistri, Meldola Vincenza Calvaruso, Palermo Lorenzo Camellini, Reggio Emilia Marco Candela, Bologna Raffaele Capasso, Naples Lucia Carulli, Modena Renato David Caviglia, Rome Luigina Cellini, Chieti Giuseppe Chiarioni, Verona Claudio Chiesa, Rome Michele Cicala, Roma Rachele Ciccocioppo, Pavia Sandro Contini, Parma Gaetano Corso, Foggia Renato Costi, Parma Alessandro Cucchetti, Bologna Rosario Cuomo, Napoli Giuseppe Currò, Messina Paola De Nardi, Milano Giovanni D De Palma, Naples Raffaele De Palma, Napoli Giuseppina De Petro, Brescia Valli De Re, Aviano Paolo De Simone, Pisa Giuliana Decorti, Trieste Emanuele Miraglia del Giudice, Napoli Isidoro Di Carlo, Catania Matteo Nicola Dario Di Minno, Naples Massimo Donadelli, Verona Mirko D'Onofrio, Verona Maria Pina Dore, Sassari Luca Elli, Milano Massimiliano Fabozzi, Aosta Massimo Falconi, Ancona



Ezio Falletto, Turin Silvia Fargion, Milan Matteo Fassan, Verona Gianfranco Delle Fave, Roma Alessandro Federico, Naples Francesco Feo, Sassari Davide Festi, Bologna Natale Figura, Siena Vincenzo Formica, Rome Mirella Fraquelli, Milan Marzio Frazzoni, Modena Walter Fries, Messina Gennaro Galizia, Naples Andrea Galli, Florence Matteo Garcovich, Rome Eugenio Gaudio, Rome Paola Ghiorzo, Genoa Edoardo G Giannini, Genova Luca Gianotti, Monza Maria Cecilia Giron, Padova Alberto Grassi, Rimini Gabriele Grassi, Trieste Francesco Greco, Bergamo Luigi Greco, Naples Antonio Grieco, Rome Fabio Grizzi, Rozzano Laurino Grossi, Pescara Simone Guglielmetti, Milan Tiberiu Hershcovici, Jerusalem Calogero Iacono, Verona Enzo Ierardi, Bari Amedeo Indriolo, Bergamo Raffaele Iorio, Naples Paola Iovino, Salerno Angelo A Izzo, Naples Loreta Kondili, Rome Filippo La Torre, Rome Giuseppe La Torre, Rome Giovanni Latella, L'Aquila Salvatore Leonardi, Catania Massimo Libra, Catania Anna Licata, Palermo C armela Loguercio, Naples Amedeo Lonardo, Modena Carmelo Luigiano, Catania Francesco Luzza, Catanzaro Giovanni Maconi, Milano Antonio Macrì, Messina Mariano Malaguarnera, Catania Francesco Manguso, Napoli Tommaso Maria Manzia, Rome Daniele Marrelli, Siena Gabriele Masselli, Rome Sara Massironi, Milan Giuseppe Mazzarella, Avellino Michele Milella, Rome Giovanni Milito, Rome Antonella d'Arminio Monforte, Milan Fabrizio Montecucco, Genoa Giovanni Monteleone, Rome Mario Morino, Torino Vincenzo La Mura, Milan Gerardo Nardone, Naples Riccardo Nascimbeni, Brescia Gabriella Nesi, Florence Giuseppe Nigri, Rome

Erica Novo, Turin Veronica Ojetti, Rome Michele Orditura, Naples Fabio Pace, Seriate Lucia Pacifico, Rome Omero Alessandro Paoluzi, Rome Valerio Pazienza, San Giovanni Rotondo Rinaldo Pellicano, Turin Adriano M Pellicelli, Rome Nadia Peparini, Ciampino Mario Pescatori, Rome Antonio Picardi, Rome Alberto Pilotto, Padova Alberto Piperno, Monza Anna Chiara Piscaglia, Rome Maurizio Pompili, Rome Francesca Romana Ponziani, Rome Cosimo Prantera, Rome Girolamo Ranieri, Bari Carlo Ratto, Tome Barbara Renga, Perugia Alessandro Repici, Rozzano Maria Elena Riccioni, Rome Lucia Ricci-Vitiani, Rome Luciana Rigoli, Messina Mario Rizzetto, Torino Ballarin Roberto, Modena Roberto G Romanelli, Florence Claudio Romano, Messina Luca Roncucci, Modena Cesare Ruffolo, Treviso L ucia Sacchetti, Napoli Rodolfo Sacco, Pisa Lapo Sali, Florence Romina Salpini, Rome Giulio Aniello, Santoro Treviso Armando Santoro, Rozzano Edoardo Savarino, Padua Marco Senzolo, Padua Annalucia Serafino, Rome Giuseppe S Sica, Rome Pierpaolo Sileri, Rome Cosimo Sperti, Padua Vincenzo Stanghellini, Bologna Cristina Stasi, Florence Gabriele Stocco, Trieste Roberto Tarquini, Florence Mario Testini, Bari Guido Torzilli, Milan Guido Alberto Massimo, Tiberio Brescia Giuseppe Toffoli, Aviano Alberto Tommasini, Trieste Francesco Tonelli, Florence Cesare Tosetti Porretta, Terme Lucio Trevisani, Cona Guglielmo M Trovato, Catania Mariapia Vairetti, Pavia Luca Vittorio Valenti, Milano Mariateresa T Ventura, Bari Giuseppe Verlato, Verona Marco Vivarelli, Ancona Giovanni Li Volti, Catania Giuseppe Zanotti, Padua Vincenzo Zara, Lecce Gianguglielmo Zehender, Milan Anna Linda Zignego, Florence Rocco Antonio Zoccali, Messina

Angelo Zullo, Rome

Japan Yasushi Adachi, Sapporo Takafumi Ando, Nagoya Masahiro Arai, Tokyo Makoto Arai, Chiba Takaaki Arigami, Kagoshima Itaru Endo, Yokohama Munechika Enjoji, Fukuoka Shunji Fujimori, Tokyo Yasuhiro Fujino, Akashi Toshiyoshi Fujiwara, Okayama Yosuke Fukunaga, Tokyo Toshio Fukusato, Tokyo Takahisa Furuta, *Hamamatsu* Osamu Handa, Kyoto Naoki Hashimoto, Osaka Yoichi Hiasa, Toon Masatsugu Hiraki, Saga Satoshi Hirano, Sapporo Keiji Hirata, Fukuoka Toru Hiyama, Higashihiroshima Akira Hokama, Nishihara Shu Hoteva, Tokyo Masao Ichinose, Wakayama Tatsuya Ide, Kurume Masahiro Iizuka, Akita Toshiro Iizuka, Tokyo Kenichi Ikejima, Tokyo Tetsuya Ikemoto, Tokushima Hiroyuki Imaeda, Saitama Atsushi Imagawa, Kan-onji Hiroo Imazu, Tokyo Shuji Isaji, Tsu Toru Ishikawa, Niigata Toshiyuki Ishiwata, Tokyo Soichi Itaba, Kitakyushu Yoshiaki Iwasaki, Okayama Tatehiro Kagawa, Isehara Satoru Kakizaki, Maebashi Naomi Kakushima, Shizuoka Terumi Kamisawa, Tokyo Akihide Kamiya, Isehara Osamu Kanauchi, Tokyo Tatsuo Kanda, Chiba Shin Kariya, Okayama Shigeyuki Kawa, Matsumoto Takumi Kawaguchi, Kurume Takashi Kawai, Tokyo Soo Ryang Kim, Kobe Shinsuke Kiriyama, Gunma Tsuneo Kitamura, Urayasu Masayuki Kitano, Osakasayama Hirotoshi Kobayashi, Tokyo Hironori Koga, Kurume Takashi Kojima, Sapporo Satoshi Kokura, Kyoto Shuhei Komatsu, Kyoto Tadashi Kondo, Tokyo Yasuteru Kondo, Sendai Yasuhiro Kuramitsu, Yamaguchi Yukinori Kurokawa, Osaka Shin Maeda, Yokohama Koutarou Maeda, Toyoake



Hitoshi Maruyama, Chiba Atsushi Masamune, Sendai Hiroyuki Matsubayashi, Suntogun Akihisa Matsuda, Inzai Hirofumi Matsui, Tsukuba Akira Matsumori, Kyoto Yoichi Matsuo, Nagoya Y Matsuzaki, Ami Toshihiro Mitaka, Sapporo Kouichi Miura, Akita Shinichi Miyagawa, Matumoto Eiji Miyoshi, Suita Toru Mizuguchi, Sapporo Nobumasa Mizuno, Nagoya Zenichi Morise, Nagoya Tomohiko Moriyama, Fukuoka Kunihiko Murase, Tusima Michihiro Mutoh, Tsukiji Akihito Nagahara, Tokyo Hikaru Nagahara, Tokyo Hidenari Nagai, Tokyo Koichi Nagata, Shimotsuke-shi Masaki Nagaya, Kawasaki Hisato Nakajima, Nishi-Shinbashi Toshifusa Nakajima, Tokyo Hiroshi Nakano, Kawasaki Hiroshi Nakase, Kyoto Toshiyuki Nakayama, Nagasaki Takahiro Nakazawa, Nagoya Shoji Natsugoe, Kagoshima City Tsutomu Nishida, Suita Shuji Nomoto, Naogya Sachiyo Nomura, Tokyo Takeshi Ogura, Takatsukishi Nobuhiro Ohkohchi, Tsukuba Toshifumi Ohkusa, Kashiwa Hirohide Ohnishi, Akita Teruo Okano, Tokyo Satoshi Osawa, Hamamatsu Motoyuki Otsuka, Tokyo Michitaka Ozaki, Sapporo Satoru Saito, Yokohama Naoaki Sakata, Sendai Ken Sato, Maebashi Toshiro Sato, Tokyo Tomoyuki Shibata, Toyoake Tomohiko Shimatani, Kure Yukihiro Shimizu, Nanto Tadashi Shimoyama, Hirosaki Masayuki Sho, Nara Ikuo Shoji, Kobe Atsushi Sofuni, Tokyo Takeshi Suda, Niigata M Sugimoto, Hamamatsu Ken Sugimoto, Hamamatsu Haruhiko Sugimura, Hamamatsu Shoichiro Sumi, Kyoto Hidekazu Suzuki, Tokyo Masahiro Tajika, Nagoya Hitoshi Takagi, Takasaki Toru Takahashi, Niigata Yoshihisa Takahashi, Tokyo Shinsuke Takeno, Fukuoka Akihiro Tamori, Osaka Kyosuke Tanaka, Tsu Shinji Tanaka, Hiroshima

Atsushi Tanaka, Tokyo Yasuhito Tanaka, Nagoya Shinji Tanaka, Tokyo Minoru Tomizawa, Yotsukaido City Kyoko Tsukiyama-Kohara, Kagoshima Takuya Watanabe, Niigata Kazuhiro Watanabe, Sendai Satoshi Yamagiwa, Niigata Takayuki Yamamoto, Yokkaichi Hiroshi Yamamoto, Otsu Kosho Yamanouchi, Nagasaki Ichiro Yasuda, Gifu Yutaka Yata, Maebashi-city Shin-ichi Yokota, Sapporo Norimasa Yoshida, Kyoto Hiroshi Yoshida, Tama-City Hitoshi Yoshiji, Kashihara Kazuhiko Yoshimatsu, Tokyo Kentaro Yoshioka, Toyoake Nobuhiro Zaima, Nara







Bassam N Abboud, Beirut Kassem A Barada, Beirut Marwan Ghosn, Beirut Iyad A Issa, Beirut Fadi H Mourad, Beirut Ala Sharara, Beirut Rita Slim, Beirut

Lithuania Antanas Mickevicius, Kaunas





Richard A Awad, Mexico City Carlos R Camara-Lemarroy, Monterrey Norberto C Chavez-Tapia, Mexico City Wolfgang Gaertner, Mexico City Diego Garcia-Compean, Monterrey Arturo Panduro, Guadalajara OT Teramoto-Matsubara, Mexico City Felix Tellez-Avila, Mexico City Omar Vergara-Fernandez, Mexico City Saúl Villa-Trevino, Cuidad de México



Netherlands

Robert J de Knegt, *Rotterdam* Tom Johannes Gerardus Gevers, *Nijmegen* Menno Hoekstra, *Leiden* BW Marcel Spanier, *Arnhem* Karel van Erpecum, *Utrecht*



Leo K Cheng, Auckland Andrew Stewart Day, Christchurch Jonathan Barnes Koea, Auckland Max Petrov, Auckland



Olufunmilayo Adenike Lesi, Lagos Jesse Abiodun Otegbayo, Ibadan Stella Ifeanyi Smith, Lagos



Trond Berg, Oslo Trond Arnulf Buanes, Krokkleiva Thomas de Lange, Rud Magdy El-Salhy, Stord Rasmus Goll, Tromso Dag Arne Lihaug Hoff, Aalesund

Pakistan Zaigham Abbas, *Karachi* Usman A Ashfaq, *Faisalabad* Muhammad Adnan Bawany, *Hyderabad* Muhammad Idrees, *Lahore* Saeed Sadiq Hamid, *Karachi* Yasir Waheed, *Islamabad*

Poland

Thomas Brzozowski, Cracow Magdalena Chmiela, Lodz Krzysztof Jonderko, Sosnowiec Anna Kasicka-Jonderko, Sosnowiec Michal Kukla, Katowice Tomasz Hubert Mach, Krakow Agata Mulak, Wroclaw Danuta Owczarek, Kraków Piotr Socha, Warsaw Piotr Stalke, Gdansk Julian Teodor Swierczynski, Gdansk Anna M Zawilak-Pawlik, Wroclaw



Portugal Marie Isabelle Cremers, Setubal Ceu Figueiredo, Porto Ana Isabel Lopes, LIsbon M Paula Macedo, Lisboa Ricardo Marcos, Porto Rui T Marinho, Lisboa Guida Portela-Gomes, Estoril



Filipa F Vale, Lisbon







Dan LucianDumitrascu, Cluj-Napoca Carmen Fierbinteanu-Braticevici, Bucharest Romeo G Mihaila, Sibiu Lucian Negreanu, Bucharest Adrian Saftoiu, Craiova Andrada Seicean, Cluj-Napoca Ioan Sporea, Timisoara Letiția Adela Maria Streba, Craiova Anca Trifan, Iasi

Russia

Victor Pasechnikov, Stavropol Vasiliy Ivanovich Reshetnyak, Moscow Vitaly Skoropad, Obninsk

影影机的

Saudi Arabia

Abdul-Wahed N Meshikhes, *Dammam* M Ezzedien Rabie, *Khamis Mushait*

(*** **

Singapore

Brian KP Goh, Singapore Richie Soong, Singapore Ker-Kan Tan, Singapore Kok-Yang Tan, Singapore Yee-Joo Tan, Singapore Mark Wong, Singapore Hong Ping Xia, Singapore

-

Slovenia

Matjaz Homan, Ljubljana Martina Perse, Ljubljana



South Korea Sang Hoon Ahn, Seoul Seung Hyuk Baik, Seoul Soon Koo Baik, Wonju Soo-Cheon Chae, Iksan

Byung-Ho Choe, Daegu Suck Chei Choi, Iksan Hoon Jai Chun, Seoul Yeun-Jun Chung, Seoul Young-Hwa Chung, Seoul Ki-Baik Hahm, Seongnam Sang Young Han, Busan Seok Joo Han, Seoul Seung-Heon Hong, Iksan Jin-Hyeok Hwang, Seoungnam Jeong Won Jang, Seoul Jin-Young Jang, Seoul Dae-Won Jun, Seoul Young Do Jung, Kwangju Gyeong Hoon Kang, Seoul Sung-Bum Kang, Seoul Koo Jeong Kang, Daegu Ki Mun Kang, Jinju Chang Moo Kang, Seodaemun-gu Gwang Ha Kim, Busan Sang Soo Kim, Goyang-si Jin Cheon Kim, Seoul Tae Il Kim, Seoul Jin Hong Kim, Suwon Kyung Mo Kim, Seoul Kyongmin Kim, Suwon Hyung-Ho Kim, Seongnam Seoung Hoon Kim, Goyang Sang Il Kim, Seoul Hyun-Soo Kim, Wonju Jung Mogg Kim, Seoul Dong Yi Kim, Gwangju Kyun-Hwan Kim, Seoul Jong-Han Kim, Ansan Sang Wun Kim, Seoul Ja-Lok Ku, Seoul Kyu Taek Lee, Seoul Hae-Wan Lee, Chuncheon Inchul Lee, Seoul Jung Eun Lee, Seoul Sang Chul Lee, Daejeon Song Woo Lee, Ansan-si Hyuk-Joon Lee, Seoul Seong-Wook Lee, Yongin Kil Yeon Lee, Seoul Jong-Inn Lee, Seoul Kyung A Lee, Seoul Jong-Baeck Lim, Seoul Eun-Yi Moon, Seoul SH Noh, Seoul Seung Woon Paik, Seoul Won Sang Park, Seoul Sung-Joo Park, Iksan Kyung Sik Park, Daegu Se Hoon Park, Seoul Yoonkyung Park, *Gwangju* Seung-Wan Ryu, Daegu Il Han Song, Cheonan Myeong Jun Song, Daejeon Yun Kyoung Yim, Daejeon Dae-Yeul Yu Daejeon

Spain

Mariam Aguas, Valencia Raul J Andrade, Málaga Antonio Arroyo, Elche Josep M Bordas, Barcelona Lisardo Boscá, Madrid Ricardo Robles Campos, Murcia Jordi Camps, Reus Carlos Cervera Barcelona

Alfonso Clemente, Granada Pilar Codoner-Franch, Valencia Fernando J Corrales, Pamplona Fermin Sánchez de Medina, Granada Alberto Herreros de Tejada, Majadahonda Enrique de-Madaria, Alicante JE Dominguez-Munoz, Santiago de Compostela Vicente Felipo, Valencia CM Fernandez-Rodriguez, Madrid Carmen Frontela-Saseta, Murcia Julio Galvez, Granada Maria Teresa García, Vigo MI Garcia-Fernandez, Málaga Emilio Gonzalez-Reimers, La Laguna Marcel Jimenez, Bellaterra Angel Lanas, Zaragoza Juan Ramón Larrubia, Guadalajara Antonio Lopez-Sanroman, Madrid Vicente Lorenzo-Zuniga, Badalona Alfredo J Lucendo, Tomelloso Vicenta Soledad Martinez-Zorzano, Vigo José Manuel Martin-Villa, Madrid Julio Mayol, Madrid Manuel Morales-Ruiz, Barcelona Alfredo Moreno-Egea, Murcia Albert Pares, Barcelona Maria Pellise, Barcelona José Perea, Madrid Miguel Angel Plaza, Zaragoza María J Pozo, Cáceres Enrique Quintero, La Laguna Jose M Ramia, Madrid Francisco Rodriguez-Frias, Barcelona Silvia Ruiz-Gaspa, Barcelona Xavier Serra-Aracil, Barcelona Vincent Soriano, Madrid Javier Suarez, Pamplona Carlos Taxonera, Madrid M Isabel Torres, Jaén Manuel Vazquez-Carrera, Barcelona Benito Velayos, Valladolid Silvia Vidal, Barcelona







SwedenRoland G Andersson, LundBergthor Björnsson, LinkopingJohan Christopher Bohr, ÖrebroMauro D' Amato, StockholmThomas Franzen, NorrkopingEvangelos Kalaitzakis, LundRiadh Sadik, GothenburgPer Anders Sandstrom, LinkopingErvin Toth, MalmöKonstantinos Tsimogiannis, VasterasApostolos V Tsolakis, Uppsala





Gieri Cathomas, *Liestal* Jean Louis Frossard, *Geneve* Christian Toso, *Geneva* Stephan Robert Vavricka, *Zurich* Dominique Velin, *Lausanne*

Thailand

Thawatchai Akaraviputh, Bangkok P Yoysungnoen Chintana, Pathumthani Veerapol Kukongviriyapan, Muang Vijittra Leardkamolkarn, Bangkok Varut Lohsiriwat, Bangkok Somchai Pinlaor, Khaon Kaen D Wattanasirichaigoon, Bangkok



Tunisia Ibtissem Ghedira, *Sousse* Lilia Zouiten-Mekki, *Tunis*

Turkey



Inci Alican, Istanbul Mustafa Altindis, Sakarya Mutay Aslan, Antalya Oktar Asoglu, Istanbul Yasemin Hatice Balaban, Istanbul Metin Basaranoglu, Ankara Yusuf Bayraktar, Ankara Süleyman Bayram, Adiyaman Ahmet Bilici, Istanbul Ahmet Sedat Boyacioglu, Ankara Züleyha Akkan Cetinkaya, Kocaeli Cavit Col, Bolu Yasar Colak, Istanbul Cagatay Erden Daphan, Kirikkale Mehmet Demir, Hatay Ahmet Merih Dobrucali, Istanbul Gülsüm Ozlem Elpek, Antalya Ayse Basak Engin, Ankara Eren Ersoy, Ankara Osman Ersoy, Ankara Yusuf Ziya Erzin, Istanbul Mukaddes Esrefoglu, Istanbul Levent Filik, Ankara Ozgur Harmanci, Ankara Koray Hekimoglu, Ankara Abdurrahman Kadayifci, Gaziantep Cem Kalayci, Istanbul Selin Kapan, Istanbul Huseyin Kayadibi, Adana Sabahattin Kaymakoglu, Istanbul Metin Kement, Istanbul Mevlut Kurt, Bolu Resat Ozaras, Istanbul Elvan Ozbek, Adapazari

Cengiz Ozcan, Mersin Hasan Ozen, Ankara Halil Ozguc, Bursa Mehmet Ozturk, Izmir Orhan V Ozkan, Sakarya Semra Paydas, Adana Ozlem Durmaz Suoglu, Istanbul Ilker Tasci, Ankara Müge Tecder-ünal, Ankara Mesut Tez, Ankara Serdar Topaloglu, Trabzon Murat Toruner, Ankara Gokhan Tumgor, Adana Oguz Uskudar, Adana Mehmet Yalniz, Elazig Mehmet Yaman, Elazig Veli Yazisiz, Antalya Yusuf Yilmaz, Istanbul Ozlem Yilmaz, Izmir Oya Yucel, Istanbul Ilhami Yuksel, Ankara

United Kingdom

Nadeem Ahmad Afzal, Southampton Navneet K Ahluwalia, Stockport Yeng S Ang, Lancashire Ramesh P Arasaradnam, *Coventry* Ian Leonard Phillip Beales, Norwich John Beynon, Swansea Barbara Braden, Oxford Simon Bramhall, Birmingham Geoffrey Burnstock, London Ian Chau, Sutton Thean Soon Chew, London Helen G Coleman, Belfast Anil Dhawan, London Sunil Dolwani, Cardiff Piers Gatenby, London Anil T George, London Pasquale Giordano, London Paul Henderson, Edinburgh Georgina Louise Hold, Aberdeen Stefan Hubscher, Birmingham Robin D Hughes, London Nusrat Husain, Manchester Matt W Johnson, Luton Konrad Koss, Macclesfield Anastasios Koulaouzidis, Edinburgh Simon Lal, Salford John S Leeds, Aberdeen JK K Limdi, Manchester Hongxiang Liu, Cambridge Michael Joseph McGarvey, London Michael Anthony Mendall, London Alexander H Mirnezami, Southampton J Bernadette Moore, Guildford Claudio Nicoletti, Norwich Savvas Papagrigoriadis, London Sylvia LF Pender, Southampton David Mark Pritchard, Liverpool James A Ross, Edinburgh Kamran Rostami, Worcester Xiong Z Ruan, London Frank I Tovey, London Dhiraj Tripathi, Birmingham

Vamsi R Velchuru, Great Yarmouth Nicholas T Ventham, Edinburgh Diego Vergani, London Jack Westwood Winter, Glasgow Terence Wong, London Ling Yang, Oxford



United States

Daniel E Abbott, Cincinnati Ghassan K Abou-Alfa, New York Julian Abrams, New York David William Adelson, Los Angeles Jonathan Steven Alexander, Shreveport Tauseef Ali, Oklahoma City Mohamed R Ali, Sacramento Rajagopal N Aravalli, Minneapolis Hassan Ashktorab, Washington Shashi Bala, Worcester Charles F Barish, Raleigh P Patrick Basu, New York Robert L Bell, Berkeley Heights David Bentrem, Chicago Henry J Binder, New Haven Joshua Bleier, Philadelphia Wojciech Blonski, Johnson City Kenneth Boorom, Corvallis Brian Boulay, Chicago Carla W Brady, Durham Kyle E Brown, *Iowa City* Adeel A Butt, Pittsburgh Weibiao Cao, Providence Andrea Castillo, Cheney Fernando J Castro, Weston Adam S Cheifetz, Boston Xiaoxin Luke Chen, Durham Ramsey Cheung, Palo Alto Parimal Chowdhury, Little Rock Edward John Ciaccio, New York Dahn L Clemens, Omaha Yingzi Cong, Galveston Laura Iris Cosen-Binker, Boston Joseph John Cullen, Lowa Mark J Czaja, Bronx Mariana D Dabeva, Bronx Christopher James Damman, Seattle Isabelle G De Plaen, Chicago Punita Dhawan, Nashville Hui Dong, La Jolla Wael El-Rifai, Nashville Sukru H Emre, New Haven Paul Feuerstadt, Hamden Josef E Fischer, Boston Laurie N Fishman, Boston Joseph Che Forbi, Atlanta Temitope Foster, Atlanta Amy E Foxx-Orenstein, Scottsdale Daniel E Freedberg, New York Shai Friedland, Palo Alto Virgilio George, Indianapolis Ajay Goel, Dallas Oliver Grundmann, Gainesville Stefano Guandalini, Chicago Chakshu Gupta, St. Joseph Grigoriy E Gurvits, New York



VIII

Xiaonan Han, Cincinnati Mohamed Hassan, Jackson Martin Hauer-Jensen, Little Rock Koichi Hayano, Boston Yingli Hee, Atlanta Samuel B Ho, San Diego Jason Ken Hou, Houston Lifang Hou, Chicago K-Oin Hu, Orange Jamal A Ibdah, Columbia Robert Thomas Jensen, Bethesda Huanguang "Charlie" Jia, Gainesville Rome Jutabha, Los Angeles Andreas M Kaiser, Los Angeles Avinash Kambadakone, Boston David Edward Kaplan, Philadelphia Randeep Kashyap, Rochester Rashmi Kaul, Tulsa Ali Keshavarzian, Chicago Amir Maqbul Khan, Marshall Nabeel Hasan Khan, New Orleans Sahil Khanna, Rochester Kusum K Kharbanda, Omaha Hyun Sik Kim, Pittsburgh Joseph Kim, Duarte Jae S Kim, Gainesville Miran Kim, Providence Timothy R Koch, Washington Burton I Korelitz, New York Betsy Kren, Minneapolis Shiu-Ming Kuo, Buffalo Michelle Lai, Boston Andreas Larentzakis, Boston Edward Wolfgang Lee, Los Angeles Daniel A Leffler, Boston Michael Leitman, New York Suthat Liangpunsakul, Indianapolis Joseph K Lim, New Haven Elaine Y Lin, Bronx Henry C Lin, *Albuquerque* Rohit Loomba, La Jolla James David Luketich, Pittsburgh

Li Ma, Stanford Mohammad F Madhoun, Oklahoma City Thomas C Mahl, Buffalo Ashish Malhotra, Bettendorf Pranoti Mandrekar, Worcester John Marks, Wynnewood Wendy M Mars, Pittsburgh Julien Vahe Matricon, San Antonio Craig J McClain, Louisville Tamir Miloh, Phoenix Ayse Leyla Mindikoglu, Baltimore Huanbiao Mo, Denton Klaus Monkemuller, Birmingham John Morton, Stanford Adnan Muhammad, Tampa Michael J Nowicki, Jackson Patrick I Okolo, Baltimore Giusepp Orlando, Winston Salem Natalia A Osna, Omaha Virendra N Pandey, Newark Mansour A Parsi, Cleveland Michael F Picco, Jacksonville Daniel S Pratt, Boston Xiaofa Qin, Newark Janardan K Reddy, Chicago Victor E Reyes, *Galveston* Jon Marc Rhoads, Houston Giulia Roda, New York Jean-Francois Armand Rossignol, Tampa Paul A Rufo, Boston Madhusudana Girija Sanal, New York Miguel Saps, Chicago Sushil Sarna, Galveston Ann O Scheimann, Baltimore Bernd Schnabl, La Jolla Matthew J Schuchert, Pittsburgh Ekihiro Seki, La Jolla Chanjuan Shi, Nashville David Quan Shih, Los Angeles Shadab A Siddiqi, Orlando William B Silverman, Iowa City Shashideep Singhal, New York

Bronislaw L Slomiany, Newark Steven F Solga, Bethlehem Byoung-Joon Song, Bethesda Dario Sorrentino, Roanoke Scott R Steele, Fort Lewis Branko Stefanovic, Tallahassee Arun Swaminath, New York Kazuaki Takabe, Richmond Naoki Tanaka, Bethesda Hans Ludger Tillmann, Durham George Triadafilopoulos, Stanford John Richardson Thompson, Nashville Andrew Ukleja, Weston Miranda AL van Tilburg, Chapel Hill Gilberto Vaughan, Atlanta Vijayakumar Velu, Atlanta Gebhard Wagener, New York Kasper Saonun Wang, Los Angeles Xiangbing Wang, New Brunswick Daoyan Wei, Houston Theodore H Welling, Ann Arbor C Mel Wilcox, Birmingham Jacqueline Lee Wolf, Boston Laura Ann Woollett, Cincinnati Harry Hua-Xiang Xia, East Hanover Wen Xie, Pittsburgh Guang Yu Yang, Chicago Michele T Yip-Schneider, Indianapolis Sam Zakhari, Bethesda Kezhong Zhang, Detroit Huiping Zhou, Richmond Xiao-Jian Zhou, Cambridge Richard Zubarik, Burlington

Venezuela Miguel Angel Chiurillo, Barquisimeto

Vietnam Van Bang Nguyen, Hanoi



World Journal of Gastroenterology

Contents

Weekly Volume 22 Number 46 December 14, 2016

EDITORIAL

10077 From blood to breath: New horizons for esophageal cancer biomarkers Yazbeck R, Jaenisch SE, Watson DI

REVIEW

- 10084 Sirtuins and nonalcoholic fatty liver disease Nassir F. Ibdah JA
- 10093 Can probiotics benefit children with autism spectrum disorders? Navarro F, Liu Y, Rhoads JM
- 10103 Thiopurines and inflammatory bowel disease: Current evidence and a historical perspective Axelrad JE, Roy A, Lawlor G, Korelitz B, Lichtiger S

MINIREVIEWS

- 10118 Role of *dupA* in virulence of *Helicobacter pylori* Talebi Bezmin Abadi A, Perez-Perez G
- 10124 Dilemma of first line regimens in metastatic pancreatic adenocarcinoma Ghosn M, Ibrahim T, Assi T, El Rassy E, Kourie HR, Kattan J

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Basic Study

- 10131 Characterization of smooth muscle, enteric nerve, interstitial cells of Cajal, and fibroblast-like cells in the gastric musculature of patients with diabetes mellitus Park KS, Cho KB, Hwang IS, Park JH, Jang BI, Kim KO, Jeon SW, Kim ES, Park CS, Kwon JG
- 10140 Correlation between colonic secretion and colonic motility in rats: Role of ghrelin Huang HH, Ting CH, Syu YF, Chang SC, Chen CY
- 10148 C5a/C5aR pathway is essential for up-regulating SphK1 expression through p38-MAPK activation in acute liver failure

Lei YC, Lu CL, Chen L, Ge K, Yang LL, Li W, Wu YH

10158 NADPH oxidase-1 deficiency offers little protection in *Salmonella typhimurium*-induced typhilitis in mice Chu FF, Esworthy RS, Doroshow JH, Shen B



Contents

- **10166** Non-invasive evaluation of liver stiffness after splenectomy in rabbits with CCl₄-induced liver fibrosis *Wang MJ, Ling WW, Wang H, Meng LW, Cai H, Peng B*
- **10180** Hepatoprotective and antioxidant effects of lycopene on non-alcoholic fatty liver disease in rat *Jiang W, Guo MH, Hai X*

Case Control Study

- **10189** Use of a saline-coupled bipolar sealer open liver resection for hepatic malignancy: Medical resource use and costs *Nichols CI, Vose JG*
- 10198 Nodular lymphoid hyperplasia: A marker of low-grade inflammation in irritable bowel syndrome?
 Piscaglia AC, Laterza L, Cesario V, Gerardi V, Landi R, Lopetuso LR, Calò G, Fabbretti G, Brisigotti M, Stefanelli ML, Gasbarrini A
- **10210** Effect of switching from treatment with nucleos(t)ide analogues to pegylated interferon α -2a on virological and serological response in chronic hepatitis B patients He LT, Ye XG, Zhou XY

Retrospective Study

10219 Incidence of hepatocellular carcinoma in outpatients with cirrhosis in Brazil: A 10-year retrospective cohort study

Appel-da-Silva MC, Miozzo SAS, Dossin IA, Tovo CV, Branco F, Mattos AA

Prospective Study

- **10226** Genotype specific peripheral lipid profile changes with hepatitis C therapy *Pedersen MR, Patel A, Backstedt D, Choi M, Seetharam AB*
- 10232 Long-term prognostic impact of circulating tumour cells in gastric cancer patients Ito H, Sato J, Tsujino Y, Yamaguchi N, Kimura S, Gohda K, Murakami K, Onimaru M, Ohmori T, Ishikawa F, Inoue H

Randomized Controlled Trial

10242 Randomized controlled study of the safety and efficacy of nitrous oxide-sedated endoscopic ultrasoundguided fine needle aspiration *Wang CX, Wang J, Chen YY, Wang JN, Yu X, Yang F, Sun SY*

CASE REPORT

10249 "En bloc" caudate lobe and inferior vena cava resection following cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for peritoneal and liver metastasis of colorectal cancer Sánchez-Velázquez P, Moosmann N, Töpel I, Piso P



Contents

World Journal of Gastroenterology Volume 22 Number 46 December 14, 2016

10254 Response of *BRCA1*-mutated gallbladder cancer to olaparib: A case report Xie Y, Jiang Y, Yang XB, Wang AQ, Zheng YC, Wan XS, Sang XT, Wang K, Zhang DD, Xu JJ, Li FG, Zhao HT

10260 Schwannoma in the hepatoduodenal ligament: A case report and literature review *Xu SY, Sun K, Xie HY, Zhou L, Zheng SS, Wang WL*



| Contents | <i>World Journal of Gastroenterology</i> Volume 22 Number 46 December 14, 2016 | | | | | |
|---|--|---|--|--|--|--|
| ABOUT COVER | Editorial board member of <i>World Journal of Gastroenterology</i> , Dervla O'Malley, BSc, PhD, Lecturer, Research Fellow, Department of Physiology, University College Cork, Cork C1, Ireland | | | | | |
| AIMS AND SCOPE | World Journal of Gastroenterology (World J Gast ISSN 2219-2840, DOI: 10.3748) is a peer-ree lished on October 1, 1995. It is published wee The WJG Editorial Board consists of 1375 from 68 countries. The primary task of WJG is to rapidly p and commentaries in the fields of gastroen copy, gastrointestinal surgery, hepatobiliary testinal radiation oncology, gastrointestinal i apy, gastrointestinal infectious diseases, gas pathophysiology, gastrointestinal pathology, ogy, pancreatology, gastrointestinal laborato ogy, gastrointestinal immunology, gastrointe therapeutics. WJG is dedicated to become a troenterology and hepatology, to promote the improve the diagnostic and therapeutic skill | <i>raenterol, WJG</i> , print ISSN 1007-9327, online viewed open access journal. <i>WJG</i> was estab- ekly on the 7 th , 14 th , 21 st , and 28 th each month. experts in gastroenterology and hepatology publish high-quality original articles, reviews, terology, hepatology, gastrointestinal endos- surgery, gastrointestinal oncology, gastroin- imaging, gastrointestinal interventional ther- strointestinal pharmacology, gastrointestinal, evidence-based medicine in gastroenterol- ry medicine, gastrointestinal molecular biol- stinal microbiology, gastrointestinal genetics, rointestinal diagnostics, and gastrointestinal in influential and prestigious journal in gas- he development of above disciplines, and to and expertise of clinicians. | | | | |
| INDEXING/ABSTRACTING | <i>World Journal of Gastroenterology (WJG)</i> is now in Science Citation Index Expanded (also known a Medicus, MEDLINE, PubMed, PubMed Cent Open Access Journals. The 2015 edition of Jo Reuters (ISI) cites the 2015 impact factor for W ing WJG as 38 among 78 journals in gastroenter | dexed in Current Contents [®] /Clinical Medicine, as SciSearch [®]), Journal Citation Reports [®] , Index tral, Digital Object Identifier, and Directory of purnal Citation Reports [®] released by Thomson <i>JG</i> as 2.787 (5-year impact factor: 2.848), rank- rology and hepatology (quartile in category Q2). | | | | |
| FLYLEAF I-IX | Editorial Board | | | | | |
| EDITORS FOR THIS ISSUE Response Proofing | Responsible Assistant Editor: Xiang Li Responsible Science Editor: Ze-Mao Gong Responsible Electronic Editor: Fen-Fen Zhang Proofing Editorial Office Director: Jin-Lei Wang IIS ISSUE Proofing Editor-in-Chief: Lian-Sheng Ma | | | | | |
| World Journal of Gastroenterology ISSN ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online) LAUNCH DATE October 1, 1995 FREQUENCY Weekly EDITORS-IN-CHIEF Damian Garcia-Olmo, MD, PhD, Doctor, Profes- sor, Surgeon, Department of Surgery, Universidad Autonoma de Madrid; Department of General Sur- gery, Fundacion Jimenez Diaz University Hospital, Madrid 28040, Spain Stephen C Strom, PhD, Professor, Department of Laboratory Medicine, Division of Pathology, Karo- linska Institutet, Stockholm 141-86, Sweden | Forma, Irvine, CA, 5901 E. seventh Str., Long Beach, CA 90822, United States EDITORIAL BOARD MEMBERS All editorial board members resources online at http:// www.wignet.com/1007-9327/editorialboard.htm EDITORIAL OFFICE Jin-Lei Wang, Director Yuan Qi, Vice Director World Journal of Gastroenterology Baishideng Publishing Group Inc 8226 Regency Drive, Pleasanton, CA 94588, USA Telephone: +1-925-2238243 E-mail: editorialoffice@wignet.com Help Desk: http://www.wignet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx http://www.wignet.com PUBLISHER Baishideng Publishing Group Inc 8226 Regency Drive, Pleasanton, CA 94588, USA Telephone: +1-925-2238242 | PUBLICATION DATE December 14, 2016 COPYRIGHT © 2016 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. Articles pub- lished by this Open-Access journal are distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non- commercial License, which permits use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited, the use is non commercial and is otherwise in compliance with the license. SPECIAL STATEMENT All articles published in journals owned by the Baishideng Publishing Group (BPG) represent the views and opin- ions of their authors, and not the views, opinions or policies of the BPG, except where otherwise explicitly indicated. INSTRUCTIONS TO AUTHORS Full instructions are available online at http://www. wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/204 | | | | |
| Andrzej S Tarnawski, MD, PhD, DSc (Med), Professor of Medicine, Chief Gastroenterology, VA Long Beach Health Care System, University of Cali- | Fax: +1-925-2238242 Fax: +1-925-2238243 E-mail: bpgoffice@wjgnet.com Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx | ONLINE SUBMISSION http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/ | | | | |



Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/ Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v22.i46.10077 World J Gastroenterol 2016 December 14; 22(46): 10077-10083 ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online) © 2016 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

EDITORIAL

From blood to breath: New horizons for esophageal cancer biomarkers

Roger Yazbeck, Simone E Jaenisch, David I Watson

Roger Yazbeck, Simone E Jaenisch, David I Watson, Department of Surgery, Flinders Centre for Innovation in Cancer, Flinders University, South Australia 5042, Australia

Author contributions: All authors contributed equally to this work.

Conflict-of-interest statement: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Manuscript source: Invited manuscript

Correspondence to: Dr. David I Watson, Professor, Department of Surgery, Flinders Centre for Innovation in Cancer, Flinders University, Room 3D211, Bedford Park, South Australia 5042, Australia. david.watson@flinders.edu.au Telephone: +61-8-82046086

Received: August 29, 2016 Peer-review started: August 31, 2016 First decision: September 28, 2016 Revised: October 5, 2016 Accepted: October 30, 2016 Article in press: October 31, 2016 Published online: December 14, 2016

Abstract

Esophageal cancer is a lethal cancer encompassing adenocarcinoma and squamous cell carcinoma subtypes. The global incidence of esophageal cancer is increasing world-wide, associated with the increased prevalence of associated risk factors. The asymptomatic nature of disease often leads to late diagnosis and five-year survival rates of less than 15%. Current diagnostic tools are restricted to invasive and costly endoscopy and biopsy for histopathology. Minimally and non-invasive biomarkers of esophageal cancer are needed to facilitate earlier detection and better clinical management of patients. This paper summarises recent insights into the development and clinical validation of esophageal cancer biomarkers, focussing on circulating markers in the blood, and the emerging area of breath and odorant biomarkers.

Key words: Breath analysis; Cancer; MicroRNA; Noninvasive; Esophageal cancer; Biomarker

© **The Author(s) 2016.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core tip: The current "gold standard" test for detection of esophageal cancer is endoscopic imaging and confirmation by biopsy. There are several barriers to endoscopy as a clinical tool to monitor patients at high risk of esophageal cancer, including high capital and personnel costs and the invasive nature of the procedure. This paper highlight new insights into the development and clinical validation of circulating and breath biomarkers of esophageal cancer.

Yazbeck R, Jaenisch SE, Watson DI. From blood to breath: New horizons for esophageal cancer biomarkers. *World J Gastroenterol* 2016; 22(46): 10077-10083 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v22/i46/10077.htm DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v22.i46.10077

INTRODUCTION

Esophageal cancer is the 6th leading cause of cancer related mortality death worldwide^[1,2]. Histologically it is classified into two sub-types, squamous cell carcinoma



and adenocarcinoma, each with a specific cellular origin, pathogenesis and epidemiology $^{[3,4]}$.

The current gold standard techniques for the detection and diagnosis of esophageal cancer, endoscopy and biopsy, are invasive. Furthermore, due to the lack of symptoms at earlier disease stages, presentation and diagnosis usually occurs late, leading to poor prognosis and 5 year survival rates as low as 15%^[4,5]. Early diagnosis is associated with much higher 5 year survival rates^[4], and when confined to the mucosa disease specific survival rates of up to 98% are reported^[6]. Better diagnostic methods are needed to shift the majority of diagnoses to the earliest stages, and expanded access to conventional endoscopy and wider use in a screening context is not cost effective. Minimally and non-invasive biomarkers, primarily in the blood and breath, represent the most likely candidates to facilitate early detection of esophageal cancer.

Several candidate biomarkers for esophageal cancer have been proposed. However, their translation into clinical use has been slow. Biomarkers can be broadly defined as quantifiable parameters that assist in distinguishing normal from pathological processes^[7,8] with applications for diagnosis, prognosis and tailoring of patient treatment^[9]. In this paper we summarise recent insights into the development and clinical validation of esophageal cancer biomarkers. Whilst we recognise that there is a significant body of research which has been undertaken evaluating tissue based biomarkers in esophageal cancer, this review has deliberately focussed on minimally invasive and noninvasive methods for detection of esophageal cancer, principally circulating markers in the blood, and the emerging area of breath and odorant biomarkers. The development of robust, minimally invasive, cost effective biomarkers for early cancer will change current diagnostic, prognostic and surveillance paradigms, and could open the possibility of population screening.

SQUAMOUS CELL CARCINOMA

Esophageal squamous cell carcinoma is the most frequently diagnosed subtype of esophageal cancer worldwide^[10] and typically arises in the mid and lower thirds of the esophagus^[10]. The highest prevalence of squamous cell carcinoma is found within regions of Eastern Asia^[11], largely attributed to the prevalence of risk factors such as tobacco smoking and the consumption of herbal tea maté and pickled vegetables^[12,13]. Conversely, in Westernised societies such as the United States and Australia, incidence rates of squamous cell carcinoma have been in decline since 1998, largely due to a decline in cigarette smoking^[4,12,14].

The pathogenesis of squamous cell carcinoma is highly complex, involving an accumulation of genetic modifications within the esophageal mucosa, causing progressive changes that result in invasive carcinoma^[15,16]. Environmental factors, diet, smoking and alcohol consumption have been strongly implicated in the molecular mechanisms for squamous cell carcinoma; however, evidence of a causal relationship is lacking^[15,17]. Genetic mutations within cyclin D1 and the tumour suppressor gene, *TP53*, are among the most frequently isolated genetic abnormalities from esophageal squamous cell carcinomas^[15].

TP53 is a tumour suppressor gene with roles in DNA repair and cell cycle arrest, and is the most common mutation found in cancers, including esophageal squamous cell carcinoma^[15,17,18]. TP53 mutations have been reported in as little as 10% and up to 80% of esophageal squamous cell carcinoma^[19]. Additionally, mutations to the TP53 gene are also found in dysplastic lesions^[15,16], indicating *TP53* mutations may be an event in the early stages of esophageal squamous cell carcinoma carcinogenesis. TP53 mutations produce abnormal TP53 protein that accumulates in the nuclei of cells which may be identified by immunohistochemistry^[15,19,20]. Positive *p53* staining has been demonstrated in the non-cancerous cells adjacent to tumors^[19] and in cells lacking the commonly identified TP53 mutations^[20]; indicating poor specificity and sensitivity of the technique and potentially additional mutations within the gene accounting for the positive staining^[20].

ESOPHAGEAL ADENOCARCINOMA

Esophageal adenocarcinoma is a highly lethal tumour usually developing in the lower third of the esophagus, or at the gastro-esophageal junction^[21]. Incidence rates have risen gradually in developed countries since 1984, with a 4% increase in the incidence of adenocarcinoma in Australia between 1988 and 2005^[22]. Adenocarcinoma is most prevalent in males, the elderly and the obese. However, the most significant risk factor identified for adenocarcinoma is Barrett's esophagus^[12,23,24].

Barrett's esophagus is a metaplastic condition of the esophageal epithelium, affecting up to 2% of the adult population^[6]. It is defined histologically by the replacement of the normal stratified squamous epithelium with a columnar epithelium with intestinal metaplasia defined by the presence of goblet cells, as a result of chronic gastro-esophageal reflux disease^[24]. Gastro-esophageal reflux disease is characterised by increased acid and bile exposure to the esophageal mucosa, a consequence of extended relaxation of the lower esophageal sphincter, which may lead to esophagitis and progress to Barrett's esophagus^[25]. The development of Barrett's epithelium is considered a protective mechanism, as columnar epithelium is more resistant to the harmful effects of acid and bile than the normal stratified squamous epithelium of the esophagus^[26]. However, Barrett's esophagus, is also a hyper-proliferative condition, susceptible to malignant progression in some individuals^[27]. Dysplasia is one of



the initial changes identified with malignant progression, characterised by cellular distortion and changes in the nuclei such as crowding and hyperchromatism^[28].

Patients with Barrett's esophagus have varied risk of progression to adenocarcinoma^[29], with some studies suggesting 40%-75% of cases of esophageal adenocarcinoma lack evidence of Barrett's esophagus^[30,31]. It has been suggested the absence of any evidence of Barrett's esophagus could suggest an alternate, yet to be identified, pathogenic pathways^[31], and that Barrett's esophagus is simply a strong risk factor in a subset of the population, but not a necessary carcinogenic step in the development of esophageal adenocarcinoma^[32]. However, the absence of useful tools for the early identification and ongoing assessment of Barrett's esophagus and progression to adenocarcinoma has made assessment of this relationship challenging.

CURRENT DIAGNOSTIC METHODS OF ESOPHAGEAL CANCER

The diagnosis of esophageal cancer and its premalignant lesions is currently limited to endoscopy and subsequent biopsy analysis^[11]. Endoscopy is a highly invasive and costly diagnostic procedure^[33,34] and is the current gold-standard diagnostic technique for esophageal cancer and its precursor lesions^[4]. Standard white light endoscopy is limited in its scope, restricted to the identification of macroscopic abnormalities that may indicate cancer, such as nodules and ulcers, consequently failing to identify early lesions that appear macroscopically normal^[4]. Whilst Barrett's esophagus is visible endoscopically, dysplasia within the Barrett's segment is more difficult to identify as lesions are often flat and difficult to distinguish from surrounding non-dysplastic columnar epithelium^[33].

Classification of dysplasia is subjective and studies have shown differentiation between grades of dysplasia is highly variable amongst pathologists, leading to incorrect diagnosis and un-necessary procedures^[5,35]. Likewise, random biopsy protocols is prone to sampling error^[36], furthering the potential for misdiagnosis.

Surveillance using endoscopy and biopsy is generally recommended for patients with Barrett's esophagus, in order to diagnose esophageal cancer at its earliest stage^[37]. As a result of the low progression rate of early lesions, such as Barrett's esophagus to adenocarcinoma and the costs of endoscopy surveillance, it may not be cost effective to employ the current diagnostic procedures in surveillance programs for esophageal cancer, and screening programs have never been considered feasible^[35]. Thus, there is an acute need for the development of more selective and less invasive diagnostic techniques for individuals at risk of esophageal cancer.

EMERGING BIOMARKERS OF ESOPHAGEAL CANCER

Blood biomarkers

Autoantibodies have drawn appeal as serology markers for esophageal cancer, owing to their stability and persistence in serum samples. With improvements in antibody detection technologies improving the detection limits, there is a growing interest in the utility of autoantibodies as diagnostic and prognostic biomarkers for esophageal cancer. Perhaps the most comprehensively investigated has been the tumour suppressor gene, TP53. The protein product of TP53 is a nuclear phosphoprotein and in normal human plasma, the TP53 protein and anti-p53 antibodies are absent^[38]. *p53* mutations can cause accumulation of non-functional protein that has increased stability and a longer half-life than the native protein^[38]. The subsequent production of anti-p53 has been detected in tissue, blood and other body fluids of several cancer types, including esophageal cancer. A meta-analysis by Zhang et al^[38] summarizing the diagnostic value of anti-p53 for esophageal cancer found that patients with esophageal cancer were seven times more likely to be positive for plasma anti-p53 compared to noncancer controls. However, despite the high specificity, the authors reported low sensitivity, suggesting limited clinical application.

More recently, a systematic review investigated the diagnostic utility of 35 different circulating autoantibodies, both alone and in combination, as biomarkers for the early detection of esophageal cancer^[39]. Although the study did not distinguish between the two esophageal cancer sub-types, the majority of the studies included in the review were esophageal squamous cell carcinoma, a greater world-wide burden of this variant compared to the adenocarcinoma sub-type^[39]. Although the vast majority of studies reviewed reported positive associations between their candidate biomarker, and esophageal cancer, with high specificity reported, the sensitivity values were generally too low to be of any clinical significance^[39]. However, combinations of autoantibodies did slightly improve the median sensitivity. The authors also conducted a meta-analysis on the diagnostic value of anti-p53, reporting a significant association of serum anti-p53 with esophageal cancer, with sensitivity of 91.4% and specificity of 65%^[39], contrasting their previous findings for meta-analysis of anti-p53^[38].

Six serum biochemical markers that included anti-p53, carcinoembryonic antigen, squamous cell cancer antigen, cytokeratin 21-1 fragment (CYFRA21-1), vascular endothelial growth factor-C and microRNA (miRNA) were reviewed in a meta-analysis by Zhang *et al*^[40]. Although each biomarker candidate was associated with a positive odds ratio for esophageal cancer, and high specificity values by receiver operating characteristic curves, the sensitivity for each test was

WJG | www.wjgnet.com

again low, with high variability between studies^[40]. Although the authors suggest that combinations of the serum markers are likely to yield better sensitivity and specificity, it is more likely that the better designed, more robust, prospective, multi-centre studies are needed to better optimise and validate candidate serum biochemical markers.

Circulating tumor cells (CTCs) originate from the primary tumor, and are released into the circulation, where they may form micro-metastases. Various assays have been developed and used to assess the diagnostic and prognostic potential of CTCs in several cancer types, including breast, colorectal, gastric and esopahgeal cancer^[41]. A recent metaanalysis by Qiao et $al^{[42]}$ aimed to determine the association between CTCs and clinicopathological characteristics and prognosis (tumor stage, lymph node metastasis, distant metastasis and patient survival) in esophageal cancer. The presence of CTCs was found to correlate strongly with poor overall patient survival, and predicted poor progression free survival in Asian populations with esophageal squamous cell carcinoma^[42]. CTCs also correlated with venous invasion and metastasis to local lymph nodes (N-staging). New methodologies to quantify circulating tumor DNA might also offer new diagnostic potential, but more work is needed to evaluate this possibility.

Blood biomarkers for esophageal cancer represent new tools for the early detection and prognosis. However, despite the large number of candidate markers that have been published, there remains a paucity of large, well-designed, prospective multicentre validation studies for both esophageal squamous cell carcinoma and esophageal adenocarcinoma.

CIRCULATING miRNA

miRNA's are single stranded, non-coding RNA's that can regulate gene and protein expression^[43,44]. miRNAs are abundantly expressed in a stable form, with highly consistent levels amongst individuals in a range of extracellular fluids including blood serum and plasma, and have drawn attention as biomarkers for cancer and disease^[43,44]. Recent studies have reported plasma/ serum circulating miRNAs to be potential diagnostic and prognostic markers in some gastrointestinal cancers - esophageal squamous, esophageal adenocarcinoma, gastric and colorectal^[43,44]. Although still an emerging area of research, recent meta-analyses have highlighted the potential of circulating miRNAs for the detection of esophageal cancer.

A review by Wang *et al*^[45] of eight manuscripts investigated a total of 16 different types of miRNAs in serum and saliva of Asian esophageal squamous cell carcinoma patients. The authors reported relatively high sensitivity and specificity values for combination and single miRNA markers, suggesting some diagnostic application^[45]. The prognostic utility of miRNAs have also been reviewed, with Fu *et al*^[46] reporting on 39 potentially prognostic miRNAs in 25 individual studies. miR-21 and miR-375 were found to be potentially prognostic of overall survival^[46]. However, the small number of manuscripts that could be included in the study, and the lack of validation studies performed using the miRNA markers limits the conclusions that can be drawn for translational application. A more comprehensive meta-analysis by Fu *et al*^[47] found that although increased expression of miR-21 and decreased expression of miR-375 were significantly associated with poor overall survival in esophageal cancer, both miR-21 and miR-275 were associated with low hazard ratios.

Circulating miRNAs have also been investigated as biomarkers of esophageal adenocarcinoma and the pre-cursor condition, Barrett's esophagus. In a retrospective study of bio-banked serum samples from esophageal cancer patients, Chiam *et al*^[43] identified five miRNA ratios, derived from ten unique miRNAs that were discriminatory for esophageal adenocarcinoma over non-dysplastic Barrett's esophagus and healthy controls. The predictive accuracy of the miRNA ratios was enhanced with stepwise addition of each miRNA ratio to an analysis of the cancer patient's blood sample^[43], highlighting the potential for biomarker combination approaches to enhance test specificity and sensitivity.

BREATH BIOMARKERS

Breath analysis represents an attractive modality for the early detection of cancer, as it is completely noninvasive, relatively cheap compared to conventional methods, and provides a rapid result following sample collection. Breath volatile organic compounds (VOCs) as biomarkers of disease have been recognised since the time of Hippocrates in Ancient Greece, who described *fetor hepaticus* and *fetor oris* in his treatise on breath aroma and disease^[48]. It is now known that a single human breath is a complex gas mixture of more than 2000 unique VOCs, representing a reservoir of potential cancer biomarkers^[49]. Breath VOCs have already shown clinical utility as possible biomarkers for lung^[50,51], breast^[52,53], prostate^[54], colorectal^[55], gastric^[56] and recently, esophageal cancer.

Many studies have associated breath alkanes with cancer, presumably as a bi-product of oxidative stress pathways^[57]. Breath ethane has previously been investigated in late stage esophageal squamous cell carcinoma and adenocarcinoma, with no differences compared to healthy controls^[58]. More advanced technologies have since been used to characterise VOCs associated with esophageal cancer. Headspace analysis of urine^[59] and gastric contents^[60] from esophageal cancer patients by selected ion flow tube-mass spectrometry identified several VOCs that were differentially regulated compared to healthy controls. However, there was no predominant group of VOCs in the cancer group.



The first breath analysis study to define breath VOCs in esophageal cancer identified a phenols dominant expression pattern, with phenol, methyl phenol, ethyl phenol and hexanoic acid significantly increased in esophageal cancer compared to healthy controls^[61]. In the most comprehensive study to date, Kumar et al^[62] investigated breath VOCs in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma, esophageal adenocarcinoma, Barrett's esophagus, benign conditions and gastric adenocarcinoma, compared to healthy controls. A total of 12 VOCs, comprised of phenols, aldehydes and fatty acids were identified as being discriminatory for esophageal cancer and gastric cancer compared to normal upper gastrointestinal (GI) tract^[62]. Additionally, the authors found the VOC profile distinguished esophageal cancer from Barrett's metaplasia and from benign conditions of the upper GI tract (which included esophagitis, esophageal stricture, and esophageal candidiasis). Developing a risk prediction model, the authors reported eight significant predictors for adenocarcinoma: decanal, nonanal, phenol, ethyl phenol, methyl phenol, hexanoic acid, heptanal, and butyric acid, with sensitivity and specificity of 98% and 91.7% respectively when compared to normal upper GI tract^[62]. Furthermore, the model accurately discriminated esophageal adenocarcinoma from noncancer controls (benign conditions, Barrett's metaplasia and normal upper GI tract), with sensitivity and specificity of 87.5% and 82.9% respectively^[62]. Interestingly, no differences in VOCs were detected between early and late stage cancers, or between tumour size and concentrations of VOCs.

Proton Transfer Reaction-Mass Spectrometry has recently been used to identify breath VOCs in a small study of Chinese esophageal cancer patients^[63]. Although the study did not differentiate between esophageal squamous cell carcinoma and esophageal adenocarcinoma, the authors reported 20 ion peaks in the full mass spectra that were significantly different in cancer patients compared to healthy controls^[63]. Using stepwise discriminant analysis, the authors identified seven ions that were highly discriminatory for esophageal cancer^[63]. In contrast to the study by Kumar $et a^{l^{[62]}}$ the authors also suggested that their predictive model discriminated for early and late stage cancer. However, these interpretations should be carefully balanced against the small participant numbers used in the study.

CONCLUSION

Current diagnostic and surveillance procedures for esophageal cancer are invasive, expensive and illadapted for early detection. Recent advances have been made in the development and validation of new minimally and non-invasive biomarkers for esophageal cancer. Although several novel serology markers have been investigated, these have not translated to validated clinical tools. Circulating anti-p53 and CTCs have shown the most promise as diagnostic and prognostic markers of esophageal cancer, with recent meta-analyses supporting their use. However, the absence of well-designed, robust clinical validation trials in large patient cohorts largely limits the power of these meta-analyses. This is highlighted by the lack of differentiation between esophageal squamous cell carcinoma and esophageal adenocarcinoma, despite distinct pathologies and molecular profiles.

Circulating miRNAs have emerged as promising new biomarkers of esophageal cancers. Despite their promise, several studies have limited their focus to esophageal squamous cell carcinoma, and small clinical cohorts, with many focussing on single miRNAs rather than combined approaches. Advances in bioinformatics have facilitated analysis of large, complex miRNA microarray datasets, and future studies are likely to employ combined approaches for miRNA analysis.

The emerging field of breath and gas analysis for cancer detection represents a completely non-invasive approach to early detection, and ongoing screening of at risk individuals. With improvements in the sensitivity of VOC detection technologies, it is likely that the pool of possible breath and odorant biomarkers will significantly increase. Despite relatively few studies having investigated breath biomarkers in esophageal cancer, the initial predictive models have shown some promise. Moving forward in this rapidly developing field, it is critical that standardised approaches to the collection of breath samples are employed, to minimise study heterogeneity. Furthermore, with little evidence to support the biological origins of VOCs, mechanistic studies to better understand how VOCs are produced in cancer cells will help to improve the sensitivity and specificity of future tests.

As the incidence of esophageal cancer continues to grow world-wide, new diagnostic and prognostic tools are needed to improve survival and direct clinical management. The advances being made in new minimally and non-invasive biomarkers represents a suite of ancillary tests that could stratify patients for endoscopic and other imaging modalities, ultimately leading to improved patient care. While it is unlikely that there will ever be a single "silver bullet" biomarker, the most likely scenario will be derived from predictive algorithms based on multiple biomarkers, which could also include combinations of blood and breath analysis.

REFERENCES

- Pakzad R, Mohammadian-Hafshejani A, Khosravi B, Soltani S, Pakzad I, Mohammadian M, Salehiniya H, Momenimovahed Z. The incidence and mortality of esophageal cancer and their relationship to development in Asia. *Ann Transl Med* 2016; 4: 29 [PMID: 26889482 DOI: 10.3978/j.issn.2305-5839.2016.01.11]
- 2 Bystricky B, Okines AF, Cunningham D. Optimal therapeutic strategies for resectable oesophageal or oesophagogastric junction cancer. *Drugs* 2011; 71: 541-555 [PMID: 21443280 DOI: 10.2165/ 11585460-000000000-000003]
- 3 Bandla S, Pennathur A, Luketich JD, Beer DG, Lin L, Bass AJ,

Yazbeck R et al. New biomarkers for esophagus cancer

Godfrey TE, Litle VR. Comparative genomics of esophageal adenocarcinoma and squamous cell carcinoma. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2012; **93**: 1101-1106 [PMID: 22450065 DOI: 10.1016/j.athoracsur. 2012.01.064]

- 4 Bird-Lieberman EL, Fitzgerald RC. Early diagnosis of oesophageal cancer. Br J Cancer 2009; 101: 1-6 [PMID: 19513070 DOI: 10.1038/sj.bjc.6605126]
- 5 Yentz S, Wang TD. Molecular imaging for guiding oncologic prognosis and therapy in esophageal adenocarcinoma. *Hosp Pract* (1995) 2011; **39**: 97-106 [PMID: 21576902 DOI: 10.3810/ hp.2011.04.399]
- 6 Jankowski J, Barr H, Wang K, Delaney B. Diagnosis and management of Barrett's oesophagus. *BMJ* 2010; 341: c4551 [PMID: 20833742 DOI: 10.1136/bmj.c4551]
- 7 Lu S, Wang TD. In vivo cancer biomarkers of esophageal neoplasia. *Cancer Biomark* 2008; **4**: 341-350 [PMID: 19126962]
- 8 Ong CA, Lao-Sirieix P, Fitzgerald RC. Biomarkers in Barrett' s esophagus and esophageal adenocarcinoma: predictors of progression and prognosis. *World J Gastroenterol* 2010; 16: 5669-5681 [PMID: 21128316 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v16.i45.5669]
- 9 Zhang J, Bowers J, Liu L, Wei S, Gowda GA, Hammoud Z, Raftery D. Esophageal cancer metabolite biomarkers detected by LC-MS and NMR methods. *PLoS One* 2012; 7: e30181 [PMID: 22291914 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0030181]
- 10 Thrift AP, Nagle CM, Fahey PP, Russell A, Smithers BM, Watson DI, Whiteman DC. The influence of prediagnostic demographic and lifestyle factors on esophageal squamous cell carcinoma survival. *Int J Cancer* 2012; 131: E759-E768 [PMID: 22213172 DOI: 10.1002/ijc.27420]
- 11 Lopes AB, Fagundes RB. Esophageal squamous cell carcinoma precursor lesions and early diagnosis. *World J Gastrointest Endosc* 2012; 4: 9-16 [PMID: 22267978 DOI: 10.4253/wjge.v4.i1.9]
- 12 Pohl H, Sirovich B, Welch HG. Esophageal adenocarcinoma incidence: are we reaching the peak? *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 2010; 19: 1468-1470 [PMID: 20501776 DOI: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-10-0012]
- 13 Kamangar F, Chow WH, Abnet CC, Dawsey SM. Environmental causes of esophageal cancer. *Gastroenterol Clin North Am* 2009; 38: 27-57, vii [PMID: 19327566 DOI: 10.1016/j.gtc.2009.01.004]
- Yong EL, Han XP, Watson DI, Devitt PG, Jamieson GG, Thompson SK. Outcome following surgery for squamous cell carcinoma of the oesophagus. *ANZ J Surg* 2009; **79**: 724-728 [PMID: 19878168 DOI: 10.1111/j.1445-2197.2009.05058.x]
- 15 Mandard AM, Hainaut P, Hollstein M. Genetic steps in the development of squamous cell carcinoma of the esophagus. *Mutat Res* 2000; 462: 335-342 [PMID: 10767643]
- 16 Shimizu M, Ban S, Odze RD. Squamous dysplasia and other precursor lesions related to esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. *Gastroenterol Clin North Am* 2007; 36: 797-811, v-vi [PMID: 17996791 DOI: 10.1016/j.gtc.2007.08.005]
- 17 Toh Y, Oki E, Ohgaki K, Sakamoto Y, Ito S, Egashira A, Saeki H, Kakeji Y, Morita M, Sakaguchi Y, Okamura T, Maehara Y. Alcohol drinking, cigarette smoking, and the development of squamous cell carcinoma of the esophagus: molecular mechanisms of carcinogenesis. *Int J Clin Oncol* 2010; **15**: 135-144 [PMID: 20224883 DOI: 10.1007/s10147-010-0057-6]
- 18 Hollstein MC, Peri L, Mandard AM, Welsh JA, Montesano R, Metcalf RA, Bak M, Harris CC. Genetic analysis of human esophageal tumors from two high incidence geographic areas: frequent p53 base substitutions and absence of ras mutations. *Cancer Res* 1991; **51**: 4102-4106 [PMID: 1855226]
- 19 Lam AK. Molecular biology of esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol 2000; 33: 71-90 [PMID: 10737369]
- 20 Gao H, Wang LD, Zhou Q, Hong JY, Huang TY, Yang CS. p53 tumor suppressor gene mutation in early esophageal precancerous lesions and carcinoma among high-risk populations in Henan, China. *Cancer Res* 1994; 54: 4342-4346 [PMID: 8044781]
- 21 **Smith CM**, Watson DI, Michael MZ, Hussey DJ. MicroRNAs, development of Barrett's esophagus, and progression to esophageal

adenocarcinoma. *World J Gastroenterol* 2010; **16**: 531-537 [PMID: 20128019 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v16.i5.531]

- 22 Thrift AP, Whiteman DC. The incidence of esophageal adenocarcinoma continues to rise: analysis of period and birth cohort effects on recent trends. *Ann Oncol* 2012; 23: 3155-3162 [PMID: 22847812 DOI: 10.1093/annonc/mds181]
- 23 Phillips WA, Lord RV, Nancarrow DJ, Watson DI, Whiteman DC. Barrett's esophagus. *J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2011; 26: 639-648 [PMID: 21166712]
- 24 Bampton PA, Schloithe A, Bull J, Fraser RJ, Padbury RT, Watson DI. Improving surveillance for Barrett's oesophagus. BMJ 2006; 332: 1320-1323 [PMID: 16740562 DOI: 10.1136/ bmj.332.7553.1320]
- 25 Moayyedi P, Delaney B. GORD in adults. *BMJ Clin Evid* 2008; 2008: pii: 0403 [PMID: 19450297]
- Wang DH, Souza RF. Biology of Barrett's esophagus and esophageal adenocarcinoma. *Gastrointest Endosc Clin N Am* 2011; 21: 25-38 [PMID: 21112495 DOI: 10.1016/j.giec.2010.09.011]
- 27 Oh DS, Demeester SR. Pathophysiology and treatment of Barrett's esophagus. *World J Gastroenterol* 2010; 16: 3762-3772 [PMID: 20698038 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v16.i30.3762]
- 28 Enzinger PC, Mayer RJ. Esophageal cancer. N Engl J Med 2003; 349: 2241-2252 [PMID: 14657432 DOI: 10.1056/ NEJMra035010349/23/2241]
- 29 Van der Veen AH, Dees J, Blankensteijn JD, Van Blankenstein M. Adenocarcinoma in Barrett's oesophagus: an overrated risk. *Gut* 1989; 30: 14-18 [PMID: 2920919]
- 30 DeVault KR. Epidemiology and significance of Barrett's esophagus. *Dig Dis* 2000; 18: 195-202 [PMID: 11356990 DOI: 10.1159/000051399]
- 31 Wild CP, Hardie LJ. Reflux, Barrett's oesophagus and adenocarcinoma: burning questions. *Nat Rev Cancer* 2003; 3: 676-684 [PMID: 12951586 DOI: 10.1038/nrc1166nrc1166]
- 32 Lagergren J, Bergström R, Lindgren A, Nyrén O. Symptomatic gastroesophageal reflux as a risk factor for esophageal adenocarcinoma. *N Engl J Med* 1999; 340: 825-831 [PMID: 10080844 DOI: 10.1056/NEJM199903183401101]
- 33 Lao-Sirieix P, Fitzgerald RC. Screening for oesophageal cancer. Nat Rev Clin Oncol 2012; 9: 278-287 [PMID: 22430857 DOI: 10.1038/nrclinonc.2012.35]
- 34 Link A, Treiber G, Peters B, Wex T, Malfertheiner P. Impact of endoscopy-based research on quality of life in healthy volunteers. *World J Gastroenterol* 2010; 16: 467-473 [PMID: 20101773 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v16.i4.467]
- 35 Sharma P, Sidorenko EI. Are screening and surveillance for Barrett's oesophagus really worthwhile? *Gut* 2005; 54 Suppl 1: i27-i32 [PMID: 15711005 DOI: 10.1136/gut.2004.041566]
- 36 Neumann H, Langner C, Neurath MF, Vieth M. Confocal Laser Endomicroscopy for Diagnosis of Barrett's Esophagus. *Front Oncol* 2012; 2: 42 [PMID: 22645719 DOI: 10.3389/ fonc.2012.00042]
- 37 Inadomi JM, Sampliner R, Lagergren J, Lieberman D, Fendrick AM, Vakil N. Screening and surveillance for Barrett esophagus in high-risk groups: a cost-utility analysis. *Ann Intern Med* 2003; 138: 176-186 [PMID: 12558356]
- 38 Zhang J, Xv Z, Wu X, Li K. Potential diagnostic value of serum p53 antibody for detecting esophageal cancer: a meta-analysis. *PLoS One* 2012; 7: e52896 [PMID: 23285221 DOI: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0052896]
- 39 Zhang H, Xia J, Wang K, Zhang J. Serum autoantibodies in the early detection of esophageal cancer: a systematic review. *Tumour Biol* 2015; 36: 95-109 [PMID: 25433500 DOI: 10.1007/ s13277-014-2878-9]
- 40 Zhang J, Zhu Z, Liu Y, Jin X, Xu Z, Yu Q, Li K. Diagnostic value of multiple tumor markers for patients with esophageal carcinoma. *PLoS One* 2015; 10: e0116951 [PMID: 25693076 DOI: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0116951]
- 41 **Luo H**, Li H, Hu Z, Wu H, Liu C, Li Y, Zhang X, Lin P, Hou Q, Ding G, Wang Y, Li S, Wei D, Qiu F, Li Y, Wu S. Noninvasive diagnosis and monitoring of mutations by deep sequencing of

circulating tumor DNA in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2016; **471**: 596-602 [PMID: 26876573 DOI: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2016.02.011]

- 42 Qiao GL, Qi WX, Jiang WH, Chen Y, Ma LJ. Prognostic significance of circulating tumor cells in esophageal carcinoma: a meta-analysis. *Onco Targets Ther* 2016; 9: 1889-1897 [PMID: 27099520 DOI: 10.2147/OTT.S100005]
- 43 Chiam K, Wang T, Watson DI, Mayne GC, Irvine TS, Bright T, Smith L, White IA, Bowen JM, Keefe D, Thompson SK, Jones ME, Hussey DJ. Circulating Serum Exosomal miRNAs As Potential Biomarkers for Esophageal Adenocarcinoma. J Gastrointest Surg 2015; 19: 1208-1215 [PMID: 25943911 DOI: 10.1007/s11605-015-2829-9]
- 44 Lindner K, Haier J, Wang Z, Watson DI, Hussey DJ, Hummel R. Circulating microRNAs: emerging biomarkers for diagnosis and prognosis in patients with gastrointestinal cancers. *Clin Sci* (Lond) 2015; **128**: 1-15 [PMID: 25168167 DOI: 10.1042/CS20140089]
- 45 Wang Y, Wang Q, Zhang N, Ma H, Gu Y, Tang H, Xu Z, Gao Y. Identification of microRNAs as novel biomarkers for detecting esophageal squamous cell carcinoma in Asians: a meta-analysis. *Tumour Biol* 2014; 35: 11595-11604 [PMID: 25135426 DOI: 10.1007/s13277-014-2350-x]
- 46 Fu W, Pang L, Chen Y, Yang L, Zhu J, Wei Y. The microRNAs as prognostic biomarkers for survival in esophageal cancer: a metaanalysis. *ScientificWorldJournal* 2014; 2014: 523979 [PMID: 25097879 DOI: 10.1155/2014/523979]
- 47 Fu C, Dong W, Wang Z, Li H, Qin Q, Li B. The expression of miR-21 and miR-375 predict prognosis of esophageal cancer. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 2014; 446: 1197-1203 [PMID: 24680681 DOI: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2014.03.087]
- 48 Cikach FS, Dweik RA. Cardiovascular biomarkers in exhaled breath. *Prog Cardiovasc Dis* 2012; 55: 34-43 [PMID: 22824108 DOI: 10.1016/j.pcad.2012.05.005S0033-0620(12)00083-7]
- 49 Phillips M, Cataneo RN, Chaturvedi A, Kaplan PD, Libardoni M, Mundada M, Patel U, Zhang X. Detection of an extended human volatome with comprehensive two-dimensional gas chromatography time-of-flight mass spectrometry. *PLoS One* 2013; 8: e75274 [PMID: 24086492 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0075274]
- 50 Amann A, Corradi M, Mazzone P, Mutti A. Lung cancer biomarkers in exhaled breath. *Expert Rev Mol Diagn* 2011; 11: 207-217 [PMID: 21405971 DOI: 10.1586/erm.10.112]
- 51 Phillips M, Altorki N, Austin JH, Cameron RB, Cataneo RN, Greenberg J, Kloss R, Maxfield RA, Munawar MI, Pass HI, Rashid A, Rom WN, Schmitt P. Prediction of lung cancer using volatile biomarkers in breath. *Cancer Biomark* 2007; **3**: 95-109 [PMID: 17522431 DOI: 10.1016/j.cca.2008.02.021]
- 52 Phillips M, Cataneo RN, Ditkoff BA, Fisher P, Greenberg J, Gunawardena R, Kwon CS, Rahbari-Oskoui F, Wong C. Volatile markers of breast cancer in the breath. *Breast J* 2003; 9: 184-191 [PMID: 12752626]
- 53 Phillips M, Cataneo RN, Saunders C, Hope P, Schmitt P, Wai J.

Volatile biomarkers in the breath of women with breast cancer. *J Breath Res* 2010; **4**: 026003 [PMID: 21383471 DOI: 10.1088/1752 -7155/4/2/026003]

- 54 Peng G, Hakim M, Broza YY, Billan S, Abdah-Bortnyak R, Kuten A, Tisch U, Haick H. Detection of lung, breast, colorectal, and prostate cancers from exhaled breath using a single array of nanosensors. *Br J Cancer* 2010; 103: 542-551 [PMID: 20648015 DOI: 10.1038/sj.bjc.6605810]
- 55 Altomare DF, Di Lena M, Porcelli F, Trizio L, Travaglio E, Tutino M, Dragonieri S, Memeo V, de Gennaro G. Exhaled volatile organic compounds identify patients with colorectal cancer. *Br J Surg* 2013; 100: 144-150 [PMID: 23212621 DOI: 10.1002/bjs.8942]
- 56 Xu ZQ, Broza YY, Ionsecu R, Tisch U, Ding L, Liu H, Song Q, Pan YY, Xiong FX, Gu KS, Sun GP, Chen ZD, Leja M, Haick H. A nanomaterial-based breath test for distinguishing gastric cancer from benign gastric conditions. *Br J Cancer* 2013; 108: 941-950 [PMID: 23462808 DOI: 10.1038/bjc.2013.44]
- 57 Phillips M, Cataneo RN, Greenberg J, Grodman R, Salazar M. Breath markers of oxidative stress in patients with unstable angina. *Heart Dis* 2003; 5: 95-99 [PMID: 12713676]
- 58 Abela JE, Skeldon KD, Stuart RC, Padgett MJ. Exhaled ethane concentration in patients with cancer of the upper gastrointestinal tract - a proof of concept study. *Biosci Trends* 2009; **3**: 110-114 [PMID: 20103832]
- 59 Huang J, Kumar S, Abbassi-Ghadi N, Spaněl P, Smith D, Hanna GB. Selected ion flow tube mass spectrometry analysis of volatile metabolites in urine headspace for the profiling of gastroesophageal cancer. *Anal Chem* 2013; 85: 3409-3416 [PMID: 23421902 DOI: 10.1021/ac4000656]
- 60 Kumar S, Huang J, Cushnir JR, Španěl P, Smith D, Hanna GB. Selected ion flow tube-MS analysis of headspace vapor from gastric content for the diagnosis of gastro-esophageal cancer. *Anal Chem* 2012; 84: 9550-9557 [PMID: 23035898 DOI: 10.1021/ ac302409a]
- 61 Kumar S, Huang J, Abbassi-Ghadi N, Španěl P, Smith D, Hanna GB. Selected ion flow tube mass spectrometry analysis of exhaled breath for volatile organic compound profiling of esophago-gastric cancer. *Anal Chem* 2013; 85: 6121-6128 [PMID: 23659180 DOI: 10.1021/ac4010309]
- 62 Kumar S, Huang J, Abbassi-Ghadi N, Mackenzie HA, Veselkov KA, Hoare JM, Lovat LB, Španěl P, Smith D, Hanna GB. Mass Spectrometric Analysis of Exhaled Breath for the Identification of Volatile Organic Compound Biomarkers in Esophageal and Gastric Adenocarcinoma. *Ann Surg* 2015; 262: 981-990 [PMID: 25575255 DOI: 10.1097/SLA.00000000001101]
- 63 Zou X, Zhou W, Lu Y, Shen C, Hu Z, Wang H, Jiang H, Chu Y. Exhaled gases online measurements for esophageal cancer patients and healthy people by proton transfer reaction mass spectrometry. *J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2016; **31**: 1837-1843 [PMID: 26996099 DOI: 10.1111/jgh.13380]

P- Reviewer: Gazouli M, Merino G, Mitchelmore C S- Editor: Qi Y L- Editor: A E- Editor: Zhang FF







Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/ Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v22.i46.10084 World J Gastroenterol 2016 December 14; 22(46): 10084-10092 ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online) © 2016 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

REVIEW

Sirtuins and nonalcoholic fatty liver disease

Fatiha Nassir, Jamal A Ibdah

Fatiha Nassir, Jamal A Ibdah, Research Service, Harry S Truman Memorial VA Hospital, University of Missouri, Columbia, MO 65201, United States

Fatiha Nassir, Jamal A Ibdah, Department of Medicine, Division of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, University of Missouri, Columbia, MO 65212, United States

Author contributions: Nassir F reviewed the literature and wrote the manuscript; Ibdah JA edited the manuscript and approved the final version.

Conflict-of-interest statement: Authors declare no conflict of interests for this manuscript.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Manuscript source: Invited manuscript

Correspondence to: Jamal A Ibdah, MD, PhD, Professor, Director, Department of Medicine, Division of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, University of Missouri, 1 Hospital Drive, DC043.00, CE405, Columbia, MO 65212, United States. ibdahj@health.missouri.edu Telephone: +1-573-8827349 Fax: +1-573-8844595

Received: August 16, 2016 Peer-review started: August 17, 2016 First decision: September 20, 2016 Revised: October 12, 2016 Accepted: November 15, 2016 Article in press: November 16, 2016 Published online: December 14, 2016

Abstract

Mammalian sirtuins are seven members belonging to

the silent information regulator 2 family, a group of Class III histone/protein deacetylases. Sirtuins (SIRT 1-7) have different subcellular localization and function and they regulate cellular protein function through various posttranslational modifications. SIRT1 and 3, the most studied sirtuins, use the product of cellular metabolism nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide as a cofactor to post-translationally deacetylate cellular proteins and consequently link the metabolic status of the cell to protein function. Sirtuins have been shown to play a key role in the development and rescue of various metabolic diseases including non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD). NAFLD is currently the most chronic liver disease due mainly to high-calorie consumption and lower physical activity. No pharmacological approach is available to treat NAFLD, the current recommended treatment are lifestyle modification such as weight loss through calorie restriction and exercise. Recent studies have shown downregulation of sirtuins in human as well as animal models of NAFLD indicating an important role of sirtuins in the dynamic pathophysiology of NAFLD. In this review, we highlight the recent knowledge on sirtuins, their role in NAFLD and their unique potential role as novel therapeutic target for NAFLD treatment.

Key words: SIRT1; SIRT3; Sirtuins; Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease

© **The Author(s) 2016.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core tip: Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) is a leading cause of chronic liver disease with no effective pharmacological therapy. The discovery of treatment is hindered by the insufficient understanding of the pathophysiology of the disease. Sirtuins are key players in hepatic carbohydrate and lipid metabolism, insulin signaling, and inflammation and hence may represent a novel therapeutic target for NAFLD. However, the particular role for each sirtuin, the cross talk between sirtuins in different cell compartments or within a given organelle, and the development of selective sirtuins

activators/inhibitors still need further investigation.

Nassir F, Ibdah JA. Sirtuins and nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *World J Gastroenterol* 2016; 22(46): 10084-10092 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v22/ i46/10084.htm DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v22.i46.10084

INTRODUCTION

Non-alcoholic fatty liver diseases (NAFLD) is emerging as the leading cause of chronic liver diseases affecting one billion of people in the world. The current model for NAFLD pathophysiology, "the multiple-hit hypothesis", characterizes NAFLD as the manifestation of both genetic and environmental factors, dysfunction of various organs and organelles, as well as the complex interaction between hepatocytes and other cells (e.g., Kupffer and stellate cells) in the liver^[1]. Moreover, the liver is a hub for many metabolic pathways making NAFLD a multistage, progressive disease with systemic consequences. NAFLD is commonly associated with obesity, insulin resistance and enhanced risk of cardiovascular disease and mortality^[2-6]. Importantly, cardiovascular diseases are the main cause of morbidity in NAFLD patients. High-calorie consumption and lower physical activity have contributed to the rise in the prevalence of NAFLD. To date, no approved pharmacological approaches are available to treat NAFLD, the current confirmed recommendations for NAFLD are lifestyle modifications such as weight loss through caloric restriction (CR) and increased physical activity^[7-9]. Therefore, a pressing need for developing new novel pharmacological treatments, is still remaining. An inclusive pharmacological approach would be one that addresses the pathogenic complexity of NAFLD. Currently, sirtuins have been under intense investigation as a novel therapeutic target for the treatment of NAFLD. In this review, we summarize the current knowledge on the pathophysiology of NAFLD and on the sirtuins as a potential target for the treatment of NAFLD.

NAFLD PATHOPHYSIOLOGY

NAFLD is a spectrum of liver diseases that occurs in the absence of excessive alcohol intake or viral infection. It includes hepatic steatosis (> 5% of fat in the liver), nonalcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH, fat deposit with inflammation), cirrhosis and hepatocellular carcinoma^[9-12]. NAFLD is currently the most widespread form of liver disease affecting 10%-30% of all ages from childhood to adult population, and is predicted to be the leading cause of liver pathology and liver failure in the coming years^[13,14]. NAFLD is more prominent in obese and insulin resistant individuals affecting 70%-90% in these populations^[15,16]. NAFLD is also present in 10%-20% of the general pediatric population; this proportion increases to 50% in obese children in western society^[13,17-22]. A more recent study suggests that metabolic derangements may start early in life, even in utero. Exposure to excess fuel in fetal life may result in NAFLD in the offspring^[23,24].

Our understanding of the mechanisms involved in the pathophysiology of NAFLD are insufficient to pinpoint the major determinants involved in the development and progression of the disease and to develop therapeutic strategies for NAFLD. Studies on genetic and molecular factors involved in NAFLD clearly implicate lipid and glucose metabolism in the development of the disease. Moreover, functional studies implicate the different cell population in the liver as well as interaction between the liver, adipose tissue, gut and the muscle in the pathogenesis of NAFLD. In contrast to the "two-hit hypothesis" proposed by Day^[25] in which hepatic accumulation of triglyceride (TG) ("1st hit") sensitizes the liver to additional insults such as oxidative stress and pro-inflammatory cytokines ("2nd hit") resulting in NASH. The current understanding, "the multiple parallel hypothesis", refers to NAFLD as a systemic, multifactorial disease involving multiple organs, such as adipose tissue, muscle and the intestine, and organelles such the endoplasmic reticulum and the mitochondria.

Hepatic steatosis

Hepatic steatosis, which is previously considered as the benign form of NAFLD, results from an imbalance between influx of fatty acids to the liver from the diet, adipose tissue lipolysis or de novo lipogenesis; and their oxidation or export in the circulation as very low density lipoproteins (VLDL)^[9]. Failure of insulin to suppress lipolysis in insulin resistant adipose tissue is commonly associated with NAFLD^[26,27]. Moreover, it is estimated that in NAFLD patients, roughly 60% of fatty acids in the liver originate from adipose tissue, 25% from *de novo* lipogenesis, and 15% from the diet^[28]. Interestingly, both β -oxidation of fatty acids in the liver and VLDL secretion, are initially upregulated in nonalcoholic fatty liver in an attempt to compensate for the rise in fatty acids in the liver^[29-32]. However, this short term compensatory mechanism is insufficient to sustain the ongoing influx of fatty acid to the liver leading to liver injury^[30-32]. NASH patients have lower VLDL secretion and lower fatty acid oxidation (FAO) than patients with fatty liver^[30,31].

Non-alcoholic steatohepatitis and fibrosis

Non-alcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH) is a more severe form of NAFLD that is generally defined by the presence of steatosis with inflammation and cellular damage. Fibrosis is commonly described as an irreversible scarring of liver tissue with excessive presence of



WJG | www.wjgnet.com

extracellular matrix. The presence of fibrosis is one of the most important predictors of NAFLD related mortality^[10,33]. The current understanding of NASH pathogenesis follows a multiple hits model^[34,35] that implicate multiple stressors. Lipotoxicity, endoplasmic reticulum stress, adipose tissue derived adipokines (TNF α and IL6), gut endotoxins and LPS produced by gut microbiota that drift into to the liver through the portal vein due to changes in the intestinal permeability in NAFLD, and oxidative stress trigger inflammatory response and progressive liver damage. Inflammation can sometimes precede steatosis, and patients with NASH can present without much steatosis suggesting that inflammation can sometimes occur first. Recent studies have also shown that individuals with hepatic steatosis may progress to fibrosis in a relatively short period of time (3-7 years)^[36,37]. NAFLD patients may be classified into two categories, slow and fast progressors. The slow progressors may develop NASH but no fibrosis while the fast progressors may develop fibrosis and sometimes skip NASH stage of the disease^[38]. Changes in mitochondrial function is an important mechanism that may drive the switch from hepatic steatosis to NASH. Several reports indicate that mitochondrial respiration is elevated in NAFLD patients^[29,30]. However, in humans with NASH, respiration may be uncoupled from ATP production, causing significant increases in reactive oxygen species (ROS)^[30]. Importantly, elevated ROS production was associated with an increase in detoxification and antioxidant capacity in hepatic steatosis, but not in NASH, indicating that mechanisms to cope with excess ROS generation may be insufficient in NASH^[30].

ROLE OF SIRTUINS IN NAFLD

Sirtuins are a group of proteins that belong to the family of silent information regulator 2. Sirtuins have been shown, in recent years, to play an important role in the pathophysiology of various metabolic diseases including NAFLD^[39]. Sirtuins are implicated in many cellular and physiological functions including hepatic glucose and fatty acid metabolism, mitochondrial function, hepatic gluconeogenesis, insulin secretion and the maturation of fat cells^[40,41] as illustrated in Figure 1. Sirtuins regulate protein function through a growing list of posttranslational modification including deacetylation, succinylation and malonylation^[42,43]. Seven mammalians sirtuins (SIRT1-SIRT7) have been identified and shown to share the same conserved NAD binding site and catalytic core domain but with different N and C termini^[44]. The different sirtuins have various subcellular localization and expression^[44]. SIRT 1, 6, and 7 are localized mainly in nucleus while SIRT 3, 4 and 5 are localized to the mitochondrial matrix and SIRT2 predominantly cytoplasmic^[44]. Recent studies have shown reduced levels of most sirtuins in NAFLD. Direct evidence came from Wu

et al[45] who demonstrated decreased expression of SIRT1, SIRT3, SIRT5, and SIRT6 in NAFLD patients compared to the control group. This was associated with increased expression of lipogenic genes including sterol regulatory element binding protein-1, fatty acid synthase, and acetyl-CoA carboxylase. In contrast to the other sirtuins, the expression of SIRT4 was upregulated in NAFLD patients^[45]. Interestingly, in a recent study, Bruce et al^[46] indicated that exposure to excess dietary fat during early and post-natal life increases the susceptibility to develop NASH in adulthood and this was associated with reduced sirtuin abundance. Offspring fed a high fat diet (HFD) developed NAFLD while HFD-fed offspring of mothers fed a HFD diet developed NASH in combination of reduced NAD⁺/NADH, SIRT1, SIRT3 and increased expression of genes involved in lipid metabolism^[46]. SIRT1 and SIRT3 are the most studied sirtuins; we will focus mainly on these two sirtuins, their mode of action and their role in NAFLD.

Both SIRT1 and SIRT3 are NAD⁺-deacetylase that use NAD as a cofactor to deacetylate cellular proteins. Lysine acetylation is a reversible, dynamic reaction of adding acetyl groups to lysine residues. Acetylation affects all proteins in the cell and has recently been shown to be abundant in the mitochondria where it plays a key role in the dynamic regulation of proteins and thereby cell metabolism^[43,47-54]. Dysregulation of lysine acetylation plays a pathogenic role in diverse conditions such as metabolic syndrome, aging, cancer and NAFLD^[55-58].

SIRT1 and NAFLD

Studies from our group and others document strong involvement of the mitochondria in the pathogenesis of NAFLD^[59-62]. SIRT3 is the most investigated mitochondrial sirtuin, while SIRT1 has been shown to be expressed in various metabolic tissues including liver, adipose tissue, skeletal muscle, pancreas and brain. SIRT1 plays a key role in the development of NAFLD through its involvement in the regulation of both lipid and carbohydrate metabolism^[45,46,63-66]. Studies in mice and in cultured cells have characterized SIRT1 as a metabolic sensor that has the potential to improve NAFLD.

Inhibition of SIRT1 signaling in human fetal hepatocytes resulted in an increase in intracellular glucose and lipid levels with upregulation of *de novo lipogenesis* and gluconeogenesis related genes^[66]. In mice, liver specific deletion of SIRT1 as well as SIRT1 downregulation using small hairpin RNA resulted in hepatic steatosis, inflammation and endoplasmic reticulum stress^[67,68]. Hepatocyte-specific deletion of SIRT1 impaired PPAR α signaling and decreased FAO. However, SIRT1 overexpression increased levels of PPAR α and increased FAO^[67].

SIRT1 is reduced by HFD while CR resulted in an increase in hepatic SIRT1 expression and improvement in NAFLD histology^[69]. Overexpression





Figure 1 An illustration representing various sirtuins with summary findings for SIRT1, SIRT3, and SIRT4. NAFLD: Non-alcoholic fatty liver diseases; FAO: Fatty acid oxidation; HFD: High fat diet.

of SIRT1 in mice provided protection against HFD induced hepatic steatosis through upregulation of FAO and downregulation of lipogenesis^[64]. Moreover, treatment of mice fed a HFD with resveratrol (RSV), a polyphenol found in red wine and other plants, improved lipid metabolism, and decreased NAFLD and inflammation in the liver^[70]. Interestingly, it has been documented that inhibition of SIRT1 signaling in human fetal hepatocytes resulted in an increase in intracellular glucose and lipid levels^[66]. SIRT1 is also modulated in obesity. Recent studies have shown a correlation between plasma SIRT1 and NAFLD in obese patients. SIRT1 was significantly lower in an obese group with severe liver steatosis compared to a group with mild steatosis, and both groups had lower SIRT1 in the plasma compared to control lean patients^[71]. Phenotypic similarities exist between CR and SIRT1 overexpression. Mice overexpressing SIRT1 are leaner and resistant to hepatic steatosis and insulin resistance^[72]. Together, these studies indicate a potential therapeutic use of SIRT1 in hepatic steatosis^[66].

SIRT3 and NAFLD

SIRT3 is a soluble protein located in the mitochondrial matrix and has been shown as a major regulator of mitochondrial protein acetylation and function^[44,73]. SIRT3 regulates carbohydrate metabolism, ketogenesis,

β-oxidation, and amino-acid metabolism and stressrelated pathways^[73-77]. The protein is encoded by the nuclear genome and is translated as a 45-kDa protein with an N-terminal mitochondrial targeting sequence that is cleaved to give the 28-kDa enzymatically active protein^[78]. SIRT3 is expressed in many tissues including the liver, adipose tissue, heart, brain and kidney^[44]. Although SIRT3-KO mice are metabolically undistinguishable from WT controls under basal conditions, they show increased hyperacetylation of mitochondrial proteins in the liver and the heart^[54,74,75,79]. About 65% of all mitochondrial proteins have at least one acetylated lysine^[48,54,73]. SIRT4 and SIRT5 are also localized to the mitochondria and unlike SIRT3-KO mice, SIRT4 and SIRT5-KO mice did not display the global increase in hepatic mitochondrial acetylation observed in SIRT3-deficient animals.

Mitochondria play a key role in the adaptation to CR and SIRT3 has been identified as an important regulator in CR-associated metabolic changes^[54]. The expression of SIRT3 is considerably increased in response to CR or prolonged fasting^[75,80,81]. SIRT3 regulates the function of several mitochondrial proteins involved in oxidative phosphorylation, FAO, the urea cycle, and the antioxidant response system^[73,75,82-85]. Unlike wild-type mice where FAO is upregulated with fasting, fasted SIRT3 deficient mice display reduced FAO and ATP production with increased hepatic TG

Nassir F et al. Sirtuins as therapeutic target for NAFLD

| Table 1 Published SIRT1 activators | | | |
|--|--|--|--|
| SIRT1 activators | Ref. | | |
| Resveratrol | Howitz <i>et al</i> ^[109] , 2003 | | |
| | Wood <i>et al</i> ^[102] , 2004 | | |
| | Timmers <i>et al</i> ^[104] , 2011 | | |
| | Smith <i>et al</i> ^[105] , 2009 | | |
| | Milne <i>et al</i> ^[107] , 2007 | | |
| | Amiot et al ^[113] , 2013 | | |
| | Yoshino <i>et al</i> ^[100] , 2012 | | |
| | Chachay <i>et al</i> ^[112] , 2014 | | |
| SRT1720 | Feige <i>et al</i> ^[111] , 2008 | | |
| | Funk <i>et al</i> ^[110] , 2010 | | |
| | Yamazaki <i>et al</i> ^[101] , 2009 | | |
| | Pacholec <i>et al</i> ^[106] , 2010 | | |
| SRT2104 | Libri <i>et al</i> ^[108] , 2012 | | |
| | Venkatasubramanian et al ^[103] , 2013 | | |
| | Hoffmann <i>et al</i> ^[114] , 2013 | | |

content^[75].

SIRT3 also regulates the acetylation levels of mitochondrial electron transport complex I and regulates ATP synthesis^[77]. ATP levels were reduced by more than 50% in the heart, liver and kidney of mice lacking SIRT3^[77]. Succinate dehydrogenase (SDH) (one of complex II subunits of the electron transport chain) has been identified as a direct target of SIRT3, suggesting a role of SIRT3 in the regulation of complex II^[86,87]. Increased succinate concentrations is involved in hepatic stellate cells (HSCs) activation. The expression of SIRT3 and SDH activity are decreased in isolated liver and HSCs from methionine- and cholinedeficient (MCD) diet-induced NAFLD. Suppression of SIRT3 using siRNA exacerbated HSC activation while SIRT3 overexpression attenuated HSC activation in vitro^[88]. Interestingly, liver- and muscle-specific SIRT3-KO mice show no detectable changes in their metabolic phenotype in response to HFD^[89] suggesting more studies are needed to ascertain the role of tissue specific function of SIRT3^[76,89].

Published studies document that both obesity and chronic HFD reduce SIRT3 activity, induce hyperacetylation of various mitochondrial proteins and impair mitochondrial function^[58,75,90]. HFD has been shown to induce SIRT3 expression and FAO early after initiation of high-fat feeding^[58]. However, chronic HFD suppress SIRT3 expression, increase mitochondrial protein acetylation, and ultimately reduce FAO. Wild type mice fed a HFD develop obesity, hyperlipidemia, type 2 diabetes mellitus, and NASH^[91-93]. These effects of HFD feeding are significantly accelerated in SIRT3 deficient mice^[58]. Our unpublished data also show that overexpression of SIRT3 rescues NAFLD in mice heterozygous for the mitochondrial trifunctional protein, an animal model of mitochondrial dysfunction generated by our group^[94].

SIRT3-KO mice subjected to MCD diet exhibit increased serum ALT levels, increased hepatic content, higher expression of inflammatory and fibrogenic genes, and reduced (SOD2) activity. However, overexpression of SIRT3 resulted in opposite effects suggesting that SIRT3 ablation aggravates MCD induced NASH while SIRT3 overexpression alleviates the MCD induced phenotype^[95].

Palmitate modulated oxygen consumption and enhanced ROS levels and apoptosis in SIRT3 deficient mouse primary hepatocytes and SIRT3 siRNA-depleted hepatocytes^[96]. Recent studies using HFD induced NAFLD in mice identified a differentially expressed microRNA (miRNA) in livers of NAFLD mice compared with controls. The expression of miRNA-421 was significantly upregulated in mice with NAFLD and SIRT3 was identified as target for this micro-RNA. Overexpression of miRNA-421 in hepatocytes decreased SIRT3 and FOXO3 protein levels, and reduced oxidative damage while suppression of this miRNA had opposite effects^[97]. Interestingly, exposure of fetuses to maternal obesity contributes to early perturbations in whole body and liver energy metabolism, and this was associated with reduced SIRT3 and reduced hepatic FAO. These findings suggest that changes in SIRT3 activity precedes the development of obesity associated insulin resistance and NAFLD in the offspring^[98].

Sirtuins activators and inhibitors

Weight loss through CR and exercise have been shown to improve insulin resistance and inflammation. Based on the beneficial effect of CR on NAFLD and other diseases and the associated increase in sirtuins levels or activity, the development of molecules that activate or inhibit sirtuins is of great interest^[99].

The discovery of selective and potent sirtuins activators and inhibitors is still in its early stages. A list of Sirt1 activators that were tested in human and animal NAFLD is shown in Table 1^[100-114]. RSV, a natural polyphenol found in grapes and other plants, mimicks CR and enhances sirtuins activity^[102,109]. However, due to its poor bioavailability, reformulated forms of RSV-related compounds have been developed such as resVida, Longevinex[®], SRT50 along with other RSV unrelated molecules such as SRT1720, SRT2104, and SRT2379. The formulated form of RSV resVida (150 mg/d RSV) showed beneficial effects, similar to CR effect, in healthy obese men including reduced intrahepatic lipid, plasma glucose, TG, alanineaminotransferase and inflammation markers^[104]. SRT1720 was the most potent SIRT1 activator; it enhanced SIRT1 activity by 750% at 10 µmol/L although other studies by Pacholec et al^[106] concluded that neither SRT1720 nor RSV are direct activators of SIRT1 and one study reported that RSV does not have beneficial effects in NAFLD patients^[112]. Administration of SRT1720 to diet-induced obesity rodent models protected from obesity and insulin resistance by enhancing oxidative metabolism in the liver, muscle, and adipose tissues $^{\left[105,107,111\right]}$. As in CR, SIRT1720 induced mitochondrial biogenesis, increase mitochondrial respiration and ATP levels^[110].

WJG www.wjgnet.com

Moreover, SRT1720 reduced levels of hepatic liver content and aminotransferase and the expressions of lipogenic genes^[101]. Recent studies, however, indicate that the activation of SIRT1 by RSV is indirect and is mediated by activation of AMPK^[40,115]. Sirtuins are themselves regulated by the cofactor NAD⁺ as well as their reaction product nicotinamide (NAM) from NAD⁺. NAM (the amide form of vitamin B3, nicotinic acid) is a water-soluble sirtuin inhibitor. NAM binds to a conserved region in the sirtuin catalytic site and favors a reverse reaction instead of the deacetylation reaction^[116]. Computational studies indicate that NAM inhibition of SIRT3 involves apparent competition between the inhibitor and the enzyme cofactor NAD⁺ while the inhibition of other sirtuins activity was noncompetitive^[117]. More detailed review on sirtuins inhibitors and activators is found in^[99,118]. More studies are needed to develop more potent and specific activators and inhibitors of sirtuins activity.

CONCLUSION

Sirtuins represent potential targets for treatment of NAFLD due to the role they play in cellular pathways involved in hepatic lipid and carbohydrate metabolism, insulin signaling, and inflammation. Additional studies are urgently needed to further our understanding of the interaction among various sirtuins in NAFLD and to develop selective activators/inhibitors of sirtuins.

REFERENCES

- 1 **Buzzetti E**, Pinzani M, Tsochatzis EA. The multiple-hit pathogenesis of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD). *Metabolism* 2016; **65**: 1038-1048 [PMID: 26823198]
- 2 Lomonaco R, Ortiz-Lopez C, Orsak B, Webb A, Hardies J, Darland C, Finch J, Gastaldelli A, Harrison S, Tio F, Cusi K. Effect of adipose tissue insulin resistance on metabolic parameters and liver histology in obese patients with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Hepatology* 2012; 55: 1389-1397 [PMID: 22183689]
- 3 Misra VL, Khashab M, Chalasani N. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease and cardiovascular risk. *Curr Gastroenterol Rep* 2009; 11: 50-55 [PMID: 19166659]
- Sanyal AJ. NASH: A global health problem. *Hepatol Res* 2011;
 41: 670-674 [PMID: 21711426]
- 5 Lowell BB, Shulman GI. Mitochondrial dysfunction and type 2 diabetes. *Science* 2005; 307: 384-387 [PMID: 15662004]
- 6 Perry RJ, Zhang D, Zhang XM, Boyer JL, Shulman GI. Controlled-release mitochondrial protonophore reverses diabetes and steatohepatitis in rats. *Science* 2015; 347: 1253-1256 [PMID: 25721504]
- 7 Golabi P, Locklear CT, Austin P, Afdhal S, Byrns M, Gerber L, Younossi ZM. Effectiveness of exercise in hepatic fat mobilization in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease: Systematic review. *World J Gastroenterol* 2016; 22: 6318-6327 [PMID: 27468220 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v22.i27.6318]
- 8 Gariani K, Menzies KJ, Ryu D, Wegner CJ, Wang X, Ropelle ER, Moullan N, Zhang H, Perino A, Lemos V, Kim B, Park YK, Piersigilli A, Pham TX, Yang Y, Ku CS, Koo SI, Fomitchova A, Cantó C, Schoonjans K, Sauve AA, Lee JY, Auwerx J. Eliciting the mitochondrial unfolded protein response by nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide repletion reverses fatty liver disease in mice. *Hepatology* 2016; **63**: 1190-1204 [PMID: 26404765]
- 9 Nassir F, Rector RS, Hammoud GM, Ibdah JA. Pathogenesis

and Prevention of Hepatic Steatosis. *Gastroenterol Hepatol* (N Y) 2015; **11**: 167-175 [PMID: 27099587]

- 10 Anstee QM, Targher G, Day CP. Progression of NAFLD to diabetes mellitus, cardiovascular disease or cirrhosis. *Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2013; **10**: 330-344 [PMID: 23507799]
- 11 Alexander J, Torbenson M, Wu TT, Yeh MM. Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease contributes to hepatocarcinogenesis in non-cirrhotic liver: a clinical and pathological study. *J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2013; 28: 848-854 [PMID: 23302015]
- 12 Torres DM, Williams CD, Harrison SA. Features, diagnosis, and treatment of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2012; 10: 837-858 [PMID: 22446927]
- 13 Temple JL, Cordero P, Li J, Nguyen V, Oben JA. A Guide to Non-Alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease in Childhood and Adolescence. Int J Mol Sci 2016; 17 [PMID: 27314342]
- 14 López-Velázquez JA, Silva-Vidal KV, Ponciano-Rodríguez G, Chávez-Tapia NC, Arrese M, Uribe M, Méndez-Sánchez N. The prevalence of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in the Americas. *Ann Hepatol* 2014; 13: 166-178 [PMID: 24552858]
- 15 Clark JM, Brancati FL, Diehl AM. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Gastroenterology* 2002; 122: 1649-1657 [PMID: 12016429]
- 16 Younossi ZM, Diehl AM, Ong JP. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: an agenda for clinical research. *Hepatology* 2002; 35: 746-752 [PMID: 11915019]
- 17 Alisi A, Manco M, Panera N, Nobili V. Association between type two diabetes and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease in youth. *Ann Hepatol* 2009; 8 Suppl 1: S44-S50 [PMID: 19381124]
- 18 Nobili V, Svegliati-Baroni G, Alisi A, Miele L, Valenti L, Vajro P. A 360-degree overview of paediatric NAFLD: recent insights. J Hepatol 2013; 58: 1218-1229 [PMID: 23238106]
- 19 Valenti L, Romeo S. Destined to develop NAFLD? The predictors of fatty liver from birth to adulthood. *J Hepatol* 2016; 65: 668-670 [PMID: 27320364]
- 20 Lawlor DA, Callaway M, Macdonald-Wallis C, Anderson E, Fraser A, Howe LD, Day C, Sattar N. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease, liver fibrosis, and cardiometabolic risk factors in adolescence: a cross-sectional study of 1874 general population adolescents. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 2014; **99**: E410-E417 [PMID: 24471572]
- 21 Ayonrinde OT, Olynyk JK, Marsh JA, Beilin LJ, Mori TA, Oddy WH, Adams LA. Childhood adiposity trajectories and risk of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in adolescents. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2015; 30: 163-171 [PMID: 24989077]
- 22 Moran JR, Ghishan FK, Halter SA, Greene HL. Steatohepatitis in obese children: a cause of chronic liver dysfunction. *Am J Gastroenterol* 1983; 78: 374-377 [PMID: 6859017]
- 23 Brumbaugh DE, Friedman JE. Developmental origins of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Pediatr Res* 2014; 75: 140-147 [PMID: 24192698]
- 24 McCurdy CE, Bishop JM, Williams SM, Grayson BE, Smith MS, Friedman JE, Grove KL. Maternal high-fat diet triggers lipotoxicity in the fetal livers of nonhuman primates. *J Clin Invest* 2009; 119: 323-335 [PMID: 19147984]
- 25 Day CP. NASH-related liver failure: one hit too many? Am J Gastroenterol 2002; 97: 1872-1874 [PMID: 12190148]
- 26 Granér M, Seppälä-Lindroos A, Rissanen A, Hakkarainen A, Lundbom N, Kaprio J, Nieminen MS, Pietiläinen KH. Epicardial fat, cardiac dimensions, and low-grade inflammation in young adult monozygotic twins discordant for obesity. *Am J Cardiol* 2012; 109: 1295-1302 [PMID: 22325087]
- 27 Bugianesi E, McCullough AJ, Marchesini G. Insulin resistance: a metabolic pathway to chronic liver disease. *Hepatology* 2005; 42: 987-1000 [PMID: 16250043]
- 28 Donnelly KL, Smith CI, Schwarzenberg SJ, Jessurun J, Boldt MD, Parks EJ. Sources of fatty acids stored in liver and secreted via lipoproteins in patients with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *J Clin Invest* 2005; 115: 1343-1351 [PMID: 15864352]
- 29 **Sunny NE**, Parks EJ, Browning JD, Burgess SC. Excessive hepatic mitochondrial TCA cycle and gluconeogenesis in humans with



nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Cell Metab* 2011; **14**: 804-810 [PMID: 22152305]

- 30 Koliaki C, Szendroedi J, Kaul K, Jelenik T, Nowotny P, Jankowiak F, Herder C, Carstensen M, Krausch M, Knoefel WT, Schlensak M, Roden M. Adaptation of hepatic mitochondrial function in humans with non-alcoholic fatty liver is lost in steatohepatitis. *Cell Metab* 2015; **21**: 739-746 [PMID: 25955209]
- 31 Fujita K, Nozaki Y, Wada K, Yoneda M, Fujimoto Y, Fujitake M, Endo H, Takahashi H, Inamori M, Kobayashi N, Kirikoshi H, Kubota K, Saito S, Nakajima A. Dysfunctional very-low-density lipoprotein synthesis and release is a key factor in nonalcoholic steatohepatitis pathogenesis. *Hepatology* 2009; **50**: 772-780 [PMID: 19650159]
- 32 Fabbrini E, Mohammed BS, Magkos F, Korenblat KM, Patterson BW, Klein S. Alterations in adipose tissue and hepatic lipid kinetics in obese men and women with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Gastroenterology* 2008; 134: 424-431 [PMID: 18242210]
- 33 Ekstedt M, Hagström H, Nasr P, Fredrikson M, Stål P, Kechagias S, Hulterantz R. Fibrosis stage is the strongest predictor for diseasespecific mortality in NAFLD after up to 33 years of follow-up. *Hepatology* 2015; 61: 1547-1554 [PMID: 25125077]
- 34 Tilg H, Moschen AR. Evolution of inflammation in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: the multiple parallel hits hypothesis. *Hepatology* 2010; 52: 1836-1846 [PMID: 21038418]
- 35 Takaki A, Kawai D, Yamamoto K. Multiple hits, including oxidative stress, as pathogenesis and treatment target in nonalcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH). *Int J Mol Sci* 2013; 14: 20704-20728 [PMID: 24132155]
- 36 Pais R, Charlotte F, Fedchuk L, Bedossa P, Lebray P, Poynard T, Ratziu V. A systematic review of follow-up biopsies reveals disease progression in patients with non-alcoholic fatty liver. *J Hepatol* 2013; 59: 550-556 [PMID: 23665288]
- 37 McPherson S, Hardy T, Henderson E, Burt AD, Day CP, Anstee QM. Evidence of NAFLD progression from steatosis to fibrosingsteatohepatitis using paired biopsies: implications for prognosis and clinical management. *J Hepatol* 2015; 62: 1148-1155 [PMID: 25477264]
- 38 Haas JT, Francque S, Staels B. Pathophysiology and Mechanisms of Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease. *Annu Rev Physiol* 2016; 78: 181-205 [PMID: 26667070]
- 39 Bedalov A, Chowdhury S, Simon JA. Biology, Chemistry, and Pharmacology of Sirtuins. *Methods Enzymol* 2016; 574: 183-211 [PMID: 27423863]
- 40 Cantó C, Gerhart-Hines Z, Feige JN, Lagouge M, Noriega L, Milne JC, Elliott PJ, Puigserver P, Auwerx J. AMPK regulates energy expenditure by modulating NAD+ metabolism and SIRT1 activity. *Nature* 2009; 458: 1056-1060 [PMID: 19262508]
- 41 Haigis MC, Guarente LP. Mammalian sirtuins--emerging roles in physiology, aging, and calorie restriction. *Genes Dev* 2006; 20: 2913-2921 [PMID: 17079682]
- 42 Choudhary C, Weinert BT, Nishida Y, Verdin E, Mann M. The growing landscape of lysine acetylation links metabolism and cell signalling. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* 2014; 15: 536-550 [PMID: 25053359]
- 43 Hirschey MD, Zhao Y. Metabolic Regulation by Lysine Malonylation, Succinylation, and Glutarylation. *Mol Cell Proteomics* 2015; 14: 2308-2315 [PMID: 25717114]
- 44 Nogueiras R, Habegger KM, Chaudhary N, Finan B, Banks AS, Dietrich MO, Horvath TL, Sinclair DA, Pfluger PT, Tschöp MH. Sirtuin 1 and sirtuin 3: physiological modulators of metabolism. *Physiol Rev* 2012; 92: 1479-1514 [PMID: 22811431]
- 45 Wu T, Liu YH, Fu YC, Liu XM, Zhou XH. Direct evidence of sirtuin downregulation in the liver of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease patients. *Ann Clin Lab Sci* 2014; 44: 410-418 [PMID: 25361925]
- 46 Bruce KD, Szczepankiewicz D, Sihota KK, Ravindraanandan M, Thomas H, Lillycrop KA, Burdge GC, Hanson MA, Byrne CD, Cagampang FR. Altered cellular redox status, sirtuin abundance and clock gene expression in a mouse model of developmentally primed NASH. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 2016; **1861**: 584-593 [PMID:

27040510]

- 47 Norvell A, McMahon SB. Cell biology. Rise of the rival. *Science* 2010; **327**: 964-965 [PMID: 20167774]
- 48 Still AJ, Floyd BJ, Hebert AS, Bingman CA, Carson JJ, Gunderson DR, Dolan BK, Grimsrud PA, Dittenhafer-Reed KE, Stapleton DS, Keller MP, Westphall MS, Denu JM, Attie AD, Coon JJ, Pagliarini DJ. Quantification of mitochondrial acetylation dynamics highlights prominent sites of metabolic regulation. *J Biol Chem* 2013; 288: 26209-26219 [PMID: 23864654]
- 49 Onyango P, Celic I, McCaffery JM, Boeke JD, Feinberg AP. SIRT3, a human SIR2 homologue, is an NAD-dependent deacetylase localized to mitochondria. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2002; 99: 13653-13658 [PMID: 12374852]
- 50 Kim SC, Sprung R, Chen Y, Xu Y, Ball H, Pei J, Cheng T, Kho Y, Xiao H, Xiao L, Grishin NV, White M, Yang XJ, Zhao Y. Substrate and functional diversity of lysine acetylation revealed by a proteomics survey. *Mol Cell* 2006; 23: 607-618 [PMID: 16916647]
- 51 Chen Y, Zhao W, Yang JS, Cheng Z, Luo H, Lu Z, Tan M, Gu W, Zhao Y. Quantitative acetylome analysis reveals the roles of SIRT1 in regulating diverse substrates and cellular pathways. *Mol Cell Proteomics* 2012; 11: 1048-1062 [PMID: 22826441]
- 52 Choudhary C, Kumar C, Gnad F, Nielsen ML, Rehman M, Walther TC, Olsen JV, Mann M. Lysine acetylation targets protein complexes and co-regulates major cellular functions. *Science* 2009; 325: 834-840 [PMID: 19608861]
- 53 Zhao S, Xu W, Jiang W, Yu W, Lin Y, Zhang T, Yao J, Zhou L, Zeng Y, Li H, Li Y, Shi J, An W, Hancock SM, He F, Qin L, Chin J, Yang P, Chen X, Lei Q, Xiong Y, Guan KL. Regulation of cellular metabolism by protein lysine acetylation. *Science* 2010; **327**: 1000-1004 [PMID: 20167786]
- 54 Hebert AS, Dittenhafer-Reed KE, Yu W, Bailey DJ, Selen ES, Boersma MD, Carson JJ, Tonelli M, Balloon AJ, Higbee AJ, Westphall MS, Pagliarini DJ, Prolla TA, Assadi-Porter F, Roy S, Denu JM, Coon JJ. Calorie restriction and SIRT3 trigger global reprogramming of the mitochondrial protein acetylome. *Mol Cell* 2013; 49: 186-199 [PMID: 23201123]
- 55 Hirschey MD, Shimazu T, Jing E, Grueter CA, Collins AM, Aouizerat B, Stančáková A, Goetzman E, Lam MM, Schwer B, Stevens RD, Muehlbauer MJ, Kakar S, Bass NM, Kuusisto J, Laakso M, Alt FW, Newgard CB, Farese RV, Kahn CR, Verdin E. SIRT3 deficiency and mitochondrial protein hyperacetylation accelerate the development of the metabolic syndrome. *Mol Cell* 2011; 44: 177-190 [PMID: 21856199]
- 56 Finley LW, Haigis MC. Metabolic regulation by SIRT3: implications for tumorigenesis. *Trends Mol Med* 2012; 18: 516-523 [PMID: 22749020]
- 57 Haberland M, Montgomery RL, Olson EN. The many roles of histone deacetylases in development and physiology: implications for disease and therapy. *Nat Rev Genet* 2009; 10: 32-42 [PMID: 19065135]
- 58 Kendrick AA, Choudhury M, Rahman SM, McCurdy CE, Friederich M, Van Hove JL, Watson PA, Birdsey N, Bao J, Gius D, Sack MN, Jing E, Kahn CR, Friedman JE, Jonscher KR. Fatty liver is associated with reduced SIRT3 activity and mitochondrial protein hyperacetylation. *Biochem J* 2011; 433: 505-514 [PMID: 21044047]
- 59 Nassir F, Ibdah JA. Role of mitochondria in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Int J Mol Sci* 2014; 15: 8713-8742 [PMID: 24837835]
- 60 Yue P, Chen Z, Nassir F, Bernal-Mizrachi C, Finck B, Azhar S, Abumrad NA. Enhanced hepatic apoA-I secretion and peripheral efflux of cholesterol and phospholipid in CD36 null mice. *PLoS One* 2010; 5: e9906 [PMID: 20360851]
- 61 Rector RS, Morris EM, Ridenhour S, Meers GM, Hsu F-F, Turk J, et al. Selective hepatic insulin resistance in a murine model heterozygous for a mitochondrial trifunctional protein defect. *Hepatology* 2013; 57: 2213-2223 [PMID: 23359250]
- 62 **Ibdah JA**, Perlegas P, Zhao Y, Angdisen J, Borgerink H, Shadoan MK, Wagner JD, Matern D, Rinaldo P, Cline JM. Mice heterozygous for a defect in mitochondrial trifunctional protein

develop hepatic steatosis and insulin resistance. *Gastroenterology* 2005; **128**: 1381-1390 [PMID: 15887119]

- 63 Geng C, Zhang Y, Gao Y, Tao W, Zhang H, Liu X, Fang F, Chang Y. Mst1 regulates hepatic lipid metabolism by inhibiting Sirt1 ubiquitination in mice. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 2016; 471: 444-449 [PMID: 26903296]
- 64 Colak Y, Yesil A, Mutlu HH, Caklili OT, Ulasoglu C, Senates E, Takir M, Kostek O, Yilmaz Y, Yilmaz Enc F, Tasan G, Tuncer I. A potential treatment of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease with SIRT1 activators. *J Gastrointestin Liver Dis* 2014; 23: 311-319 [PMID: 25267960]
- 65 Colak Y, Ozturk O, Senates E, Tuncer I, Yorulmaz E, Adali G, Doganay L, Enc FY. SIRT1 as a potential therapeutic target for treatment of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Med Sci Monit* 2011; 17: HY5-HY9 [PMID: 21525818]
- 66 Tobita T, Guzman-Lepe J, Takeishi K, Nakao T, Wang Y, Meng F, Deng CX, Collin de l'Hortet A, Soto-Gutierrez A. SIRT1 Disruption in Human Fetal Hepatocytes Leads to Increased Accumulation of Glucose and Lipids. *PLoS One* 2016; 11: e0149344 [PMID: 26890260]
- 67 Purushotham A, Schug TT, Xu Q, Surapureddi S, Guo X, Li X. Hepatocyte-specific deletion of SIRT1 alters fatty acid metabolism and results in hepatic steatosis and inflammation. *Cell Metab* 2009; 9: 327-338 [PMID: 19356714]
- 68 Kim KE, Kim H, Heo RW, Shin HJ, Yi CO, Lee DH, Kim HJ, Kang SS, Cho GJ, Choi WS, Roh GS. Myeloid-specific SIRT1 Deletion Aggravates Hepatic Inflammation and Steatosis in Highfat Diet-fed Mice. *Korean J Physiol Pharmacol* 2015; 19: 451-460 [PMID: 26330758]
- 69 Deng XQ, Chen LL, Li NX. The expression of SIRT1 in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease induced by high-fat diet in rats. *Liver Int* 2007; 27: 708-715 [PMID: 17498258]
- 70 Andrade JM, Paraíso AF, de Oliveira MV, Martins AM, Neto JF, Guimarães AL, de Paula AM, Qureshi M, Santos SH. Resveratrol attenuates hepatic steatosis in high-fat fed mice by decreasing lipogenesis and inflammation. *Nutrition* 2014; **30**: 915-919 [PMID: 24985011]
- 71 Mariani S, Fiore D, Basciani S, Persichetti A, Contini S, Lubrano C, Salvatori L, Lenzi A, Gnessi L. Plasma levels of SIRT1 associate with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease in obese patients. *Endocrine* 2015; 49: 711-716 [PMID: 25358448]
- 72 Li Y, Xu S, Giles A, Nakamura K, Lee JW, Hou X, Donmez G, Li J, Luo Z, Walsh K, Guarente L, Zang M. Hepatic overexpression of SIRT1 in mice attenuates endoplasmic reticulum stress and insulin resistance in the liver. *FASEB J* 2011; 25: 1664-1679 [PMID: 21321189]
- 73 Lombard DB, Alt FW, Cheng HL, Bunkenborg J, Streeper RS, Mostoslavsky R, Kim J, Yancopoulos G, Valenzuela D, Murphy A, Yang Y, Chen Y, Hirschey MD, Bronson RT, Haigis M, Guarente LP, Farese RV, Weissman S, Verdin E, Schwer B. Mammalian Sir2 homolog SIRT3 regulates global mitochondrial lysine acetylation. *Mol Cell Biol* 2007; 27: 8807-8814 [PMID: 17923681]
- 74 Shimazu T, Hirschey MD, Hua L, Dittenhafer-Reed KE, Schwer B, Lombard DB, Li Y, Bunkenborg J, Alt FW, Denu JM, Jacobson MP, Verdin E. SIRT3 deacetylates mitochondrial 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl CoA synthase 2 and regulates ketone body production. *Cell Metab* 2010; 12: 654-661 [PMID: 21109197]
- 75 Hirschey MD, Shimazu T, Goetzman E, Jing E, Schwer B, Lombard DB, Grueter CA, Harris C, Biddinger S, Ilkayeva OR, Stevens RD, Li Y, Saha AK, Ruderman NB, Bain JR, Newgard CB, Farese RV, Alt FW, Kahn CR, Verdin E. SIRT3 regulates mitochondrial fatty-acid oxidation by reversible enzyme deacetylation. *Nature* 2010; 464: 121-125 [PMID: 20203611]
- 76 Osborne B, Cooney GJ, Turner N. Are sirtuin deacylase enzymes important modulators of mitochondrial energy metabolism? *Biochim Biophys Acta* 2014; 1840: 1295-1302 [PMID: 23994496]
- 77 Ahn BH, Kim HS, Song S, Lee IH, Liu J, Vassilopoulos A, Deng CX, Finkel T. A role for the mitochondrial deacetylase Sirt3 in regulating energy homeostasis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2008; 105: 14447-14452 [PMID: 18794531]

- 78 Schwer B, North BJ, Frye RA, Ott M, Verdin E. The human silent information regulator (Sir)2 homologue hSIRT3 is a mitochondrial nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide-dependent deacetylase. *J Cell Biol* 2002; 158: 647-657 [PMID: 12186850]
- 79 Osborne B, Montgomery M, Reznick J, Cooney GJ, Turner N. Effect of acute hepatic overexpression of SIRT3 on metabolic parameters in short-term high fat fed mice. *Diabetologia* 2012; 55: S263
- 80 Sebastian C, Mostoslavsky R. SIRT3 in calorie restriction: can you hear me now? *Cell* 2010; 143: 667-668 [PMID: 21111225]
- 81 Someya S, Yu W, Hallows WC, Xu J, Vann JM, Leeuwenburgh C, Tanokura M, Denu JM, Prolla TA. Sirt3 mediates reduction of oxidative damage and prevention of age-related hearing loss under caloric restriction. *Cell* 2010; 143: 802-812 [PMID: 21094524]
- 82 Hallows WC, Yu W, Smith BC, Devries MK, Ellinger JJ, Someya S, Shortreed MR, Prolla T, Markley JL, Smith LM, Zhao S, Guan KL, Denu JM. Sirt3 promotes the urea cycle and fatty acid oxidation during dietary restriction. *Mol Cell* 2011; **41**: 139-149 [PMID: 21255725]
- 83 Qiu X, Brown K, Hirschey MD, Verdin E, Chen D. Calorie restriction reduces oxidative stress by SIRT3-mediated SOD2 activation. *Cell Metab* 2010; 12: 662-667 [PMID: 21109198]
- 84 Schwer B, Bunkenborg J, Verdin RO, Andersen JS, Verdin E. Reversible lysine acetylation controls the activity of the mitochondrial enzyme acetyl-CoA synthetase 2. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2006; 103: 10224-10229 [PMID: 16788062]
- 85 Schlicker C, Gertz M, Papatheodorou P, Kachholz B, Becker CF, Steegborn C. Substrates and regulation mechanisms for the human mitochondrial sirtuins Sirt3 and Sirt5. *J Mol Biol* 2008; 382: 790-801 [PMID: 18680753]
- 86 Cimen H, Han MJ, Yang Y, Tong Q, Koc H, Koc EC. Regulation of succinate dehydrogenase activity by SIRT3 in mammalian mitochondria. *Biochemistry* 2010; 49: 304-311 [PMID: 20000467]
- 87 Finley LW, Haas W, Desquiret-Dumas V, Wallace DC, Procaccio V, Gygi SP, Haigis MC. Succinate dehydrogenase is a direct target of sirtuin 3 deacetylase activity. *PLoS One* 2011; 6: e23295 [PMID: 21858060]
- Li YH, Choi DH, Lee EH, Seo SR, Lee S, Cho EH. Sirtuin 3 (SIRT3) Regulates α-Smooth Muscle Actin (α-SMA) Production through the Succinate Dehydrogenase-G Protein-coupled Receptor 91 (GPR91) Pathway in Hepatic Stellate Cells. *J Biol Chem* 2016; 291: 10277-10292 [PMID: 26912655]
- 89 Fernandez-Marcos PJ, Jeninga EH, Canto C, Harach T, de Boer VC, Andreux P, Moullan N, Pirinen E, Yamamoto H, Houten SM, Schoonjans K, Auwerx J. Muscle or liver-specific Sirt3 deficiency induces hyperacetylation of mitochondrial proteins without affecting global metabolic homeostasis. *Sci Rep* 2012; 2: 425 [PMID: 22645641]
- 90 Choudhury M, Jonscher KR, Friedman JE. Reduced mitochondrial function in obesity-associated fatty liver: SIRT3 takes on the fat. *Aging* (Albany NY) 2011; **3**: 175-178 [PMID: 21386135]
- 91 Petro AE, Cotter J, Cooper DA, Peters JC, Surwit SJ, Surwit RS. Fat, carbohydrate, and calories in the development of diabetes and obesity in the C57BL/6J mouse. *Metabolism* 2004; 53: 454-457 [PMID: 15045691]
- 92 Surwit RS, Feinglos MN, Rodin J, Sutherland A, Petro AE, Opara EC, Kuhn CM, Rebuffé-Scrive M. Differential effects of fat and sucrose on the development of obesity and diabetes in C57BL/6J and A/J mice. *Metabolism* 1995; 44: 645-651 [PMID: 7752914]
- 93 Rossmeisl M, Rim JS, Koza RA, Kozak LP. Variation in type 2 diabetes--related traits in mouse strains susceptible to diet-induced obesity. *Diabetes* 2003; 52: 1958-1966 [PMID: 12882911]
- 94 Nassir F, Arndt J.J, Ibdah, . Hepatic Overexpression of SIRT3 in Mice Heterozygous for Mitochondrial Trifunctional Protein Rescues Hepatic Steatosis and Improves Insulin Sensitivity. *Gastroenterology* 2015; 148: S973
- 95 He J, Hu B, Shi X, Weidert ER, Lu P, Xu M, Huang M, Kelley EE, Xie W. Activation of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor sensitizes mice to nonalcoholic steatohepatitis by deactivating mitochondrial sirtuin deacetylase Sirt3. *Mol Cell Biol* 2013; 33: 2047-2055

[PMID: 23508103]

- 96 Bao J, Scott I, Lu Z, Pang L, Dimond CC, Gius D, Sack MN. SIRT3 is regulated by nutrient excess and modulates hepatic susceptibility to lipotoxicity. *Free Radic Biol Med* 2010; 49: 1230-1237 [PMID: 20647045 DOI: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2010. 07.009]
- 97 Cheng Y, Mai J, Hou T, Ping J. MicroRNA-421 induces hepatic mitochondrial dysfunction in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease mice by inhibiting sirtuin 3. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 2016; 474: 57-63 [PMID: 27107702]
- 98 Borengasser SJ, Lau F, Kang P, Blackburn ML, Ronis MJ, Badger TM, Shankar K. Maternal obesity during gestation impairs fatty acid oxidation and mitochondrial SIRT3 expression in rat offspring at weaning. *PLoS One* 2011; 6: e24068 [PMID: 21901160 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0024068]
- 99 Villalba JM, Alcaín FJ. Sirtuin activators and inhibitors. *Biofactors* 2012; 38: 349-359 [PMID: 22730114]
- 100 Yoshino J, Conte C, Fontana L, Mittendorfer B, Imai S, Schechtman KB, Gu C, Kunz I, Rossi Fanelli F, Patterson BW, Klein S. Resveratrol supplementation does not improve metabolic function in nonobese women with normal glucose tolerance. *Cell Metab* 2012; 16: 658-664 [PMID: 23102619]
- 101 Yamazaki Y, Usui I, Kanatani Y, Matsuya Y, Tsuneyama K, Fujisaka S, Bukhari A, Suzuki H, Senda S, Imanishi S, Hirata K, Ishiki M, Hayashi R, Urakaze M, Nemoto H, Kobayashi M, Tobe K. Treatment with SRT1720, a SIRT1 activator, ameliorates fatty liver with reduced expression of lipogenic enzymes in MSG mice. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 2009; **297**: E1179-E1186 [PMID: 19724016]
- 102 Wood JG, Rogina B, Lavu S, Howitz K, Helfand SL, Tatar M, Sinclair D. Sirtuin activators mimic caloric restriction and delay ageing in metazoans. *Nature* 2004; 430: 686-689 [PMID: 15254550 DOI: 10.1038/nature02789]
- 103 Venkatasubramanian S, Noh RM, Daga S, Langrish JP, Joshi NV, Mills NL, Hoffmann E, Jacobson EW, Vlasuk GP, Waterhouse BR, Lang NN, Newby DE. Cardiovascular effects of a novel SIRT1 activator, SRT2104, in otherwise healthy cigarette smokers. J Am Heart Assoc 2013; 2: e000042 [PMID: 23770971]
- 104 Timmers S, Konings E, Bilet L, Houtkooper RH, van de Weijer T, Goossens GH, Hoeks J, van der Krieken S, Ryu D, Kersten S, Moonen-Kornips E, Hesselink MK, Kunz I, Schrauwen-Hinderling VB, Blaak EE, Auwerx J, Schrauwen P. Calorie restrictionlike effects of 30 days of resveratrol supplementation on energy metabolism and metabolic profile in obese humans. *Cell Metab* 2011; 14: 612-622 [PMID: 22055504]
- 105 Smith JJ, Kenney RD, Gagne DJ, Frushour BP, Ladd W, Galonek HL, Israelian K, Song J, Razvadauskaite G, Lynch AV, Carney DP, Johnson RJ, Lavu S, Iffland A, Elliott PJ, Lambert PD, Elliston KO, Jirousek MR, Milne JC, Boss O. Small molecule activators of SIRT1 replicate signaling pathways triggered by calorie restriction in vivo. *BMC Syst Biol* 2009; **3**: 31 [PMID: 19284563 DOI: 10.1186/1752-0509-3-31]
- 106 Pacholec M, Bleasdale JE, Chrunyk B, Cunningham D, Flynn D, Garofalo RS, Griffith D, Griffor M, Loulakis P, Pabst B, Qiu X, Stockman B, Thanabal V, Varghese A, Ward J, Withka J, Ahn K. SRT1720, SRT2183, SRT1460, and resveratrol are not direct activators of SIRT1. *J Biol Chem* 2010; 285: 8340-8351 [PMID: 20061378]

- 107 Milne JC, Lambert PD, Schenk S, Carney DP, Smith JJ, Gagne DJ, Jin L, Boss O, Perni RB, Vu CB, Bemis JE, Xie R, Disch JS, Ng PY, Nunes JJ, Lynch AV, Yang H, Galonek H, Israelian K, Choy W, Iffland A, Lavu S, Medvedik O, Sinclair DA, Olefsky JM, Jirousek MR, Elliott PJ, Westphal CH. Small molecule activators of SIRT1 as therapeutics for the treatment of type 2 diabetes. *Nature* 2007; 450: 712-716 [PMID: 18046409]
- 108 Libri V, Brown AP, Gambarota G, Haddad J, Shields GS, Dawes H, Pinato DJ, Hoffman E, Elliot PJ, Vlasuk GP, Jacobson E, Wilkins MR, Matthews PM. A pilot randomized, placebo controlled, double blind phase I trial of the novel SIRT1 activator SRT2104 in elderly volunteers. *PLoS One* 2012; 7: e51395 [PMID: 23284689]
- 109 Howitz KT, Bitterman KJ, Cohen HY, Lamming DW, Lavu S, Wood JG, Zipkin RE, Chung P, Kisielewski A, Zhang LL, Scherer B, Sinclair DA. Small molecule activators of sirtuins extend Saccharomyces cerevisiae lifespan. *Nature* 2003; **425**: 191-196 [PMID: 12939617]
- 110 Funk JA, Odejinmi S, Schnellmann RG. SRT1720 induces mitochondrial biogenesis and rescues mitochondrial function after oxidant injury in renal proximal tubule cells. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 2010; **333**: 593-601 [PMID: 20103585 DOI: 10.1124/ jpet.109.161992]
- 111 Feige JN, Lagouge M, Canto C, Strehle A, Houten SM, Milne JC, Lambert PD, Mataki C, Elliott PJ, Auwerx J. Specific SIRT1 activation mimics low energy levels and protects against diet-induced metabolic disorders by enhancing fat oxidation. *Cell Metab* 2008; 8: 347-358 [PMID: 19046567]
- 112 Chachay VS, Macdonald GA, Martin JH, Whitehead JP, O' Moore-Sullivan TM, Lee P, Franklin M, Klein K, Taylor PJ, Ferguson M, Coombes JS, Thomas GP, Cowin GJ, Kirkpatrick CM, Prins JB, Hickman IJ. Resveratrol does not benefit patients with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2014; 12: 2092-2103.e1-6 [PMID: 24582567]
- 113 Amiot MJ, Romier B, Dao TM, Fanciullino R, Ciccolini J, Burcelin R, Pechere L, Emond C, Savouret JF, Seree E. Optimization of trans-Resveratrol bioavailability for human therapy. *Biochimie* 2013; 95: 1233-1238 [PMID: 23376875]
- 114 Hoffmann E, Wald J, Lavu S, Roberts J, Beaumont C, Haddad J, Elliott P, Westphal C, Jacobson E. Pharmacokinetics and tolerability of SRT2104, a first-in-class small molecule activator of SIRT1, after single and repeated oral administration in man. *Br J Clin Pharmacol* 2013; **75**: 186-196 [PMID: 22616762]
- 115 Park SJ, Ahmad F, Philp A, Baar K, Williams T, Luo H, Ke H, Rehmann H, Taussig R, Brown AL, Kim MK, Beaven MA, Burgin AB, Manganiello V, Chung JH. Resveratrol ameliorates aging-related metabolic phenotypes by inhibiting cAMP phosphodiesterases. *Cell* 2012; **148**: 421-433 [PMID: 22304913]
- 116 Sauve AA, Schramm VL. Sir2 regulation by nicotinamide results from switching between base exchange and deacetylation chemistry. *Biochemistry* 2003; 42: 9249-9256 [PMID: 12899610]
- 117 Guan X, Lin P, Knoll E, Chakrabarti R. Mechanism of inhibition of the human sirtuin enzyme SIRT3 by nicotinamide: computational and experimental studies. *PLoS One* 2014; 9: e107729 [PMID: 25221980]
- 118 Carafa V, Rotili D, Forgione M, Cuomo F, Serretiello E, Hailu GS, Jarho E, Lahtela-Kakkonen M, Mai A, Altucci L. Sirtuin functions and modulation: from chemistry to the clinic. *Clin Epigenetics* 2016; 8: 61 [PMID: 27226812]

P- Reviewer: Geng TY, Joven J, Trovato GM S- Editor: Yu J L- Editor: A E- Editor: Zhang FF



WJG www.wjgnet.com



Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/ Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v22.i46.10093 World J Gastroenterol 2016 December 14; 22(46): 10093-10102 ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online) © 2016 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

REVIEW

Can probiotics benefit children with autism spectrum disorders?

Fernando Navarro, Yuying Liu, Jon Marc Rhoads

Fernando Navarro, Yuying Liu, Jon Marc Rhoads, Department of Pediatrics, Division of Gastroenterology, the University of Texas Health Science Center at Houston McGovern Medical School, Houston, TX 77030, United States

Author contributions: Navarro F and Rhoads JM wrote the manuscript; Liu Y performed the literature search, reviewed manuscript, and added references.

Conflict-of-interest statement: Authors declare no conflict of interests for this article.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons. org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Manuscript source: Invited manuscript

Correspondence to: Jon Marc Rhoads, MD, Professor of Pediatrics, Department of Pediatrics, the University of Texas Health Science Center at Houston McGovern Medical School, 6431 Fannin Street, MSB 3.137, Houston, TX 77030, United States. j.marc.rhoads@uth.tmc.edu Telephone: +1-713-5005663 Fax: +1-713-5005770

Received: August 28, 2016 Peer-review started: September 1, 2016 First decision: September 20, 2016 Revised: October 5, 2016 Accepted: November 12, 2016 Article in press: November 13, 2016 Published online: December 14, 2016

Abstract

Children with autism are commonly affected by

gastrointestinal problems such as abdominal pain, constipation and diarrhea. In recent years, there has been a growing interest in the use of probiotics in this population, as it hypothetically may help to improve bowel habits and the behavioral and social functioning of these individuals. The gut microbiome plays an important role in the pathophysiology of organic as well as functional gastrointestinal disorders. Microbial modification with the use of antibiotics, probiotics, and fecal transplantation have been effective in the treatment of conditions such as recurrent Clostridium difficile infection, pouchitis, and irritable bowel syndrome. The present review presents a number of reported clinical, immunological and microbiomerelated changes seen in children with autism compared to normally developed children. It also discusses gut inflammation, permeability concerns, and absorption abnormalities that may contribute to these problems. Most importantly, it discusses evidence, from human and animal studies, of a potential role of probiotics in the treatment of gastrointestinal symptoms in children with autism.

Key words: Microbiome; Gastrointestinal; Inflammation; Functional bowel disease; Probiotics; Autism

© **The Author(s) 2016.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core tip: Important new information has identified an abnormal intestinal microbial community in children with autism, an abnormality reported in many gastrointestinal (GI) conditions, including inflammatory bowel disease and irritable bowel syndrome (IBS). There is a complex interplay in these conditions between GI function (motility, secretion, permeability), the immune system, and the microbiota. Many parents of children with autism complain of GI symptoms, and they administer probiotics, a treatment which has been found to be safe and effective for adults with IBS. Future investigations are needed to determine if probiotic treatment would benefit the symptoms and behavior of these children.

Navarro F, Liu Y, Rhoads JM. Can probiotics benefit children with autism spectrum disorders? *World J Gastroenterol* 2016; 22(46): 10093-10102 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet. com/1007-9327/full/v22/i46/10093.htm DOI: http://dx.doi. org/10.3748/wjg.v22.i46.10093

INTRODUCTION

The influence of the enteric microbiota on the human body has only started to be unveiled. Its impact is wide, as it has been shown to affect a number of processes including the immune response, metabolism, and neurologic function^[1-3]. The disruption of the normal commensal microbial community in humans, also called "dysbiosis", is associated with an increasing number of disorders such as inflammatory bowel disease, irritable bowel syndrome, obesity, hypertension, diabetes, and autism^[4-8]. The aim of the present review is to synthetize current data on the association between microbiota dysbiosis and autism, and to assess if its modification could have a beneficial effect in children with autism.

GASTROINTESTINAL ABNORMALITIES IN AUTISM

Autism is a neurodevelopmental disorder which affects social interaction, verbal and non-verbal communication, and behavior. A recent report from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention indicates a rise in the prevalence of autism in children to one in 68 children in the United States (78% increase since 2007)^[9].

Children with autism spectrum disorders (ASD) are among the populations that are most often referred to the Pediatric Gastroenterology clinic. During a two-year period, 3% (121/4013) of children seen by 4 pediatric gastroenterologists for various abdominal complaints in our clinic had an underlying ASD (C. Bearden, U.T. Bioinformatics, personal communication 9-24-2016). The true prevalence of gastrointestinal symptoms (GIS) in ASD is not known, but available data suggest a figure approximately 40%^[10]. Wang *et al*^[11] reported data obtained from families with children with ASD registered in the Autism Genetic Resource Exchange (AGRE). In their study of 589 affected children, 42% had GIS. Increased autism symptom severity was associated with higher odds of having GIS^[11]. Abdominal pain, constipation, diarrhea, nausea, and bloating were the most common symptoms. In the largest study, Mazurek et al^[12] reported that of 2973 children in an ASD network, 42% reported GIS lasting > 3 mo. A wide range of gastrointestinal (GI) problems have been reported, including feeding abnormalities,

gastroesophageal reflux, abdominal pain, diarrhea, fecal incontinence, constipation, and alternating diarrhea and constipation have been reported in one out of three children in the autism spectrum^[13,14]. More recently, based on a large epidemiological study, eosinophilic esophagitis in children with ASD and dysphagia has been added to the list of disorders with increased risk in this population, compared to the general population^[15]. This group of children with autism reportedly also has severe anxiety, irritability and social withdrawal symptoms, which may overshadow their GI complaints^[16].

Some researchers such as Pusponegoro *et al*^[17] have reported no differences between children with autism and controls with regard to gastrointestinal symptoms, intestinal inflammation (based on fecal calprotectin), microbiota (based on urinary D-lactate) or intestinal permeability (based on urinary lactu-lose/mannitol ratio). However, this group reported an increased urinary I-FABP (marker of enterocyte damage) in children with autism who had severe behavioral abnormalities, compared with autistic children with mild maladaptive behavior and compared with normal children^[17].

INFLAMMATION HYPOTHESIS

A number of recent studies have suggested that the GIS in ASD may be a manifestation of an underlying inflammatory process. Systemic inflammation has been suggested by an excessive accumulation of receptors for advanced glycation end products (RAGE) in blood and their proinflammatory ligand S100A9 in the plasma of individuals with ASD^[18]. The level of S100A9 in plasma correlated with the autism severity score. Another study hypothesized that the inflammation may be pathophysiologically related to an abnormal microbiota. They compared the metagenomic profile of ileal and colonic biopsies in children with ASD, ulcerative colitis (UC), and Crohn's disease (CD). These investigators found that the transcriptome profiles of these tissues of children with ASD segregated apart from normal controls and alongside those with CD and UC when they used principal components analysis, as would be seen with an inflamed colon^[19]. However, the authors did not identify why these tissues of ASD children had different transcriptional profiles; for example, they did not look for evidence of inflammation by assessing serum cytokines or fecal inflammatory markers such as calprotectin or interleukin-8. Other groups studying ASD have failed to show changes in gut biopsy cytokine levels^[20] or changes in fecal calprotectin^[21]. One must keep in mind that these studies were small, and measurable abnormalities were observed in a significant subset of with ASD (approximately 25% of those studied).

Enhanced T cell activation, heightened immunoglobulin and cytokine profiles, as well as histologic changes assessed in intestinal biopsies such as infiltra-



WJG | www.wjgnet.com

tion of lymphocytes, monocytes, natural killer cells and eosinophils have been described in children with autism^[22-26]. These findings can be present in other gastrointestinal conditions such as food allergies and immunodeficiency^[27]. In contrast, other laboratory measures of intestinal health, such as fecal levels of calprotectin, lactoferrin, secretory IgA, and elastase have found to be normal in children with $autism^{[21,28]}$. In addition, reports of intestinal permeability (IP) in children with autism have been conflicting. Studies have reported abnormal IP in these children compared to controls^[29,30]. Some have also reported increased IP to occur in first degree relatives of patients with autism *et al*^[31]. In contrast, our group as well as others (mostly in small series) have found that the intestinal permeability of children with autism was not different from normal controls^[17,32-34].

A recent report indicated that children with autism also have an abnormal carbohydrate digestion based on significant decrease in the expression on their intestinal biopsies of disaccharidases (sucrose-isomaltase, maltase-glucoamylase, and lactase), as well as the hexose transporters (SGLT1 and GLUT-2)[35], a finding which agreed with a previous uncontrolled study^[36]. This finding was not supported by extensive observations of Kushak et al^[37] from a center that performs many intestinal biopsies. These investigators had originally found that more than half of a group of children with autism had low levels of the enzyme lactase in duodenal biopsies^[38]. However, in a followup study which included neurotypical controls, mucosal disaccharidase activity was not different comparing autistic and nonautistic individuals. Interestingly, even though the disaccharidases were within the normal range, the investigators found that children with ASD had evidence of mucosal inflammation on intestinal biopsy. Standard fecal indicators of gut inflammation, fecal calprotectin and lactoferrin were similar in both groups. A measure of gut permeability, lactulose/ rhamnose ratio in urine after oral administration, was also not statistically different in patients with and without autism. Larger controlled studies are required to determine if the gastrointestinal symptoms in children with autism are in fact related to reproducible, "organic" findings, such as intestinal inflammation, to differences in nutrient digestion, or to an abnormal intestinal permeability^[27].

FUNCTIONAL BOWEL DISEASE HYPOTHESIS

Gastrointestinal symptoms in ASD may be simply a reflection of sensory over-responsivity to abdominal signals. However, in the authors' opinion, the most common gastrointestinal complaints in children with ASD resemble those of adults and teens with functional bowel diseases such as irritable bowel syndrome (IBS). Irritable bowel syndrome is characterized by symptoms of diarrhea and/or constipation, typically with the relief of pain accompanying the passage of a stool, symptoms which fulfill the Rome III criteria^[39]. Many children with ASD have diffuse abdominal pain and an irregular stool pattern with either diarrhea or constipation, or alternating diarrhea and constipation. We have postulated that a significant proportion of children with ASD and chronic GIS, have a form of IBS. However, the Rome III criteria are validated in adults with normal IQ but are somewhat difficult to apply to normal children, and even more so in those with ASD. When compared to GI symptom scores in ASD, which have been useful but are not validated, there is much broader experience in quantifying autistic behavior changes, such as irritability as measured by the Aberrant Behavior Checklist^[40]. As mentioned, studies have shown that the presence and severity of GI symptoms correlate with the severity of underlying autism^[11,28,41].

GUT MICROBIOME IN AUTISM

Trillions of microbes and 500-1000 species of microorganisms are natural inhabitants of our gastrointestinal tract, wherein the phyla Firmicutes, Bacteriodetes, and Actinobacteria are the most common. Anaerobic bacteria, yeasts, viruses, and bacteriophages (viruses which reside and proliferate within bacteria) also influence the gut microbial diversity^[42,43]. The gut microbiome has a symbiotic interaction with the various organ systems of our body, and it is known to contribute to many GI functions, such as maintaining the integrity of the epithelial barrier, stimulating immune interactions, participating in gastrointestinal motility, and regulating drug and nutrient metabolism^[44]. This normal interaction can be disturbed by a number of events, such as infections, gastrointestinal diseases, dietary changes, and neurologic disorders. Drugs such as acid suppressants, antibiotics, and corticosteroids have also been reported to perturb this homeostatic equilibrium. This dysbiosis contributes to the pathophysiology of many gastrointestinal conditions such as inflammatory bowel disease, functional gastrointestinal disease, food allergy, obesity, and liver disease^[45].

The enteric microbiome of children with ASD is different from that of typically developed children. Abnormal colonization could be related to diverse factors, including a more restricted diet and exposure to more antibiotic early in life. For example, two studies found that children with ASD were more likely to be treated with antibiotics for otitis media^[46,47]. Finegold *et al*^[48] reported different levels of bacterial phyla in children with ASD by pyrosequencing. When comparing autistic children with controls there were changes in phyla *Firmicutes* (63% *vs* 39%, respectively), *Bacteriodetes* (30% *vs* 51%), *Actinobacteria* (0.7% *vs* 1.8%), and *Proteobacteria* (0.5% *vs* 3.1%)^[48]. In a different study, this same group also reported the presence of nonspore-forming anaerobes and microaerophilic bacteria

in gastric and duodenal aspirates from children with autism, organisms which were not present in control children $^{\left[48\right] }.$

As mentioned, a less diverse microbial community in gut of children with autism with lower levels of some genera (*Prevotella, Coprococcus* and *Veillonellaceae*) has been reported. Interestingly, these particular species are known to be versatile carbohydrate metabolizers; and in a controlled trial, reduced colonization correlated with autistic symptoms but not with diet pattern^[49]. Other differences in individuals with ASD include the overgrowth of *Clostridium* species, including *Clostridium histolyticum* (linked to the presence of GI symptoms in one study), and low levels of *Bifidobacteria*, a species known to have anti-inflammatory effects^[48,50,51].

Overgrowth of other bacteria such as *Desulfovibrio* species has also been found in children with autism and their relatives, compared to controls^[52]. Additionally, higher levels of *Caloramator*, *Sarcina*, *Alistipes*, *Akkermansia*, *Sutterellaceae* and *Enterobacteriaceae* were found in children with autism compared with typically developed children^[53,54]. Kang *et al*^[49] reported a less diverse fecal microbiome by pyrosequencing of 16S rDNA in children with autism. Despite these studies, it should be noted that when bacteria tag-encoded pyrosequencing was used, Gondalia *et al*^[55] did not find differences in the gut microbiome, comparing children with autism with their siblings.

Much work needs to be done in determining the metabolic consequences of an abnormal microbiota in ASD. Bacterial by-products are the likely mediators of systemic effects that could lead to alterations in the children's behavior. Some investigators have hypothesized that the abnormal microbiota in children with ASD produces changes in behavior *via* a mechanism involving excessive production of short chain fatty acids (SCFA), such as propionate and butyrate, which represent the major anions of human feces. These SCFA can produce behavioral changes in rodents when injected into the brain ventricles or systemically *via* intermediates such as p-cresol that alter dopamine metabolism^[56]. Ongoing investigations have begun to highlight the importance of SCFA in ASD^[57,58].

TARGETING THE GUT MICROBIOME AS A POTENTIAL TREATMENT FOR CHILDREN WITH AUTISM

Probiotics

The internationally accepted definition of probiotics is "live microorganisms which when administered in adequate amounts confer a health benefit on the host". Dietary prebiotics are "selectively fermented ingredients that allows specific changes, both in the composition and/or activity in the gastrointestinal microflora that confers benefits upon host well-being and health". The potentially synergistic combinations of pro- and prebiotics are called synbiotics^[59]. Functional bowel disorders (including IBS, functional abdominal pain, functional dyspepsia, and cyclic vomiting syndrome) are the most common conditions leading to referral of children to the pediatric gastroenterology clinic^[60]. Recent evidence suggests that an abnormal fecal microbiota may play a causal or contributory role to IBS in adults^[61] and children^[62].

In adults with a functional GI disorders, there is accumulating evidence for a beneficial effect of probiotics. Evidence for probiotic efficacy in IBS now includes 23 randomized controlled trials (RCTs) (2575 patients) and the demonstration of improvement in global symptoms, abdominal pain, bloating and flatulence; however there was heterogeneity among the studies and authors concluded the optimal probiotic has not been identified^[63]. In the most recent meta-analysis, which included 21 RCT's, a 1.82-fold (CI: 1.27-2.60) relative rate of improvement vs placebo was noted^[64]. Fewer studies have been done in children; the only systematic review concluded that 4 probiotics were associated with improvement in symptoms in children with IBS: L. rhamnosus GG, L. reuteri DSM 17938, VSL#3, and a combination probiotic containing 3 Bifidobacteria^[65].

The differences in the gut microbiome comparing autistic and typically developed children described in the previous section may provide a clue to the cause for GI symptoms. One early study of vancomycin, a poorly absorbed antibiotic known to destroy *Clostridia* and other gram positive organisms, demonstrated an improvement in diarrhea and more normal behavior, as evidenced by videotape, when vancomycin was given short-term^[66]. As mentioned, the gut microbiome can be altered by the use of antibiotics, prebiotics, probiotics, or synbiotics (prebiotics plus probiotics) administered by physicians or parents to ameliorate symptoms in children with ASD^[57,67-69].

Virtually all of the GI functions postulated to be impaired in ASD have been shown to be improved by probiotics in animal studies. For example, we previously found that a human breast milk and gut commensal, Lactobacillus. reuteri, when fed daily, reduced lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-induced intestinal inflammation^[70]. In newborn rat pups, another probiotic, Bifidobacterium bifidum reduced gut permeability across the tight junctions that "seal together" the epithelial cells in a model of necrotizing enterocolitis^[71]. A recent study by Buffington *et al*^[72], which aimed to study mechanisms</sup>of abnormal behavior in autism, utilized a maternal high fat diet to induce abnormal social (withdrawal) behavior in the offspring. It is worthy to mention that in humans, too, maternal obesity^[73,74], and maternal diabetes^[75] been shown to be linked to autism in the offspring. In the mice, high-fat maternal diet produced changes in neurotransmission in the hypothalamus of the newborns. Abnormal behavior was found to be correctable by co-housing "autistic pups" with normal infant pups whose mothers did not take a high fat diet,



| Table 1 | Evidence support | ing a role f | for probioti | cs in treat | ing gastro | intestina | I symptoms i | in aut | ism spectrum d | isorde | ers |
|---------|------------------|--------------|--------------|-------------|------------|-----------|--------------|--------|----------------|--------|-----|
| | | | | | | | | | | | |

| Clinical symptoms | Ref. |
|---|-------------------------|
| Children with ASD have an abnormal fecal microbiota | [28,35,48,51,54,98-100] |
| GI symptoms common in ASD are similar to those in IBS | [11,12] |
| IBS also is associated with an abnormal fecal microbiota | [61,62,101] |
| Meta-analysis shows IBS symptoms are improved by probiotic treatment. (Preliminary evidence suggests potential benefits in | [65,72,102-104] |
| ASD in children and rodents models.) Mild inflammation in the GI tact may be seen in children with ASD. (There is evidence to support or refute this contention: | [19,22-26,31,37] |
| abnormal duodenal and ileal biopsies and high plasma S100A9 but normal fecal calprotectin and lactoferrin levels) | |
| Problotics reduce gut innammation (Snown in animal models and in numan diseases) | [70,105-108] |
| Systemic inflammation can be also seen in children with ASD | [18,109-111] |
| Immune modulation of children with ASD may reduce clinical symptoms | [41,112] |

ASD: Autism spectrum disorders; GI: Gastrointestinal; IBS: Irritable bowel syndrome.

indicating a microbial effect which was evidenced by a change in microbiota. Following this hypothesis, the authors found that by administering a probiotic, *Lactobacillus reuteri*, the antisocial behaviors and aberrant neurotransmission could be reversed^[72].

The lay press and internet have certainly embraced the concept that gut bacteria are linked to autism. A particularly fascinating recent publication from Pärtty *et al*^[76] randomized 75 infants at birth to a supplement of *Lactobacillus rhamnosus GG (LGG)* or placebo for the first 6 mo of life and measured microbiota and psycho-behavioral diagnoses 2 and 13 years later. They found no major changes in microbiota. However, at the age of 13, 17% of the children treated with placebo had attention deficit disorder or Asperger's syndrome, compared to none who received *LGG*.

Recent reviews concluded that probiotics should be studied in children with ASD^[50,77]. Our interpretation of the rationale for probiotic investigation in ASD is summarized in Table 1. However, it is controversial whether oral probiotics can produce positive effects in such a complex condition. Currently available probiotics are mainly aerobic, derived from milk cultures, not normally a significant part of the human gut microbiome which are primarily anaerobic; and they are short-lived in the human gut. Kristensen et al^[78] looked at normal humans given probiotics and showed in a meta-analysis of 6 RCTs limited to adults that there was no change in alpha-diversity (number of species) or evenness with probiotic treatment. One trial did show a change in beta-diversity (relative contributions of the various species)^[78]; however, virtually all studies which have shown changes in fecal microbial composition during probiotic administration were done in babies, for example preterm infants^[79,80]. One study that did show that a probiotic could alter the fecal microbiota focused on older children with cystic fibrosis^[81] and another showed changes in adults with alcoholic cirrhosis^[82]. Most of these trials used quantitative polymerase chain reaction (PCR), rather than 16S ribosomal RNA gene sequencing. Using 16S rRNA techniques, we^[83] and others^[78] have not shown differences in microbial composition in adults treated with probiotics. The same lack of effect on the infant's

fecal microbiome was observed in a number of studies of infants whose mothers were treated with probiotics before birth and/or during breast feeding^[84-86].

Therefore, alternative mechanisms may account for potentially beneficial effects of probiotics in IBS and possibly ASD. An important alternative mechanism by which a probiotic be beneficial is via the metabolites that these organisms release in the gut lumen which may reach the circulating blood. A number of studies have shown abnormal fecal metabolites, such as short chain fatty acids (SCFA) related to changes in microbiota^[87]. Para-cresol (a phenolic compound) has been suggested to be a urinary marker for autism^[88], especially in those with constipation and ASD^[89]. In a mouse model of autism induced by maternal immune activation, autistic behaviors such as communication abnormalities, stereotypies, and anxiety behaviors were associated with abnormal serum metabolities produced by the microbiota, including 4-ethylphenyl sulfate (the major metabolite) and p-cresol (to a lesser extent)^[57]. These abnormalities and some of the behaviors were improved by giving orally a human commensal B. fragilis (not traditionally viewed as a probiotic). In a biomarker discovery study in 52 young children with ASD who were compared to neurotypical controls, a number of plasma markers were found to be altered, many of them were directly related to mitochondrial metabolism. These included elevated succinic acid, aspartate, glutamate, and aminoisobutyrate and decreased citric acid, isoleucine, and creatinine^[90].

Despite these gaps in our knowledge regarding "if and why" probiotics may work in autism, in a recent survey of more than 500 physicians who treat children with autism, 19% reported using probiotics^[91]. Many autism websites also advocate treatment of children with ASD with probiotics. These recommendations are not evidence-based. A recent review summarized the existing 4 trials of probiotics for ASD^[92]. There were methodological difficulties in most; for example, one was a case-control study that had a high risk of selection bias which showed improvement in mental concentration (but not in behavior) in ASD patients treated with *Lactobacilus acidophilus*^[93]. Another manuscript which was included as part of a retrospective

WJG | www.wjgnet.com

Navarro F et al. Probiotics for children with autism

case-cohort analysis, reported that probiotic treatment improved an autism treatment evaluation checklist, although the authors did not report which probiotics were given and which dose^[28]. A third study was a double-blind placebo-controlled crossover trial which reported reduced disruptive behavior, anxiety and communicative disturbance when the children were on probiotic (Lactobacillus plantarum) but is not readily available in reference libraries^[94]. A 4th study reported beneficial effects of a 4-mo treatment with a combination probiotic (comprising 3 Lactobacilli, 2 Bifidobacilli, and 1 Streptococcus species). In this latter study, the probiotic increased the qPCR-determined ratio of fecal Bifidobacilli to Firmicutes and total Lactobacilli, while reducing fecal Clostridia and fecal tumor necrosis factor (TNF)-alpha levels. This latter study did suggest beneficial effects on the microbiome, although effects of this combination probiotic on autistic behaviors were not reported^[77].

Fecal microbiota transplantation

In children and adults with severe gastrointestinal diseases, such as Clostridium difficile (C. difficile)associated colitis or inflammatory bowel disease, fecal microbiota transplantation (FMT) had the potential for more significant and prolonged effects. FMT was effective in many cases of antibiotic-associated C. difficile colitis and is now used around the world for severe or multiply recurrent C. difficile infection, and it may have a role in the treatment of inflammatory bowel disease (particularly Crohn's disease) and autoimmune conditions. However, fecal transplantation carries many risks, including aspiration, transmission of norovirus, bacteremia, induction of obesity, and possible transmission of autoimmune conditions, including rheumatoid arthritis and Sjogren's syndrome^[95,96]. We do not believe this treatment will have a role in the treatment of gastrointestinal symptoms in autism, although there may be successful reductionist approaches, for example combinations of defined communities of culturable commensal organisms, such as those used in the "RePOOPulate" studies in Canada, in which 33 carefully selected isolates from healthy donors were able to eradicate C. difficile from patients who had encountered multiple recurrences^[97].

CONCLUSION

Gastrointestinal symptoms in children with autism are common and are often linked to the children's abnormal behavior and social interactions. Probiotics are hypothesized to positively impact gut microbial communities and alter the levels of specific potentially harmful metabolites in children with ASD. Whether probiotics improve behavior and these markers has yet to be determined. Although the evidence presented in this review does not confirm benefit of probiotics in this population, it provides a solid rationale for the design of larger prospective trials.

REFERENCES

- Collins SM, Surette M, Bercik P. The interplay between the intestinal microbiota and the brain. *Nat Rev Microbiol* 2012; 10: 735-742 [PMID: 23000955 DOI: 10.1038/nrmicro2876]
- 2 Wang Y, Kasper LH. The role of microbiome in central nervous system disorders. *Brain Behav Immun* 2014; 38: 1-12 [PMID: 24370461 DOI: 10.1016/j.bbi.2013.12.015]
- 3 O'Hara AM, Shanahan F. Gut microbiota: mining for therapeutic potential. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2007; 5: 274-284 [PMID: 17368226]
- 4 Gevers D, Kugathasan S, Denson LA, Vázquez-Baeza Y, Van Treuren W, Ren B, Schwager E, Knights D, Song SJ, Yassour M, Morgan XC, Kostic AD, Luo C, González A, McDonald D, Haberman Y, Walters T, Baker S, Rosh J, Stephens M, Heyman M, Markowitz J, Baldassano R, Griffiths A, Sylvester F, Mack D, Kim S, Crandall W, Hyams J, Huttenhower C, Knight R, Xavier RJ. The treatment-naive microbiome in new-onset Crohn's disease. *Cell Host Microbe* 2014; **15**: 382-392 [PMID: 24629344 DOI: 10.1016/j.chom.2014.02.005]
- 5 Morgan XC, Tickle TL, Sokol H, Gevers D, Devaney KL, Ward DV, Reyes JA, Shah SA, LeLeiko N, Snapper SB, Bousvaros A, Korzenik J, Sands BE, Xavier RJ, Huttenhower C. Dysfunction of the intestinal microbiome in inflammatory bowel disease and treatment. *Genome Biol* 2012; 13: R79 [PMID: 23013615 DOI: 10.1186/gb-2012-13-9-r79]
- 6 Vindigni SM, Zisman TL, Suskind DL, Damman CJ. The intestinal microbiome, barrier function, and immune system in inflammatory bowel disease: a tripartite pathophysiological circuit with implications for new therapeutic directions. *Therap Adv Gastroenterol* 2016; 9: 606-625 [PMID: 27366227 DOI: 10.1177/1756283X16644242]
- 7 Barbara G, Feinle-Bisset C, Ghoshal UC, Quigley EM, Santos J, Vanner S, Vergnolle N, Zoetendal EG. The Intestinal Microenvironment and Functional Gastrointestinal Disorders. *Gastroenterology* 2016; Epub ahead of print [PMID: 27144620 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2016.02.028]
- 8 Shen J, Obin MS, Zhao L. The gut microbiota, obesity and insulin resistance. *Mol Aspects Med* 2013; 34: 39-58 [PMID: 23159341 DOI: 10.1016/j.mam.2012.11.001]
- 9 Centers for Disease Contro and Prevention. Identified Prevalence of Autism Spectrum Disorder. 2016 Available from: URL: http:// www.cdc.gov/ncbddd/autism/data.html
- 10 Valicenti-McDermott M, McVicar K, Rapin I, Wershil BK, Cohen H, Shinnar S. Frequency of gastrointestinal symptoms in children with autistic spectrum disorders and association with family history of autoimmune disease. *J Dev Behav Pediatr* 2006; 27: S128-S136 [PMID: 16685179]
- 11 Wang LW, Tancredi DJ, Thomas DW. The prevalence of gastrointestinal problems in children across the United States with autism spectrum disorders from families with multiple affected members. J Dev Behav Pediatr 2011; 32: 351-360 [PMID: 21555957 DOI: 10.1097/DBP.0b013e31821bd06a]
- 12 Mazurek MO, Vasa RA, Kalb LG, Kanne SM, Rosenberg D, Keefer A, Murray DS, Freedman B, Lowery LA. Anxiety, sensory over-responsivity, and gastrointestinal problems in children with autism spectrum disorders. *J Abnorm Child Psychol* 2013; 41: 165-176 [PMID: 22850932 DOI: 10.1007/s10802-012-9668-x]
- 13 Horvath K, Perman JA. Autism and gastrointestinal symptoms. *Curr Gastroenterol Rep* 2002; **4**: 251-258 [PMID: 12010627]
- 14 Molloy CA, Manning-Courtney P. Prevalence of chronic gastrointestinal symptoms in children with autism and autistic spectrum disorders. *Autism* 2003; 7: 165-171 [PMID: 12846385]
- 15 Heifert TA, Susi A, Hisle-Gorman E, Erdie-Lalena CR, Gorman G, Min SB, Nylund CM. Feeding Disorders in Children With Autism Spectrum Disorders Are Associated With Eosinophilic Esophagitis. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 2016; 63: e69-e73 [PMID: 27276430


DOI: 10.1097/MPG.00000000001282]

- 16 Nikolov RN, Bearss KE, Lettinga J, Erickson C, Rodowski M, Aman MG, McCracken JT, McDougle CJ, Tierney E, Vitiello B, Arnold LE, Shah B, Posey DJ, Ritz L, Scahill L. Gastrointestinal symptoms in a sample of children with pervasive developmental disorders. J Autism Dev Disord 2009; 39: 405-413 [PMID: 18791817]
- 17 Pusponegoro HD, Ismael S, Sastroasmoro S, Firmansyah A, Vandenplas Y. Maladaptive Behavior and Gastrointestinal Disorders in Children with Autism Spectrum Disorder. *Pediatr Gastroenterol Hepatol Nutr* 2015; 18: 230-237 [PMID: 26770897 DOI: 10.5223/pghn.2015.18.4.230]
- 18 Boso M, Emanuele E, Minoretti P, Arra M, Politi P, Ucelli di Nemi S, Barale F. Alterations of circulating endogenous secretory RAGE and S100A9 levels indicating dysfunction of the AGE-RAGE axis in autism. *Neurosci Lett* 2006; **410**: 169-173 [PMID: 17101220 DOI: 10.1016/j.neulet.2006.08.092]
- 19 Walker SJ, Fortunato J, Gonzalez LG, Krigsman A. Identification of unique gene expression profile in children with regressive autism spectrum disorder (ASD) and ileocolitis. *PLoS One* 2013; 8: e58058 [PMID: 23520485 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0058058]
- 20 DeFelice ML, Ruchelli ED, Markowitz JE, Strogatz M, Reddy KP, Kadivar K, Mulberg AE, Brown KA. Intestinal cytokines in children with pervasive developmental disorders. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2003; **98**: 1777-1782 [PMID: 12907332 DOI: 10.1111/j.1572-0241.2003.07593.x]
- 21 **Fernell E**, Fagerberg UL, Hellström PM. No evidence for a clear link between active intestinal inflammation and autism based on analyses of faecal calprotectin and rectal nitric oxide. *Acta Paediatr* 2007; **96**: 1076-1079 [PMID: 17465982]
- 22 Ashwood P, Anthony A, Pellicer AA, Torrente F, Walker-Smith JA, Wakefield AJ. Intestinal lymphocyte populations in children with regressive autism: evidence for extensive mucosal immunopathology. J Clin Immunol 2003; 23: 504-517 [PMID: 15031638]
- 23 Ashwood P, Anthony A, Torrente F, Wakefield AJ. Spontaneous mucosal lymphocyte cytokine profiles in children with autism and gastrointestinal symptoms: mucosal immune activation and reduced counter regulatory interleukin-10. *J Clin Immunol* 2004; 24: 664-673 [PMID: 15622451]
- 24 Ashwood P, Wakefield AJ. Immune activation of peripheral blood and mucosal CD3+ lymphocyte cytokine profiles in children with autism and gastrointestinal symptoms. *J Neuroimmunol* 2006; 173: 126-134 [PMID: 16494951]
- 25 Furlano RI, Anthony A, Day R, Brown A, McGarvey L, Thomson MA, Davies SE, Berelowitz M, Forbes A, Wakefield AJ, Walker-Smith JA, Murch SH. Colonic CD8 and gamma delta T-cell infiltration with epithelial damage in children with autism. *J Pediatr* 2001; **138**: 366-372 [PMID: 11241044 DOI: 10.1067/mpd.2001.111323]
- 26 Torrente F, Ashwood P, Day R, Machado N, Furlano RI, Anthony A, Davies SE, Wakefield AJ, Thomson MA, Walker-Smith JA, Murch SH. Small intestinal enteropathy with epithelial IgG and complement deposition in children with regressive autism. *Mol Psychiatry* 2002; 7: 375-382, 334 [PMID: 11986981]
- 27 Buie T, Campbell DB, Fuchs GJ, Furuta GT, Levy J, Vandewater J, Whitaker AH, Atkins D, Bauman ML, Beaudet AL, Carr EG, Gershon MD, Hyman SL, Jirapinyo P, Jyonouchi H, Kooros K, Kushak R, Levitt P, Levy SE, Lewis JD, Murray KF, Natowicz MR, Sabra A, Wershil BK, Weston SC, Zeltzer L, Winter H. Evaluation, diagnosis, and treatment of gastrointestinal disorders in individuals with ASDs: a consensus report. *Pediatrics* 2010; 125 Suppl 1: S1-S18 [PMID: 20048083]
- 28 Adams JB, Johansen LJ, Powell LD, Quig D, Rubin RA. Gastrointestinal flora and gastrointestinal status in children with autism--comparisons to typical children and correlation with autism severity. *BMC Gastroenterol* 2011; 11: 22 [PMID: 21410934 DOI: 10.1186/1471-230X-11-22]
- 29 **Boukthir S**, Matoussi N, Belhadj A, Mammou S, Dlala SB, Helayem M, Rocchiccioli F, Bouzaidi S, Abdennebi M. [Abnormal

intestinal permeability in children with autism]. *Tunis Med* 2010; **88**: 685-686 [PMID: 20812190]

- 30 D'Eufemia P, Celli M, Finocchiaro R, Pacifico L, Viozzi L, Zaccagnini M, Cardi E, Giardini O. Abnormal intestinal permeability in children with autism. *Acta Paediatr* 1996; 85: 1076-1079 [PMID: 8888921]
- 31 de Magistris L, Familiari V, Pascotto A, Sapone A, Frolli A, Iardino P, Carteni M, De Rosa M, Francavilla R, Riegler G, Militerni R, Bravaccio C. Alterations of the intestinal barrier in patients with autism spectrum disorders and in their first-degree relatives. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 2010; 51: 418-424 [PMID: 20683204]
- 32 **Dalton N**, Chandler S, Turner C, Charman T, Pickles A, Loucas T, Simonoff E, Sullivan P, Baird G. Gut permeability in autism spectrum disorders. *Autism Res* 2014; **7**: 305-313 [PMID: 24339339 DOI: 10.1002/aur.1350]
- 33 Navarro F, Pearson DA, Fatheree N, Mansour R, Hashmi SS, Rhoads JM. Are 'leaky gut' and behavior associated with gluten and dairy containing diet in children with autism spectrum disorders? *Nutr Neurosci* 2015; 18: 177-185 [PMID: 24564346 DOI: 10.1179/1476830514Y.0000000110]
- 34 Souza NC, Mendonca JN, Portari GV, Jordao Junior AA, Marchini JS, Chiarello PG. Intestinal permeability and nutritional status in developmental disorders. *Altern Ther Health Med* 2012; 18: 19-24 [PMID: 22516881]
- 35 Williams BL, Hornig M, Buie T, Bauman ML, Cho Paik M, Wick I, Bennett A, Jabado O, Hirschberg DL, Lipkin WI. Impaired carbohydrate digestion and transport and mucosal dysbiosis in the intestines of children with autism and gastrointestinal disturbances. *PLoS One* 2011; 6: e24585 [PMID: 21949732 DOI: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0024585]
- 36 Horvath K, Papadimitriou JC, Rabsztyn A, Drachenberg C, Tildon JT. Gastrointestinal abnormalities in children with autistic disorder. J Pediatr 1999; 135: 559-563 [PMID: 10547242 DOI: 10.1016/S0022-3476(99)70052-1]
- 37 Kushak RI, Buie TM, Murray KF, Newburg DS, Chen C, Nestoridi E, Winter HS. Evaluation of Intestinal Function in Children With Autism and Gastrointestinal Symptoms. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 2016; 62: 687-691 [PMID: 26913756 DOI: 10.1097/MPG.00000000001174]
- 38 Kushak RI, Lauwers GY, Winter HS, Buie TM. Intestinal disaccharidase activity in patients with autism: effect of age, gender, and intestinal inflammation. *Autism* 2011; 15: 285-294 [PMID: 21415091 DOI: 10.1177/1362361310369142]
- 39 Gijsbers CF, Benninga MA, Schweizer JJ, Kneepkens CM, Vergouwe Y, Büller HA. Validation of the Rome III criteria and alarm symptoms for recurrent abdominal pain in children. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 2014; 58: 779-785 [PMID: 24866784 DOI: 10.1097/MPG.0000000000319]
- 40 Aman MG, Singh NN. Aberrant Behavior Checklist: Community Supplementary Manual. 1994; East Aurora, NY: Slosson Educational Publications
- 41 Schneider CK, Melmed RD, Barstow LE, Enriquez FJ, Ranger-Moore J, Ostrem JA. Oral human immunoglobulin for children with autism and gastrointestinal dysfunction: a prospective, openlabel study. *J Autism Dev Disord* 2006; **36**: 1053-1064 [PMID: 16845577 DOI: 10.1007/s10803-006-0141-y]
- 42 Ianiro G, Bruno G, Lopetuso L, Beghella FB, Laterza L, D'Aversa F, Gigante G, Cammarota G, Gasbarrini A. Role of yeasts in healthy and impaired gut microbiota: the gut mycome. *Curr Pharm Des* 2014; **20**: 4565-4569 [PMID: 24180411]
- 43 Lepage P, Leclerc MC, Joossens M, Mondot S, Blottière HM, Raes J, Ehrlich D, Doré J. A metagenomic insight into our gut' s microbiome. *Gut* 2013; 62: 146-158 [PMID: 22525886 DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2011-301805]
- Sommer F, Bäckhed F. The gut microbiota--masters of host development and physiology. *Nat Rev Microbiol* 2013; 11: 227-238 [PMID: 23435359 DOI: 10.1038/nrmicro2974]
- 45 **Cammarota G**, Ianiro G, Bibbò S, Gasbarrini A. Gut microbiota modulation: probiotics, antibiotics or fecal microbiota transplantation?

Intern Emerg Med 2014; **9**: 365-373 [PMID: 24664520 DOI: 10.1007/s11739-014-1069-4]

- 46 Konstantareas MM, Homatidis S. Ear infections in autistic and normal children. J Autism Dev Disord 1987; 17: 585-594 [PMID: 3680158]
- 47 Niehus R, Lord C. Early medical history of children with autism spectrum disorders. *J Dev Behav Pediatr* 2006; 27: S120-S127 [PMID: 16685178]
- 48 Finegold SM, Molitoris D, Song Y, Liu C, Vaisanen ML, Bolte E, McTeague M, Sandler R, Wexler H, Marlowe EM, Collins MD, Lawson PA, Summanen P, Baysallar M, Tomzynski TJ, Read E, Johnson E, Rolfe R, Nasir P, Shah H, Haake DA, Manning P, Kaul A. Gastrointestinal microflora studies in late-onset autism. *Clin Infect Dis* 2002; **35**: S6-S16 [PMID: 12173102 DOI: 10.1086/ 341914]
- 49 Kang DW, Park JG, Ilhan ZE, Wallstrom G, Labaer J, Adams JB, Krajmalnik-Brown R. Reduced incidence of Prevotella and other fermenters in intestinal microflora of autistic children. *PLoS One* 2013; 8: e68322 [PMID: 23844187 DOI: 10.1371/journal. pone.0068322]
- 50 Critchfield JW, van Hemert S, Ash M, Mulder L, Ashwood P. The potential role of probiotics in the management of childhood autism spectrum disorders. *Gastroenterol Res Pract* 2011; 2011: 161358 [PMID: 22114588 DOI: 10.1155/2011/161358]
- 51 Song Y, Liu C, Finegold SM. Real-time PCR quantitation of clostridia in feces of autistic children. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 2004; 70: 6459-6465 [PMID: 15528506]
- 52 **Finegold SM**. Desulfovibrio species are potentially important in regressive autism. *Med Hypotheses* 2011; **77**: 270-274 [PMID: 21592674 DOI: 10.1016/j.mehy.2011.04.032]
- 53 De Angelis M, Piccolo M, Vannini L, Siragusa S, De Giacomo A, Serrazzanetti DI, Cristofori F, Guerzoni ME, Gobbetti M, Francavilla R. Fecal microbiota and metabolome of children with autism and pervasive developmental disorder not otherwise specified. *PLoS One* 2013; 8: e76993 [PMID: 24130822 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0076993]
- 54 Finegold SM, Dowd SE, Gontcharova V, Liu C, Henley KE, Wolcott RD, Youn E, Summanen PH, Granpeesheh D, Dixon D, Liu M, Molitoris DR, Green JA. Pyrosequencing study of fecal microflora of autistic and control children. *Anaerobe* 2010; 16: 444-453 [PMID: 20603222 DOI: 10.1016/j.anaerobe.2010.06.008]
- 55 Gondalia SV, Palombo EA, Knowles SR, Cox SB, Meyer D, Austin DW. Molecular characterisation of gastrointestinal microbiota of children with autism (with and without gastrointestinal dysfunction) and their neurotypical siblings. *Autism Res* 2012; 5: 419-427 [PMID: 22997101 DOI: 10.1002/aur.1253]
- 56 Louis P. Does the human gut microbiota contribute to the etiology of autism spectrum disorders? *Dig Dis Sci* 2012; 57: 1987-1989 [PMID: 22736019 DOI: 10.1007/s10620-012-2286-1]
- 57 Hsiao EY, McBride SW, Hsien S, Sharon G, Hyde ER, McCue T, Codelli JA, Chow J, Reisman SE, Petrosino JF, Patterson PH, Mazmanian SK. Microbiota modulate behavioral and physiological abnormalities associated with neurodevelopmental disorders. *Cell* 2013; 155: 1451-1463 [PMID: 24315484 DOI: 10.1016/j.cell.2013.11.024]
- 58 Wang L, Conlon MA, Christophersen CT, Sorich MJ, Angley MT. Gastrointestinal microbiota and metabolite biomarkers in children with autism spectrum disorders. *Biomark Med* 2014; 8: 331-344 [PMID: 24712423 DOI: 10.2217/bmm.14.12]
- 59 de Vrese M, Schrezenmeir J. Probiotics, prebiotics, and synbiotics. Adv Biochem Eng Biotechnol 2008; 111: 1-66 [PMID: 18461293 DOI: 10.1007/10_2008_097]
- 60 Barad AV, Saps M. Factors influencing functional abdominal pain in children. *Curr Gastroenterol Rep* 2008; 10: 294-301 [PMID: 18625141]
- 61 Carroll IM, Ringel-Kulka T, Siddle JP, Ringel Y. Alterations in composition and diversity of the intestinal microbiota in patients with diarrhea-predominant irritable bowel syndrome. *Neurogastroenterol Motil* 2012; 24: 521-530, e248 [PMID: 22339879 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2982.2012.01891.x]

- 62 Saulnier DM, Riehle K, Mistretta TA, Diaz MA, Mandal D, Raza S, Weidler EM, Qin X, Coarfa C, Milosavljevic A, Petrosino JF, Highlander S, Gibbs R, Lynch SV, Shulman RJ, Versalovic J. Gastrointestinal microbiome signatures of pediatric patients with irritable bowel syndrome. *Gastroenterology* 2011; **141**: 1782-1791 [PMID: 21741921 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2011.06.072]
- 63 Ford AC, Quigley EM, Lacy BE, Lembo AJ, Saito YA, Schiller LR, Soffer EE, Spiegel BM, Moayyedi P. Efficacy of prebiotics, probiotics, and synbiotics in irritable bowel syndrome and chronic idiopathic constipation: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2014; 109: 1547-1561; quiz 1546, 1562 [PMID: 25070051 DOI: 10.1038/ajg.2014.202]
- 64 Zhang Y, Li L, Guo C, Mu D, Feng B, Zuo X, Li Y. Effects of probiotic type, dose and treatment duration on irritable bowel syndrome diagnosed by Rome III criteria: a meta-analysis. *BMC Gastroenterol* 2016; 16: 62 [PMID: 27296254 DOI: 10.1186/s12876-016-0470-z]
- Giannetti E, Staiano A. Probiotics for Irritable Bowel Syndrome: Clinical Data in Children. *J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr* 2016;
 63 Suppl 1: S25-S26 [PMID: 27380595 DOI: 10.1097/MPG. 000000000001220]
- 66 Sandler RH, Finegold SM, Bolte ER, Buchanan CP, Maxwell AP, Väisänen ML, Nelson MN, Wexler HM. Short-term benefit from oral vancomycin treatment of regressive-onset autism. *J Child Neurol* 2000; 15: 429-435 [PMID: 10921511]
- 67 Bested AC, Logan AC, Selhub EM. Intestinal microbiota, probiotics and mental health: from Metchnikoff to modern advances: part III - convergence toward clinical trials. *Gut Pathog* 2013; 5: 4 [PMID: 23497650 DOI: 10.1186/1757-4749-5-4]
- 68 Forsythe P, Sudo N, Dinan T, Taylor VH, Bienenstock J. Mood and gut feelings. *Brain Behav Immun* 2010; 24: 9-16 [PMID: 19481599 DOI: 10.1016/j.bbi.2009.05.058]
- 69 Messaoudi M, Lalonde R, Violle N, Javelot H, Desor D, Nejdi A, Bisson JF, Rougeot C, Pichelin M, Cazaubiel M, Cazaubiel JM. Assessment of psychotropic-like properties of a probiotic formulation (Lactobacillus helveticus R0052 and Bifidobacterium longum R0175) in rats and human subjects. *Br J Nutr* 2011; 105: 755-764 [PMID: 20974015 DOI: 10.1017/S0007114510004319]
- 70 Liu Y, Fatheree NY, Mangalat N, Rhoads JM. Human-derived probiotic Lactobacillus reuteri strains differentially reduce intestinal inflammation. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol* 2010; 299: G1087-G1096 [PMID: 20798357]
- 71 Khailova L, Dvorak K, Arganbright KM, Halpern MD, Kinouchi T, Yajima M, Dvorak B. Bifidobacterium bifidum improves intestinal integrity in a rat model of necrotizing enterocolitis. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol* 2009; **297**: G940-G949 [PMID: 20501441]
- 72 Buffington SA, Di Prisco GV, Auchtung TA, Ajami NJ, Petrosino JF, Costa-Mattioli M. Microbial Reconstitution Reverses Maternal Diet-Induced Social and Synaptic Deficits in Offspring. *Cell* 2016; 165: 1762-1775 [PMID: 27315483 DOI: 10.1016/j.cell.2016.06.001]
- 73 Getz KD, Anderka MT, Werler MM, Jick SS. Maternal Prepregnancy Body Mass Index and Autism Spectrum Disorder among Offspring: A Population-Based Case-Control Study. *Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol* 2016; **30**: 479-487 [PMID: 27239935 DOI: 10.1111/ppe.12306]
- 74 Li M, Fallin MD, Riley A, Landa R, Walker SO, Silverstein M, Caruso D, Pearson C, Kiang S, Dahm JL, Hong X, Wang G, Wang MC, Zuckerman B, Wang X. The Association of Maternal Obesity and Diabetes With Autism and Other Developmental Disabilities. *Pediatrics* 2016; 137: e20152206 [PMID: 26826214 DOI: 10.1542/peds.2015-2206]
- 75 Nahum Sacks K, Friger M, Shoham-Vardi I, Abokaf H, Spiegel E, Sergienko R, Landau D, Sheiner E. Prenatal exposure to gestational diabetes mellitus as an independent risk factor for long-term neuropsychiatric morbidity of the offspring. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2016; **215**: 380.e1-380.e7 [PMID: 27018463 DOI: 10.1016/j.ajog.2016.03.030]
- 76 Pärtty A, Kalliomäki M, Wacklin P, Salminen S, Isolauri E. A

possible link between early probiotic intervention and the risk of neuropsychiatric disorders later in childhood: a randomized trial. *Pediatr Res* 2015; **77**: 823-828 [PMID: 25760553 DOI: 10.1038/pr.2015.51]

- 77 Tomova A, Husarova V, Lakatosova S, Bakos J, Vlkova B, Babinska K, Ostatnikova D. Gastrointestinal microbiota in children with autism in Slovakia. *Physiol Behav* 2015; 138: 179-187 [PMID: 25446201 DOI: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2014.10.033]
- 78 Kristensen NB, Bryrup T, Allin KH, Nielsen T, Hansen TH, Pedersen O. Alterations in fecal microbiota composition by probiotic supplementation in healthy adults: a systematic review of randomized controlled trials. *Genome Med* 2016; 8: 52 [PMID: 27159972 DOI: 10.1186/s13073-016-0300-5]
- 79 Panigrahi P, Parida S, Pradhan L, Mohapatra SS, Misra PR, Johnson JA, Chaudhry R, Taylor S, Hansen NI, Gewolb IH. Long-term colonization of a Lactobacillus plantarum synbiotic preparation in the neonatal gut. *J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr* 2008; **47**: 45-53 [PMID: 18607268 DOI: 10.1097/MPG.0b013e31815a5f2c]
- 80 Underwood MA, Kalanetra KM, Bokulich NA, Lewis ZT, Mirmiran M, Tancredi DJ, Mills DA. A comparison of two probiotic strains of bifidobacteria in premature infants. *J Pediatr* 2013; 163: 1585-1591.e9 [PMID: 23993139 DOI: 10.1016/j. jpeds.2013.07.017]
- 81 del Campo R, Garriga M, Pérez-Aragón A, Guallarte P, Lamas A, Máiz L, Bayón C, Roy G, Cantón R, Zamora J, Baquero F, Suárez L. Improvement of digestive health and reduction in proteobacterial populations in the gut microbiota of cystic fibrosis patients using a Lactobacillus reuteri probiotic preparation: a double blind prospective study. J Cyst Fibros 2014; 13: 716-722 [PMID: 24636808 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcf.2014.02.007]
- 82 Koga H, Tamiya Y, Mitsuyama K, Ishibashi M, Matsumoto S, Imaoka A, Hara T, Nakano M, Ooeda K, Umezaki Y, Sata M. Probiotics promote rapid-turnover protein production by restoring gut flora in patients with alcoholic liver cirrhosis. *Hepatol Int* 2013; 7: 767-774 [PMID: 26201812 DOI: 10.1007/s12072-012-9408-x]
- 83 Mangalat N, Liu Y, Fatheree NY, Ferris MJ, Van Arsdall MR, Chen Z, Rahbar MH, Gleason WA, Norori J, Tran DQ, Rhoads JM. Safety and tolerability of Lactobacillus reuteri DSM 17938 and effects on biomarkers in healthy adults: results from a randomized masked trial. *PLoS One* 2012; 7: e43910 [PMID: 22970150]
- 84 Dotterud CK, Avershina E, Sekelja M, Simpson MR, Rudi K, Storrø O, Johnsen R, Øien T. Does Maternal Perinatal Probiotic Supplementation Alter the Intestinal Microbiota of Mother and Child? J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 2015; 61: 200-207 [PMID: 25782657 DOI: 10.1097/MPG.00000000000781]
- 85 Ismail IH, Oppedisano F, Joseph SJ, Boyle RJ, Robins-Browne RM, Tang ML. Prenatal administration of Lactobacillus rhamnosus has no effect on the diversity of the early infant gut microbiota. *Pediatr Allergy Immunol* 2012; 23: 255-258 [PMID: 22136660 DOI: 10.1111/j.1399-3038.2011.01239.x]
- 86 Zeber-Lubecka N, Kulecka M, Ambrozkiewicz F, Paziewska A, Lechowicz M, Konopka E, Majewska U, Borszewska-Kornacka M, Mikula M, Cukrowska B, Ostrowski J. Effect of Saccharomyces boulardii and Mode of Delivery on the Early Development of the Gut Microbial Community in Preterm Infants. *PLoS One* 2016; 11: e0150306 [PMID: 26918330 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0150306]
- 87 MacFabe DF. Enteric short-chain fatty acids: microbial messengers of metabolism, mitochondria, and mind: implications in autism spectrum disorders. *Microb Ecol Health Dis* 2015; 26: 28177 [PMID: 26031685]
- 88 Altieri L, Neri C, Sacco R, Curatolo P, Benvenuto A, Muratori F, Santocchi E, Bravaccio C, Lenti C, Saccani M, Rigardetto R, Gandione M, Urbani A, Persico AM. Urinary p-cresol is elevated in small children with severe autism spectrum disorder. *Biomarkers* 2011; 16: 252-260 [PMID: 21329489 DOI: 10.3109/1354750X. 2010.548010]
- 89 Gabriele S, Sacco R, Cerullo S, Neri C, Urbani A, Tripi G, Malvy J, Barthelemy C, Bonnet-Brihault F, Persico AM. Urinary p-cresol is elevated in young French children with autism spectrum disorder: a replication study. *Biomarkers* 2014; 19: 463-470 [PMID: 25010144

DOI: 10.3109/1354750X.2014.936911]

- 90 West PR, Amaral DG, Bais P, Smith AM, Egnash LA, Ross ME, Palmer JA, Fontaine BR, Conard KR, Corbett BA, Cezar GG, Donley EL, Burrier RE. Metabolomics as a tool for discovery of biomarkers of autism spectrum disorder in the blood plasma of children. *PLoS One* 2014; 9: e112445 [PMID: 25380056 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0112445]
- Golnik AE, Ireland M. Complementary alternative medicine for children with autism: a physician survey. *J Autism Dev Disord* 2009; 39: 996-1005 [PMID: 19280328 DOI: 10.1007/s10803-009-0714-7]
- 92 Srinivasjois R, Rao S, Patole S. Probiotic supplementation in children with autism spectrum disorder. *Arch Dis Child* 2015; 100: 505-506 [PMID: 25809345 DOI: 10.1136/archdischild-2014-308002]
- 93 Kalużna-Czaplińska J, Błaszczyk S. The level of arabinitol in autistic children after probiotic therapy. *Nutrition* 2012; 28: 124-126 [PMID: 22079796 DOI: 10.1016/j.nut.2011.08.002]
- 94 Parracho HM, Gibson GR, Bosscher D, Kleerebezem M, McCartney AL. A double-blind, placebo-controlled, crossoverdesigned probiotic feeding study in children diagnosed with autistic spectrum disorders. *Int J Probiotics Prebiotics* 2010; 5: 69-74
- 95 Bowman KA, Broussard EK, Surawicz CM. Fecal microbiota transplantation: current clinical efficacy and future prospects. *Clin Exp Gastroenterol* 2015; 8: 285-291 [PMID: 26566371 DOI: 10.2147/CEG.S61305]
- 96 Kelly CR, Kahn S, Kashyap P, Laine L, Rubin D, Atreja A, Moore T, Wu G. Update on Fecal Microbiota Transplantation 2015: Indications, Methodologies, Mechanisms, and Outlook. *Gastroenterology* 2015; 149: 223-237 [PMID: 25982290 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2015.05.008]
- 97 Petrof EO, Gloor GB, Vanner SJ, Weese SJ, Carter D, Daigneault MC, Brown EM, Schroeter K, Allen-Vercoe E. Stool substitute transplant therapy for the eradication of Clostridium difficile infection: 'RePOOPulating' the gut. *Microbiome* 2013; 1: 3 [PMID: 24467987 DOI: 10.1186/2049-2618-1-3]
- 98 Parracho HM, Bingham MO, Gibson GR,McCartney AL. Differences between the gut microflora of children with autistic spectrum disorders and that of healthy children. *J Med Microbiol* 2005; 54: 987-991 [PMID: 16157555]
- 99 Wang L, Christophersen CT, Sorich MJ, Gerber JP, Angley MT, Conlon MA. Low relative abundances of the mucolytic bacterium Akkermansia muciniphila and Bifidobacterium spp. in feces of children with autism. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 2011; 77: 6718-6721 [PMID: 21784919 DOI: 10.1128/AEM.05212-11]
- 100 Williams BL, Hornig M, Parekh T, Lipkin WI. Application of novel PCR-based methods for detection, quantitation, and phylogenetic characterization of Sutterella species in intestinal biopsy samples from children with autism and gastrointestinal disturbances. *MBio* 2012; **3** [PMID: 22233678 DOI: 10.1128/ mBio. 00261-11]
- 101 Bonfrate L, Tack J, Grattagliano I, Cuomo R, Portincasa P. Microbiota in health and irritable bowel syndrome: current knowledge, perspectives and therapeutic options. Scand J Gastroenterol 2013; 48: 995-1009 [PMID: 23964766 DOI: 10.3109/00365521.2013.799220]
- 102 Moayyedi P, Ford AC, Talley NJ, Cremonini F, Foxx-Orenstein AE, Brandt LJ, Quigley EM. The efficacy of probiotics in the treatment of irritable bowel syndrome: a systematic review. *Gut* 2010; **59**: 325-332 [PMID: 19091823]
- 103 Ortiz-Lucas M, Tobías A, Saz P, Sebastián JJ. Effect of probiotic species on irritable bowel syndrome symptoms: A bring up to date meta-analysis. *Rev Esp Enferm Dig* 2013; 105: 19-36 [PMID: 23548007]
- 104 Whelan K. Probiotics and prebiotics in the management of irritable bowel syndrome: a review of recent clinical trials and systematic reviews. *Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care* 2011; 14: 581-587 [PMID: 21892075 DOI: 10.1097/MCO.0b013e32834b8082]
- 105 Jonkers D, Penders J, Masclee A, Pierik M. Probiotics in the management of inflammatory bowel disease: a systematic review of intervention studies in adult patients. *Drugs* 2012; **72**: 803-823 [PMID: 22512365 DOI: 10.2165/11632710-00000000-00000]

- 106 Liu Y, Fatheree NY, Mangalat N, Rhoads JM. Lactobacillus reuteri strains reduce incidence and severity of experimental necrotizing enterocolitis via modulation of TLR4 and NF-κB signaling in the intestine. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol* 2012; **302**: G608-G617 [PMID: 22207578]
- 107 Wang Q, Dong J, Zhu Y. Probiotic supplement reduces risk of necrotizing enterocolitis and mortality in preterm very low-birthweight infants: an updated meta-analysis of 20 randomized, controlled trials. *J Pediatr Surg* 2012; **47**: 241-248 [PMID: 22244424]
- 108 Zhang L, Li N, des Robert C, Fang M, Liboni K, McMahon R, Caicedo RA, Neu J. Lactobacillus rhamnosus GG decreases lipopolysaccharide-induced systemic inflammation in a gastrostomy-fed infant rat model. *J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr* 2006; 42: 545-552 [PMID: 16707979]
- 109 de Theije CG, Bavelaar BM, Lopes da Silva S, Korte SM, Olivier B, Garssen J, Kraneveld AD. Food allergy and food-based therapies in neurodevelopmental disorders. *Pediatr Allergy Immunol* 2014; 25: 218-226 [PMID: 24236934 DOI: 10.1111/pai.12149]
- 110 Emanuele E, Orsi P, Boso M, Broglia D, Brondino N, Barale F, di Nemi SU, Politi P. Low-grade endotoxemia in patients with severe autism. *Neurosci Lett* 2010; 471: 162-165 [PMID: 20097267]
- 111 Zimmerman AW, Jyonouchi H, Comi AM, Connors SL, Milstien S, Varsou A, Heyes MP. Cerebrospinal fluid and serum markers of inflammation in autism. *Pediatr Neurol* 2005; **33**: 195-201 [PMID: 16139734]
- 112 Boris M, Kaiser CC, Goldblatt A, Elice MW, Edelson SM, Adams JB, Feinstein DL. Effect of pioglitazone treatment on behavioral symptoms in autistic children. *J Neuroinflammation* 2007; 4: 3 [PMID: 17207275 DOI: 10.1186/1742-2094-4-3]

P- Reviewer: Adams JB, Garcia-Olmo D, van Hemert S S- Editor: Gong ZM L- Editor: A E- Editor: Liu WX







Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/ Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v22.i46.10103 World J Gastroenterol 2016 December 14; 22(46): 10103-10117 ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online) © 2016 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

REVIEW

Thiopurines and inflammatory bowel disease: Current evidence and a historical perspective

Jordan E Axelrad, Abhik Roy, Garrett Lawlor, Burton Korelitz, Simon Lichtiger

Jordan E Axelrad, Garrett Lawlor, Simon Lichtiger, Department of Medicine, Division of Digestive and Liver Diseases, Columbia University Medical Center, New York, NY 10032, United States

Abhik Roy, Department of Medicine, Division of Gastroenterology, University of California, San Francisco, CA 94143, United States

Burton Korelitz, Department of Medicine, Division of Gastroenterology, Northwell Health Lenox Hill Hospital, New York, NY 10032, United States

Author contributions: Axelrad JE, Roy A, Lawlor G, Korelitz B and Lichtiger S wrote the paper.

Conflict-of-interest statement: Authors declare no conflict of interests for this article.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons. org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Manuscript source: Invited manuscript

Correspondence to: Jordan E Axelrad, MD, MPH, Department of Medicine, Division of Digestive and Liver Diseases, Columbia University Medical Center, 630 West 168th Street, Box 83, Presbyterian Hospital 7 West, Room 318, New York, NY 10032, United States. ja3064@cumc.columbia.edu Telephone: +1-212-3424776 Fax: +1-212-3425759

Received: October 20, 2016 Peer-review started: October 21, 2016 First decision: November 9, 2016 Revised: November 10, 2016 Accepted: November 23, 2016 Article in press: November 28, 2016 Published online: December 14, 2016

Abstract

The use of thiopurines in inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) has been examined in numerous prospective, controlled trials, with a majority demonstrating a clinical benefit. We conducted this review to describe the historical and current evidence in the use of thiopurines in IBD. A systematic search was performed on MEDLINE between 1965 and 2016 to identify studies on thiopurines in IBD. The most robust evidence for thiopurines in IBD includes induction of remission in combination with anti-tumor necrosis factor (anti-TNF) agents, and maintenance of remission and postoperative maintenance in Crohn's disease. Less evidence exists for thiopurine monotherapy in induction of remission, maintenance of ulcerative colitis, chemoprevention of colorectal cancer, and in preventing immunogenicity to anti-TNF. Evidence was often limited by trial design. Overall, thiopurines have demonstrated efficacy in a broad range of presentations of IBD. With more efficacious novel therapeutic agents, the positioning of thiopurines in the management of IBD will change and future studies will analyze the benefit of thiopurines alone and in conjunction with these new medications.

Key words: Inflammatory bowel disease; Ulcerative colitis; Crohn's disease; Thiopurines; Mercaptopurine; Azathioprine

© **The Author(s) 2016.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core tip: In this review, we systematically describe the historical and current evidence in the use of thiopurines in inflammatory bowel disease (IBD). The most robust evidence for thiopurines in IBD includes induction of remission in combination with anti-tumor necrosis factor agents, and maintenance of remission and post-operative maintenance in Crohn's disease. With more effective and newer therapeutic agents, the positioning of thiopurines in the management of IBD



WJG www.wjgnet.com

will change. Future studies should examine the benefit of thiopurines alone and in conjunction with these novel agents.

Axelrad JE, Roy A, Lawlor G, Korelitz B, Lichtiger S. Thiopurines and inflammatory bowel disease: Current evidence and a historical perspective. *World J Gastroenterol* 2016; 22(46): 10103-10117 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet. com/1007-9327/full/v22/i46/10103.htm DOI: http://dx.doi. org/10.3748/wjg.v22.i46.10103

INTRODUCTION

Historically, the use of thiopurines, mercaptopurine and azathioprine, purine antagonists which inhibit DNA and RNA synthesis (Figure 1), in the treatment of inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) was based upon their efficacy in other autoimmune disorders, including systemic lupus erythematous and rheumatoid arthritis^[1]. The efficacy of thiopurines in both Crohn's disease (CD) and ulcerative colitis (UC) has been documented in prospective, double-blind, placebo-controlled trials, with data supporting their beneficial therapeutic effects in inducing and maintaining disease remission, postoperative maintenance in CD, and chemoprevention of colorectal cancer (CRC)^[2-6]. In addition, the medication has taken on an important role in conjunction with anti-tumor necrosis factor (TNF) therapy by interfering with antibody production^[7].

Despite this evidence demonstrating the efficacy of thiopurine agents, there exists a hesitation with their clinical use. This may be based upon the fact that some of the trials were withdrawal designed^[8], pediatric-based^[9], recruited a small number of patients, or utilized a scoring system not universally accepted^[10]. Furthermore, their role in infectious as well as malignant complications has been scrutinized.

In this review, undertaken after the passing of Dr. Daniel Present, we will review the historical basis, current evidence, and clinical experience in the use of thiopurines at various stages of IBD. We will also comment on how its use has changed over time and postulate on its positioning in the future. Lastly, this review will be accompanied by an experience overview by Dr. Daniel Present and Dr. Burton Korelitz, co-investigators on the seminal paper on the use of thiopurines in IBD^[10].

For completeness, we conducted a systematic electronic search for relevant full-text articles in English using the MEDLINE database between January 1, 1965 and January 1, 2016. We used search terms associated with IBD and thiopurines, including "inflammatory bowel disease", "Crohn's disease", or "ulcerative colitis" in combination with "thiopurines", "azathioprine", "mercaptopurine", and "6-mercaptopurine". Reference lists from retrieved studies and review articles were examined to identify additional studies of relevance. Preference was given to high impact articles with randomized trial designs.

THIOPURINES FOR INDUCTION OF REMISSION IN CD

A number of controlled clinical trials have investigated the efficacy of thiopurines in the treatment of active CD. The results of the four earliest trials were published in the 1970s^[11-14]. The first three studies investigating azathioprine were small (enrolling 12-16 patients), utilized varying doses of drug (ranging from 2 to 4 mg/kg/d), and followed patients for a maximum of 24 wk. The response rates in these studies varied from 36%-100%. The largest of these initial trials was reported by Summers et al^[13] in 1979, and involved a 17-wk randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of azathioprine 2.5 mg/kg/d in 136 patients with active CD (defined as a Crohn's Disease Activity Index (CDAI) score > 150). The rates of remission (CDAI < 150 at week 17) with azathioprine (36%; 21/59) were superior to placebo (26%; 20/77), although not at the level of statistical significance.

The first long-term study to demonstrate the efficacy of mercaptopurine to induce remission was reported by Present *et al*^[10] in 1980. Eighty-three chronically ill patients with CD were entered into a two-year double-blind study comparing mercaptopurine 1.5 mg/kg with placebo. Crossover data showed that improvement occurred in 67% of courses of mercaptopurine compared with 8% of courses of placebo (P < 0.001). Mercaptopurine was also found to be more effective than placebo in fistula closure and steroid reduction and discontinuation. Importantly, this trial was the first to establish the notion of the delayed onset of action, as the mean time to response was 3.1 mo, with 89% of responders doing so within 4 mo of starting mercaptopurine.

In the last two decades, all studies investigating the efficacy of thiopurines in inducing remission in CD have utilized active comparator groups rather than placebo alone. In a three-arm randomized, double-blind study comparing mercaptopurine 50 mg daily, oral methotrexate 12.5 mg weekly, and placebo in patients with active CD and Harvey-Bradshaw Index (HBI) \geq 7, Oren *et al*^[15] showed that the rates of remission</sup>(HBI \leq 3 without steroids) using mercaptopurine or placebo were equivalent (9/32 in the mercaptopurine arm vs 6/26 in the placebo arm). This remission rate was not significantly different when compared to the methotrexate arm. In a similar study involving methotrexate, Maté-Jiménez et al^[16], studied 38 patients with steroid-dependent CD who were randomized to mercaptopurine 1.5 mg/kg/d, methotrexate 15 mg/wk, or 5-aminosalicylic acid (5-ASA) 3 g/d. Compared with the 5-ASA group (14% remission), patients in both the mercaptopurine (93.7%) and methotrexate (80%) arms had statistically higher rates of remission. Finally,





Figure 1 Chemical structures of azathioprine and mercaptopurine. AZA: Azathioprine; 6-MP: 6-mercaptopurine.

in a recent trial comparing azathioprine to methotrexate, patients with steroid-dependent CD with a CDAI \geq 200 were treated with either intravenous methotrexate 25 mg/wk or oral azathioprine 2 mg/kg/d for a 6-mo period (in addition to a 12-wk prednisolone taper starting at 40 mg daily). The primary outcome - the proportion of patients entering first remission (CDAI < 150 without steroids) at 3 and 6 mo of therapy - was statistically similar between the two treatment groups (44% remission rate at 3 mo with methotrexate *vs* 33% with azathioprine; 56% remission rate at 6 mo with methotrexate *vs* 63% with azathioprine)^[17].

A recent trial evaluating the effectiveness of thiopurines for the induction of remission in Crohn' s disease was reported in 2010 by Colombel et $al^{[18]}$ in the Study of Biologic and Immunomodulator Naive Patients in Crohn's Disease (the SONIC trial). The results of this study showed azathioprine to be less effective than infliximab as an induction agent for CD. Patients with active CD (CDAI 220-450) were randomized to one of three treatment arms: infliximab 5 mg/kg, azathioprine 2.5 mg/kg/d, or a combination of infliximab and azathioprine. Thirty-two percent (54/170) of azathioprine patients achieved clinical remission (CDAI < 150) at week 26 compared to 48%(81/169) of infliximab patients [risk ratio (RR) = 0.66, 95%CI: 0.51-0.87]. Similarly, significantly more infliximab patients than azathioprine patients achieved the primary study outcome of steroid free remission (44% vs 30%, respectively, P = 0.006). When assessing the combination of azathioprine and infliximab, significantly more patients in the combination therapy group (60%; 102/169) achieved clinical remission compared to patients treated with infliximab alone (48%) or azathioprine alone (32%, P < 0.001). Although, patients with heterozygous thiopurine methyl transferase (TPMT) activity were excluded, potentially minimizing the success of azathioprine monotherapy.

In addition, two randomized trials have found azathioprine therapy ineffective in achieving sustained corticosteroid-free remission. In an open-label trial of adults with CD for less than 6 mo at risk for disabling disease. patients randomly assigned to treatment with azathioprine 2.5 mg/kg/d were no more likely to experience clinical remission compared to patients who received azathioprine only in cases of corticosteroid dependency, chronic active disease with frequent flares, poor response to corticosteroids, or development of severe perianal disease^[19]. In a prospective double-blind trial of patients with CD for less than 8 wk, patients randomly assigned to azathioprine 2.5 mg/kg/d were no more likely to achieve sustained corticosteroid-free remission compared to patients randomized to placebo (44.1% vs 36.5%), however, azathioprine was more effective in preventing moderate to severe relapse in a *post hoc* analysis^[20].

The most recent Cochrane analysis (2013) evaluating the efficacy of thiopurines for induction of remission in CD compiled the results from 13 randomized control trials including 1211 patients: 9 comparing thiopurines to placebo and 6 using active comparators^[21]. This analysis found no statistically significant difference in clinical remission rates between thiopurines and placebo (48% vs 37%, respectively, when combining the data from 5 studies with 380 total patients; RR = 1.23, 95%CI: 0.97-1.55). Thiopurine therapy was found to be no better at inducing steroid-free remission compared to methotrexate (RR = 1.13, 95%CI: 0.85-1.49) and 5-ASA or sulfasalazine (RR = 1.24, 95%CI: 0.80-1.91). Lastly, azathioprine was found to be significantly inferior to infliximab for induction of steroidfree clinical remission (RR = 0.68, 95%CI: 0.51-0.90). The only benefit of azathioprine for inducing remission in CD was found when it was used in combination with infliximab, as combination therapy was significantly superior to infliximab alone for induction of remission.

THIOPURINES FOR MAINTENANCE OF REMISSION IN CD

Dating back to the 1970s, multiple controlled trials have evaluated the efficacy of azathioprine and mercaptopurine for maintenance of remission in CD. While several earlier studies compared azathioprine or mercaptopurine to placebo, the more recent trials have used active comparators.

The first randomized, double-blind, placebocontrolled trial of azathioprine for therapy of CD was reported by Willoughby *et al*^[14], in 1971. This small study aimed to determine the effect of azathioprine 2 mg/kg/d on maintaining remission of CD once it had been induced by prednisolone alone or in combination with azathioprine. At the end of the 24-wk study period, 4/5 patients on azathioprine maintained remission compared to 2/5 on placebo.

Over the course of the following three decades, multiple additional trials compared azathioprine to placebo^[6,13,14,22-25]. Although these trials varied in their duration of therapy and dose of azathioprine (ranging from 1 mg/kg/d to 2.5 mg/kg/d), each added to the growing body of literature exploring the use of azathioprine for maintaining remission in CD. A

WJG 🛘 www.wjgnet.com

2015 Cochrane review presented a pooled analysis of the results from these seven studies^[6]. In total, 532 patients were included, and there were a statistically higher proportion of patients who maintained remission over 6 to 18 mo with azathioprine compared to placebo. While only 58% (168/288) of patients on placebo maintained remission at study endpoints, 72% (175/244) of azathioprine patients were in remission (RR = 1.25, 95%CI: 1.11-1.42).

Two studies have compared azathioprine or mercaptopurine to 5-ASA or sulfasalazine for the maintenance of remission in CD. In 1979, Summers et al^[13], reported the results from 86 patients with medically or surgically induced CD remission who were randomized to placebo, sulfasalazine, prednisone, or azathioprine (1 or 2.5 mg/kg/d). Over the course of one year, both patients in the azathioprine arm and sulfasalazine arm had similar rates of maintaining remission: 76% (53/73) azathioprine vs 68% (52/77) placebo. A second study by Maté-Jiménez et al^[16] in 2000 reported the results from a maintenance trial in which CD patients in remission were randomized to either mercaptopurine 1 mg/kg/d or 5-ASA 3 g/d for 45 wk of therapy. Though mercaptopurine was superior to 5-ASA in maintaining remission (53% vs 0%), the numbers of patients in each study arm were very small. A pooled analysis of the results of these two trials found no difference between azathioprine or mercaptopurine and 5-ASA or sulfasalazine in the proportion of patients who maintained remission at 12 mo (RR = 1.09, 95%CI: 0.88-1.34)^[6].

One study each has compared thiopurines to budesonide and methotrexate. In 2009, Mantzaris *et al*^[24] suggested azathioprine (2.0-2.5 mg/kg/d) to be superior to budesonide (6-9 mg/d) in maintaining CD remission. In this prospective, randomized, controlled one-year trial including patients with steroid dependent CD in remission (CDAI < 150), 76% (29/38) of patients in the azathioprine arm maintained remission at one year compared to 46% (18/39) in the budesonide arm (RR = 1.65, 95%CI: 1.13-2.42). In contrast to these positive findings, Maté-Jiménez *et al*^[16] found no difference in the rates of maintaining remission between mercaptopurine (50%; 8/16) and methotrexate (53%; 8/15) at 76 wk.

Finally, the most recent trial investigating the role of azathioprine in maintaining remission in CD utilized azathioprine in combination with infliximab and compared maintenance rates with infliximab alone^[25]. In this study reported by Mantzaris *et al*^[24], 47 patients with active, steroid-dependent CD were induced with tapered steroids along with infliximab 5 mg/kg at weeks 0, 2, and 6, or combination infliximab and azathioprine 2.5 mg/kg for 6 wk. Those entering remission were then continued into the maintenance phase of the trial where they were treated with either infliximab and azathioprine 2.5 mg/kg for 12 mo. The rates of maintaining remission at one year were statis-

tically similar in the combination therapy group (81%; 13/16) and the infliximab monotherapy group (80%; 16/20) (RR = 1.02, 95%CI: 0.74-1.40).

Given the cumulative results of the trials that have been conducted, a recent Cochrane review concluded that azathioprine is more effective than placebo for maintenance of remission in CD^[6]. Similarly, azathioprine may be superior to budesonide for maintenance of remission, although this conclusion is based on the results of only one small study. Finally, thiopurines have not yet been rigorously compared to other active maintenance therapies, including infliximab, and more adequately powered trials are necessary to allow for definitive conclusions.

THIOPURINES FOR MAINTENANCE OF SURGICALLY INDUCED REMISSION IN CD

Approximately two thirds of CD patients will require at least one intestinal resection, and more than 50% will still require at least one additional surgery in their lifetime^[23,26,27]. It is thus imperative to optimize post-operative prophylactic management strategies to reduce this risk. The role of thiopurines in postoperative prevention of CD recurrence will be discussed here.

A Cochrane analysis by Gordon *et al*^[5] in 2014 embodies the most up to date, extensive review of thiopurine use as a preventative measure following intestinal resection. However, heterogenous study design by the trials in question makes the data less clear. Seven randomized controlled trials involving thiopurines were identified - four compared to 5-ASA^[28-33], one compared to 5-ASA and adalimumab^[34], one to infliximab^[27], and one to placebo alone^[35].

Thiopurine use overall appears to reduce postoperative recurrence risk when compared to placebo (12 mo endoscopic recurrence risk of 43.7% for azathioprine compared to 69% for placebo)^[35]. However, efficacy outcomes when compared to 5-ASA agents were less clear, and did not demonstrate superiority of one modality over the other^[28-30,33]. However, Reinisch *et al*^[33] noted that perceived lack of efficacy may relate to suboptimal dosing strategies (with dosing based on metabolite levels providing better remission rates). Only two controlled trials addressed the utility of anti-TNF as compared to thiopurines, and results were conflicting^[27,34].

Subsequent to the Cochrane analysis above, three randomized-controlled trials sought to examine the impact of anti-TNF therapy on post-operative disease recurrence, and indirectly addressed questions of thiopurine efficacy and optimization. Regueiro *et al*^[36] randomized patients to either anti-TNF therapy or placebo after resection, and patients were instructed to otherwise continue pre-operative therapy. Forty-six



percent were taking a thiopurine throughout. Within the placebo arm, 100% of patients without thiopurine exposure experienced endoscopic disease recurrence compared to 71.4% of those on thiopurine monotherapy, with a 28.6% reduction in recurrence (P =0.08; the study was not powered to assess thiopurine efficacy). Of note, combination therapy of thiopurine and infliximab was not significantly more effective than infliximab monotherapy, with endoscopic recurrence rates of 27.8% and 18.5% respectively.

De Cruz et al^[37] published data from the Post-Operative Crohn's Endoscopic Recurrence study in which patients at medium or high risk patients for postoperative recurrence of disease were then treated with adalimumab, thiopurine, or none of these agents. All patients received metronidazole initially and disease assessment followed with a "standard" or "active" assessment pathway, the comparison of which was the basis of the study^[37]. Adalimumab did not appear significantly more effective at reducing short-term disease recurrence risk (43% endoscopic recurrence in adalimumab arm compared to 61% recurrence in mercaptopurine arm at 12 mo, P = 0.17). Notably, patients in the post-operative thiopurine who were on thiopurines prior to resection had similar outcomes to those who were pre-operatively thiopurine naïve, suggesting that "failing" a thiopurine preoperatively is not necessarily a contraindication for post-operative thiopurine use.

Finally, at the 2016 European Crohns and Colitis Organization annual meeting, initial data from the Trial of Prevention of Post-operative Crohn's Disease was presented; the largest double-blind placebo-controlled trial to date, comparing mercaptopurine to placebo for up to 36 mo postoperatively in 240 patients. The primary endpoint, CDAI evidence of recurrence, was reached in 23.2% of the placebo arm compared to 12.5% of the mercaptopurine arm (adjusted P =0.073, unadjusted 0.046). Out to week 157, a higher proportion of mercaptopurine patients maintained endoscopic remission (Rutgeerts i0) than placebo (22.5% vs 12.5%, P = 0.041). In subset analysis, superiority of mercaptopurine over placebo was seen in smokers [hazard radio (HR) = 0.127, 95%CI: 0.04-0.46; number-needed-to-treat (NNT) = 3], but not in non-smokers.

Thiopurines appear to have a role in the prevention of recurrence of disease following intestinal resection. Consistently more effective than placebo, the utility of thiopurines when compared to mesalamine therapy is less clear, and may reflect a need to dose adjust according to serum thiopurine metabolite levels. The benefits of thiopurines use when compared to or in conjunction with anti-TNF would ideally be stratified in clinical practice according to the patient's risk of recurrence and prior management strategies.

THIOPURINES FOR INDUCTION OF REMISSION IN UC

While there are several randomized controlled studies regarding the efficacy of thiopurines in inducing remission in CD, there are considerably fewer high quality controlled studies in UC. The first controlled trials evaluating the effectiveness of thiopurines in UC were published in the 1970s^[38,39]. In a small study of 20 patients with active proctocolitis, azathioprine 2.5 mg/kg/d produced significant improvement in clinical symptoms, inflammatory markers, and endoscopic and biopsy findings, but was not superior to sulfasalazine over a 3 mo period^[38]. A similar study in 80 patients with flare of UC showed no benefit from the addition of azathioprine 2.5 mg/kg/d over 1 mo compared to a standard course of corticosteroids^[39].

In a study by Sood *et al*^[40], 83 patients with severe UC, steroid dependent on prednisone 1 mg/kg/d and sulfasalazine 6-8 g/d, were randomized to azathioprine or placebo with similar remission rates between azathioprine and placebo arms (68% and 64%, respectively). In a small trial on 34 patients with UC receiving prednisone for induction therapy, subjects randomized to additionally receive 1.5mg/kg/d of mercaptopurine were more likely to achieve steroid-free remission and a Mayo Clinic score less than 7 (78.6%) compared to patients randomized to additionally receive 3 g/d of 5-ASA (25%) over a 7.5 mo induction phase^[16].

In an investigator-blind study by Ardizzone *et al*^[41], 72 patients with steroid dependent, clinically and endoscopically active UC on prednisolone 40 mg/d were randomized to azathioprine 2 mg/kg/d or oral 5-ASA 3.2 g/d. At 6 mo, patients in the azathioprine group were more likely to experience corticosteroid-free, clinical and endoscopic remission compared to 5-ASA, both in intention-to-treat [odds ratio (OR), 4.78; 95%CI: 1.57-14.5] and per-protocol (OR = 5.26; 95%CI: 1.59-18.1) analysis^[41].

In a meta-analysis of thiopurine induction therapy for remission of UC, the efficacy rate was 73% (95%CI: 63%-83%) for azathioprine and 64% (95%CI: 53-75%) for placebo or 5-ASA with an insignificant OR, of 1.59 (95%CI: 0.59-4.29)^[42]. This efficacy rate decreased slightly to 65% (95%CI: 55-75%) based on large number of heterogeneous, open uncontrolled, and retrospective studies. Most of these studies, both controlled and uncontrolled, examined very small numbers of patients and differed significantly in study design, patient selection, classification of steroid dependence, thiopurine dosage, duration of induction, evaluation of response, follow up, and handling of concomitant treatments^[42-46].

More recently, thiopurines are being positioned as part of combination therapy with TNF- α antagonists as induction therapy. In the UC SUCCESS randomized, double-blind trial of 239 patients with moderate to

Saishideng® V

WJG | www.wjgnet.com

severe UC, 39.7% (31 of 78) of patients receiving infliximab 5 mg/kg intravenous at weeks 0, 2, 6, and 14 with azathioprine 2.5 mg/kg/d, achieved corticosteroid-free remission at 16 wk compared with 22.1% (17 of 77) of patients receiving infliximab alone (P = 0.017) and 23.7% (18 of 76) of patients receiving azathioprine alone (P = 0.032)^[47]. Rates of mucosal healing were also greater in patients exposed to combination therapy with infliximab and azathioprine compared to azathioprine monotherapy^[47].

In lieu of the above studies, there is not clear evidence for the use of thiopurine monotherapy in UC induction, however, there may be evidence for thiopurines in combination with other immunosuppressive agents to improve the likelihood of inducing remission.

THIOPURINES FOR MAINTENANCE OF REMISSION IN UC

In one of the first controlled trials of azathioprine for maintenance, Jewell *et al*^[39] (1974) followed 80 patients admitted for their first attack of UC, deriving no benefit from one-year maintenance with azathioprine 2.5 mg/kg/d^[39]. Though azathioprine therapy appeared to reduce the relapse rate in patients who presented with flare of established UC, data failed to reach statistical significance.

In 1992, Hawthorne *et al*^[48] examined the role of azathioprine in the maintenance of remission of UC in 67 patients and in 12 patients with active UC or corticosteroid dependence over the course of a year. Patients in remission and randomized to receive or continue azathioprine at a median dose of 100 mg/d had a relapse rate of 36% (12/33) compared with 59% (20/34) for patients given placebo (HR = 0.5; 95%CI: 0.25-1.0). After adjusting for sex, age, duration of remission and treatments prior to study entry, continued azathioprine therapy demonstrated a statistically significant benefit over withdrawal (HR = 0.43; 95%CI: 0.2-0.93)^[48]. For patients with active disease at randomization, there was no benefit from continued azathioprine therapy^[48].

In another study of 34 patients with UC, patients who achieved remission after induction with corticosteroids and maintained on mercaptopurine monotherapy for 76 wk were more likely to maintain remission (63.6%) compared to methotrexate (MTX) 15 mg/wk (14.3%) or 3 g/d of 5-ASA (0%)^[16]. In a small study of 45 patients with steroid-dependent UC, patients randomized to sulfasalazine 6-8 g/d, oral prednisolone 1 mg/kg/d, and azathioprine 2 mg/kg/d had fewer relapses of disease over one year compared to sulfasalazine 6-8 g/d and oral prednisolone 1 mg/kg/d as corticosteroids were tapered over 12-16 wk^[40].

In a similar study, 35 patients with newly diagnosed severe UC and randomized to sulfasalazine with azathioprine were significantly less likely to experience relapse of disease (4; 23.5%) compared to sulfasalazine with placebo (10; 55.6%) over one year^[49]. Moreover, maintenance of remission was significantly longer in patients given azathioprine with sulfasalazine compared to controls^[49]. However, in a follow up prospective, randomized, open-label study from the same institution on 25 patients with severe UC on oral corticosteroids tapers, no difference was detected in relapse rates between patients given azathioprine 2.5 mg/kg/d compared to sulfasalazine 6 g/d^[50].

There are several other observational, retrospective, and nonrandomized trials evaluating thiopurine therapy in UC maintenance therapy^[41,51-57]. Data from a meta-analysis demonstrated an overall mean efficacy of 65% (95%CI: 62%-67%), with a mean efficacy of 66% (95%CI: 59%-73%) for steroid-resistant patients and 71% (95%CI: 66%-77%) for steroid-dependent patients^[42]. In evaluating fairly homogenous controlled studies encompassing 124 patients, mean efficacy was 60% (95%CI: 51%-69%) for thiopurine therapy and 37% (95%CI: 28%-47%) for placebo and 5-ASA with an OR, of 2.56 (95%CI: 1.51-4.34) for maintaining remission^[42]. The authors also calculated an absolute risk reduction of 23% with a NNT with thiopurines of 5 to prevent one relapse of disease^[42].

According to a Cochrane analysis (2012) designed to assess failure to maintain clinical or endoscopic remission at 12 mo, based on 4 studies and 232 patients, there is low-quality evidence that azathioprine is superior to placebo for maintenance of remission in UC with a RR, of 0.68 (95%CI: 0.54-0.86)^[2]. However, given varied treatment schedules, there was not enough evidence to determine an effect by dose or with combining medications. In this analysis, this pooled risk ratio suggested a NNT with azathioprine of 5 to prevent one relapse of disease, with an attributable risk reduction of 21%^[2]. The authors of this analysis did not feel the existing data supported any meaningful evidence for thiopurines over 5-ASA agents or sulfasalazine, with an insignificant RR, of 1.52 (95%CI: 0.66-3.50)^[2].

Overall, there is a lack of high quality trials evaluating the use of thiopurine therapy in maintenance of remission in UC. Existing evidence does not support thiopurine use alone or in combination with standard 5-ASA as compared to standard maintenance with 5-ASA therapies alone for remission in UC. Thiopurines may, however, be useful in patients who cannot tolerate 5-ASA therapies or in patients who require repeated courses of corticosteroids to induce remission. Considerably more data is required to further evaluate the use of thiopurines for maintenance of remission in UC compared to standard maintenance therapy, particularly in the era of biologics.

THIOPURINES IN CHEMOPREVENTION

In patients with IBD, chronic intestinal inflammation is a major risk factor for the development of gastrointestinal malignancy. In a meta analysis, quantitative estimates of CRC risk in UC have been reported to be 2% after 10 years, 8% after 20 years, and 18% after 30 years of disease^[58]. More recent data (2015) has found a cumulative risk of advanced neoplasia in UC of 2%, 5.3% and 14.7% at 10, 20 and 30 years, respectively^[59]. In addition, numerous cohort studies on CRC in UC have noted a relationship between CRC risk with the extent of disease, with a standardized incidence ratio (SIR) of 1.7 for proctitis, 2.8 for left-sided colitis, and 14.8 for pancolitis^[60]. In a population-based cohort study, patients with CD were also shown to be at an increased risk of CRC, with a pooled SIR of 1.9 (95%CI: 1.4-2.5)^[61].

Although it has recently been suggested that the risk of CRC in IBD may be overestimated and more recent population-based studies in UC have demonstrated a decreasing risk of CRC over the past several decades, it is clear that colonic inflammation is a major risk factor for CRC^[62]. Based on this risk, many studies have the examined the potential chemopreventive benefits of medications that reduce inflammation in IBD, with thiopurines being the most reported in the literature. However, there is conflicting data regarding the chemoprophylaxis effects of thiopurines on the risk of dysplasia and CRC in IBD.

The first study to address this question was published in 1994 from a prospective registry of 755 patients with IBD from the St. Mark's Hospital, London^[63]. In this cohort, 15 patients with UC developed CRC with no significant modification by thiopurine exposure. In a larger study of 364 cases of CRC and 1172 matched controls, thiopurine use in the 12 mo preceding a diagnosis of CRC was not protective compared to unexposed controls (OR = 1.35, 95%CI: 0.92-1.98)^[64]. In another retrospective study on 315 patients from the Mount Sinai Hospital, New York, who underwent surveillance colonoscopy, 96 (30.5%) were exposed to thiopurines for an average duration of 7.4 years at an average dose of 60.6 ± 19.5 mg/d of mercaptopurine equivalents. There was no protective effect of thiopurine exposure on colorectal neoplasia with 16% of patients exposed to thiopurines and 18% of those unexposed progressing to any neoplasia (HR = 1.06, 95%CI: 0.59-1.93) with 5% of patients in each group developing advanced neoplasia (HR = 1.30, 95%CI: 0.45-3.75)^[65]. Similarly, in a study of 188 patients with UC-related colorectal cancer and matched controls, there was no association between thiopurine use and colorectal cancer (OR = 2.1, 95%CI: 0.7-7.2)^[66]. Several other studies have produced similar findings, confirming a lack of benefit for thiopurines in preventing CRC^[43,67-74].

More recent data, however, has suggested a potential role for thiopurines in chemoprevention. In a nationwide nested case-control study from a Dutch pathology database of 173 cases of IBD-related CRC and 393 matched IBD controls, patients treated with thiopurines were less often diagnosed with CRC compared with those never treated with thiopurines

with an OR, of 0.36 (95%CI: 0.16-0.36)^[75]. In a Dutch insurance-based cohort study of 2578 patients with IBD comprising 16289 person-years of follow-up, those who had used \geq 50 mg of thiopurines per day for at least 6 mo had a significantly decreased risk of developing advanced neoplasia (adjusted HR = 0.10, 95%CI: 0.01-0.75)^[76].

Further support for a protective effect of thiopurines was established using data from the ENEIDA registry (Estudio nacional en Enfermedad Inflamatoria Intestinal sobre determinantes genéticos y ambientales), a nationwide, hospital-based, prospectively maintained, Spanish database of incident and prevalent IBD patients^[59]. In this study of 831 patients with UC with 26 cases of CRC and 29 cases of high-grade dysplasia, use of thiopurines (OR = 0.21, 95%CI: 0.06-0.74, P = 0.015) and being in a surveillance colonoscopy program (OR = 0.33; 95%CI: 0.16-0.67; P = 0.002) were independent protective factors for advanced neoplasia^[59].

In a meta-analysis by Jess et al^[4] based on two population-based studies and 13 Clinic- and insurancebased studies, there was no significant overall protective effect of thiopurines on colorectal neoplasia in IBD (OR = 0.87, 95%CI: 0.71-1.06). There was, however, a tendency toward a protective effect of thiopurines in studies using both colorectal dysplasia and CRC as the outcome instead of CRC alone (OR = 0.72, 95%CI: 0.50-1.05). In this analysis, a meta-regression suggested a trend toward a protective effect of thiopurines in more recent studies, but was not statistically significant (meta-regression; P = 0.16). Another meta analysis, however, based on nine case-control and ten cohort studies demonstrated that the use of thiopurines was associated with a significant decreased incidence of colorectal neoplasm in IBD (RR = 0.71, 95%CI: 0.54-0.94), even after adjustment for duration and extent of the disease^[3].

Although the data is not overwhelmingly clear given the heterogeneity in the abovementioned trials, it is likely that there is some benefit to thiopurine therapy in reducing the risk of colitis-associated CRC in IBD. Future prospective studies would be useful to clarify if simply control of inflammation reduces the risk of CRC rather than a direct effect of thiopurines and the appropriate dosing and duration for maximizing a potential chemoprotective benefit.

THIOPURINE ADVERSE DRUG REACTIONS AND THE RISK OF INFECTION

It is well established that thiopurines are effective in treating IBD. This effectiveness, however, must be weighted against various adverse reactions with up to 60% of patients discontinuing thiopurine therapy during their disease course^[43,77-81]. Multiple studies have cited intolerable dose-dependent and idiosyncratic

adverse events, such as hepatotoxicity, myelosupression and pancreatitis as primary reasons for discontinuation. Adverse effects tended to occur within the first three months of thiopurine initiation and longer duration of use appears to be associated with a lower risk of discontinuation^[53,78,81]. In a Dutch cohort study of 363 patients over eight years of follow up, 32% experienced hepatotoxicity, 19% gastrointestinal effects, 12% myelosuppression, 11% pancreatitis, 11% fever, 9% general malaise, and 8% arthralgia^[78].

Given that thiopurines have broad suppressive effects on the immune system, benign and opportunistic infectious complications are a serious concern to both patients and providers. This risk is further compounded in patients who require multiple immunosuppressive agents such as corticosteroids and biologic therapy. Studies have demonstrated increased rates of viral, fungal, parasitic, bacterial, and mycobacterial infections in patients exposed to thiopurine therapy^[82,83].

Retrospective analyses of patients with IBD treated with thiopurines have showed rates of infection ranging from 7.4% to $14.1\%^{[82,83]}$. Viral infections are of particular concern with a predisposition to cytomegalovirus, varicella zoster virus and Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) infections as a result of thiopurine induced T lymphocyte apoptosis^[84-88]. In a study from the Mayo Clinic, thiopurine use increased the risk of an opportunistic infection by 2-3 fold (OR = 3.8, 95%CI: 2.0-7.0) and when combined with corticosteroids, greatly increased the risk (OR = 17.5, 95%CI: 4.5-68)^[87]. Moreover, data from the Crohn's Therapy, Resource, Evaluation, and Assessment Tool registry found that the concomitant use of infliximab did not increase the risk of serious infection compared to conventional immunomodulator therapy alone over 2 years of follow-up^[86].

Based on the above evidence, it is clear that the increased risk of serious infection associated with thiopurine use must be carefully balanced with the therapeutic benefits. This increased risk of infection requires appropriate prevention, prompt diagnosis, and effective treatment.

THIOPURINES AND THE RISK OF MALIGNANCY

In addition to the risk of infection, thiopurines also increase the risk of cancer. Thiopurines promote the development of cancer by a variety of mechanisms including direct alteration in DNA, activation of oncogenes, reduction in immunosurveillance of malignant cells, and impaired control of oncogenic viruses^[89-91]. Several population-based cohort and meta-analyses have demonstrated that current use of thiopurines for IBD is associated with a 1.3 to 1.7 overall relative risk of cancer^[71,92]. Specific cancers linked to long-standing thiopurine use in the setting of IBD include lymphomas, myeloid disorders, and skin cancers.

Multiple studies have demonstrated an increased

risk of Non-Hodgkin Lymphoma following thiopurine exposure, with standardized incidence ratios ranging from 1.6 to 37.5, with no excess risk attributed to IBD itself^[93-95]. The majority of lymphoma associated with thiopurine exposure is EBV-associated, resulting from the loss of immune control of EBV-infected B lymphocytes^[96]. More concerning, there are several cases in the literature of fatal post-mononucleosis lymphoma in young men who previously tested seronegative for EBV^[93]. Furthermore, Hepatosplenic T-cell Lymphoma, though extremely rare, is associated with thiopurine use in combination with TNF- α antagonists in adolescent and young males^[97]. Despite the increased risks, recent data suggest no differences of survival with lymphoma between patients with IBD and expected survival for the general population^[98].

In terms of myeloid disorders, in a study from the Cancers Et Surrisque Associé aux Maladies inflammatoires intestinales En France (CESAME) cohort, the risk of myeloproliferative disease was not increased among patients with IBD or ongoing thiopurine treatment (SIR = 1.54; 95%CI: 0.05-8.54)^[92]. However, patients with past exposure to thiopurines had an increased risk of myeloid disorders (SIR = 6.98; 95%CI: 1.44-20.36)^[92]. For skin cancers, there is considerable evidence that thiopurines increase the risk of basal cell and squamous cell carcinomas^[99-101]. In another study from the CESAME cohort, an increased risk of basal cell and squamous cell carcinomas was demonstrated in the patients with IBD and associated with ongoing thiopurine exposure (HR = 5.9; 95%CI: 2.1-16.4) and past thiopurine exposure (HR = 3.9; 95%CI: 1.3-12.1)^[101].

Although there is clear evidence for a risk of primary cancers associated with thiopurine use, several retrospective and prospective cohort studies have demonstrated no increased risk of new or recurrent cancer in patients with a history of cancer exposed to thiopurine therapy. Although data is limited, the CESAME group found that exposure to thiopurines did not increase the risk of new or recurrent cancer in patients with a history of cancer^[92]. In a study by the New York Crohn's and Colitis Organization, exposure to TNF- α antagonists, antimetabolites (thiopurines or methotrexate), or the combination of these agents, was not associated with an increased risk of new or recurrent cancer within 5 years following a diagnosis of cancer (Log-rank P = 0.14)^[102]. Furthermore, after adjusting for the risk of recurrence of prior cancer, there was still no difference in risk of new or recurrent cancer between exposure groups (anti-TNF- α HR = 0.32, 95%CI: 0.09-1.09; anti-TNF- α with an antimetabolite HR = 0.64, 95%CI: 0.26-1.59; antimetabolite HR = 1.08, 95%CI: $0.54-2.15)^{[102]}$.

THIOPURINE DRUG METABOLISM AND BLOOD LEVEL MONITORING

Over the last decade, research has demonstrated that





Figure 2 Metabolic pathway for azathioprine and mercaptopurine. AZA: Azathioprine; 6-MP: 6-mercaptopurine; 6-TU: Thiouric acid; 6-MMPP: 6-methylmercaptopurine; 6-TIMP: 6-thioinosine-monophosphate; 6-MMPR: Methyl-mercaptopurine ribonucleotide; 6-TGN: Thioguanine nucleotide; XO: Xanthine oxidase; TPMT: Thiopurine methyltransferase; HPRT: Hypoxanthine phosphoribosyl transferase; IMPDH: Inosine monophosphate dehydrogenase; GMPS: Guanosine monophosphate synthetase.

thiopurine efficacy is dependent upon a therapeutic blood value of 6-thioguanine nucleotide (6-TGN), the metabolic product of the parent drug^[18]. Azathioprine is metabolized into 6-mercaptopurine in the liver by a non-enzymatic pathway^[103]. After conversion into 6-mercaptopurine, different metabolic pathways compete, leading to the formation of 6-TGN by hypoxanthinephosphoribosyl transferase and 6-methylmercaptopurine by the TPMT enzymatic system (Figure 2). The therapeutic metabolite 6-TGN inserts itself into the DNA of leukocytes as a fraudulent base, thereby preventing T-cell proliferation, leading to subsequent immunosuppression^[104]. In addition, studies have also demonstrated that azathioprine and its metabolites induce T cell apoptosis by modulation of Ras-related C3 botulinum toxin substrate 1 (Rac1) activation^[105]. 6-methylmercaptopurine is associated with hepatotoxicity.

TPMT activity, ranging from the rare complete deficiency in 0.3% of adults to homozygous (normal) activity in 90% of adults, determines the breakdown to 6-methylmercaptopurine, the metabolic product causing hepatotoxicity. Prior to the assay for the presence of TPMT, the initial dose of mercaptopurine was 50 mg/d and then complete blood counts were followed with titration of the dose to the white blood count. With the advent of an assay for TPMT enzyme levels, it is now standard of care to measure its presence prior to initiation of therapy to identify patients at risk for toxicity. However, TPMT screening does not obviate the need for periodic hematologic monitoring.

Moreover, several studies have shown that 6-TGN levels greater than 235 pmol/8 \times 10⁸ red blood cells (RBCs) correlate with therapeutic efficacy^[54,104,106,107]. This level is not weight based and although it is recommended that 6-TGN levels are monitored, especially in nonresponsive patients, many gastroenterologists initiate weight based dosing followed by dose titration dictated by clinical factors and leukocyte count.

The concomitant use of 5-ASA increases 6-TGN levels, improving therapeutic potential, however, the combination of these medications may also lead to greater risk of toxicity, especially myelotoxicity^[108,109].

In patients with increased TPMT activity leading to high levels of 6-methylmercaptopurine and lower levels of 6-TGN, the addition of allopurinol has been shown to inhibit xanthine oxidase activity resulting in higher therapeutic 6-TGN levels and lower 6-methylmercaptopurine levels. In addition, allopurinol upregulates aldehyde oxidase and therefore 6-thioxanthine production, which then inhibits TPMT^[110]. Several studies have reproduced these findings and dual therapy with allopurinol can improve the therapeutic effect and decrease hepatotoxicity^[111,112]. Practically, the addition of 100 mg of allopurinol should lead to decreasing the thiopurine dose by 50% and complete blood counts must be followed closely for myelosuppression^[111,113].

More recently, several studies have examined the impact of low-dose weight-based azathioprine in combination with allopurinol in patients with normal TPMT activity. In a small prospective cohort, 69.6% patients with IBD randomized to low-dose azathioprine in combination with allopurinol 100mg were in clinical remission without the need for steroid or biologic treatment, and with less adverse events, at 24 wk compared to 34.7% of the patients treated with azathioprine monotherapy^[114]. In an uncontrolled, retrospective, observational cohort of patients treated with low-dose weight-based azathioprine in combination with allopurinol, 69% with CD and 61% with UC had a clinical response at a median of 19 mo with 52% and 54% in clinical remission, respectively, with the highest response rates for thiopurine-naïve patients^[115]. These studies suggest that low-dose weight-based azathioprine in combination with allopurinol may be effective therapeutic strategy.

In patients treated with 5-ASA or allopurinol with thiopurines, periodic therapeutic drug monitoring is necessary in order to minimize toxicity. In addition, in patients intolerant to thiopurines secondary to preferential 6-methylmercaptopurine metabolism, it is possible to achieve therapeutic 6-TGN levels while reducing 6-methylmercaptopurine levels by splitting the dose or changing to 6-TGN as primary therapy^[116].

COMBINATION THERAPY: THIOPURINES WITH TNF- α ANTAGONISTS

Studies have also demonstrated the importance of thiopurines in combination with anti-TNF therapies. In an ad hoc analysis of A Crohn's Disease Clinical Trial Evaluating Infliximab in a New Long-term Treatment Regimen (ACCENT I) trial, it was apparent that patients receiving concomitant immunomodulators had an improved remission and response rate at week 52^[117]. This was the first indicator that combination therapy was more effective than monotherapy, likely attributed to immunomodulators decreasing antibody response to infliximab. Subsequently, numerous studies have supported initial evidence that immunogenicity contributes to increased formation of antibodies to anti-TNF, leading to lower trough levels, and eventual loss of response^[118,119].

The effect of combination therapy in preventing antibody formation has been reproduced in various studies, including both the SONIC trial and UC SUC-CESS^[18,47]. Both of these trials compared infliximab or azathioprine monotherapy to combination therapy in patients naïve to both anti-TNF and thiopurine therapy. In both CD and UC, patients treated with combination therapy were more likely to achieve corticosteroid free remission, response, as well as mucosal healing, and there is now ample data to suggest that combination therapy is associated with higher anti-TNF trough levels^[120]. In UC SUCCESS, 19% of patients receiving infliximab monotherapy developed antibodies vs 3% in patients receiving combination therapy^[47]. However, sub-analysis of randomized control trials on anti-TNF use in patients who were not naïve to either an anti-TNF or thiopurine have failed to show an impact of combination therapy on clinical outcomes, despite less formation of antibodies. Similarly, Jones et al^[121] studied the effect of adalimumab monotherapy vs combination therapy in patients not naïve to both drugs, and the data failed to show a higher remission or response rate with combination therapy at 52 wk. Similarly, in employing combination therapy with adalimumab, only a modest improvement was noted in those receiving combination therapy, with less need for dose escalation in this sub-group^[122].

There have been various other trials examining the effect of combination therapy administered for 3, 6, or 9 mo with the suggestion that the initial combination decreases the long-term antibody formation thereby improving long-term clinical outcomes^[123,124]. All of the aforementioned trials incorporated weight based azathioprine or mercaptopurine dosage.

A recent study assessed the correlation between levels of 6-TGN with both infliximab trough and antibody levels to infliximab^[125]. Seventy-two patients who received combination maintenance therapy had levels of 6-TGN that significantly correlated with infliximab trough levels and antibody levels. Contrary to 6-TGN levels greater than 235 pmol/8 × 10⁸ RBCs, which is considered therapeutic under monotherapy, those treated with combination therapy only required a 6-TGN level of 125 pmol/8 × 10⁸ RBCs in order to decrease antibody formation and attain therapeutic levels of infliximab. This is the first study to suggest that prevention of antibodies to anti-TNF may require minimal doses of an immunomodulator, which theoretically may decrease long-term adverse effects.

Many observational trials have attempted to answer whether combination therapy is more effective than monotherapy. There are conflicting studies and henceforth, still some uncertainty as to whether and when to initiate thiopurines therapeutically as well as in preventing antibody formation. With the advent of more biologics and small molecules as therapy for IBD, thiopurines may be administered in smaller doses, and continue to play an integral role in maintaining therapeutic response.

EXPERIENCE OVERVIEW BY DRS. BURTON KORELITZ AND DANIEL PRESENT: INTERVIEWED BY DR. SIMON LICHTIGER

Induction of remission with thiopurines in CD can usually be achieved within 4 to 6 wk, with steroids serving as a bridge. For induction of remission in ulcerative colitis, although no randomized, placebo-controlled trial has confirmed their efficacy, we know well from our practice that thiopurines are effective and possibly work faster than in CD. For postoperative prevention, although our own studies did show statistical significance, the results are less robust than for anti-TNFs.

In lieu of enzyme testing or levels, we have always started patients on 50 mg per day of mercaptopurine and monitored the white blood cell count for leukopenia and the mean corpuscular volume for macrocytosis. Leukopenia would typically occur very quickly, so labs by week two would often detect these patients. Abnormalities in liver function are rare and we accept mildly elevated transaminases up to 200 with clinical efficacy. These laboratory values are also useful surrogates to assess medication compliance. For patients with mild side effects such as rash, fever, or arthralgia, we have found slow desensitization to be relatively simple and very effective starting with $1/8^{th}$ the dose of mercaptopurine followed by a slow escalation. However, in patients with pancreatitis, desensitization is rarely successful and not recommended.

In our experience, opportunistic infections are rare and more often found in patients on concomitant steroids. We also feel that solid malignancies, such as breast, lung, liver, pancreas, and kidney are not more common in those treated with thiopurines. We had not even heard of hepatosplenic T-cell lymphoma until the advent of biologics. Dr. Present always felt his practice

Table 1 Current evidence and dosing for thiopurines in inflammatory bowel disease

| Thiopurine indication | Evidence and azathioprine dose |
|--|--|
| Crohn's disease induction | Monotherapy, less robust evidence: 1.5-2.5 mg/kg/d ^[11-17] Combination therapy with infliximab, more robust evidence: 2.5 mg/kg/d ^[18,19] |
| Crohn's disease maintenance | Monotherapy, more robust evidence: 1.5-2.5 mg/kg/d ^[6,13,14,22-25] |
| Postoperative maintenance in Crohn's disease | Monotherapy, more robust evidence: 2-2.5 mg/kg/d ^[5,28-36] |
| Ulcerative colitis induction | Monotherapy, less robust evidence: 1.5-2.5 mg/kg/d ^[16,38-42] Combination therapy with infliximab, more robust evidence: 2.5 mg/kg/d ^[47] |
| Ulcerative colitis maintenance | Monotherapy, less robust evidence: 2-2.5 mg/kg/d ^[2,16,40,42,50] |
| Chemoprevention | Monotherapy, less robust evidence: dose not established ^[3,4,59,74-76] |
| Preventing immunogenicity to anti-TNF | Combination therapy with anti-TNF, less robust evidence: dose not established ^[47,117-125] |

TNF: Tumor necrosis factor.

did not demonstrate any increased risk of lymphoma with only 2 cases after more than 45 years of thiopurine use, but data demonstrates that lymphoma is statistically increased, albeit very rare.

CONCLUSION

Based on the above evidence and clinical experience overview by Drs. Korelitz and Present, thiopurines have demonstrated efficacy in a broad range of presentations of IBD (Table 1). Although extensive evidence for thiopurines has often been limited by trial methodology and design, over 50 years of clinical experience has demonstrated its efficacy and relative safety^[126,127]. With the advent of more efficacious novel therapeutic agents with a wide variety of immunologic targets, the positioning of thiopurines in the management of IBD will undoubtedly change. Future studies will analyze the benefit of thiopurines in conjunction with these new medications, both as an individual synergistic adjunct and as a preventive agent for the production of antibodies to biologics. Notwithstanding, it continues to be a useful therapeutic option as monotherapy and in combination with other medications for inducing and maintaining durable remission in IBD.

REFERENCES

- 1 **Brocteur J**, Moens C. Treatment of rheumatoid arthritis with immunosuppressive drugs. II. Immunological study. *Acta Rheumatol Scand* 1965; **11**: 221-230 [PMID: 5837147]
- Timmer A, McDonald JW, Tsoulis DJ, Macdonald JK. Azathioprine and 6-mercaptopurine for maintenance of remission in ulcerative colitis. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2012; (9): CD000478 [PMID: 22972046 DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD000478. pub3]
- 3 Gong J, Zhu L, Guo Z, Li Y, Zhu W, Li N, Li J. Use of thiopurines and risk of colorectal neoplasia in patients with inflammatory bowel diseases: a meta-analysis. *PLoS One* 2013; 8: e81487 [PMID: 24312308 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0081487]
- 4 Jess T, Lopez A, Andersson M, Beaugerie L, Peyrin-Biroulet L. Thiopurines and risk of colorectal neoplasia in patients with inflammatory bowel disease: a meta-analysis. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2014; 12: 1793-1800.e1 [PMID: 24907505 DOI: 10.1016/j. cgh.2014.05.019]
- 5 Gordon M, Taylor K, Akobeng AK, Thomas AG. Azathioprine and 6-mercaptopurine for maintenance of surgically-induced remission in Crohn's disease. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2014; 8:

CD010233 [PMID: 25081347 DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD010233. pub2]

- 6 Chande N, Patton PH, Tsoulis DJ, Thomas BS, MacDonald JK. Azathioprine or 6-mercaptopurine for maintenance of remission in Crohn's disease. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2015; 10: CD000067 [PMID: 26517527 DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD000067.pub3]
- 7 Bowen DG, Selby WS. Use of 6-mercaptopurine in patients with inflammatory bowel disease previously intolerant of azathioprine. *Dig Dis Sci* 2000; 45: 1810-1813 [PMID: 11052324]
- 8 Candy S, Wright J, Gerber M, Adams G, Gerig M, Goodman R. A controlled double blind study of azathioprine in the management of Crohn's disease. *Gut* 1995; 37: 674-678 [PMID: 8549944]
- 9 Markowitz J, Grancher K, Kohn N, Lesser M, Daum F. A multicenter trial of 6-mercaptopurine and prednisone in children with newly diagnosed Crohn's disease. *Gastroenterology* 2000; 119: 895-902 [PMID: 11040176]
- 10 Present DH, Korelitz BI, Wisch N, Glass JL, Sachar DB, Pasternack BS. Treatment of Crohn's disease with 6-mercaptopurine. A longterm, randomized, double-blind study. *N Engl J Med* 1980; 302: 981-987 [PMID: 6102739 DOI: 10.1056/NEJM198005013021801]
- 11 Klein M, Binder HJ, Mitchell M, Aaronson R, Spiro H. Treatment of Crohn's disease with azathioprine: a controlled evaluation. *Gastroenterology* 1974; 66: 916-922 [PMID: 4597093]
- 12 Rhodes J, Bainton D, Beck P, Campbell H. Controlled trial of azathioprine in Crohn's disease. *Lancet* 1971; 2: 1273-1276 [PMID: 4143532]
- 13 Summers RW, Switz DM, Sessions JT, Becktel JM, Best WR, Kern F, Singleton JW. National Cooperative Crohn's Disease Study: results of drug treatment. *Gastroenterology* 1979; 77: 847-869 [PMID: 38176]
- 14 Willoughby JM, Beckett J, Kumar PJ, Dawson AM. Controlled trial of azathioprine in Crohn's disease. *Lancet* 1971; 2: 944-947 [PMID: 4107900]
- 15 Oren R, Moshkowitz M, Odes S, Becker S, Keter D, Pomeranz I, Shirin H, Reisfeld I, Broide E, Lavy A, Fich A, Eliakim R, Patz J, Villa Y, Arber N, Gilat T. Methotrexate in chronic active Crohn's disease: a double-blind, randomized, Israeli multicenter trial. *Am J Gastroenterol* 1997; **92**: 2203-2209 [PMID: 9399753]
- 16 Maté-Jiménez J, Hermida C, Cantero-Perona J, Moreno-Otero R. 6-mercaptopurine or methotrexate added to prednisone induces and maintains remission in steroid-dependent inflammatory bowel disease. *Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2000; 12: 1227-1233 [PMID: 11111780]
- 17 Ardizzone S, Bollani S, Manzionna G, Imbesi V, Colombo E, Bianchi Porro G. Comparison between methotrexate and azathioprine in the treatment of chronic active Crohn's disease: a randomised, investigator-blind study. *Dig Liver Dis* 2003; 35: 619-627 [PMID: 14563183]
- 18 Colombel JF, Sandborn WJ, Reinisch W, Mantzaris GJ, Kornbluth A, Rachmilewitz D, Lichtiger S, D'Haens G, Diamond RH, Broussard DL, Tang KL, van der Woude CJ, Rutgeerts P. Infliximab, azathioprine, or combination therapy for Crohn's disease. N Engl J Med 2010; 362: 1383-1395 [PMID: 20393175 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa0904492]

- 19 Cosnes J, Bourrier A, Laharie D, Nahon S, Bouhnik Y, Carbonnel F, Allez M, Dupas JL, Reimund JM, Savoye G, Jouet P, Moreau J, Mary JY, Colombel JF. Early administration of azathioprine vs conventional management of Crohn's Disease: a randomized controlled trial. *Gastroenterology* 2013; 145: 758-765.e2; quiz e14-5 [PMID: 23644079 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2013.04.048]
- 20 Panés J, López-Sanromán A, Bermejo F, García-Sánchez V, Esteve M, Torres Y, Domènech E, Piqueras M, Gomez-García M, Gutiérrez A, Taxonera C, Sans M. Early azathioprine therapy is no more effective than placebo for newly diagnosed Crohn's disease. *Gastroenterology* 2013; 145: 766-774.e1 [PMID: 23770132 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2013.06.009]
- 21 Chande N, Tsoulis DJ, MacDonald JK. Azathioprine or 6-mercaptopurine for induction of remission in Crohn's disease. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2013; 4: CD000545 [PMID: 23633304 DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD000545.pub4]
- 22 Abreu MT, Peek RM. Gastrointestinal malignancy and the microbiome. *Gastroenterology* 2014; **146**: 1534-1546.e3 [PMID: 24406471 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2014.01.001]
- 23 Lazarev M, Ullman T, Schraut WH, Kip KE, Saul M, Regueiro M. Small bowel resection rates in Crohn's disease and the indication for surgery over time: experience from a large tertiary care center. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2010; 16: 830-835 [PMID: 19798731 DOI: 10.1002/ibd.21118]
- 24 Mantzaris GJ, Christidou A, Sfakianakis M, Roussos A, Koilakou S, Petraki K, Polyzou P. Azathioprine is superior to budesonide in achieving and maintaining mucosal healing and histologic remission in steroid-dependent Crohn's disease. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2009; 15: 375-382 [PMID: 19009634 DOI: 10.1002/ibd.20777]
- 25 Mantzaris GJ, Ployzou P, Karagiannidis A, Christidou A, Koilakou S, Tsounis D, Roussos A, Triantafyllou G, Karagiannis JA. A prospective, randomized trial of infliximab and azathioprine for the induction and maintenance of remisssion of steroiddependent Crohn's disease. *Gastroenterology* 2004; **126**: A54
- 26 Terdiman JP. Prevention of postoperative recurrence in Crohn' s disease. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2008; 6: 616-620 [PMID: 17967564 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2007.08.020]
- 27 Armuzzi A, Felice C, Papa A, Marzo M, Pugliese D, Andrisani G, Federico F, De Vitis I, Rapaccini GL, Guidi L. Prevention of postoperative recurrence with azathioprine or infliximab in patients with Crohn's disease: an open-label pilot study. *J Crohns Colitis* 2013; 7: e623-e629 [PMID: 23810678 DOI: 10.1016/j. crohns.2013.04.020]
- 28 Ardizzone S, Maconi G, Sampietro GM, Russo A, Radice E, Colombo E, Imbesi V, Molteni M, Danelli PG, Taschieri AM, Bianchi Porro G. Azathioprine and mesalamine for prevention of relapse after conservative surgery for Crohn's disease. *Gastroenterology* 2004; **127**: 730-740 [PMID: 15362028]
- 29 Hanauer SB, Korelitz BI, Rutgeerts P, Peppercorn MA, Thisted RA, Cohen RD, Present DH. Postoperative maintenance of Crohn's disease remission with 6-mercaptopurine, mesalamine, or placebo: a 2-year trial. *Gastroenterology* 2004; **127**: 723-729 [PMID: 15362027]
- 30 Herfarth H, Tjaden C, Lukas M, Obermeier F, Dilger K, Müller R, Schölmerich J. Adverse events in clinical trials with azathioprine and mesalamine for prevention of postoperative recurrence of Crohn's disease. *Gut* 2006; 55: 1525-1526 [PMID: 16966711]
- 31 Dilger K, Schaeffeler E, Lukas M, Strauch U, Herfarth H, Müller R, Schwab M. Monitoring of thiopurine methyltransferase activity in postsurgical patients with Crohn's disease during 1 year of treatment with azathioprine or mesalazine. *Ther Drug Monit* 2007; 29: 1-5 [PMID: 17304143 DOI: 10.1097/FTD.0b013e3180312b9a]
- 32 Angelberger S, Schaeffeler E, Teml A, Petritsch W, Shonova O, Lukas M, Bar-Meir S, Dilger K, Greinwald R, Mueller R, Stange EF, Herrlinger KR, Schwab M, Reinisch W. Mucosal improvement in patients with moderate to severe postoperative endoscopic recurrence of Crohn's disease and azathioprine metabolite levels. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2013; **19**: 590-598 [PMID: 23388543 DOI: 10.1097/MIB.0b013e31827eea8b]
- 33 Reinisch W, Panés J, Lémann M, Schreiber S, Feagan B, Schmidt S, Sturniolo GC, Mikhailova T, Alexeeva O, Sanna L, Haas T,

Korom S, Mayer H. A multicenter, randomized, double-blind trial of everolimus versus azathioprine and placebo to maintain steroidinduced remission in patients with moderate-to-severe active Crohn's disease. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2008; **103**: 2284-2292 [PMID: 18671816 DOI: 10.1111/j.1572-0241.2008.02024.x]

- 34 Savarino E, Bodini G, Dulbecco P, Assandri L, Bruzzone L, Mazza F, Frigo AC, Fazio V, Marabotto E, Savarino V. Adalimumab is more effective than azathioprine and mesalamine at preventing postoperative recurrence of Crohn's disease: a randomized controlled trial. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2013; 108: 1731-1742 [PMID: 24019080 DOI: 10.1038/ajg.2013.287]
- 35 D'Haens GR, Vermeire S, Van Assche G, Noman M, Aerden I, Van Olmen G, Rutgeerts P. Therapy of metronidazole with azathioprine to prevent postoperative recurrence of Crohn's disease: a controlled randomized trial. *Gastroenterology* 2008; 135: 1123-1129 [PMID: 18727929 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2008.07.010]
- 36 Regueiro M, Kip KE, Baidoo L, Swoger JM, Schraut W. Postoperative therapy with infliximab prevents long-term Crohn' s disease recurrence. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2014; 12: 1494-1502.e1 [PMID: 24440221 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2013.12.035]
- 37 De Cruz P, Kamm MA, Hamilton AL, Ritchie KJ, Krejany EO, Gorelik A, Liew D, Prideaux L, Lawrance IC, Andrews JM, Bampton PA, Jakobovits S, Florin TH, Gibson PR, Debinski H, Gearry RB, Macrae FA, Leong RW, Kronborg I, Radford-Smith G, Selby W, Johnston MJ, Woods R, Elliott PR, Bell SJ, Brown SJ, Connell WR, Desmond PV. Efficacy of thiopurines and adalimumab in preventing Crohn's disease recurrence in high-risk patients - a POCER study analysis. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2015; 42: 867-879 [PMID: 26314275 DOI: 10.1111/apt.13353]
- 38 Caprilli R, Carratù R, Babbini M. Double-blind comparison of the effectiveness of azathioprine and sulfasalazine in idiopathic proctocolitis. Preliminary report. *Am J Dig Dis* 1975; 20: 115-120 [PMID: 235835]
- 39 Jewell DP, Truelove SC. Azathioprine in ulcerative colitis: final report on controlled therapeutic trial. *Br Med J* 1974; 4: 627-630 [PMID: 4441827]
- 40 Sood A, Midha V, Sood N, Kaushal V. Role of azathioprine in severe ulcerative colitis: one-year, placebo-controlled, randomized trial. *Indian J Gastroenterol* 2000; 19: 14-16 [PMID: 10659481]
- 41 Ardizzone S, Maconi G, Russo A, Imbesi V, Colombo E, Bianchi Porro G. Randomised controlled trial of azathioprine and 5-aminosalicylic acid for treatment of steroid dependent ulcerative colitis. *Gut* 2006; 55: 47-53 [PMID: 15972298 DOI: 10.1136/gut.2005.068809]
- 42 Gisbert JP, Linares PM, McNicholl AG, Maté J, Gomollón F. Meta-analysis: the efficacy of azathioprine and mercaptopurine in ulcerative colitis. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2009; **30**: 126-137 [PMID: 19392869 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2036.2009.04023.x]
- 43 **Fraser AG**, Orchard TR, Jewell DP. The efficacy of azathioprine for the treatment of inflammatory bowel disease: a 30 year review. *Gut* 2002; **50**: 485-489 [PMID: 11889067]
- 44 Mantzaris GJ, Archavlis E, Kourtessas D, Amberiadis P, Triantafyllou G. Oral azathioprine for steroid refractory severe ulcerative colitis. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2001; 96: 2797-2798 [PMID: 11569720 DOI: 10.1111/j.1572-0241.2001.04144.x]
- 45 Sood A, Midha V, Sood N, Bansal M. Long term results of use of azathioprine in patients with ulcerative colitis in India. *World J Gastroenterol* 2006; 12: 7332-7336 [PMID: 17143951 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v12.i45.7332]
- 46 Ohno K, Masunaga Y, Ogawa R, Hashiguchi M, Ogata H. [A systematic review of the clinical effectiveness of azathioprine in patients with ulcerative colitis]. *Yakugaku Zasshi* 2004; 124: 555-560 [PMID: 15297725]
- 47 Panaccione R, Ghosh S, Middleton S, Márquez JR, Scott BB, Flint L, van Hoogstraten HJ, Chen AC, Zheng H, Danese S, Rutgeerts P. Combination therapy with infliximab and azathioprine is superior to monotherapy with either agent in ulcerative colitis. *Gastroenterology* 2014; 146: 392-400.e3 [PMID: 24512909 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2013.10.052]
- 48 **Hawthorne AB**, Logan RF, Hawkey CJ, Foster PN, Axon AT, Swarbrick ET, Scott BB, Lennard-Jones JE. Randomised controlled

trial of azathioprine withdrawal in ulcerative colitis. *BMJ* 1992; **305**: 20-22 [PMID: 1638191]

- 49 Sood A, Kaushal V, Midha V, Bhatia KL, Sood N, Malhotra V. The beneficial effect of azathioprine on maintenance of remission in severe ulcerative colitis. *J Gastroenterol* 2002; **37**: 270-274 [PMID: 11993510]
- 50 Sood A, Midha V, Sood N, Avasthi G. Azathioprine versus sulfasalazine in maintenance of remission in severe ulcerative colitis. *Indian J Gastroenterol* 2003; 22: 79-81 [PMID: 12839376]
- 51 Ardizzone S, Molteni P, Imbesi V, Bollani S, Bianchi Porro G. Azathioprine in steroid-resistant and steroid-dependent ulcerative colitis. *J Clin Gastroenterol* 1997; 25: 330-333 [PMID: 9412914]
- 52 Cassinotti A, Actis GC, Duca P, Massari A, Colombo E, Gai E, Annese V, D'Albasio G, Manes G, Travis S, Porro GB, Ardizzone S. Maintenance treatment with azathioprine in ulcerative colitis: outcome and predictive factors after drug withdrawal. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2009; **104**: 2760-2767 [PMID: 19623172 DOI: 10.1038/ajg.2009.410]
- 53 Chebli LA, Chaves LD, Pimentel FF, Guerra DM, Barros RM, Gaburri PD, Zanini A, Chebli JM. Azathioprine maintains longterm steroid-free remission through 3 years in patients with steroiddependent ulcerative colitis. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2010; 16: 613-619 [PMID: 19705415 DOI: 10.1002/ibd.21083]
- 54 Cuffari C, Dassopoulos T, Turnbough L, Thompson RE, Bayless TM. Thiopurine methyltransferase activity influences clinical response to azathioprine in inflammatory bowel disease. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2004; 2: 410-417 [PMID: 15118980]
- 55 Hibi T, Naganuma M, Kitahora T, Kinjyo F, Shimoyama T. Lowdose azathioprine is effective and safe for maintenance of remission in patients with ulcerative colitis. *J Gastroenterol* 2003; **38**: 740-746 [PMID: 14505127 DOI: 10.1007/s00535-003-1139-2]
- 56 Holtmann MH, Krummenauer F, Claas C, Kremeyer K, Lorenz D, Rainer O, Vogel I, Böcker U, Böhm S, Büning C, Duchmann R, Gerken G, Herfarth H, Lügering N, Kruis W, Reinshagen M, Schmidt J, Stallmach A, Stein J, Sturm A, Galle PR, Hommes DW, D'Haens G, Rutgeerts P, Neurath MF. Long-term effectiveness of azathioprine in IBD beyond 4 years: a European multicenter study in 1176 patients. *Dig Dis Sci* 2006; **51**: 1516-1524 [PMID: 16927148 DOI: 10.1007/s10620-005-9037-5]
- 57 Mantzaris GJ, Sfakianakis M, Archavlis E, Petraki K, Christidou A, Karagiannidis A, Triadaphyllou G. A prospective randomized observer-blind 2-year trial of azathioprine monotherapy versus azathioprine and olsalazine for the maintenance of remission of steroid-dependent ulcerative colitis. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2004; 99: 1122-1128 [PMID: 15180735 DOI: 10.1111/j.1572-0241. 2004.11481.x]
- 58 Eaden JA, Abrams KR, Mayberry JF. The risk of colorectal cancer in ulcerative colitis: a meta-analysis. *Gut* 2001; 48: 526-535 [PMID: 11247898]
- 59 Gordillo J, Cabré E, Garcia-Planella E, Ricart E, Ber-Nieto Y, Márquez L, Rodríguez-Moranta F, Ponferrada Á, Vera I, Gisbert JP, Barrio J, Esteve M, Merino O, Muñoz F, Domènech E. Thiopurine Therapy Reduces the Incidence of Colorectal Neoplasia in Patients with Ulcerative Colitis. Data from the ENEIDA Registry. *J Crohns Colitis* 2015; 9: 1063-1070 [PMID: 26351379 DOI: 10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjv145]
- 60 Ekbom A, Helmick C, Zack M, Adami HO. Ulcerative colitis and colorectal cancer. A population-based study. N Engl J Med 1990; 323: 1228-1233 [PMID: 2215606 DOI: 10.1056/ NEJM199011013231802]
- 61 Jess T, Gamborg M, Matzen P, Munkholm P, Sørensen TI. Increased risk of intestinal cancer in Crohn's disease: a metaanalysis of population-based cohort studies. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2005; **100**: 2724-2729 [PMID: 16393226 DOI: 10.1111/j.1572-0241.2005.00287.x]
- 62 Castaño-Milla C, Chaparro M, Gisbert JP. Systematic review with meta-analysis: the declining risk of colorectal cancer in ulcerative colitis. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2014; **39**: 645-659 [PMID: 24612141 DOI: 10.1111/apt.12651]
- 63 Connell WR, Kamm MA, Dickson M, Balkwill AM, Ritchie JK,

Lennard-Jones JE. Long-term neoplasia risk after azathioprine treatment in inflammatory bowel disease. *Lancet* 1994; **343**: 1249-1252 [PMID: 7910274]

- 64 Terdiman JP, Steinbuch M, Blumentals WA, Ullman TA, Rubin DT. 5-Aminosalicylic acid therapy and the risk of colorectal cancer among patients with inflammatory bowel disease. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2007; 13: 367-371 [PMID: 17206695 DOI: 10.1002/ibd.20074]
- 65 Matula S, Croog V, Itzkowitz S, Harpaz N, Bodian C, Hossain S, Ullman T. Chemoprevention of colorectal neoplasia in ulcerative colitis: the effect of 6-mercaptopurine. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2005; **3**: 1015-1021 [PMID: 16234048]
- 66 Velayos FS, Loftus EV, Jess T, Harmsen WS, Bida J, Zinsmeister AR, Tremaine WJ, Sandborn WJ. Predictive and protective factors associated with colorectal cancer in ulcerative colitis: A casecontrol study. *Gastroenterology* 2006; 130: 1941-1949 [PMID: 16762617 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2006.03.028]
- 67 Armstrong RG, West J, Card TR. Risk of cancer in inflammatory bowel disease treated with azathioprine: a UK population-based case-control study. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2010; **105**: 1604-1609 [PMID: 20104215 DOI: 10.1038/ajg.2009.745]
- 68 Beaugerie L, Svrcek M, Seksik P, Bouvier AM, Simon T, Allez M, Brixi H, Gornet JM, Altwegg R, Beau P, Duclos B, Bourreille A, Faivre J, Peyrin-Biroulet L, Fléjou JF, Carrat F. Risk of colorectal high-grade dysplasia and cancer in a prospective observational cohort of patients with inflammatory bowel disease. *Gastroenterology* 2013; **145**: 166-175.e8 [PMID: 23541909 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2013.03.044]
- 69 Gupta RB, Harpaz N, Itzkowitz S, Hossain S, Matula S, Kornbluth A, Bodian C, Ullman T. Histologic inflammation is a risk factor for progression to colorectal neoplasia in ulcerative colitis: a cohort study. *Gastroenterology* 2007; 133: 1099-1105; quiz 1340-1341 [PMID: 17919486 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2007.08.001]
- 70 Lashner BA, Provencher KS, Seidner DL, Knesebeck A, Brzezinski A. The effect of folic acid supplementation on the risk for cancer or dysplasia in ulcerative colitis. *Gastroenterology* 1997; 112: 29-32 [PMID: 8978339]
- 71 Pasternak B, Svanström H, Schmiegelow K, Jess T, Hviid A. Use of azathioprine and the risk of cancer in inflammatory bowel disease. *Am J Epidemiol* 2013; **177**: 1296-1305 [PMID: 23514635 DOI: 10.1093/aje/kws375]
- 72 Rutter M, Saunders B, Wilkinson K, Rumbles S, Schofield G, Kamm M, Williams C, Price A, Talbot I, Forbes A. Severity of inflammation is a risk factor for colorectal neoplasia in ulcerative colitis. *Gastroenterology* 2004; **126**: 451-459 [PMID: 14762782]
- 73 Siegel CA, Sands BE. Risk factors for colorectal cancer in Crohn's colitis: a case-control study. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2006; 12: 491-496 [PMID: 16775493]
- Satchi M, Korelitz BI, Panagopoulos G, Bratcher J, Yu C, Atallah-Vinograd J, Schneider J. Is treatment with 6-mercaptopurine for colitis associated with the development of colorectal cancer? *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2013; 19: 785-788 [PMID: 23392347 DOI: 10.1097/MIB.0b013e318289664c]
- 75 Baars JE, Looman CW, Steyerberg EW, Beukers R, Tan AC, Weusten BL, Kuipers EJ, van der Woude CJ. The risk of inflammatory bowel disease-related colorectal carcinoma is limited: results from a nationwide nested case-control study. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2011; 106: 319-328 [PMID: 21045815 DOI: 10.1038/ajg.2010.428]
- 76 van Schaik FD, van Oijen MG, Smeets HM, van der Heijden GJ, Siersema PD, Oldenburg B. Thiopurines prevent advanced colorectal neoplasia in patients with inflammatory bowel disease. *Gut* 2012; **61**: 235-240 [PMID: 21602529 DOI: 10.1136/gut. 2011.237412]
- 77 Dubinsky MC, Yang H, Hassard PV, Seidman EG, Kam LY, Abreu MT, Targan SR, Vasiliauskas EA. 6-MP metabolite profiles provide a biochemical explanation for 6-MP resistance in patients with inflammatory bowel disease. *Gastroenterology* 2002; **122**: 904-915 [PMID: 11910342]
- 78 Jharap B, Seinen ML, de Boer NK, van Ginkel JR, Linskens RK, Kneppelhout JC, Mulder CJ, van Bodegraven AA. Thiopurine



therapy in inflammatory bowel disease patients: analyses of two 8-year intercept cohorts. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2010; **16**: 1541-1549 [PMID: 20155846 DOI: 10.1002/ibd.21221]

- 79 Pearson DC, May GR, Fick GH, Sutherland LR. Azathioprine and 6-mercaptopurine in Crohn disease. A meta-analysis. *Ann Intern Med* 1995; 123: 132-142 [PMID: 7778826]
- 80 Sandborn W, Sutherland L, Pearson D, May G, Modigliani R, Prantera C. Azathioprine or 6-mercaptopurine for inducing remission of Crohn's disease. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2000; 2: CD000545 [PMID: 10796557 DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD000545]
- 81 Saibeni S, Virgilio T, D'Incà R, Spina L, Bortoli A, Paccagnella M, Peli M, Sablich R, Meucci G, Colombo E, Benedetti G, Girelli CM, Casella G, Grasso G, de Franchis R, Vecchi M. The use of thiopurines for the treatment of inflammatory bowel diseases in clinical practice. *Dig Liver Dis* 2008; **40**: 814-820 [PMID: 18479986 DOI: 10.1016/j.dld.2008.03.016]
- 82 Warman JI, Korelitz BI, Fleisher MR, Janardhanam R. Cumulative experience with short- and long-term toxicity to 6-mercaptopurine in the treatment of Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis. *J Clin Gastroenterol* 2003; 37: 220-225 [PMID: 12960720]
- 83 Present DH, Meltzer SJ, Krumholz MP, Wolke A, Korelitz BI. 6-Mercaptopurine in the management of inflammatory bowel disease: short- and long-term toxicity. *Ann Intern Med* 1989; 111: 641-649 [PMID: 2802419]
- 84 Hutfless SM, Weng X, Liu L, Allison J, Herrinton LJ. Mortality by medication use among patients with inflammatory bowel disease, 1996-2003. *Gastroenterology* 2007; 133: 1779-1786 [PMID: 18054550 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2007.09.022]
- 85 Lichtenstein GR, Feagan BG, Cohen RD, Salzberg BA, Diamond RH, Chen DM, Pritchard ML, Sandborn WJ. Serious infections and mortality in association with therapies for Crohn's disease: TREAT registry. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2006; 4: 621-630 [PMID: 16678077 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2006.03.002]
- 86 Lichtenstein GR, Feagan BG, Cohen RD, Salzberg BA, Diamond RH, Price S, Langholff W, Londhe A, Sandborn WJ. Serious infection and mortality in patients with Crohn's disease: more than 5 years of follow-up in the TREAT[™] registry. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2012; **107**: 1409-1422 [PMID: 22890223 DOI: 10.1038/ajg.2012.218]
- 87 Toruner M, Loftus EV, Harmsen WS, Zinsmeister AR, Orenstein R, Sandborn WJ, Colombel JF, Egan LJ. Risk factors for opportunistic infections in patients with inflammatory bowel disease. *Gastroenterology* 2008; 134: 929-936 [PMID: 18294633 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2008.01.012]
- 88 Viget N, Vernier-Massouille G, Salmon-Ceron D, Yazdanpanah Y, Colombel JF. Opportunistic infections in patients with inflammatory bowel disease: prevention and diagnosis. *Gut* 2008; 57: 549-558 [PMID: 18178610 DOI: 10.1136/gut.2006.114660]
- 89 Münz C, Moormann A. Immune escape by Epstein-Barr virus associated malignancies. *Semin Cancer Biol* 2008; 18: 381-387 [PMID: 18996483 DOI: 10.1016/j.semcancer.2008.10.002]
- 90 O'Donovan P, Perrett CM, Zhang X, Montaner B, Xu YZ, Harwood CA, McGregor JM, Walker SL, Hanaoka F, Karran P. Azathioprine and UVA light generate mutagenic oxidative DNA damage. *Science* 2005; **309**: 1871-1874 [PMID: 16166520 DOI: 10.1126/science.1114233]
- 91 Zitvogel L, Tesniere A, Kroemer G. Cancer despite immunosurveillance: immunoselection and immunosubversion. *Nat Rev Immunol* 2006; 6: 715-727 [PMID: 16977338 DOI: 10.1038/nri1936]
- 92 Beaugerie L, Carrat F, Colombel JF, Bouvier AM, Sokol H, Babouri A, Carbonnel F, Laharie D, Faucheron JL, Simon T, de Gramont A, Peyrin-Biroulet L. Risk of new or recurrent cancer under immunosuppressive therapy in patients with IBD and previous cancer. *Gut* 2014; 63: 1416-1423 [PMID: 24162591 DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2013-305763]
- 93 Beaugerie L, Brousse N, Bouvier AM, Colombel JF, Lémann M, Cosnes J, Hébuterne X, Cortot A, Bouhnik Y, Gendre JP, Simon T, Maynadié M, Hermine O, Faivre J, Carrat F. Lymphoproliferative disorders in patients receiving thiopurines for inflammatory bowel disease: a prospective observational cohort

study. *Lancet* 2009; **374**: 1617-1625 [PMID: 19837455 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(09)61302-7]

- 94 Korelitz BI, Mirsky FJ, Fleisher MR, Warman JI, Wisch N, Gleim GW. Malignant neoplasms subsequent to treatment of inflammatory bowel disease with 6-mercaptopurine. *Am J Gastroenterol* 1999; 94: 3248-3253 [PMID: 10566724 DOI: 10.1111/j.1572-0241.1999.01530.x]
- 95 Lewis JD, Bilker WB, Brensinger C, Deren JJ, Vaughn DJ, Strom BL. Inflammatory bowel disease is not associated with an increased risk of lymphoma. *Gastroenterology* 2001; 121: 1080-1087 [PMID: 11677199]
- 96 Pietersma F, Piriou E, van Baarle D. Immune surveillance of EBVinfected B cells and the development of non-Hodgkin lymphomas in immunocompromised patients. *Leuk Lymphoma* 2008; 49: 1028-1041 [PMID: 18452077 DOI: 10.1080/10428190801911662]
- 97 Kotlyar DS, Osterman MT, Diamond RH, Porter D, Blonski WC, Wasik M, Sampat S, Mendizabal M, Lin MV, Lichtenstein GR. A systematic review of factors that contribute to hepatosplenic T-cell lymphoma in patients with inflammatory bowel disease. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2011; 9: 36-41.e1 [PMID: 20888436 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2010.09.016]
- 98 Sultan K, Korelitz BI, Present D, Katz S, Sunday S, Shapira I. Prognosis of lymphoma in patients following treatment with 6-mercaptopurine/azathioprine for inflammatory bowel disease. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2012; 18: 1855-1858 [PMID: 22241664 DOI: 10.1002/ibd.22866]
- 99 Long MD, Herfarth HH, Pipkin CA, Porter CQ, Sandler RS, Kappelman MD. Increased risk for non-melanoma skin cancer in patients with inflammatory bowel disease. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2010; 8: 268-274 [PMID: 20005977 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2009.11.024]
- 100 Long MD, Martin CF, Pipkin CA, Herfarth HH, Sandler RS, Kappelman MD. Risk of melanoma and nonmelanoma skin cancer among patients with inflammatory bowel disease. *Gastroenterology* 2012; **143**: 390-399.e1 [PMID: 22584081 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2012.05.004]
- 101 Peyrin-Biroulet L, Khosrotehrani K, Carrat F, Bouvier AM, Chevaux JB, Simon T, Carbonnel F, Colombel JF, Dupas JL, Godeberge P, Hugot JP, Lémann M, Nahon S, Sabaté JM, Tucat G, Beaugerie L. Increased risk for nonmelanoma skin cancers in patients who receive thiopurines for inflammatory bowel disease. *Gastroenterology* 2011; **141**: 1621-1628.e1-5 [PMID: 21708105 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2011.06.050]
- 102 Axelrad J, Bernheim O, Colombel JF, Malerba S, Ananthakrishnan A, Yajnik V, Hoffman G, Agrawal M, Lukin D, Desai A, McEachern E, Bosworth B, Scherl E, Reyes A, Zaidi H, Mudireddy P, DiCaprio D, Sultan K, Korelitz B, Wang E, Williams R, Chen L, Katz S, Itzkowitz S. Risk of New or Recurrent Cancer in Patients With Inflammatory Bowel Disease and Previous Cancer Exposed to Immunosuppressive and Anti-Tumor Necrosis Factor Agents. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2016; 14: 58-64 [PMID: 26247164 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2015.07.037]
- 103 Derijks LJ, Gilissen LP, Hooymans PM, Hommes DW. Review article: thiopurines in inflammatory bowel disease. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2006; 24: 715-729 [PMID: 16918876 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2036.2006.02980.x]
- 104 Dubinsky MC, Lamothe S, Yang HY, Targan SR, Sinnett D, Théorêt Y, Seidman EG. Pharmacogenomics and metabolite measurement for 6-mercaptopurine therapy in inflammatory bowel disease. *Gastroenterology* 2000; 118: 705-713 [PMID: 10734022]
- 105 Tiede I, Fritz G, Strand S, Poppe D, Dvorsky R, Strand D, Lehr HA, Wirtz S, Becker C, Atreya R, Mudter J, Hildner K, Bartsch B, Holtmann M, Blumberg R, Walczak H, Iven H, Galle PR, Ahmadian MR, Neurath MF. CD28-dependent Rac1 activation is the molecular target of azathioprine in primary human CD4+ T lymphocytes. J Clin Invest 2003; 111: 1133-1145 [PMID: 12697733 DOI: 10.1172/JCI16432]
- 106 Cuffari C, Hunt S, Bayless T. Utilisation of erythrocyte 6-thioguanine metabolite levels to optimise azathioprine therapy in patients with inflammatory bowel disease. *Gut* 2001; 48: 642-646

[PMID: 11302961]

- 107 Morales A, Salguti S, Miao CL, Lewis JD. Relationship between 6-mercaptopurine dose and 6-thioguanine nucleotide levels in patients with inflammatory bowel disease. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2007; **13**: 380-385 [PMID: 17206711 DOI: 10.1002/ibd.20028]
- 108 Gao X, Zhang FB, Ding L, Liu H, Wang XD, Chen BL, Bi HC, Xiao YL, Zhao LZ, Chen MH, Huang M, Hu PJ. The potential influence of 5-aminosalicylic acid on the induction of myelotoxicity during thiopurine therapy in inflammatory bowel disease patients. *Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2012; 24: 958-964 [PMID: 22664938 DOI: 10.1097/MEG.0b013e3283545ae3]
- Hande S, Wilson-Rich N, Bousvaros A, Zholudev A, Maurer R, Banks P, Makrauer F, Reddy S, Burakoff R, Friedman S. 5-aminosalicylate therapy is associated with higher 6-thioguanine levels in adults and children with inflammatory bowel disease in remission on 6-mercaptopurine or azathioprine. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2006; 12: 251-257 [PMID: 16633046 DOI: 10.1097/01. MIB.0000206544.05661.9f]
- 110 Blaker PA, Arenas-Hernandez M, Smith MA, Shobowale-Bakre EA, Fairbanks L, Irving PM, Sanderson JD, Marinaki AM. Mechanism of allopurinol induced TPMT inhibition. *Biochem Pharmacol* 2013; 86: 539-547 [PMID: 23770457 DOI: 10.1016/j.bcp.2013.06.002]
- 111 Sparrow MP, Hande SA, Friedman S, Lim WC, Reddy SI, Cao D, Hanauer SB. Allopurinol safely and effectively optimizes tioguanine metabolites in inflammatory bowel disease patients not responding to azathioprine and mercaptopurine. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2005; 22: 441-446 [PMID: 16128682 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2036.2005.02583.x]
- 112 Ansari A, Patel N, Sanderson J, O'Donohue J, Duley JA, Florin TH. Low-dose azathioprine or mercaptopurine in combination with allopurinol can bypass many adverse drug reactions in patients with inflammatory bowel disease. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2010; **31**: 640-647 [PMID: 20015102 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2036.2009.04221.x]
- 113 **Sparrow MP**. Use of allopurinol to optimize thiopurine immunomodulator efficacy in inflammatory bowel disease. *Gastroenterol Hepatol* (N Y) 2008; **4**: 505-511 [PMID: 21960930]
- 114 Kiszka-Kanowitz M, Theede K, Mertz-Nielsen A. Randomized clinical trial: a pilot study comparing efficacy of low-dose azathioprine and allopurinol to azathioprine on clinical outcomes in inflammatory bowel disease. *Scand J Gastroenterol* 2016; **51**: 1470-1475 [PMID: 27686002 DOI: 10.1080/00365521.2016. 1216589]
- 115 Pavlidis P, Stamoulos P, Abdulrehman A, Kerr P, Bull C, Duley J, Ansari A. Long-term Safety and Efficacy of Low-dose Azathioprine and Allopurinol Cotherapy in Inflammatory Bowel Disease: A Large Observational Study. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2016; 22: 1639-1646 [PMID: 27271488 DOI: 10.1097/MIB.00000000000827]
- 116 Shih DQ, Nguyen M, Zheng L, Ibanez P, Mei L, Kwan LY, Bradford K, Ting C, Targan SR, Vasiliauskas EA. Split-dose administration of thiopurine drugs: a novel and effective strategy for managing preferential 6-MMP metabolism. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2012; **36**: 449-458 [PMID: 22784257 DOI: 10.1111/ j.1365-2036.2012.05206.x]
- 117 Hanauer SB, Feagan BG, Lichtenstein GR, Mayer LF, Schreiber S, Colombel JF, Rachmilewitz D, Wolf DC, Olson A, Bao W, Rutgeerts P. Maintenance infliximab for Crohn's disease: the ACCENT I randomised trial. *Lancet* 2002; **359**: 1541-1549 [PMID:

12047962 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(02)08512-4]

- 118 Vande Casteele N, Gils A, Singh S, Ohrmund L, Hauenstein S, Rutgeerts P, Vermeire S. Antibody response to infliximab and its impact on pharmacokinetics can be transient. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2013; **108**: 962-971 [PMID: 23419382 DOI: 10.1038/ajg.2013.12]
- 119 Vande Casteele N, Khanna R, Levesque BG, Stitt L, Zou GY, Singh S, Lockton S, Hauenstein S, Ohrmund L, Greenberg GR, Rutgeerts PJ, Gils A, Sandborn WJ, Vermeire S, Feagan BG. The relationship between infliximab concentrations, antibodies to infliximab and disease activity in Crohn's disease. *Gut* 2015; 64: 1539-1545 [PMID: 25336114 DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2014-307883]
- 120 Vermeire S, Noman M, Van Assche G, Baert F, D'Haens G, Rutgeerts P. Effectiveness of concomitant immunosuppressive therapy in suppressing the formation of antibodies to infliximab in Crohn's disease. *Gut* 2007; 56: 1226-1231 [PMID: 17229796 DOI: 10.1136/gut.2006.099978]
- 121 Jones JL, Kaplan GG, Peyrin-Biroulet L, Baidoo L, Devlin S, Melmed GY, Tanyingoh D, Raffals L, Irving P, Kozuch P, Sparrow M, Velayos F, Bressler B, Cheifetz A, Colombel JF, Siegel CA. Effects of Concomitant Immunomodulator Therapy on Efficacy and Safety of Anti-Tumor Necrosis Factor Therapy for Crohn' s Disease: A Meta-analysis of Placebo-controlled Trials. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2015; 13: 2233-2240.e1-2; quiz e177-178 [PMID: 26142167 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2015.06.034]
- 122 Reenaers C, Louis E, Belaiche J, Seidel L, Keshav S, Travis S. Does co-treatment with immunosuppressors improve outcome in patients with Crohn's disease treated with adalimumab? *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2012; **36**: 1040-1048 [PMID: 23061650 DOI: 10.1111/apt.12076]
- 123 Drobne D, Bossuyt P, Breynaert C, Cattaert T, Vande Casteele N, Compernolle G, Jürgens M, Ferrante M, Ballet V, Wollants WJ, Cleynen I, Van Steen K, Gils A, Rutgeerts P, Vermeire S, Van Assche G. Withdrawal of immunomodulators after co-treatment does not reduce trough level of infliximab in patients with Crohn's disease. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2015; 13: 514-521.e4 [PMID: 25066841 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2014.07.027]
- 124 Filippi J, Laharie D, Michiels C, Flamand M, Bouguen G, Nancey S, Presles E, Paul S, Schneider S, Hébuterne X, Roblin X. Efficacy of sustained combination therapy for at least 6 months with thiopurines and infliximab in patients with ulcerative colitis in clinical remission: a retrospective multicenter French experience. J Crohns Colitis 2015; 9: 252-258 [PMID: 25588386 DOI: 10.1093/ ecco-jcc/jjv001]
- 125 Yarur AJ, Kubiliun MJ, Czul F, Sussman DA, Quintero MA, Jain A, Drake KA, Hauenstein SI, Lockton S, Deshpande AR, Barkin JS, Singh S, Abreu MT. Concentrations of 6-thioguanine nucleotide correlate with trough levels of infliximab in patients with inflammatory bowel disease on combination therapy. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2015; 13: 1118-1124.e3 [PMID: 25562796 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2014.12.026]
- 126 Korelitz BI. Expert opinion: experience with 6-mercaptopurine in the treatment of inflammatory bowel disease. World J Gastroenterol 2013; 19: 2979-2984 [PMID: 23716977 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v19.i20.2979]
- 127 Korelitz BI, Present DH. 6-Mercaptopurine/Azathioprine remains an important contributor in managing Crohn's disease. *J Crohns Colitis* 2014; 8: 735-738 [PMID: 24462321 DOI: 10.1016/j.crohns.2013.12.024]

P- Reviewer: Coulthard SA, Lakatos PL, Tuncbilek M S- Editor: Yu J L- Editor: A E- Editor: Liu WX





WJG | www.wjgnet.com



Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/ Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v22.i46.10118 World J Gastroenterol 2016 December 14; 22(46): 10118-10123 ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online) © 2016 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

MINIREVIEWS

Role of *dupA* in virulence of *Helicobacter pylori*

Amin Talebi Bezmin Abadi, Guillermo Perez-Perez

Amin Talebi Bezmin Abadi, Department of Bacteriology, Faculty of Medical Sciences, Tarbiat Modares University, Tehran 14115-111, Iran

Guillermo Perez-Perez, Departments of Medicine and Microbiology, New York University School of Medicine and VA Medical Center, New York, NY 10010, United States

Author contributions: Talebi Bezmin Abadi A and Perez-Perez G prepared the first draft and finalized it for publication.

Conflict-of-interest statement: Authors declare no conflict of interests for this article.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons. org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Manuscript source: Invited manuscript

Correspondence to: Amin Talebi Bezmin Abadi, PhD, Assistant Professor, Department of Bacteriology, Faculty of Medical Sciences, Tarbiat Modares University, Tehran 14115-111, Iran. amin.talebi@modares.ac.ir Telephone: +98-21-82884883 Fax: +98-21-82884883

Received: August 23, 2016 Peer-review started: August 24, 2016 First decision: September 12, 2016 Revised: September 27, 2016 Accepted: November 14, 2016 Article in press: November 16, 2016 Published online: December 14, 2016

Abstract

Helicobacter pylori (H. pylori) is a gastric human pathogen associated with acute and chronic gastritis, 70% of all

gastric ulcers, 85% of all duodenal ulcers, and both forms of stomach cancer, mucosal-associated lymphoid tissue (MALT) lymphoma and adenocarcinoma. Recently, attention has focused on possible relationship between presence of certain virulence factor and H. pylori-associated diseases. Some contradictory data between this bacterium and related disorders has been observed since not all the colonized individuals develop to severe disease. The reported diseases plausibility related to H. pylori specific virulence factors became an interesting story about this organism. Although a number of putative virulence factors have been identified including cytotoxin-associated gene a (*caqA*) and *vacA*, there are conflicting data about their actual participation as specific risk factor for H. pylori-related diseases. Duodenal ulcer promoting gene a (dupA) is a virulence factor of H. pylori that is highly associated with duodenal ulcer development and reduced risk of gastric cancer. The prevalence of dupA in H. pylori strains isolated from western countries is relatively higher than in *H. pylori* strains from Asian countries. Current confusing epidemiological reports will continue unless future sophisticated and molecular studies provide data on functional and complete *dupA* cluster in *H. pylori* infected individuals. This paper elucidates available knowledge concerning role of *dupA* in virulence of *H. pylori* after a decade of its discovery.

Key words: *Helicobacter pylori*; *dupA*; Bacterial virulence; Infection; Clinical outcome

© **The Author(s) 2016.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core tip: *Helicobacter pylori* (*H. pylori*) is one of the most common bacterial infections worldwide. Ten years ago, *virB4* homologue was identified as a new virulence factor, *dupA* "duodenal ulcer promoting gene A" by Lu and her colleagues. Nowadays, new genetical analysis using available sequences can help scientists to draw a better conclusion about *dupA* and its actual role in pathogenesis of *H. pylori*-related diseases. In this paper, we aim to draw a new shaped overview regarding *H. pylori* and its virulence factors with emphasis of *dupA*.



Talebi Bezmin Abadi A, Perez-Perez G. Role of *dupA* in virulence of *Helicobacter pylori*. *World J Gastroenterol* 2016; 22(46): 10118-10123 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v22/i46/10118.htm DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v22.i46.10118

INTRODUCTION

Due to the difficulty in diagnosis and fastidious condition of an optimal growth, Helicobacter pylori (H. pylori) was an unculturable and thus forgotten microorganism for many years^[1]. Following the clinical and histological observations in gastritis and duodenal ulcer patients, Marshall and Warren were able to isolate and characterize this bacterium around thirty-three years ago^[1,2]. New era had been started after this groundbreaking discovery and revealed as a publication in Lancet written by those Australian scientists^[1]. As most of other human bacteria, H. pylori is mainly acquired during childhood and persists for the whole life of the colonized individual if not treated efficiently^[3]. From bacteriologic point of view, H. pylori is a rod-shaped, microaerophilic Gram-negative organism which colonizing more than half of the world population^[4]. Bacterial colonization induces acute inflammation in the gastric mucosa, a clinical manifestation which can be followed by diverse gastroduodenal disorders, but noted that only a minority of infected individuals develop severe diseases include duodenal ulcer and gastric cancer^[4-8]. Many virulence-associated genes of H. pylori, including outer inflammatory protein a (OipA), vacuolating cytotoxin gene a (vacA), cytotoxin-associated gene a (cagA) and blood-group antigen-binding adhesion (babA2) are believed to have a critical role in determining the final clinical manifestation of the infection^[9,10]. Therefore, various studies have conducted to discover better insights into the role of these proposed virulence factors in pathogenesis of digestive diseases^[11-14]. None of the mentioned virulence factors have distinguished as discriminating factor in the development of peptic ulcer disease and gastric cancer. The main rationale for different diseases outcome observed among colonized individuals is still under debate, though scientists proposed different array of virulence biomarkers in this bacterium as regular answer to this guestion. In this paper, we aim to open a new window for defining a better description of a specific H. pylori virulence factor duodenal ulcer promoting gene a (dupA) based on current available knowledge.

VIRULENCE OF H. PYLORI

The definition of a virulence factor is referring to the ability of a bacterium to induce and develop a disease with a spectrum of severity^[15]. Strains possessing these virulence factors are isolated more frequently from patients with the more serious clinical manifestations.

It is logic to consider that for increase the chance of survival within harsh gastric condition H. pylori needs such smart strategies to keep the colonization. However, virulence factors can induce more cell damage with infiltrate immune cells to the location and thus inflammation will be the high priority event in epithelial cells^[3]. Due to the chronic characteristic of *H. pylori* infection, scientists should expect to have particular definition of virulence factors for this bacterium. Virulence factors of *H. pylori* play an inevitable role in the development of gastroduodenal diseases through mucosal inflammation^[10]. Basically, the criteria for being a virulence factor are (1) biologic rationale; (2) epidemiologic consistency; and (3) enough evidences for being linked with certain disease^[15,16]. In order to define a virulence factor for each bacterium, it should pass many in vivo and in vitro experiments^[17-20]. However, it is worthwhile to emphasize that only a limited number of proposed virulence factors had been successfully confirmed for *H. pylori*^[17-19]. It had been well-documented that all H. pylori strains have several virulence factors such as flagella and urease enzyme since they have a critical role in bacterial colonization^[4]. Urease enzyme (as cytoplasmic protein) is necessary to establish primary bacterial colonization in the gastric mucosa. H. pylori flagella provide sufficient ability to quickly penetrate the gastric mucosa layer to avoid exposure with harsh acid condition in the stomach^[4]. In addition, some adhesines such as *babA*₂, *iceA*₁ and Sialic acid-binding adhesin (sabA) are mostly present in H. pylori strains, and these factors help the bacterium to attach properly to the epithelial cells and serve as a unique virulence factor^[9,21]. Clinically, gastric cancer and duodenal ulcer are standing in quite opposite sides of *H. pylori*-related disease spectrum. It brings a big query in the mind about disease plausibility which only can be explained with existence of diverse, but, specific virulence factors in this microorganism.

cagA

cagA is located at the end of the cag pathogenicity island (PAI), which is a 39-kb region transferred horizontally from an unknown bacterial source. The "pathogenicity islands" include cagA encode proteins contributing in signal transduction cascades that result in cytoskeletal rearrangement via actin polymerization and host cell protein phosphorylation^[4]. Virulent strains of H. pylori possess the caqPAI. Many of H. pylori strains from patients with peptic ulcer or gastric cancer carry cagA, whereas many of those strains from asymptomatically infected persons lack this gene^[4]. Currently, we identify two major types of H. pylori isolates: cagA gene-negative and cagA gene-positive strains. Counting a virulence factor for cagA needs another classification which is based on polymorphism in Glu-Pro-Ile-Tyr-Ala (EPIYA) motifs^[4]. In cagA positive strains, there is a region contains the EPIYA motifs, which contains a tyrosine phosphorylation site^[4]. Brief-

WJG www.wjgnet.com

ly, two major types (Western and Eastern *cagA*) were determined according to this polymorphism. Though, we need more biologic rationale to be consistent with clinical evidences to present better information on how to interoperate this classic virulence factor in *H. pylori*.

vacA

To now, *vacA* is the second most extensively investigated virulence factor of *H. pylori*. Virtually all *H. pylori* strains have a functional *vacA* gene which codes for the secreted pore-forming protein *vacA*^[22]. The main difference in bacteria carrying *vacA* is expression levels and disease severity which are associated with sequence variation in different domains of secreted protein^[4]. There is a big gap on our knowledge regarding biologic function of this protein since still many contradictory findings are exist^[23-26]. So we need more investigation to determine how to count on *vacA* as useful *H. pylori* virulence factor.

dupA

As first time, in 2005, it has been described that a new virulence factor which was located in the plasticity region of the H. pylori genome. PR or "plasticity region" where composed the dupA, has a relatively high rate of allelic diversity in *H. pylori* genomic DNA^[27,28]. Whole genome analysis of J99 and 26695 revealed regions where G + C content was lower than rest of the H. pylori genome (34% against 40%)^[29]. Later, since high variability was observed in this region, it termed as "plasticity region". Currently, we know that more than 60% of strain-specific genes of H. pylori are located in this area. In J99 and 26695 strains, two regions with lower G + C content and 45 kb and 69 kb long has been named as plasticity zones^[30]. More than 50% of strain specific open reading frames (ORFs) are located in plasticity zone which are 46% and 48% unique genes from 26695 and J99, respectively. Interestingly, in comparison with 26695, the strain J99 has 33 more ORF in plasticity region (*jhp914-jhp951*)^[30]. Lu et al^[31] investigated this region and reported a continuous gene covering *jhp0917* and *jhp0918* genes for first time which is a risk factor for duodenal ulcer diseases. Accordingly, they named the jhp0917-jhp0918 gene the dupA gene. To date, many of putative H. pylori genes have been suggested to be linked with increasing risk of digestive diseases, while none have been confirmed to be actually associated with unique and specific H. pylori-related disease such as gastric cancer or duodenal ulcer. Therefore, dupA can be named as first candidate to have achieved this distinction. Following the primary study by Lu *et al*^[31], a large number of controversial examinations has been published^[32-42]. The global prevalence of dupA in patients with gastritis was reported around 45% which is highly differed among subjects with various nationality (31% in Asian and 64% in Western countries)^[43,44]. Therefore, among most of Asian countries, a significant association

between disease development and dupA status can be reported^[38,45-54]. In two studies, first by Imagawa et al^[37] patients infected with dupA-positive strains showed higher risk to suffer from duodenal ulcer than dupA-negative patients. In second study, we have found that higher acid resistance of the dupA-positive strains can explain the adaptation of those strains to human stomach with high gastric acid output^[35]. Indeed, Lu *et al*^[31] described that infections with*H*.</sup>pylori dupA-negative strains can increase the risk for duodenal ulcer, but it reduce the chance of occurrence for gastric^[31]. Antral induction of IL-8 production is a main character of dupA pathogenesis causing predominant gastritis^[46]. The mentioned mucosal inflammation and polymorphonuclear leukocytes (PMN) infiltration can lead to the occurrence of duodenal ulcer^[31]. In a systematic review by Shiota et al[55] with more than 2466 patients, they confirmed an association between certain clinical outcomes and the *dupA* status. Moreover, presence of an extra 600 bp in *dupA* ORF in *H. pylori* strains such as g27 showed that the length of the *dupA* is differ among various strain, mostly declared that dupA has two main genotypes accordingly, (long and short type)^[35,38,55]. Unfortunately, most of studies in past did not consider this two types of dupA and thus the final results by them might be cautiously useful. Another interesting topics about dupA is existence of several mutations in gene length^[38,56]. At different positions, these mutations can create a premature stop codon with considerable effects on its produced proteins function^[56]. Strains isolated from patients with duodenal ulcer mostly carrying dupA without stop codon in comparison with other diseases types^[27]. Notwithstanding, without frameshift mutation dupA which called intact long-type dupA rather shorttype *dupA* is highly associated with gastric cancer^[57]. It has been extensively reported that there is an association between increased expression levels of IL-8 and dupA in the gastric mucosa of H. pylori-colonized individuals. As expected, many reports are indicating on gastric mucosal inflammatory cell infiltration was significantly higher in patients with *dupA*-positive *H*. pylori than in patients with dupA-negative strain^[56,57]. As such, current data suggesting that only intact long type *dupA* can produce DupA protein and also serve as real virulence factor for H. pylori strains. In brief, current knowledge about dupA positive strain and its subsequent diseases vulnerability insist on significant associations between the dupA gene and an increased risk for duodenal ulceration rather gastric cancer. As final remarks about *dupA*, we can mention to these sentences as follow: (1) Additional tests of the dupA DNA sequence are necessary to determine actual importance of intact dupA; also in level of proteins with immunoblotting techniques; (2) Similar to the *cagA*, it has been asserted that *dupA* is forming a Type 4 secretion system (T4SS) as a full gene cluster. Noted that virB4 and dupA as homologous genes together

WJG | www.wjgnet.com

are the major constituents of T4SS where located in plasticity region^[52]; (3) Jung et al^[38] recently examined South American population from Colombia to see association between *dupA* and *virB* gene homologs and clinical outcomes. In total, we concluded that intact dupA without shift mutation can serve as actual virulence factor with consistent results worldwide. It is no doubt that evaluation of various genes located in plasticity region are required and new data in close future can enrich our knowledge about this mysterious region of *H. pylori* genome; and (4) Broadly defined, virulence of *H. pylori* play an essential role in the development of severe gastroduodenal diseases such as duodenal ulcer through mucosal inflammation. With this regard, *dupA* as one of important risk factor was in focus of many researches in last years. The discrepancy observed among the epidemiologic studies can be explained by using various methods to determine existence of dupA, variation in ORF and different population's bias. Thus, despite advances in our understanding of the development of *H. pylori*-related diseases, further work is required to clarify the roles of H. pylori virulence factors.

CONCLUSION

H. pylori plays a critical role in the development of severe digestive diseases; though, the main virulence determinant acting in this field are still not completely defined. Now the question is to find the determining item to represent this interesting disease pattern. For sure, we admitted that H. pylori is involved in pathogenesis of both gastric cancer and duodenal ulcer while they are in quite opposite side of digestive diseases, again, how we can still accept a crucial role for H. pylori in these gastroduodenal diseases? Many studies had been performed to elucidate actual biologic role of *dupA* in development of severe gastroduodenal diseases such as gastric cancer^[46-48]. The observed discrepancy of *dupA* link with disease outcomes might be associate with the plasticity region of H. pylori or the limitation of PCR to detect the various forms of dupA gene; however, in order to draw a better conclusion further experiments are required^[58,59]. Interestingly, the presence of *dupA* was significantly associated with H. pylori eradication failure with no biologic explanation^[60-62]. In conclusion, it sounds that rather than promoting gastric cancer or duodenal ulceration in all populations, dupA is an effective factor for some of populations. Because of microarray analysis as new technology many new genes can be proposed as novel virulence biomarker for H. pylori.

REFERENCES

- 1 **Marshall BJ**, Warren JR. Unidentified curved bacilli in the stomach of patients with gastritis and peptic ulceration. *Lancet* 1984; **1**: 1311-1315 [PMID: 6145023]
- 2 Mégraud F. A humble bacterium sweeps this year's Nobel Prize.

Cell 2005; **123**: 975-976 [PMID: 16360024 DOI: 10.1016/j. cell.2005.11.032]

- 3 Abadi AT, Kusters JG. Management of Helicobacter pylori infections. *BMC Gastroenterol* 2016; **16**: 94 [PMID: 27520775 DOI: 10.1186/s12876-016-0496-2]
- 4 Yamaoka Y. Mechanisms of disease: Helicobacter pylori virulence factors. *Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2010; 7: 629-641 [PMID: 20938460 DOI: 10.1038/nrgastro.2010.154]
- 5 Talebi Bezmin Abadi A. Therapy of Helicobacter pylori: present medley and future prospective. *Biomed Res Int* 2014; 2014: 124607 [PMID: 24800203 DOI: 10.1155/2014/124607]
- 6 Karlsson A, Ryberg A, Nosouhi Dehnoei M, Borch K, Monstein HJ. Variation in number of cagA EPIYA-C phosphorylation motifs between cultured Helicobacter pylori and biopsy strain DNA. *Infect Genet Evol* 2012; 12: 175-179 [PMID: 22085823 DOI: 10.1016/j.meegid.2011.10.025]
- 7 Talebi Bezmin Abadi A. Vaccine against Helicobacter pylori: Inevitable approach. *World J Gastroenterol* 2016; 22: 3150-3157 [PMID: 27003991 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v22.i11.3150]
- 8 Talebi Bezmin Abadi A. Helicobacter pylori and Gastric Cancer. Front Med (Lausanne) 2016; 3: 36 [PMID: 27597945 DOI: 10.3389/fmed.2016.00036]
- 9 Talebi Bezmin Abadi A, Taghvaei T, Mohabbati Mobarez A, Vaira G, Vaira D. High correlation of babA 2-positive strains of Helicobacter pylori with the presence of gastric cancer. *Intern Emerg Med* 2013; 8: 497-501 [PMID: 21604199 DOI: 10.1007/s11739-011-0631-6]
- 10 Yamaoka Y, Kikuchi S, el-Zimaity HM, Gutierrez O, Osato MS, Graham DY. Importance of Helicobacter pylori oipA in clinical presentation, gastric inflammation, and mucosal interleukin 8 production. *Gastroenterology* 2002; 123: 414-424 [PMID: 12145793]
- 11 Abadi AT, Lee YY. Helicobacter pylori vacA as marker for gastric cancer and gastroduodenal diseases: one but not the only factor. *J Clin Microbiol* 2014; **52**: 4451 [PMID: 25399000 DOI: 10.1128/JCM.02640-14]
- 12 Kolaylı F, Karadenizli A, Bingöl R, Schneider T, Kist M. [Differences of vacA alleles and cagA gene positivity of Helicobacter pylori strains isolated from two different countries: Turkey and Germany]. *Mikrobiyol Bul* 2012; 46: 332-334 [PMID: 22639323]
- 13 Talebi Bezmin Abadi A, Ierardi E, Lee J. Why do we still have Helicobacter pylori in our Stomachs? *Malays J Med Sci* 2015; 22: 70-75
- 14 Abdullah SM, Hussein NR, Salih AM, Merza MA, Goreal AA, Odeesh OY, Majed HS, Assafi MA, Hawrami K. Infection with Helicobacter pylori strains carrying babA2 and cagA is associated with an increased risk of peptic ulcer disease development in Iraq. *Arab J Gastroenterol* 2012; 13: 166-169 [PMID: 23432983 DOI: 10.1016/j.ajg.2012.12.001]
- 15 Graham DY, Yamaoka Y. Disease-specific Helicobacter pylori virulence factors: the unfulfilled promise. *Helicobacter* 2000; 5 Suppl 1: S3-S9; discussion S27-S31 [PMID: 10828748]
- 16 Graham DY. Helicobacter pylori infection in the pathogenesis of duodenal ulcer and gastric cancer: a model. *Gastroenterology* 1997; 113: 1983-1991 [PMID: 9394739]
- 17 Yamaoka Y. Pathogenesis of Helicobacter pylori-Related Gastroduodenal Diseases from Molecular Epidemiological Studies. *Gastroenterol Res Pract* 2012; 2012: 371503 [PMID: 22829807 DOI: 10.1155/2012/371503]
- 18 Taghvaei T, Talebi Bezmin Abadi A, Ghasemzadeh A, Naderi BK, Mohabbati Mobarez A. Prevalence of horB gene among the Helicobacter pylori strains isolated from dyspeptic patients: first report from Iran. *Intern Emerg Med* 2012; 7: 505-508 [PMID: 21559747 DOI: 10.1007/s11739-011-0614-7]
- 19 Abadi AT, Mobarez AM, Bonten MJ, Wagenaar JA, Kusters JG. Clinical relevance of the cagA, tnpA and tnpB genes in Helicobacter pylori. *BMC Gastroenterol* 2014; 14: 33 [PMID: 24552154 DOI: 10.1186/1471-230X-14-33]

- 20 Shafiee A, Amini M, Emamirad H, Talebi Bezmin Abadi A. Recombination and phenotype evolution dynamic of Helicobacter pylori in colonized hosts. *Int J Syst Evol Microbiol* 2016; Epub ahead of print [PMID: 27082852 DOI: 10.1099/ijsem.0.001072]
- 21 Ishijima N, Suzuki M, Ashida H, Ichikawa Y, Kanegae Y, Saito I, Borén T, Haas R, Sasakawa C, Mimuro H. BabA-mediated adherence is a potentiator of the Helicobacter pylori type IV secretion system activity. *J Biol Chem* 2011; 286: 25256-25264 [PMID: 21596743 DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M111.233601]
- Figura N, Valassina M, Moretti E, Vindigni C, Collodel G, Iacoponi F, Giordano N, Roviello F, Marrelli D. Histological variety of gastric carcinoma and Helicobacter pylori cagA and vacA polymorphism. *Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2015; 27: 1017-1021 [PMID: 26067222 DOI: 10.1097/MEG.00000000000414]
- 23 Yahiro K, Hirayama T, Moss J, Noda M. Helicobacter pylori VacA toxin causes cell death by inducing accumulation of cytoplasmic connexin 43. *Cell Death Dis* 2015; 6: e1971 [PMID: 26561781 DOI: 10.1038/cddis.2015.329]
- 24 Yahiro K, Akazawa Y, Nakano M, Suzuki H, Hisatune J, Isomoto H, Sap J, Noda M, Moss J, Hirayama T. *Helicobacter pylori* VacA induces apoptosis by accumulation of connexin 43 in autophagic vesicles via a Rac1/ERK-dependent pathway. *Cell Death Discov* 2015; 1: 15035 [PMID: 27551466 DOI: 10.1038/ cddiscovery.2015.35]
- 25 Feliciano O, Gutierrez O, Valdés L, Fragoso T, Calderin AM, Valdes AE, Llanes R. Prevalence of Helicobacter pylori vacA, cagA, and iceA Genotypes in Cuban Patients with Upper Gastrointestinal Diseases. *Biomed Res Int* 2015; 2015: 753710 [PMID: 25945344 DOI: 10.1155/2015/753710]
- 26 Abadi AT, Mobarez AM, Teymournejad O, Karbalaei M. Concomitant Colonization of Helicobacter pylori in Dental Plaque and Gastric Biopsy. *J Pathog* 2014; 2014: 871601 [PMID: 25120932 DOI: 10.1155/2014/871601]
- Talebi Bezmin Abadi A. The Helicobacter pylori dupA: A Novel Biomarker for Digestive Diseases. *Front Med* (Lausanne) 2014; 1: 13 [PMID: 25767798 DOI: 10.3389/fmed.2014.00013]
- 28 Shiota S, Suzuki R, Yamaoka Y. The significance of virulence factors in Helicobacter pylori. *J Dig Dis* 2013; 14: 341-349 [PMID: 23452293 DOI: 10.1111/1751-2980.12054]
- 29 Alm RA, Ling LS, Moir DT, King BL, Brown ED, Doig PC, Smith DR, Noonan B, Guild BC, deJonge BL, Carmel G, Tummino PJ, Caruso A, Uria-Nickelsen M, Mills DM, Ives C, Gibson R, Merberg D, Mills SD, Jiang Q, Taylor DE, Vovis GF, Trust TJ. Genomic-sequence comparison of two unrelated isolates of the human gastric pathogen Helicobacter pylori. *Nature* 1999; **397**: 176-180 [PMID: 9923682 DOI: 10.1038/16495]
- 30 Alm RA, Trust TJ. Analysis of the genetic diversity of Helicobacter pylori: the tale of two genomes. J Mol Med (Berl) 1999; 77: 834-846 [PMID: 10682319]
- 31 Lu H, Hsu PI, Graham DY, Yamaoka Y. Duodenal ulcer promoting gene of Helicobacter pylori. *Gastroenterology* 2005; 128: 833-848 [PMID: 15825067]
- 32 Kavermann H, Burns BP, Angermuller K, Odenbreit S, Fischer W, Melchers K, Haas R. Identification and characterization of Helicobacter pylori genes essential for gastric colonization. J Exp Med 2003; 197: 813-822 [PMID: 12668646 DOI: 10.1084/jem.20021531]
- 33 Alam J, Maiti S, Ghosh P, De R, Chowdhury A, Das S, Macaden R, Devarbhavi H, Ramamurthy T, Mukhopadhyay AK. Significant association of the dupA gene of Helicobacter pylori with duodenal ulcer development in a South-east Indian population. *J Med Microbiol* 2012; **61**: 1295-1302 [PMID: 22653921 DOI: 10.1099/jmm.0.038398-0]
- 34 Gomes LI, Rocha GA, Rocha AM, Soares TF, Oliveira CA, Bittencourt PF, Queiroz DM. Lack of association between Helicobacter pylori infection with dupA-positive strains and gastroduodenal diseases in Brazilian patients. *Int J Med Microbiol* 2008; 298: 223-230 [PMID: 17897881 DOI: 10.1016/j. ijmm.2007.05.006]
- 35 Abadi AT, Taghvaei T, Wolfram L, Kusters JG. Infection with

Helicobacter pylori strains lacking dupA is associated with an increased risk of gastric ulcer and gastric cancer development. *J Med Microbiol* 2012; **61**: 23-30 [PMID: 21903829 DOI: 10.1099/jmm.0.027052-0]

- 36 Hussein NR, Tuncel IE. Helicobacter pylori dupA and smoking are associated with increased levels of interleukin-8 in gastric mucosa in Iraq. *Hum Pathol* 2015; 46: 929-930 [PMID: 25791584]
- 37 Imagawa S, Ito M, Yoshihara M, Eguchi H, Tanaka S, Chayama K. Helicobacter pylori dupA and gastric acid secretion are negatively associated with gastric cancer development. *J Med Microbiol* 2010; 59: 1484-1489 [PMID: 20829397 DOI: 10.1099/jmm.0.021816-0]
- 38 Jung SW, Sugimoto M, Shiota S, Graham DY, Yamaoka Y. The intact dupA cluster is a more reliable Helicobacter pylori virulence marker than dupA alone. *Infect Immun* 2012; 80: 381-387 [PMID: 22038914 DOI: 10.1128/IAI.05472-11]
- 39 Nguyen LT, Uchida T, Tsukamoto Y, Kuroda A, Okimoto T, Kodama M, Murakami K, Fujioka T, Moriyama M. Helicobacter pylori dupA gene is not associated with clinical outcomes in the Japanese population. *Clin Microbiol Infect* 2010; 16: 1264-1269 [PMID: 19832706 DOI: 10.1111/j.1469-0691.2009.03081.x]
- 40 Salih AM, Goreal A, Hussein NR, Abdullah SM, Hawrami K, Assafi M. The distribution of cagA and dupA genes in Helicobacter pylori strains in Kurdistan region, northern Iraq. Ann Saudi Med 2013; 33: 290-293 [PMID: 23793434 DOI: 10.5144/0256-4947.2013.290]
- 41 Wang MY, Shao C, Li J, Yang YC, Wang SB, Hao JL, Wu CM, Gao XZ, Shao SH. Helicobacter pylori with the Intact dupA Cluster is more Virulent than the Strains with the Incomplete dupA Cluster. *Curr Microbiol* 2015; **71**: 16-23 [PMID: 25847580 DOI: 10.1007/s00284-015-0812-z]
- 42 Zhang Z, Zheng Q, Chen X, Xiao S, Liu W, Lu H. The Helicobacter pylori duodenal ulcer promoting gene, dupA in China. *BMC Gastroenterol* 2008; 8: 49 [PMID: 18950522 DOI: 10.1186/1471-230X-8-49]
- 43 Hussein NR. The association of dupA and Helicobacter pylorirelated gastroduodenal diseases. *Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis* 2010; 29: 817-821 [PMID: 20419465 DOI: 10.1007/s10096 -010-0933-z]
- 44 Hussein NR, Mohammadi M, Talebkhan Y, Doraghi M, Letley DP, Muhammad MK, Argent RH, Atherton JC. Differences in virulence markers between Helicobacter pylori strains from Iraq and those from Iran: potential importance of regional differences in H. pyloriassociated disease. *J Clin Microbiol* 2008; **46**: 1774-1779 [PMID: 18353934 DOI: 10.1128/JCM.01737-07]
- 45 Arachchi HS, Kalra V, Lal B, Bhatia V, Baba CS, Chakravarthy S, Rohatgi S, Sarma PM, Mishra V, Das B, Ahuja V. Prevalence of duodenal ulcer-promoting gene (dupA) of Helicobacter pylori in patients with duodenal ulcer in North Indian population. *Helicobacter* 2007; 12: 591-597 [PMID: 18001398 DOI: 10.1111/ j.1523-5378.2007.00557.x]
- 46 Argent RH, Burette A, Miendje Deyi VY, Atherton JC. The presence of dupA in Helicobacter pylori is not significantly associated with duodenal ulceration in Belgium, South Africa, China, or North America. *Clin Infect Dis* 2007; 45: 1204-1206 [PMID: 17918084 DOI: 10.1086/522177]
- 47 Douraghi M, Mohammadi M, Oghalaie A, Abdirad A, Mohagheghi MA, Hosseini ME, Zeraati H, Ghasemi A, Esmaieli M, Mohajerani N. dupA as a risk determinant in Helicobacter pylori infection. *J Med Microbiol* 2008; **57**: 554-562 [PMID: 18436587 DOI: 10.1099/jmm.0.47776-0]
- 48 Haddadi MH, Bazargani A, Khashei R, Fattahi MR, Bagheri Lankarani K, Moini M, Rokni Hosseini SM. Different distribution of Helicobacter pylori EPIYA- cagA motifs and dupA genes in the upper gastrointestinal diseases and correlation with clinical outcomes in iranian patients. *Gastroenterol Hepatol Bed Bench* 2015; 8: S37-S46 [PMID: 26171136]
- 49 Matteo MJ, Armitano RI, Granados G, Wonaga AD, Sánches C, Olmos M, Catalano M. Helicobacter pylori oipA, vacA and dupA genetic diversity in individual hosts. *J Med Microbiol* 2010; **59**: 89-95 [PMID: 19643933 DOI: 10.1099/jmm.0.011684-0]



- 50 Parzecka M, Szaflarska-Popławska A, Gasiorowska J, Gorzkiewicz M, Grzybowski T. [The prevalence of dupA (duodenal ulcer-promoting gene) of Helicobacter pylori in children and adolescents-own observation]. *Pol Merkur Lekarski* 2013; 34: 277-280 [PMID: 23894779]
- 51 Queiroz DM, Moura SB, Rocha AM, Costa RF, Anacleto C, Rocha GA. The genotype of the Brazilian dupA-positive Helicobacter pylori strains is dupA1. *J Infect Dis* 2011; 203: 1033-1034 [PMID: 21402555 DOI: 10.1093/infdis/jiq147]
- 52 Wang MY, Chen C, Shao C, Wang SB, Wang AC, Yang YC, Yuan XY, Shao SH. Intact long-type DupA protein in Helicobacter pylori is an ATPase involved in multifunctional biological activities. *Microb Pathog* 2015; 81: 53-59 [PMID: 25745877 DOI: 10.1016/j.micpath.2015.03.002]
- 53 Osman HA, Hasan H, Suppian R, Hassan S, Andee DZ, Abdul Majid N, Zilfalil BA. Prevalence of Helicobacter pylori cagA, babA2, and dupA genotypes and correlation with clinical outcome in Malaysian patients with dyspepsia. *Turk J Med Sci* 2015; **45**: 940-946 [PMID: 26422871]
- 54 Miftahussurur M, Syam AF, Makmun D, Nusi IA, Zein LH, Zulkhairi F, Uswan WB, Simanjuntak D, Uchida T, Adi P, Utari AP, Rezkitha YA, Subsomwong P, Nasronudin Y. Helicobacter pylori virulence genes in the five largest islands of Indonesia. *Gut Pathog* 2015; 7: 26 [PMID: 26442711 DOI: 10.1186/s13099-015-0072-2]
- 55 Shiota S, Matsunari O, Watada M, Hanada K, Yamaoka Y. Systematic review and meta-analysis: the relationship between the Helicobacter pylori dupA gene and clinical outcomes. *Gut Pathog* 2010; 2: 13 [PMID: 21040520 DOI: 10.1186/1757-4749-2-13]
- 56 Queiroz DM, Rocha GA, Rocha AM, Moura SB, Saraiva IE, Gomes LI, Soares TF, Melo FF, Cabral MM, Oliveira CA. dupA

polymorphisms and risk of Helicobacter pylori-associated diseases. *Int J Med Microbiol* 2011; **301**: 225-228 [PMID: 21050811 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijmm.2010.08.019]

- 57 Takahashi A, Shiota S, Matsunari O, Watada M, Suzuki R, Nakachi S, Kinjo N, Kinjo F, Yamaoka Y. Intact long-type dupA as a marker for gastroduodenal diseases in Okinawan subpopulation, Japan. *Helicobacter* 2013; 18: 66-72 [PMID: 23067336 DOI: 10.1111/j.1523-5378.2012.00994.x]
- 58 Abadi AT, Loffeld RJ, Constancia AC, Wagenaar JA, Kusters JG. Detection of the Helicobacter pylori dupA gene is strongly affected by the PCR design. *J Microbiol Methods* 2014; **106**: 55-56 [PMID: 25128081 DOI: 10.1016/j.mimet.2014.07.027]
- 59 Alam J, Ghosh P, Ganguly M, Sarkar A, De R, Mukhopadhyay AK. Association of Intact dupA (dupA1) rather than dupA1 cluster with duodenal ulcer in Indian population. *Gut Pathog* 2015; 7: 9 [PMID: 25829953 DOI: 10.1186/s13099-015-0056-2]
- 60 Shiota S, Nguyen LT, Murakami K, Kuroda A, Mizukami K, Okimoto T, Kodama M, Fujioka T, Yamaoka Y. Association of helicobacter pylori dupA with the failure of primary eradication. *J Clin Gastroenterol* 2012; 46: 297-301 [PMID: 22298090 DOI: 10.1097/MCG.0b013e318243201c]
- 61 Senatore FJ, Wilmot J, Birk JW. Helicobacter pylori treatment: Still a work in progress. *Postgrad Med* 2016; **128**: 152-157 [PMID: 26490697 DOI: 10.1080/00325481.2016.1103194]
- 62 Hussein NR, Tunjel I, Majed HS, Yousif ST, Aswad SI, Assafi MS. Duodenal ulcer promoting gene 1 (dupA1) is associated with A2147G clarithromycin-resistance mutation but not interleukin-8 secretion from gastric mucosa in Iraqi patients. New Microbes New Infect 2015; 6: 5-10 [PMID: 26042186 DOI: 10.1016/j.nmni.2015.02.005]

P- Reviewer: Ahmed Said ZN, Hussein NR, Romo-Gonzalez C, Vorobjova T, Yamaoka Y S- Editor: Gong ZM L- Editor: A E- Editor: Liu WX







Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/ Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v22.i46.10124 World J Gastroenterol 2016 December 14; 22(46): 10124-10130 ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online) © 2016 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

MINIREVIEWS

Dilemma of first line regimens in metastatic pancreatic adenocarcinoma

Marwan Ghosn, Tony Ibrahim, Tarek Assi, Elie El Rassy, Hampig Raphael Kourie, Joseph Kattan

Marwan Ghosn, Tony Ibrahim, Tarek Assi, Elie El Rassy, Hampig Raphael Kourie, Joseph Kattan, Department of Oncology, Faculty of Medicine, Saint Joseph University, Beirut 166830, Lebanon

Author contributions: Kattan J initiated the review; Ghosn M, Ibrahim T and Assi T performed the review, analyzed the data and wrote first draft; Ghosn M, El Rassy E, Kourie HR and Kattan J, reviewed and commented on the paper; all authors provided final approval for the content.

Conflict-of-interest statement: To the best of our knowledge, no conflict of interest exists.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Manuscript source: Invited manuscript

Correspondence to: Marwan Ghosn, MD, Department of Oncology, Faculty of Medicine, Saint Joseph University, Alfred Naccache, Beirut 166830, Lebanon. marwanghosnmd@yahoo.com Telephone: +961-3-226842 Fax: +961-1-613397

Received: August 21, 2016 Peer-review started: August 25, 2016 First decision: September 5, 2016 Revised: September 23, 2016 Accepted: October 30, 2016 Article in press: October 31, 2016 Published online: December 14, 2016

Abstract

Pancreatic cancer is one of the deadliest cancers,

ranking fourth among cancer-related deaths. Despite all the major molecular advances and treatment breakthroughs, mainly targeted therapies, the cornerstone treatment of metastatic pancreatic cancer (mPC) remains cytotoxic chemotherapy. In 2016, more than 40 years after the introduction of gemcitabine in the management of mPC, the best choice for first-line treatment has not yet been fully elucidated. Two main strategies have been adopted to enhance treatment efficacy. The first strategy is based on combining non-cross resistant drugs, while the second option includes the development of newer generations of chemotherapy. More recently, two new regimens, FOLFIRINOX and gemcitabine/nab-paclitaxel (GNP), have both been shown to improve overall survival in comparison with gemcitabine alone, at the cost of increased toxicity. Therefore, the best choice for first line therapy is a matter of debate. For some authors, FOLFIRINOX should be the first choice in patients with an Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group score (0-1) given its lower hazard ratio. However, others do not share this opinion. In this paper, we review the main comparison points between FOLFIRINOX and GNP. We analyze the two pivotal trials to determine the similarities and differences in study design. In addition, we compare the toxicity profile of the two regimens as well as the impact on quality of life. Finally, we present studies revealing real life experiences and review the advantages and disadvantages of possible second-line therapies including their cost effectiveness.

Key words: Review; Metastatic pancreatic cancer; FOLFIRINOX; Gemcitabine/nab-paclitaxel; Pivotal trials

© **The Author(s) 2016.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core tip: This paper is a mini-review that compares the design of the two pivotal trials studying the role of FOLFIRINOX and gemcitabine/nab-Paclitaxel in the management of metastatic pancreatic cancer. It also

WJG | www.wjgnet.com

analyzes the effects these regimens have on toxicity profile, quality of life, real life experiences, choice of second-line therapy and cost.

Ghosn M, Ibrahim T, Assi T, El Rassy E, Kourie HR, Kattan J. Dilemma of first line regimens in metastatic pancreatic adenocarcinoma. *World J Gastroenterol* 2016; 22(46): 10124-10130 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v22/i46/10124.htm DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v22.i46.10124

INTRODUCTION

Adenocarcinoma of the pancreas is one of the most aggressive human cancers, ranking fourth among cancer related deaths^[1]. Recent biomolecular progress has led to a better comprehension of pancreatic carcinogenesis; however, the revolutionary targeted and immune therapies have not shown any significant results^[2]. Subsequently, cytotoxic drugs remain the backbone of treatment for metastatic pancreatic cancer (mPC). Gemcitabine has been the standard of care in mPC since 1996, providing a limited survival of six months due to the intrinsic capacity of cancer cells and the surrounding microenvironment to resist cytotoxicity^[3-5]. More aggressive regimens were developed to overcome these resistance mechanisms. The combination of non-cross resistant agents, GTX (gemcitabine, docetaxel and capecitabine) and PEFG (cisplatin, epirubicin, fluorouracil and gemcitabine), enhanced tumor shrinkage by acting on different stages of cell cycle and bypassing mechanisms of drug resistance^[6-8].

In 2011, French investigators from the Groupe Tumeurs Digestives of Unicancer and the PRODIGE Intergroup published the results of a phase II/III trial that revealed a clinically significant survival benefit and better quality of life for a regimen combining 5-FU/ leucovorin, oxaliplatin and irinotecan (FOLFIRINOX) at the expense of increased toxicity^[9]. Another option is nab-paclitaxel, which is a second generation chemotherapy agent that exploits the ability of albumin to deliver the hydrophobic molecule, paclitaxel, to targeted tissues. Nab-paclitaxel was combined with gemcitabine in the multinational MPACT phase III trial and added an OS benefit of 2.6 mo compared to single agent Gemcitabine^[10,11]. Table 1 summarizes the efficacy of the FOLFIRINOX and gemcitabine/nabpaclitaxel (GNP) as published in the pivotal studies of ACCORD/PRODIGE and MPACT trials, respectively.

The best choice for first-line therapy is a matter of debate. The National Comprehensive Cancer Network (NCCN) panel considers FOLFIRINOX as the first choice for *Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group* (ECOG) 0-1 patients given its lower HR for death, whereas nab-paclitaxel should be reserved for ECOG 2 patients

(NCCN 2016). Conversely, ASCO and ESMO consider both regimens as acceptable treatment options for ECOG 0-1 patients^[12,13]. Indirect comparisons using the ESMO magnitude of clinical benefit scale show a higher score for the FOLFIRINOX regimen when compared to GNP (5/5 vs 2/5, with a higher score indicating a better regimen in terms of survival benefit and quality of life)^[14]. In addition, a Bayesian meta-analysis comparing multiple systemic protocols in advanced pancreatic cancer showed a trend toward better survival with FOLFIRINOX compared to GNP^[15]. In view of this debate, we conducted this review to discuss the main comparison points between FOLFIRINOX and GNP, including the design of the two pivotal trials, toxicity profiles, quality of life, real life experiences, choice of second-line therapy and cost effectiveness.

TRIAL DESIGN: PRODIGE VS MPACT

The PRODIGE and MPACT trials were both randomized controlled trials (RCTs) based on an intent to treat principle and included 342 and 861 patients with mPC, respectively. Both trials had nearly the same tumor characteristics^[9,16]. Additionally, the median age (61 years for both trials) and sex ratio (1.6 for PRODIGE and 1.3 for MPACT) were nearly identical. However, the French trial included only patients less than 76 years old with good performance status based on the ECOG evaluation system (ECOG 0-1). In contrast, the MPACT trial did not specify an age limit (age ranged from 27 to 86 years) and included patients with intermediate performance status based on the KPS system (KPS < 90 in nearly 42% of patients). In addition, the PRODIGE trial only included patients from French centers while the MPACT trial was a multinational study including patients from North America (63%), Australia (14%), and Eastern (15%) and Western Europe (9%). In addition, patients in the Gemcitabine arm of the PRODIGE trial received only 6 mo of therapy even if they were not progressing (17%), nearly half of whom did not continue. While some authors do not consider these differences important given that the survival curves of the gemcitabine arm in the two trials are "superimposable", others do not share this opinion. In fact, Gemcitabine is a well-known drug that is tolerated in the elderly population, even in intermediate health systems such as that of Eastern Europe. The same is not true when a new drug such as nab-paclitaxel is added to gemcitabine. In fact, the forest plot in the MPACT study clearly shows an effect of age and country on hazard ratio. In the same sense, Tehfe $et al^{[17]}$ published an analysis of patients from Canada (a subgroup of the MPACT trial) and showed an OS equal to 11.9 mo in the GNP arm compared to 7.1 mo in the gemcitabine arm with a hazard ratio of 0.76. However, this subgroup analysis included only 63 patients and was underpowered to detect a statistically significant result.

Ghosn M et al. First line regimens in metastatic pancreatic adenocarcinoma

| | | ACCORD/PRODIGE trial (FOLFIRINOX) ^[9] | MPACT trial (GNP) ^[10] |
|-----------------------------------|-----------------------|--|-----------------------------------|
| Study characteristics | Duration | December 2005-October 2009 | May 2009-April 2012 |
| | Location | France | Multinational |
| | Number of patients | 342 | 861 |
| | Study design | Phase 2-3 | Phase 3 |
| | Control arm | Gemcitabine | Gemcitabine |
| Patient and tumor characteristics | Median age | 61 years | 62 years |
| | Sex distribution | Male (62%) | Male (57%) |
| | ECOG | PS 0 (37.4%) | KPS 100 (16%) |
| | | PS 1 (61.9%) | KPS 80-90 (77%) |
| | | PS 2 (0.6%) | KPS 60-70 (7%) |
| | Tumor stage | Metastatic | Metastatic |
| | Metastatic sites | Liver (87.6%) | Liver (85%) |
| | | Lung (19.4%) | Lung (35%) |
| | | Peritoneum (19.4%) | Peritoneum (4%) |
| | Tumor location | Head (39.2%) | Head (44%) |
| Response | ORR (%) | 31.6 | 23 |
| | PR (%) | 31 | 23 |
| | SD (%) | 38.6 | 27 |
| | DCR (%) | 70.2 | 48 |
| | PFS (mo) | 6.4 | 5.5 |
| | OS (mo) | 11.1 | 8.5 |
| | 1-yr OS (%) | 48.4 | 35 |
| Safety (Grade 3-4 toxicities) | Neutropenia | 45.7 | 38 |
| | Febrile neutropenia | 5.4 | 3 |
| | Thrombocytopenia | 9.1 | 13 |
| | Anemia | 7.8 | 13 |
| | Fatigue | 23.6 | 17 |
| | Peripheral neuropathy | 9 | 17 |
| | Diarrhea | 12.7 | 6 |
| Side effects | Toxic death | 0.6 | 4 |
| | Alopecia | 11.2 | 50 |
| | G-CSF use | 42.5 | 26 |

Table 1 Comparison of the pivotal studies approving FOLFIRINOX and gemcitabine/nab-paclitaxel in metastatic pancreatic cancer

DCR: Disease control rate; GNP: Gemcitabine/nab-paclitaxel; PR: Partial response; ORR: Overall response rate; OS: Overall survival; SD: Stable disease.

TOXICITY AND QUALITY OF LIFE

The toxicity profile of a chemotherapy regimen is a major contributor in its adoption. Based on the two trials, hematologic toxicity is in favor of the FOLFIRINOX regimen and includes a lower incidence of neutropenia (45% vs 38%) (although the use of G-CSF was more common), anemia (7.8% vs 13%), and thrombocytopenia (9.1% vs 13%). The remaining toxicities are listed in Table 1^[9,16]. Peripheral neuropathy attributed to Nab-paclitaxel is a particular debilitating toxicity; grade 3 peripheral neuropathy was encountered in 17% of the patients but improved to grade 1 toxicity or less in a median of 29 d^[10]. Reallife studies with a closer follow-up of patients showed fewer side effects compared to those reported in the clinical trials^[18]. Chemotherapy-induced hair loss is often a major determinant of the treatment regimen selected and was more commonly encountered in the GNP regimen (50% vs 11.2%)^[9,16].

Overall, FOLFIRINOX remarkably improved global health status, emotional functioning and many of the symptoms of mPC, such as pain and anorexia (although FOLFIRINOX did not relieve diarrhea), in the first two months of treatment. It also showed significantly increased time to physical or cognitive deterioration^[19].

On the other hand, quality of life was not assessed in the MPACT trial. In contrast, GNP showed significant improvement in quality-adjusted survival in comparison to gemcitabine alone using the Quality-Adjusted Time Without Symptoms or Toxicities (Q-TWiST) methodology, despite the limitations of the Q-TWiST analysis and the lack of prospective quality of life data from the MPACT trial^[8].

Because significant toxicity was not uncommon, more tolerable treatment regimens were created by modifying the administration or drug dosing schedule. In the modified FOLFIRINOX regimens, either the 5-fluorouracil bolus was omitted or the dose of irinotecan was reduced. Stein et al^[20] published solid data in a prospective study, enrolling both locally advanced and mPC patients who received a modified FOLFIRINOX regimen including a 25% dose reduction in 5-FU or irinotecan. These modifications successfully maintained the efficacy of the drugs while significantly decreasing the toxicity profile (decreased neutropenia, vomiting and fatigue). Additional exploratory analyses of the MPACT trial showed that patients who had dose delays or reductions (71% and 41%, respectively) had better outcomes^[8]. These practical changes are capable of modifying the tolerance profile of the drugs while preserving efficacy. Tables 2 and 3 compare the

| Table 2 Comparison of the FOLFIRINOX and modified FOLFIRINOX trials | | | | | |
|---|-----------------------|---|--|---|--|
| | | ACCORD/PRODIGE trial (FOLFIRINOX) ^[9] | Stein <i>et al^[20]</i> Modified FOLFIRINOX | Mahaseth <i>et al</i> ^[21] (Modified FOLFIRINOX) | Ghorani <i>et al^[22]</i> (Modified FOLFIRINOX) |
| | Location | France | United States | United States | United Kingdom |
| | Number of patients | 342 | 44 | 36 | 18 |
| | Study design | Phase 2-3 Prospective | Phase 2 Prospective | Phase 2 Prospective | Retrospective |
| Study design | Dosing | | 25% reduction in bolus 5-FU | No 5-FU bolus | No 5-FU bolus and 25% |
| | - | | and irinotecan doses | | reduction in irinotecan doses |
| Patient and tumor | Median age | 61 years | 62 | 63 | 60 |
| characteristics | Sex distribution | Male (62%) | Male (56.8%) | Male (56.8%) | Male (44.6%) |
| | ECOG | PS 0 (37.4%) | PS 0 (46%) | PS 0 (22%) | PS 0 (56.6%) |
| | | PS1 (61.9%) | PS 1 (54%) | PS 1 (76%) | PS 1 (44.4%) |
| | | PS 2 (0.6%) | | PS 2 (1%) | |
| | Tumor stage | Metastatic | Metastatic | Metastatic | Locally advanced and |
| | | | | | metastatic |
| | Metastatic sites | Liver (87.6%) | Liver (54.1%) | | |
| | | Lung (19.4%) | Lung (32.4%) | | |
| | | Peritoneum (19.4%) | Peritoneum (37.8%) | | |
| | Tumor location | Head (39.2%) | Head (54.8%) | NA | Head (566%) |
| Response | ORR (%) | 31.6 | 35.1 | 30 | 47 |
| | PR (%) | 31 | 35.1 | NA | 47 |
| | SD (%) | 38.6 | 51.5 | NA | 23 |
| | DCR (%) | 70.2 | 86.6 | NA | 80 |
| | PFS (mo) | 6.4 | 6.1 | 8.5 | 7.2 |
| | OS (mo) | 11.1 | 10.2 | 9 | 9.3 |
| | 1-yr OS (%) | 48.4 | 38 | NA | NA |
| Safety (grade 3-4 | Neutropenia | 45.7 | 12.2 | 3 | 0 |
| toxicities) | Febrile N. | 5.4 | 4.1 | 0 | 5.6 |
| | Thrombocytopenia | 9.1 | 9.5 | 4 | 0 |
| | Anemia | 7.8 | 5.4 | | 0 |
| | Fatigue | 23.6 | 12.2 | 13 | 5.6 |
| | Peripheral neuropathy | 9 | 2.7 | 4 | 0 |
| | Diarrhea | 12.7 | 16.2 | 13 | 16.7 |
| | Toxic death | 0.6 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Additional informa | ation | | Pegfilgastrim on each cycle | Pegfilgastrim on each cycle | Pegfilgastrim on each cycle |

DCR: Disease control rate; PR: Partial response; ORR: Overall response rate; OS: Overall survival; SD: Stable disease.

classical to the modified form of FOLFIRINOX and GNP respectively^[20-23].

CHOICE OF SECOND-LINE

The optimal treatment sequence dictates the choice of first-line treatment for mPC. In fact, in the PRODIGE trial, only 47% of the patients were fit enough to receive second-line therapy while only 12.5% of patients received a second-line therapy after initially receiving a gemcitabine-based combination, yet the median OS was limited to 4.4 mo among those receiving second-line treatments. On the other hand, in the MPACT trial, 40% of the patients received additional therapy after GNP^[24]. According to these data, similar numbers of patients were able to receive second-line therapy after either FOLFIRINOX or GNP.

Data on the administration of GNP after FOLFIRINOX failure in the literature is limited to a few retrospective studies with conflicting data. The AGEO trial, a prospective multicenter study, evaluated the use of GNP in the second-line setting after FOLFIRINOX failure. The disease control rate was 58% with a 17.5% overall response rate and OS of 8.8 mo. Twelve patients (21%) had an ECOG of 2, and 40% had grade 3-4 toxicities without any treatment-related deaths^[25]. In another retrospective study by Zhang *et al*^[26], 28 patients treated with the same regimen showed less satisfactory results, with an OS of 23 wk.

Small retrospective studies assessed the efficacy of FOLFIRINOX in the second line setting with a modest improvement in OS, but none evaluated its efficacy after GNP^[27,28]. In fact, the only data available is from the exploratory analyses of the second line treatment of the MPACT trial, where FOLFIRINOX (despite demonstrating interesting data) was only administered to 18 patients (10.5% of the whole population), calling the use of this treatment sequence into question^[16].

Consequently, definitive recommendations concerning the optimal sequence of therapy cannot be made. The prospective data from the AGEO trial makes GNP a better and more plausible option as a secondline option after FOLFIRINOX administration. However, large RCTs are needed to create newer guidelines.

Baishideng®

WJG | www.wjgnet.com

Ghosn M et al. First line regimens in metastatic pancreatic adenocarcinoma

| | | MPACT trial ^[10] (GNP) | Krishna et al ^[23] (Modified GNP) |
|-------------------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------------------|--|
| Study design | Location | International | United States |
| | Number of patients | 861 | 49 |
| | Dosing | | Omission of Day 7 doses |
| | Study design | Phase 3 | Retrospective |
| Patient and tumor | Median age (yr) | 62 | 65 |
| characteristics | Sex distribution | Male (57%) | Male (57%) |
| | Tumor stage | Metastatic | Metastatic |
| | Metastatic sites | Liver (85%) | Liver (57%) |
| | | Lung (35%) | Lung (27%) |
| | | Peritoneum (4%) | Peritoneum (43%) |
| | Tumor Location | Head (44%) | Head (51%) |
| | PFS (mo) | 5.5 | 4.8 |
| | OS (mo) | 8.5 | 11.1 |
| Safety (Grade 3-4 toxicities) | Neutropenia | 38 | 10 |
| | Thrombocytopenia | 13 | 4 |
| | Anemia | 13 | 15 |
| | Fatigue | 17 | 6 |
| | Peripheral neuropathy | 17 | 2 |
| | Diarrhea | 6 | 0 |

Table 3 Comparison of the gemcitabine/nab-paclitaxel and modified gemcitabine/nab-paclitaxel trials

GNP: Gemcitabine/nab-paclitaxel; OS: Overall survival; PFS: Progression free survival.

COST-EFFECTIVENESS

In addition to weighing efficacy and safety, oncologists must evaluate financial considerations to choose the optimal chemotherapy regimen. In fact, the NCCN shows a tendency toward incorporating the financial burden of cancer drugs into its decision-making strategy. Cost-effectiveness of each regimen is largely dependent on the societal willingness-to-pay (WTP) threshold set by each country. For instance, setting the WTP in Canada at \$130000 makes the FOLFIRINOX regimen the optimal strategy in mPC. However, decreasing the limit to \$80000 renders Gemcitabine monotherapy the only possible therapeutic choice^[29]. Similarly, the increased WTP threshold in Greece rendered the GNP protocol a potential option in the treatment of patients with mPC^[30].

Both FOLFIRINOX and GNP showed consistent cost-effectiveness and cost-utility with superior survival efficacy in independent analytical studies^[31,32]. However, it is not until recently that the values of each regimen were compared. The value of the different regimens in mPC was compared based on Medicare rates, which take into consideration the cost and administration of the drug, hospitalization and management of associated adverse events. The monthly costs of FOLFIRINOX and GNP were \$7234 and \$12221 respectively. However, the cost of the overall treatment based on progression free survival in each protocol was estimated at \$46289 and \$67216. FOLFIRINOX seemingly exhibits higher costeffectiveness than GNP according to these results. However, it is worth mentioning that the cost of the FOLFIRINOX regimen is mainly due to its toxicity profile. Dosing modifications could limit the incidence of serious side effects and thus further increase the cost-effectiveness of this protocol (Monthly cost of FOLFIRINOX is \$763 versus \$9008 for the GNP protocol). Consequently, in September 2015, the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence recommended against the use of GNP in patients with mPC due to the limited benefits in comparison to the cost of the drug. An alternative cheaper option that might be considered is modified GNP (which is yet to be validated), which has an overall treatment cost of \$36226^[33].

CONCLUSION

Overall, both FOLFIRINOX and GNP result in better overall survival and quality of life. In the absence of direct comparison, the treatment choice for patients with mPC is determined by physical toxicity and financial cost, both of which favor the FOLFIRINOX regimen. Further studies should aim to evaluate the modified schedules and dosing of both regimens in multinational RCTs and search for biomarkers that predict response to treatment^[34]. In addition, the choice of first-line therapy in the future may not be limited to these two regimens, as newly developed drugs/therapeutic strategies should be tested in clinical trials to find more efficacious options for patients with good performance status.

REFERENCES

- Siegel RL, Miller KD, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2016. CA Cancer J Clin 2016; 66: 7-30 [PMID: 26742998 DOI: 10.3322/ caac.21332]
- 2 Kourie HR, Gharios J, Elkarak F, Antoun J, Ghosn M. Is metastatic pancreatic cancer an untargetable malignancy? *World J Gastrointest Oncol* 2016; 8: 297-304 [PMID: 26989465 DOI: 10.4251/wjgo.v8.i3.297]
- 3 Burris HA, Moore MJ, Andersen J, Green MR, Rothenberg ML, Modiano MR, Cripps MC, Portenoy RK, Storniolo AM, Tarassoff P, Nelson R, Dorr FA, Stephens CD, Von Hoff DD. Improvements in



survival and clinical benefit with gemcitabine as first-line therapy for patients with advanced pancreas cancer: a randomized trial. *J Clin Oncol* 1997; **15**: 2403-2413 [PMID: 9196156]

- 4 Rhim AD, Oberstein PE, Thomas DH, Mirek ET, Palermo CF, Sastra SA, Dekleva EN, Saunders T, Becerra CP, Tattersall IW, Westphalen CB, Kitajewski J, Fernandez-Barrena MG, Fernandez-Zapico ME, Iacobuzio-Donahue C, Olive KP, Stanger BZ. Stromal elements act to restrain, rather than support, pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. *Cancer Cell* 2014; 25: 735-747 [PMID: 24856585 DOI: 10.1016/j.ccr.2014.04.021]
- 5 Fox RG, Lytle NK, Jaquish DV, Park FD, Ito T, Bajaj J, Koechlein CS, Zimdahl B, Yano M, Kopp JL, Kritzik M, Sicklick JK, Sander M, Grandgenett PM, Hollingsworth MA, Shibata S, Pizzo D, Valasek MA, Sasik R, Scadeng M, Okano H, Kim Y, MacLeod AR, Lowy AM, Reya T. Image-based detection and targeting of therapy resistance in pancreatic adenocarcinoma. *Nature* 2016; 534: 407-411 [PMID: 27281208 DOI: 10.1038/nature17988]
- 6 De Jesus-Acosta A, Oliver GR, Blackford A, Kinsman K, Flores EI, Wilfong LS, Zheng L, Donehower RC, Cosgrove D, Laheru D, Le DT, Chung K, Diaz LA. A multicenter analysis of GTX chemotherapy in patients with locally advanced and metastatic pancreatic adenocarcinoma. *Cancer Chemother Pharmacol* 2012; 69: 415-424 [PMID: 21800112 DOI: 10.1007/s00280-011-1704-y]
- 7 Fine RL, Fogelman DR, Schreibman SM, Desai M, Sherman W, Strauss J, Guba S, Andrade R, Chabot J. The gemcitabine, docetaxel, and capecitabine (GTX) regimen for metastatic pancreatic cancer: a retrospective analysis. *Cancer Chemother Pharmacol* 2008; **61**: 167-175 [PMID: 17440727 DOI: 10.1007/ s00280-007-0473-0]
- 8 Reni M, Wan Y, Solem C, Whiting S, Ji X, Botteman M. Qualityadjusted survival with combination nab-paclitaxel + gemcitabine vs gemcitabine alone in metastatic pancreatic cancer: a Q-TWiST analysis. *J Med Econ* 2014; **17**: 338-346 [PMID: 24654922 DOI: 10.3111/13696998.2014.903122]
- 9 Conroy T, Desseigne F, Ychou M, Bouché O, Guimbaud R, Bécouarn Y, Adenis A, Raoul JL, Gourgou-Bourgade S, de la Fouchardière C, Bennouna J, Bachet JB, Khemissa-Akouz F, Péré-Vergé D, Delbaldo C, Assenat E, Chauffert B, Michel P, Montoto-Grillot C, Ducreux M. FOLFIRINOX versus gemcitabine for metastatic pancreatic cancer. *N Engl J Med* 2011; **364**: 1817-1825 [PMID: 21561347 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa1011923]
- 10 Von Hoff DD, Ervin T, Arena FP, Chiorean EG, Infante J, Moore M, Seay T, Tjulandin SA, Ma WW, Saleh MN, Harris M, Reni M, Dowden S, Laheru D, Bahary N, Ramanathan RK, Tabernero J, Hidalgo M, Goldstein D, Van Cutsem E, Wei X, Iglesias J, Renschler MF. Increased survival in pancreatic cancer with nab-paclitaxel plus gemcitabine. *N Engl J Med* 2013; **369**: 1691-1703 [PMID: 24131140 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa1304369]
- 11 Goldstein D, El-Maraghi RH, Hammel P, Heinemann V, Kunzmann V, Sastre J, Scheithauer W, Siena S, Tabernero J, Teixeira L, Tortora G, Van Laethem JL, Young R, Penenberg DN, Lu B, Romano A, Von Hoff DD. nab-Paclitaxel plus gemcitabine for metastatic pancreatic cancer: long-term survival from a phase III trial. J Natl Cancer Inst 2015; 107: [PMID: 25638248 DOI: 10.1093/jnci/dju413]
- 12 Sohal DP, Mangu PB, Khorana AA, Shah MA, Philip PA, O' Reilly EM, Uronis HE, Ramanathan RK, Crane CH, Engebretson A, Ruggiero JT, Copur MS, Lau M, Urba S, Laheru D. Metastatic Pancreatic Cancer: American Society of Clinical Oncology Clinical Practice Guideline. *J Clin Oncol* 2016; **34**: 2784-2796 [PMID: 27247222 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2016.67.1412]
- 13 Ducreux M, Cuhna AS, Caramella C, Hollebecque A, Burtin P, Goéré D, Seufferlein T, Haustermans K, Van Laethem JL, Conroy T, Arnold D. Cancer of the pancreas: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. *Ann Oncol* 2015; 26 Suppl 5: v56-v68 [PMID: 26314780 DOI: 10.1093/ annonc/mdv295]
- 14 **Cherny NI**, Sullivan R, Dafni U, Kerst JM, Sobrero A, Zielinski C, de Vries EG, Piccart MJ. A standardised, generic, validated approach to stratify the magnitude of clinical benefit that can be

anticipated from anti-cancer therapies: the European Society for Medical Oncology Magnitude of Clinical Benefit Scale (ESMO-MCBS). *Ann Oncol* 2015; **26**: 1547-1573 [PMID: 26026162 DOI: 10.1093/annonc/mdv249]

- 15 Chan K, Shah K, Lien K, Coyle D, Lam H, Ko YJ. A Bayesian meta-analysis of multiple treatment comparisons of systemic regimens for advanced pancreatic cancer. *PLoS One* 2014; 9: e108749 [PMID: 25286060 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0108749]
- 16 Von Hoff DD, Ramanathan RK, Borad MJ, Laheru DA, Smith LS, Wood TE, Korn RL, Desai N, Trieu V, Iglesias JL, Zhang H, Soon-Shiong P, Shi T, Rajeshkumar NV, Maitra A, Hidalgo M. Gemcitabine plus nab-paclitaxel is an active regimen in patients with advanced pancreatic cancer: a phase I/II trial. *J Clin Oncol* 2011; 29: 4548-4554 [PMID: 21969517 DOI: 10.1200/ JCO.2011.36.5742]
- 17 Tehfe M, Dowden S, Kennecke H, El-Maraghi R, Lesperance B, Couture F, Letourneau R, Liu H, Romano A. nab-Paclitaxel Plus Gemcitabine Versus Gemcitabine in Patients with Metastatic Pancreatic Adenocarcinoma: Canadian Subgroup Analysis of the Phase 3 MPACT Trial. *Adv Ther* 2016; **33**: 747-759 [PMID: 27085323 DOI: 10.1007/s12325-016-0327-4]
- 18 Patel L, Hollmann S, Attard C, Maroun J. Real-world experience with FOLFIRINOX: A review of Canadian and international registries. *Oncol Exc* 2014; 13: 18-23
- 19 Gourgou-Bourgade S, Bascoul-Mollevi C, Desseigne F, Ychou M, Bouché O, Guimbaud R, Bécouarn Y, Adenis A, Raoul JL, Boige V, Bérille J, Conroy T. Impact of FOLFIRINOX compared with gemcitabine on quality of life in patients with metastatic pancreatic cancer: results from the PRODIGE 4/ACCORD 11 randomized trial. *J Clin Oncol* 2013; **31**: 23-29 [PMID: 23213101 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2012.44.4869]
- 20 Stein SM, James ES, Deng Y, Cong X, Kortmansky JS, Li J, Staugaard C, Indukala D, Boustani AM, Patel V, Cha CH, Salem RR, Chang B, Hochster HS, Lacy J. Final analysis of a phase II study of modified FOLFIRINOX in locally advanced and metastatic pancreatic cancer. *Br J Cancer* 2016; **114**: 737-743 [PMID: 27022826 DOI: 10.1038/bjc.2016.45]
- 21 Mahaseth H, Brutcher E, Kauh J, Hawk N, Kim S, Chen Z, Kooby DA, Maithel SK, Landry J, El-Rayes BF. Modified FOLFIRINOX regimen with improved safety and maintained efficacy in pancreatic adenocarcinoma. *Pancreas* 2013; 42: 1311-1315 [PMID: 24152956 DOI: 10.1097/MPA.0b013e31829e2006]
- 22 Ghorani E, Wong HH, Hewitt C, Calder J, Corrie P, Basu B. Safety and Efficacy of Modified FOLFIRINOX for Advanced Pancreatic Adenocarcinoma: A UK Single-Centre Experience. *Oncology* 2015; 89: 281-287 [PMID: 26372905 DOI: 10.1159/000439171]
- 23 Krishna K, Blazer MA, Wei L, Ahn DH, Wu CS, Ciombor KK, Mikhail S, Noonan AM, Goldberg RM, Bekaii-Saab TS. Modified gemcitabine and nab-paclitaxel in patients with metastatic pancreatic cancer (MPC): A single-institution experience. *J Clin Oncol* 2015; **33**: 366
- 24 Chiorean EG, Von Hoff DD, Tabernero J, El-Maraghi R, Ma WW, Reni M, Harris M, Whorf R, Liu H, Li JS, Manax V, Romano A, Lu B, Goldstein D. Second-line therapy after nab-paclitaxel plus gemcitabine or after gemcitabine for patients with metastatic pancreatic cancer. *Br J Cancer* 2016; **115**: 188-194 [PMID: 27351217 DOI: 10.1038/bjc.2016.185]
- 25 Portal A, Pernot S, Tougeron D, Arbaud C, Bidault AT, de la Fouchardière C, Hammel P, Lecomte T, Dréanic J, Coriat R, Bachet JB, Dubreuil O, Marthey L, Dahan L, Tchoundjeu B, Locher C, Lepère C, Bonnetain F, Taieb J. Nab-paclitaxel plus gemcitabine for metastatic pancreatic adenocarcinoma after Folfirinox failure: an AGEO prospective multicentre cohort. *Br J Cancer* 2015; **113**: 989-995 [PMID: 26372701 DOI: 10.1038/bjc.2015.328]
- 26 Zhang Y, Hochster H, Stein S, Lacy J. Gemcitabine plus nab-paclitaxel for advanced pancreatic cancer after first-line FOLFIRINOX: single institution retrospective review of efficacy and toxicity. *Exp Hematol Oncol* 2015; 4: 29 [PMID: 26451276 DOI: 10.1186/s40164-015-0025-y]
- 27 Assaf E, Verlinde-Carvalho M, Delbaldo C, Grenier J, Sellam Z,

Pouessel D, Bouaita L, Baumgaertner I, Sobhani I, Tayar C, Paul M, Culine S. 5-fluorouracil/leucovorin combined with irinotecan and oxaliplatin (FOLFIRINOX) as second-line chemotherapy in patients with metastatic pancreatic adenocarcinoma. *Oncology* 2011; **80**: 301-306 [PMID: 21778770 DOI: 10.1159/000329803]

- 28 Lee MG, Lee SH, Lee SJ, Lee YS, Hwang JH, Ryu JK, Kim YT, Kim DU, Woo SM. 5-Fluorouracil/leucovorin combined with irinotecan and oxaliplatin (FOLFIRINOX) as second-line chemotherapy in patients with advanced pancreatic cancer who have progressed on gemcitabine-based therapy. *Chemotherapy* 2013; **59**: 273-279 [PMID: 24457620 DOI: 10.1159/000356158]
- 29 McWilliams A, Tammemagi MC, Mayo JR, Roberts H, Liu G, Soghrati K, Yasufuku K, Martel S, Laberge F, Gingras M, Atkar-Khattra S, Berg CD, Evans K, Finley R, Yee J, English J, Nasute P, Goffin J, Puksa S, Stewart L, Tsai S, Johnston MR, Manos D, Nicholas G, Goss GD, Seely JM, Amjadi K, Tremblay A, Burrowes P, MacEachern P, Bhatia R, Tsao MS, Lam S. Probability of cancer in pulmonary nodules detected on first screening CT. *N Engl J Med* 2013; **369**: 910-919 [PMID: 24004118 DOI: 10.1056/ NEJMoa1214726]
- 30 Fragoulakis V, Papakostas P, Pentheroudakis G, Dervenis C, Maniadakis N. Economic Evaluation of NAB-Paclitaxel Plus Gemcitabine Versus Gemcitabine Alone for The Management of Metastatic Pancreatic Cancer in Greece. *Value Health* 2014; 17: A632 [PMID: 27202246 DOI: 10.1016/j.jval.2014.08.2263]
- 31 Gharaibeh M, McBride A, Bootman JL, Abraham I. Economic evaluation for the UK of nab-paclitaxel plus gemcitabine in the treatment of metastatic pancreas cancer. *Br J Cancer* 2015; 112: 1301-1305 [PMID: 25791875 DOI: 10.1038/bjc.2015.65]
- 32 Attard CL, Brown S, Alloul K, Moore MJ. Cost-effectiveness of folfirinox for first-line treatment of metastatic pancreatic cancer. *Curr Oncol* 2014; 21: e41-e51 [PMID: 24523620 DOI: 10.3747/ co.21.1327]
- 33 Goldstein DA, Krishna K, Flowers CR, El-Rayes BF, Bekaii-Saab T, Noonan AM. Cost description of chemotherapy regimens for the treatment of metastatic pancreas cancer. *Med Oncol* 2016; 33: 48 [PMID: 27067436 DOI: 10.1007/s12032-016-0762-8]
- 34 Jordheim LP, Dumontet C. Do hENT1 and RRM1 predict the clinical benefit of gemcitabine in pancreatic cancer? *Biomark Med* 2013; 7: 663-671 [PMID: 23905902 DOI: 10.2217/bmm.13.48]

P-Reviewer: Hammel P, Kleeff J, Peng SY S- Editor: Gong ZM L- Editor: A E- Editor: Zhang FF







Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/ Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v22.i46.10131 World J Gastroenterol 2016 December 14; 22(46): 10131-10139 ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online) © 2016 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Basic Study

Characterization of smooth muscle, enteric nerve, interstitial cells of Cajal, and fibroblast-like cells in the gastric musculature of patients with diabetes mellitus

Kyung Sik Park, Kwang Bum Cho, Il Seon Hwang, Jae Hyung Park, Byung Ik Jang, Kyeong Ok Kim, Sung Woo Jeon, Eun Soo Kim, Chang Sik Park, Joong Goo Kwon

Kyung Sik Park, Kwang Bum Cho, Department of Internal Medicine, Keimyung University School of Medicine, Daegu 42601, South Korea

Il Seon Hwang, Department of Pathology, Keimyung University School of Medicine, Daegu 42601, South Korea

Jae Hyung Park, Department of Physiology, Keimyung University School of Medicine, Daegu 42601, South Korea

Byung Ik Jang, Kyeong Ok Kim, Department of Internal Medicine, Youngnam University College of Medicine, Daegu 42415, South Korea

Sung Woo Jeon, Eun Soo Kim, Department of Internal Medicine, Kyungpook National University School of Medicine, Daegu 41944, South Korea

Chang Sik Park, Department of Advanced Materials Convergence, Korea Institute of Ceramic Engineering and Technology, Jinju City, Gyeongnam 52851, South Korea

Joong Goo Kwon, Department of Internal Medicine, Catholic University of Daegu School of Medicine, Daegu 42471, South Korea

Author contributions: Park KS and Kwon JG designed this study; assistance in recruiting participants and data collection was provided by Cho KB, Jang BI, Kim KO, Jeon SW and Kim ES; Hwang IS, Park JH and Park CS participated in the interpretation of pathologic specimens and were responsible for the analysis of data; all authors contributed to manuscript revision.

Supported by the National Research Foundation of Korea Grant funded by the Korean Government, No. 2014R1A5A2010008.

Institutional review board statement: This study was approved by Keimyung University School of Medicine/Dongsan Hospital Institutional Review Board.

Conflict-of-interest statement: Not declared.

Data sharing statement: No additional data are available.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons. org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Manuscript source: Invited manuscript

Correspondence to: Dr. Joong Goo Kwon, Professor, Department of Internal Medicine, Catholic University of Daegu School of Medicine, 33 Duryugongwon-ro 17-gil, Nam-Gu, Daegu 42471, South Korea. kwonjg@cu.ac.kr Telephone: +82-53-6504215 Fax: +82-53-6214487

Received: June 21, 2016 Peer-review started: June 23, 2016 First decision: September 21, 2016 Revised: October 1, 2016 Accepted: October 30, 2016 Article in press: October 31, 2016 Published online: December 14, 2016

Abstract

AIM

To investigate histologic abnormalities in the gastric smooth muscle of patients with diabetes mellitus (DM).

METHODS

Full-thickness gastric specimens were obtained from patients undergoing surgery for gastric cancer. H&E stain and Masson's Trichrome stain were performed



to assess the degree of fibrosis. Immunohistochemical staining using various antibodies was also performed [antibodies against protein gene product 9.5 (PGP9.5), neuronal nitric oxide synthase (nNOS), vasoactive intestinal peptide (VIP), neurokinin-1 (NK1) receptor, c-Kit, and platelet-derived growth factor receptor-alpha, (PDGFR α)]. Immunofluorescent staining and evaluation with confocal microscopy were also conducted.

RESULTS

Twenty-six controls and 35 diabetic patients (21 shortduration patients and 14 long-duration patients) were included. There were no significant differences in basic demographics between the two groups except in mean body mass index (BMI) (higher in the DM group). Proportions of moderate-to-severe intercellular fibrosis in the muscle layer were significantly higher in the DM group than in the control group (P < 0.01). On immunohistochemical staining, c-Kit- and PDGFR α positive immunoreactivity were significantly decreased in the DM group compared with the control group (P <0.05). There were no statistically significant differences in PGP9.5, nNOS, VIP, and neurokinin 1 expression. On immunofluorescent staining, cellularity of interstitial cells of Cajal (ICC) was observed to decrease with increasing duration of DM.

CONCLUSION

Our study suggests that increased intercellular fibrosis, loss of ICC, and loss of fibroblast-like cells are found in the smooth muscle of DM patients. These abnormalities may contribute to changes in gastric motor activity in patients with DM.

Key words: Diabetes mellitus; Interstitial cells of Cajal; Fibroblast-like cell; Gastroparesis; Enteric nerve system

© **The Author(s) 2016.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core tip: In this study, we discovered that increased intercellular fibrosis, loss of interstitial cells of Cajal, and loss of fibroblast-like cells are found in the smooth muscle of diabetes mellitus (DM) patients. These abnormalities may contribute to changes in gastric motor activity in patients with DM.

Park KS, Cho KB, Hwang IS, Park JH, Jang BI, Kim KO, Jeon SW, Kim ES, Park CS, Kwon JG. Characterization of smooth muscle, enteric nerve, interstitial cells of Cajal, and fibroblast-like cells in the gastric musculature of patients with diabetes mellitus. *World J Gastroenterol* 2016; 22(46): 10131-10139 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v22/i46/10131.htm DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v22. i46.10131

INTRODUCTION

Diabetes mellitus (DM), a metabolic disease caused by

failure of blood sugar control, is a very common disorder, with a prevalence of 8.7% in adults^[1]. It is well known that a lack of treatment of DM results in critical damage by causing acute complications (such as diabetic ketoacidosis or nonketotic hyperosmolar coma) along with chronic complications including nephropathy, angiopathy, neuropathy, and ophthalmopathy^[2]. It is also known that the majority of DM patients suffer one or more gastrointestinal (GI) symptoms, which involve abdominal pain, early satiety, constipation, diarrhea, nausea, vomiting, and fecal incontinence, and that these symptoms result in a lower quality of life for patients^[3-8]. Although the mechanisms of GI complications in DM patients are still not completely understood, GI motor disturbance appears to play a critical role. Because factors including GI smooth muscle, intrinsic or extrinsic enteric nervous system (ENS), and GI hormones are involved in the control of GI motility, it is possible to hypothesize that damage to these factors causes GI dysmotility, and various GI symptoms might occur according to the sites involved^[9].

Gastroparesis, a kind of GI complication of DM, is characterized by delayed gastric emptying^[10], and occurs as a result of a problem in postprandial gastric contraction activity^[9,11,12]. The major symptoms of gastroparesis include postprandial fullness, early satiety, nausea, vomiting, abdominal distension, and abdominal pain. Although many other diseases and circumstances such as medication, connective tissue disorders, neurologic disorders, and tumors can also be related to gastroparesis, DM is the most common cause^[3,9,11,13]. In the past, diabetic gastroparesis was regarded as an ambiguous and rare condition that was caused by the irreversible damage of the vagal nervous system, which occurs after an extremely long presence of type 1 DM; however, since the introduction of the "gastric transit time" concept, many studies have been conducted into the pathophysiology of diabetic gastroparesis^[5,11,12,14].

For an intact gastric emptying, synergic and appropriate movements of the proximal stomach, distal stomach, pylorus, and small intestine play critical roles. The role of the nervous system, which controls the gastric smooth muscle, is extremely important during gastric emptying^[15]. However, recent studies show that the intragastric motor neurotransmission process causing gastric contraction is more complex than a simple process in which the neurotransmitters from nerve endings combine with the receptors of smooth muscle cells (SMC), and it is well known that the interstitial cells of Cajal (ICC) play a very important role during this neurotransmission process^[16-20]. Although there is not enough information about the roles in this neurotransmission process, fibroblast-like cells (FLCs) also show network connections to SMC via gap junctions. Therefore, it is reasonable to assume that FLCs perform some role in the GI contraction process^[21]. We can estimate the degree of expression of FLCs by immunohistochemical or immunofluorescent staining,



WJG www.wjgnet.com



Figure 1 Tissue-sampled sites. Full-thickness tissue samples (2 cm \times 1 cm size) were obtained from tumor-free sites in fundus, less curvature of corpus, and less curvature of antrum.

because they are widely stained with antibody to platelet-derived growth factor receptor α (PDGFR α)^[22].

Research into the pathophysiology of diabetic gastroparesis has hitherto been performed by means of animal models; not only is research using human gastric tissue rare, but the results also do not match well with those of animal models. Therefore, we intend to investigate how SMC, ENS, ICC, and FLCs are affected in DM using human gastric smooth muscle tissue.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Subjects and tissues

Gastric specimens were obtained from gastric cancer patients who had been admitted to four university hospitals (Keimyung University Dongsan Hospital, Youngnam University Hospital, Kyungpook National University Hospital, Catholic University of Daegu Hospital) in Daegu province, South Korea, for surgery. Shortly after gastrectomy, entire layered tissues of 1 cm \times 2 cm in size were taken from areas free of cancer infiltration and used for various microscopic evaluations.

The tissues were taken from fundus, lesser curvature of corpus, and lesser curvature of antrum in the cases of total gastrectomy, and were taken from lesser curvature of corpus, and lesser curvature of antrum in the cases of subtotal gastrectomy (Figure 1). The tissues were obtained shortly after surgery, and removed tissues were fixed in formalin immediately.

The study protocol was reviewed and approved by the Institutional Review Board at Keimyung University Dongsan Hospital, Daegu, South Korea. A precise explanation of the protocol was given to each patient by a coordinator, and all the patients provided written informed consent before inclusion in this study.

H/E and Masson's Trichrome stain

Tissue samples were fixed in formalin and embedded in paraffin. Sections (4- μ m thick) were stained with H&E (hematoxylin and eosin) and Masson's Trichrome to evaluate the degree of fibrosis of the muscularis propria layer. Each microscopic evaluation was per-



Figure 2 Degree of intercellular fibrosis. A: Mild fibrosis means minimal fibrosis without bridging; B: Moderate fibrosis means bridging fibrosis without encirclement; C: Severe fibrosis means muscle fiber-encircling fibrosis. Masson's Trichrome stain (× 200).

formed by the same pathologist who was blind to the group to which the patient belonged. The degree of fibrosis was estimated by consulting the criteria which are used for the estimation of hepatic fibrosis in chronic hepatitis^[23]: mild fibrosis means minimal fibrosis without bridging; moderate fibrosis means bridging fibrosis without encirclement; severe fibrosis means muscle fiber-encircling fibrosis (Figure 2). The degree of fibrosis was compared between the two groups (no or mild fibrosis *vs* moderate or severe fibrosis).

Immunohistochemical staining

Sections (4- μ m thick) from tissue embedded in a paraffin block were mounted on Superfrost Plus[®] glass slides (VWR Scientific, West Chester, PA, United States) and incubated at 60 °C for 15 min. Slides were deparaffinized in xylene, rehydrated in graded alcohol,

| Table 1 Patient demographics n (%) | | | |
|--|---------------------|--------------------|----------------|
| | DM (<i>n</i> = 35) | Control $(n = 26)$ | <i>P</i> value |
| Age (years) | 62.3 ± 8.9 | 59.7 ± 10.4 | 0.297 |
| Gender | | | |
| Male | 24 (68.6) | 15 (57.7) | 0.428 |
| Female | 11 (31.4) | 11 (42.3) | |
| BMI (kg/m ²) | 24.2 ± 3.1 | 22.6 ± 3.0 | 0.045 |
| UGI symptoms | | | |
| Yes | 26 (74.3) | 22 (84.6) | 0.366 |
| No | 9 (25.7) | 4 (15.4) | |

UGI: Upper gastrointestinal; DM: Diabetes mellitus; BMI: Body mass index.

and washed in tap water. Endogenous peroxidase activity was blocked by incubating the sections with 3% H₂O₂. Slides were placed in a steam cooker that was filled with 10 mmol/L sodium citrate buffer (pH 6.0) for antigen retrieval. After treatment with protein block (DAKO, Carpinteria, CA, United States) for 10 min to block nonspecific protein binding, the rabbit monoclonal or polyclonal antibody for PDGFR- α (sc-338, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Dallas, TX, United States), neuronal nitric oxide synthase (nNOS) (EP1855Y, Abcam, MA, United States), neurokinin-1 (NK1) receptor (NB100-74469, Nobus, CO, United States), protein gene product 9.5 (PGP9.5) (318A-16, Cell Marque, CA, United States), vasoactive intestinal peptide (VIP) (NB100-6568, Nobus, CO, United States), and c-kit (sc-5535, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Dallas, TX, United States) were applied for 1 h, respectively. After reaction with a biotinylated anti-mouse antibody for 30 min, antigen-antibody complexes were visualized using a streptavidin-horseradish peroxidase conjugate (DAKO LSAB kit; DAKO, Los Angeles, CA, United States) and diaminobenzidine as a chromogen. Slides were counterstained with Mayer's hematoxylin for 3-5 min. The results were expressed as stained cell numbers under high magnification (× 400). Each value was calculated from a mean of three different sites.

Immunofluorescent staining

After washing sections (4- μ m thick) from tissue embedded in paraffin block with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS, pH 7.4) and 3% dehydroxide solution for 5 min, sections were preincubated with blocking solution (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, United States) for 30 min before being incubated with the anti-ICC (ab5506, Abcam, Cambridge, United Kingdom). After the sections were incubated for 90 min with the primary antibodies, they were washed with PBS again before being incubated with secondary antibody (Alexa Fluor 488 goat anti-rabbit antibody, Invitrogen, CA, United States) for 90 min at 24 °C. After rewashing with PBS, the specimens were counterstained with 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI) and mounted. The immunostained tissues were evaluated with confocal laser scanning microscopy (LSM 5 EXCITER; Carl Zeiss, Jena, Germany), using a C-Apochromat objective lens (× 40). Image analysis was completed with LSM software (version 3.98, Carl Zeiss, Jena, Germany). Intensity of fluorescence in the DM group was compared with that in the control group and expressed as a percentage.

Statistical analysis

Values were compared between the DM and control groups. If necessary, subgroup analyses of the DM group between long-term (prevalent 10 or more years) and short-term (prevalent less than 10 years) groups were performed. The SPSS statistical package ver. 20.0 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, United States) was used for statistical analyses. All data are presented as the mean \pm SD for continuous variables and as frequency or percentage for categorical variables. Student's *t*-test was used for the comparison of continuous variables and a Pearson's χ^2 test for that of categorical variables. *P* values less than 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

Patient characteristics

From four university hospitals, 61 patients were registered: 39 were male and 22 were female. Thirty-six patients underwent total gastrectomy and 25 received subtotal gastrectomy. The number of patients in the control group was 26 and that of DM patients was 35; among the DM patients, 14 had suffered DM for 10 or more years. Age, gender, and frequency of upper-GI symptoms did not significantly differ between the two groups; however, patients in the DM group had a body mass index (BMI) of $24.2 \pm 3.1 \text{ kg/m}^2$, which was higher than the average BMI of the control group, which was $22.62 \pm 3.0 \text{ kg/m}^2$ (P = 0.045) (Table 1).

Fibrosis

Frequency of moderate or severe fibrosis appeared to be 80.0% in the antrum, 85.7% in the body, and 81.3% in the fundus for the DM group. However, in the control group, the frequency of moderate or severe fibrosis was 30.8% in the antrum, 42.3% in the body, and 28.6% in the fundus. Therefore, the degree of fibrosis was statistically higher in the DM group in all areas of the stomach (Table 2). However, the DM duration did not affect the degree of fibrosis in any part of the stomach.

Immunohistochemical staining

When observed at high-power magnification (× 400), the number of c-Kit (+) cells, indicating ICC, appeared to be 11.6 \pm 3.6 in the antrum, 12.3 \pm 3.8 in the body, and 12.1 \pm 3.4 in the fundus of the control group, whereas the antrum, body, and fundus of the DM group yielded c-Kit (+) cell numbers of 8.4 \pm 2.9, 8.0 \pm 2.8, and 8.4 \pm 2.4, respectively. Therefore, the


| Table 2 Degree of intercellular fibrosis n (%) | | | | | | | | |
|--|-----------------|--------------------|----------------|--|--|--|--|--|
| Degree of fibrosis | DM ($n = 35$) | Control $(n = 26)$ | <i>P</i> value | | | | | |
| Antrum | | | < 0.001 | | | | | |
| Moderate to severe | 28 (80.0) | 8 (30.8) | | | | | | |
| None or mild | 7 (20.0) | 18 (69.2) | | | | | | |
| Body | | | 0.001 | | | | | |
| Moderate to severe | 30 (85.7) | 11 (42.3) | | | | | | |
| None or mild | 5 (14.3) | 15 (57.7) | | | | | | |
| Fundus | | | 0.003 | | | | | |
| Moderate to severe | 13 (81.3) | 6 (28.6) | | | | | | |
| None or mild | 3 (18.8) | 15 (71.4) | | | | | | |

DM: Diabetes mellitus.

| Table 5 Results of infinutionstochemical stall | | | | | | | | |
|--|------------------|--------------------|----------------|--|--|--|--|--|
| | DM $(n = 35)$ | Control $(n = 26)$ | P value | | | | | |
| c-Kit | | | | | | | | |
| Antrum | 8.35 ± 2.89 | 11.63 ± 3.64 | 0.001 | | | | | |
| Body | 7.98 ± 2.84 | 12.29 ± 3.84 | 0.000 | | | | | |
| Fundus | 8.27 ± 2.40 | 12.16 ± 3.38 | 0.001 | | | | | |
| PDGFRa | | | | | | | | |
| Antrum | 7.45 ± 1.96 | 7.49 ± 2.58 | 0.965 | | | | | |
| Body | 6.73 ± 2.37 | 9.13 ± 4.00 | 0.010 | | | | | |
| Fundus | 5.33 ± 2.73 | 7.16 ± 1.90 | 0.021 | | | | | |
| PGP9.5 | | | | | | | | |
| Antrum | 18.39 ± 5.16 | 18.64 ± 6.09 | 0.930 | | | | | |
| Body | 15.47 ± 3.94 | 17.38 ± 4.98 | 0.090 | | | | | |
| Fundus | 12.89 ± 5.76 | 14.22 ± 5.84 | 0.656 | | | | | |
| nNOS | | | | | | | | |
| Antrum | 9.01 ± 4.01 | 8.17 ± 3.06 | 0.393 | | | | | |
| Body | 7.75 ± 2.22 | 8.06 ± 3.79 | 0.976 | | | | | |
| Fundus | 5.67 ± 2.61 | 6.08 ± 2.42 | 0.747 | | | | | |
| VIP | | | | | | | | |
| Antrum | 4.73 ± 2.25 | 4.79 ± 2.90 | 0.720 | | | | | |
| Body | 5.19 ± 2.14 | 5.33 ± 2.40 | 0.952 | | | | | |
| Fundus | 3.79 ± 2.09 | 5.05 ± 2.94 | 0.256 | | | | | |
| NK1R | | | | | | | | |
| Antrum | 0.65 ± 0.74 | 0.36 ± 0.38 | 0.253 | | | | | |
| Body | 0.77 ± 0.78 | 0.59 ± 0.63 | 0.460 | | | | | |
| Fundus | 0.54 ± 0.40 | 0.57 ± 0.60 | 0.705 | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | |

DM: Diabetes mellitus; PDGFR α : Platelet-derived growth factor receptor α ; PGP9.5: Protein gene product 9.5; nNOS: Neuronal nitric oxide synthase; VIP: Vasoactive intestinal peptide; NK1R: Neurokinin 1 receptor.

number of c-Kit (+) cells was lower in the DM group than in the control group in all areas of the stomach (P < 0.001) (Table 3; Figure 3A and B).

However, the average PDGFR α (+) cell numbers in the control group were found to be 7.5 ± 2.6 in the antrum, 9.1 ± 4.0 in the body, and 7.2 ± 1.9 in the fundus, whereas the antrum, body, and fundus of the DM group yielded PDGFR α (+) cell numbers of 7.5 ± 2.0, 6.7 ± 2.4, and 5.3 ± 2.7, respectively. Therefore, fewer PDGFR α (+) cells were found in the body (*P* = 0.010) and the fundus (*P* = 0.021) of the DM group compared to those of the control group (Table 3; Figure 3C and D).

There were no significant differences between both groups with regard to degree of expression of PGP9.5, nNOS, VIP, or NK1 receptor in any areas of stomach (Table 3).



Figure 3 Immunohistochemical staining of interstitial cells of Cajal (upper panel) and platelet-derived growth factor receptor α -positive fibroblast-like cells (lower panel) in the human gastric corpus (× 200). Cellularity of ICC is higher in the control group (A) than in the DM group (B). Cellularity of FLCs is higher in the control group (C) than in the DM group (D). DM: Diabetes mellitus; FLCs: Fibroblast-like cells.

Immunofluorescent staining

Immunofluorescence intensity of c-Kit (+) cells was $100.0\% \pm 13.2\%$ in the control group, $64.1\% \pm 0.7\%$ in the DM group of < 10 years' duration, and 36.1%

10135



Figure 4 Immunofluorescent staining of interstitial cells of Cajal in the human gastric corpus. Panels (A), (B), and (C) show representative images from the control, DM of < 10 years' duration, and DM of > 10 years' groups, respectively. Cellularity of ICC decreases with increasing duration of DM (D). DM: Diabetes mellitus; ICC: Interstitial cells of Cajal.

 \pm 5.1% in the DM group with > 10 years' duration. Therefore, with increasing DM duration, the density of c-Kit (+) cells appeared to decrease (Figure 4).

DISCUSSION

In this research, the effects of DM on SMC, ENS, ICC, and FLCs (all related to GI motility) were investigated. Results showed that DM patients have excessive amounts of fibrosis in their gastric smooth muscles; decreased density of ICC and PDGFR α was also found in these patients.

Because formerly reported studies related to the gastric smooth muscle were achieved by means of animal experimentation and only a few studies used human gastric tissue, human gastric smooth muscle samples excised during cancer surgery were used in this study.

The tissues used in this study were taken from regions isolated from the cancer foci. Although the duration of gastric cancer was not consistent in each patient and the possibility that the cancer itself might affect the structure of adjacent smooth muscle cannot be disregarded, we included cancer surgery cases because it is difficult in practice to obtain gastric smooth muscle tissue samples from cases other than these[16,24].

Extrinsic nerve (such as vagus or sympathetic nerve) dysfunction^[25,26], ICC dysfunction^[16,19,27], intrinsic enteric nerve dysfunction^[16,28], and smooth muscle dysfunction itself^[29] have been consistently suggested as factors that affect gastric motility disorder during the causation of gastroparesis in DM patients. In this study, markers for these components were also observed by means of immunohistochemical and immunofluorescent staining.

Although several reports indicate that DM patients showing gastroparesis also show dysfunction of extrinsic nerve cells^[25,26], this could not be observed in this study because the tissues excised were too small. Because it is unrealistic to stain entire specimens for observation, it seems more appropriate to measure pancreatic or gastric secretory function after stimulation of the vagal nerve to evaluate the function of the gastric extrinsic nervous system.

Results from previous studies regarding changes in the gastric smooth muscle in DM patients are not consistent. Several studies report the degeneration and fibrosis of smooth muscle^[30]; however, one report demonstrated no relationship of early DM with fibrosis^[31]. These results suggest that fibrosis of the gastric smooth muscle might indicate an advanced state of



WJG www.wjgnet.com

diabetic complication. In our study, the ratio of moderate or severe fibrosis was significantly higher in the DM group than in the control group, but there was no difference according to the prevalent duration of DM. This result suggests that fibrosis of the gastric smooth muscle begins during the early stage of DM.

Since the role of ICC is accepted to be extremely critical for proper GI motility, several GI motility disorders have been confirmed to be caused by ICC damage^[32-34]. The pathophysiology of diabetic gastroparesis has also been established to involve damage to ICC, not only in animal experiments but also in a human study^[27]. This damage includes both a decrease in the number of ICC and microstructural abnormality^[35]. Recent studies have shown that Ano-1 is the most important protein involved in the electrophysiological role of ICC, and that abnormalities in Ano-1 are involved in the development of diabetic gastroparesis^[36]. In this study, we also proved that the number of ICC is decreased in all gastric areas of DM patients, and that these numbers are more severely decreased in long-term cases of DM. However, we could not investigate the degree of Ano-1 expression and microstructural abnormality of ICC; further investigations into this are necessary.

FLCs that express PDGFR α are interstitial cells that are assumed to have a particular role in GI motility and are connected to SMC through gap junctions. Although located very close to ICC, ultrastructural and functional aspects of FLCs are distinct from those of ICC^[21]. Located very close to nerve endings, FLCs are considered to have a role in neurotransmission, especially within purinergic neurotransmission^[37,38]. In this study, whereas a decrease in FLCs was observed in the gastric body and fundus of the DM group, no difference in the numbers of FLCs was observed in the antrum of the DM group compared to that of the control group. Considering that the fundus and upper body of the stomach play important roles in gastric accommodation through postprandial relaxation, it can be hypothesized that the damage in gastric accommodation caused by the FLCs decrease might be the major element causing gastroparesis in DM patients. Further research will be necessary after considering the functional aspects of FLCs.

The damage caused to not only the extrinsic nervous system but also the intrinsic ENS in the diabetic animal model has long been investigated and has led to the elucidation of the impairment of nonadrenergic noncholinergic neurotransmission, impaired postreceptor response to adrenalin^[39,40], and especially impaired NO-mediated neurotransmission^[33,41]. One study showed the impairment of several kinds of neurotransmitters including nNOS in colonic smooth muscle of DM patients^[42], while another report showed decreased expression of both nNOS and NK-1 in the gastric smooth muscle of DM patients^[16]. Therefore, reduced expression of nNOS was anticipated in this research as well; however, no difference in nNOS expression was observed between the DM group and control group. The result also did not exhibit any difference between the two groups with regard to expressions of NK-1 receptor, PGP9.5 (neuronal marker), and VIP. Further investigation using immunofluorescence may be helpful in providing more clarity.

There are several limitations of our study. First, the symptom intensity and serial glucose level of each patient from the DM group were not analyzed. Because DM patients do not always show symptoms of gastroparesis, further study for the identification of pathologic factors associated with the presence or degree of symptoms will be necessary. Second, physiologic studies for investigation of gastric smooth muscle function and mechanism of muscular fibrosis were not performed. Additional studies on how the pathologic abnormalities observed in this study and gastric smooth muscle dysfunction affect each other might be helpful in the discovery of the mechanism of gastric dysmotility and the subsequent symptoms. Lastly, according to recent animal studies, the differentiation process of macrophages plays an important role in the causation of diabetic gastroparesis^[43,44]; however, experiments on this process could not be performed in this study. Because very little research into the role of the macrophage differentiation process in the causation of diabetic gastroparesis has been performed in human tissue, future study on this topic is needed.

Despite these limitations and the necessity for future research, this study is valuable because abundant human tissues were used to identify effects on SMC, ICC, and FLCs in DM patients and the findings considered the prevalent duration of DM.

COMMENTS

Background

Gastroparesis, a kind of gastrointestinal (GI) complication of diabetes mellitus (DM), is characterized by delayed gastric emptying, and occurs as a result of a problem in postprandial gastric contraction activity. Although many other diseases and circumstances such as medication, connective tissue disorders, neurologic disorders, and tumors can also be related to gastroparesis, DM is the most common cause. Although the mechanisms of diabetic gastroparesis are still not completely understood, gastric motor disturbance appears to play a critical role. Because factors including gastric smooth muscle, intrinsic or extrinsic enteric nervous system (ENS), and GI hormones are involved in the control of gastric motility, it is possible to hypothesize that damage to these factors causes gastric dysmotility and gastroparetic symptoms.

Research frontiers

Research into the pathophysiology of diabetic gastroparesis has hitherto been performed by means of animal models; not only is research using human gastric tissue rare, but the results also do not match well with those of animal models.

Innovations and breakthroughs

This is a unique study that investigated the histologic abnormalities in the gastric smooth muscle of patients with DM using human gastric tissues.

Applications

Increased intercellular fibrosis, loss of interstitial cells of Cajal (ICC), and loss



of fibroblast-like cells were found in the gastric smooth muscle of DM patients. These findings suggest that changes in gastric motor activity in patients with DM may be caused by these abnormalities.

Terminology

The ICC is a kind of interstitial cell that is located in the GI tract. Many ICC communicating with each other form network systems and serve as electrical pacemakers. As a result, spontaneous electrical slow waves are generated in the GI tract. Since the role of ICC was accepted to be extremely critical for proper GI motility, several GI motility disorders have been confirmed to be caused by ICC damage.

Peer-review

In this study the authors aimed to investigate histologic abnormalities in the gastric smooth muscle of patients with DM and showed that DM patients have excessive amounts of fibrosis on their gastric smooth muscles, which may contribute to changes in gastric motor activity in patients with DM. They used histologic and staining techniques to identify the proposed changes of tissue samples. Since most of the published findings have been obtained from animal research, using human tissues makes this study distinguished and important.

REFERENCES

- Shi Y, Hu FB. The global implications of diabetes and cancer. *Lancet* 2014; 383: 1947-1948 [PMID: 24910221 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(14)60886-2]
- 2 Mokdad AH, Ford ES, Bowman BA, Nelson DE, Engelgau MM, Vinicor F, Marks JS. Diabetes trends in the U.S.: 1990-1998. *Diabetes Care* 2000; 23: 1278-1283 [PMID: 10977060]
- 3 Talley NJ, Young L, Bytzer P, Hammer J, Leemon M, Jones M, Horowitz M. Impact of chronic gastrointestinal symptoms in diabetes mellitus on health-related quality of life. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2001; 96: 71-76 [PMID: 11197290 DOI: 10.1111/j.1572-0241.2001.03350.x]
- 4 Bytzer P, Talley NJ, Leemon M, Young LJ, Jones MP, Horowitz M. Prevalence of gastrointestinal symptoms associated with diabetes mellitus: a population-based survey of 15,000 adults. *Arch Intern Med* 2001; 161: 1989-1996 [PMID: 11525701]
- 5 Koch KL. Diabetic gastropathy: gastric neuromuscular dysfunction in diabetes mellitus: a review of symptoms, pathophysiology, and treatment. *Dig Dis Sci* 1999; 44: 1061-1075 [PMID: 10389675]
- 6 Horowitz M, Fraser R. Disordered gastric motor function in diabetes mellitus. *Diabetologia* 1994; 37: 543-551 [PMID: 7926337]
- 7 Enck P, Rathmann W, Spiekermann M, Czerner D, Tschöpe D, Ziegler D, Strohmeyer G, Gries FA. Prevalence of gastrointestinal symptoms in diabetic patients and non-diabetic subjects. Z Gastroenterol 1994; 32: 637-641 [PMID: 7886972]
- 8 Feldman M, Schiller LR. Disorders of gastrointestinal motility associated with diabetes mellitus. *Ann Intern Med* 1983; 98: 378-384 [PMID: 6402969]
- 9 Horváth VJ, Izbéki F, Lengyel C, Kempler P, Várkonyi T. Diabetic gastroparesis: functional/morphologic background, diagnosis, and treatment options. *Curr Diab Rep* 2014; 14: 527 [PMID: 25005121 DOI: 10.1007/s11892-014-0527-8]
- 10 Kassander P. Asymptomatic gastric retention in diabetics (gastroparesis diabeticorum). Ann Intern Med 1958; 48: 797-812 [PMID: 13521605]
- 11 Thazhath SS, Jones KL, Horowitz M, Rayner CK. Diabetic gastroparesis: recent insights into pathophysiology and implications for management. *Expert Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2013; 7: 127-139 [PMID: 23363262 DOI: 10.1586/egh.12.82]
- 12 Chang J, Rayner CK, Jones KL, Horowitz M. Diabetic gastroparesis-backwards and forwards. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2011; 26 Suppl 1: 46-57 [PMID: 21199514 DOI: 10.1111/j.1440-1746.2010.06573.x]
- 13 Jung HK, Choung RS, Locke GR, Schleck CD, Zinsmeister AR, Szarka LA, Mullan B, Talley NJ. The incidence, prevalence, and outcomes of patients with gastroparesis in Olmsted County,

Minnesota, from 1996 to 2006. *Gastroenterology* 2009; **136**: 1225-1233 [PMID: 19249393 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2008.12.047]

- 14 Vittal H, Farrugia G, Gomez G, Pasricha PJ. Mechanisms of disease: the pathological basis of gastroparesis--a review of experimental and clinical studies. *Nat Clin Pract Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2007; 4: 336-346 [PMID: 17541447 DOI: 10.1038/ ncpgasthep0838]
- 15 Horowitz M, Dent J. Disordered gastric emptying: mechanical basis, assessment and treatment. *Baillieres Clin Gastroenterol* 1991; 5: 371-407 [PMID: 1912656]
- 16 Iwasaki H, Kajimura M, Osawa S, Kanaoka S, Furuta T, Ikuma M, Hishida A. A deficiency of gastric interstitial cells of Cajal accompanied by decreased expression of neuronal nitric oxide synthase and substance P in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *J Gastroenterol* 2006; **41**: 1076-1087 [PMID: 17160518 DOI: 10.1007/s00535-006-1909-8]
- 17 Horváth VJ, Vittal H, Lörincz A, Chen H, Almeida-Porada G, Redelman D, Ordög T. Reduced stem cell factor links smooth myopathy and loss of interstitial cells of cajal in murine diabetic gastroparesis. *Gastroenterology* 2006; 130: 759-770 [PMID: 16530517 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2005.12.027]
- 18 James AN, Ryan JP, Crowell MD, Parkman HP. Regional gastric contractility alterations in a diabetic gastroparesis mouse model: effects of cholinergic and serotoninergic stimulation. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol* 2004; **287**: G612-G619 [PMID: 15107299 DOI: 10.1152/ajpgi.00431.2003]
- 19 Ordög T, Takayama I, Cheung WK, Ward SM, Sanders KM. Remodeling of networks of interstitial cells of Cajal in a murine model of diabetic gastroparesis. *Diabetes* 2000; 49: 1731-1739 [PMID: 11016458]
- 20 Ward SM, Morris G, Reese L, Wang XY, Sanders KM. Interstitial cells of Cajal mediate enteric inhibitory neurotransmission in the lower esophageal and pyloric sphincters. *Gastroenterology* 1998; 115: 314-329 [PMID: 9679037]
- 21 Horiguchi K, Komuro T. Ultrastructural observations of fibroblastlike cells forming gap junctions in the W/W(nu) mouse small intestine. J Auton Nerv Syst 2000; 80: 142-147 [PMID: 10785280]
- 22 **Iino S**, Nojyo Y. Immunohistochemical demonstration of c-Kitnegative fibroblast-like cells in murine gastrointestinal musculature. *Arch Histol Cytol* 2009; **72**: 107-115 [PMID: 20009347]
- 23 Desmet VJ, Gerber M, Hoofnagle JH, Manns M, Scheuer PJ. Classification of chronic hepatitis: diagnosis, grading and staging. *Hepatology* 1994; 19: 1513-1520 [PMID: 8188183]
- 24 Min YW, Hong YS, Ko EJ, Lee JY, Min BH, Sohn TS, Kim JJ, Rhee PL. Impairment of the proximal to distal tonic gradient in the human diabetic stomach. *Neurogastroenterol Motil* 2014; 26: 229-236 [PMID: 24165095 DOI: 10.1111/nmo.12253]
- 25 Guy RJ, Dawson JL, Garrett JR, Laws JW, Thomas PK, Sharma AK, Watkins PJ. Diabetic gastroparesis from autonomic neuropathy: surgical considerations and changes in vagus nerve morphology. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* 1984; 47: 686-691 [PMID: 6747645]
- 26 Duchen LW, Anjorin A, Watkins PJ, Mackay JD. Pathology of autonomic neuropathy in diabetes mellitus. *Ann Intern Med* 1980; 92: 301-303 [PMID: 6243893]
- 27 He CL, Soffer EE, Ferris CD, Walsh RM, Szurszewski JH, Farrugia G. Loss of interstitial cells of cajal and inhibitory innervation in insulin-dependent diabetes. *Gastroenterology* 2001; 121: 427-434 [PMID: 11487552]
- 28 Harberson J, Thomas RM, Harbison SP, Parkman HP. Gastric neuromuscular pathology in gastroparesis: analysis of fullthickness antral biopsies. *Dig Dis Sci* 2010; 55: 359-370 [PMID: 19997975 DOI: 10.1007/s10620-009-1071-2]
- 29 Pasricha PJ, Pehlivanov ND, Gomez G, Vittal H, Lurken MS, Farrugia G. Changes in the gastric enteric nervous system and muscle: a case report on two patients with diabetic gastroparesis. *BMC Gastroenterol* 2008; 8: 21 [PMID: 18513423 DOI: 10.1186/1471-230X-8-21]
- 30 **Ejskjaer NT**, Bradley JL, Buxton-Thomas MS, Edmonds ME, Howard ER, Purewal T, Thomas PK, Watkins PJ. Novel surgical treatment and gastric pathology in diabetic gastroparesis. *Diabet*



Med 1999; 16: 488-495 [PMID: 10391397]

- 31 Grover M, Farrugia G, Lurken MS, Bernard CE, Faussone-Pellegrini MS, Smyrk TC, Parkman HP, Abell TL, Snape WJ, Hasler WL, Ünalp-Arida A, Nguyen L, Koch KL, Calles J, Lee L, Tonascia J, Hamilton FA, Pasricha PJ. Cellular changes in diabetic and idiopathic gastroparesis. *Gastroenterology* 2011; 140: 1575-1585.e8 [PMID: 21300066 DOI: 10.1053/j. gastro.2011.01.046]
- 32 Sanders KM, Salter AK, Hennig GW, Koh SD, Perrino BA, Ward SM, Baker SA. Responses to enteric motor neurons in the gastric fundus of mice with reduced intramuscular interstitial cells of cajal. *J Neurogastroenterol Motil* 2014; 20: 171-184 [PMID: 24840370 DOI: 10.5056/jnm.2014.20.2.171]
- 33 Kim SJ, Park JH, Song DK, Park KS, Lee JE, Kim ES, Cho KB, Jang BK, Chung WJ, Hwang JS, Kwon JG, Kim TW. Alterations of colonic contractility in long-term diabetic rat model. J Neurogastroenterol Motil 2011; 17: 372-380 [PMID: 22148106 DOI: 10.5056/jnm.2011.17.4.372]
- 34 Farrugia G. Interstitial cells of Cajal in health and disease. Neurogastroenterol Motil 2008; 20 Suppl 1: 54-63 [PMID: 18402642 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2982.2008.01109.x]
- 35 Faussone-Pellegrini MS, Grover M, Pasricha PJ, Bernard CE, Lurken MS, Smyrk TC, Parkman HP, Abell TL, Snape WJ, Hasler WL, Unalp-Arida A, Nguyen L, Koch KL, Calles J, Lee L, Tonascia J, Hamilton FA, Farrugia G. Ultrastructural differences between diabetic and idiopathic gastroparesis. J Cell Mol Med 2012; 16: 1573-1581 [PMID: 21914127 DOI: 10.1111/ j.1582-4934.2011.01451.x]
- 36 Mazzone A, Bernard CE, Strege PR, Beyder A, Galietta LJ, Pasricha PJ, Rae JL, Parkman HP, Linden DR, Szurszewski JH, Ördög T, Gibbons SJ, Farrugia G. Altered expression of Anol variants in human diabetic gastroparesis. *J Biol Chem* 2011; 286: 13393-13403 [PMID: 21349842 DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M110.196089]
- 37 **Kurahashi M**, Mutafova-Yambolieva V, Koh SD, Sanders KM. Platelet-derived growth factor receptor- α -positive cells and not

smooth muscle cells mediate purinergic hyperpolarization in murine colonic muscles. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* 2014; **307**: C561-C570 [PMID: 25055825 DOI: 10.1152/ajpcell.00080.2014]

- 38 Blair PJ, Rhee PL, Sanders KM, Ward SM. The significance of interstitial cells in neurogastroenterology. *J Neurogastroenterol Motil* 2014; 20: 294-317 [PMID: 24948131 DOI: 10.5056/jnm14060]
- 39 Imaeda K, Takano H, Koshita M, Yamamoto Y, Joh T, Suzuki H. Electrical properties of colonic smooth muscle in spontaneously non-insulin-dependent diabetic rats. *J Smooth Muscle Res* 1998; 34: 1-11 [PMID: 9866112]
- 40 Perdue MH, Davison JS. Altered regulation of intestinal ion transport by enteric nerves in diabetic rats. *Am J Physiol* 1988; 254: G444-G449 [PMID: 2964790]
- 41 Takahashi T, Nakamura K, Itoh H, Sima AA, Owyang C. Impaired expression of nitric oxide synthase in the gastric myenteric plexus of spontaneously diabetic rats. *Gastroenterology* 1997; 113: 1535-1544 [PMID: 9352855]
- 42 Chandrasekharan B, Anitha M, Blatt R, Shahnavaz N, Kooby D, Staley C, Mwangi S, Jones DP, Sitaraman SV, Srinivasan S. Colonic motor dysfunction in human diabetes is associated with enteric neuronal loss and increased oxidative stress. *Neurogastroenterol Motil* 2011; 23: 131-138, e26 [PMID: 20939847 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2982.2010.01611.x]
- 43 Muller PA, Koscsó B, Rajani GM, Stevanovic K, Berres ML, Hashimoto D, Mortha A, Leboeuf M, Li XM, Mucida D, Stanley ER, Dahan S, Margolis KG, Gershon MD, Merad M, Bogunovic M. Crosstalk between muscularis macrophages and enteric neurons regulates gastrointestinal motility. *Cell* 2014; **158**: 300-313 [PMID: 25036630 DOI: 10.1016/j.cell.2014.04.050]
- 44 Choi KM, Kashyap PC, Dutta N, Stoltz GJ, Ordog T, Shea Donohue T, Bauer AJ, Linden DR, Szurszewski JH, Gibbons SJ, Farrugia G. CD206-positive M2 macrophages that express heme oxygenase-1 protect against diabetic gastroparesis in mice. *Gastroenterology* 2010; **138**: 2399-2409, 2409.e1 [PMID: 20178793 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2010.02.014]

P- Reviewer: Gazouli M, Hussain SAR, Ozdemir S, Panchu P S- Editor: Qi Y L- Editor: Logan S E- Editor: Liu WX







Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/ Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v22.i46.10140 World J Gastroenterol 2016 December 14; 22(46): 10140-10147 ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online) © 2016 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Basic Study

Correlation between colonic secretion and colonic motility in rats: Role of ghrelin

Hsien-Hao Huang, Ching-Heng Ting, Yu-Fong Syu, Shi-Chuan Chang, Chih-Yen Chen

Hsien-Hao Huang, Institute of Clinical Medicine, National Yang-Ming University School of Medicine, Taipei 112, Taiwan

Hsien-Hao Huang, Department of Emergency Medicine, Taipei Veterans General Hospital, Taipei 112, Taiwan

Ching-Heng Ting, Department of Pathology, Mackay Memorial Hospital, Taipei 104, Taiwan

Yu-Fong Syu, Department of Family Medicine, Taipei Veterans General Hospital, Taipei 112, Taiwan

Shi-Chuan Chang, Institute of Emergency and Critical Medicine, National Yang-Ming University School of Medicine, Taipei 112, Taiwan

Shi-Chuan Chang, Department of Chest Medicine, Taipei Veterans General Hospital, Taipei 112, Taiwan

Chih-Yen Chen, Division of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Department of Medicine, Taipei Veterans General Hospital, Taipei 112, Taiwan

Chih-Yen Chen, Faculty of Medicine, National Yang-Ming University School of Medicine, Taipei 112, Taiwan

Chih-Yen Chen, Taiwan Association for the Study of Small Intestinal Diseases, Guishan 333, Taiwan

Author contributions: Huang HH and Chen CY contributed to the conception and design of the study; Huang HH, Ting CH, Syu YF, and Chen CY contributed to the acquisition, analysis and interpretation of data; all authors drafted the article, made critical revisions related to the intellectual content of the manuscript, and approved the final version of the article to be published.

Supported by the Taiwan Ministry of Science and Technology No. NSC 95-2314-B-075-013-MY2 and No. NSC 95-2314-B-010-098-MY2 to Chih-Yen Chen.

Institutional animal care and use committee statement: All procedures involving animals were reviewed and approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC), Taipei Veterans General Hospital.

Conflict-of-interest statement: The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

Data sharing statement: The statistical code and dataset are available from the corresponding author at chency@vghtpe.gov.tw.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons. org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Manuscript source: Invited manuscript

Correspondence to: Chih-Yen Chen, MD, PhD, Division of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Taipei Veterans General Hospital, 201, Sec. 2, Shih-Pai Road, Taipei 112, Taiwan. chency@vghtpe.gov.tw Telephone: +886-2-28712121-3763 Fax: +886-2-28711058

Received: June 28, 2016 Peer-review started: July 2, 2016 First decision: October 11, 2016 Revised: October 24, 2016 Accepted: November 14, 2016 Article in press: November 16, 2016 Published online: December 14, 2016

Abstract

AIM

To explore the relationship between colonic secretory function and colonic motility.

METHODS

Using a rat model chronically implanted with intracere-



WJG www.wjgnet.com

broventricular (ICV) and cecal catheters, we validated the correlation between colonic secretion and colonic motor functions, as well as the role of ICV injection volume.

RESULTS

Compared to saline controls (5 µL/rat), ICV acyl ghrelin at 1 nmol/5 μ L enhanced the total fecal weight, accelerated the colonic transit time, and increased the fecal pellet output during the first hour post-injection, while ICV des-acyl ghrelin at 1 nmol/5 μ L only accelerated the colonic transit time. These stimulatory effects on colonic motility and/or secretion from acyl ghrelin and des-acyl ghrelin disappeared when the ICV injection volume increased to 10 μ L compared with saline controls (10 µL/rat). Additionally, the ICV injection of 10 µL of saline significantly shortened the colonic transit time compared with the ICV injection of 5 μ L of saline. The total fecal weight during the first hour post-injection correlated with the colonic transit time and fecal pellet output after the ICV injection of acyl ghrelin (1 nmol/5 μ L), whereas the total fecal weight during the first hour post-injection correlated with the fecal pellet output but not the colonic transit time after the ICV injection of des-acyl ghrelin (1 nmol/5 μ L).

CONCLUSION

Colonic secretion does not always correlate with colonic motility in response to different colonic stimulations. Acyl ghrelin stimulates colonic secretion.

Key words: Colonic transit time; Fecal pellet output; Ghrelin; Intracerebroventricular injection; Secretion; Transit

© **The Author(s) 2016.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core tip: The colokinetic effects of acyl ghrelin and desacyl ghrelin depend on the intracerebroventricular (ICV) injection volume, and the acute increase of the ICV volume accelerates the colonic transit time. In addition, acyl ghrelin, rather than des-acyl ghrelin, stimulates colonic secretion. Colonic secretion does not always correlate with colonic motility in response to different colonic stimulations.

Huang HH, Ting CH, Syu YF, Chang SC, Chen CY. Correlation between colonic secretion and colonic motility in rats: Role of ghrelin. *World J Gastroenterol* 2016; 22(46): 10140-10147 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/ v22/i46/10140.htm DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v22. i46.10140

INTRODUCTION

The colonic motor function is assessed by the colonic

transit time (CTT), geometric center of colonic motility, and fecal pellet output. The fecal pellet output is a simple and easy method to measure colonic motor function^[1,2]. Recently, the geometric center method has been validated as a good measure to evaluate colonic transit; however, it requires the use of radiochromium which limits its application. The CTT using trypan blue dye is another option to measure the entire colonic motor function. This method has the advantage of no radioactivity. Our recent study showed that human/rat corticotropin releasing factor (h/r CRF)^[3,4], in addition to ghrelin as demonstrated by other studies, accelerated the CTT in conscious fed rats, using the trypan blue dye method. Peripheral CRF injection was also shown to increase the fecal output and secretion^[5].

Ghrelin is a 28-amino acid peptide that is mainly synthesized in the gastric oxyntic glands^[6,7]. Acyl ghrelin and des-acyl ghrelin are the two major molecular forms of ghrelin found in the stomach and plasma. Acyl ghrelin is a ghrelin peptide acylated by ghrelin O-acyl transferase^[8,9], and des-acyl ghrelin is produced with lacking *O-n*-octanoylation at serine 3^[10,11]. Acyl ghrelin is well known as an orexigenic gut-brain peptide^[12] and has the ability to regulate the gastrointestinal motility^[13] and energy balance^[14,15]. In contrast, des-acyl ghrelin is known to decrease food intake and disrupt the gastric motility^[16,17]. Intracerebroventricular (ICV) injection of acyl ghrelin has been reported to speed the CTT^[18], but the impact of des-acyl ghrelin through ICV injection on the colonic motor function is still unexplored.

In the current study, first, we aimed to investigate the effects of des-acyl ghrelin on colonic secretory and motor functions, as well as to validate the relationship between colonic secretion and motility. Second, we aimed to investigate the role of ICV injection volume in our unique rat model which can simultaneously measure the colonic motility and secretion in conscious rats.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Animals

Male Sprague-Dawley rats (National Laboratory Animal Center, Taipei, Taiwan) weighing 250-320 g at the initial period of the experiment were used and housed in group cages under controlled illumination (light cycle: 08:00-20:00), humidity and temperature of 22.5 ± 1.5 °C, and free access to water and laboratory chow pellets (LabDiet[®], Brentwood, MO, United States). All experiments were performed starting at 9 a.m. in freely moving conscious rats, in accordance to guide-lines which have been approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee, Taipei Veterans General Hospital.

Surgery

Implantation of the ICV catheter: For ICV implan-



Huang HH et al. Colonic secretion and motility in rats

tation, the rats were anesthetized with sodium pentobarbital (50 mg/kg, Nembutal; Abbott Laboratories, Abbott Park, IL, United States) by intraperitoneal injection, placed in a stereotaxic apparatus (Benchmark[™], myNeuroLab, St. Louis, MO, United States), and implanted with a guide cannula (25-gauge; Eicom, Kyoto, Japan), which reached the right lateral ventricle. The stereotaxic apparatus was placed 0.8 mm posterior to the bregma, 1.4 mm right lateral to the midline, and 4.5 mm below the outer surface of the skull using a stereotaxic frame with the incisor bar set at the horizontal plane passing through the bregma and lambda^[19,20]. The guide cannula was secured, a dummy cannula (Eicom) was inserted into the guide cannula, and a screw cap (Eicom) was placed as described in our previous study^[19,20]. The rats were allowed 7 d for full recovery before food intake measurement after the implantation of the ICV catheters. If the rats did not increase their body weight 7 d after the operation, they were considered to have been injured during the operation and were excluded. All ICV injections with a total volume of 10 µL were administered over 60 s via the AMI-5 (Eicom).

Implantation of the colonic catheter: The rats were anesthetized with sodium pentobarbital (50 mg/kg, Nembutal; Abbott) by intraperitoneal injection. After laparotomy of the lower abdomen, the proximal colon was exposed and a catheter (3 Fr, 1-mm diameter; ATOM) was implanted into the proximal colon, 2 cm distal from the cecocolonic junction^[3,4,21]. The catheter was fixed with a purse-string suture at the colonic wall and routed subcutaneously to the interscapular region, exteriorized through the skin, and secured together with an intravenous catheter for intracolonic administration of the dye marker^[3,4,21]. The animals were allowed to recover for 7 d before simultaneous measurement of colonic motor and secretory functions.

Preparation of drugs

Rat *O-n*-octanoylated ghrelin (Peptides International, Inc., Luisville, KY, United States) and rat des-acyl ghrelin (Peptides International) were kept in powder form at -20 $^{\circ}$ C, and dissolved in sterile, pyrogen-free 0.9% saline (Otsuka, Tokyo, Japan) immediately before use.

Colonic motor and secretory function tests

Measurement of the CTT: The measurement of colonic motor and secretory function was modified from our previous studies^[3,4,21]. The CTT was calculated using an enteral non-absorbable dye marker, trypan blue (Sigma Chemical Co., St. Louis, MO, United States). The dye (0.2 mL) was injected through the catheter positioned in the proximal colon, followed by a 0.2 mL saline flush 10 min after the ICV injection of acyl ghrelin and des-acyl ghrelin (1.0 nmol/rat). The

CTT was defined as the time interval between the dye injection and the discharge of the first blue pellet.

Measurements of fecal pellet output and total fecal weight: The rats were accustomed to single housing for 7 d before the experiment. The total number of pellets was recorded every hour for 2 h following an intracolonic injection of trypan blue. The total fecal material was collected every hour for 2 h following the intracolonic injection of trypan blue, and its content was weighed as the total fecal weight^[3,4,21].

Statistical analysis

All the results are expressed as mean \pm standard error of the mean. One-way analysis of variance followed by the Student-Newman-Keuls post-hoc test was used to detect the differences among groups. The relationship between total fecal weight, CTT, and the fecal pellet output in response to the ICV injection of either saline, acyl ghrelin, or des-acyl ghrelin was analyzed by Spearman's nonparametric correlation. Differences were considered statistically significant when *P* < 0.05.

RESULTS

The ICV injection of acyl ghrelin (1 nmol/5 μ L/rat) significantly accelerated the CTT, and increased the fecal pellet output and total fecal weight during the first hour post-injection, but des-acyl ghrelin (1 nmol/5 μ L/rat) only significantly accelerated the CTT

As compared with saline controls (5 μ L/rat), ICV acyl ghrelin (1 nmol/5 μ L/rat) and des-acyl ghrelin (1 nmol/5 μ L/rat) significantly accelerated the mean CTT from 292 to 236 and 234 min, respectively (*P* < 0.05, Figure 1A). During the first hour post-injection, ICV acyl ghrelin (1 nmol/5 μ L/rat) also significantly increased the fecal pellet output and total fecal weight (*P* < 0.05, Figure 1B and D). ICV acyl ghrelin (1 nmol/5 μ L/rat) did not affect the fecal pellet output and total fecal weight during the second hour post-injection (*P* > 0.05, Figure 1C and E). ICV des-acyl ghrelin (1 nmol/5 μ L/rat) did not affect either the fecal pellet output or total fecal weight during first and second hour post-injection (*P* > 0.05, Figure 1C and E). ICV acyl ghrelin (1 nmol/5 μ L/rat) did not affect either the fecal pellet output or total fecal weight during first and second hour post-injection (*P* > 0.05, Figure 1C and E).

An increased ICV injection volume shortened the CTT, which led to the disappearance of the colokinetic effects of acyl ghrelin and des-acyl ghrelin (1 nmol/10 μ L/rat)

An ICV injection of 10 μ L of saline significantly shortened the mean CTT from 292 to 191 min compared to the ICV injection of 5 μ L of saline (*P* < 0.05, Figure 1A and F). Moreover, the ICV injection of acyl ghrelin (1 nmol/10 μ L/rat) and des-acyl ghrelin (1 nmol/10 μ L/rat) did not have any effects on the CTT, fecal pellet output, and total fecal weight, compared to saline controls (10 μ L/rat, Figure 1F-J).





Saline (10 μ L/rat, n = 24)

Huang HH et al. Colonic secretion and motility in rats

Des-acyl ghrelin (1 nmol/10 μ L/rat, n = 12)



Baishiden

Huang HH et al. Colonic secretion and motility in rats



Figure 2 Pooled data demonstrating the relationships among total fecal weight (A-D), colonic transit time (A, B, C, and F), and fecal pellet output (C-F) stimulated by saline, acyl ghrelin, and des-acyl ghrelin with the intracerebroventricular injection volume at 5 μ L.

Relationships between total fecal weight, CTT, and fecal pellet output with an ICV injection volume of 5μ L

We pooled the data from the ICV injection of saline, acyl ghrelin, and des-acyl ghrelin at 5 μ L, and analyzed the correlations among total fecal weight, CTT, and fecal pellet output. The total fecal weight did not correlate with the CTT during the first hour and second hour

post-injection (P > 0.05, Figure 2A and B), whereas the total fecal weight exhibited a significantly positive correlation with the fecal pellet output (P < 0.001, Figure 2D and E). The CTT had a negative correlation with the fecal pellet output during the first hour (P < 0.05, Figure 2C) but not the second hour post-injection (P > 0.05, Figure 2F).

WJG | www.wjgnet.com

159



Figure 3 The relationships among total fecal weight, colonic transit time, and fecal pellet output during the first hour post-injection stimulated by either acyl ghrelin (A and B) or des-acyl ghrelin (C and D) with the intracerebroventricular injection volume at 5 μ L.

Relationships between total fecal weight, CTT, and fecal pellet output during the first hour post-injection stimulated by acyl ghrelin and des-acyl ghrelin, respectively, with an ICV injection volume at 5 ⁽¹⁾/₄L

We analyzed the correlations between total fecal weight, CTT, and fecal pellet output during the first hour post-injection, in response to ICV injection of either acyl ghrelin or des-acyl ghrelin with the volume at 5 μ L. The total fecal weight significantly correlated with the CTT and fecal pellet output during the first hour after ICV acyl ghrelin (1 nmol/5 μ L/rat) injection (P < 0.01, Figure 3A and B). The total fecal weight significantly correlated with the CTT, during the first hour after ICV des-acyl ghrelin (1 nmol/5 μ L/rat) injection (P < 0.01, Figure 3A and B). The total fecal weight significantly correlated with the fecal pellet output, but not the CTT, during the first hour after ICV des-acyl ghrelin (1 nmol/5 μ L/rat) injection (P < 0.001, Figure 3C and D).

DISCUSSION

In the present study, we first demonstrated the *in vivo* effects of ICV des-acyl ghrelin on colon motor and secretory functions. ICV injection of des-acyl ghrelin at 1 nmol/5 μ L accelerated the CTT without altering the fecal pellet output and total fecal weight during the first hour and second hour post-injection. Acyl ghrelin and ghrelin mimetics have been previously shown to exhibit

colokinetic effects such as shortening the CTT^[22] and decreasing the time to the first bowel movement^[23], and may have the clinical implication in relieving diet-induced constipation in a rat model^[24]. In addition to accelerating the CTT and increasing the fecal pellet output during the first hour post-injection, we also showed that the ICV injection of acyl ghrelin at 1 nmol/5 μ L enhanced the total fecal weight during the first hour post-injection, which is consistent with the results that intrathecal but not intravenous application of acyl ghrelin to the L6-S1 region of the spinal cord increased the fluid output through the anal cannula^[25]. Therefore, in our current study, the stimulatory properties of acyl ghrelin on the colonic secretion and motility are confirmed.

Although an acute increase of the ICV pressure has been reported to immediately suppress the amplitude of gastric and duodenal contractions in rabbits^[26], the effects of the ICV injection volume on colonic secretion and motility still remain obscure. Our study was the first to demonstrate that the increased ICV injection volume (from 5 μ L to 10 μ L) shortened the CTT in saline controls. Because the CTT has been shortened in the saline controls, the stimulating effects on colonic motility and/or secretion by either acyl ghrelin or desacyl ghrelin disappeared when the ICV injection vol-

WJG www.wjgnet.com

ume increased to 10 μ L at the same dose (1 nmol/rat). Acute moderate to severe head injury patients have been shown to have prolonged gastric emptying^[27]. An increased intracranial pressure is proposed to be the major cause of gastric motility dysfunction^[28]. The finding that an acutely increased ICV injection volume shortened the CTT may be explained by the increased intracranial pressure in a limited intracerebroventricular space, though we did not measure the increased intracranial pressure in our current study.

The CTT is considered a reflection of the motor function in the entire colon, while the fecal pellet output is the reflection of the distal colonic motor function^[29]. This means that the acceleration of the colonic transit is not always equal to the increase of fecal pellet output. A recent rodent study indicated that the central administration of CRF and restraint stress accelerate the colonic transit but do not always correlate with the increase of fecal pellet output^[28]. Our results are in accordance with this point (Figure 2B and C). We also showed that the ICV injection of acyl ghrelin enhanced the CTT, fecal pellet output, and total fecal weight, while the ICV injection of des-acyl ghrelin only accelerated the CTT. Therefore, we propose that acyl ghrelin accelerates the entire colon and distal colonic motor functions, whereas des-acyl ghrelin, lacking O-n-octanoylation at serine 3, may have greater effects in stimulating the proximal colon motor function without altering the distal colonic motility. In addition, our findings provide new information regarding the relationship between colonic secretion and motility. The finding that the total fecal weight during the first hour post-injection correlated with the CTT stimulated by the ICV injection of acyl ghrelin (Figure 3A) but not des-acyl ghrelin (Figure 3B) suggests that colonic secretion does not always correlate with colonic motility in response to different colonic stimulations.

In conclusion, the colokinetic effects of acyl ghrelin and des-acyl ghrelin depend on the ICV injection volume, and the acute increase of the ICV volume accelerates the CTT. In addition, acyl ghrelin, rather than des-acyl ghrelin, stimulates colonic secretion. Colonic secretion does not always correlate with colonic motility in response to different colonic stimulations.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank Miss Yu-Chi Lee for her secretarial assistance in manuscript editing, as well as the Clinical Research Core Laboratory of Taipei Veterans General Hospital for providing experimental space and facilities.

COMMENTS

Background

Acyl ghrelin is well known as an orexigenic gut-brain peptide and has the ability to regulate the gastrointestinal motility and energy balance. In contrast, desacyl ghrelin is known to decrease food intake and disrupt the gastric motility.

Research frontiers

The intracerebroventricular (ICV) injection of acyl ghrelin has been reported to speed the colonic transit time (CTT), but the impact of des-acyl ghrelin through ICV injection on the colonic motor function is still unexplored.

Innovations and breakthroughs

This is the first study to investigate the effects of des-acyl ghrelin on colonic secretory and motor functions, as well as to validate the relationship between colonic secretion and motility. This is also the first study to evaluate the role of ICV injection volume on the colonic motility and secretion in conscious rats.

Applications

Using a rat model chronically implanted with ICV and cecal catheters, the authors validated the correlation between colonic secretion and colonic motor functions, as well as the role of ICV injection volume.

Terminology

The colokinetic effects of acyl ghrelin and des-acyl ghrelin depend on the ICV injection volume, and the acute increase in ICV volume accelerates the CTT. In addition, acyl ghrelin, rather than des-acyl ghrelin, stimulates colonic secretion. Colonic secretion does not always correlate with colonic motility in response to different colonic stimulations.

Peer-review

Colonic secretion does not always correlate with colonic motility in response to different colonic stimulations in rats: role of intracerebroventricular injectional volume. The aims of this study were to investigate the influences of des-acyl ghrelin on colonic secretory and motor functions, as well as to validate the relationship between colonic secretion and motility. Also the authors aimed to appraise the role of ICV injectional volume in our unique rat model which can simultaneously measure the colonic motility and secretion in conscious rats.

REFERENCES

- Forbes SC, Cox HM. Peptide YY, neuropeptide Y and corticotrophinreleasing factor modulate gastrointestinal motility and food intake during acute stress. *Neurogastroenterol Motil* 2014; 26: 1605-1614 [PMID: 25238483 DOI: 10.1111/nmo.12428]
- 2 Nozu T, Kumei S, Takakusaki K, Ataka K, Fujimiya M, Okumura T. Central orexin-A increases colonic motility in conscious rats. *Neurosci Lett* 2011; 498: 143-146 [PMID: 21575675 DOI: 10.1016/j.neulet.2011.04.078]
- 3 Chen CY, Doong ML, Li CP, Liaw WJ, Lee HF, Chang FY, Lin HC, Lee SD. A novel simultaneous measurement method to assess the influence of intracerebroventricular obestatin on colonic motility and secretion in conscious rats. *Peptides* 2010; **31**: 1113-1117 [PMID: 20338205 DOI: 10.1016/j.peptides.2010.03.024]
- 4 Chen CY, Chien EJ, Chang FY, Lu CL, Luo JC, Lee SD. Impacts of peripheral obestatin on colonic motility and secretion in conscious fed rats. *Peptides* 2008; 29: 1603-1608 [PMID: 18565623 DOI: 10.1016/j.peptides.2008.05.003]
- 5 Saunders PR, Maillot C, Million M, Taché Y. Peripheral corticotropin-releasing factor induces diarrhea in rats: role of CRF1 receptor in fecal watery excretion. *Eur J Pharmacol* 2002; 435: 231-235 [PMID: 11821031]
- 6 Kojima M, Hosoda H, Date Y, Nakazato M, Matsuo H, Kangawa K. Ghrelin is a growth-hormone-releasing acylated peptide from stomach. *Nature* 1999; 402: 656-660 [PMID: 10604470 DOI: 10.1038/45230]
- 7 Date Y, Kojima M, Hosoda H, Sawaguchi A, Mondal MS, Suganuma T, Matsukura S, Kangawa K, Nakazato M. Ghrelin, a novel growth hormone-releasing acylated peptide, is synthesized in a distinct endocrine cell type in the gastrointestinal tracts of rats and humans. *Endocrinology* 2000; **141**: 4255-4261 [PMID: 11089560 DOI: 10.1210/endo.141.11.7757]
- 8 **Yang J**, Brown MS, Liang G, Grishin NV, Goldstein JL. Identification of the acyltransferase that octanoylates ghrelin, an



appetite-stimulating peptide hormone. *Cell* 2008; **132**: 387-396 [PMID: 18267071 DOI: 10.1016/j.cell.2008.01.017]

- 9 Chen CY, Asakawa A, Fujimiya M, Lee SD, Inui A. Ghrelin gene products and the regulation of food intake and gut motility. *Pharmacol Rev* 2009; 61: 430-481 [PMID: 20038570 DOI: 10.1124/pr.109.001958]
- 10 Gutierrez JA, Solenberg PJ, Perkins DR, Willency JA, Knierman MD, Jin Z, Witcher DR, Luo S, Onyia JE, Hale JE. Ghrelin octanoylation mediated by an orphan lipid transferase. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2008; 105: 6320-6325 [PMID: 18443287 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.0800708105]
- 11 Chen CY, Fujimiya M, Laviano A, Chang FY, Lin HC, Lee SD. Modulation of ingestive behavior and gastrointestinal motility by ghrelin in diabetic animals and humans. *J Chin Med Assoc* 2010; **73**: 225-229 [PMID: 20685586 DOI: 10.1016/S1726-4901(10)70048-4]
- 12 Kojima M, Kangawa K. Ghrelin, an orexigenic signaling molecule from the gastrointestinal tract. *Curr Opin Pharmacol* 2002; 2: 665-668 [PMID: 12482728]
- 13 Fujino K, Inui A, Asakawa A, Kihara N, Fujimura M, Fujimiya M. Ghrelin induces fasted motor activity of the gastrointestinal tract in conscious fed rats. *J Physiol* 2003; 550: 227-240 [PMID: 12837928 DOI: 10.1113/jphysiol.2003.040600]
- 14 Inui A. Ghrelin: an orexigenic and somatotrophic signal from the stomach. *Nat Rev Neurosci* 2001; 2: 551-560 [PMID: 11483998 DOI: 10.1038/35086018]
- 15 Chen CY, Tsai CY. From endocrine to rheumatism: do gut hormones play roles in rheumatoid arthritis? *Rheumatology* (Oxford) 2014; 53: 205-212 [PMID: 23882111 DOI: 10.1093/ rheumatology/ket255]
- 16 Chen CY, Inui A, Asakawa A, Fujino K, Kato I, Chen CC, Ueno N, Fujimiya M. Des-acyl ghrelin acts by CRF type 2 receptors to disrupt fasted stomach motility in conscious rats. *Gastroenterology* 2005; 129: 8-25 [PMID: 16012930]
- 17 Asakawa A, Inui A, Fujimiya M, Sakamaki R, Shinfuku N, Ueta Y, Meguid MM, Kasuga M. Stomach regulates energy balance via acylated ghrelin and desacyl ghrelin. *Gut* 2005; 54: 18-24 [PMID: 15591499 DOI: 10.1136/gut.2004.038737]
- 18 Tebbe JJ, Tebbe CG, Mronga S, Ritter M, Schäfer MK. Central neuropeptide Y receptors are involved in 3rd ventricular ghrelin induced alteration of colonic transit time in conscious fed rats. *BMC Gastroenterol* 2005; 5: 5 [PMID: 15720710 DOI: 10.1186/1471-230X-5-5]
- 19 Ting CH, Chi CW, Li CP, Chen CY. Differential modulation of endogenous cannabinoid CB1 and CB2 receptors in spontaneous and splice variants of ghrelin-induced food intake in conscious rats. *Nutrition* 2015; 31: 230-235 [PMID: 25466669 DOI:

10.1016/j.nut.2014.06.008]

- 20 Yeh C, Ting CH, Doong ML, Chi CW, Lee SD, Chen CY. Intracerebroventricular urocortin 3 counteracts central acyl ghrelininduced hyperphagic and gastroprokinetic effects via CRF receptor 2 in rats. *Drug Des Devel Ther* 2016; 10: 3281-3290 [PMID: 27757017 DOI: 10.2147/DDDT.S113195]
- 21 Ting CH, Chen YC, Liaw WJ, Lin HC, Chen CY. Peripheral injection of pancreatic polypeptide enhances colonic transit without eliciting anxiety or altering colonic secretion in rats. *Neuropeptides* 2016; 55: 67-71 [PMID: 26601891 DOI: 10.1016/j. npep.2015.10.002]
- 22 Tebbe JJ, Mronga S, Tebbe CG, Ortmann E, Arnold R, Schäfer MK. Ghrelin-induced stimulation of colonic propulsion is dependent on hypothalamic neuropeptide Y1- and corticotrophin-releasing factor 1 receptor activation. *J Neuroendocrinol* 2005; **17**: 570-576 [PMID: 16101895 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2826.2005.01340.x]
- 23 Venkova K, Mann W, Nelson R, Greenwood-Van Meerveld B. Efficacy of ipamorelin, a novel ghrelin mimetic, in a rodent model of postoperative ileus. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 2009; **329**: 1110-1116 [PMID: 19289567 DOI: 10.1124/jpet.108.149211]
- 24 Pustovit RV, Furness JB, Rivera LR. A ghrelin receptor agonist is an effective colokinetic in rats with diet-induced constipation. *Neurogastroenterol Motil* 2015; 27: 610-617 [PMID: 25616061 DOI: 10.1111/nmo.12517]
- Hirayama H, Shiina T, Shima T, Kuramoto H, Takewaki T, B Furness J, Shimizu Y. Contrasting effects of ghrelin and desacyl ghrelin on the lumbo-sacral defecation center and regulation of colorectal motility in rats. *Neurogastroenterol Motil* 2010; 22: 1124-1131 [PMID: 20584261 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2982. 2010.01553.x]
- 26 Garrick T, Mulvihill S, Buack S, Maeda-Hagiwara M, Tache Y. Intracerebroventricular pressure inhibits gastric antral and duodenal contractility but not acid secretion in conscious rabbits. *Gastroenterology* 1988; 95: 26-31 [PMID: 2897317]
- Kao CH, ChangLai SP, Chieng PU, Yen TC. Gastric emptying in head-injured patients. *Am J Gastroenterol* 1998; **93**: 1108-1112 [PMID: 9672339 DOI: 10.1111/j.1572-0241.1998.00338.x]
- 28 McArthur CJ, Gin T, McLaren IM, Critchley JA, Oh TE. Gastric emptying following brain injury: effects of choice of sedation and intracranial pressure. *Intensive Care Med* 1995; 21: 573-576 [PMID: 7593899]
- 29 Nakade Y, Mantyh C, Pappas TN, Takahashi T. Fecal pellet output does not always correlate with colonic transit in response to restraint stress and corticotropin-releasing factor in rats. *J Gastroenterol* 2007; 42: 279-282 [PMID: 17464456 DOI: 10.1007/s00535-006-1947-2]

P- Reviewer: Huerta-Franco MR S- Editor: Yu J L- Editor: A E- Editor: Liu WX





WJG | www.wjgnet.com



Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/ Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v22.i46.10148 World J Gastroenterol 2016 December 14; 22(46): 10148-10157 ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online) © 2016 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Basic Study

C5a/C5aR pathway is essential for up-regulating SphK1 expression through p38-MAPK activation in acute liver failure

Yan-Chang Lei, Chun-Lei Lu, Ling Chen, Ke Ge, Ling-Ling Yang, Wen Li, Yuan-Hua Wu

Yan-Chang Lei, Ling Chen, Ke Ge, Department of Infectious Diseases, Zhejiang Hospital, Hangzhou 310013, Zhejiang Province, China

Yan-Chang Lei, Lingling Yang, Wen Li, Infectious Diseases Hospital of Nanchang University, Nanchang 330006, Jiangxi Province, China

Chun-Lei Lu, Yuan-Hua Wu, The First People's Hospital of Pinghu, Pinghu 314200, Zhejiang Province, China

Author contributions: Lei YC designed this research; Lei YC, Yang LL, Li W, Lu CL, Chen L and Ge K performed the research and analyzed the data; Lei YC wrote the paper.

Supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China, No. 81260455 and No. 81160065.

Institutional review board statement: The study was reviewed and approved by the Zhejiang Hospital Institutional Review Board.

Institutional animal care and use committee statement: All procedures involving animals were reviewed and approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee of the Zhejiang Hospital.

Conflict-of-interest statement: We declare that there are no conflicts of interest to disclose.

Data sharing statement: No additional data are available.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Manuscript source: Unsolicited manuscript

Correspondence to: Dr. Yan-Chang Lei, Chief Physician, Department of Infectious Diseases, Zhejiang Hospital, 12 Lingyin Road, Hangzhou 310013, Zhejiang Province, China. ycleihust@sina.com Telephone: +86-571-81595081 Fax: +86-571-87980175

Received: August 2, 2016 Peer-review started: August 3, 2016 First decision: August 19, 2016 Revised: September 8, 2016 Accepted: October 10, 2016 Article in press: October 10, 2016 Published online: December 14, 2016

Abstract

AIM

To investigate the role of the complement 5a (C5a)/ C5a receptor (C5aR) pathway in the pathogenesis of acute liver failure (ALF) in a mouse model.

METHODS

BALB/c mice were randomly assigned to different groups, and intraperitoneal injections of lipopolysaccharide (LPS)/D-galactosamine (D-GalN) (600 mg/kg and 10 μ g/kg) were used to induce ALF. The Kaplan-Meier method was used for survival analysis. Serum alanine aminotransferase (ALT) levels, at different time points within a 1-wk period, were detected with a biochemistry analyzer. Pathological examination of liver tissue was performed 36 h after ALF induction. Serum complement 5 (C5), C5a, tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α), interleukin (IL)-1 β , IL-6, high-mobility group protein B1 (HMGB1) and sphingosine-1-phosphate



levels were detected by enzyme-linked immunosorbant assay. Hepatic morphological changes at 36 h after ALF induction were assessed by hematoxylin and eosin staining. Expression of C5aR, sphingosine kinase 1 (SphK1), p38-MAPK and p-p38-MAPK in liver tissue, peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) and peritoneal exudative macrophages (PEMs) of mice or RAW 264.7 cells was analyzed by western blotting. C5aR mRNA levels were detected by quantitative real-time PCR.

RESULTS

Activation of C5 and up-regulation of C5aR were observed in liver tissue and PBMCs of mice with ALF. Blockade of C5aR with a C5aR antagonist (C5aRa C5aRa) significantly reduced the levels of serum ALT, inflammatory cytokines (TNF- α , IL-1 β and IL-6) and HMGB1, as well as the liver tissue damage, but increased the survival rates (P < 0.01 for all). Blockade of C5aR decreased SphK1 expression in both liver tissue and PBMCs significantly at 0.5 h after ALF induction. C5aRa pretreatment significantly down-regulated the phosphorylation of p38-MAPK in liver tissues of ALF mice and C5a stimulated PEMs or RAW 264.7 cells. Moreover, inhibition of p38-MAPK activity with SB203580 reduced SphK1 protein production significantly in PEMs after C5a stimulation.

CONCLUSION

The C5a/C5aR pathway is essential for up-regulating SphK1 expression through p38 MAPK activation in ALF in mice, which provides a potential immunotherapeutic strategy for ALF in patients.

Key words: Acute liver failure; C5a/C5aR; p38-MAPK; Sphingosine kinase 1

© **The Author(s) 2016.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core tip: Recent studies and our work show that SphK1 and complement activation play an important role in systemic inflammation in acute liver failure (ALF). It has been shown that C5a activates sphingosine kinase 1 (SphK1) in macrophages. However, the mechanism of C5a-induced SphK1 activation is unknown. In this study we found that excessive activation of C5 and upregulation of C5aR in liver tissue, and the C5a/C5aR pathway is essential for potentiating SphK1 expression through p38 MAPK activation in ALF. To our knowledge, this is the first report of the mechanism of C5a-induced SphK1 activation, which provides a potential immuno-therapeutic strategy for ALF in patients.

Lei YC, Lu CL, Chen L, Ge K, Yang LL, Li W, Wu YH. C5a/ C5aR pathway is essential for up-regulating SphK1 expression through p38-MAPK activation in acute liver failure. *World J Gastroenterol* 2016; 22(46): 10148-10157 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v22/i46/10148.htm DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v22.i46.10148

INTRODUCTION

Despite availability of efficient antiviral drugs and artificial liver support system, acute liver failure (ALF) remains a largely intractable clinical problem, with high mortality rates (about 80%)^[1]. It often requires urgent liver transplantation due to the limited therapeutic options^[1-3]. Growing evidence suggests that ALF can trigger systemic inflammation through release of pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α), interleukin (IL)-1 β , and IL-6^[4,5].

Sphingosine kinase 1 (SphK1) is an intracellular signaling enzyme that generates the lipid mediator sphingosine-1-phosphate (S1P)^[6]. Several proinflammatory stimuli, including complement 5a (C5a), activate SphK1 on macrophages, and blockade of SphK1 attenuates inflammatory responses^[7-9]. Previous studies have shown that SphK1 plays a critical role in sepsis-induced inflammatory responses^[10], and our recent work showed that expression and activation of SphK1 play an important role in ALF in a mouse model^[11,12].

The C5a fragment is the most powerful proinflammatory anaphylatoxin generated during complement activation^[13]. Increasing evidence suggests that excessive C5a can cause deleterious exaggeration of the innate immune responses during bacterial infections^[14-16]. In animal models of sepsis, blockade of the C5a/C5aR pathway attenuates organ injury and increases survival rates in mice^[16]. Recent studies indicate that complement activation plays an important role in lipopolysaccharide (LPS)/D-galactosamine (D-GalN)- and acetaminophen (APAP)-induced ALF in mice^[17,18]. Moreover, C5a is over-produced during ALF, and inhibition of C5aR signaling alleviates liver injury in an animal model of ALF^[17].

Based on the above results, we speculated that activation of the C5a/C5aR pathway plays an important role in SphK1 activation in ALF. Here, we report that SphK1 activation relies on C5a/C5aR interactions, which involve the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) signaling pathway. Blocking C5a/C5aR interactions effectively prevents LPS/D-GalN-induced ALF in mice, indicating that intervention of complement activation may be a useful immunotherapeutic strategy for ALF in patients.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Animal model of ALF and treatment

Male BALB/c mice, weighing 20 ± 0.5 g, were obtained from the Experimental Animal Center of Nanchang University (Nanchang, China). Specific pathogenfree male mice around 6-wk-old were used for all experiments. Mice were handled and treated in accordance with the strict guiding principles of the National Institution of Health for experimental care and use of animals and approved by the animal care and use committee of Zhejiang Hospital. After ALF was



induced, mice were sacrificed at the indicated time points as described previously^[12]. Mice were randomly assigned to five groups (12 mice per group): PBS group, ALF group, C5aR antagonist (C5aRa) or cobra venom factor (CVF) pretreatment group, and C5aRa + CVF pretreatment group. All of the groups were observed for 1 wk.

Blockade of C5aR and complement depletion

For blockade of C5aR, mice were intraperitoneally injected with 1 mg/kg C5aRa (GL Biochem Ltd., Shanghai, China) 30 min before D-GalN/LPS challenge or treatment with PBS as a mock control. Complement was depleted by two intraperitoneal injections (7.5 U each in 200 μ L of saline/mouse) of CVF (Quidel Corporation, San Diego, CA, United States). The first injection was given 24 h before D-GalN/LPS or saline administration, and the second injection was given 5 h after the first CVF injection. This was done to prevent any adverse effects of rapid loss of complement.

Quantification of alanine aminotransferase and detection of serum cytokines, high-mobility group protein B1, C5, C5a and S1P

Serum alanine aminotransferase (ALT) levels were measured using an Olympus AU5400 automatic biochemistry analyzer, and the levels of serum cytokines (TNF- α , IL-1 β and IL-6), high-mobility group protein B1 (HMGB1) and S1P were measured by enzyme linked-immunosorbant assay (ELISA) as described previously^[12]. Serum C5a and C5 levels were measured with commercial ELISA kits according to the manufacturer's instructions.

Western blot analysis and histological study of liver tissue

Western blot analysis was performed as previously described^[11,12]. Briefly, 40 μ g of protein from total tissue or cell lysate were used, and the blots were probed using polyclonal anti-mouse SphK1, C5aR, p38-MAPK and phospho-p38-MAPK antibodies (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Dallas, TX, United States), with β -actin detected with anti- β -actin antibody (Santa Cruz Biotechnology) as a loading control. For histological study, liver tissue was fixed in 40 g/L phosphate-buffered formalin, and 3-5 μ m tissue sections were cut and stained with hematoxylin and eosin (HE) before microscopic evaluation at × 200 or × 400 magnification.

Quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction

Liver tissues were obtained from mice at the indicated time points and total RNA was extracted using TRIZOL (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, United States) and then reverse transcribed into cDNA using ReverTra Ace qPCR RT kit (Toyobo, Osaka, Japan). The cDNA was then amplified by PCR. Quantitative PCR with SYBR Green Realtime PCR Master Mix-Plus (Toyobo) was performed using a Prism 7000 (Applied Biosystems Inc, Foster City, CA, United States) sequence detection system, and mRNA levels were normalized to that of the housekeeping gene β -actin. Primer sequences for PCR amplification were as follows: C5aR forward, 5'-TGGACCCCATAGATAACAGCAG-3' and C5aR reverse, 5'-GGAACACCACCGAGTAGATGAT-3'; β -actin forward, 5'-TGGAATCCTGTGGCATCCATGAAAC-3' and β -actin reverse, 5-AAAACGCAGCTCAGTAACAGTCCG-3'.

Peritoneal exudative macrophage isolation and cell culture

Peritoneal exudative macrophages (PEMs) were harvested from BALB/c mice. Cells were re-suspended in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM) containing 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) at 5×10^{6} cells/mL in a 6-well plate and incubated for 4 h; 500 ng/mL of C5a (Biovision, Milpitas, CA, United States) and 10 nmol/L of C5aRa (60-min pre-incubation) were used. PEMs were harvested and lysed for western blot analysis of SphK1. RAW 264.7 cells were obtained from the Institute of Cell Biology of the Chinese Academy of Sciences (Shanghai, China) and were cultured in 6-well plates and propagated in DMEM supplemented with 10% FBS, 100 U/mL penicillin, and 100 mg/mL streptomycin. Cells were stimulated with C5a (500 ng/mL) or C5a + C5aRa (pre-incubated for 60 min with 10 nmol/L of C5aRa in the presence of C5a). Inhibition of p38-MAPK activity was achieved with SB203580 (10 mmol/L).

Statistical analysis

Data are expressed as the mean \pm standard error of the mean. Statistical significance was determined by a two-tailed Student's *t*-test or one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA), and, specifically, a log-rank test for survival analysis. A *P* value < 0.05 was considered statistically significant. Statistical image analysis was performed after determining that the data fit a normal distribution. A two-tailed Student's *t*-test was employed after the exclusion of outliers that were less or greater than two standard deviations away from the median. All statistical analyses were performed using SPSS 13.0 for Windows.

RESULTS

Excessive activation of C5 and up-regulation of C5aR in liver tissue of mice with ALF

To address the relevance of C5 activation in ALF in mice, we first challenged BALB/c mice with D-GalN/LPS and examined C5 activation over a time course. Upon D-GalN/LPS challenge, C5a levels in serum rapidly increased within 6 h and peaked at 12 h (Figure 1A). Although serum C5a levels began to decrease after 24 h of ALF induction (Figure 1B), the serum C5a level at 36 h was still higher than that of the unchallenged mice (Figure 1B). Compared to the controls, expression of C5aR mRNA (> 15-fold) and protein was elevated significantly in liver tissue of





Figure 1 Excessive activation of C5 and up-regulation of C5aR in liver tissue of mice with acute liver failure. Acute liver failure was induced in BALB/c mice using D-GalN (600 mg/kg) and LPS (10 μ g/kg). A: Serum levels of C5a at 12, 24 and 36 h increased significantly compared with that at 0 h (42.8 ng/mL ± 4.77 ng/mL, 35.22 ng/mL ± 3.62 ng/mL, 25.52 ng/mL ± 4.02 ng/mL vs 12.23 ng/mL ± 2.55 ng/mL, *t* = 19.31, 17.2, and 9.67, respectively, ^eP < 0.001); B: Serum levels of C5 at 12, 24 and 36 h increased significantly compared with that at 0 h (0.65 mg/mL ± 0.117 mg/mL, 0.343 mg/mL ± 0.09 mg/mL, 0.211 mg/mL ± 0.06 mg/mL vs 1.413 mg/mL ± 0.209 mg/mL, *t* = 11.03, 16.29, and 19.15, respectively, ^eP < 0.001); C and D: Expression of C5aR mRNA and protein in liver tissue. The mean ± SE of three independent experiments is shown (error bar indicates standard error).

Lei YC et al. C5a/C5aR potentiates SphK1 expression in ALF

ALF mice (Figure 1C and D). These results suggest that excessive complement activation occurs during D-GalN/LPS-induced ALF in mice.

Blockade of the C5a/C5aR pathway attenuates D-GalN/ LPS-induced ALF in mice

To achieve a blockade of C5aR signaling during ALF, we chose to use a C5aRa. Blockade of C5aR apparently attenuated ALF, as demonstrated by a significant reduction in serum levels of ALT (Figure 2A), inflammatory cytokines (Figure 2B and C) and the liver tissue damage (Figure 2D), as well as an increase in survival rates (Figure 2E) in mice after D-GalN/LPS challenge. In addition, depleting complement by CVF pretreatment also resulted in a significant decrease in susceptibility to D-GalN/LPS challenge, as evidenced by a reduction in serum ALT levels (Figure 3A) along with an increase in survival rates (Figure 3B) compared with the control. Furthermore, treatment with C5aRa further lessened the pathogenic effect on D-GalN/ LPS challenged mice receiving CVF pretreatment, as evidenced by lower levels of serum ALT (Figure 3C), inflammatory cytokines (TNF- α , IL-1 β and IL-6) and HMGB1 (Figure 3D and E). These data clearly demonstrate that abrogating the C5a/C5aR pathway can alleviate the severity of ALF.

C5a/C5aR pathway is required for the expression of SphK1 during ALF

Given the critical role of SphK1 in D-GalN/LPS-induced ALF^[11,12], we measured SphK1 expression in C5aRa pretreated mice. These mice exhibited a significant reduction in SphK1 expression in both liver tissue and peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) at 0.5 h after ALF induction (Figure 4A and B). Blockade of SphK1 activity *in vivo* was confirmed by reduced S1P level (Figure 4C). Moreover, treatment with CVF appeared to be capable of further reducing SphK1 expression in ALF mice receiving C5aRa (Figure 4A and B).

Previous evidence has suggested that macrophages and PBMCs are the major source of SphK1 expression during D-GalN/LPS-induced ALF in mice^[11,12] and C5aR is highly expressed in macrophages and the macrophages-derived cell line RAW 264.7^[19]. To further explore whether C5a could directly induce SphK1 expression in macrophage, we stimulated murine PEMs with recombinant C5a. Compared to the controls, the C5a stimulated PEMs exhibited a significant increase in SphK1 expression, and this effect was abolished by C5aRa pretreatment (Figure 4C), indicating that C5a/ C5aR interactions directly modulate SphK1 production in macrophages. Furthermore, C5a treatment led to an increase in SphK1 expression in RAW 264.7 cells and this effect was also abolished by C5aRa pretreatment (Figure 4D). These results indicate that the C5a/C5aR pathway associates with SphK1 expression and the pathogenesis of ALF in mice.

WJG www.wjgnet.com

Lei YC et al. C5a/C5aR potentiates SphK1 expression in ALF



Figure 2 C5aRa attenuates D-GalN/LPS induced acute liver failure in mice. A: C5aRa decreased serum levels of ALT at 12 h and 24 h significantly (3736.12 IU/L \pm 937.98 IU/L vs 7612.78 IU/L \pm 1379.21 IU/L, 2225.07 IU/L \pm 381.99 IU/L vs 3741.74 IU/L \pm 637.53 IU/L, t = 8.05 and 7.07, respectively, ^eP < 0.001); B: C5aRa reduced serum levels of TNF- α , IL-1 β and IL-6 at 12 h (299.35 pg/mL \pm 50.61 pg/mL vs 439.33 pg/mL \pm 63.59 pg/mL, 57.42 pg/mL \pm 12.98 pg/mL vs 106.69 pg/mL \pm 49.87 pg/mL, 213.52 pg/mL \pm 42.69 pg/mL vs 500.87 pg/mL \pm 104.14 pg/mL, t = 5.96, 6.94, and 8.84 respectively, ^eP < 0.001); C: C5aRa reduced HMGB1 levels at 6, 12 and 24 h (18.14 ng/mL \pm 4.08 ng/mL vs 60.23 ng/mL \pm 5.47 ng/mL; 16.21 ng/mL \pm 5.11 ng/mL vs 67.14 ng/mL \pm 14.27 ng/mL; 15.42 ng/mL \pm 6.23 ng/mL \pm 6.35 ng/mL \pm 15.6 ng/mL, t = 9.13, 11.64, and 6.85, respectively, ^eP < 0.001); D: Immune cell infiltration and tissue damage were detected by HE staining at 36 h after onset of ALF (1 = normal mice; 2 = ALF mice; 3 = C5aRa treated mice; magnification, × 100); E: Kaplan-Meier analysis of the effect of C5aRa on survival rates of animals (^eP < 0.001, log-rank test, F = 14.06). The mean \pm SE of three independent experiments is shown (error bar indicates standard error). ALF: Acute liver failure. TNF- α : Tumor necrosis factor- α ; IL: Interleukin.



Figure 3 C5aRa further lessens the pathogenic effect on D-GalN/LPS challenged mice receiving cobra venom factor pretreatment. A: Cobra venom factor (CVF) treatment decreased serum levels of ALT at 12 h and 24 h significantly (3798.28 IU/L \pm 839.68 IU/L vs 7612.78 IU/L \pm 1379.21 IU/L, 1965.93 IU/L \pm 371.74 IU/L vs 3798.28 IU/L \pm 839.68 IU/L vs 7612.78 IU/L \pm 1379.21 IU/L, 1965.93 IU/L \pm 371.74 IU/L vs 3798.28 IU/L \pm 839.68 IU/L, t = 8.34 and 8.18, respectively, $^{e}P < 0.001$); B: Kaplan-Meier analysis of the effect of CVF on survival rates of animals ($^{e}P < 0.001$, log-rank test, F = 14.84); C: C5aRa further decreased serum levels of ALT at 12 h and 24 h significantly compared with CVF (1668.4 IU/L \pm 339.68 IU/L vs 3798.28 IU/L \pm 839.68 IU/L, 1069.69 IU/L \pm 171.74 IU/L vs 1965.93 IU/L \pm 371.74 IU/L, t = 8.14 and 7.58, respectively, $^{e}P < 0.001$); D: C5aRa further reduced serum levels of TNF- α , IL-1 β and IL-6 at 12 h significantly compared with CVF (129.67 pg/mL \pm 32.79 pg/mL vs 312.19 pg/mL \pm 51.25 pg/mL; 27.73 pg/mL \pm 8.78 pg/mL vs 63.28 pg/mL \pm 13.27 pg/mL; 103.66 pg/mL \pm 22.33 pg/mL vs 223.67 pg/mL \pm 41.77 pg/mL, t = 10.39, 7.74, and 8.78, respectively, $^{e}P < 0.001$); E: C5aRa further reduced HMGB1 levels at 6, 12 and 24 h in ALF mice (15.14 ng/mL \pm 3.08 ng/mL vs 33.23 ng/mL \pm 4.17 ng/mL; 16.21 ng/mL \pm 3.11 ng/mL \pm 3.09.44 ng/mL \pm 5.07 ng/mL; 15.42 ng/mL \pm 3.23 ng/mL vs 31.33 ng/mL \pm 4.36 ng/mL, t = 11.49, 13.53, and 10.16, respectively, $^{e}P < 0.001$). ALF: Acute liver failure. TNF: Tumor necrosis factor; IL: Interleukin; ALT: Alanine aminotransferase; HMGB1: High-mobility group protein B1.

C5aR signaling induces SphK1 expression through activation of p38-MAPK

Recent studies show that C5a has a critical role in regulating macrophage functions and p38-MAPK is activated in macrophages during C5a stimulation^[20].

Whether C5a induced SphK1 expression through p38-MAPK activation needs further investigation. To explore the relation of C5a/C5aR interactions with p38-MAPK phosphorylation *in vivo*, we first examined the tyrosine phosphorylation status of p38-MAPK after



Figure 4 C5a/C5aR signaling is required for the expression of SphK1 during acute liver failure. A and B: Blocking of C5aR with C5aRa reduced SphK1 expression in liver tissue and peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) of acute liver failure (ALF) mice; C: Blocking of C5aR by C5aRa reduced S1P level in liver tissue significantly than that of control (ALF group), ^eP < 0.01; D, E: Recombinant murine C5a (500 ng/mL) induced SphK1 expression in peritoneal exudative macrophages (PEMs) and RAW 264.7 cells, and was abolished by incubation for 60 min with 10 nmol/L C5aRa. The data shown are representative of three separate experiments.

C5aRa pretreatment. As expected, the liver tissues presented with remarkably lower levels of p38-MAPK phosphorylation at 6 h and 12 h in C5aRa pretreated mice compared to controls (Figure 5A). In line with the *in vivo* result, a faster and persistent phosphorylation of p38-MAPK was clearly observed in PEMs stimulated with C5a, and C5aRa abolished this effect (Figure 5B). These results indicated that the C5a/C5aR pathway is involved in mediating C5a-induced p38-MAPK phosphorylation.

To investigate whether p38-MAPK activation mediates C5aR-dependent SphK1 induction, we used SB203580 to directly inhibit p38-MAPK activity. Preincubation with SB20380 significantly reduced SphK1 production in PEMs upon C5a stimulation (Figure 5C). Under our experimental condition, SB203580 showed no cytotoxicity, as confirmed by > 95% of the cells with trypan blue exclusion after incubation for 6 h and 24 h (data not shown). These data indicate that the p38-MAPK signaling pathway mediates C5a/C5aRinduced SphK1 production in macrophages.

DISCUSSION

D-GalN/LPS-induced ALF in mice efficiently reproduces the clinical syndrome of ALF in humans. Although it has been noticed that complement activation plays an important role in LPS/D-GalN- and APAPinduced ALF^[17,18], the possible role of complement activation in promoting ALF has not been investigated previously. Here, we found that ALF strongly activates the complement system, leading to a C5a increase. Attenuation in wild-type mice treated with C5aRa upon LPS/D-GalN-induction clearly validated the role of the C5a/C5aR pathway in the pathogenesis of ALF. *In vivo* and *in vitro* experiments also suggest that C5a/C5aR interactions up-regulate the expression and activation of SphK1 in macrophages through p38-MAPK activation.

Extensive expression and activation of SphK1 are a hallmark for LPS/D-GalN-induced ALF^[11,12]. Our data show that upon LPS/D-GalN challenge, inhibition of C5aR signaling with C5aRa can substantially reduce SphK1 production, thus protecting the animals from ALF. These results demonstrate that the C5a/C5aR pathway, *via* induction of SphK1 expression, plays a key role in ALF. It also implies that the excessive activation of complement, particularly C5a levels, may serve as a clinical criterion for disease diagnosis and prediction of severity in patients with ALF.

It has been shown that bacterial infections and LPS can quickly activate the complement system^[16,21]. In accordance with the previous results^[17,18], the complement system is rapidly activated in ALF. This is confirmed by the observation of serum C5a level upsurge at the early stage of ALF development, indicating that C5a is an early mediator of ALF. This excessive complement activation and consumption at the early stage appear to explain the drop in serum



Figure 5 C5aR signaling induces SphK1 expression through activation of p38-MAPK. A: C5a induced p38-MAPK activation in liver tissue of acute liver failure (ALF) mice; B: PEMs were stimulated with C5a (500 ng/mL) or C5a + C5aRa (pre-incubated 60 min with 10 nmol/L of C5aRa in the presence of C5a); C: Inhibition of p38-MAPK activity with SB203580 down-regulated SphK1 expression in PEMs stimulated with C5a.

C5 levels and C5 exhaustion in LPS/D-GalN-induced ALF. Although serum C5a levels in these mice began to decrease at 24 h after challenge, likely due to C5 exhaustion, the serum C5a level at 36 h was still higher than that of control, implying that C5a may also play a role in pathogenesis at the late stage of disease.

Excessive expression and activation of SphK1 are critical to the pathogenesis of ALF and inhibition of SphK1 with a specific inhibitor (N,N-dimethylsphingosine, DMS) attenuates mouse liver injury and increases the survival rate, supporting a critical role for SphK1 in ALF^[17]. Our study clearly showed that if C5aR signaling was inhibited, LPS/D-GalN failed to induce massive expression of SphK1 in the affected liver, indicating that C5a/C5aR interactions participate in the expression and activation of SphK1 for causing the disease.

Several proinflammatory stimuli, including anaphylatoxin C5a and TNF- α , activate SphK1 on human macrophages, and blockade of SphK1 inhibits several pro-inflammatory responses triggered by these stimuli^[7-9]. As a result, we speculated that C5a/C5aR interactions are essential for SphK1 expression and activation. It has been shown that C5a is able to activate the three major MAPK pathways in most of inflammatory cells, including macrophages^[22,23], and a recent study indicated that the C5a/C5aR pathway is necessary for p38-MAPK phosphorylation in macrophages^[20]. Furthermore, MAPK activation plays a key role in C5ainduced production of inflammatory cytokines^[15,22]. In accordance with these results, we found that *in vitro*, C5a-induced SphK1 expression is largely dependent on activation of the p38-MAPK pathways. Our result identified that C5 activation and C5a/C5aR interactions play an important role in mediating p38-MAPK activation in liver tissue that leads to the pathogenesis of ALF.

Although the specific mechanism of complement activation during ALF is not very clear, the observation that C5a/C5aR signaling play an important role in the development of experimental ALF sheds light on the new strategies for treating ALF patients. Further research is needed to investigate the potential role of C5a in ALF in humans, and C5aR antagonist or C5a-neutralizing antibodies appear to have existing advantages for their usage in clinical treatment of ALF.

In conclusion, our results provide direct evidence that C5a/C5aR signaling plays a critical role in the pathogenesis of LPS/D-GalN-induced ALF in mice. Moreover, it is the first time we found that the C5a/ C5aR pathway participates in the expression and activation of SphK1 through p38-MAPK activation. We have reasons to believe that interfering in the C5a/C5aR signaling pathway can become a promising immunotherapeutic strategy for ALF in patients.

COMMENTS

Background

Recent studies and our work show that sphingosine kinase 1 (SphK1) and complement activation play an important role in systemic inflammation in acute liver failure (ALF). It has been shown that complement 5a (C5a) activates SphK1 in macrophages. However, the mechanism of C5a-induced SphK1 activation is unknown.

Research frontiers

Systemic inflammation is an important feature of ALF, in which macrophages and inflammatory cytokines released by macrophages play a critical role. C5a is the most powerful pro-inflammatory mediator, and excessive C5a can cause exaggeration of the inflammatory responses while blockade of C5a/complement 5a receptor (C5aR) interactions increases survival rates in mice with sepsis. Moreover, complement activation also plays an important role in ALF.

Innovations and breakthroughs

In this study the authors found excessive activation of C5 and up-regulation of C5aR in liver tissue of ALF mice. The C5a/C5aR pathway is essential for potentiating SphK1 expression through p38-MAPK activation in ALF in mice. This is the first report of the mechanism of C5a-induced SphK1 activation.

Applications

Blockade of the C5a/C5aR pathway may represent a valuable immunotherapeutic strategy for ALF in patients.

Peer-review

Very interesting study. The authors investigated the role of the C5a/C5aR pathway in ALF in a mouse model. BALB/c mice were randomly assigned to different groups, intraperitoneal injection of D-galactosamine/lipopolysaccharide were used to induce ALF. Serum C5, C5a, tumor necrosis factor- α , interleukin (IL)-1 β , IL-6, high-mobility group protein B1 and sphingosine-1-phosphate were detected by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay. Hepatic morphological changes at 36 h were assessed, and the expression of C5aR, SphK1, p38-MAPK and p-p38-MAPK in liver tissue, peripheral blood monocytes and peritoneal exudative macrophages of mice or RAW 264.7 cells were analyzed. The authors found that the C5a/C5aR pathway is essential for potentiating SphK1 expression through p38-MAPK activation in ALF, providing a potential immunotherapeutic strategy for ALF in patents.

REFERENCES

- Stravitz RT, Kramer DJ. Management of acute liver failure. *Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2009; 6: 542-553 [PMID: 19652652 DOI: 10.1038/nrgastro.2009.127]
- 2 Malhi H, Gores GJ. Cellular and molecular mechanisms of liver injury. *Gastroenterology* 2008; **134**: 1641-1654 [PMID: 18471544 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2008.03.002]
- 3 Atillasoy E, Berk PD. Fulminant hepatic failure: pathophysiology, treatment, and survival. *Annu Rev Med* 1995; 46: 181-191 [PMID: 7598455 DOI: 10.1146/annurev.med.46.1.181]
- 4 Muto Y, Nouri-Aria KT, Meager A, Alexander GJ, Eddleston AL, Williams R. Enhanced tumour necrosis factor and interleukin-1 in fulminant hepatic failure. *Lancet* 1988; 2: 72-74 [PMID: 2898700 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(88)90006-2]
- 5 Wu Z, Han M, Chen T, Yan W, Ning Q. Acute liver failure: mechanisms of immune-mediated liver injury. *Liver Int* 2010; **30**: 782-794 [PMID: 20492514 DOI: 10.1111/j.1478-3231]
- 6 **Melendez AJ**. Sphingosine kinase signalling in immune cells: potential as novel therapeutic targets. *Biochim Biophys*

Acta 2008; **1784**: 66-75 [PMID: 17913601 DOI: 10.1016/ j.bbapap.2007.07.013]

- 7 Abdin AA. Targeting sphingosine kinase 1 (SphK1) and apoptosis by colon-specific delivery formula of resveratrol in treatment of experimental ulcerative colitis in rats. *Eur J Pharmacol* 2013; **718**: 145-153 [PMID: 24055189 DOI: 10.1016/ j.ejphar.2013.08.040]
- 8 Zhang W, Mottillo EP, Zhao J, Gartung A, VanHecke GC, Lee JF, Maddipati KR, Xu H, Ahn YH, Proia RL, Granneman JG, Lee MJ. Adipocyte lipolysis-stimulated interleukin-6 production requires sphingosine kinase 1 activity. *J Biol Chem* 2014; 289: 32178-32185 [PMID: 25253697 DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M114.601096]
- 9 Melendez AJ, Harnett MM, Pushparaj PN, Wong WS, Tay HK, McSharry CP, Harnett W. Inhibition of Fc epsilon RI-mediated mast cell responses by ES-62, a product of parasitic filarial nematodes. *Nat Med* 2007; 13: 1375-1381 [PMID: 17952092 DOI: 10.1038/nm1654]
- 10 Lufrano M, Jacob A, Zhou M, Wang P. Sphingosine kinase-1 mediates endotoxemia-induced hyperinflammation in aged animals. *Mol Med Rep* 2013; 8: 645-649 [PMID: 23817990 DOI: 10.3892/mmr.2013.1562]
- 11 Lei YC, Yang LL, Li W, Luo P. Sphingosine kinase 1 dependent protein kinase C-δ activation plays an important role in acute liver failure in mice. *World J Gastroenterol* 2015; **21**: 13438-13446 [PMID: 26730154 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v21.i48.13438]
- 12 Lei YC, Yang LL, Li W, Luo P, Zheng PF. Inhibition of sphingosine kinase 1 ameliorates acute liver failure by reducing high-mobility group box 1 cytoplasmic translocation in liver cells. *World J Gastroenterol* 2015; 21: 13055-13063 [PMID: 26676341 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v21.i46]
- 13 Guo RF, Ward PA. Role of C5a in inflammatory responses. *Annu Rev Immunol* 2005; 23: 821-852 [PMID: 15771587 DOI: 10.1146/ annurev.immunol.23.021704.115835]
- Ward PA. The harmful role of c5a on innate immunity in sepsis. *J Innate Immun* 2010; 2: 439-445 [PMID: 20588003 DOI: 10.1159/000317194]
- 15 Rittirsch D, Flierl MA, Ward PA. Harmful molecular mechanisms in sepsis. *Nat Rev Immunol* 2008; 8: 776-787 [PMID: 18802444 DOI: 10.1038/nri2402]
- 16 Rittirsch D, Flierl MA, Nadeau BA, Day DE, Huber-Lang M, Mackay CR, Zetoune FS, Gerard NP, Cianflone K, Köhl J, Gerard C, Sarma JV, Ward PA. Functional roles for C5a receptors in sepsis. *Nat Med* 2008; 14: 551-557 [PMID: 18454156 DOI: 10.1038/ nm1753]
- 17 Sun S, Guo Y, Zhao G, Zhou X, Li J, Hu J, Yu H, Chen Y, Song H, Qiao F, Xu G, Yang F, Wu Y, Tomlinson S, Duan Z, Zhou Y. Complement and the alternative pathway play an important role in LPS/D-GalN-induced fulminant hepatic failure. *PLoS One* 2011; 6: e26838 [PMID: 22069473 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0026838]
- 18 Singhal R, Ganey PE, Roth RA. Complement activation in acetaminophen-induced liver injury in mice. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 2012; 341: 377-385 [PMID: 22319198]
- 19 Xu GL, Chen J, Yang F, Li GQ, Zheng LX, Wu YZ. C5a/C5aR pathway is essential for the pathogenesis of murine viral fulminant hepatitis by way of potentiating Fgl2/fibroleukin expression. *Hepatology* 2014; 60: 114-124 [PMID: 24604562 DOI: 10.1002/ hep.27114]
- 20 Issuree PD, Maretzky T, McIlwain DR, Monette S, Qing X, Lang PA, Swendeman SL, Park-Min KH, Binder N, Kalliolias GD, Yarilina A, Horiuchi K, Ivashkiv LB, Mak TW, Salmon JE, Blobel CP. iRHOM2 is a critical pathogenic mediator of inflammatory arthritis. *J Clin Invest* 2013; **123**: 928-932 [PMID: 23348744 DOI: 10.1172/JCI66168]
- 21 Patel SN, Berghout J, Lovegrove FE, Ayi K, Conroy A, Serghides L, Min-oo G, Gowda DC, Sarma JV, Rittirsch D, Ward PA, Liles WC, Gros P, Kain KC. C5 deficiency and C5a or C5aR blockade protects against cerebral malaria. *J Exp Med* 2008; 205: 1133-1143 [PMID: 18426986 DOI: 10.1084/jem.20072248]

Lei YC et al. C5a/C5aR potentiates SphK1 expression in ALF

- Schaeffer V, Cuschieri J, Garcia I, Knoll M, Billgren J, Jelacic S, Bulger E, Maier R. The priming effect of C5a on monocytes is predominantly mediated by the p38 MAPK pathway. Shock 2007; 27: 623-630 [PMID: 17505301 DOI: 10.1097/SHK.0b013e31802fa0bd]
- 23 Chiou WF, Tsai HR, Yang LM, Tsai WJ. C5a differentially stimulates the ERK1/2 and p38 MAPK phosphorylation through independent signaling pathways to induced chemotactic migration in RAW264.7 macrophages. *Int Immunopharmacol* 2004; 4: 1329-1341 [PMID: 15313431 DOI: 10.1016/j.intimp.2004.05.017]

P- Reviewer: Sharma P, Yamada A S- Editor: Qi Y L- Editor: Filipodia E- Editor: Wang CH







Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/ Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v22.i46.10158 World J Gastroenterol 2016 December 14; 22(46): 10158-10165 ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online) © 2016 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Basic Study

NADPH oxidase-1 deficiency offers little protection in *Salmonella typhimurium*-induced typhlitis in mice

Fong-Fong Chu, R Steven Esworthy, James H Doroshow, Binghui Shen

Fong-Fong Chu, Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, The First Affiliated Hospital and College of Clinical Medicine of Henan University of Science and Technology, Luoyang 471003, Henan Province, China

Fong-Fong Chu, R Steven Esworthy, Binghui Shen, Department of Cancer Genetics and Epigenetics, Beckman Research Institute of City of Hope, Duarte, CA 91010, United States

James H Doroshow, Center for Cancer Research and Division of Cancer Treatment and Diagnosis, National Cancer Institute, Bethesda, MD 20892, United States

Author contributions: Chu FF and Esworthy RS designed the study, performed the experiments, analyzed the data, and drafted the manuscript; Doroshow JH and Shen B edited the manuscript and provided financial support for the studies.

Supported by Federal funds from the National Cancer Institute (NCI) under Contract, No. HHSN261200800001E (to Chu FF); Research reported in this publication included work performed in the Animal Resources Center Core supported by the National Cancer Institute of the National Institutes of Health under award No. P30CA033572.

Institutional animal care and use committee statement: Care and use of mice in this study conformed to NIH (USA) and Association for the Assessment and Accreditation of Laboratory Animal Care (AAALAC) standards and were performed under protocol 11043 approved by the City of Hope BRI Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee on 1/12/12 and renewed 1/15/14. Animals were bred and reared in the Animal Resources Center at the City of Hope based on standards and guidelines set by the United States Department of Agriculture; approved by the National Institutes of Health, Office for Laboratory Animal Welfare; and accredited by the AAALAC International.

Conflict-of-interest statement: The authors declare no conflicts of interests.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external

reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Manuscript source: Invited manuscript

Correspondence to: Fong-Fong Chu, PhD, Staff Scientist, Department of Cancer Genetics and Epigenetics, Beckman Research Institute of City of Hope, 1450 E Duarte Road, Duarte, CA 91010, United States. fchu@coh.org Telephone: +1-626-359811163831

Received: July 22, 2016 Peer-review started: July 25, 2016 First decision: September 20, 2016 Revised: October 9, 2016 Accepted: November 15, 2016 Article in press: November 16, 2016 Published online: December 14, 2016

Abstract

AIM

To test whether Nox1 plays a role in typhlitis induced by *Salmonella enterica serovar* Typhimurium (S. Tm) in a mouse model.

METHODS

Eight-week-old male wild-type (WT) and Nox1 knockout (KO) C57BL6/J (B6) mice were administered metronidazole water for 4 d to make them susceptible to S. Tm infection by the oral route. The mice were given plain water and administered with 4 different doses of S. Tm by oral gavage. The mice were followed for another 4 d. From the time of the metronidazole application, the mice were observed twice daily and weighed daily. The ileum, cecum and colon were removed for sampling at the fourth day post-inoculation. Portions of all three tissues were fixed for histology and placed in RNAlater for mRNA/cDNA preparation and quantitative real-time PCR. The contents of the cecum were recovered for estimation of S. Tm CFU.

RESULTS

We found Nox1-knockout (Nox1-KO) mice were not more sensitive to S. Tm colonization and infection than WT B6 mice. This conclusion is based on the following observations: (1) S. Tm-infection induced similar weight loss in Nox1-KO mice compared to WT mice; (2) the same S. Tm CFU was recovered from the cecal content of Nox1-KO and WT mice regardless of the inoculation dose, except the lowest inoculation dose (2×10^6 CFU) for which the Nox1-KO had one-log lower CFU than WT mice; (3) there is no difference in cecal pathology between WT and Nox1-KO groups; and (4) there are no S. Tm infection-induced changes in gene expression levels (IL-1b, TNF- α , and Duox2) between WT and Nox1-KO groups. The Alpi gene expression was more suppressed by S. Tm treatment in WT than the Nox1-KO cecum.

CONCLUSION

Nox1 does not protect mice from S. Tm colonization. Nox1-KO provides a very minor protective effect against S. Tm infection. Using NOX1-specific inhibitors for colitis therapy should not increase risks in bacterial infection.

Key words: Knockout mouse; NADPH Oxidase-1; *Salmonella typhimurium*; Goblet cells; Reactive oxygen species

© **The Author(s) 2016.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core tip: Using Nox1-knockout mice (Nox1-KO), we examined the role of cecum Nox1 in *Salmonella typhimurium* (S. Tm) infection. Mice were rendered susceptible to infection with oral metronidazole. Four days after S. Tm inoculation, Nox1-KO mice had equal or slightly lower CFU/g cecum contents and equal or slightly less pathology by histological assessment than wild-type (WT) mice. Quantitative real-time PCR measure of mRNA levels for inflammatory cytokines Il-1 β and TNF- α were significantly higher in S. Tm treated WT *vs* untreated mice but not in S. Tm treated Nox1-KO mice. Since Nox1 may have a role in inflammatory bowel disease, treating subjects with Nox1 inhibitors may not make patients vulnerable to pathogens.

Chu FF, Esworthy RS, Doroshow JH, Shen B. NADPH oxidase-1 deficiency offers little protection in *Salmonella typhimurium*induced typhlitis in mice. *World J Gastroenterol* 2016; 22(46): 10158-10165 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet. com/1007-9327/full/v22/i46/10158.htm DOI: http://dx.doi. org/10.3748/wjg.v22.i46.10158

INTRODUCTION

The generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) during infection is an important part of host defense to fend off bacterial invasion. A well-known source of ROS is produced by NADPH oxidase (NOX)-2 in innate immune cells to kill bacteria engulfed in phagosomes^[1]. Mutations in genes encoding for the NOX2 complex lead to chronic granulomatous disease due diminished bactericidal activity. Nox2-KO mice are highly susceptible to Salmonella enteric serovar Typhimurium (S. Tm) colonization and mucosal inflammation^[2]. S. Tm has been widely used as a mouse colitis model to study strategies by which enteropathogenic bacteria break colonization resistance^[3]. Diminished ROS generation by the NOX2 complex also is a risk factor for early-onset pediatric pancolitis and Crohn's-like disease^[4].

Two other members of NADPH oxidases, NOX1 and DUOX2, expressed in the epithelium of the intestine are linked to very-early-onset inflammatory bowel disease^[5]. Both *Nox1* and *Duox2* gene are barely expressed in the intestine of germ-free mice and are highly elevated when colonized with commensal bacteria^[6,7]. Duox2 and Duoxa2 (DUOX maturation factor-2) expression is highly elevated in Helicobacter felis-infected mouse gastric epithelium compared to uninfected mice^[8]. Lack of Duox activity in *Duoxa*-KO mice increased *Helicobacter felis* colonization^[8]. Duox2 protein is highly elevated in the ileum and colon monoassociated with segmented filamentous bacterium compared that in germ-free mice^[7]. However, Duox2 does not appear to protect mice against S. Tm infection since there is no difference in S. Tm colonization between wild-type (WT) and Duoxa-KO mice^[7].

Nox1-generated ROS can regulate intestinal epithelial cell proliferation, apoptosis, and migration^[9-11]. Recently, it was shown that deficiency in Cyba/p22^{Phos} (an obligatory partner of Nox1, Nox2 and Nox4) in intestinal epithelium resulted in protection from *Citrobacter rodentium* and *Listeria monocytogenes*^[1]. The epithelium-specific *Cyba*-KO (*Cyba*ΔIEC-KO) mice are considered to be equivalent to Nox1ΔIEC-KO because Nox2 and Nox4 are virtually unexpressed in the intestinal epithelium. Because *C. rodentium*induced Duox2 gene expression only occurs in the WT mice but not *Cyba*ΔIEC-KO mice, it was proposed that Nox1 regulates Duox2 expression in the intestinal epithelium^[1].

We have previously shown that *GPx1*-KO and *GPx2*-KO mice (deficient in antioxidant glutathione peroxide-1 or -2) are more susceptible to S. Tm infection than WT mice^[12]. Because Nox1-deficiency may protect mice against *C. rodentium* infection, we hypothesize that Nox1-produced ROS exacerbates S. Tm infection. In this manuscript, we report that Nox1-knockout (Nox1-KO) mice are equally susceptible to S. Tm colonization and infection as WT mice. We concluded that Nox1 does not play a role in S. Tm-



Chu FF et al. Nox1 and Salmonella-induced typhlitis

induced colitis.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Mice

WT and Nox1-KO (generated by Karl-Heinz Krause, Geneva University, Switzerland) mice were derived from strain C57BL/6 (B6)^[11]. Animal were bred and reared in the Animal Resources Center at the City of Hope based on standards and guidelines set by the United States Department of Agriculture, approved by the National Institutes of Health (NIH), Office for Laboratory Animal Welfare, and accredited by the AAALAC. Weaned mice were fed Lab diet 5061 (LabDiet, St Louis, MO, United States), ad lib, and received water via an automated water purification system until the beginning of the study at 8 wk of age. Care and use of mice in the study conformed to NIH (United States) and AAALAC standards and were performed under protocol 11043 approved by the City of Hope BRI Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee on 1/12/12 and renewed 1/15/14. Eightweek-old male WT and Nox1-KO B6 mice were given the antibiotic metronidazole (0.75 g/L in drinking water) for 4 d to facilitate oral S. Tm infection^[13]. To mask the metallic taste of metronidazole, 1 g of sucralose (Splenda[®]) was added to 450 mL water to prevent dehydration during the treatment. Metronidazole facilitates bacteria colonization by reducing anaerobic bacteria populations and by thinning the mucus layer in the gut^[14]. After 4 d the mice were switched to regular water and orally gavaged with S. Tm in a volume of 50-100 µL phosphate buffered saline. One-inch-long 22-gauge plastic gavage needles were used to deliver the bacteria and to minimize the possibility of injury to the mice. As part of the study data collection and to ensure that the animals were not in distress prior to the endpoint all mice were observed and weighed daily from the time of placement on metronidazole to euthanasia, i.e., 4 d post-inoculation. The high risk of systemic infection in B6 mice precluded a longer study duration. Mice treated with metronidazole and then water gained about 5% body weight over the interval. Mice inoculated with S. Tm lost up to 18% body weight regardless of inoculation dose. There was no statistical difference in weight lost between the Nox1-KO and WT groups. Mice were euthanized by CO₂ exposure, the recommended method under NIH and AAALAC guidelines.

Salmonella enteric S. Tm

A virulent strain of S. Tm, IR715, was obtained from Dr. Andreas J. Baumler (University of California, Davis, CA, United States), who derived this strain from isolate 14028 (American Type Culture Collection)^[12]. S. Tm was grown aerobically at 37 $^{\circ}$ C in lysogeny broth (LB) containing 50 mg/mL nalidixic acid (Sigma) overnight. Cells were harvested, resuspended in PBS with 10%

glycerol, then stored in aliquots at -80 $^{\circ}$ C without freeze-thaw. Between 2 × 10⁶ to 6.2 × 10⁸ colony-forming units (CFUs) of S. Tm were used to inoculate mice as shown (Figure 1). The titer was determined on LB agar plates containing 50 mg/mL nalidixic acid.

S. Tm colonization and disease parameters

Cecum luminal contents were collected sterilely, weighed, serially diluted, and plated on nalidixic acid-containing LB agar to allow detection down to approximately 1×10^6 CFU/g. The luminal contents have 2-4 log higher number of S. Tm than cecal tissue and are widely used as an indicator for bacterial colonization^[12,15,16]. The inoculated S. Tm was the only bacteria capable of producing large-size colonies on nalidixic acid-containing LB agar under standard aerobic conditions^[11]. To verify that the colonies were S. Tm, we performed automated-ribosomalintergenic-spacer analysis (ARISA) PCR using ITSF (5'-GTCGTAACAAGGTAGCCGTA-3') and ITSReub (5'-GCCAAGGCATCCACC-3') primers on randomly selected colonies^[17]. ARISA PCR produces a pattern of products with aggregate sizes characteristic of bacterial groups. We also sequenced ARISA PCR products to confirm the S. Tm identity.

The ileum, colon and cecum were excised for histology analysis. The tissues were fixed in phosphate buffered formalin. The processed slides were stained with H&E for pathology analysis and with Alcian blue counterstained with nuclear fast red for goblet cell counts. The slides were photographed, and Alcian blue stained goblet cells were counted from the sections containing full-length glands. Pathology was scored according to a 14-point system that accounts for mucin depletion, apoptosis, abscesses, and distortion of the glands^[12].

Messenger RNA was prepared from the cecum, where S. Tm colonization is most reliably detected. Quantitative real-time PCR (qRT-PCR) was performed on mouse cecal mRNA. A segment of the cecum isolated from mice treated with 2×10^6 CFU of S. Tm was treated with RNALater (Ambion), and then RNA was isolated using the Triazol Kit (Thermo Scientific). Two μ g of RNA was used to make cDNA with reagents from Promega and random hexamer primers (0.4 μ g) from Invitrogen. PCR primers and probes (Thermo Scientific) used are shown in Table 1. The qRT-PCR was performed on a BioRad CFX96 instrument for 40 cycles. The $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method was used to analyze differences in mRNA levels among groups, normalized with β -actin.

Statistical analysis

GraphPad Prism version 6 was used for statistical analysis. All groups were compared in pair-wise *t*-tests except the cecum pathology score, which was analyzed by pair-wise Mann-Whitney tests. S. Tm CFU from cecal contents was analyzed from log 10 transformed





Figure 1 The CFU and pathology in the cecum between Nox1-knockout and wild-type mice with 4 different doses of S. Tm. A: Scatter plot of log10 transformed S. Tm CFU per gram recovered from cecal contents from WT (Nox1+) and Nox1-KO mice inoculated with 2×10^6 , 5.6×10^7 , 2×10^8 and 6.2×10^8 of S. Tm. The contents were plated so that 1 colony would yield a count $\ge 1 \times 10^6$ CFU/g. Zero colonies were assigned to 1×10^6 to include all mice analyzed in the panel. "a" indicates a significant difference between the Nox1 and WT groups treated with 2×10^6 S. Tm (colon-P = 0.0068; cecum-P = 0.0098); B: Scatter plot of pathology scores of mice from the groups shown in A. The groups with different letter designations in each figure are different, where a > b ($\alpha = 0.05$). The groups sharing a same letter are not different; e.g., ab is not different from a or b group. Horizontal bars indicate mean \pm SD; C, D: Show the worst pathology identified in Nox1-KO and WT cecum, respectively (score = 6), for mice inoculated with the lowest (2×10^6) CFU. Both groups show edema and infiltration between the muscular layers (M) and the glands. The glands are devoid of goblet cells and generally distorted. Scale bars are approximately 0.5 mm. Nox1-KO: Nox1-knockout; WT: Wild-type.

Table 1Taqman primer and probe IDs for quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction

| Gene name (gene symbol) | Catalog number ¹ | Amplicon size | | |
|-------------------------|-----------------------------|---------------|--|--|
| β-Actin (Actb) | Mm00607939_s1 | 115 | | |
| Dual oxidase-2 (Duox2) | Mm01326247_m1 | 65 | | |
| Il1b | Mm00434228_m1 | 90 | | |
| Intestinal alkaline | Mm01285814_g1 | 60 | | |
| phosphatase (Alpi) | | | | |
| Tnfα | Mm00443258_m1 | 81 | | |
| Villin-1 (Vil1) | Mm004944146_m1 | 55 | | |

¹Catalog number from Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc.

data, which renders the data into parametric sets. The statistical analysis was reviewed and approved by Lianlian Du, MSci, biostatistician, Beijing Rehabilitation Hospital of Capital Medical University, Beijing, China.

RESULTS

Nox1-KO cecum and colon has a 7.5% and 20% higher number of goblet cells than WT counterparts

Nox1 is highly expressed in the colon, and Nox1generated ROS can activate Notch1 signaling presumably by activating the metalloproteases (Mmp2 and Mmp9), which are involved in generation of Notch ligands^[18]. Notch1 signaling promotes differentiation of epithelial cells into absorptive cells. Compared to WT mouse colon, Coant et al[18] reported that Nox1-KO colon had a 2-fold higher number of goblet cells and a 50% reduction of colonocytes due to decreases in Notch1 signaling. Because goblet cells are specialized to produce a mucus layer over the epithelial surface that acts as a barrier to intestinal microbes, changing the number of goblet cells could affect cell resistance to bacterial colonization. Therefore, we compared the number of goblet cells in the cecum and colon of Nox1-KO and WT mice (Figure 2). We found that Nox1-KO colon has a 20% increase in goblet cells compared to WT colon; however, we observed only a 7.5% increase in the Nox1-KO cecum, which is the major site of inflammation. This difference may have been overlooked in Cyba∆IEC-KO mice, which do not have Nox1 activity^[1].

Nox1 does not significantly affect S. Tm colonization and inflammation in mice

We inoculated mice with 4 different doses of S. Tm (2



Chu FF et al. Nox1 and Salmonella-induced typhlitis



Figure 2 Goblets per colon (A) and cecum gland (B) counted from cross sections stained with Alcian blue and nuclear fast red (C). Each point in panels A and B represents a separate gland. Between 3-15 and 7-14 glands (obtained from 8 WT and 9 Nox1-KO mice) were counted from colon and cecum, respectively. Scale bar approximately 0.5 mm. "a" indicates a statistically significant difference between the 2 groups.

× 10^6 , 5.6×10^7 , 2×10^8 , and 6.2×10^8) to compare the CFU and pathology in the cecum between Nox1-KO and WT mice (Figure 1). When inoculated with the lowest number of S. Tm (2×10^6), Nox1-KO mice had a significantly lower number of S. Tm CFUs in the cecum than WT mice (P = 0.034). No differences in the cecal S. Tm CFUs were found between Nox1-KO and WT mice when inoculated with higher doses of S. Tm (Figure 1A). Also, the CFUs of S. Tm in mouse cecum remained the same regardless of the inoculation doses, which is consistent with previous work^[19].

We analyzed cecum pathology scores to determine the effect of Nox1. Scores of 0-6 generally reflect with presence of crypt apoptosis, hyperproliferation, and mucin depletion without overt signs of inflammation. Scores of above 6 are considered inflamed, showing immune infiltration, crypt distortion, goblet cell depletion, and elevated apoptosis in the epithelium. The worst cecal histology from a Nox1-KO and a WT mouse inoculated with a low dose of S. Tm (2×10^6) is shown in Figure 1C and 1D. Only WT mice inoculated with the highest dose (6.2×10^8) of S. Tm had a median score above 6, which is significantly higher than four groups of WT and Nox1-KO mice inoculated with lower doses of bacteria ($P \le 0.025$) (Figure 1B). However, there was no difference between the WT and Nox1-KO groups inoculated with the same high dose. These results indicate that Nox1 does not have significant impact on S. Tm infection.

Nox1 does not affect mucosal gene expression altered by S. Tm infection

Although the pathology scores are low in the mice inoculated with 2 × 10⁶ CFU of S. Tm, these mice tend to have higher IL-1 β and TNF- α mRNA levels compared to control mice that received metronidazole only (Figure 3A and B). However, we observed no difference in IL-1 β and TNF- α mRNA levels between Nox1-KO and WT mice treated with metronidazole and S. Tm or untreated.

S. Tm infected intestine has decreased brushborder enzyme activities and gene expression levels including intestinal alkaline phosphatase (Alpi), sucrose-isomaltase, and maltose^[19]. We found that S. Tm infected WT mouse cecum had decreased levels of *Alpi* gene expression ($P \ge 0.044$), while the Alpi mRNA levels in the S. Tm-infected Nox1-KO mice were not significantly lower than the un-treated control mice (Figure 3C). Villin mRNA levels were not affected by S. Tm (data not shown). Villin is an actin-binding protein that regulates actin dynamics and organization of the brush border of enterocytes^[20]. Loss of Villin mRNA is indicative of gross destruction of the gland surface architecture, reflected by pathology scores of 8 and above as observed in S. Tm treated Gpx1-KO and Gpx2-KO mice^[12]. The overall trend indicates that the



WJG www.wjgnet.com



Figure 3 Quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction analysis of cecum mRNA from the 2 × 10⁶ CFU-treated wild-type and Nox1-knockout mice to measure inflammation markers IL- β (A), TNF- α (B), a brush border marker for the integrity of the epithelium, Alpi (C); and Duox2 levels (D). Horizontal bars are mean ± SD. The groups with different letter designations in each figure are different, where a > b > c (α = 0.05). The groups sharing a same letter are not different; e.g., bc is not different from b or ab group. Nox1-KO: Nox1-knockout; WT: Wild-type.

Nox1-KO mice tend to respond more mildly to S. Tm infection than WT mice, although not in a significant or uniform way.

We have previously shown that *Duox2* gene expression was elevated 30-fold in the cecum of S. Tminoculated *GPx1*-KO mice (mean pathology scores of 10) compared to infected WT mice^[12]. Here, the S. Tminfected WT and Nox1-KO mouse cecum had 2- and 4-fold higher *Duox2* gene expression than the noninfected respective controls (Figure 3D). No difference in the *Duox2* mRNA levels between the WT and Nox1-KO cecum were observed.

DISCUSSION

Nox1 expressed in intestinal epithelium plays an important role in cell signaling, regulating many cellular events, including differentiation, proliferation, apoptosis, and migration^[10,11,18]. Recently, Nox1 was shown to exacerbate pathogenic bacterial infection, including *C. rodentium* and *L. monocytogenes* studied in *Cyba* Δ IEC-KO mice^[1]. In the present study, we compared S. Tm colonization and S. Tm-induced colitis in Nox1-KO and WT mice inoculated at different doses and found that Nox1 plays a very minor role in *S*. Tm infectivity. Because we found that Nox1-KO mice have a significant increase of goblet cells in the cecum and colon and because goblet cells secrete mucus to

form a barrier to fend off bacterial infection^[14,16], the protective effect of Nox1-deficiency is likely due to the increase in goblet cells rather than a direct effect of ROS production. The strong protective effect of Cyba deficiency against *C. rodentium* and *L. monocytogenes* may have contributions from multiple Nox deficiencies, because Nox2 is induced in the intestinal epithelium by serotonin, a neuroendocrine secreted by entero-chromaffin cells^[21].

We have confirmed that S. Tm infection suppresses intestinal alkaline phosphatase (Alpi) expression in WT mice and likely in Nox1-KO mice. Mice deficient in Alpi suffer from dysbiosis^[22]. The antibiotic-induced susceptibility to S. Tm or *Clostridium difficile* can be prevented by oral supplement of calf Alpi^[15]. It remains unclear how S. Tm inhibits Alpi gene expression and activity.

We have reported that intestinal inflammation, as observed in mice deficient in GPx1 and GPx2 [GPx1/2double knockout (DKO)], have elevated Nox1 gene expression in the ileum^[11]. Nox1 deletion completely abolished GPx1/2-DKO intestinal inflammation. Because NOX1 and NOX2 are the major sources of ROS in the artery wall for conditions such as hypertension, hypercholesterolemia, and diabetes, NOX inhibitors are being developed to treat ROS-associated diseases^[23]. A clinical relevance of this study is that when targeting Nox1, it is unlikely that the anti-Nox1



WJG 🛛 www.wjgnet.com

Chu FF et al. Nox1 and Salmonella-induced typhlitis

therapy will increase risks of bacterial infection.

Nox1 is important for symbiotic-lactobacilli-induced cell proliferation in the ileum^[10]; it also promotes restitution of colons damaged by dextran sulfate sodium^[9,24]. Whether anti-Nox1 therapy has adverse effects other than bacterial infection needs to be further investigated.

In conclusion, we demonstrated that Nox1-KO mice are not more susceptible to S. Tm colonization than WT mice. The clinical relevance of this and other studies is that anti-Nox1 therapy should not present a major risk for bacterial infection, such as by S. Tm, *Citrobacter rodentium* or *Listeria monocytogenes*. However, because Nox1 also has a positive role in cell proliferation and tissue restitution, more studies are needed to clarify other potential risks of anti-Nox1 therapy.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Dr. Qiang Gao, Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Beijing Rehabilitation Hospital of Capital Medical University, for his insightful comments during the drafting of the manuscript.

COMMENTS

Background

Generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) is implicated in the pathology of inflammatory bowel disease, fibrosis, hypertension, stroke, and atherogenesis and may play role in tumorigenesis. NADPH oxidase 1 (Nox1) appears to be a major generator of ROS in many of these cases. Therefore, identifying specific Nox1 inhibitors may lead to new therapeutic agents. ROS can also be generated by Nox2 as part of the innate immune response to pathogenic microflora, and it has been speculated that Nox1 participates in the control of gut microflora. The authors and others are testing the idea that Nox1 may play a vital role in defense against gut pathogens by colonizing Nox1-KO mouse gut with pathogens, such as *Salmonella enterica serovar* Typhimurium (S. Tm) in this study.

Research frontiers

The role of Nox1 in disease has just recently been explored, and the search for potent and specific inhibitors is emerging as a major research focus. In support of using Nox1 inhibition as a therapy, it is important learn if there are major risks from pathogens or other complications such as existing damage to the gut. Wound healing and epithelial restitution may be impaired by inhibition of Nox1.

Innovations and breakthroughs

The study shows that Nox1 expression levels do not significantly affect colonization by S. Tm in the gut. Together with studies on *Listeria* and *Citrobacter*, this work suggests that inhibition of Nox1 activity poses little risk to the subject for bacterial infection.

Applications

Studies of this type will help define the risks inherent in the use of Nox1 inhibitors as therapeutic agents.

Terminology

Nox1 is a member of a family of oxidases that generate either superoxide or hydrogen peroxide (ROS) using NADPH as the electron donor. Nox1 generates superoxide. S. Tm is an enteropathogenic bacteria commonly used to explore microbial pathology in rodent models.

Peer-review

The authors investigated the role of Nox1 in S. Tm colonization and infection in a mouse model. The paper is interesting and adds to our general understanding of S. Tm infection and demonstrates that Nox1 does not play an important role in S. Tm colonization.

REFERENCES

- Pircalabioru G, Aviello G, Kubica M, Zhdanov A, Paclet MH, Brennan L, Hertzberger R, Papkovsky D, Bourke B, Knaus UG. Defensive Mutualism Rescues NADPH Oxidase Inactivation in Gut Infection. *Cell Host Microbe* 2016; **19**: 651-663 [PMID: 27173933 DOI: 10.1016/j.chom.2016.04.007]
- Felmy B, Songhet P, Slack EM, Müller AJ, Kremer M, Van Maele L, Cayet D, Heikenwalder M, Sirard JC, Hardt WD. NADPH oxidase deficient mice develop colitis and bacteremia upon infection with normally avirulent, TTSS-1- and TTSS-2-deficient Salmonella Typhimurium. *PLoS One* 2013; 8: e77204 [PMID: 24143212 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0077204]
- 3 Stecher B, Robbiani R, Walker AW, Westendorf AM, Barthel M, Kremer M, Chaffron S, Macpherson AJ, Buer J, Parkhill J, Dougan G, von Mering C, Hardt WD. Salmonella enterica serovar typhimurium exploits inflammation to compete with the intestinal microbiota. *PLoS Biol* 2007; 5: 2177-2189 [PMID: 17760501]
- 4 Dhillon SS, Fattouh R, Elkadri A, Xu W, Murchie R, Walters T, Guo C, Mack D, Huynh HQ, Baksh S, Silverberg MS, Griffiths AM, Snapper SB, Brumell JH, Muise AM. Variants in nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate oxidase complex components determine susceptibility to very early onset inflammatory bowel disease. *Gastroenterology* 2014; 147: 680-689.e2 [PMID: 24931457 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2014.06.005]
- 5 Hayes P DS, O'Neill K, Thoeni C, Hui KY, Elkadri A, Guo CH, Kovacic L, Aviello G, Alvarez LA, Griffiths AM, Snapper SB, Brant SR, Doroshow JH, Silverberg MS, Peter I, McGovern DP, Cho J, Brumell JH, Uhlig HH, Bourke B, Muise AA, Knaus UG. Defects in NADPH Oxidase Genes NOX1 and DUOX2 in Very Early Onset Inflammatory Bowel Disease. *Cell Mol Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2015; 1: 14
- 6 Sommer F, Bäckhed F. The gut microbiota engages different signaling pathways to induce Duox2 expression in the ileum and colon epithelium. *Mucosal Immunol* 2015; 8: 372-379 [PMID: 25160818 DOI: 10.1038/mi.2014.74]
- 7 Grasberger H, Gao J, Nagao-Kitamoto H, Kitamoto S, Zhang M, Kamada N, Eaton KA, El-Zaatari M, Shreiner AB, Merchant JL, Owyang C, Kao JY. Increased Expression of DUOX2 Is an Epithelial Response to Mucosal Dysbiosis Required for Immune Homeostasis in Mouse Intestine. *Gastroenterology* 2015; 149: 1849-1859 [PMID: 26261005 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2015.07.062]
- 8 Grasberger H, El-Zaatari M, Dang DT, Merchant JL. Dual oxidases control release of hydrogen peroxide by the gastric epithelium to prevent Helicobacter felis infection and inflammation in mice. *Gastroenterology* 2013; 145: 1045-1054 [PMID: 23860501 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2013.07.011]
- 9 Leoni G, Alam A, Neumann PA, Lambeth JD, Cheng G, McCoy J, Hilgarth RS, Kundu K, Murthy N, Kusters D, Reutelingsperger C, Perretti M, Parkos CA, Neish AS, Nusrat A. Annexin A1, formyl peptide receptor, and NOX1 orchestrate epithelial repair. J Clin Invest 2013; 123: 443-454 [PMID: 23241962 DOI: 10.1172/JCI65831]
- 10 Jones RM, Luo L, Ardita CS, Richardson AN, Kwon YM, Mercante JW, Alam A, Gates CL, Wu H, Swanson PA, Lambeth JD, Denning PW, Neish AS. Symbiotic lactobacilli stimulate gut epithelial proliferation via Nox-mediated generation of reactive oxygen species. *EMBO J* 2013; **32**: 3017-3028 [PMID: 24141879 DOI: 10.1038/emboj.2013.224]
- 11 Esworthy RS, Kim BW, Chow J, Shen B, Doroshow JH, Chu FF. Nox1 causes ileocolitis in mice deficient in glutathione peroxidase-1 and -2. *Free Radic Biol Med* 2014; 68: 315-325



WJG www.wjgnet.com

[PMID: 24374371 DOI: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2013.12.018]

- 12 Esworthy RS, Kim BW, Wang Y, Gao Q, Doroshow JH, Leto TL, Chu FF. The Gdac1 locus modifies spontaneous and Salmonellainduced colitis in mice deficient in either Gpx2 or Gpx1 gene. *Free Radic Biol Med* 2013; 65: 1273-1283 [PMID: 24090658 DOI: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2013.09.013]
- 13 Barthel M, Hapfelmeier S, Quintanilla-Martínez L, Kremer M, Rohde M, Hogardt M, Pfeffer K, Rüssmann H, Hardt WD. Pretreatment of mice with streptomycin provides a Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium colitis model that allows analysis of both pathogen and host. *Infect Immun* 2003; 71: 2839-2858 [PMID: 12704158]
- 14 Wlodarska M, Willing B, Keeney KM, Menendez A, Bergstrom KS, Gill N, Russell SL, Vallance BA, Finlay BB. Antibiotic treatment alters the colonic mucus layer and predisposes the host to exacerbated Citrobacter rodentium-induced colitis. *Infect Immun* 2011; **79**: 1536-1545 [PMID: 21321077]
- 15 Alam SN, Yammine H, Moaven O, Ahmed R, Moss AK, Biswas B, Muhammad N, Biswas R, Raychowdhury A, Kaliannan K, Ghosh S, Ray M, Hamarneh SR, Barua S, Malo NS, Bhan AK, Malo MS, Hodin RA. Intestinal alkaline phosphatase prevents antibiotic-induced susceptibility to enteric pathogens. *Ann Surg* 2014; **259**: 715-722 [PMID: 23598380 DOI: 10.1097/SLA.0b013e31828fae14]
- 16 Zarepour M, Bhullar K, Montero M, Ma C, Huang T, Velcich A, Xia L, Vallance BA. The mucin Muc2 limits pathogen burdens and epithelial barrier dysfunction during Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium colitis. *Infect Immun* 2013; 81: 3672-3683 [PMID: 23876803 DOI: 10.1128/IAI.00854-13]
- 17 Esworthy RS, Smith DD, Chu FF. A Strong Impact of Genetic Background on Gut Microflora in Mice. *Int J Inflam* 2010; 2010: 986046 [PMID: 20976020 DOI: 10.4061/2010/986046]
- 18 Coant N, Ben Mkaddem S, Pedruzzi E, Guichard C, Tréton X, Ducroc R, Freund JN, Cazals-Hatem D, Bouhnik Y, Woerther PL, Skurnik D, Grodet A, Fay M, Biard D, Lesuffleur T, Deffert

C, Moreau R, Groyer A, Krause KH, Daniel F, Ogier-Denis E. NADPH oxidase 1 modulates WNT and NOTCH1 signaling to control the fate of proliferative progenitor cells in the colon. *Mol Cell Biol* 2010; **30**: 2636-2650 [PMID: 20351171]

- 19 Symonds EL, O'Mahony C, Lapthorne S, O'Mahony D, Sharry JM, O'Mahony L, Shanahan F. Bifidobacterium infantis 35624 protects against salmonella-induced reductions in digestive enzyme activity in mice by attenuation of the host inflammatory response. *Clin Transl Gastroenterol* 2012; **3**: e15 [PMID: 23238232 DOI: 10.1038/ctg.2012.9]
- 20 Lhocine N, Arena ET, Bomme P, Ubelmann F, Prévost MC, Robine S, Sansonetti PJ. Apical invasion of intestinal epithelial cells by Salmonella typhimurium requires villin to remodel the brush border actin cytoskeleton. *Cell Host Microbe* 2015; 17: 164-177 [PMID: 25600187 DOI: 10.1016/j.chom.2014.12.003]
- 21 Regmi SC, Park SY, Ku SK, Kim JA. Serotonin regulates innate immune responses of colon epithelial cells through Nox2-derived reactive oxygen species. *Free Radic Biol Med* 2014; 69: 377-389 [PMID: 24524998 DOI: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2014.02.003]
- 22 Malo MS, Moaven O, Muhammad N, Biswas B, Alam SN, Economopoulos KP, Gul SS, Hamarneh SR, Malo NS, Teshager A, Mohamed MM, Tao Q, Narisawa S, Millán JL, Hohmann EL, Warren HS, Robson SC, Hodin RA. Intestinal alkaline phosphatase promotes gut bacterial growth by reducing the concentration of luminal nucleotide triphosphates. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol* 2014; **306**: G826-G838 [PMID: 24722905 DOI: 10.1152/ajpgi.00357.2013]
- 23 Drummond GR, Selemidis S, Griendling KK, Sobey CG. Combating oxidative stress in vascular disease: NADPH oxidases as therapeutic targets. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* 2011; 10: 453-471 [PMID: 21629295 DOI: 10.1038/nrd3403]
- 24 Kato M, Marumo M, Nakayama J, Matsumoto M, Yabe-Nishimura C, Kamata T. The ROS-generating oxidase Nox1 is required for epithelial restitution following colitis. *Exp Anim* 2016; 65: 197-205 [PMID: 26876598 DOI: 10.1538/expanim.15-0127]

P- Reviewer: Chen CJ, Chirullo B S- Editor: Yu J L- Editor: A E- Editor: Zhang FF







Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/ Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v22.i46.10166 World J Gastroenterol 2016 December 14; 22(46): 10166-10179 ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online) © 2016 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Basic Study

Non-invasive evaluation of liver stiffness after splenectomy in rabbits with CCl₄-induced liver fibrosis

Ming-Jun Wang, Wen-Wu Ling, Hong Wang, Ling-Wei Meng, He Cai, Bing Peng

Ming-Jun Wang, Ling-Wei Meng, He Cai, Bing Peng, Department of Pancreatic Surgery, West China Hospital, Sichuan University, Chengdu 610041, Sichuan Province, China

Wen-Wu Ling, Hong Wang, Department of Ultrasound, West China Hospital, Chengdu 610041, Sichuan Province, China

Author contributions: Wang MJ designed the research; Wang MJ, Ling WW and Wang H performed the research; Meng LW and Cai H analyzed the data; Wang MJ wrote the paper; and Peng B approved the manuscript.

Institutional review board statement: The study protocol was approved by the Ethics Committees of the West China Hospital, Sichuan University, Chengdu, Sichuan, China.

Institutional animal care and use committee statement: The experimental procedures were approved by the Institutional Animal Ethical Committee of Sichuan University (Chengdu, China), and all animals received humane care according to the Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals published by the US National Institutes of Health (NIH Publication No. 85-23, revised 1996).

Conflict-of-interest statement: The authors declare that they have no conflicts of interest to report.

Data sharing statement: No additional data are available in this study.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Manuscript source: Invited manuscript

Correspondence to: Bing Peng, MD, PhD, Department of Pancreatic Surgery, West China Hospital, Sichuan University, No.

37, Guoxue Alley, Chengdu 610041, Sichuan Province, China. wmjjmw01pb@126.com Telephone: +86-28-85433477 Fax: +86-28-85433474

Received: July 9, 2016 Peer-review started: July 13, 2016 First decision: August 29, 2016 Revised: September 3, 2016 Accepted: September 28, 2016 Article in press: September 28, 2016 Published online: December 14, 2016

Abstract

AIM

To investigate the diagnostic performance of liver stiffness measurement (LSM) by elastography point quantification (ElastPQ) in animal models and determine the longitudinal changes in liver stiffness by ElastPQ after splenectomy at different stages of fibrosis.

METHODS

Liver stiffness was measured in sixty-eight rabbits with CCl₄-induced liver fibrosis at different stages and eight healthy control rabbits by ElastPQ. Liver biopsies and blood samples were obtained at scheduled time points to assess liver function and degree of fibrosis. Thirty-one rabbits with complete data that underwent splenectomy at different stages of liver fibrosis were then included for dynamic monitoring of changes in liver stiffness by ElastPQ and liver function according to blood tests.

RESULTS

LSM by ElastPQ was significantly correlated with histologic fibrosis stage (r = 0.85, P < 0.001). The optimal cutoff values by ElastPQ were 11.27, 14.89, and 18.21 kPa for predicting minimal fibrosis, moderate fibrosis, and cirrhosis, respectively. Longitudinal



monitoring of the changes in liver stiffness by ElastPQ showed that early splenectomy (especially F1) may delay liver fibrosis progression.

CONCLUSION

ElastPQ is an available, convenient, objective and non-invasive technique for assessing liver stiffness in rabbits with CCl₄-induced liver fibrosis. In addition, liver stiffness measurements using ElastPQ can dynamically monitor the changes in liver stiffness in rabbit models, and in patients, after splenectomy.

Key words: Fibrosis stages; Splenectomy; Elastography point quantification; Liver stiffness; Non-invasive technique

© **The Author(s) 2016.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core tip: Elastography point quantification (ElastPQ) is a non-invasive technique for assessing tissue stiffness, and was used in this study. Splenectomy is a surgical intervention for liver cirrhosis patients with hypersplenism. The aim of the current study was to evaluate the diagnostic accuracy of liver stiffness measurement by ElastPQ in animal models and determine the longitudinal changes in liver stiffness by ElastPQ after splenectomy at different stages of fibrosis. We conclude that liver stiffness measurements using ElastPQ can be used to dynamically monitor the changes in liver stiffness in rabbit models, and in patients, after splenectomy.

Wang MJ, Ling WW, Wang H, Meng LW, Cai H, Peng B. Noninvasive evaluation of liver stiffness after splenectomy in rabbits with CCl4-induced liver fibrosis. *World J Gastroenterol* 2016; 22(46): 10166-10179 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet. com/1007-9327/full/v22/i46/10166.htm DOI: http://dx.doi. org/10.3748/wjg.v22.i46.10166

INTRODUCTION

Liver fibrosis, which is characterized by encapsulation or replacement of injured tissue by a collagenous scar^[1], represents a common pathological process in chronic liver injury of varying etiologies. Cirrhosis, which is morphologically described as abnormal liver architecture encompassing fibrous bands surrounding regenerative nodules, is the end stage of liver fibrosis and has clinical complications, including liver failure, portal hypertension, and ultimately, hepatocellular carcinoma. A growing body of clinical evidence has indicated that liver fibrosis can reverse and possibly return to normal following the development of effective treatments for chronic hepatitis infection (B and C)^[2-6], autoimmune hepatitis^[7], and primary biliary cirrhosis^[8].

In addition, improved results on the molecular mechanisms associated with the pathogenesis of

hepatic fibrosis has led to growing acceptance of liver fibrosis as a potentially reversible process^[9,10]. Hepatic stellate cells (HSCs) are a worldwide research focus based on their activation and transdifferentiation to myofibroblasts, which ultimately results in liver fibrosis in response to a variety of injuries; more interestingly, previous studies have indicated that macrophages can influence the process of liver fibrosis via different mechanisms^[11,12]. Circulating macrophages arise from monocytes in the bone marrow (BM)^[13], and Swirski et al^[14] and other researchers^[15,16] have indicated that numerous monocytes in the spleen could be mobilized in the pathological state such that the spleen can be considered a monocyte reservoir. BM cell infusion can improve liver function^[17] and decrease liver fibrosis^[18], while splenectomy can result in liver function improvements for patients with liver cirrhosis^[19-21]. Furthermore, a previous study indicated that splenectomy attenuated murine liver fibrosis when accompanied by hypersplenism^[22].

On the other hand, liver biopsy is traditionally regarded as the gold standard for staging fibrosis. Nevertheless, as an invasive procedure, liver biopsy is unwelcome in patients who need repeated examination to monitor fibrosis progression. Furthermore, liver biopsy is limited by serious complications^[23,24], sampling errors^[25], and both inter-pathologist and intrapathologist variability^[26]. Shear wave elastography, a reliable, rapid and non-invasive technique, has been used to evaluate tissue stiffness for many years and is increasingly important in the diagnosis of liver fibrosis^[27-29]. Furthermore, an acoustic radiation force impulse (ARFI) technique, elastography point quantification (ElastPQ)^[30], has been developed to measure the tissue^[31-34]. However, no data are available on the changes in fibrotic liver stiffness after splenectomy at different pathological stages using ElastPQ.

We took advantage of a CCl₄-induced liver fibrosis model in rabbits, from which liver biopsies were obtained at scheduled time points and ElastPQ was easily performed, to evaluate the correlation between liver fibrosis histological staging and liver stiffness measured by ElastPQ before splenectomy (Experiment 1). In addition, we determined the longitudinal changes in liver stiffness using ElastPQ after splenectomy at different pathological stages (Experiment 2).

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Animals

One hundred and eight male New Zealand White rabbits weighing 2000-2500 g on arrival at the laboratory were purchased from the Experimental Animal Center of West China Medical Center, Sichuan University (Chengdu, China). All rabbits were acclimatized for one week to adapt to the new environment. Daily evaluation of rabbit health status was performed for one week to ensure the animals were clinically healthy prior to the experiments. The animals were individually housed in cages under a set temperature ($22 \pm 1 \,^{\circ}$ C) and relative humidity ($45\% \pm 10\%$) with a 12-h light/12-h dark cycle. Each animal was allowed free access to a standard diet for rabbits and fresh water. The experimental procedures were approved by the Institutional Animal Ethical Committee of Sichuan University (Chengdu, China), and all animals received humane care according to the Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals published by the United States National Institutes of Health (NIH Publication No. 85-23, revised 1996).

CCI₄-induced liver fibrosis

Liver fibrosis was induced by intraperitoneal injection of CCl₄, as described previously^[35]. Unfortunately, in a pilot experiment (10 rabbits), using the regimen reported by Zhang et al^[35], a mortality rate of 60% (6 of 10 rabbits) was observed. The pilot study was stopped, and a modified method for induction of liver fibrosis was explored and eventually adopted. The injection started with 50% CCl4, which was diluted in olive oil, in doses of 0.10 mL/kg body weight twice per week for the first two weeks, which allowed the rabbits to gradually adapt to the toxic agent. Then, 50% CCl₄ was given intraperitoneally in doses of 0.20 mL/kg body weight twice a week for another 18 wk in Experiment 1, and the liver injury induced by 50% CCl4 lasted for ten weeks from the first operation in Experiment 2. This method was sufficient to produce all stages of liver fibrosis. Humane endpoints were established in the modeling process according to the guidelines for assessing discomfort in experiment animals^[36]. No animals died in Experiment 1.

Ultrasound-based examinations

On the same day, just before surgery and blood collection, eight rabbits were chosen at random for preoperative examinations after at least four hours of fasting. The rabbits were anesthetized with a 40 mg/kg dose of pentobarbital via ear border vein injection and were then placed in the supine position with whole abdominal skin preparation. Liver stiffness measurements were then performed in or close to the subxiphoid region by two experienced examiners via ElastPQ with a 4-cm depth and a 0.5 cm \times 1.5 cm region of interest on vessel-free areas at the endinspiration phase with an iU22 ultrasound system (Royal Philips Electronics, the Netherlands) equipped with an ElastPQ feature and two transducers, C5-1 (1-5 MHz) (used in this study) and L9-3 (3-9 MHz) (not used in this study). Both examiners were blinded to the clinical, serological, and histological data. The results are expressed in kilopascals. ElastPQ results were obtained with 10 valid measurements from each operator; a success rate of at least 60% and an interquartile range of all successful measurements less than 30% of the median values were considered reliable. The successful measurements obtained by each operator were used for inter-examiner agreement

analysis, while the median measurement obtained by both operators for each rabbit were used for other analyses in the current study.

Serum parameters

After ultrasound-based examinations, peripheral blood was collected *via* the ear border vein. Levels of the following parameters were determined: (1) class I biomarkers of liver fibrogenesis, including type IV collagen, and hyaluronic acid^[37], were quantified using a standardized and optimized commercial radioimmunoassay kit (Haiyan Biotechnology Center, Shanghai, China) and (2) conventional liver function tests, including total bilirubin (TB), albumin, alanine aminotransferase (ALT), and aspartate aminotransferase (AST) levels (Leadman Biochemistry Co., Ltd, Beijing, China).

Surgical procedure

In Experiment 1, after 4-wk of modeling, the eight rabbits were randomly divided into two equal groups following preoperative examinations (ultrasoundbased examinations and the blood test mentioned above). After disinfection, the operation began with a midline abdominal incision. In one group (Group S, splenectomy group), total splenectomy was performed by ligature of the splenic vascular pedicle with 4-0 chromic catgut; then, a 1-cm × 1-cm piece of hepatic tissue from the subxiphoid region of the liver was cut for biopsy. In another group (Group L, liver biopsy group or sham group), the same process was performed with the exception of total splenectomy. The abdominal cavity was closed after confirming that there was no active hemorrhage in all rabbits. To obtain different stages of liver fibrosis at different time intervals, the same surgical process was repeated for the remaining rabbits every two weeks until the 20th wk. Due to humane endpoints and failed liver stiffness measurements, only seven rabbits underwent surgery at the 8th, 14th, 18th, and 20th wk (Table 1). In this case, four rabbits randomly underwent splenectomy plus liver biopsy, while the remaining three underwent liver biopsy alone.

In Experiment 2, after the first operation in each rabbit, a 1 cm × 1 cm piece of hepatic tissue was cut to dynamically monitor the changes in histological features according to the aforementioned ultrasoundbased examinations and blood tests every two weeks for 10 wk. To avoid adhesions, chitosan (0.5 mL/ surgery) was used. However, due to the increase in operation times, it was difficult to acquire liver tissue along the original midline incision. In this case, a left or right subcostal incision was needed. In Experiments 1 and 2, all animals were given penicillin intramuscularly at a dose of 40 U/rabbit to prevent infection during surgery, which was repeated once daily for a further two days. To reduce bias, only the hepatic tissue obtained in or very close to the subxiphoid region was included for analysis. In addition, due to humane



| Table T Detailed information on the experimental process | | | | | | | | | | | | |
|--|---------------------------|------------------------------------|------------------------------|-------|-------|-----------|--------|--------|------------------------------------|-----------|-------|------------------------------|
| Modeling time | Distribution of operation | Humane Termination ¹ | Rabbits left ² | POW 2 | POW 4 | POW 6 | POW 8 | POW 10 | Humane Termination ³ | Exclusion | Death | Rabbits left ⁴ |
| 0W | / | 0 | 90 | / | / | / | / | / | / | / | / | / |
| 2W | / | 0 | 90 | / | / | / | / | / | / | | / | / |
| 4W | AAAA | 0 | 82 | AAAA | AAAA | AAA^5 | AA | AA | 1 | 1 | 1 | 5 |
| | BBBB | | | BBB | BBB | BBB | BBB | BBB | | | | |
| 6W | AAAA | 0 | 74 | AAA | AAA | AAA | AA | AA | 2 | 0 | 2 | 4 |
| | BBBB | | | BBBB | BBB | BBB | BB | BB | | | | |
| 8W | AAAA | 2 | 64 | AAA | AA | AA | AA | AA | 2 | 0 | 1 | 4 |
| | $BBBB^{5}$ | | | BBB | BBB | BB | BB | BB | | | | |
| 10W | AAAA | 3 | 53 | AAA | AAA | AA | AA | AA | 2 | 1 | 1 | 4 |
| | BBBB | | | BBBB | BBB | BBB^{5} | BB | BB | | | | |
| 12W | AAAA | 3 | 42 | AAA | AAA | AA | AA | AA | 3 | 0 | 1 | 4 |
| | BBBB | | | BBB | BB | BB | BB | BB | | | | |
| 14W | AAAA | 2 | 32 | AAA | AA | AA | AA | А | 5 | 0 | 0 | 2 |
| | $BBBB^{5}$ | | | BBB | BBB | BB | В | В | | | | |
| 16W | AAAA | 4 | 20 | AAAA | AAA | AAA | AA | AA | 4 | 0 | 1 | 3 |
| | BBBB | | | BBB | BB | BB | BB | В | | | | |
| 18W | AAAA | 3 | 9 | AAA | AAA | AAA | AA | AA | 4 | 0 | 0 | 3 |
| | $BBBB^{5}$ | | | BBB | BB | BB | В | В | | | | |
| 20W | AAAA | 2 | 0 | AA | AA | AA | AA | А | 4 | 1 | 0 | 2 |
| | BBB | | | BBB | BBB | BB | BB^5 | В | | | | |
| Total | 68 | 19 | / | / | / | / | / | / | 27 | 3 | 7 | 31 |

¹Number of rabbits with humane termination during Experiment 1; ²Number of rabbits left excluding rabbits with humane termination and failed liver stiffness measurement *via* ElastPQ during Experiment 1; ³Number of rabbits with humane termination during Experiment 2; ⁴Number of rabbits left excluding rabbits with humane termination, failed liver stiffness measurement *via* ElastPQ, and death during Experiment 2; A⁵ and B⁵ indicate rabbits with failed LSM *via* ElastPQ. POW: Postoperative weeks; LSM: Liver stiffness measurement; ElastPQ: Elastography point quantification; A: Rabbits receiving splenectomy and liver biopsy; B: Rabbits receiving only liver biopsy.

endpoints and failed liver stiffness measurement (LSM) and death during the surgical procedure, only thirtyone rabbits with complete experimental data were available for analysis after the 10-wk surveillance period (Table 1).

Liver histological assessment

Liver biopsy samples taken at the time of the operation were fixed in formalin and embedded in paraffin. Sections (4 μ m) were stained with hematoxylin and eosin and Masson trichrome. A biopsy sample with a minimum of 5 portal tracts was required for diagnosis. Two doctors with significant experience, who were blinded to all animal characteristics, were responsible for evaluating liver fibrosis, which was staged on a scale of 0-4 according to METAVIR^[38] (F0, no fibrosis; F1, portal fibrosis without septa; F2, portal fibrosis and a few septa; F3, numerous septa without cirrhosis; and F4, cirrhosis). The fibrosis stage was independently assessed on each histological section by both doctors. In the case of discrepancies, histological sections were simultaneously reviewed again by the two doctors to reach a final consensus. Typical liver fibrosis stages (F1-F4) are illustrated in Figure 1.

Statistical analysis

The quadratic-weighted k coefficient of Cohen was used to assess the consistency of the two doctors who were in charge of the pathological examinations, while the ICC (interclass correlation coefficient) was used to evaluate the agreement between the two examiners who performed the liver stiffness measurement *via* ElastPQ.

The median LSM obtained by both operators for each ElastPQ was calculated and used for further analyses. Because the LSM values were not normally distributed, the Kruskal-Wallis nonparametric analysis of variance test was used to compare these values with the categories of the consensus fibrosis stage. Correlations between the LSM and histologic fibrosis stage were further analyzed using Spearman correlation coefficients. The diagnostic performance of ElastPQ and serum fibrosis markers, including type IV collagen and hyaluronic acid, was assessed using receiver operating characteristic curves (ROC). The optimal cutoff values for predicting different fibrosis stages were chosen to maximize the sum of the sensitivity and specificity, and the corresponding positive predictive values (PPVs) and negative predictive values (NPVs) were computed. The AUC (area under ROC) values for the different diagnostic criteria for the same data were compared using the nonparametric DeLona test.

Quantitative data were presented as the mean \pm SD or median (quartile), while categorical data were expressed as the number of cases with/without percentage. Statistical analyses also included the nonparametric Mann-Whitney *U* and Student's *t* tests.

All statistical analyses were performed using SPSS 19.0 (SPSS, Chicago, IL, United States) for Windows





Figure 1 Masson trichrome staining for assessment of liver fibrosis stages according to METAVIR (A: F1, B: F2, C: F3, and D: F4; 100 ×) and the corresponding ElastPQ images (E: F1; F: F2; G: F3; and H: F4).

and significance was set at a P value < 0.05.

RESULTS

Experimental details

The experimental details are presented in Table 1.

In addition to eight controls, ninety rabbits were planned for inclusion. As mentioned in the Materials and methods section due to humane termination (n = 19) and failed LSM (n = 3) during Experiment 1, information on sixty-eight rabbits was available for analysis. Similarly, 10 wk after splenectomy or sham


Figure 2 Graph shows correlation of elastography point quantification results between two examiners (ICC value of 0.888, $r^2 = 0.788$, P < 0.05).



Figure 3 Boxplot shows the elastography point quantification results for each fibrosis stage. The top and bottom of the boxes are the first and third quartiles, respectively. Accordingly, the length of the box plot represents the interquartile range within which 50% of the values were located. The lines through the middle of the boxes indicate the median values. ElastPQ: Elastography point quantification.

operation, complete data for only thirty-one rabbits were available for comparable analyses.

Agreement between observers

The two doctors responsible for pathological diagnosis were initially in agreement for 197 (85.3%) of the 231 liver samples (231 = 76 + 5 × 31) (k coefficient = 0.792, P < 0.01), and 100% agreement was reached after final reviews. The ElastPQ results identified by the two examiners were strongly correlated with an ICC value of 0.888, and are illustrated in Figure 2.

Basic characteristics of the included rabbits

After 20 wk of medication, all fibrosis stages confirmed by pathological examinations were observed. As shown in Table 2, F1 was diagnosed in 11 cases (14.5%), F2 in 16 (21.1%), F3 in 16 (21.1%), and F4 in 25 (32.9%), and eight healthy rabbits (F0, n = 8, 10.4%) were included as controls. Table 3 includes the basic

| Table 2 intervals i | Distributio n Experime | n of liver f ent 1 | ibrosis stag | ges at diffe | rent time |
|------------------------|---------------------------|-----------------------|--------------|--------------|-----------|
| | FO | F1 | F2 | F3 | F4 |
| 0 wk | 98 | / | / | / | / |
| 2 wk | | / | / | / | / |
| 4 wk | | 5 | 3 | 0 | 0 |
| 6 wk | | 3 | 4 | 1 | 0 |
| 8 wk | | 2 | 4 | 1 | 0 |
| 10 wk | | 1 | 2 | 3 | 2 |
| 12 wk | | 0 | 2 | 1 | 5 |
| 14 wk | | 0 | 1 | 2 | 4 |
| 16 wk | | 0 | 0 | 4 | 4 |
| 18 wk | | 0 | 0 | 3 | 4 |
| 20 wk | | 0 | 0 | 1 | 6 |
| Total | 8 | 11 | 16 | 16 | 25 |

information on rabbits with different stages of fibrosis. Except for body weight and TB, AST, ALT, and albumin levels, a trend for a stepwise increase in liver fibrosis progression was found in the parameters, including type IV collagen (F0: 200.8 \pm 131.5 µg/L, F1: 427.1 \pm 226.2 µg/L, F2: 683.4 \pm 332.5 µg/L, F3: 1161.4 \pm 482.5 µg/L, and F4: 1292.0 \pm 689.7 µg/L), hyaluronic acid (F0: 225.6 \pm 117.1 µg/L, F1: 475.7 \pm 296.4 µg/L, F2: 676.2 \pm 274.8 µg/L, F3: 724.0 \pm 264.5 µg/L, and F4: 1182.3 \pm 1091.3 µg/L), and LSM [F0: 7.88 kPa (6.60-8.46 kPa), F1: 8.46 kPa (6.22-10.35 kPa), F2: 10.89 kPa (8.09-14.46 kPa), F3: 18.62 kPa (16.03-21.16 kPa), and F4: 25.10 kPa (20.28-30.95 kPa)].

Relationship between histological findings and LSM by ElastPQ

The median liver stiffness measured with ElastPQ in the eight controls was 7.88 kPa (6.60-8.46 kPa). The liver stiffness measured in the rabbits with fibrosis ranged from 5.86 kPa to 39.12 kPa. Based on the different fibrosis stages, the median liver stiffness values in the animals with F1 to F4 were 8.46 kPa (6.22-10.35 kPa), 10.89 kPa (8.09-14.46 kPa), 18.62 kPa (16.03-21.16 kPa), and 25.10 kPa (20.28-30.95 kPa), respectively, indicating a gradual increase in fibrosis progression, which is shown in Figure 3, with a Spearman correlation coefficient of 0.85 (P < 0.001). Given that the distributions of ElastPQ results for F0 and F1 were comparable and only eight F0 rabbits were included, F0 and F1 rabbits were combined as a single group for further analyses. Significant differences in the LSM by ElastPQ between each fibrosis stage were observed (F0-1 vs F2, P < 0.01; F2 vs F3, P < 0.01; and F3 vs F4, P < 0.01).

Relationship between the LSM by ElastPQ and fibrosis blood tests

ROC curves of ElastPQ, hyaluronic acid, and type IV collagen for predicting minimal fibrosis (F0-F1 *vs* F2-F4), moderate fibrosis (F0-F2 *vs* F3-F4), and cirrhosis (F0-F3 *vs* F4) are shown in Figure 4A-C. The





Figure 4 Receiver operating characteristic curves of elastography point quantification and serum fibrosis markers for diagnosis of (A) minimal fibrosis (F0-F1 vs F2-F4), (B) moderate fibrosis (F0-F2 vs F3-F4), and (C) cirrhosis (F0-F3 vs F4). ElastPQ: Elastography point quantification.

| Table 3 Basic characteristics of rabbits with different liver fibrosis stages in Experiment 1 | | | | | |
|---|-------------------|-------------------|--------------------|---------------------|---------------------|
| Parameters | F0 $(n = 8)$ | F1 ($n = 11$) | F2 $(n = 16)$ | F3 $(n = 16)$ | F4 ($n = 25$) |
| Body weight (kg) | 2.34 ± 0.24 | 2.28 ± 0.27 | 2.39 ± 0.14 | 2.30 ± 0.38 | 2.24 ± 0.33 |
| Type IV collagen (µg/L) | 200.8 ± 131.5 | 427.1 ± 226.2 | 683.4 ± 332.5 | 1161.4 ± 482.5 | 1292.0 ± 689.7 |
| Hyaluronic acid (µg/L) | 225.6 ± 117.1 | 475.7 ± 296.4 | 676.2 ± 274.8 | 724.0 ± 264.5 | 1182.3 ± 1091.3 |
| TB (μmol/L) | 0.98 ± 0.53 | 1.91 ± 0.63 | 2.20 ± 0.85 | 1.81 ± 0.82 | 1.64 ± 0.91 |
| AST (IU/L) | 26.8 ± 14.7 | 345.0 ± 295.9 | 449.2 ± 304.7 | 666.4 ± 428.3 | 616.1 ± 609.2 |
| ALT (IU/L) | 14.0 ± 3.7 | 254.7 ± 194.0 | 301.5 ± 210.7 | 456.3 ± 316.0 | 486.5 ± 295.8 |
| Albumin (g/L) | 42.7 ± 4.9 | 40.4 ± 4.6 | 36.5 ± 4.3 | 32.3 ± 6.4 | 35.3 ± 5.9 |
| LSM (kPa) | 7.88 (6.60-8.46) | 8.46 (6.22-10.35) | 10.89 (8.09-14.46) | 18.62 (16.03-21.16) | 25.10 (20.28-30.95) |

ALT: Alanine aminotransferase; AST: Aspartate aminotransferase; LSM: Liver stiffness measurement; TB: Total bilirubin.

AUROC (area under ROC) of ElastPQ for predicting minimal fibrosis (0.931, 95%CI: 0.849-0.977) was comparable to those of hyaluronic acid (0.807, 95%CI: 0.700-0.889) and type IV collagen (0.919, 95%CI: 0.833-0.969), while the ElastPQ for predicting moderate fibrosis and cirrhosis (0.969, 95%CI: 0.901-0.995; 0.925, 95%CI: 0.841-0.973) was significantly superior to hyaluronic acid (0.677, 95%CI: 0.560-0.780; 0.670, 95%CI: 0.553-0.774) and type IV collagen (0.861, 95%CI: 0.762-0.930;

0.695, 95%CI: 0.578-0.795), which is summarized in Table 4. The ElastPQ critical values for differentiating fibrosis stages were subsequently confirmed by the ROC, and the corresponding specificities, sensitivities, PPVs, and NPVs are listed in Table 5.

Longitudinal change in the LSM by ElastPQ and liver function following splenectomy

The longitudinal ElastPQ and laboratory data for rabbits with different stages of fibrosis after splenectomy and

| Table 4 Comparison between elastography point quantification and fibrosis blood tests | | | |
|---|---------------------|----------------------------------|----------------------------------|
| AUROC | FO-F1 vs F2-F4 | F0-F2 vs F3-F4 | F0-F3 <i>vs</i> F4 |
| ElastPQ | 0.931 (0.849-0.977) | 0.969 (0.901-0.995) | 0.925 (0.841-0.973) |
| Hyaluronic acid | 0.807 (0.700-0.889) | 0.677 (0.560-0.780) ^a | 0.670 (0.553-0.774) ^a |
| Type IV collagen | 0.919 (0.833-0.969) | $0.861 (0.762 - 0.930)^{a}$ | $0.695 (0.578 - 0.795)^{a}$ |

 $Comparison of AUROC between ElastPQ and hyaluronic acid or type IV collagen, {}^{a}P < 0.05. ElastPQ: Elastography point quantification.$

Table 5 Cutoff and performance values of elastography point quantification for diagnosis of liver fibrosis stages

| Parameter | F0-F1 vs F2-F4 | FO-F2 vs F3-F4 | F0-F3 vs F4 |
|----------------------|---------------------|---------------------|---------------------|
| AUROC | 0.931 (0.849-0.977) | 0.969 (0.901-0.995) | 0.925 (0.841-0.973) |
| Optimal cutoff value | 11.27 | 14.89 | 18.21 |
| Sensitivity (%) | 82.5 (70.1-91.3) | 87.8 (73.8-95.9) | 88.0 (68.8-97.5) |
| Specificity (%) | 94.7 (74.0-99.9) | 94.3 (80.8-99.3) | 84.3 (71.4-93.0) |
| PPV (%) | 97.9 (88.9-99.9) | 94.7 (82.3-99.4) | 73.3 (54.1-87.7) |
| NPV (%) | 64.3 (44.1-81.4) | 86.8 (71.9-95.6) | 93.5 (82.1-98.6) |

PPV: Positive predictive values; NPV: Negative predictive value.



Figure 5 Dynamic changes in liver stiffness measurement by elastography point quantification after surgery in rabbits with F1 (A), F2 (B), F3 (C), and F4 (D) liver fibrosis (sham group vs splenectomy group). LSM: Liver stiffness measurement; ElastPQ: Elastography point quantification.

sham operation in Experiment 2 are shown in Tables 6 and 7. For the nine rabbits with F1 liver fibrosis (five in the splenectomy group *vs* four in the sham group), the increase in ElastPQ values was delayed in the splenectomy group compared with that in the sham group during the following the operations (Figure 5A), while the changes in other laboratory parameters,

including AST, ALT, albumin, and TB levels, indicated otherwise (Figure 6, Table 7). For the rabbits with F2, F3, and F4 liver fibrosis, no favorable change in parameters, including the ElastPQ, AST, ALT, albumin, and TB levels, was detected in the splenectomy group compared with the sham group over the 10-wk period after the operations (Figure 5B-D, Figure 6 and Table 7).

Wang MJ et al. Liver stiffness measured by ElastPQ

Table 6 Longitudinal changes in liver stiffness measurement (kPa) via elastography point quantification between splenectomy and sham groups

| | | POW 0 | POW 2 | POW 4 | POW 6 | POW 8 | POW 10 |
|----|---------------------|---------------------|---------------------|---------------------|---------------------|---------------------|---------------------|
| F1 | Group S ($n = 5$) | 8.46 (6.63-8.50) | 8.74 (6.97-8.91) | 11.34 (9.13-12.89) | 14.32 (11.45-15.45) | 18.89 (16.43-19.23) | 19.24 (17.78-21.09) |
| | Group L $(n = 4)$ | 8.59 (7.12-10.13) | 12.79 (11.01-14.62) | 14.35 (12.24-16.70) | 16.30 (13.25-20.07) | 21.01 (16.11-25.45) | 23.34 (20.66-26.15) |
| F2 | Group S $(n = 4)$ | 10.81 (8.34-13.48) | 14.45 (12.53-15.70) | 18.28 (16.72-18.56) | 20.73 (18.09-22.26) | 25.50 (23.10-25.89) | 30.79 (27.29-33.31) |
| | Group L $(n = 4)$ | 10.50 (9.31-11.96) | 15.39 (13.55-16.92) | 17.90 (16.01-19.27) | 20.25 (18.92-21.51) | 23.89 (23.15-25.24) | 30.60 (28.54-32.29) |
| F3 | Group S $(n = 4)$ | 19.19 (17.77-21.25) | 22.90 (20.70-25.17) | 26.99 (25.13-28.88) | 29.98 (26.14-33.23) | 32.38 (29.06-35.89) | 35.79 (33.79-37.31) |
| | Group L $(n = 4)$ | 22.08 (18.24-25.35) | 25.17 (21.79-27.59) | 27.21 (24.38-30.23) | 29.72 (28.27-30.70) | 31.89 (29.91-33.98) | 32.22 (30.70-34.71) |
| F4 | Group S ($n = 3$) | 27.56 (23.40-28.34) | 31.23 (26.84-32.22) | 30.12 (27.89-32.12) | 36.12 (32.39-36.34) | 35.10 (34.12-36.27) | 36.12 (34.06-37.28) |
| | Group L $(n = 3)$ | 23.98 (20.21-28.66) | 29.12 (23.68-31.19) | 32.00 (28.17-33.00) | 29.00 (28.56-32.56) | 33.43 (33.32-35.32) | 35.30 (35.25-37.21) |

POW: Postoperative weeks; Group S: Rabbits received splenectomy plus liver biopsy; Group L: Rabbits received liver biopsy only.

| Table 7 Lo | ngitudinal changes i | n liver function b | etween splenector | ny and sham grou | ps | | |
|-------------|----------------------|--------------------|-------------------|-------------------|-------------------|-------------------|-------------------|
| | | POW 0 | POW 2 | POW 4 | POW 6 | POW 8 | POW 10 |
| AST (IU/L) | | | | | | | |
| F1 | Group S $(n = 5)$ | 138.0 ± 87.3 | 236.7 ± 110.6 | 484.3 ± 244.2 | 307.3 ± 138.9 | 454.0 ± 291.3 | 574.3 ± 350.6 |
| | Group L $(n = 4)$ | 447.0 ± 292.7 | 245.5 ± 98.3 | 589.5 ± 140.7 | 455.0 ± 309.7 | 517.5 ± 55.9 | 470.0 ± 155.6 |
| F2 | Group S $(n = 4)$ | 353.6 ± 208.4 | 473.4 ± 212.1 | 426.0 ± 186.4 | 448.6 ± 286.4 | 658.2 ± 221.9 | 575.6 ± 104.4 |
| | Group L $(n = 4)$ | 392.0 ± 290.5 | 493.5 ± 269.0 | 407.5 ± 100.4 | 506.3 ± 156.8 | 494.5 ± 88.8 | 550.0 ± 125.6 |
| F3 | Group S $(n = 4)$ | 578.3 ± 219.5 | 681.3 ± 208.9 | 534.0 ± 292.2 | 622.7 ± 286.2 | 584.7 ± 144.5 | 713.3 ± 122.8 |
| | Group L $(n = 4)$ | 598.8 ± 219.5 | 569.8 ± 208.9 | 651.5 ± 292.2 | 513.0 ± 286.2 | 435.5 ± 144.5 | 831.8 ± 122.8 |
| F4 | Group S $(n = 3)$ | 562.2 ± 356.6 | 604.2 ± 314.3 | 578.4 ± 247.7 | 623.8 ± 101.1 | 672.6 ± 122.6 | 525.6 ± 153.2 |
| | Group L $(n = 3)$ | 412.6 ± 190.9 | 508.7 ± 253.8 | 604.0 ± 121.8 | 616.7 ± 203.1 | 571.0 ± 145.7 | 480.3 ± 91.4 |
| ALT (IU/L) | | | | | | | |
| F1 | Group S $(n = 5)$ | 88.7 ± 39.2 | 270.3 ± 144.9 | 460.7 ± 227.5 | 379.0 ± 179.2 | 526.7 ± 185.8 | 440.7 ± 220.4 |
| | Group L $(n = 4)$ | 195.0 ± 39.6 | 322.0 ± 76.4 | 430.5 ± 2.1 | 445.0 ± 108.9 | 560.5 ± 87.0 | 372.0 ± 198.0 |
| F2 | Group S $(n = 4)$ | 224.6 ± 187.8 | 240.8 ± 96.7 | 355.8 ± 165.8 | 342.6 ± 165.1 | 436.8 ± 74.9 | 458.0 ± 92.4 |
| | Group L $(n = 4)$ | 291.8 ± 65.9 | 364.3 ± 86.5 | 310.3 ± 35.8 | 414.5 ± 136.8 | 473.3 ± 140.5 | 498.3 ± 174.0 |
| F3 | Group S $(n = 4)$ | 315.7 ± 232.7 | 434.0 ± 171.8 | 528.3 ± 137.7 | 588.0 ± 61.6 | 461.3 ± 208.2 | 497.3 ± 73.6 |
| | Group L $(n = 4)$ | 477.8 ± 151.7 | 484.0 ± 34.4 | 459.3 ± 132.5 | 601.0 ± 274.9 | 488.8 ± 210.2 | 507.0 ± 133.2 |
| F4 | Group S $(n = 3)$ | 416.8 ± 286.2 | 490.6 ± 43.3 | 626.2 ± 93.0 | 478.0 ± 83.3 | 550.6 ± 252.5 | 519.2 ± 44.9 |
| | Group L $(n = 3)$ | 529.0 ± 167.0 | 475.8 ± 106.7 | 600.4 ± 116.3 | 512.6 ± 207.8 | 576.8 ± 233.1 | 695.4 ± 150.6 |
| Albumin (g/ | L) | | | | | | |
| F1 | Group S $(n = 5)$ | 41.6 ± 2.4 | 40.5 ± 1.8 | 39.4 ± 2.3 | 40.5 ± 3.4 | 40.0 ± 2.0 | 39.8 ± 1.7 |
| | Group L $(n = 4)$ | 41.3 ± 4.9 | 40.2 ± 3.0 | 40.3 ± 1.8 | 39.3 ± 0.6 | 39.3 ± 2.0 | 40.7 ± 1.3 |
| F2 | Group S $(n = 4)$ | 39.0 ± 1.9 | 38.3 ± 1.9 | 38.3 ± 1.5 | 38.9 ± 2.0 | 38.9 ± 1.6 | 38.9 ± 0.8 |
| | Group L $(n = 4)$ | 39.6 ± 1.6 | 39.6 ± 1.7 | 38.0 ± 1.5 | 39.5 ± 0.8 | 39.0 ± 1.4 | 38.9 ± 1.9 |
| F3 | Group S $(n = 4)$ | 30.7 ± 4.3 | 30.3 ± 3.9 | 29.8 ± 3.3 | 31.0 ± 3.0 | 30.2 ± 3.8 | 30.5 ± 4.1 |
| | Group L $(n = 4)$ | 31.1 ± 5.7 | 30.8 ± 5.1 | 31.8 ± 4.6 | 30.6 ± 5.2 | 30.9 ± 4.9 | 30.3 ± 4.2 |
| F4 | Group S ($n = 3$) | 35.8 ± 5.6 | 36.0 ± 4.7 | 34.5 ± 4.1 | 34.2 ± 4.8 | 35.1 ± 5.1 | 35.5 ± 3.6 |
| | Group L $(n = 3)$ | 35.3 ± 6.6 | 34.9 ± 5.8 | 35.4 ± 6.1 | 34.8 ± 3.4 | 34.8 ± 4.9 | 35.0 ± 5.6 |
| TB (μmol/L) | | | | | | | |
| F1 | Group S $(n = 5)$ | 1.08 ± 0.10 | 1.30 ± 0.16 | 1.60 ± 0.16 | 1.58 ± 0.18 | 1.71 ± 0.23 | 1.70 ± 0.22 |
| | Group L $(n = 4)$ | 1.34 ± 0.16 | 1.38 ± 0.08 | 1.39 ± 0.08 | 1.65 ± 0.20 | 1.51 ± 0.19 | 1.58 ± 0.25 |
| F2 | Group S $(n = 4)$ | 2.01 ± 0.72 | 2.35 ± 0.58 | 2.45 ± 0.61 | 2.65 ± 0.47 | 2.76 ± 0.51 | 2.81 ± 0.54 |
| | Group L $(n = 4)$ | 2.08 ± 0.23 | 2.45 ± 0.51 | 2.62 ± 0.45 | 2.67 ± 0.23 | 2.99 ± 0.15 | 2.68 ± 0.40 |
| F3 | Group S $(n = 4)$ | 2.36 ± 0.64 | 2.52 ± 0.64 | 2.62 ± 0.51 | 2.66 ± 0.29 | 2.97 ± 0.19 | 3.09 ± 0.10 |
| | Group L $(n = 4)$ | 2.59 ± 0.76 | 2.87 ± 0.42 | 2.88 ± 0.48 | 2.94 ± 0.33 | 3.13 ± 0.20 | 3.09 ± 0.12 |
| F4 | Group S $(n = 3)$ | 2.30 ± 0.56 | 2.58 ± 0.54 | 2.73 ± 0.22 | 2.88 ± 0.18 | 3.05 ± 0.26 | 3.03 ± 0.38 |
| | Group L $(n = 3)$ | 2.35 ± 0.84 | 2.49 ± 0.52 | 2.82 ± 0.67 | 2.96 ± 0.13 | 3.11 ± 0.48 | 3.08 ± 0.51 |

POW: Postoperative weeks; Group S: Rabbits received splenectomy plus liver biopsy; Group L: Rabbits received liver biopsy only.

DISCUSSION

In the current study, after four to twenty weeks of fibrosis induction, the LSM increased from 7.88 kPa to 5.86-39.12 kPa in all rabbits with different proven fibrosis stages. Two specific serum markers of liver fibrogenesis (type IV collagen and hyaluronic acid) were selected to reflect the progression of CCl4-induced liver fibrosis, and both markers showed a step-wise

correlation with liver fibrosis stages compared to the LSM *via* ElastPQ, reinforcing that ElastPQ can reflect the severity of liver fibrosis. However, a comparison of the baseline values of liver stiffness in different studies cannot be performed mainly due to variations in the modeling methods and species.

Although there was a significant increase in the LSM *via* ElastPQ with increased fibrosis stage, there was a degree of overlap between consecutive stages. In







Jaishideng®

WJG | www.wjgnet.com



Figure 6 Longitudinal changes in liver function following splenectomy vs sham operation at different liver fibrosis stages. A: Changes in AST for rabbits with F1-F4 liver fibrosis; B: Changes in ALT for rabbits with F1-F4 liver fibrosis; C: Changes in total bilirubin for rabbits with F1-F4 liver fibrosis; and D: Changes in albumin for rabbits with F1-F4 liver fibrosis. AST: Aspartate aminotransferase; ALT: Alanine aminotransferase.

WJG www.wjgnet.com

155

December 14, 2016 | Volume 22 | Issue 46 |

this study, for F0-F2 liver fibrosis categories, the LSM was 7.88 (6.60-8.46), 8.46 (6.22-10.35), and 10.89 (8.09-14.46), respectively, which may have been due to an insufficient number of animals with F0-F2. A similar concern was reported in a previous study on the ARFI for assessing liver fibrosis^[39]. The ElastPQ cutoff values for minimal fibrosis (F0-F1 *vs* F2-F4), moderate fibrosis (F0-F2 *vs* F3-F4), and cirrhosis (F0-F3 *vs* F4) were defined. As shown in Table 5, the ElastPQ cutoff values for predicting different stages of fibrosis can be clearly distinguished, which may be due to the relatively uniform distribution of rabbits with different stages.

The areas under the ROC curves were compared for ElastPQ, hyaluronic acid and type IV collagen. The ElastPQ prediction of minimal fibrosis was comparable to that for hyaluronic acid and type IV collagen, while the ElastPQ prediction of moderate fibrosis and cirrhosis was significantly superior to hyaluronic acid. This outcome demonstrates that this non-invasive technique could have clinical utility.

With continuing basic research, the concept of liver fibrosis has changed from static and progressive to dynamic and bidirectional, especially when the causes of liver damage have been removed. In addition, because there is a significant correlation between the ElastPQ values and liver fibrosis stages, it is theoretically possible to use ElastPQ to non-invasively assess the effect of anti-fibrosis treatments. Indeed, previous studies have reported on the clinical application of TE for dynamically monitoring fibrosis regression during antiviral treatment in chronic hepatitis B and C patients, indicating that the TE values seem to decrease during antiviral therapy^[40,41].

Although splenectomy is performed for patients with hypersplenism in some institutions^[21,42], hypersplenism in most patients should be considered a laboratory abnormality that does not require treatment or further consideration^[43]. However, a previous welldesigned study indicated that splenectomy attenuated murine liver fibrosis^[22]. Therefore, splenectomy remains controversial for patients with hypersplenism. In the present study, splenectomy was only used to group rabbits and then determine whether splenectomy at different liver fibrosis stages will delay or reverse the progression of liver fibrosis. A previous study indicated that the spleen plays an important regulatory role in rat liver cirrhosis induced by a choline-deficient L-amino acid-defined diet^[44]. In this study, a trend suggesting that splenectomy can delay the progression of early liver fibrosis (especially F1) was detected. A previous study using a rat liver fibrosis model indicated that spleen-derived TGF- β 1 is involved in the development of liver fibrosis such that decreasing the TGF- β 1 level by splenectomy could inhibit hepatic stellate cell activation and then improve liver fibrosis^[45]. However, in the present study, splenectomy did not seem to improve late liver fibrosis (especially types F3 and F4); therefore, there may be another potential mechanism for improving early liver fibrosis following splenectomy.

Although activated HSCs have a great impact on liver fibrogenesis, recent studies have suggested that monocytes and their progeny macrophages are also responsible for liver fibrosis^[46,47]. Based on a study of monocytes derived from BM^[13] as well as studies by Swirski et al^[14] and other researchers^[15,16], there are numerous monocytes in the spleen that could be mobilized in pathological states. As a result, the spleen can be considered a monocyte reservoir. An interesting previous study demonstrated that the spleen is a site for storing and rapidly deploying monocytes involved in inflammation regulation^[14]. Therefore, performing splenectomy in the early stages of liver fibrosis would block the rapid deployment of monocytes to the liver, which may alleviate the inflammatory reaction and delay liver fibrosis. In contrast, performing splenectomy in the late stage would not help to postpone liver fibrosis, which may be explained by the hypothesis that during the late stage, monocytes from BM play a predominant role in liver fibrosis. However, it should be further determined whether the diversity of monocyte origin influences the different stages of liver fibrosis.

In summary, ElastPQ is an available, convenient, objective and non-invasive technique for assessing liver stiffness in rabbits with CCl₄-induced liver fibrosis, and paves the way for its clinical application. Additionally, liver stiffness measurements with ElastPQ can dynamically monitor the changes in liver stiffness in rabbit models, or patients, after splenectomy. However, the underlying mechanism by which early splenectomy can decelerate liver fibrosis should be further studied.

COMMENTS

Background

Elastography point quantification (ElastPQ) is a non-invasive technique for assessing tissue stiffness and was used in this study. Splenectomy is a surgical intervention for liver cirrhosis patients with hypersplenism. However, no evidence of changes in fibrotic liver stiffness after splenectomy at different pathological stages using ElastPQ has previously been available.

Research frontiers

Liver biopsy is the reference standard for staging fibrosis. Nevertheless, because of its invasive nature, liver biopsy is difficult to perform in patients who require repeated examination to monitor liver fibrosis progression. An acoustic radiation force impulse (ARFI) technique, ElastPQ, has been developed for measuring tissue stiffness. In this study, the author used a liver fibrosis animal model to demonstrate that ElastPQ is an available, convenient, objective and non-invasive technique for assessing liver stiffness in rabbits with CCI4-induced liver fibrosis. In addition, the changes in liver stiffness in rabbit models, or patients, after splenectomy can be dynamically monitored by ElastPQ.

Innovations and breakthrough

This is the first animal experiment to confirm that liver stiffness measurements with ElastPQ could be used to dynamically monitor the changes in liver stiffness. The results provide good news for liver fibrosis patients who are in need of long-term follow-up.

Applications

Based on this study, ElastPQ could dynamically monitor the changes in liver



WJG | www.wjgnet.com

stiffness after interventions.

Terminology

ElastPQ is an ARFI technique that can non-invasively measure tissue stiffness.

Peer-review

This is a well-supported paper presenting a study on utilizing CCl4-induced liver fibrosis to evaluate liver stiffness measurement approaches.

REFERENCES

- 1 Schuppan D, Afdhal NH. Liver cirrhosis. *Lancet* 2008; 371: 838-851 [PMID: 18328931 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(08)60383-9]
- 2 Papatheodoridis GV, Petraki K, Cholongitas E, Kanta E, Ketikoglou I, Manesis EK. Impact of interferon-alpha therapy on liver fibrosis progression in patients with HBeAg-negative chronic hepatitis B. J Viral Hepat 2005; 12: 199-206 [PMID: 15720536 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2893.2005.00582.x]
- 3 Dienstag JL, Goldin RD, Heathcote EJ, Hann HW, Woessner M, Stephenson SL, Gardner S, Gray DF, Schiff ER. Histological outcome during long-term lamivudine therapy. *Gastroenterology* 2003; 124: 105-117 [PMID: 12512035 DOI: 10.1053/gast.2003. 50013]
- 4 Poynard T, McHutchison J, Manns M, Trepo C, Lindsay K, Goodman Z, Ling MH, Albrecht J. Impact of pegylated interferon alfa-2b and ribavirin on liver fibrosis in patients with chronic hepatitis C. *Gastroenterology* 2002; **122**: 1303-1313 [PMID: 11984517]
- 5 George SL, Bacon BR, Brunt EM, Mihindukulasuriya KL, Hoffmann J, Di Bisceglie AM. Clinical, virologic, histologic, and biochemical outcomes after successful HCV therapy: a 5-year follow-up of 150 patients. *Hepatology* 2009; **49**: 729-738 [PMID: 19072828 DOI: 10.1002/hep.22694]
- 6 Mallet V, Gilgenkrantz H, Serpaggi J, Verkarre V, Vallet-Pichard A, Fontaine H, Pol S. Brief communication: the relationship of regression of cirrhosis to outcome in chronic hepatitis C. *Ann Intern Med* 2008; 149: 399-403 [PMID: 18794559]
- 7 Czaja AJ, Carpenter HA. Decreased fibrosis during corticosteroid therapy of autoimmune hepatitis. *J Hepatol* 2004; 40: 646-652 [PMID: 15030981 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2004.01.009]
- 8 Kaplan MM, DeLellis RA, Wolfe HJ. Sustained biochemical and histologic remission of primary biliary cirrhosis in response to medical treatment. *Ann Intern Med* 1997; **126**: 682-688 [PMID: 9139553]
- 9 Sun M, Kisseleva T. Reversibility of liver fibrosis. Clin Res Hepatol Gastroenterol 2015; 39 Suppl 1: S60-S63 [PMID: 26206574 DOI: 10.1016/j.clinre.2015.06.015]
- Atta HM. Reversibility and heritability of liver fibrosis: Implications for research and therapy. *World J Gastroenterol* 2015; 21: 5138-5148 [PMID: 25954087 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v21.i17.5138]
- 11 Rantakari P, Patten DA, Valtonen J, Karikoski M, Gerke H, Dawes H, Laurila J, Ohlmeier S, Elima K, Hübscher SG, Weston CJ, Jalkanen S, Adams DH, Salmi M, Shetty S. Stabilin-1 expression defines a subset of macrophages that mediate tissue homeostasis and prevent fibrosis in chronic liver injury. *Proc Natl* Acad Sci USA 2016; **113**: 9298-9303 [PMID: 27474165 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.1604780113]
- 12 Chu PS, Nakamoto N, Ebinuma H, Usui S, Saeki K, Matsumoto A, Mikami Y, Sugiyama K, Tomita K, Kanai T, Saito H, Hibi T. C-C motif chemokine receptor 9 positive macrophages activate hepatic stellate cells and promote liver fibrosis in mice. *Hepatology* 2013; 58: 337-350 [PMID: 23460364 DOI: 10.1002/hep.26351]
- 13 Geissmann F, Manz MG, Jung S, Sieweke MH, Merad M, Ley K. Development of monocytes, macrophages, and dendritic cells. *Science* 2010; 327: 656-661 [PMID: 20133564 DOI: 10.1126/ science.1178331]
- 14 Swirski FK, Nahrendorf M, Etzrodt M, Wildgruber M, Cortez-Retamozo V, Panizzi P, Figueiredo JL, Kohler RH, Chudnovskiy A, Waterman P, Aikawa E, Mempel TR, Libby P, Weissleder R,

Pittet MJ. Identification of splenic reservoir monocytes and their deployment to inflammatory sites. *Science* 2009; **325**: 612-616 [PMID: 19644120 DOI: 10.1126/science.1175202]

- 15 Venosa A, Malaviya R, Gow AJ, Hall L, Laskin JD, Laskin DL. Protective role of spleen-derived macrophages in lung inflammation, injury, and fibrosis induced by nitrogen mustard. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol* 2015; **309**: L1487-L1498 [PMID: 26475734 DOI: 10.1152/ajplung.00276.2015]
- 16 Kim E, Yang J, Beltran CD, Cho S. Role of spleen-derived monocytes/macrophages in acute ischemic brain injury. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab* 2014; 34: 1411-1419 [PMID: 24865998 DOI: 10.1038/jcbfm.2014.101]
- 17 Terai S, Ishikawa T, Omori K, Aoyama K, Marumoto Y, Urata Y, Yokoyama Y, Uchida K, Yamasaki T, Fujii Y, Okita K, Sakaida I. Improved liver function in patients with liver cirrhosis after autologous bone marrow cell infusion therapy. *Stem Cells* 2006; 24: 2292-2298 [PMID: 16778155 DOI: 10.1634/stemcells.2005-0542]
- 18 Kisseleva T, Brenner DA. The phenotypic fate and functional role for bone marrow-derived stem cells in liver fibrosis. J Hepatol 2012; 56: 965-972 [PMID: 22173163 DOI: 10.1016/ j.jhep.2011.09.021]
- 19 Shimada M, Hashizume M, Shirabe K, Takenaka K, Sugimachi K. A new surgical strategy for cirrhotic patients with hepatocellular carcinoma and hypersplenism. Performing a hepatectomy after a laparoscopic splenectomy. *Surg Endosc* 2000; 14: 127-130 [PMID: 10656943]
- 20 Ushitora Y, Tashiro H, Takahashi S, Amano H, Oshita A, Kobayashi T, Chayama K, Ohdan H. Splenectomy in chronic hepatic disorders: portal vein thrombosis and improvement of liver function. *Dig Surg* 2011; 28: 9-14 [PMID: 21293126 DOI: 10.1159/000321886]
- 21 Yamamoto N, Okano K, Oshima M, Akamoto S, Fujiwara M, Tani J, Miyoshi H, Yoneyama H, Masaki T, Suzuki Y. Laparoscopic splenectomy for patients with liver cirrhosis: Improvement of liver function in patients with Child-Pugh class B. *Surgery* 2015; 158: 1538-1544 [PMID: 26070848 DOI: 10.1016/j.surg.2015.05.008]
- 22 Yada A, Iimuro Y, Uyama N, Uda Y, Okada T, Fujimoto J. Splenectomy attenuates murine liver fibrosis with hypersplenism stimulating hepatic accumulation of Ly-6C(lo) macrophages. J Hepatol 2015; 63: 905-916 [PMID: 26022691 DOI: 10.1016/ j.jhep.2015.05.010]
- 23 Procopet B, Bureau C, Métivier S, Selves J, Robic MA, Christol C, Grigorescu M, Vinel JP, Péron JM. Tolerance of liver biopsy in a tertiary care center: comparison of the percutaneous and the transvenous route in 143 prospectively followed patients. *Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2012; 24: 1209-1213 [PMID: 22668874 DOI: 10.1097/MEG.0b013e328355e2ba]
- 24 Cadranel JF, Rufat P, Degos F. Practices of liver biopsy in France: results of a prospective nationwide survey. For the Group of Epidemiology of the French Association for the Study of the Liver (AFEF). *Hepatology* 2000; **32**: 477-481 [PMID: 10960438 DOI: 10.1053/jhep.2000.16602]
- Bedossa P, Dargère D, Paradis V. Sampling variability of liver fibrosis in chronic hepatitis C. *Hepatology* 2003; 38: 1449-1457 [PMID: 14647056 DOI: 10.1016/j.hep.2003.09.022]
- 26 Rousselet MC, Michalak S, Dupré F, Croué A, Bedossa P, Saint-André JP, Calès P. Sources of variability in histological scoring of chronic viral hepatitis. *Hepatology* 2005; 41: 257-264 [PMID: 15660389 DOI: 10.1002/hep.20535]
- 27 Ozturker C, Karagoz E, Mutlu H. Noninvasive Evaluation of Liver Fibrosis by Using Two-dimensional Shear-Wave Elastography. *Radiology* 2016; 280: 323-324 [PMID: 27322979 DOI: 10.1148/radiol.2016152531]
- 28 Kazemirad S, Zhang E, Nguyen BN, Bodson-Clermont P, Destrempes F, Trudel D, Cloutier G, Tang A. Detection of Steatohepatitis in a Rat Model by Using Spectroscopic Shear-Wave US Elastography. *Radiology* 2016; Epub ahead of print [PMID: 27513850 DOI: 10.1148/radiol.2016160308]
- 29 Jansen C, Bogs C, Verlinden W, Thiele M, Möller P, Görtzen J, Lehmann J, Vanwolleghem T, Vonghia L, Praktiknjo M, Chang



J, Krag A, Strassburg CP, Francque S, Trebicka J. Shear-wave elastography of the liver and spleen identifies clinically significant portal hypertension: A prospective multicentre study. *Liver Int* 2016; Epub ahead of print [PMID: 27569696 DOI: 10.1111/ liv.13243]

- 30 Xie H, Shamdasani V, Fernandez AT, Peterson R, Lachman M, Shi Y, Robert JL, Urban M, Chen S, Greenleaf J. Shear wave Dispersion Ultrasound Vibrometry (SDUV) on an ultrasound system: In vivo measurement of liver viscoelasticity in healthy animals. in Ultrasonics Symposium (IUS), 2010 IEEE. 2010
- 31 Barr RG, Ferraioli G, Palmeri ML, Goodman ZD, Garcia-Tsao G, Rubin J, Garra B, Myers RP, Wilson SR, Rubens D, Levine D. Elastography Assessment of Liver Fibrosis: Society of Radiologists in Ultrasound Consensus Conference Statement. *Radiology* 2015; 276: 845-861 [PMID: 26079489 DOI: 10.1148/radiol.2015150619]
- 32 Ma JJ, Ding H, Mao F, Sun HC, Xu C, Wang WP. Assessment of liver fibrosis with elastography point quantification technique in chronic hepatitis B virus patients: a comparison with liver pathological results. *J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2014; 29: 814-819 [PMID: 24325607 DOI: 10.1111/jgh.12479]
- 33 Ferraioli G, Tinelli C, Lissandrin R, Zicchetti M, Dal Bello B, Filice G, Filice C. Point shear wave elastography method for assessing liver stiffness. *World J Gastroenterol* 2014; 20: 4787-4796 [PMID: 24782633 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v20.i16.4787]
- 34 Ferraioli G, Filice C, Castera L, Choi BI, Sporea I, Wilson SR, Cosgrove D, Dietrich CF, Amy D, Bamber JC, Barr R, Chou YH, Ding H, Farrokh A, Friedrich-Rust M, Hall TJ, Nakashima K, Nightingale KR, Palmeri ML, Schafer F, Shiina T, Suzuki S, Kudo M. WFUMB guidelines and recommendations for clinical use of ultrasound elastography: Part 3: liver. *Ultrasound Med Biol* 2015; 41: 1161-1179 [PMID: 25800942 DOI: 10.1016/j.ultrasmedbio.20 15.03.007]
- 35 Zhang L, Duan YY, Yin JK, Cui JH, Zhang Y, Cao TS. Grey scale enhancement by a new self-made contrast agent in early cirrhotic stage of rabbit liver. *BMC Gastroenterol* 2007; 7: 32 [PMID: 17686161 DOI: 10.1186/1471-230x-7-32]
- 36 Morton DB, Griffiths PH. Guidelines on the recognition of pain, distress and discomfort in experimental animals and an hypothesis for assessment. *Vet Rec* 1985; 116: 431-436 [PMID: 3923690]
- Gressner OA, Weiskirchen R, Gressner AM. Biomarkers of hepatic fibrosis, fibrogenesis and genetic pre-disposition pending between fiction and reality. *J Cell Mol Med* 2007; 11: 1031-1051 [PMID: 17979881 DOI: 10.1111/j.1582-4934.2007.00092.x]
- 38 Bedossa P, Poynard T. An algorithm for the grading of activity in chronic hepatitis C. The METAVIR Cooperative Study Group. *Hepatology* 1996; 24: 289-293 [PMID: 8690394 DOI: 10.1002/ hep.510240201]
- 39 Lupsor M, Badea R, Stefanescu H, Sparchez Z, Branda H, Serban

A, Maniu A. Performance of a new elastographic method (ARFI technology) compared to unidimensional transient elastography in the noninvasive assessment of chronic hepatitis C. Preliminary results. *J Gastrointestin Liver Dis* 2009; **18**: 303-310 [PMID: 19795024]

- 40 Enomoto M, Mori M, Ogawa T, Fujii H, Kobayashi S, Iwai S, Morikawa H, Tamori A, Sakaguchi H, Sawada A, Takeda S, Habu D, Shiomi S, Kawada N. Usefulness of transient elastography for assessment of liver fibrosis in chronic hepatitis B: Regression of liver stiffness during entecavir therapy. *Hepatol Res* 2010; 40: 853-861 [PMID: 20887589 DOI: 10.1111/j.1872-034X.2010.00687.x]
- 41 Arima Y, Kawabe N, Hashimoto S, Harata M, Nitta Y, Murao M, Nakano T, Shimazaki H, Kobayashi K, Ichino N, Osakabe K, Nishikawa T, Okumura A, Ishikawa T, Yoshioka K. Reduction of liver stiffness by interferon treatment in the patients with chronic hepatitis C. *Hepatol Res* 2010; 40: 383-392 [PMID: 20236358 DOI: 10.1111/j.1872-034X.2009.00618.x]
- 42 Yu H, Guo S, Wang L, Dong Y, Tian G, Mu S, Zhang H, Li D, Zhao S. Laparoscopic Splenectomy and Esophagogastric Devascularization for Liver Cirrhosis and Portal Hypertension Is a Safe, Effective, and Minimally Invasive Operation. *J Laparoendosc Adv Surg Tech A* 2016; 26: 524-530 [PMID: 27064936 DOI: 10.1089/lap.2016.0032]
- 43 Boyer TD, Habib S. Big spleens and hypersplenism: fix it or forget it? *Liver Int* 2015; 35: 1492-1498 [PMID: 25312770 DOI: 10.1111/ liv.12702]
- 44 Oishi T, Terai S, Iwamoto T, Takami T, Yamamoto N, Sakaida I. Splenectomy reduces fibrosis and preneoplastic lesions with increased triglycerides and essential fatty acids in rat liver cirrhosis induced by a choline-deficient L-amino acid-defined diet. *Hepatol Res* 2011; **41**: 463-474 [PMID: 21435125 DOI: 10.1111/j.1872-034X.2011.00784.x]
- 45 Akahoshi T, Hashizume M, Tanoue K, Shimabukuro R, Gotoh N, Tomikawa M, Sugimachi K. Role of the spleen in liver fibrosis in rats may be mediated by transforming growth factor beta-1. *J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2002; 17: 59-65 [PMID: 11895554 DOI: 10.1046/j.1440-1746.2002.02667.x]
- 46 Tacke F, Zimmermann HW. Macrophage heterogeneity in liver injury and fibrosis. *J Hepatol* 2014; 60: 1090-1096 [PMID: 24412603 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2013.12.025]
- 47 Baeck C, Wei X, Bartneck M, Fech V, Heymann F, Gassler N, Hittatiya K, Eulberg D, Luedde T, Trautwein C, Tacke F. Pharmacological inhibition of the chemokine C-C motif chemokine ligand 2 (monocyte chemoattractant protein 1) accelerates liver fibrosis regression by suppressing Ly-6C(+) macrophage infiltration in mice. *Hepatology* 2014; **59**: 1060-1072 [PMID: 24481979 DOI: 10.1002/hep.26783]

P- Reviewer: Bubnov RV, Ferraioli G, Gorrell MD S- Editor: Gong ZM L- Editor: Webster JR E- Editor: Zhang FF







Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/ Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v22.i46.10180 World J Gastroenterol 2016 December 14; 22(46): 10180-10188 ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online) © 2016 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Basic Study

Hepatoprotective and antioxidant effects of lycopene on non-alcoholic fatty liver disease in rat

Wei Jiang, Mei-Hua Guo, Xin Hai

Wei Jiang, Mei-Hua Guo, Xin Hai, Pharmacy Department, First Affiliated Hospital of Harbin Medical University, Harbin 150001, Heilongjiang Province, China

Author contributions: Hai X guaranteed the entire study; Jiang W carried out the whole experiment; Guo MH participated in the design of the study, performed the statistical analysis, and drafted the manuscript; Guo MH and Hai X edited and reviewed the manuscript; all authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Institutional review board statement: The study was reviewed and approved by Harbin Medical University Institutional Review Board, Harbin, China.

Institutional animal care and use committee statement: All procedures involving rats in this manuscript were reviewed and approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee on the Ethics of Animal Experiments of Harbin Medical University (HMU, Protocol Number: 20150301).

Conflict-of-interest statement: We have no financial relationships to disclose.

Data sharing statement: No additional data are available.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Manuscript source: Unsolicited manuscript

Correspondence to: Xin Hai, PhD, Pharmacy Department, First Affiliated Hospital of Harbin Medical University, Harbin 150001, Heilongjiang Province, China. hai_xin@163.com Telephone: +86-451-85556228 Fax: +86-451-85556228 Received: June 8, 2016 Peer-review started: June 13, 2016 First decision: July 29, 2016 Revised: August 15, 2016 Accepted: October 10, 2016 Article in press: October 10, 2016 Published online: December 14, 2016

Abstract

AIM

To evaluate the hepatoprotective effect of lycopene (Ly) on non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) in rat.

METHODS

A rat model of NAFLD was first established by feeding a high-fat diet for 14 wk. Sixty-five rats were randomly divided into normal group, model group and Ly treatment groups. Alanine aminotransferase (ALT), aspartate aminotransferase (AST), triglycerides (TG), total cholesterol (TC) in serum and low density lipoproteincholesterol (LDL-C), high density lipoprotein-cholesterol (HDL-C), free fatty acid (FFA), malondialdehyde (MDA), superoxide dismutase (SOD), glutathione (GSH) in liver tissue were evaluated, respectively. While the hepatoprotective effect was also confirmed by histopathological analysis, the expression levels of TNF- α and cytochrome P₄₅₀ (CYP) 2E1 in rat liver were determined by immunohistochemistry analysis.

RESULTS

A significant decrease was observed in the levels of serum AST (2.07-fold), ALT (2.95-fold), and the blood lipid TG (2.34-fold) and TC (1.66-fold) in the dose of 20 mg/kg Ly-treated rats (P < 0.01), compared to the model group. Pretreatment with 5, 10 and 20 mg/kg of Ly significantly raised the levels of antioxidant enzyme SOD in a dose-dependent manner,



to 90.95 ± 9.56, 109.52 ± 11.34 and 121.25 ± 10.68 (P < 0.05, P < 0.01), as compared with the model group. Similarly, the levels of GSH were significantly increased (P < 0.05, P < 0.01) after the Ly treatment. Meanwhile, pretreatment with 5, 10 and 20 mg/kg of Ly significantly reduced MDA amount by 30.87, 45.51 and 54.49% in the liver homogenates, respectively (P < 0.01). The Ly treatment group showed significantly decreased levels of lipid products LDL-C (P < 0.05, P < 0.01), improved HDL-C level and significantly decreased content of FFA, compared to the model group (P < 0.05, P < 0.01). Furthermore, the Ly-treated group also exhibited a down-regulated TNF- α and CYP2E1 expression, decreased infiltration of liver fats and reversed histopathological changes, all in a dosedependent manner (P < 0.05, P < 0.01).

CONCLUSION

This study suggests that Ly has a protective effect on NAFLD, down-regulates expression of TNF- α , and that CYP2E1 may be one of the action mechanisms for Ly.

Key words: Lycopene; Antioxidant; Hepatoprotective; Non-alcoholic fatty liver; Cytochrome P450 2E1

© **The Author(s) 2016.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core tip: Lycopene (Ly), a phytochemical belonging to the carotenoid family, is a red-colored pigment, apolar and acyclic carotenoid. The present study was designed to evaluate the possible hepatoprotective effect of Ly on non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) in rat. This study represents the first examination of the effects of Ly on the therapy of NAFLD, and showed down-regulated expression of TNF- α and indicated that CYP2E1 may be one of the action mechanisms for Ly.

Jiang W, Guo MH, Hai X. Hepatoprotective and antioxidant effects of lycopene on non-alcoholic fatty liver disease in rat. *World J Gastroenterol* 2016; 22(46): 10180-10188 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v22/ i46/10180.htm DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v22.i46.10180

INTRODUCTION

Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) is one of the causes of fatty liver, occurring when fat is deposited (steatosis) in the liver due to causes other than excessive alcohol use. NAFLD is considered to cover a spectrum of liver diseases, including simple steatosis, non-alcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH), liver fibrosis, liver cirrhosis and hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC)^[1,2]. Ninety percent of patients with NAFLD show close relation with one or more of the following risk factors: hypertension, dyslipidemia, elevated triglyceride (TG) levels, obesity, insulin resistance, metabolic syndrome, type 2 diabetes mellitus and cardiovascular disease^[3].

Currently, the percentage of people with NAFLD is approximately 20% worldwide and 25% in Western countries, making it one of the most dominant causes of chronic liver disease affecting both adults and children^[4]. NAFLD is more common in patients with severe diabetes and obesity, mortality and disease evolution to liver fibrosis or liver cirrhosis is increased in old people with NAFLD^[5]. Recently, the "two-hit" theory has arisen as a popular mechanism, although the cause of NAFLD remains to be clearly elucidated^[6]. Furthermore, there is not any specific drug available for NAFLD, and no drug has yet to be tested in clinical phase III trials. Therefore, no specific therapy can be firmly recommended to the patients with NAFLD^[7].

Lycopene (Ly), a phytochemical belonging to carotenoid family, is a red-colored pigment, acyclic and apolar carotenoid^[8]. It is abundantly found in red-colored vegetables and fruits, such as tomatoes, papaya, gac fruit, pink grape-fruit, pink guava, carrots and watermelon, with the concentrations ranging from 9 to 42 mg/kg depending on the variety^[9]. Ly displays a range of unique and distinct biological properties owing to its acyclic structure, hydrophobicity and large array of conjugated double bonds. Recently, diverse studies have been reported that lycopene exerts powerful antioxidant activity both in vitro and in vivo against the oxidation of proteins, lipids and DNA, and also has the potential of quenching singlet oxygen 100 times more efficiently than vitamin E and 125 times more than glutathione (GSH)^[10]. Furthermore, even at low oxygen tension, it can also scavenge peroxyl radicals, inhibiting the process of lipid peroxidation^[11]. It is the most efficient quencher of singlet oxygen among all naturally occurring carotenoids^[11], and recently it has been in great demand as a food additive and a natural antioxidant. Additionally, Ly also exhibited potent neuroprotective, anti-inflammatory, anti-proliferative, maintenance of normal cell metabolism, cognition enhancing properties, regulating blood lipid metabolism and so on^[12-16]. Therefore, with this background, we aimed to investigate the possible beneficial effects and the possible action mechanism of Ly on NAFLD using a rat model system.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Materials and reagents

Alanine aminotransferase (ALT), aspartate aminotransferase (AST), TG, total cholesterol (TC), low density lipoprotein-cholesterol (LDL-C), high density lipoprotein-cholesterol (HDL-C), free fatty acid (FFA), malondialdehyde (MDA), superoxide dismutase (SOD) and GSH kits were obtained from Nanjing Jiancheng Bioengineering Institute (Nanjing, China). Protein assay kit was from Zhongshan Institute of Biotechnology (Beijing, China).

Mouse anti-TNF- α , rabbit anti-cytochrome P₄₅₀2E1 (CYP2E1), horseradish peroxidase (HRP)-conjugated goat anti-mouse IgG and HRP-conjugated goat anti-

Jiang W et al. Hepatoprotective effects of lycopene

rabbit IgG antibodies were provided by Proteintech Group, Inc. (Chicago, IL, United States).

Ly (> 95%) was purchased from North China Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (Shijiazhuang, China).

The high-fat diet (HFD: 88% basic feed + 10% lard + 2% cholesterol) was prepared in our lab.

Animals

Male Wistar rats (body weight 150 ± 10 g) were obtained from the Experimental Animal Center of Harbin Medical University (China). Six rats were kept in each single polyacrylic cage and were quarantined for 1 wk before the experiments. All animals were housed under standard controlled conditions (temperature: 24 ± 1 °C, humidity: $50\% \pm 5\%$ and 12 h light/dark cycle), with free access to food and water, and received humane care according to National Institutes of Health Guidelines of the United States (National Research Council of United States, 1996) and the related ethical regulations of Harbin Medical University. Animals were fasted for 12 h before sampling of material.

Experimental design

After acclimatization for 1 wk, 65 Wistar male rats were randomized into 2 groups. Group 1 (normal group) was raised with normal feed (n = 12), and Group 2 (model group) was raised on HFD (n = 53) for consecutive 8 wk. From the 9th wk, all the surviving rats in the model group were further randomly divided into 1 model group and 3 Ly treatment groups, which were given Ly at a dose of 5, 10 or 20 mg/kg/d (n = 12), respectively. The model group was continued on the HFD for 6 wk as before, and the Ly groups were administered orally and continued on the HFD for 6 wk as before.

Rats were sacrificed by cervical dislocation at the end of the experiment, and blood samples of all rats were harvested for serum biochemical markers assay. The fresh liver obtained was weighed to calculate liver coefficient (% = liver weight/body weight × 100). The right liver lobe was fixed in 10% formalin to prepare paraffin sections, and the rest was stored at -80 °C for the other assays.

Serum biochemical markers assay

Serum was collected from blood after centrifugation at 3000 rpm for 10 min at 4 $^{\circ}$ C. Serum ALT, AST, TG and TC were detected using commercial kits according to the manufacturer's instructions and using a multifunctional biochemistry analyzer (AU600; Olympus, Tokyo, Japan). The absorbance of ALT and AST was read at 505 nm and the enzyme activity was calculated as U/L. The absorbance of TG and TC was read at 510 nm and the content was calculated as mmol/L.

Measurement of MDA formation in lipid peroxidation

Liver homogenate (10%, w/v) was prepared by homogenizing the liver tissue in 150 mmol/L Tris-HCl

buffered saline (pH 7.2) with a polytron homogenizer. The level of MDA in liver tissues was measured at 532 nm with a spectrophotometer (U-2001 Hitachi Ltd., Tokyo, Japan) following the kit protocol from Jiancheng Biological Engineering Institute. The data are expressed as nmol/mg protein of liver tissue.

Measurement of antioxidant and antioxidant enzyme activity

SOD and GSH activity were determined by commercial kit from Jiancheng Biological Engineering Institute following the protocol provided by the manufacturer. The absorbance of the SOD reaction was read at 550 nm and the data are expressed as U/mg protein, while the GSH reaction was read at 420 nm and the enzyme activity was calculated as mg/g protein.

Measurement of liver LDL-C, HDL-C and FFA activity

LDL-C, HDL-C and FFA in liver tissue were measured by commercial kit from Jiancheng Biological Engineering Institute following the protocol provided by the manufacturer. The absorbance of LDL-C, HDL-C and FFA reaction was read at 546 nm and the data are expressed as mmol/L.

Histopathological observation

Liver specimens were fixed overnight in 10% formaldehyde buffer, then embedded in paraffin and cut into 5 $_{\mu}m$ thickness sections according to the routine procedure. The sections were stained with hematoxylin and eosin (HE) for routine histopathological examination, and examined under a light microscope (BX-50; Olympus) at 200 \times magnification for the degree of hepatic steatosis and photographed.

Immunohistochemistry analysis of hepatic TNF- $\!\alpha$ and CYP2E1

Paraffin-embedded sections (5 μ m) were mounted on glass slides, then deparaffinized, incubated in 3% H₂O₂ for 10 min to quench endogenous peroxidase activity. The sections were stained with mouse anti-TNF- α antibody and rabbit anti-CYP2E1 antibody at 4 °C overnight respectively, after blocking with normal goat serum for 20 min. Then, the sections were incubated with HRP-conjugated goat anti-mouse and HRP-conjugated goat anti-rabbit antibody at 37 °C for 30 min, respectively. The immunoreactive antibodies were visualized by incubation with DAB-H₂O₂ at room temperature for 10 min. Images were taken at original magnification of 200 × (Olympus BX-50 Microscope and a Leica DMI; Leica Microsystems, Wetzlar, Germany).

Statistical analysis

Data were expressed as mean \pm SD and all statistical comparisons were made by means of a one-way ANOVA test followed by Dunett's *t*-test. *P* < 0.05 and < 0.01 were considered statistically significant.





Figure 1 Effects of lycopene on body weight (A) and liver coefficient (B). ^bP < 0.01 vs control group; ^cP < 0.05, ^dP < 0.01 vs model group. Ly: Lycopene.

RESULTS

Effects of Ly on body weight and liver coefficient

After 8 wk of HFD feeding, the body weights of rats in the model group were significantly increased compared to that of rats in the control group (P < 0.01, Figure 1A). Meanwhile, after Ly treatment for 6 wk, the gain in body weight for the rats in the 10 and 20 mg/kg Ly-treated groups was lower than that for the rats in the model group (P < 0.01, Figure 1A), which indicated that Ly treatment could inhibit the occurrence of obesity in HFD-administrated rats. Furthermore, consistent with these modifications, the liver coefficient was also reduced markedly in the Ly-treated rats (P < 0.05, P < 0.01, Figure 1B), compared to the control group.

Effect of Ly on serum ALT and AST levels

Serum levels of AST and ALT indirectly reflects the failure of liver function. As shown in Table 1, serum AST (2.67-fold) and ALT (3.66-fold) activities were significantly increased after the administration of HFD, as compared with the normal group (P < 0.01). Compared with the model group, the levels of AST and ALT were significantly decreased in a dose-dependent manner after Ly treatment (5, 10 and 20 mg/kg) (P < 0.05, P < 0.01, Table 1).

Jiang W et al. Hepatoprotective effects of lycopene

| Table 1 Effect of lycopene on serum liver function markers and blood lipid levels | | | | | |
|---|------------------------------|-------------------------------|-------------------------|-------------------------|--|
| Group | ALT (IU/L) | AST (IU/L) | TG (mmol/L) | TC (mmol/L) | |
| Control | 16.72 ± 2.62 | 60.65 ± 6.28 | 0.52 ± 0.04 | 0.81 ± 0.06 | |
| Model | $61.25 \pm 13.55^{\text{b}}$ | $162.17 \pm 35.53^{\text{b}}$ | 1.38 ± 0.21^{b} | 3.04 ± 0.72^{b} | |
| Ly 5 mg/kg | $30.90 \pm 3.84^{\circ}$ | $95.91 \pm 13.65^{\circ}$ | 1.02 ± 0.10 | 2.31 ± 0.24 | |
| Ly 10 mg/kg | 26.33 ± 2.06^{d} | 88.53 ± 9.18^{d} | $0.75 \pm 0.06^{\circ}$ | $2.00 \pm 0.12^{\circ}$ | |
| Ly 20 mg/kg | 20.77 ± 3.52^{d} | 78.44 ± 9.79^{d} | 0.59 ± 0.03^{d} | 1.83 ± 0.15^{d} | |

Data are expressed as mean \pm SD (n = 12) for each group. ^bP < 0.01 vs control group; ^cP < 0.05, ^dP < 0.01 vs model group. Ly: Lycopene; ALT: Alanine aminotransferase; AST: Aspartate aminotransferase; TG: Triglycerides; TC: Total cholesterol.

| Table 2 | Effect | of lycopene | on liver | antioxidant | enzyme- |
|-------------|------------|-------------|-------------|--------------|---------|
| specific ad | ctivities, | antioxidant | and lipid p | peroxidation | levels |

| Group | SOD (U/mgprot) | GSH (mg/gprot) | MDA (nmol/mgprot) |
|-------------|--------------------------|-------------------------|----------------------|
| Control | 131.42 ± 16.24 | 6.76 ± 1.54 | 3.46 ± 1.11 |
| Model | 77.70 ± 7.63^{b} | 2.55 ± 0.78^{b} | 7.58 ± 3.10^{b} |
| Ly 5 mg/kg | $90.95 \pm 9.56^{\circ}$ | 2.68 ± 1.26 | 5.24 ± 1.46^{d} |
| Ly 10 mg/kg | 109.52 ± 11.34^{d} | $3.76 \pm 0.91^{\circ}$ | 4.13 ± 1.13^{d} |
| Ly 20 mg/kg | 121.25 ± 10.68^{d} | 4.79 ± 1.51^{d} | 3.45 ± 1.39^{d} |

Data are expressed as mean ± SD (n = 12) for each group. ^bP < 0.01 vs control group; ^cP < 0.05, ^dP < 0.01 vs model group. Ly: Lycopene; SOD: Superoxide dismutase; GSH: Glutathione; MDA: Malondialdehyde.

Effects of Ly on blood lipid levels

HFD-induced NAFLD provoked a marked incremental change in TC and TG levels compared with those in the normal group (P < 0.01, Table 1), which indicates the successful establishment of the NAFLD model in rats. However, after Ly exposure, the concentrations of both TC and TG in blood were remarkably decreased in dose-dependent manners, as compared to the NAFLD model group (P < 0.05, P < 0.01, Table 1). All of these findings indicate that Ly exerts obvious lipid-lowering effects against NAFLD.

Effects of Ly on liver tissue SOD, GSH and MDA levels

The levels of liver antioxidant activities of SOD and GSH were measured due to the oxidative stress exhibited in the development of NAFLD^[17]. SOD and GSH are capable of scavenging the lipid hydroperoxides, lipid peroxide radicals and other products which are toxic metabolites of NAFLD. Therefore, our study measured the contents of SOD, GSH and MDA in liver tissue of rats. From Table 2, we can clearly see the significant differences between the HFD-treated model group and the normal group for the levels of SOD and GSH, which were largely decreased (P < 0.01, Table 2) in the HFDtreated group compared with that of normal group. However, pretreatment with 5, 10 and 20 mg/kg of Ly significantly raised the levels of the antioxidant enzyme SOD in a dose-dependent manner, to 90.95 ± 9.56 , 109.52 ± 11.34 and 121.25 ± 10.68 respectively (P < 0.05, P < 0.01, Table 2), as compared with the model

| Table 3 Effect of lycopene on low density lipoprotein- cholesterol, high density lipoprotein-cholesterol and free fatty acid levels in liver tissue | | | | |
|---|-------------------------|-------------------------|-------------------------|--|
| Group | LDL-C (mmol/L) | HDL-C (mmol/L) | FFA (mmol/L) | |
| Control | 0.34 ± 0.08 | 0.98 ± 0.10 | 0.82 ± 0.13 | |
| Model | 2.48 ± 0.13^{b} | 0.55 ± 0.02^{b} | 2.03 ± 0.15^{b} | |
| Ly 5 mg/kg | $1.32 \pm 0.10^{\circ}$ | $0.70 \pm 0.04^{\circ}$ | 1.73 ± 0.12 | |
| Ly 10 mg/kg | 0.95 ± 0.05^{d} | 0.80 ± 0.05^{d} | $1.56 \pm 0.10^{\circ}$ | |
| Ly 20 mg/kg | $0.62\pm0.08^{\rm d}$ | 0.87 ± 0.05^{d} | 1.34 ± 0.08^{d} | |

Data are expressed as mean ± SD (n = 12) for each group. ^bP < 0.01 vs control group; ^cP < 0.05, ^dP < 0.01 vs model group. Ly: Lycopene; LDL-C: Low density lipoprotein-cholesterol; HDL-C: High density lipoprotein-cholesterol; FFA: Free fatty acid.

group. Similarly, the levels of GSH were significantly increased by treatment with 10 and 20 mg/kg of Ly (P < 0.05, P < 0.01, Table 2).

MDA, an end-product of the breakdown of polyunsaturated fatty acids and related esters, is an important index of lipid peroxidation in many organ homogenates^[17]. Administration of HFD caused a significant increase in MDA concentration (2.19-fold), as compared with the normal group (P < 0.01, Table 2). However, pretreatment with 5, 10 and 20 mg/kg of Ly significantly reduced the MDA amount by 30.87, 45.51 and 54.49% in the liver homogenates respectively (P< 0.01, Table 2).

Effects of Ly on LDL-C, HDL-C and FFA levels in liver tissue

Levels of lipid products were significantly increased after 8 wk of HFD feeding in the model group compared to the control group (P < 0.01, Table 3). Results showed that LDL-C was significantly increased in the model group compared with the normal group (P <0.01, Table 3) and dramatically decreased in the Lytreatment group, as compared with that in the model group (P < 0.05, P < 0.01, Table 3). In contrast, HDL-C level was significantly decreased at the end of the experiment, and Ly treatment significantly improved the HDL-C level, as compared with that in the model group (P < 0.05, P < 0.01, Table 3). Similarly, the concentration of FFA was remarkably increased after HFD administration, and pretreatment with Ly significantly decreased the content of FFA in a dose-dependent manner (P < 0.05, P < 0.01, Table 3).

Histopathological changes in the liver tissue

Observed with the naked eye, the livers of the control group were deep red, moist, glossy and resilient (Figure 2A I), while those of the model group showed yellow necrotic foci, grey-red color, loss of luster and tumescent (Figure 2AII). However, in Ly-treated rats, the liver injury was attenuated dramatically in a dose-dependent manner (Figure 2AIII-V).

HE-stained sections are shown in Figure 2B. Under the photomicroscope, liver sections from the normal

control group showed normal lobular architecture, liver cells with well-preserved cytoplasm and well-defined nucleus (Figure 2B I). Meanwhile liver sections from the model group showed full fat vacuoles in lobule cells, infiltration of inflammatory cells, cell swelling and lipid degeneration in the central region of the lobules (Figure 2B II). Furthermore, in the liver sections of the Ly-treated group, inflammatory response and lipid degeneration were remarkably alleviated, as compared with the model group, and the liver cell volume became smaller, the fat droplet number was reduced and the hepatic lobules were clearly delineated (Figure 2B III -V).

Effect of Ly on immunohistochemistry analysis of hepatic TNF- α and CYP2E1

The immunohistochemistry (IHC) analysis of liver tissue showed no TNF- α expression in the normal group (Figure 3A I), but increased expression of TNF- α in the HFD-model group (Figure 3A II). After pretreatment with Ly (5, 10 and 20 mg/kg), TNF- α expression decreased in a dose-dependent manner, but remained higher than that in the normal group (Figure 3A II - V). Quantification of the positive expression of TNF- α is shown in Figure 3AVI. The results are presented as mean ± SD of (n = 12). ^bP < 0.01 was significantly different from the normal group; ^cP < 0.05 and ^dP < 0.01 were significantly different from the model group, respectively.

In Figure 3B, the normal liver expressed the lowest amount of CYP2E1 (Figure 3B I). The HFD-model group showed significantly higher expression of CYP2E1, as compared with the controls (P < 0.01, Figure 3B II). Meanwhile the Ly-treated group (5, 10 and 20 mg/kg) showed markedly decreased CYP2E1 expression (Figure 3B III - V). Quantification of the positive expression of CYP2E1 is shown in Figure 3B VI. The results are presented as mean ± SD (n = 12). ^bP < 0.01 was significantly different from the control group; ^cP < 0.05 and ^dP < 0.01 were significantly different from the model group, respectively.

DISCUSSION

NAFLD is defined by hepatic fat deposition in the absence of excessive alcohol intake, which is also associated with the insulin resistance (IR) and metabolic syndrome^[18-20]. Generally, NAFLD is defined as a concentration of hepatic TG exceeding 5% liver weight, and often exhibits a histological spectrum ranging from simple steatosis to NASH. NASH is characterized by hepatocellular damage, fibrogenesis and lobular necro-inflammation^[21,22], which may evolve to hepatic cirrhosis and HCC^[23,24]. Although HFD-induced NAFLD animal models need a lengthy feeding period, they are more close to human NAFLD in pathophysiology, including induced obesity, IR and hepatic steatosis in mice or rats^[25]. Emotional



Figure 2 Appearance of rat liver tissue (A) and histopathological examination by HE (B, 200 ×). I : Control group; II : Model group; III : Ly 5 mg/kg group; IV : Ly 10 mg/kg group; V : Ly 20 mg/kg group. Ly: Lycopene.



Figure 3 Representative photographs of immunological histological chemistry examination (200 ×). A: TNF- α ; B: CYP2E1. I : Control group; II : Model group; III: Ly 5 mg/kg group; IV: Ly 10 mg/kg group; V: Ly 20 mg/kg group; VI: Quantification of TNF- α (A-VI) and CYP2E1 (B-VI) stained cells. The results are expressed as mean ± SD of 12 rats. ^bP < 0.01 vs control group; ^cP < 0.05, ^dP < 0.01 vs model group. Ly: Lycopene.

disorders or poor diet with the key points of blood stasis and phlegm is regarded as the etiology of NAFLD, and these etiologies are related to the organs of liver, spleen and kidney, according to the traditional medicine theory^[26]. Thus, promoting blood circulation to remove meridian obstruction, reducing phlegm, removing dampness and liver-kidney-tonifying are an effective approach to treatment of NAFLD. However, at present, although tremendous effort has made in prevention of NAFLD by clinicians and researchers alike, there are no approved treatment drugs for NAFLD. Hence, developing and exploring a novel agent to delay or reverse the pathogenesis progression in NAFLD are very important objectives.

Ly is a natural pigment, synthesized by plants and microorganisms. Red fruits and vegetables are the most common sources of Ly, which exhibits the highest antioxidant activity among all dietary carotenoids.

Furthermore, the Mediterranean dietary pattern, which includes proportionally high consumption of vegetables and fruits with Ly, has shown notable benefits for NAFLD patients^[27,28]. Therefore, nowadays, the potential role of Ly in human health is beginning to be recognized, and the most important health benefits are hypothesized to occur through their ability to protect against oxidative damage^[29,30]. In vitro studies have demonstrated that Ly is an effective antioxidant and radical scavenger^[31,32]. Ly is the most potent singlet oxygen quencher among natural carotenoids, due to its high number of conjugated dienes^[33], and recent studies have shown that Ly is at least two times as active as β -carotene in protecting lymphocytes for NO₂· radical-induced membrane damage^[34,35], which indicates that Ly is the most potent scavenger of ROS among other major dietary carotenoids^[36,37]. In addition, Ly was shown to protect human LDL against photosensitized oxidative damage^[32]. Thus, based on the benefits of Ly, the aim of the present study was to explore the effect of Ly in prevention of HFD-induced NAFLD in a rat model. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first time research has attempted to explore the potent effects of Ly on HFD-induced NAFLD rats.

In the present study, compared to a normal control group, it was demonstrated that the liver coefficient and the levels of serum ALT, AST, TG and TC were significantly increased, the levels of LDL-C and FFA in liver were markedly increased, and HDL-C was markedly reduced in HFD-induced NAFLD model rats. Pretreatment with Ly showed that Ly is able to inhibit the incremental changes in ALT and AST, to decrease the TG, TC, LDL-C and FFA levels, and to increase the HDL-C level. In addition, the histopathological changes from microscopy observation correlated with the examination of liver function. The centrilobular hepatic necrosis, ballooning degeneration, fatty change and infiltrating lymphocytes were observed in NAFLD model group. Treatment with Ly prevented these histopathological changes in rats induced with HFD. Thus, these results suggested that the inhibition of the elevation of liver function markers, obvious lipid-lowering and liver damage may related to the protective effect of Ly against HFD-induced NAFLD. Moreover, Ly enhanced the activities of SOD, increased GSH and diminished MDA against the HFD-induced NAFLD in these animals, suggesting that the activity of antioxidants may play a role in the mechanism of its hepatoprotective effects.

TNF- α is a central proinflammatory cytokine, which is associated with a variety of physiological and pathological conditions, including cytotoxicity, growth stimulation, immune-modulation and pro-inflammatory activity. In addition, TNF- α is produced predominantly by the monocyte macrophage lineage in liver, and the main population of this lineage is Kupffer cells. Thus, increased TNF- α production by activated Kupffer cells may be responsible for NAFLD. Furthermore, the most current studies have indicated that inhibition of TNF- α could decrease the content of hepatic fatty storage in the HFD-induced NAFLD model^[38]. In our study, the effects of TNF- α in damaged liver was evaluated by IHC. Compared to the normal group, rats treated with HFD showed up-regulated expression of TNF- α , while pretreatment with Ly led to down-regulated expression of TNF- α compared to the HFD-model group.

The isoform 2E1 of CYP is one of the most potent microsome cytochromes to generate ROS, and it is involved in the metabolism of isoniazid and the mediation of its hepatotoxicity^[39], which has been exhibited to be invariably increased in the livers of NAFLD patients^[40]. In this study, the expression of CYP2E1 in the HFD-model group was observed to be increased, while the Ly treatment group showed a significant down-regulation of its expression, especially in the high-dose Ly-treated group.

In conclusion, oral administration of Ly improved lipid profiles and remarkably decreased the levels of serum AST, ALT, TG and TC, alleviated the levels of liver LDL-C and FFA, increased the activities of antioxidant enzymes (GSH, SOD) and reduced the lipid peroxides in liver (MDA) in NAFLD model rats. Further, the Ly-treated group also showed down-regulated expression of TNF- α and CYP2E1, decreased liver fats infiltration and improved histopathological changes, all in dose-dependent manners. The increased antioxidant enzyme levels and the decreased lipid peroxides contents are suggested to be important mechanisms of Ly in preventing the development of liver damage induced by HFD.

COMMENTS

Background

Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) is one of the causes of fatty liver, which encompasses a spectrum of liver diseases, including simple steatosis, non-alcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH), liver fibrosis, liver cirrhosis and hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC). Until now, there is not any specific drug available, and no drug has currently been tested in clinical phase III trials. Lycopene (Ly), a phytochemical belonging to the carotenoid family, is a red-colored pigment, apolar and acyclic carotenoid. Ly exhibits a range of distinct and unique biological properties owing to its acyclic structure, hydrophobicity and large array of conjugated double bonds. A recent report showed that the Mediterranean dietary pattern, which includes proportionally high consumption of vegetables and fruits with Ly, has notable benefits for NAFLD patients. Thus, with this background, we aimed to investigate the possible beneficial effects and the possible action mechanism of Ly on NAFLD in a rat model system.

Research frontiers

No specific drug has been tested in clinical phase $\,\rm III\,$ trials for NAFLD to date, and there are few research studies of the hepatoprotective effects of Ly.

Innovations and breakthroughs

This study represents the first investigation of the effects of Ly as a therapy of NAFLD, and showed that down-regulated expression of TNF- α and CYP2E1 may be one of the action mechanisms for Ly.

Applications

This study suggests that Ly has a protective effect on NAFLD, which is very important for the future development of a potent NAFLD drug.



Jiang W et al. Hepatoprotective effects of lycopene

Terminology

NAFLD is one of the causes of fatty liver, defined as biopsy-proven hepatic steatosis. It covers a spectrum of liver diseases, including simple steatosis, NASH, liver fibrosis, liver cirrhosis and HCC. Recently, many NAFLD drug research studies have focused on the traditional Chinese medicines.

Peer-review

This is a meaningful study, in which the effects of "lycopene" were examined on an NAFLD rat model. The results are very important and suggest that Ly exerts a protective effect on NAFLD through down-regulation of TNF- α and CYP2E1 expression.

REFERENCES

- Masarone M, Federico A, Abenavoli L, Loguercio C, Persico M. Non alcoholic fatty liver: epidemiology and natural history. *Rev Recent Clin Trials* 2014; 9: 126-133 [PMID: 25514916 DOI: 10.2174/1574887109666141216111143]
- Wilkins T, Tadkod A, Hepburn I, Schade RR. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: diagnosis and management. *Am Fam Physician* 2013; 88: 35-42 [PMID: 23939604]
- 3 Schuppan D, Schattenberg JM. Non-alcoholic steatohepatitis: pathogenesis and novel therapeutic approaches. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2013; 28 Suppl 1: 68-76 [PMID: 23855299 DOI: 10.1111/ jgh.12212]
- 4 Keating SE, Hackett DA, George J, Johnson NA. Exercise and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *J Hepatol* 2012; 57: 157-166 [PMID: 22414768 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2012.02.023]
- 5 Satapathy SK, Sanyal AJ. Epidemiology and Natural History of Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease. *Semin Liver Dis* 2015; 35: 221-235 [PMID: 26378640 DOI: 10.1055/s-0035-1562943]
- 6 Day CP, James OF. Steatohepatitis: a tale of two "hits"? Gastroenterology 1998; 114: 842-845 [PMID: 9547102 DOI: 10.1016/ S0016-5085(98)70599-2]
- 7 European Association for the Study of the Liver (EASL), European Association for the Study of Diabetes (EASD), European Association for the Study of Obesity (EASO). EASL-EASD-EASO Clinical Practice Guidelines for the management of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *J Hepatol* 2016; 64: 1388-1402 [PMID: 27062661 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2015.11.004]
- 8 Engelmann NJ, Clinton SK, Erdman JW. Nutritional aspects of phytoene and phytofluene, carotenoid precursors to lycopene. *Adv Nutr* 2011; 2: 51-61 [PMID: 22211189 DOI: 10.3945/an.110. 000075]
- 9 Visioli F, Riso P, Grande S, Galli C, Porrini M. Protective activity of tomato products on in vivo markers of lipid oxidation. *Eur J Nutr* 2003; 42: 201-206 [PMID: 12923651 DOI: 10.1007/ s00394-003-0415-5]
- 10 Mein JR, Lian F, Wang XD. Biological activity of lycopene metabolites: implications for cancer prevention. *Nutr Rev* 2008; 66: 667-683 [PMID: 19019036 DOI: 10.1111/j.1753-4887.2008.00120.x]
- 11 Stahl W, Sies H. Carotenoids and flavonoids contribute to nutritional protection against skin damage from sunlight. *Mol Biotechnol* 2007; 37: 26-30 [PMID: 17914160 DOI: 10.1007/ s12033-007-0051-z]
- 12 Kumar P, Kalonia H, Kumar A. Lycopene modulates nitric oxide pathways against 3-nitropropionic acid-induced neurotoxicity. *Life Sci* 2009; 85: 711-718 [PMID: 19822156 DOI: 10.1016/ j.lfs.2009.10.001]
- 13 Datta S, Jamwal S, Deshmukh R, Kumar P. Beneficial effects of lycopene against haloperidol induced orofacial dyskinesia in rats: Possible neurotransmitters and neuroinflammation modulation. *Eur J Pharmacol* 2016; 771: 229-235 [PMID: 26712377 DOI: 10.1016/ j.ejphar.2015.12.032]
- 14 Sachdeva AK, Chopra K. Lycopene abrogates Aβ(1-42)mediated neuroinflammatory cascade in an experimental model of Alzheimer's disease. *J Nutr Biochem* 2015; 26: 736-744 [PMID: 25869595 DOI: 10.1016/j.jnutbio.2015.01.012]

- 15 Maiani G, Castón MJ, Catasta G, Toti E, Cambrodón IG, Bysted A, Granado-Lorencio F, Olmedilla-Alonso B, Knuthsen P, Valoti M, Böhm V, Mayer-Miebach E, Behsnilian D, Schlemmer U. Carotenoids: actual knowledge on food sources, intakes, stability and bioavailability and their protective role in humans. *Mol Nutr Food Res* 2009; **53** Suppl 2: S194-S218 [PMID: 19035552 DOI: 10.1002/mnfr.200800053]
- 16 Ried K, Fakler P. Protective effect of lycopene on serum cholesterol and blood pressure: Meta-analyses of intervention trials. *Maturitas* 2011; 68: 299-310 [PMID: 21163596 DOI: 10.1016/j.maturitas.2010.11.018]
- 17 Yen FL, Wu TH, Lin LT, Lin CC. Hepatoprotective and antioxidant effects of Cuscuta chinensis against acetaminophen-induced hepatotoxicity in rats. *J Ethnopharmacol* 2007; 111: 123-128 [PMID: 17145147 DOI: 10.1016/j.jep.2006.11.003]
- 18 Marchesini G, Brizi M, Morselli-Labate AM, Bianchi G, Bugianesi E, McCullough AJ, Forlani G, Melchionda N. Association of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease with insulin resistance. *Am J Med* 1999; **107**: 450-455 [PMID: 10569299 DOI: 10.1016/S0002-9343(99)00271-5]
- 19 Fabbrini E, Mohammed BS, Magkos F, Korenblat KM, Patterson BW, Klein S. Alterations in adipose tissue and hepatic lipid kinetics in obese men and women with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Gastroenterology* 2008; 134: 424-431 [PMID: 18242210 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2007.11.038]
- 20 Cohen JC, Horton JD, Hobbs HH. Human fatty liver disease: old questions and new insights. *Science* 2011; 332: 1519-1523 [PMID: 21700865 DOI: 10.1126/science.1204265]
- 21 Kleiner DE, Brunt EM, Van Natta M, Behling C, Contos MJ, Cummings OW, Ferrell LD, Liu YC, Torbenson MS, Unalp-Arida A, Yeh M, McCullough AJ, Sanyal AJ. Design and validation of a histological scoring system for nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Hepatology* 2005; **41**: 1313-1321 [PMID: 15915461 DOI: 10.1002/ hep.20701]
- 22 Day CP. From fat to inflammation. *Gastroenterology* 2006; 130: 207-210 [PMID: 16401483 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2005.11.017]
- 23 Bugianesi E, Leone N, Vanni E, Marchesini G, Brunello F, Carucci P, Musso A, De Paolis P, Capussotti L, Salizzoni M, Rizzetto M. Expanding the natural history of nonalcoholic steatohepatitis: from cryptogenic cirrhosis to hepatocellular carcinoma. *Gastroenterology* 2002; **123**: 134-140 [PMID: 12105842 DOI: 10.1053/gast.2002.34168]
- 24 Liu YL, Patman GL, Leathart JB, Piguet AC, Burt AD, Dufour JF, Day CP, Daly AK, Reeves HL, Anstee QM. Carriage of the PNPLA3 rs738409 C & gt; G polymorphism confers an increased risk of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease associated hepatocellular carcinoma. *J Hepatol* 2014; **61**: 75-81 [PMID: 24607626 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2014.02.030]
- 25 Carabelli J, Burgueño AL, Rosselli MS, Gianotti TF, Lago NR, Pirola CJ, Sookoian S. High fat diet-induced liver steatosis promotes an increase in liver mitochondrial biogenesis in response to hypoxia. *J Cell Mol Med* 2011; **15**: 1329-1338 [PMID: 20629985 DOI: 10.1111/j.1582-4934.2010.01128.x]
- 26 Dong H, Lu FE, Zhao L. Chinese herbal medicine in the treatment of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Chin J Integr Med* 2012; 18: 152-160 [PMID: 22311412 DOI: 10.1007/s11655-012-0993-2]
- Federico A, Zulli C, de Sio I, Del Prete A, Dallio M, Masarone M, Loguercio C. Focus on emerging drugs for the treatment of patients with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. *World J Gastroenterol* 2014; 20: 16841-16857 [PMID: 25492998 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v20. i45.16841]
- 28 Godos J, Federico A, Dallio M, Scazzina F. Mediterranean diet and nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: molecular mechanisms of protection. *Int J Food Sci Nutr* 2016; Epub ahead of print: 1-10 [PMID: 27484357 DOI: 10.1080/09637486.2016.1214239]
- 29 Stahl W, Sies H. Lycopene: a biologically important carotenoid for humans? Arch Biochem Biophys 1996; 336: 1-9 [PMID: 8951028 DOI: 10.1006/abbi.1996.0525]
- 30 Gerster H. The potential role of lycopene for human health. J Am Coll Nutr 1997; 16: 109-126 [PMID: 9100211 DOI: 10.1080/0731 5724.1997.10718661]

- 31 Clinton SK. Lycopene: chemistry, biology, and implications for human health and disease. *Nutr Rev* 1998; 56: 35-51 [PMID: 9529899 DOI: 10.1111/j.1753-4887.1998.tb01691.x]
- 32 Rao AV, Fleshner N, Agarwal S. Serum and tissue lycopene and biomarkers of oxidation in prostate cancer patients: a case-control study. *Nutr Cancer* 1999; 33: 159-164 [PMID: 10368811 DOI: 10.1207/S15327914NC330207]
- 33 Miller NJ, Sampson J, Candeias LP, Bramley PM, Rice-Evans CA. Antioxidant activities of carotenes and xanthophylls. *FEBS Lett* 1996; 384: 240-242 [PMID: 8617362 DOI: 10.1016/0014-579 3(96)00323-7]
- 34 Böhm F, Tinkler JH, Truscott TG. Carotenoids protect against cell membrane damage by the nitrogen dioxide radical. *Nat Med* 1995; 1: 98-99 [PMID: 7585018 DOI: 10.1038/nm0295-98]
- 35 Tinkler JH, Böhm F, Schalch W, Truscott TG. Dietary carotenoids protect human cells from damage. J Photochem Photobiol B 1994; 26: 283-285 [PMID: 7853120 DOI: 10.1016/1 011-1344(94)07049-0]
- 36 **Mortensen A**, Skibsted LH. Relative stability of carotenoid radical cations and homologue tocopheroxyl radicals. A real time kinetic

study of antioxidant hierarchy. *FEBS Lett* 1997; **417**: 261-266 [PMID: 9409729 DOI: 10.1016/S0014-5793(97)01297-0]

- 37 Mortensen A, Skibsted LH, Sampson J, Rice-Evans C, Everett SA. Comparative mechanisms and rates of free radical scavenging by carotenoid antioxidants. *FEBS Lett* 1997; **418**: 91-97 [PMID: 9414102 DOI: 10.1016/S0014-5793(97)01355-0]
- 38 Gao HY, Huang J, Wang HY, Du XW, Cheng SM, Han Y, Wang LF, Li GY, Wang JH. Protective effect of Zhuyeqing liquor, a Chinese traditional health liquor, on acute alcohol-induced liver injury in mice. *J Inflamm* (Lond) 2013; 10: 30 [PMID: 24090365 DOI: 10.1186/1476-9255-10-30]
- 39 Yang P, Zeng Q, Cao WC, Wang YX, Huang Z, Li J, Liu C, Lu WQ. Interactions between CYP2E1, GSTZ1 and GSTT1 polymorphisms and exposure to drinking water trihalomethanes and their association with semen quality. *Environ Res* 2016; 147: 445-452 [PMID: 26970898 DOI: 10.1016/j.envres.2016.03.009]
- 40 Weltman MD, Farrell GC, Hall P, Ingelman-Sundberg M, Liddle C. Hepatic cytochrome P450 2E1 is increased in patients with nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. *Hepatology* 1998; 27: 128-133 [PMID: 9425928 DOI: 10.1002/hep.510270121]

P- Reviewer: Abenavol L, Lee HC S- Editor: Gong ZM L- Editor: Filipodia E- Editor: Wang CH







Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/ Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v22.i46.10189 World J Gastroenterol 2016 December 14; 22(46): 10189-10197 ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online) © 2016 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Case Control Study

Use of a saline-coupled bipolar sealer open liver resection for hepatic malignancy: Medical resource use and costs

Christine I Nichols, Joshua G Vose

Christine I Nichols, Joshua G Vose, Medtronic Advanced Energy, 180 International Drive, Portsmouth, NH 03801, United States

Author contributions: Nichols CI and Vose JG designed the research; Nichols CI performed data analyses; Nichols CI and Vose JG analyzed the data; and Nichols CI and Vose JG wrote the paper and revisions.

Institutional review board statement: Given this study used de-identified patient data, it was not subject to Institutional Review Board approval. The study dataset and full study tables are available from the corresponding author.

Informed consent statement: All study participants, or their legal guardian, provided informed written consent prior to study enrollment.

Conflict-of-interest statement: No potential conflicts of interest relevant to this article were reported.

Data sharing statement: No additional data are available.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Manuscript source: Invited manuscript

Correspondence to: Joshua G Vose, MD, Medical Director, Medtronic Advanced Energy, 180 International Drive, Portsmouth, NH 03801, United States. joshua.vose@medtronic.com Telephone: +1-603-8424623 Fax: +1-603-7421488

Received: August 5, 2016 Peer-review started: August 6, 2016 First decision: September 21, 2016 Revised: October 11, 2016 Accepted: November 15, 2016 Article in press: November 16, 2016 Published online: December 14, 2016

Abstract

AIM

To evaluate outcomes associated with use of a saline coupled bipolar sealer during open partial liver resection.

METHODS

This retrospective analysis utilized the United States Premier[™] insurance claims database (2010-2014). Patients were selected with codes for liver malignancy and partial hepatectomy or lobectomy. Cases were defined by use the saline-coupled bipolar sealer; controls had no use. A Propensity Score algorithm was used to match one case to five controls. A deviationbased cost modeling (DBCM) approach provided an estimate of cost-effectiveness.

RESULTS

One hundred and forty-four cases and 720 controls were available for analysis. Patients in the case cohort received fewer transfusions *vs* controls (18.1% *vs* 29.4%, P = 0.007). In DBCM, more patients in the case cohort experienced "on-course" hospitalizations (53.5% *vs* 41.9%, P = 0.009). The cost calculation showed an average savings in total hospitalization costs of \$1027 for cases *vs* controls. In multivariate analysis, cases had lower odds of receiving a transfusion (OR = 0.44, 95%CI: 0.27-0.71, P = 0.0008).

CONCLUSION

Use of a saline-coupled bipolar sealer was associated with a greater proportion of patients with an "on course" hospitalization.



WJG | www.wjgnet.com

Key words: Liver resection; hepatocellular carcinoma; costs

© **The Author(s) 2016.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core tip: This study evaluated outcomes associated with use of a saline coupled bipolar sealer during open partial liver resection. Using US Premier insurance claims data, Cases with use of the saline-coupled bipolar sealer (SCBS) were propensity-score matched to controls with no use. A deviation-based cost modeling (DBCM) approach provided an estimate of cost-effectiveness. Results demonstrated that use of the SCBS in open partial liver resection for hepatic malignancy is associated with reduction in the need for transfusion, and is cost-effective in a DBCM analysis. This technology provides an alternative solution for bleeding control in partial liver resection compared to traditional methods.

Nichols CI, Vose JG. Use of a saline-coupled bipolar sealer open liver resection for hepatic malignancy: Medical resource use and costs. *World J Gastroenterol* 2016; 22(46): 10189-10197 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/ v22/i46/10189.htm DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v22. i46.10189

INTRODUCTION

Liver resection remains the only curative treatment for primary and metastatic liver malignancy. However, despite advances in surgical technique over the past two decades, blood transfusions are still required in a proportion of patients undergoing liver resection (3.3%-59%), varying by the extent of the procedure and device combinations used^[1-5]. Predictors of transfusion include factors related to the operative procedure (resection technique, extent of resection, tumor size, need for other major resections during the same hospitalization) as well as patient-specific characteristics (pre-operative hemoglobin and albumin levels, pre-operative biliary drainage, and diagnosis of a primary liver tumor, coronary artery disease, or cirrhosis)^[6-9].

The most serious complication associated with transfusion, beyond simple transfusion-related reactions or immunomodulatory effects, is the increased risk of tumor recurrence^[6,8-10]. In a meta-analysis of 22 studies evaluating the impact of perioperative allogenic blood transfusion on long term outcomes following hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) resection, authors found the risk of tumor recurrence was significantly higher among patients with a transfusion at one (OR = 1.70, 95%CI: 1.38-1.10), three (OR = 1.22, 95%CI: 1.08-1.38), and five years (OR = 1.16, 95%CI: 1.08-1.24) post-resection compared with patients with no transfusion. This finding was confirmed in a Cochrane meta-analysis evaluating the risk of cancer

recurrence following surgery for colorectal cancer among patients with *vs* without receipt of a transfusion^[11]. These studies suggest that transfusion may result in immunosuppression in the early postoperative period, which could allow for the progression of residual carcinoma and influence survival^[12].

Prior research has demonstrated the effects of surgical technique, peri-operative blood management protocols, and use of surgical technologies on the risk of transfusion^[1-5]. Peri-operatively, studies have examined autologous blood donation, intravenous iron therapy, and strict transfusion protocols. Intraoperatively, other studies have examined the effects of clamping the hepatic artery and portal vein (i.e., Pringle's Maneuver), topical hemostatic agents, and use of technologies such as the cavitron ultrasonic surgical aspirator (CUSA), saline-coupled bipolar sealer (SCBS), argon beam coagulation (ABC), harmonic scalpel, bipolar scissors, vessel sealers, cell saver systems, and hydrodissector^[13]. The majority of these studies examined clinical outcomes alone, with few examining the total cost of the procedure or incremental costs associated with complications. Two prior high-quality cost studies applied a novel methodology, deviationbased cost modeling (DBCM), however the primary comparison was of open vs laparoscopic approach rather than specific surgical technologies utilized during the procedure^[14,15].

Given that few studies to date summarize total direct hospitalization costs by choice of surgical technology during hepatic resection, we sought to examine the resource use and costs by technology choice. Specifically, in the present study we evaluated the clinical and economic outcomes associated with the SCBS during open partial liver resections, using realworld data from a nationally representative US claims database.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Data source and patient population

This retrospective database analysis reviewed recent healthcare insurance claims data from the Premier Perspective[™] database (Premier Inc., Charlotte, NC, United States). Data were analyzed over the period 01/2010 to 06/2014. The database includes information on patient demographics, diagnosis and procedure codes, and cost information for over 2000 hospitals and 300 million patient encounters. This database is limited to the inpatient period, with no ability to track patients longitudinally in follow-up. The Premier database allows for tracking of total hospitalization cost information on a per-patient basis. However, the inherent tradeoff of working with retrospective claims data is the reliance on ICD-9 diagnosis and procedure codes to identify liver resections - with the codes providing no information on the specific number of segments, lobes, or tissue volume resected. Given this study used de-identified patient data, it was not subject to Insti-



Figure 1 Patient selection. SCBS: Saline-coupled bipolar sealer.

tutional Review Board approval. The study dataset and full study tables are available from the corresponding author.

Patients aged 18 and older with records that included International Classification of Diseases (ICD-9-CM) or Current Procedural Technology (CPT) procedure codes for liver resection during a hospitalization episode (50.22 - partial hepatectomy or 50.3x - lobectomy), accompanied by a diagnosis code for primary malignant neoplasm of the liver (155.0x) or metastatic neoplasm of the liver (197.7x), were selected. Those with benign neoplasms (211.5x) were excluded to reduce the potential confounding effects of different liver pathology and bleeding risk. Total liver resection and transplant procedures were excluded. Operations using ablation procedures or laparoscopic approaches (as identified by ICD-9-CM codes and key terms in Premier Chargemaster records) were excluded due to the high cost of these procedures and to better isolate the effects of SCBS use. Open SCBS device use was identified by the hospital Chargemaster file; laparoscopic SCBS models were excluded.

The "case" cohort was defined as any hospitalization episode meeting all inclusion criteria listed above, where the SCBS was used. The "control" cohort was defined as cases in which the SCBS was not used. Similar to prior cost analyses^[16], patients in the top one percent of total hospitalization cost within each cohort were excluded from analysis in order to reduce the effects of extreme outliers (> \$87262 among cases and > \$153428 among controls). Figure 1 provides a summary of patient selection.

Study measures

Study measures included patient demographic, clinical, hospital, and surgeon characteristics, transfusion procedures and other complications during index hospitalization, hospital length of stay (LOS) and costs. Comorbidity status was evaluated with diagnoses recorded during the one year prior to admission (baseline period) through the index hospitalization episode. The Charlson Comorbidity Index (CCI) score, a composite measure of physical health status commonly used in studies of medical claims and chronic disease^[17,18] was calculated for each patient. For this study, malignancy, metastatic solid tumor, and mild or moderate liver disease were excluded from the CCI calculation as these were present for most patients.

Propensity score matching

In order to address selection bias and ensure demographic and hospitalization characteristics were similar

Nichols CI et al. Bipolar sealer for liver resection

| Table 1 I modeling | Definition of dev | viation mix for deviation-based cost |
|-----------------------|----------------------------------|--|
| Deviation | LOS | Complication group ¹ |
| On course | $\leq 50^{\text{th}}$ percentile | No complication |
| Minor | > 50 th percentile | No complication |
| deviation | $\leqslant 50^{th}$ | Minor complication, no moderate or major |
| Moderate | > 50 th percentile | Minor complication, no moderate or major |
| deviation | Any LOS | Moderate no major |
| Major | Any LOS | Major |
| deviation | | |

¹Minor complication: Transfusion, urinary tract infection, hemorrhage/ hematoma, wound disruption, or transfusion complications; Moderate complication: Deep vein thrombosis, pulmonary embolism, pneumonia, infection, or bile leak; Major Complication: Acute respiratory failure, acute kidney injury, or acute liver failure. LOS: Length of stay.

across the case and control cohorts, a propensityscore matching algorithm was applied. Each case was matched to five controls based on age group, gender, race, region, primary payor, procedure type, indicating diagnosis, other comorbid liver-related conditions, CCI, surgeon specialty, and the proportion of surgeons with history of at least one liver procedure performed in the prior year. These matching covariates were chosen both based on significant differences observed in unmatched cohorts (*P* values < 0.05), and on the basis of clinical and demographic factors that may have impacted surgeon choice of technology use. Matching was applied using the nearest neighbor approach, with a caliper width of 0.10 of the standard deviation of the logit of the propensity score.

Hospital resource use and deviation-based cost modeling

Transfusion procedures were identified by ICD-9 (V58.2, 99.00-99.04) or CPT codes (36430, P9010, P9011) or presence of the term "blood transfusion" in the hospital Chargemaster file. Topical hemostat use was identified by any mention of "hemostat" or "sealant" in the Chargemaster file under the "Medical Surgical Supplies" category.

A DBCM approach was employed to account for variation in resource use associated with different hospital LOS categories and severity of complications^[14,15,19]. Vanounou *et al*^[15,19] originally developed this approach</sup>in analyses evaluating the economic impact of pancreaticoduodenectomy procedures and a comparison of laparoscopic vs open liver resection. This methodology measures the frequency and severity of deviations from an "expected" postoperative course and calculates the economic consequences of hospitalizations that do not follow expected outcomes. The benefits of this approach are the incorporation of complications, LOS, and costs into one measure, providing a single outcomes-based metric that provides more information than simply clinical or cost data alone^[14,15]. Data on LOS and complications were combined to create four deviation classes: on-course, minor, moderate, and severe. Definitions for

each class are listed in Table 1. Once deviation groups were defined, a weighted average mean cost (WAMC) was calculated by multiplying the percentage of patients in each category by the mean cost of that category.

Data analyses

Analyses were performed using the Instant Health Data Suite (Boston Health Economics, Inc., Boston, MA) and SAS software (Version 9.2, SAS Institute, Cary, NC, United States). All costs were inflationadjusted to 2014 USD using the medical care component of the Consumer Price Index. Statistical significance testing was performed with the Chi-square (χ^2) test for categorical variables (or Fisher's Exact with cell frequencies < 10) and Wilcoxon-Mann-Whitney test for non-normal continuous variables. Predictors of topical hemostat use and transfusion, controlling for demographic and clinical characteristics, provider specialty and experience, and study cohort, were evaluated using logistic regression analysis.

RESULTS

Demographic and clinical characteristics

Between January 2010 and June 2014, 152 cases and 2993 unmatched controls were available for analysis after applying all sample selection criteria, with procedures performed at 284 hospitals nationally. Following application of the propensity score algorithm 144 cases and 720 controls were available for matched analyses (Table 2). Post-match, differences between cohorts were removed, with all clinical characteristics statistically similar.

Inpatient complications

In matched analysis, patients in the case cohort had lower incidence of transfusions vs the control cohort, with an absolute risk reduction of 11.3% and relative risk reduction of 38.7% (18.1% vs 29.4%, P = 0.007). Additionally, patients in the case cohort had fewer cases of acute kidney failure occurring during the same hospitalization episode (3.5% vs 8.8%, P = 0.048). All other inpatient complications were statistically similar across cohorts, including infection, urinary tract infection, acute respiratory failure, pneumonia, deep vein thrombosis, hemorrhage or hematoma, wound disruption, and bile leak. One patient (0.694%) in the case cohort had evidence of bile leak vs eight patients in the control cohort (1.11%), however this difference was not significant (P = 1.00). No patients in the case cohort experienced acute liver failure, pulmonary embolism, or transfusion-related complications, while 1.8%, 1.0%, and 0.6% of control patients developed these complications during the inpatient visit (all P >0.05).

Overall, 25.0% of the case cohort showed evidence of topical hemostat use during the liver resection procedure, while 17.2% of the control cohort showed

WJG www.wjgnet.com

| Table 2 Patient demographics n (%) | | | | | | |
|------------------------------------|-----------|--------------|---------|--------------|--------------|---------|
| | Unm | atched | P value | Mat | ched | P value |
| | SCBS | No SCBS | | SCBS | No SCBS | |
| n | 152 | 2993 | | 144 | 720 | |
| Age, mean (SD) | 62 (12.5) | 61.58 (12.1) | 0.683 | 61.49 (12.5) | 62.14 (12.1) | 0.568 |
| Age group ¹ | | | | | | 0.960 |
| 18 to 44 | 10 (6.6) | 262 (8.8) | 0.868 | 10 (6.9) | 49 (6.8) | |
| 45 to 54 | 29 (19.1) | 536 (17.9) | | 28 (19.4) | 143 (19.9) | |
| 55 to 64 | 44 (28.9) | 914 (30.5) | | 44 (30.6) | 198 (27.5) | |
| 65 to 74 | 46 (30.3) | 862 (28.8) | | 41 (28.5) | 220 (30.6) | |
| 75 plus | 23 (15.1) | 419 (14.0) | | 21 (14.6) | 110 (15.3) | |
| Race | | | 0.148 | | | 0.692 |
| Black | 18 (11.8) | 368 (12.3) | | 18 (12.5) | 87 (12.1) | |
| Caucasian | 83 (54.6) | 1788 (59.7) | | 76 (52.8) | 407 (56.5) | |
| Hispanic | 0 (0) | 41 (1.4) | | 0 (0) | 0 (0) | |
| Other | 51 (33.6) | 796 (26.6) | | 50 (34.7) | 226 (31.4) | |
| Region | | | < 0.001 | | | 0.892 |
| Midwest | 31 (20.4) | 304 (10.2) | | 26 (18.1) | 112 (15.6) | |
| Northeast | 52 (34.2) | 959 (32.0) | | 49 (34.0) | 260 (36.1) | |
| South | 41 (27.0) | 1321 (44.1) | | 41 (28.5) | 206 (28.6) | |
| West | 28 (18.4) | 409 (13.7) | | 28 (19.4) | 142 (19.7) | |
| Sex | | | | | | |
| Female | 71 (46.7) | 1315 (43.9) | 0.556 | 67 (46.5) | 308 (42.8) | 0.461 |
| Payor | | | 0.577 | | | 0.903 |
| Commercial | 49 (32.2) | 1166 (39.0) | | 49 (34.0) | 234 (32.5) | |
| Medicare | 21 (13.8) | 362 (12.1) | | 21 (14.6) | 111 (15.4) | |
| Medicaid | 73 (48.0) | 1302 (43.5) | | 65 (45.1) | 341 (47.4) | |
| Other | 9 (5.9) | 163 (5.5) | | 9 (6.3) | 34 (4.7) | |
| | . , | | | . , | • • | |

¹Excluding primary malignancy, metastatic solid tumor, mild liver disease, moderate or severe liver disease. *P* values were calculated with the χ^2 test (or Fisher's Exact where cell frequencies < 10), *t*-test (or Wilcoxon Mann-Whitney test for skewed distributions). SCBS: Saline-coupled bipolar sealer.



Figure 2 Transfusions and topical hemostat use.

evidence of topical hemostat use (P = 0.038). Among patients with topical hemostat use, the incidence of transfusions was lower in the case cohort, however the difference was not statistically significant (25.0% vs 37.9%, P = 0.108), Figure 2. When a topical hemostat was not used, the case cohort had lower incidence of transfusion compared to the control cohort (15.7% vs 27.7%, P = 0.009).

DBCM analysis

Length of stay was shorter in the case cohort, however the difference was not statistically significant (7.38 d vs 8.18 d, P = 0.210; Table 3); the median LOS was six days for each cohort. A greater proportion of patients in the case cohort had an on-course hospitalization vs the control cohort (53.5% vs 41.9%, P = 0.013; Table 4). The proportion in other deviation classes was statistically similar across cohorts. Mean total hospitalization costs were greater among those with an on-course hospitalization in the case cohort vs controls (\$18000 vs \$16813, P = 0.029); costs in other deviation classes were not statistically different. Overall, accounting for the distribution of patients in each deviation class and mean cost by deviation class, the WAMC for the case cohort was \$25503 vs \$26530 for controls. This represents an average savings of \$1027 in the total hospitalization cost per patient when the SCBS was used.

Predictors of topical hemostat use and incidence of transfusion

In logistic regression analysis of predictors of topical hemostat use, patients residing in the South were at greater odds of topical hemostat use compared to those in the Northeast, while patients with the surgery performed by a surgical oncologist were at lower odds of hemostat use compared to general surgeons (Table 5). Patients in the case cohort were at higher odds of

Table 3 Clinical characteristics n (%)

| | Unmatched | | P value | Matched | | P value |
|---------------------------------------|------------|-------------|---------|------------|------------|---------|
| | SCBS | No SCBS | | SCBS | No SCBS | |
| n | 152 | 2993 | | 144 | 720 | |
| Procedure Type | | | | | | |
| Partial hepatectomy | 99 (65.1) | 2061 (68.9) | 0.308 | 98 (68.1) | 478 (66.4) | 0.772 |
| Lobectomy | 53 (34.9) | 964 (32.2) | 0.552 | 46 (31.9) | 251 (34.9) | 0.564 |
| Indicating diagnosis | | | | | | |
| Primary hepatobiliary malignancy | 63 (41.5) | 850 (28.4) | 0.001 | 56 (38.9) | 300 (41.7) | 0.599 |
| Metastatic liver neoplasm | 89 (58.6) | 2143 (71.6) | 0.001 | 88 (61.1) | 420 (58.3) | 0.599 |
| Comorbid liver diagnoses | | | | | | |
| Alcoholic cirrhosis | 1 (0.66) | 33 (1.1) | 0.908 | 1 (0.69) | 4 (0.56) | 1.000 |
| Non-alcoholic cirrhosis | 23 (15.1) | 287 (9.6) | 0.036 | 20 (13.9) | 100 (13.9) | 1.000 |
| Hepatitis A | 0 (0) | 6 (0.2) | 1.000 | 0 (0) | 0 (0) | N/A |
| Hepatitis B | 18 (11.8) | 193 (6.4) | 0.015 | 16 (11.1) | 96 (13.3) | 0.556 |
| Hepatitis C | 17 (11.2) | 271 (9.1) | 0.457 | 17 (11.8) | 71 (9.9) | 0.580 |
| Charlson score group ¹ | | | 0.518 | | | 0.704 |
| 0 | 76 (50) | 1637 (54.7) | | 74 (51.4) | 370 (51.4) | |
| 1 | 45 (29.6) | 816 (27.3) | | 43 (29.9) | 196 (27.2) | |
| ≥ 2 | 31 (20.4) | 540 (18.0) | | 27 (18.8) | 154 (21.4) | |
| Provider specialty | | | | | | |
| Surgical oncology | 59 (38.8) | 531 (17.7) | < 0.001 | 56 (38.9) | 285 (39.6) | 0.950 |
| General surgery | 79 (52.0) | 1993 (66.6) | < 0.001 | 74 (51.4) | 369 (51.3) | 1.000 |
| Other | 14 (9.2) | 469 (15.7) | 0.041 | 14 (9.7) | 66 (9.2) | 0.958 |
| Surgeon experience | . , | . , | | . , | . , | |
| \ge 1 liver procedure in prior year | 125 (82.2) | 1991 (66.6) | < 0.001 | 117 (81.3) | 595 (82.6) | 0.780 |

¹Excluding primary malignancy, metastatic solid tumor, mild liver disease, moderate or severe liver disease. *P* values were calculated with the χ^2 test (or Fisher's Exact where cell frequencies < 10), *t*-test (or Wilcoxon Mann-Whitney test for skewed distributions). SCBS: Saline-coupled bipolar sealer.

topical hemostat use *vs* controls (OR = 2.56, 95%CI: 1.70-3.86, *P* < 0.001).

In a regression evaluating predictors of a transfusion during the hospitalization (Table 5), patients aged 75 or older (*vs* ages 18 to 44), Black race (*vs* Caucasian), and patients residing in the South (*vs* Northeast), and patients operated on by an other surgical specialist (*vs* general surgeons) were at higher odds of receiving a transfusion. Patients undergoing a lobectomy (*vs* partial hepatectomy) were at higher odds, as were patients whose diagnosis was a primary malignancy (*vs* metastatic). Controlling for topical hemostat use, patients in the case cohort were at lower odds of transfusion *vs* controls (OR = 0.44, 95%CI: 0.27-0.71, *P* = 0.0008)

DISCUSSION

This retrospective database analysis evaluated the use of the SCBS in open partial liver resection for hepatic malignancy. After matching, patients treated with the SCBS had a lower incidence of transfusions (18.1% vs 29.4%, P = 0.007). Controlling for topical hemostat use, the reduction of transfusion incidence in univariate analysis was confirmed in multivariate analysis, with SCBS use associated with a lower odds of transfusion vs no use (OR = 0.44, 95%CI: 0.27-0.71). Overall, DBCM analyses indicated an average cost savings of \$1027 among cases when accounting for the proportion within each "hospital deviation" class, with significantly more patients in the SCBS cohort with an "on course" hospitalization (defined as no complications and a LOS less than the median). We believe this study, despite the lack of clinical detail on number of lobes resected, provides information on "real-world" practice outside of a controlled prospective study or randomized controlled trial.

This study adds to a growing body of research evaluating the safety and efficacy of SCBS in liver resections. Authors at the University of Pittsburgh Starzl Transplant Institute performed a single-arm study evaluating the safety of the SCBS (formerly of "TissueLink Medical") in 170 open liver resection procedures performed between 2001 and 2004^[20]. Overall, 3.5% of patients were transfused and 2.4% developed a postoperative bile leak. There were no cases of postoperative hemorrhage, hepatic failure, liver abscess, or reoperation. The authors concluded the SCBS was effective in achieving intraoperative hemostasis in hepatic resection. The observed transfusion rate was much lower than in our present study, however this is likely due to comparing outcomes from a single highvolume hospital vs our present study, which includes data from 284 hospitals.

In a prospective single-arm study in Italy, the incidence of early surgical complications (including bleeding, biliary leakage, and abscess development) following 12 partial hepatectomies with the SCBS was evaluated^[21]. Mean blood loss was 20 mL (range 5 to 80 mL), with no transfusions and a mean LOS of six days^[21]. This LOS is similar to the 7.4 d observed in the case cohort of our study.

WJG | www.wjgnet.com

| Table 4 Length of stay, deviation mix and weighted average mean cost (propensity-matched cohorts) | | | | | | | |
|---|---------------|---------------|----------------|--|--|--|--|
| Characteristic | SCBS | No SCBS | <i>P</i> value | | | | |
| Length of stay (LOS), d | | | | | | | |
| mean (SD) | 7.38 (5.18) | 8.18 (7.27) | 0.210 | | | | |
| 25 th percentile | 4 | 4 | | | | | |
| Median | 6 | 6 | | | | | |
| 75 th percentile | 8 | 8 | | | | | |
| Deviation mix, n (%) | | | | | | | |
| On course | 77 (53.5) | 302 (41.9) | 0.013 | | | | |
| Minor deviation | 30 (20.8) | 187 (26.0) | 0.208 | | | | |
| Moderate deviation | 28 (19.4) | 150 (20.8) | 0.821 | | | | |
| Major deviation | 9 (6.3) | 81 (11.3) | 0.074 | | | | |
| mean (SD) total hospital cost | | | | | | | |
| On course | 18000 (5746) | 16813 (6588) | 0.029 | | | | |
| Minor deviation | 28379 (14863) | 25452 (11186) | 0.454 | | | | |
| Moderate deviation | 36558 (17777) | 35261 (19390) | 0.571 | | | | |
| Major deviation | 45717 (19045) | 49082 (35303) | 0.568 | | | | |
| WAMC total hospitalization cost | \$25503 | \$26530 | | | | | |
| WAMC difference | \$1027 | | | | | | |

P values were calculated with the Wilcoxon Mann-Whitney test for LOS and total hospitalization cost; and the χ^2 test for hospital deviation mix classes. SCBS: Saline-coupled bipolar sealer; WAMC: Weighted average mean cost.

Table 5 Logistic regressions of predictors of topical hemostat use and transfusion

| Parameter | Predictors of topical hemostat use | | Predictors of transfusion | | | |
|--|------------------------------------|-----------|---------------------------|------------|------------|----------|
| - | Odds ratio | 95%CI | P value | Odds ratio | 95%CI | P value |
| Age group (vs 18 to 44) | | | | | | |
| 75 plus | 1.03 | 0.50-2.12 | 0.421 | 4.55 | 1.95-10.59 | < 0.0001 |
| Race (vs caucasian) | | | | | | |
| Black | 1.21 | 0.75-1.97 | 0.275 | 1.97 | 1.21-3.19 | 0.017 |
| United States geographic region (vs northeast) | | | | | | |
| South | 3.67 | 2.38-5.65 | 0.0004 | 1.87 | 1.19-2.96 | 0.001 |
| Partial hepatectomy (vs lobectomy) | 1.25 | 0.91-1.73 | 0.175 | 1.62 | 1.16-2.27 | 0.005 |
| Primary malignancy (vs metastatic) | 0.80 | 0.53-1.20 | 0.281 | 1.54 | 1.00-2.38 | 0.050 |
| Provider specialty (vs general surgery) | | | | | | |
| Surgical oncology | 0.30 | 0.20-0.46 | < 0.0001 | 0.65 | 0.42-1.01 | 0.005 |
| Other specialty | 0.68 | 0.40-1.16 | 0.402 | 1.48 | 0.85-2.57 | 0.023 |
| Case cohort (vs matched controls) | 2.56 | 1.70-3.86 | < 0.0001 | 0.44 | 0.27-0.71 | 0.0008 |
| Topical hemostat use | N/A | N/A | N/A | 1.87 | 1.33-2.64 | 0.0004 |

Only covariates that were significant in at least on model (P < 0.05) are listed here. Full model covariates included: age group, sex, race, geographic region, resection type, malignancy type, diagnosis of non-alcoholic cirrhosis, hepatitis b, or hepatitis C, provider specialty, study cohort, and topical hemostat use.

Lastly, two studies have examined the combined use of the SCBS and CUSA. In the largest study of SCBS use in liver resection to date, authors at four hepatopancreaticobiliary units in Europe evaluated the safety and efficacy of combined use of SCBS plus CUSA during 114 minor and 199 major hepatectomies. Authors reported a transfusion rate of 10.5% and two postoperative deaths (0.6%), concluding the combined method is associated with decreased blood loss^[9]. A similar Japanese study also evaluated the combined use of CUSA and SCBS (n = 55) vs CUSA with traditional bipolar electrosurgery $(n = 54)^{[22]}$. The SCBS and CUSA cohort demonstrated significantly lower total blood loss (677 mL vs 1076 mL, P = 0.0486), shorter transection time (81 min vs 115 min, P = 0.0025) and fewer ties required (13.1 vs 22.8, P < 0.001) vs the traditional electrosurgery and CUSA cohort^[22]. While the combined use of SCBS and CUSA is evaluated in

these studies, other device combinations or techniques may provide equivalent outcomes at lower cost. This is an area for future research.

Although it was observed in the present study that a greater proportion of the case cohort had concurrent use of topical hemostats during the procedure (25.0% vs 17.2%, P = 0.038), it appears hemostat use was reserved for the most severe cases. We infer this due to the incidence of transfusion being greater in both univariate and multivariate analyses among those with topical hemostat use vs no use, regardless of SCBS. However, there is likely an unmeasured confounder that is not readily observed in insurance claims data that may have influenced surgeon selection of both the SCBS and a hemostat. Nonetheless, incidence of transfusion remained numerically lower in the case cohort vs controls both when topical hemostats were used during the procedure and when they were not.

Nichols CI et al. Bipolar sealer for liver resection

Limitations of this study center on the lack of detailed clinical detail in the insurance claims dataset used for analysis, which included only diagnosis and procedure codes, and items listed in the hospital Chargemaster. Therefore, we could not evaluate the number of liver segments resected, the relative complexity of the procedure, pre- and post-operative hemoglobin levels, the Hg level triggering a transfusion, or number of units of blood transfused. Also, as noted, specific line-item costs for blood were not available for approximately two-thirds of patients. However, blood costs were captured in the next level roll-up of cost reporting under OR costs. During patient selection we did not attempt to query the Chargemaster file to evaluate concurrent devices used with the SCBS, as the only comparison in this study was at the highest level of use vs no use. Given the array of device choices during hepatic resection, and the variance of names listed in the Chargemaster file, we did not attempt to compare concurrent device use. Future studies may address the question of device synergy in influencing clinical outcomes (e.g., SCBS plus CUSA). Finally, while we observed a reduction in the incidence of transfusion associated with use of SCBS in the present study, the SCBS is not designed to provide hemostasis in the event of bleeding from large vessels - thus additional technology or techniques to control bleeding that cannot be accounted for may have been present.

This retrospective database analysis demonstrated that use of the SCBS in open partial liver resection for hepatic malignancy is associated with reduction in the need for transfusion, and is cost-effective in a deviation-based cost modeling analysis. This technology provides an alternative solution for bleeding control in partial liver resection compared to traditional methods.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank Jeanne McAdara-Berkowitz PhD for professional assistance with manuscript preparation.

COMMENTS

Background

Despite advances in surgical technique over the past two decades, blood transfusions are still required in a proportion of patients undergoing liver resection, varying by the extent of the procedure and device combinations used. Predictors of transfusion include factors related to the operative procedure as well as patient-specific characteristics.

Research frontiers

Prior research has demonstrated the effects of surgical technique, perioperative blood management protocols, and use of surgical technologies on the risk of transfusion. The majority of these studies examined clinical outcomes alone, with few examining the total cost of the procedure or incremental costs associated with complications. Two prior cost studies applied a novel methodology, deviation-based cost modeling (DBCM), however the primary comparison was of open vs laparoscopic approach rather than specific surgical technologies utilized during the procedure.

Innovations and breakthroughs

This retrospective database analysis evaluated the use of a saline-coupled bipolar sealer (SCBS) in open partial liver resection for hepatic malignancy. After matching, patients treated with the SCBS had a lower incidence of transfusions (18.1% vs 29.4%, P = 0.007). Controlling for topical hemostat use, the reduction of transfusion incidence was confirmed in multivariate analysis, with SCBS use associated with a lower odds of transfusion (OR = 0.44, 95%CI: 0.27-0.71). Overall, DBCM cost analyses indicated an average cost savings of \$1027 among cases when accounting for the proportion falling into each "hospital deviation" class, with significantly more patients in the SCBS cohort with an "on course" hospitalization (defined as no complications and a length of stay less than the median).

Applications

This analysis demonstrated that use of the SCBS in open partial liver resection for hepatic malignancy is associated with reduction in the need for transfusion, and is cost-effective in a deviation-based cost modeling analysis. This technology provides an alternative solution for bleeding control in partial liver resection compared to traditional electrosurgical methods.

Terminology

A DBCM approach was employed in this study. This methodology measures the frequency and severity of deviations from an "expected" postoperative course and calculates the economic consequences of hospitalizations that do not follow expected outcomes. The benefits of this approach are the incorporation of complications, length of stay, and costs into one measure, providing a single outcomes-based metric that provides more information than simply clinical or cost data alone.

Peer-review

This is an interesting paper and well written. The current results will be great helpful to the surgical fields when evaluating the benefits and costs of alternative blood-management technologies during liver resection.

REFERENCES

- Guo JY, Li DW, Liao R, Huang P, Kong XB, Wang JM, Wang HL, Luo SQ, Yan X, Du CY. Outcomes of simple saline-coupled bipolar electrocautery for hepatic resection. *World J Gastroenterol* 2014; 20: 8638-8645 [PMID: 25024620 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v20.i26.8638]
- 2 Ikeda M, Hasegawa K, Sano K, Imamura H, Beck Y, Sugawara Y, Kokudo N, Makuuchi M. The vessel sealing system (LigaSure) in hepatic resection: a randomized controlled trial. *Ann Surg* 2009; 250: 199-203 [PMID: 19638927 DOI: 10.1097/SLA.0b013e3181a334f9]
- 3 Nanashima A, Abo T, Arai J, Takagi K, Matsumoto H, Takeshita H, Tsuchiya T, Nagayasu T. Usefulness of vessel-sealing devices combined with crush clamping method for hepatectomy: a retrospective cohort study. *Int J Surg* 2013; 11: 891-897 [PMID: 23954369 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijsu.2013.07.012]
- 4 Saiura A, Yamamoto J, Koga R, Sakamoto Y, Kokudo N, Seki M, Yamaguchi T, Yamaguchi T, Muto T, Makuuchi M. Usefulness of LigaSure for liver resection: analysis by randomized clinical trial. *Am J Surg* 2006; **192**: 41-45 [PMID: 16769273 DOI: 10.1016/j.amjsurg.2006.01.025]
- 5 Xia F, Wang S, Ma K, Feng X, Su Y, Dong J. The use of salinelinked radiofrequency dissecting sealer for liver transection in patients with cirrhosis. *J Surg Res* 2008; 149: 110-114 [PMID: 18541264 DOI: 10.1016/j.jss.2008.01.002]
- 6 Cockbain AJ, Masudi T, Lodge JP, Toogood GJ, Prasad KR. Predictors of blood transfusion requirement in elective liver resection. *HPB* (Oxford) 2010; 12: 50-55 [PMID: 20495645 DOI: 10.1111/j.1477-2574.2009.00126.x]
- 7 Lucas DJ, Schexneider KI, Weiss M, Wolfgang CL, Frank SM, Hirose K, Ahuja N, Makary M, Cameron JL, Pawlik TM. Trends and risk factors for transfusion in hepatopancreatobiliary surgery. *J Gastrointest Surg* 2014; 18: 719-728 [PMID: 24323432 DOI: 10.1007/s11605-013-2417-9]

Baishideng®

WJG www.wjgnet.com

- 8 Pulitanò C, Arru M, Bellio L, Rossini S, Ferla G, Aldrighetti L. A risk score for predicting perioperative blood transfusion in liver surgery. *Br J Surg* 2007; 94: 860-865 [PMID: 17380562 DOI: 10.1002/bjs.5731]
- 9 Sima CS, Jarnagin WR, Fong Y, Elkin E, Fischer M, Wuest D, D' Angelica M, DeMatteo RP, Blumgart LH, Gönen M. Predicting the risk of perioperative transfusion for patients undergoing elective hepatectomy. *Ann Surg* 2009; 250: 914-921 [PMID: 19953711]
- 10 Liu L, Wang Z, Jiang S, Shao B, Liu J, Zhang S, Zhou Y, Zhou Y, Zhang Y. Perioperative allogenenic blood transfusion is associated with worse clinical outcomes for hepatocellular carcinoma: a meta-analysis. *PLoS One* 2013; 8: e64261 [DOI: 10.1371/journal. pone.0064261]
- Amato A, Pescatori M. Perioperative blood transfusions for the recurrence of colorectal cancer. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2006; (1): CD005033 [PMID: 16437512 DOI: 10.1002/14651858. CD005033.pub2]
- 12 Sugita S, Sasaki A, Iwaki K, Uchida H, Kai S, Shibata K, Ohta M, Kitano S. Prognosis and postoperative lymphocyte count in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma who received intraoperative allogenic blood transfusion: a retrospective study. *Eur J Surg Oncol* 2008; 34: 339-345 [PMID: 17400417 DOI: 10.1016/j.ejso.2007.02.010]
- 13 Felekouras E, Petrou A, Neofytou K, Giakoustidis A, Bagenal J, Cananzi F, Pikoulis E, Mudan S. Combined ultrasonic aspiration and saline-linked radiofrequency precoagulation: a step toward bloodless liver resection without the need of liver inflow occlusion: analysis of 313 consecutive patients. *World J Surg Oncol* 2014; 12: 357 [DOI: 10.1186/1477-7819-12-357]
- 14 Cannon RM, Scoggins CR, Callender GG, Quillo A, McMasters KM, Martin RC. Financial comparison of laparoscopic versus open hepatic resection using deviation-based cost modeling. *Ann Surg Oncol* 2013; 20: 2887-2892 [PMID: 23636514 DOI: 10.1245/s10434-013-2993-7]
- 15 Vanounou T, Steel JL, Nguyen KT, Tsung A, Marsh JW, Geller

DA, Gamblin TC. Comparing the clinical and economic impact of laparoscopic versus open liver resection. *Ann Surg Oncol* 2010; **17**: 998-1009 [PMID: 20033324 DOI: 10.1245/s10434-009-0839-0]

- 16 Crawshaw BP, Chien HL, Augestad KM, Delaney CP. Effect of laparoscopic surgery on health care utilization and costs in patients who undergo colectomy. *JAMA Surg* 2015; 150: 410-415 [PMID: 25806476 DOI: 10.1001/jamasurg.2014.3171]
- 17 Charlson ME, Pompei P, Ales KL, MacKenzie CR. A new method of classifying prognostic comorbidity in longitudinal studies: development and validation. *J Chronic Dis* 1987; 40: 373-383 [PMID: 3558716]
- 18 Deyo RA, Cherkin DC, Ciol MA. Adapting a clinical comorbidity index for use with ICD-9-CM administrative databases. J Clin Epidemiol 1992; 45: 613-619 [PMID: 1607900]
- 19 Vanounou T, Pratt W, Fischer JE, Vollmer CM, Callery MP. Deviation-based cost modeling: a novel model to evaluate the clinical and economic impact of clinical pathways. *J Am Coll Surg* 2007; 204: 570-579 [PMID: 17382215 DOI: 10.1016/j. jamcollsurg.2007.01.025]
- 20 Geller DA, Tsung A, Maheshwari V, Rutstein LA, Fung JJ, Marsh JW. Hepatic resection in 170 patients using saline-cooled radiofrequency coagulation. *HPB* (Oxford) 2005; 7: 208-213 [PMID: 18333192 DOI: 10.1080/13651820510028945]
- 21 Currò G, Lazzara S, Barbera A, Cogliandolo A, Dattola A, De Marco ML, De Leo E, Rampulla V, Lazzara C, Navarra G. The Aquamantys® system as alternative for parenchymal division and hemostasis in liver resection for hepatocellular carcinoma: a preliminary study. *Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci* 2014; 18: 2-5 [PMID: 25535183]
- 22 Kaibori M, Matsui K, Ishizaki M, Sakaguchi T, Matsushima H, Matsui Y, Kwon AH. A prospective randomized controlled trial of hemostasis with a bipolar sealer during hepatic transection for liver resection. *Surgery* 2013; **154**: 1046-1052 [PMID: 24075274 DOI: 10.1016/j.surg.2013.04.053]

P- Reviewer: Chiu KW, Morales-Gonzalez JA S- Editor: Qi Y L- Editor: A E- Editor: Liu WX







Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/ Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v22.i46.10198 World J Gastroenterol 2016 December 14; 22(46): 10198-10209 ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online) © 2016 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Case Control Study

Nodular lymphoid hyperplasia: A marker of low-grade inflammation in irritable bowel syndrome?

Anna Chiara Piscaglia, Lucrezia Laterza, Valentina Cesario, Viviana Gerardi, Rosario Landi, Loris Riccardo Lopetuso, Giovanni Calò, Giovanna Fabbretti, Massimo Brisigotti, Maria Loredana Stefanelli, Antonio Gasbarrini

Anna Chiara Piscaglia, Valentina Cesario, Giovanni Calò, Maria Loredana Stefanelli, Endoscopy and Gastroenterology Unit, Depatment of Internal Medicine, State Hospital, 47893 Borgo Maggiore, Republic of San Marino

Anna Chiara Piscaglia, Lucrezia Laterza, Viviana Gerardi, Rosario Landi, Loris Riccardo Lopetuso, Maria Loredana Stefanelli, Antonio Gasbarrini, School of Gastroenterology, Dept. of Internal Medicine and Gastroenterology, "Gemelli" Hospital, Catholic University, 00168 Rome, Italy

Giovanna Fabbretti, Massimo Brisigotti, Depatment of Pathology, "Infermi" Hospital, 47924 Rimini, Italy

Author contributions: Piscaglia AC provided study concept and design and performed all colonoscopies; Fabbretti G and Brisigotti M performed histological examination of all tissue samples; Laterza L, Cesario V, Gerardi V, Landi R, Lopetuso LR and Calò G contributed to the acquisition of data; Piscaglia AC and Laterza L performed analysis and interpretation of data; Piscaglia AC provided statistical analysis and drafted the manuscript; Laterza L, Stefanelli ML and Gasbarrini A provided critical revision of the manuscript for important intellectual content.

Institutional review board statement: The study was approved by the ethics committee of San Marino (Republic of San Marino).

Informed consent statement: Consent was not obtained, given the retrospective nature of the study, but the presented data are anonymized and risk of identification is low.

Conflict-of-interest statement: No benefits in any form have been received or will be received from a commercial party related directly or indirectly to the subject of this article.

Data sharing statement: Dataset is available from the corresponding author at annachiarapiscaglia@hotmail.com.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external

reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Manuscript source: Invited manuscript

Correspondence to: Anna Chiara Piscaglia, MD, PhD, Endoscopy and Gastroenterology Unit, Depatment of Internal Medicine, State Hospital, Via Scialoja, 47893 Borgo Maggiore, Republic of San Marino. annachiarapiscaglia@hotmail.com Telephone: +39-347-1015909

Received: July 24, 2016 Peer-review started: July 26, 2016 First decision: September 20, 2016 Revised: October 25, 2016 Accepted: November 14, 2016 Article in press: November 16, 2016 Published online: December 14, 2016

Abstract

AIM

To evaluate the prevalence of nodular lymphoid hyperplasia (NLH) in adult patients undergoing colonoscopy and its association with known diseases.

METHODS

We selected all cases showing NLH at colonoscopy in a three-year timeframe, and stratified them into symptomatic patients with irritable bowel syndrome (IBS)-type symptoms or suspected inflammatory bowel disease (IBD), and asymptomatic individuals undergoing endoscopy for colorectal cancer screening.



Data collection included medical history and final diagnosis. As controls, we considered all colonoscopies performed for the aforementioned indications during the same period.

RESULTS

One thousand and one hundred fifty colonoscopies were selected. NLH was rare in asymptomatic individuals (only 3%), while it was significantly more prevalent in symptomatic cases (32%). Among organic conditions associated with NLH, the most frequent was IBD, followed by infections and diverticular disease. Interestingly, 31% of IBS patients presented diffuse colonic NLH. NLH cases shared some distinctive clinical features among IBS patients: they were younger, more often female, and had a higher frequency of abdominal pain, bloating, diarrhoea, unspecific inflammation, self-reported lactose intolerance and metal contact dermatitis.

CONCLUSION

About 1/3 of patients with IBS-type symptoms or suspected IBD presented diffuse colonic NLH, which could be a marker of low-grade inflammation in a conspicuous subset of IBS patients.

Key words: Inflammatory bowel diseases; Functional gastrointestinal diseases; Irritable bowel syndrome; Colonoscopy; Inflammation

© **The Author(s) 2016.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core tip: This study sheds light on colonic nodular lymphoid hyperplasia (NLH) in terms of prevalence, gender-distribution and association with known diseases. Our most relevant result is the identification of NLH as a putative marker of low-grade inflammation in a conspicuous subset of irritable bowel syndrome (IBS) cases. Further studies are required to understand the etiopathogenetic mechanisms underlying NLH in IBS, its association with metal contact allergies and its clinical implications.

Piscaglia AC, Laterza L, Cesario V, Gerardi V, Landi R, Lopetuso LR, Calò G, Fabbretti G, Brisigotti M, Stefanelli ML, Gasbarrini A. Nodular lymphoid hyperplasia: A marker of low-grade inflammation in irritable bowel syndrome? *World J Gastroenterol* 2016; 22(46): 10198-10209 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v22/i46/10198.htm DOI: http:// dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v22.i46.10198

INTRODUCTION

Colonoscopy allows direct visualization of the mucosa of the lower gastrointestinal tract and it is a useful tool to investigate symptoms of lower bowel diseases. However, there are conditions in which symptomatic Piscaglia AC et al. Nodular lymphoid hyperplasia in IBS

patients might have a normal colon appearance on colonoscopy, although their intestinal mucosa shows signs of microscopic inflammation at histological examination^[1]. In the last years, the introduction of advanced imaging techniques has ameliorated the characterization of mucosal lesions and has permitted to detect minimal mucosal changes that might be missed with standard white-light (WL) colonoscopy^[2]. Among such techniques, narrow band imaging (NBI) uses optical filters in front of the light source, to narrow the wavelength of the projected light, to enable visualization of micro-vessel morphological changes and to enhance the visibility of both neoplastic and inflammatory mucosal lesions^[3,4].

In our daily practice, we have noted that some patients undergoing colonoscopy showed multiple slightly raised whitish areas, usually < 5 mm in diameter, closely spaced, difficult to see at WL endoscopy and easier to recognize with NBI. When biopsied, these areas always corresponded to clusters of ≤ 10 lymphoid nodules, composed of hyperplastic benign lymphoid tissue, named "nodular lymphoid hyperplasia" (NLH)^[5-9]. Sometimes NLH had a reddish outline, the so-called "red ring sign" (RRS), due to hypervascularization at the base of the follicles, associated with granulocyte infiltrate^[6].

Little is known about the epidemiology, pathogenesis, and clinical implications of NLH. NLH is commonly seen in the terminal ileum and colon during paediatric endoscopies, and it has been classically considered a paraphysiologic phenomenon in children^[10]. However, there have been reports of NLH in children associated with refractory constipation, viral infection, juvenile idiopathic arthritis, connective tissue disease, immunodeficiency, cow's milk protein hypersensitivity, familial mediterranean fever, and the so-called "autistic enterocolitis"^{(9,11-18]}.

In adults, NLH can be asymptomatic, or more rarely presents with gastrointestinal symptoms, like abdominal pain, chronic diarrhoea, and bleeding^[18]. NLH can mimic familial polyposis^[19,20] and it has been reported in association with inflammatory bowel disease (IBD), celiac disease (CeD), lymphoma, dysgamma-globulinemia, Ehlers-Danlos syndrome, diversion colitis and food allergies^[21-28].

Adult NLH is considered a rare finding^[29]. Published literature includes case reports and small series of patients; whether this relates to endoscopy underreporting or to the true rarity of the condition is unclear^[30]. Indeed, NLH frequency in adults might be largely underestimated because it is hard to recognize at WL endoscopy. Kagueyama *et al*^[31], demonstrated that 39% of adult patients with chronic diarrhoea and a normal colonoscopy had NLH at histological examination of serial biopsies taken from the terminal ileum, ascending colon and rectum. In 2010, Krauss *et al*^[6] evaluated the significance of lymphoid hyperplasia in the lower gastrointestinal tract in a cohort of consecutive adult patients and concluded that the presence of colonic NLH is not rare and it may represent a mucosal response to antigenic stimulation, like allergens or pathogens.

Most of the NLH cases that we have found in our daily practice, underwent colonoscopy for irritable bowel syndrome (IBS)-type symptoms, or suspected IBD, while a minority of them was asymptomatic. Based on this clinical observation, the aim of the present study is to evaluate the prevalence of NLH in adults undergoing colonoscopy in San Marino Republic, and its association with known diseases.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Patients

We evaluated all colonoscopies performed by a single endoscopist (ACP) from January 2012 to January 2015, at the Endoscopy Unit of the State Hospital of San Marino Republic.

We selected all cases showing lesions compatible with NLH, for which biopsies from multiple sites (ileum, ascending, transverse, sigmoid colon, and rectum) were taken. NLH cases were divided into two groups: asymptomatic subjects (a-NLH), who underwent colonoscopy for colorectal cancer screening or family history of colorectal cancer; and symptomatic patients (s-NLH), in which colonoscopy was prescribed for IBStype symptoms (abdominal pain and/or altered bowel habits in the absence of alarm signs or symptoms) or suspected IBD [abdominal pain and/or altered bowel habits with haematochezia and/or weight loss and/or positive family history of IBD and/or fever and/or increased faecal calprotectin and/or C-reactive protein, and/or anaemia]. Symptomatic patients were further divided according to their final diagnosis into organic and functional bowel disorders; the latter subset was stratified into IBS [with prevalent diarrhoea (IBS-D), or constipation (IBS-C), or mixed bowel habit (IBS-M)], chronic functional diarrhoea and chronic constipation^[32].

In order to measure the prevalence of NLH in asymptomatic subjects and symptomatic patients, we considered all colonoscopies performed by the same endoscopist for the same clinical indications (colorectal cancer screening, IBS-type symptoms, suspected IBD), in the same timeframe (January 2012 to January 2015).

In case of repeated colonoscopies on the same patient, only the first examination was included in the analysis. Other exclusion criteria were incomplete exam, poor bowel preparation, patient's age < 18 or > 75 years, history of colon surgery, prior diagnosis of colorectal cancer, IBD, or CeD.

The study protocol was approved by the local Ethical Committee and conformed to the ethical guidelines of the Declaration of Helsinki (2013).

Data collection: Endoscopy, histology, clinical characteristics and inflammation biomarkers

All colonoscopies were performed under deep sedation with Midazolam and Propofol, with anaesthesiologist's assistance. For bowel preparation, all patients received low-volume polyethylenglycol-based medication (Lovol Esse[®]). NLH was macroscopically evaluated using Olympus endoscopes CF-HQ190 (for EVIS EXERA III Video System Center CV-190) or CF-Q180A (for EXERA II Video System Center CV-180), in white light and NBI.

Biopsies were fixed in formalin and embedded in paraffin. Four- μ m tissue sections were stained with haematoxylin and eosin and evaluated by two expert pathologists (Fabbretti G, Brisigotti M). Each tissue section was observed on light microscopy using × 20 objective lenses and × 10 eyepiece.

We reviewed patients' charts to investigate about bowel habits, self-reported lactose intolerance, metal contact dermatitis, histological confirmation of NLH and final diagnosis.

Statistical analysis

Data were collected in an Excel database. Summary statistics were calculated for each outcome of interest. Continuous data were summarized with mean and standard deviation, while categorical data were summarized with frequency distributions. We used *t*-test and χ^2 test to compare patients' subgroups. A *P* value < 0.05 was considered statistically significant. Data analysis was generated using Microsoft Excel software (Microsoft Corporation, Redmond, WA, United States) and Real Statistics Resource Pack software (Release 3.5; Copyright 2013-2015 Charles Zaiontz; www.real-statistics.com).

RESULTS

Figure 1 summarizes the study design. 2226 colonoscopies were assessed for eligibility. Of those, 1076 met the exclusion criteria and were ruled out. NLH was observed in 124 of the 1150 cases under analysis (global NLH prevalence about 10%). Of note, NLH was found in 101 of 315 symptomatic patients (32%) and in only 23 of 835 asymptomatic subjects (3%).

Symptomatic patients

The main symptomatic patients' characteristics are summarized in Table 1. Collectively, out of 315 symptomatic patients, 110 were diagnosed with organic disorders (35%), whereas the remaining 65% had functional disease. NLH was found in 32% of symptomatic patients and it was always histologically confirmed (Figure 2). NLH was equally distributed among organic (34%) and functional (31%) conditions.

Symptomatic patients with NLH

In most symptomatic patients with NLH (s-NLH) cases,

Baishideng®



Figure 1 Study design. NLH: Nodular lymphoid hyperplasia; s-no-NLH: Symptomatic patients without NLH; a-NLH: Asymptomatic subjects; s-NLH: Patients with nodular lymphoid hyperplasia; IBD: Inflammatory bowel disease; CeD: Celiac disease.



Figure 2 Endoscopic and histological features of nodular lymphoid hyperplasia. A-F: Three typical cases of nodular lymphoid hyperplasia (NLH), as observed at white light (WL) standard endoscopy (A-C) and narrow band imaging (NBI) endoscopy (D-F), respectively. NLH appear as slightly raised whitish areas, usually < 5 mm in diameter, closely spaced, difficult to recognize at WL, and easier to observe by NBI; G and H: Show the histological appearance of NLH (hematoxylin-eosin staining), as clusters of \leq 10 lymphoid nodules, composed of hyperplastic benign lymphoid tissue.

WJG www.wjgnet.com

| | | All pa | itients | | HJN-S | | | HJN-on-s | | b (s-NLH vs | s-no-NLH) |
|--------------------------|-------------|----------|-----------------------|-------------|---------|---------------------|-------------|-------------|---------------------|---------------------|---------------------|
| | HJN-S | s-no-NLH | b (s-NLH vs s-no-NLH) | ш | 0 | p (F 1/5 O) | ш | 0 | p (F 1/5 O) | ш | 0 |
| Average years of age | 41 ± 14 | 53 ± 12 | < 0.05 ¹ | 40 ± 13 | 42 ± 16 | NS^1 | 49 ± 12 | 60 ± 10 | < 0.05 ¹ | < 0.05 ¹ | < 0.05 ¹ |
| $(mean \pm SD)$ | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Female sex | 85% | 68% | NS^2 | 92% | 73% | $< 0.05^{2}$ | 20% | 64% | NS^2 | $< 0.05^{2}$ | NS^2 |
| Abdominal pain | 91% | 83% | NS^2 | 91% | 92% | NS^2 | 80% | 89% | NS^2 | $< 0.05^{2}$ | NS^2 |
| Bloating | 72% | 37% | $< 0.05^{2}$ | 78% | 63% | NS^2 | 30% | 49% | $< 0.05^{2}$ | $< 0.05^{2}$ | NS^2 |
| Diarrhoea | 65% | 26% | $< 0.05^{2}$ | 63% | 20% | NS^2 | 26% | 26% | NS^2 | $< 0.05^{2}$ | $< 0.05^{2}$ |
| Constipation | 17% | 36% | $< 0.05^{2}$ | 19% | 14% | NS^2 | 38% | 34% | NS^2 | $< 0.05^{2}$ | $< 0.05^{2}$ |
| Mixed bowel habits | 18% | 34% | NS^2 | 19% | 16% | NS^2 | 37% | 27% | NS^2 | $< 0.05^{2}$ | NS^2 |
| Polyps | 24% | 45% | $< 0.05^{2}$ | 23% | 24% | NS^2 | 42% | 52% | NS^2 | $< 0.05^{2}$ | $< 0.05^{2}$ |
| Haematochezia | 23% | 40% | NS^2 | 18% | 32% | NS^2 | 41% | 37% | NS^2 | $< 0.05^{2}$ | NS^2 |
| Inflammation | 45% | 28% | NS^2 | 39% | 54% | < 0.05 ² | 16% | 49% | $< 0.05^{2}$ | $< 0.05^{2}$ | NS^2 |
| Metal contact dermatitis | 74% | 9% | $< 0.05^{2}$ | 66% | 77% | NS^2 | 7% | 5% | NS^2 | $< 0.05^{2}$ | $< 0.05^{2}$ |
| Lactose intolerance | 63% | 28% | < 0.05 ² | 38% | 77% | $< 0.05^{2}$ | 26% | 32% | NS^2 | $< 0.05^{2}$ | $< 0.05^{2}$ |

NLH was present in all colonic segments (94%); 21% of patients also showed NLH in the terminal ileum; NLH was observed in the right or left colon alone in 1% and 5% of cases, respectively

23% had haematochezia. In 39% of patients, colonoscopy revealed concomitant macroscopic inflammation (RRS, diffuse hyperaemia, erosions, and ulcers); in 69% of cases, the inflammation was patchy and confined to the left colon and/or rectum; a patchy right-sided colitis was observed in 5% of s-NLH patients; in 8% of cases, the As for clinical presentation, all s-NLH patients complained of altered bowel habits, mainly chronic diarrhoea; most cases also reported abdominal pain and bloating; nflammation involved the terminal ileum. Colon polyps were found and removed in 21% of s-NLH patients.

A history of delayed hypersensitivity reactions and in particular of metal contact dermatitis was self-reported by 74% of s-NLH patients, but only a minority of them 9%) had a previous patch test-based diagnosis of nickel (Ni) allergy. Moreover, 63% of patients with NLH self-reported lactose intolerance.

The final diagnosis for s-NLH was of organic disease in 37% of cases and of functional disorder for the remaining 63% (Figure 3). In particular, among patients microscopic colitis; 1 colorectal cancer, 1 CeD and 1 ischemic colitis. Ninety-one percent of patients with functional disorders fulfilled Rome III criteria for IBS, mainly with organic disorders, we found 16 cases of IBD - 8 ulcerative colitis (UC) and 8 Crohn's disease (CD); 9 parasitic or bacterial infections; 7 diverticular diseases; BS-D. Noteworthy, most of NLH patients with IBD and almost 20% of patients with IBS showed NLH with RRS (Figure 4).

nabit alterations and metal contact dermatitis between organic and functional s-NLH patients. Also, we did not found a statistically significant correlation between NLH Statistically significant differences between organic and functional conditions associated with s-NLH were found for sex (more women in the functional subset) and self-reported lactose intolerance (more common in organic disorders). On the contrary, there were no statistically significant differences in frequency of bowel distribution and clinical symptoms (data not shown).

Symptomatic patients without NLH

Symptomatic patients who underwent colonoscopy and did not show NLH [symptomatic patients without NLH (s-no-NLH)] were 214. Many of them complained of altered powel habits (mostly constipation or mixed), and abdominal pain; 40% also reported haematochezia. In 28% of cases, colonoscopy revealed macroscopic inflammation





Figure 3 Final diagnosis for symptomatic patients with nodular lymphoid hyperplasia. Patients with nodular lymphoid hyperplasia (s-NLH) patients were divided into organic and functional bowel disorders; the latter subset was further stratified into IBS with prevalent diarrhoea (IBS-D), or constipation (IBS-C), or mixed bowel habit (IBS-M), chronic functional diarrhoea, and chronic constipation, according to the Roma III criteria. Among organic conditions associated with NLH, the most frequent was IBD, followed by infections and diverticular disease. IBS: Irritable bowel syndrome; IBD: Inflammatory bowel disease.



Figure 4 Endoscopic features of nodular lymphoid hyperplasia with red ring sign, due to hypervascularization at the base of the follicles, associated with granulocyte infiltrate. A and B: A typical case of nodular lymphoid hyperplasia (NLH) with red ring sign (RRS) and diffuse macroscopic inflammation, in white light (WL) and narrow band imaging (NBI), respectively: RRS appears as a red (WL) or brown (NBI) outline surrounding NLH foci; C and D: A particular of two NLH foci with RRS, in WL and NBI, respectively (black and white arrows).

(hyperaemia, erosions and ulcers) and biopsies were taken; none of the samples exhibited NLH at histological examination. Colon polyps were found and removed in 45% of s-no-NLH patients.

Regarding the final diagnosis, 34% of s-no-NLH patients were affected by organic diseases, while the remaining 66% had a functional condition (Figure 5).

In particular, among patients with organic disorders, we found 5 cases of IBD (1 UC and 4 CD); 2 infectious colitis; 55 diverticular diseases; 12 abdominal adhesions; 3 colorectal cancers. Among patients with functional disorders, 80% fulfilled Rome III criteria for IBS, mostly IBS-C or IBS-M. No differences were found in terms of distribution of self-reported lactose

Piscaglia AC et al. Nodular lymphoid hyperplasia in IBS



Figure 5 Final diagnosis for symptomatic patients without nodular lymphoid hyperplasia. IBS: Irritable bowel syndrome; IBS-M: IBS mixed bowel habit; IBS-C: IBS with prevalent constipation; IBS-D: IBS with prevalent diarrhoea; IBD: Inflammatory bowel disease.

| Table 2 | Final | diagnosis | in | symptomatic | patients | with organic |
|-----------|-------|-----------|----|-------------|----------|--------------|
| disorders | | | | | | |

| s-no-NLH | s-NLH | <i>P</i> value |
|----------|--|--|
| 70% | 19% | < 0.05 |
| 4% | 3% | NS |
| 3% | 24% | < 0.05 |
| 7% | 43% | < 0.05 |
| 16% | 0% | < 0.05 |
| 0% | 12% | < 0.05 |
| | s-no-NLH 70% 4% 3% 7% 16% 0% | s-no-NLH s-NLH 70% 19% 4% 3% 3% 24% 7% 43% 16% 0% 0% 12% |

No-NLH: Patients without evidence of nodular lymphoid hyperplasia; NLH: Patients with evidence of nodular lymphoid hyperplasia; IBD: Inflammatory bowel disease; NS: Not significant. The last column enlists the *P* value obtained from the comparison between no-NLH and NLH cases, by means of *t*-test.

intolerance and contact dermatitis between s-no-NLH patients with organic and functional conditions. Noteworthy, we found a statistically significant difference in mean age, being patients with organic disorders older than those with functional conditions. On the contrary, no difference for sex distribution was noted between the two subsets. Patients with functional disorders showed less frequently bloating and macroscopic inflammation at endoscopy.

Comparison between symptomatic patients with and without NLH

Patients with NLH were significantly younger, had more often diarrhoea and bloating and less frequently constipation and colonic polyps *vs* patients without NLH. Moreover, NLH patients reported more frequently metal contact dermatitis and lactose intolerance vs patients without NLH, regardless the final diagnosis of functional or organic disorders. Stratifying all symptomatic subjects according to the final diagnosis, among those diagnosed with functional conditions, patients showing NLH were younger, more often female, and had a higher frequency of abdominal pain, bloating, diarrhoea, inflammation, metal contact dermatitis and self-reported lactose intolerance; on the contrary, they showed less frequently constipation, haematochezia, mixed bowel habits and colon polyps, compared with patients without NLH. Among patients with organic diseases, those showing NLH were also significantly younger, had more often diarrhoea, contact dermatitis and lactose intolerance, less frequently constipation and fewer polyps. No differences were noted for sex, abdominal pain, bloating, endoscopic signs of inflammation or haematochezia. Finally, NLH patients with organic conditions were more often diagnosed with IBD and infections, while those without NLH had a higher frequency of diverticular disease and abdominal adhesions; no differences were noted for colorectal cancer frequency (Table 2). We did not found a statistically significant difference in terms of clinical or endoscopic disease activity between IBD patients with or without NLH.

Asymptomatic subjects

Among the 835 individuals who underwent colonoscopy for colorectal cancer screening, 23 had NLH. Thus, the prevalence of NLH in asymptomatic adults was significantly lower compared to the frequency of NLH in symptomatic patients (3% vs 32%, P < 0.05).

Most a-NLH patients were female (78%), with a mean age of 57 \pm 9 years. NLH was mainly diffuse in all colonic segments (87%) and only 1 case showed involvement of the terminal ileum. Polyps were detected and removed in 48% of patients. A mild asymptomatic diverticular disease was observed in 35% of cases; in only 2 patients with diverticula we noted signs of macroscopic inflammation. Metal contact dermatitis was reported by 44% of a-NLH. One of the cases complained of lactose intolerance. Comparing the a-NLH group with the remaining 812 asymptomatic individuals who underwent screening colonoscopy and did not show NLH (a-no-NLH), the latter ones were older (mean age 61 ± 9 years, P < 0.05), more frequently male (female 43%, P < 0.05) and had a statistically significant lower prevalence of selfreported contact dermatitis (5%, P < 0.05). The polyp detection rate did not significantly differ between the two groups (48% vs 64%, P > 0.05).

DISCUSSION

The present study assessed the frequency and gender distribution of colonic NLH, observed at WL and NBI endoscopy and histologically confirmed, in adults undergoing colonoscopy in a three-year period. The association between NLH and known diseases was also investigated.

The global prevalence of NLH was 10%. NLH was rare in asymptomatic subjects (3%). In particular, NLH was found mostly in asymptomatic women, who were younger than the relative control population and more often reported metal contact dermatitis. Conversely, NLH was a frequent finding in symptomatic patients, undergoing colonoscopy for IBS-type symptoms or suspected IBD (32%). Also among the symptomatic patients' group, NLH was more frequent in young women, who often complained of metal contact allergies and lactose intolerance. As for clinical presentation, diarrhoea and bloating were more common, while constipation was rarer in NLH vs no-NLH patients. Diverticular disease and abdominal adhesions were more frequent in no-NLH cases, while NLH patients more often suffered from IBD or colonic infections and had fewer polyps, likely because of the younger age at presentation.

Overall, our results demonstrate that NLH of the lower gastrointestinal tract is a common endoscopic finding in symptomatic patients, in whom it might reflect a state of enhanced immunological activity. Indeed, it has been postulated that lymphoid hyperplasia results from a chronic activation of the gut immune system by antigenic triggers (*i.e.*, allergens, pathogens, toxins), that lead to repetitive stimulation and eventual hyperplasia of lymphoid follicles. NLH might also develop in conditions of deregulation of the immune system, like in autoimmune diseases^[17] or in

immunodeficient subjects^[18].

The association between food allergies and NLH has been already documented^[12,33,34]. Conversely, to the best of our knowledge, there are no published data on the relationship between NLH and allergic contact allergy. Metal allergens, notably Ni, account for a significant proportion of contact sensitization^[35]. It has been reported that about 15% of women and 2%-3% of men living in industrialized countries are Ni sensitive and may develop allergic contact dermatitis (ACD), a T cell-mediated inflammatory process of the skin induced by cutaneous absorption of an allergen in a previously sensitized individual. This gender difference is due to different rates of exposure of skin (from jewellery, leathers, etc.) to this substance. About 20%-30% of ACD patients also experiences systemic (headache, asthenia, itching), and gastrointestinal (bloating, abdominal pain, diarrhoea) symptoms after eating Ni-rich foods. This condition is known as "Systemic Contact Dermatitis" or "Systemic Ni Allergy Syndrome" (SNAS)^[36]. Di Gioacchino et al^[37], demonstrated that oral challenge with Ni, in women with SNAS, stimulates the immune system, inducing a maturation of T lymphocytes from virgin into memory cells, which accumulate in the intestinal mucosa. An increased frequency of delayed type hypersensitivity to metals has been reported in patients with connective tissue disease and fibromyalgia and it has been speculated that metal-specific T cell reactivity might be an etiological factor in the development of chronic immune-mediated disorders^[38,39]. Noteworthy, Cazzato et al^[40] demonstrated a higher prevalence of lactose intolerance in patients affected by SNAS vs controls (74.7% vs 6.6%, respectively); the authors argued that the Ni-induced pro-inflammatory status could temporary impair the brush border enzymatic functions, resulting in hypolactasia.

In our study, we observed a very high frequency of self-reported lactose intolerance and metal contact dermatitis in NLH patients. We can suppose that metal allergens might play a pivotal role in the development of lymphoid hyperplasia and hypolactasia. This could also account for the higher observed prevalence of NLH in women, given the increased frequency of Nisensitivity in female *vs* male sex.

Another interesting result of our study is the association between NLH and IBD. It is well known that IBD are characterised by an abnormal immunological response to environmental antigens, especially the enteric bacterial flora, in genetically susceptible individuals. Lymphoid follicles represent the main portal of entry for potential pathogens, and it has been suggested that aphthous ulceration in CD and UC originates in follicle-associated epithelium over the lymphoid follicles. In 2010, Krauss *et al*^[6], compared the morphology of lymphoid follicles in CD, UC and control patients, in correlation to histological and immunohistochemical findings. In 15 out of 17 patients





Figure 6 Colonic nodular lymphoid hyperplasia in symptomatic patients constitutes a "minimal lesions colitis" that might be triggered by Nickel or other factors (such as immunodeficiency states, infections, hypersensitivity reactions, chronic constipation). We speculate that minimal lesions colitis (MLC) could represent a distinct pathologic entity in a subset of irritable bowel syndrome (IBS) and systemic Ni allergy syndrome (SNAS) patients, and it might prelude to the development of inflammatory bowel disease (IBD).

with the first manifestation of CD, they documented NLH with RRS. In some NLH with RRS early aphthous ulcers were seen. The authors concluded that lymphoid follicles with RRS probably represent an early sign of aphthous ulcers in CD and, thus, may be considered as early markers of first manifestation and flares in CD.

In our study, 43% of s-NLH were diagnosed as affected from IBD. Interestingly, in most cases of IBD, NLH was associated with RRS.

Finally, we observed for the first time an association between NLH and IBS^[41]. Even if multiple advances have been made in the knowledge of IBS pathogenesis, its aetiology remains unknown. Probably, IBS is an "umbrella term", which includes multiple conditions with common gastrointestinal symptoms, but different etiopathogenesis. Among the putative factors involved in the development of IBS, low-grade inflammation has raised growing interest in the last years. Indeed, IBS is more common in gastrointestinal diseases characterized by inflammation, such as CeD, IBD or after severe acute gastroenteritis^[42-44]. Mucosal and systemic immune activation has been widely documented in patients with IBS, even in the absence of a previous major gastroenteritis event^[45]. Mucosal inflammation is linked to increased mucosal permeability, enterochromaffin cell hyperplasia and higher tissue availability of serotonin, a key factor involved in the control of gut sensorimotor functions^[46-48]. Furthermore, the possible link between low-grade inflammation and IBS has been suggested by the observation that adoptive transfer of mucosal biopsy

supernatants evoked activation of sensory pain pathways^[49,50] and abnormal enteric nervous system responses in recipient rodents^[51]. Interestingly, these responses were reduced to a large extent by antagonism of immune-related factors^[49-52]. The origin of low-grade inflammation in patients with IBS remains undetermined, but it is likely to be multifactorial, involving genetic predisposition^[53,54], stress^[55], atopy^[56], abnormal intestinal microbiota^[57], and higher mucosal permeability^[46]. These data confirm the heterogeneity of IBS patients and point toward the necessity to find an objective biomarker of low-grade inflammation, to select those patients who could benefit most from antiinflammatory therapy.

Our results suggest that NLH could be such a marker of low-grade inflammation in a conspicuous subset of IBS cases, in which a "minimal lesions colitis" (MLC) characterized by diffuse colonic NLH can be found. Notably, patients with NLH have some distinctive features within the IBS population: they are younger, more often female, and have a higher frequency of metal contact dermatitis, abdominal pain, bloating, diarrhoea, and unspecific inflammation. Moreover, 19% of patients with MLC had NLH associated with RRS; we might speculate that in these cases MLC could share common features with IBD.

Our work presents some limitations. Firstly, since this is a retrospective study, the asymptomatic population is not matched with the symptomatic population, because people undergoing colonoscopy for screening purposes are more often male and older, compared to patients with IBS-like symptoms or suspected IBD, who showed a higher prevalence of female and younger people. Moreover, we collected information about metal contact allergies and lactose intolerance from patients' charts; such data were not available for all cases. Additionally, regarding the association between NLH and metal contact dermatitis, only a minority of subjects had performed patch tests and therefore we based our analysis on self-reported history of delayed hypersensitivity reactions to metals. Finally, only a minority of non-NLH patients underwent biopsy sampling during colonoscopy, while in most cases NLH was excluded on the base of endoscopic findings.

In conclusion, colonic NLH is rare in asymptomatic subjects, while it is a frequent finding in symptomatic patients, in whom it might reflect a state of enhanced immunological activity. We can speculate that colonic NLH represents an objective biomarker of low-grade inflammation in a subset of IBS patients, which might be triggered by metal contact reactions; moreover, colonic NLH with RRS might share common features with IBD, supporting the hypothesis that IBS and IBD might be part of the spectrum of the same disease (Figure 6).

Further studies are required to understand the


adults. NLH can be asymptomatic or more rarely presents with gastrointestinal symptoms, like abdominal pain, chronic diarrhoea and bleeding and it has been reported in association with inflammatory bowel disease (IBD), celiac disease, lymphoma, dysgammaglobulinemia, Ehlers-Danlos syndrome, diversion colitis

etiopathogenetic mechanisms underlying colonic NLH in

organic and functional conditions, its clinical implications

Colonic nodular lymphoid hyperplasia (NLH) is considered a rare finding in

Research frontiers

COMMENTS

Background

and food allergies.

Published literature includes case reports and small series of patients; whether this relates to endoscopy underreporting or to the true rarity of the condition is unclear.

Innovations and breakthroughs

and its possible link with IBD.

This study sheds light on colonic NLH in adults, in terms of prevalence, genderdistribution and association with known diseases. The most relevant result of our study is the identification of NLH as a putative marker of low-grade inflammation in a subset of irritable bowel syndrome (IBS) cases.

Applications

Diffuse colonic NLH could be a marker of low-grade inflammation in a conspicuous subset of IBS patients and could constitute a link between a subset of IBS cases and IBD.

Peer-review

The authors conclude that colonic NLH could be a marker of low-grade inflammation in a subset of patients with IBS. The point of view is interesting.

REFERENCES

- Howat ABK, Douce G. The Royal College of Pathologists. In: Histopathology and cytopathology of limited or no clinical value. 2nd ed. London: RCPath, 2005
- 2 Hazewinkel Y, Dekker E. Colonoscopy: basic principles and novel techniques. *Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2011; 8: 554-564 [PMID: 21894202 DOI: 10.1038/nrgastro.2011.141]
- 3 Hirata I, Nakagawa Y, Ohkubo M, Yahagi N, Yao K. Usefulness of magnifying narrow-band imaging endoscopy for the diagnosis of gastric and colorectal lesions. *Digestion* 2012; 85: 74-79 [PMID: 22269282 DOI: 10.1159/000334642]
- 4 **Cheon JH**. Advances in the Endoscopic Assessment of Inflammatory Bowel Diseases: Cooperation between Endoscopic and Pathologic Evaluations. *J Pathol Transl Med* 2015; **49**: 209-217 [PMID: 26018512 DOI: 10.4132/jptm.2015.04.09]
- 5 Langman JM, Rowland R. The number and distribution of lymphoid follicles in the human large intestine. *J Anat* 1986; 149: 189-194 [PMID: 3693106]
- 6 Krauss E, Konturek P, Maiss J, Kressel J, Schulz U, Hahn EG, Neurath MF, Raithel M. Clinical significance of lymphoid hyperplasia of the lower gastrointestinal tract. *Endoscopy* 2010; 42: 334-337 [PMID: 20178073 DOI: 10.1055/s-0029-1243936]
- 7 Olmez S, Aslan M, Yavuz A, Bulut G, Dulger AC. Diffuse nodular lymphoid hyperplasia of the small bowel associated with common variable immunodeficiency and giardiasis: a rare case report. *Wien Klin Wochenschr* 2014; **126**: 294-297 [PMID: 24647448 DOI: 10.1007/s00508-014-0525-5]
- 8 **Sharma M**, Goyal A, Ecka RS. An unusual cause of recurrent diarrhea with small intestinal "polyposis". Nodular lymphoid hyperplasia of the small intestine. *Gastroenterology* 2012; **142**: e8-e9 [PMID: 22546370 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2011.11.053]

Piscaglia AC et al. Nodular lymphoid hyperplasia in IBS

- 9 Iacono G, Ravelli A, Di Prima L, Scalici C, Bolognini S, Chiappa S, Pirrone G, Licastri G, Carroccio A. Colonic lymphoid nodular hyperplasia in children: relationship to food hypersensitivity. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2007; **5**: 361-366 [PMID: 17368236 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2006.12.010]
- 10 Riddlesberger MM, Lebenthal E. Nodular colonic mucosa of childhood: normal or pathologic? *Gastroenterology* 1980; 79: 265-270 [PMID: 7399229]
- 11 Kokkonen J, Arvonen M, Vähäsalo P, Karttunen TJ. Intestinal immune activation in juvenile idiopathic arthritis and connective tissue disease. *Scand J Rheumatol* 2007; **36**: 386-389 [PMID: 17963169 DOI: 10.1080/03009740701394005]
- Kokkonen J, Karttunen TJ. Lymphonodular hyperplasia on the mucosa of the lower gastrointestinal tract in children: an indication of enhanced immune response? *J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr* 2002; 34: 42-46 [PMID: 11753163]
- 13 Kokkonen J, Tikkanen S, Karttunen TJ, Savilahti E. A similar high level of immunoglobulin A and immunoglobulin G class milk antibodies and increment of local lymphoid tissue on the duodenal mucosa in subjects with cow's milk allergy and recurrent abdominal pains. *Pediatr Allergy Immunol* 2002; 13: 129-136 [PMID: 12000486]
- 14 Wakefield AJ, Murch SH, Anthony A, Linnell J, Casson DM, Malik M, Berelowitz M, Dhillon AP, Thomson MA, Harvey P, Valentine A, Davies SE, Walker-Smith JA. Ileal-lymphoid-nodular hyperplasia, non-specific colitis, and pervasive developmental disorder in children. *Lancet* 1998; **351**: 637-641 [PMID: 9500320]
- 15 Furlano RI, Anthony A, Day R, Brown A, McGarvey L, Thomson MA, Davies SE, Berelowitz M, Forbes A, Wakefield AJ, Walker-Smith JA, Murch SH. Colonic CD8 and gamma delta T-cell infiltration with epithelial damage in children with autism. J Pediatr 2001; 138: 366-372 [PMID: 11241044 DOI: 10.1067/mpd.2001.111323]
- 16 Gurkan OE, Yilmaz G, Aksu AU, Demirtas Z, Akyol G, Dalgic B. Colonic lymphoid nodular hyperplasia in childhood: causes of familial Mediterranean fever need extra attention. *J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr* 2013; 57: 817-821 [PMID: 24280993 DOI: 10.1097/MPG.0b013e3182a9083b]
- 17 Vossenkämper A, Fikree A, Fairclough PD, Aziz Q, MacDonald TT. Colonic lymphoid nodular hyperplasia in an adolescent. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 2011; 53: 684-686 [PMID: 22134496 DOI: 10.1097/MPG.0b013e318223650a]
- 18 Albuquerque A. Nodular lymphoid hyperplasia in the gastrointestinal tract in adult patients: A review. World J Gastrointest Endosc 2014; 6: 534-540 [PMID: 25400867 DOI: 10.4253/wjge. v6.i11.534]
- 19 Venkitachalam PS, Hirsch E, Elguezabal A, Littman L. Multiple lymphoid polyposis and familial polyposis of the colon: a genetic relationship. *Dis Colon Rectum* 1978; 21: 336-341 [PMID: 699723]
- 20 Molaci M, Kaboli A, Fathi AM, Mashayekhi R, Pejhan S, Zali MR. Nodular lymphoid hyperplasia in common variable immunodeficiency syndrome mimicking familial adenomatous polyposis on endoscopy. *Indian J Pathol Microbiol* 2009; 52: 530-533 [PMID: 19805964 DOI: 10.4103/0377-4929.56152]
- 21 Bronen RA, Glick SN, Teplick SK. Diffuse lymphoid follicles of the colon associated with colonic carcinoma. *AJR Am J Roentgenol* 1984; 142: 105-109 [PMID: 6606941 DOI: 10.2214/ajr.142.1.105]
- 22 Kenney PJ, Koehler RE, Shackelford GD. The clinical significance of large lymphoid follicles of the colon. *Radiology* 1982; 142: 41-46 [PMID: 7053546 DOI: 10.1148/radiology.142.1.7053546]
- 23 Jones SE, Fuks Z, Bull M, Kadin ME, Dorfman RF, Kaplan HS, Rosenberg SA, Kim H. Non-Hodgkin's lymphomas. IV. Clinicopathologic correlation in 405 cases. *Cancer* 1973; 31: 806-823 [PMID: 4574662]
- 24 Fernandes BJ, Amato D, Goldfinger M. Diffuse lymphomatous polyposis of the gastrointestinal tract. A case report with immunohistochemical studies. *Gastroenterology* 1985; 88: 1267-1270 [PMID: 3884429]
- 25 De Smet AA, Tubergen DG, Martel W. Nodular lymphoid

hyperplasia of the colon associated with dysgammaglobulinemia. *AJR Am J Roentgenol* 1976; **127**: 515-517 [PMID: 183544 DOI: 10.2214/ajr.127.3.515]

- 26 Postgate A, Despott E, Talbot I, Phillips R, Aylwin A, Fraser C. An unusual cause of diarrhea: diffuse intestinal nodular lymphoid hyperplasia in association with selective immunoglobulin A deficiency (with video). *Gastrointest Endosc* 2009; **70**: 168-169; discussion 169 [PMID: 19559841 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2009.03.004]
- 27 Kabir SI, Kabir SA, Richards R, Ahmed J, MacFie J. Pathophysiology, clinical presentation and management of diversion colitis: a review of current literature. *Int J Surg* 2014; 12: 1088-1092 [PMID: 25150021 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijsu.2014.08.350]
- 28 Venter C, Arshad SH. Epidemiology of food allergy. *Pediatr Clin* North Am 2011; 58: 327-349, ix [PMID: 21453805 DOI: 10.1016/ j.pcl.2011.02.011]
- 29 Tokuhara D, Watanabe K, Okano Y, Tada A, Yamato K, Mochizuki T, Takaya J, Yamano T, Arakawa T. Wireless capsule endoscopy in pediatric patients: the first series from Japan. *J Gastroenterol* 2010; 45: 683-691 [PMID: 20143103 DOI: 10.1007/s00535-010-0209-5]
- 30 Colarian J, Calzada R, Jaszewski R. Nodular lymphoid hyperplasia of the colon in adults: is it common? *Gastrointest Endosc* 1990; 36: 421-422 [PMID: 2210298]
- 31 Kagueyama FM, Nicoli FM, Bonatto MW, Orso IR. Importance of biopsies and histological evaluation in patients with chronic diarrhea and normal colonoscopies. *Arq Bras Cir Dig* 2014; 27: 184-187 [PMID: 25184768]
- 32 Longstreth GF, Thompson WG, Chey WD, Houghton LA, Mearin F, Spiller RC. Functional bowel disorders. *Gastroenterology* 2006; 130: 1480-1491 [PMID: 16678561 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro. 2005.11.061]
- 33 Mansueto P, Iacono G, Seidita A, D'Alcamo A, Sprini D, Carroccio A. Review article: intestinal lymphoid nodular hyperplasia in children--the relationship to food hypersensitivity. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2012; 35: 1000-1009 [PMID: 22428565 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2036.2012.05062.x]
- 34 Carroccio A, Iacono G, Di Prima L, Ravelli A, Pirrone G, Cefalù AB, Florena AM, Rini GB, Di Fede G. Food hypersensitivity as a cause of rectal bleeding in adults. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2009; 7: 120-122 [PMID: 19124116 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2008.07.029]
- 35 Rietschel RL, Fowler JF, Warshaw EM, Belsito D, DeLeo VA, Maibach HI, Marks JG, Mathias CG, Pratt M, Sasseville D, Storrs FJ, Taylor JS, Zug KA. Detection of nickel sensitivity has increased in North American patch-test patients. *Dermatitis* 2008; 19: 16-19 [PMID: 18346391]
- 36 Di Gioacchino M, Ricciardi L, De Pità O, Minelli M, Patella V, Voltolini S, Di Rienzo V, Braga M, Ballone E, Mangifesta R, Schiavino D. Nickel oral hyposensitization in patients with systemic nickel allergy syndrome. *Ann Med* 2014; 46: 31-37 [PMID: 24256166 DOI: 10.3109/07853890.2013.861158]
- 37 Di Gioacchino M, Boscolo P, Cavallucci E, Verna N, Di Stefano F, Di Sciascio M, Masci S, Andreassi M, Sabbioni E, Angelucci D, Conti P. Lymphocyte subset changes in blood and gastrointestinal mucosa after oral nickel challenge in nickel-sensitized women. *Contact Dermatitis* 2000; 43: 206-211 [PMID: 11011919]
- 38 Stejskal V, Reynolds T, Bjørklund G. Increased frequency of delayed type hypersensitivity to metals in patients with connective tissue disease. *J Trace Elem Med Biol* 2015; 31: 230-236 [PMID: 25636536 DOI: 10.1016/j.jtemb.2015.01.001]
- 39 Stejskal V, Ockert K, Bjørklund G. Metal-induced inflammation triggers fibromyalgia in metal-allergic patients. *Neuro Endocrinol Lett* 2013; 34: 559-565 [PMID: 24378456]
- 40 Cazzato IA, Vadrucci E, Cammarota G, Minelli M, Gasbarrini A. Lactose intolerance in systemic nickel allergy syndrome. Int J Immunopathol Pharmacol 2011; 24: 535-537 [PMID: 21658331]
- 41 Chey WD, Kurlander J, Eswaran S. Irritable bowel syndrome: a clinical review. JAMA 2015; 313: 949-958 [PMID: 25734736 DOI: 10.1001/jama.2015.0954]
- 42 Sainsbury A, Sanders DS, Ford AC. Prevalence of irritable bowel syndrome-type symptoms in patients with celiac disease: a metaanalysis. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2013; 11: 359-365.e1 [PMID:

23246645 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2012.11.033]

- Halpin SJ, Ford AC. Prevalence of symptoms meeting criteria for irritable bowel syndrome in inflammatory bowel disease: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2012; 107: 1474-1482 [PMID: 22929759 DOI: 10.1038/ajg.2012.260]
- 44 Dai C, Jiang M. The incidence and risk factors of post-infectious irritable bowel syndrome: a meta-analysis. *Hepatogastroenterology* 2012; 59: 67-72 [PMID: 22024145 DOI: 10.5754/hge10796]
- 45 Barbara G, Cremon C, Carini G, Bellacosa L, Zecchi L, De Giorgio R, Corinaldesi R, Stanghellini V. The immune system in irritable bowel syndrome. *J Neurogastroenterol Motil* 2011; 17: 349-359 [PMID: 22148103 DOI: 10.5056/jnm.2011.17.4.349]
- 46 Piche T, Barbara G, Aubert P, Bruley des Varannes S, Dainese R, Nano JL, Cremon C, Stanghellini V, De Giorgio R, Galmiche JP, Neunlist M. Impaired intestinal barrier integrity in the colon of patients with irritable bowel syndrome: involvement of soluble mediators. *Gut* 2009; **58**: 196-201 [PMID: 18824556 DOI: 10.1136/gut.2007.140806]
- 47 Cremon C, Carini G, Wang B, Vasina V, Cogliandro RF, De Giorgio R, Stanghellini V, Grundy D, Tonini M, De Ponti F, Corinaldesi R, Barbara G. Intestinal serotonin release, sensory neuron activation, and abdominal pain in irritable bowel syndrome. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2011; **106**: 1290-1298 [PMID: 21427712 DOI: 10.1038/ajg.2011.86]
- 48 Foley S, Garsed K, Singh G, Duroudier NP, Swan C, Hall IP, Zaitoun A, Bennett A, Marsden C, Holmes G, Walls A, Spiller RC. Impaired uptake of serotonin by platelets from patients with irritable bowel syndrome correlates with duodenal immune activation. *Gastroenterology* 2011; 140: 1434-1443.e1 [PMID: 21315720 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2011.01.052]
- 49 Barbara G, Wang B, Stanghellini V, de Giorgio R, Cremon C, Di Nardo G, Trevisani M, Campi B, Geppetti P, Tonini M, Bunnett NW, Grundy D, Corinaldesi R. Mast cell-dependent excitation of visceral-nociceptive sensory neurons in irritable bowel syndrome. *Gastroenterology* 2007; **132**: 26-37 [PMID: 17241857 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2006.11.039]
- 50 Cenac N, Andrews CN, Holzhausen M, Chapman K, Cottrell G, Andrade-Gordon P, Steinhoff M, Barbara G, Beck P, Bunnett NW, Sharkey KA, Ferraz JG, Shaffer E, Vergnolle N. Role for protease activity in visceral pain in irritable bowel syndrome. *J Clin Invest* 2007; **117**: 636-647 [PMID: 17304351 DOI: 10.1172/JCI29255]
- 51 Buhner S, Li Q, Berger T, Vignali S, Barbara G, De Giorgio R, Stanghellini V, Schemann M. Submucous rather than myenteric neurons are activated by mucosal biopsy supernatants from irritable bowel syndrome patients. *Neurogastroenterol Motil* 2012; 24: e1134-e1572 [PMID: 22963673 DOI: 10.1111/nmo.12011]
- 52 Balestra B, Vicini R, Cremon C, Zecchi L, Dothel G, Vasina V, De Giorgio R, Paccapelo A, Pastoris O, Stanghellini V, Corinaldesi R, De Ponti F, Tonini M, Barbara G. Colonic mucosal mediators from patients with irritable bowel syndrome excite enteric cholinergic motor neurons. *Neurogastroenterol Motil* 2012; 24: e1118-e1570 [PMID: 22937879 DOI: 10.1111/nmo.12000]
- 53 Zucchelli M, Camilleri M, Andreasson AN, Bresso F, Dlugosz A, Halfvarson J, Törkvist L, Schmidt PT, Karling P, Ohlsson B, Duerr RH, Simren M, Lindberg G, Agreus L, Carlson P, Zinsmeister AR, D'Amato M. Association of TNFSF15 polymorphism with irritable bowel syndrome. *Gut* 2011; **60**: 1671-1677 [PMID: 21636646 DOI: 10.1136/gut.2011.241877]
- 54 Swan C, Duroudier NP, Campbell E, Zaitoun A, Hastings M, Dukes GE, Cox J, Kelly FM, Wilde J, Lennon MG, Neal KR, Whorwell PJ, Hall IP, Spiller RC. Identifying and testing candidate genetic polymorphisms in the irritable bowel syndrome (IBS): association with TNFSF15 and TNFα. *Gut* 2013; **62**: 985-994 [PMID: 22684480 DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2011-301213]
- 55 Piche T, Saint-Paul MC, Dainese R, Marine-Barjoan E, Iannelli A, Montoya ML, Peyron JF, Czerucka D, Cherikh F, Filippi J, Tran A, Hébuterne X. Mast cells and cellularity of the colonic mucosa correlated with fatigue and depression in irritable bowel syndrome. *Gut* 2008; **57**: 468-473 [PMID: 18194987 DOI: 10.1136/gut.2007.127068]

56 Vivinus-Nébot M, Dainese R, Anty R, Saint-Paul MC, Nano JL, Gonthier N, Marjoux S, Frin-Mathy G, Bernard G, Hébuterne X, Tran A, Theodorou V, Piche T. Combination of allergic factors can worsen diarrheic irritable bowel syndrome: role of barrier defects and mast cells. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2012; 107: 75-81 [PMID: Piscaglia AC et al. Nodular lymphoid hyperplasia in IBS

21931380 DOI: 10.1038/ajg.2011.315]

57 Simrén M, Barbara G, Flint HJ, Spiegel BM, Spiller RC, Vanner S, Verdu EF, Whorwell PJ, Zoetendal EG. Intestinal microbiota in functional bowel disorders: a Rome foundation report. *Gut* 2013; 62: 159-176 [PMID: 22730468 DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2012-302167]

P- Reviewer: Kamiya T S- Editor: Yu J L- Editor: A E- Editor: Zhang FF







Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/ Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v22.i46.10210 World J Gastroenterol 2016 December 14; 22(46): 10210-10218 ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online) © 2016 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Case Control Study

Effect of switching from treatment with nucleos(t)ide analogs to pegylated interferon α -2a on virological and serological responses in chronic hepatitis B patients

Li-Ting He, Xiao-Guang Ye, Xiao-Yuan Zhou

Li-Ting He, Xiao-Guang Ye, Xiao-Yuan Zhou, Department of Infectious Diseases, The Second Affiliated Hospital of Guangzhou Medical University, Guangzhou 510260, Guangdong Province, China

Author contributions: Ye XG designed the research and critically reviewed the manuscript for important intellectual content; He LT performed the search, analyzed the data and wrote the manuscript; Zhou XY collected the cases.

Institutional review board statement: The study was reviewed and approved by the Second Affiliated Hospital of Guangzhou Medical University Institutional Review Board.

Informed consent statement: All study participants, or their legal guardian, provided informed written consent before study enrollment.

Conflict-of-interest statement: The authors declare no conflicts.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons. org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Manuscript source: Unsolicited manuscript

Correspondence to: Dr. Xiao-Guang Ye, Department of Infectious Diseases, The Second Affiliated Hospital of Guangzhou Medical University, Guangzhou 510260, Guangdong Province, China. yexiaoguang@126.com Telephone: +86-20-34152236 Fax: +86-20-34153982

Received: June 20, 2016 Peer-review started: June 22, 2016 First decision: July 29, 2016 Revised: August 25, 2016 Accepted: September 28, 2016 Article in press: September 28, 2016 Published online: December 14, 2016

Abstract

AIM

To investigate the efficacy of switching to pegylated interferon- α -2a (PegIFN α -2a) treatment in nucleos(t)ide analog (NA)-treated chronic hepatitis B (CHB) responder patients.

METHODS

A 48-wk prospective and retrospective treatment trial of NA-treated CHB patients who had received entecavir (ETV) for at least 48 wk and had serum hepatitis B virus (HBV)-DNA < 500 IU/mL, serum hepatitis B envelope antigen (HBeAg) < 100 S/CO, serum alanine aminotransferase, and aspartate aminotransferase levels < 2 × the upper limit of normal of 40 IU/L was performed. The effects on virological and serological responses and adverse reactions to 0.5 mg daily ETV for 48 wk *vs* switching to PegIFN α -2a were compared. Forty-four patients were randomized to be switched from NA treatment to the PegIFN α -2a group, and 44 patients were simultaneously randomized to the ETV group.

RESULTS

After 48 wk of therapy, the decrease in hepatitis B surface antigen (HBsAg) levels was greater in the PegIFN α -2a group than in the ETV group (3.1340 log₁₀ IU/mL *vs* 3.6950 log₁₀ IU/mL, P = 0.00). Seven patients who were anti-HBs-positive at baseline achieved HBsAg loss when switched to PegIFN α -2a (15.91% *vs* 0%,



WJG | www.wjgnet.com

P = 0.018). The HBeAg serological conversion rate was higher in the PeqIFN α -2a group than in the ETV group; however, the difference was not significant because of the small sample sizes (34.38% vs 21.88%, P = 0.232). In the PegIFN α -2a group, patients with HBsAg levels < 1500 IU/mL at baseline had higher HBeAg seroconversion and HBsAg loss rates at week 48 than those with HBsAg levels \geq 1500 IU/mL (HBeAg seroconversion: 17.86% vs 62.5%, P = 0.007; HBsAg loss: 41.67% vs 6.25%, P = 0.016). Moreover, patients with HBsAg levels < 1500 IU/mL at week 24 had higher HBsAg loss rates after therapy than those with HBsAg levels \geq 1500 IU/mL (36.84% vs 0%, P = 0.004). However, there were no statistically significant differences in HBeAg seroconversion rates (47.06% vs 25.93%, *P* = 0.266).

CONCLUSION

NA-treated CHB patients switched to sequential PegIFN $\alpha\text{-}2a$ achieved highly potent treatment termination safely.

Key words: Chronic hepatitis B; Entecavir; pegylated interferon- α -2a; Sequential therapy; Effect

© **The Author(s) 2016.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core tip: It is necessary to achieve termination safely with minimal risk of long-term resistance in nucleos(t)ide analog (NA)-treated chronic hepatitis B (CHB) patients. We studied NA-treated CHB patients who stopped NAs safely and achieved sustained virological and immunological responses after treatment. We clarified the efficacy and safety of sequential 48-wk pegylated interferon- α -2a (PegIFN α -2a) in NA-treated CHB patients during and after treatment termination. Patients were selected based on the initial serum hepatitis B surface antigen (HBsAg) level. PegIFN α -2a was adjusted based on HBsAg levels at 24 wk of treatment, an important and significant factor in achieving treatment termination safely with immune control.

He LT, Ye XG, Zhou XY. Effect of switching from treatment with nucleos(t)ide analogues to pegylated interferon α -2a on virological and serological response in chronic hepatitis B patients. *World J Gastroenterol* 2016; 22(46): 10210-10218 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v22/i46/10210.htm DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v22. i46.10210

INTRODUCTION

Hepatitis B virus (HBV) infection is a significant clinical problem globally: it is estimated that approximately 240 million individuals are chronically infected with HBV worldwide^[1]. The prevalence of HBV varies

markedly among regions. China is an intermediate endemic area. According to a national epidemiological survey in China in 2006, among those aged 1-59 years, 7.18% are hepatitis B surface antigen (HBsAg)positive^[2]. There are approximately 100 million individuals living with chronic hepatitis B (CHB) virus infection in China, including approximately 2 million patients. Approximately 20%-30% of chronically infected persons will develop cirrhosis and/or hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC). The World Health Organization (WHO) estimates that 0.65 million deaths annually are attributable to complications from hepatitis B, including cirrhosis and HCC, which are strongly associated with hepatitis B envelope antigen (HBeAg) positivity and serum HBV DNA replication^[1]. Additionally, patients who are persistently HBeAgpositive are at higher risk of developing liver cirrhosis (3.5% per year)^[1]. Therefore, standardized antiviral treatment is required to improve the prognosis of CHB. Current anti-HBV drugs are divided into two types. One of these is nucleoside analogs (NAs), a large class of direct antiviral drugs. In clinical practice, the duration of treatment of CHB with NAs is unclear. The role of NAs is to inhibit replication of the HBV DNA and reduce the amount of HBV in the blood to achieve therapeutic improvement. However, NAs have a single target and replace the nucleoside during HBV polymerase extension, resulting in termination of chain extension during the viral replication process, thus inhibiting viral replication^[3,4]. Therefore, treatment with NAs greatly inhibits viral replication and relieves inflammation but does not eliminate the virus completely nor produces enduring HBeAg seroconversion or HBsAg clearance. Most importantly, NAs almost always produce drug resistance and relapse after discontinuation of therapy. Therefore, to reduce the risk of liver function decompensation, liver cirrhosis and HCC progression in patients with hepatitis B, a long-term antiviral treatment to inhibit HBV is required.

NAs are used widely (about 90%) in CHB treatment in China. However, not all patients are willing to continue taking NAs continuously, despite concerns regarding relapse after treatment, and hope to be able to stop taking the medicine safely. Realizing these hopes represents a tremendous challenge for NA-treated CHB patients.

Interferon (IFN) is another type of drug that has antiviral activity and acts as an immune regulator by inducing host cytokines to inhibit multiple aspects of viral replication. The European Association for the Study of the Liver (EASL)^[5] has indicated that IFN therapy is the preferred treatment option for HBeAg-positive patients who achieve stable HBeAg seroconversion and for HBeAg-negative patients who achieve sustained response after therapy. An advantage of IFN is that the duration of IFN anti-HBV treatment has a clear treatment course, which is widely used for the clinical treatment of CHB. Therefore, recent research has focused on a combination therapy

He LT et al. Switching to PegIFNa-2a in NA-treated CHB patients



Figure 1 Trial design. HBV: Hepatitis B virus; CHB: Chronic hepatitis B; HBeAg: Hepatitis B envelope antigen; ULN: Upper limit of normal; ALT: Alanine aminotransferase; PegIFNα-2a: Pegylated interferon-α-2a; ETV: Entecavir; Qd: Quaque die; Po: Peros.

of IFN and NAs to exploit the antiviral and immune regulation effects of these drugs. The combination of NAs with IFN improves interferon tolerance, inhibits covalently closed circular DNA (cccDNA) transcription, improves the initial response rate, prevents or delays the generation of NA-resistant mutations and prevents the generation of multidrug-resistant mutations^[6]. Therefore, a clinical treatment regimen with a shorter course that allows CHB patients to stop NA treatment safely might be feasible. To ensure that CHB patients who were treated with NAs can safely stop taking NAs and obtain lasting immune control, the Expert Meeting of China in 2013^[7] suggested that CHB patients treated with NAs should switch to pegylated interferon (Peg-IFN) or pursue a combined treatment. NA-treated CHB patients who switch to IFN have been reported to achieve higher rates of sustained virological and serological responses than those continuing with NA monotherapy^[8,9]. However, supporting medical evidence from clinical trials or clinical, real-life data are lacking.

To help NA-treated CHB patients stop NAs safely and achieve sustained virological and immunological responses after treatment, we investigated the efficacy and safety of switching NA-treated CHB patients to sequential 48-wk PegIFN α -2a by observing the virological response, HBsAg or HBeAg seroconversion rates, and other indicators.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study population

This study was a 48-wk prospective and retrospective treatment trial comparing the efficacy and safety of 0.5 mg entecavir (ETV, Baraclude, Bristol-Myers Squibb) daily for 48 wk compared to switching to pegylated interferon alpha-2a (PegIFN α -2a, F. Hoffmann-La Roche Ltd, Basel, Switzerland). All patents were followed up for 24 wk (Figure 1). Patients assigned to PegIFN α -2a received 180 µg/wk for 48 wk, with the first 12 wk overlapping with 0.5 mg daily ETV. Patients assigned to the ETV group continued with ETV monotherapy. A total of 88 patients who had received

ETV treatment for at least 48 wk were recruited from the Second Hospital affiliated with Guangzhou Medical University between January 1, 2013, and December 31, 2015. Patients were randomized to receive PegIFN α -2a 180 μ g/wk or continue 0.5 mg daily ETV for 48 wk. Eligible patients were HBsAg-positive, had serum HBV-DNA < 500 IU/mL, serum HBeAg < 100 S/CO, and serum alanine aminotransferase (ALT) and aspartate aminotransferase (AST) levels $< 2 \times$ the upper limit of normal (ULN) of 40 IU/L. Patients with decompensated cirrhosis and HCC were excluded; as were patients co-infected with hepatitis A, C, or D; those who had been pre-treated with other antivirals; and patients with a history or evidence of other chronic liver diseases, including autoimmune hepatitis or alcohol liver disease.

Curative effect

HBeAg seroconversion was defined as HBeAg loss (HBeAg < 1.0 S/CO) and HBeAb positivity (HBeAb > 1.0 S/CO). HBsAg loss was defined as HBsAg < 0.05 IU/L. HBsAg seroconversion was defined as HBsAg loss and HBsAb positivity (HBsAb >10.0 IU/L).

Observation methods

Clinical examination and routine laboratory tests were performed at the beginning of therapy, at 4, 8, 12, 24, 36, and 48 wk during antiviral therapy and at followup at 12 and 24 wk after therapy. Biochemical [serum AST, ALT, creatinine (Cr), and glucose (Glu)] and virological parameters (HBeAg, HBAb, HBcAb status and HBV DNA levels) were measured at each visit. Serum HBV DNA was detected using either a standard generic HBV DNA assay (Da An Gene, normal level of HBV DNA < 500 IU/mL) or the COBAS TaqMan HBV Test (Roche Molecular Diagnostics, Pleasanton, CA, United States). HBeAg, HBeAb, HBcAb status was detected using chemiluminescence measurements. The laboratory technicians were unaware of the trial. The PegIFN α -2a group was divided into an HBsAg < 1500 IU/mL group and an HBsAg \geq 1500 IU/mL group based on the HBsAg level at baseline and after 24 wk of therapy.



| Table 1 Patient demographie | cs and baseline characteristics | | |
|-----------------------------|------------------------------------|-----------------------------------|----------------|
| | PegIFNα-2a | ETV | <i>P</i> value |
| Age (yr), mean | 35.41 (95%CI: 32.68-39.03) | 35.43 (95%CI: 32.42-38.43) | 0.8321 |
| Male | 62.86% | 68.57% | 0.615^{2} |
| ALT (U/L), mean | 34.60 (95%CI: 30.31-38.89) | 33.06 (95%CI: 30.15-35.96) | 0.745^{1} |
| HBsAg (IU/mL), mean | 6168.8630 (95%CI: 3841.12-8496.60) | 5879.4557(95%CI: 3643.06-8115.85) | 0.960^{1} |
| HBeAg (+) | 29/44 (65.91%) | (27/44) 61.36% | 0.658^{2} |

| $\alpha = 0.05.^{-1}$ | Non-parametric Wilcoxon test; | ² Pearson's χ^2 tes | t. ALT: Alanine | aminotransferase; | HBsAg: H | lepatitis B s | surface antigen; | HBeAg: | Hepatitis B |
|-----------------------|----------------------------------|-------------------------------------|-----------------|-------------------|----------|---------------|------------------|--------|-------------|
| envelope a | ntigen; PegIFNα-2a: Pegylated ir | terferon- α -2a; E | TV: Entecavir. | | | | | | |



Figure 2 Hepatitis B surface antigen levels in patients in the PEGylated interferon α -2a group and the entecavir group across therapy. HBsAg: Hepatitis B surface antigen; ETV: Entecavir.

Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was conducted using SPSS version 13.0 software. Quantitative data were analyzed by a *t*-test or non-parametric Wilcoxon test as appropriate, and qualitative data were analyzed by Pearson's χ^2 test and Fisher's exact test.

RESULTS

Baseline in the PegIFN α -2a and ETV groups

There were 88 patients in the trial (PegIFN α -2a, n = 44; ETV, n = 44), and all patients accepted the regular 48 wk of treatment and 24 wk of follow-up. The mean age was 35.41 years (95%CI: 32.68-39.03) in the PegIFN α -2a group and 35.43 years (95%CI: 32.42-38.43) in the ETV group. There were no statistically significant differences in age, gender or serum biochemical data between the two groups (Table 1).

Efficacy

HBsAg levels in patients in the PegIFN α -2a group (Figure 2): During therapy, HBsAg levels were 3.7902, 3.5405, 3.4661, 3.2511, and 3.1340 log₁₀ IU/mL at baseline and weeks 12, 24, 36, and 48 of therapy, respectively. However, the changes were small in the ETV group. After 48 wk of therapy, the decrease in HBsAg levels was greater in the PegIFN α -2a group

Table 2 Patient demographics after 48 wk of therapy

| | PegIFNα-2a | ΕΤν | <i>P</i> value |
|----------------------------|------------|--------|----------------|
| HBsAg levels (log10 IU/mL) | 3.1340 | 3.6950 | 0.00^{1} |
| HBsAg loss rate (%) | 15.91 | 0.0000 | 0.018^{2} |

α = 0.05. ¹Non-parametric Wilcoxon test; ²Pearson's χ^2 test. HBsAg: Hepatitis B surface antigen; PegIFNα-2a: PEGylated interferon-α-2a; ETV: Entecavir.

than in the ETV group (3.1340 \log_{10} IU/mL *vs* 3.6950 \log_{10} IU/mL, *P* = 0.00, Table 2).

Serological response (Table 2): In the PegIFN α -2a group, seven of the 44 patients achieved HBsAg loss, and one patient exhibited HBsAg seroconversion. By contrast, no patients in the ETV group achieved HBsAg loss or HBsAg seroconversion after 48 wk of therapy. More patients attained HBsAg loss in the PegIFN α -2a group (15.91%) than in the ETV monotherapy group (15.91% vs 0%, P = 0.018). There were five and two individuals who remained HBeAg-positive and -negative at baseline, respectively. During the NA treatment period, both the PegIFN α -2a and ETV groups experienced HBeAg seroconversion. The HBeAg serological conversion rate was higher in the PegIFN α -2a group than in the ETV group, although the difference was not significant because of the small sample sizes (34.38% vs 21.88%, P = 0.232).

As the treatment time increased, the decrease in HBsAg levels became more obvious. Significantly more patients (Figures 3 and 4) in the PegIFN α -2a group had HBsAg levels of <100 IU/mL after treatment than before treatment (50.00% *vs* 9.09%, *P* = 0.00). Among patients with HBsAg levels < 1500 IU/mL, the percent changes were 72.73% *vs* 25.00%, *P* = 0.00, and in patients with HBsAg levels < 3000 IU/mL, the percent changes were 86.36% *vs* 36.36%, *P* = 0.00.

Early HBsAg decline predicted the response at week 48. The highest rates of HBeAg seroconversion and HBsAg loss were observed in patients with an HBsAg level < 100 IU/mL at week 24 (Figures 5 and 6). In the PegIFN α -2a group, patients with an HBsAg level < 100 IU/mL, an HBsAg level < 1500 IU/mL, or an HBsAg level < 3000 IU/mL achieved 50%, 42.2%, and 40.74% HBeAg seroconversion at week 48,





Figure 3 Change in hepatitis B surface antigen levels during PEGylated interferon α -2a sequential therapy. HBsAg: Hepatitis B surface antigen.

respectively.

In the PegIFN α -2a group, patients with an HBsAg level < 100 IU/mL, an HBsAg level < 1500 IU/mL, or an HBsAg level < 3000 IU/mL achieved 50%, 36.84% and 25.93% HBsAg loss at week 48, respectively.

In the PegIFN α -2a group, patients with an HBsAg level < 1500 IU/mL at baseline had higher HBeAg seroconversion and HBsAg loss rates at week 48 compared with those with an HBsAg level \geq 1500 IU/mL (HBeAg seroconversion: 62.5% *vs* 17.86%, *P* < 0.05; HBsAg loss: 41.67% *vs* 6.25%, *P* < 0.05). Moreover, those with an HBsAg level < 1500 IU/mL at week 24 had higher HBsAg loss rates after therapy compared with those with an HBsAg level \geq 1500 IU/mL (36.84% *vs* 0%, *P* < 0.05). However, the differences in HBeAg seroconversion between the groups were not significant (47.06% *vs* 25.93%, *P* > 0.05) (Table 3).

Off-treatment follow-up: Week 24 responders

During the 24-wk follow-up, all the patients who switched to PegIFN α -2a maintained HBV-DNA negative status and normal serum AST and ALT.

Thirty-five patients, including two who were HBeAg-positive after 48 wk of treatment with PegIFN α -2a, experienced HBeAg seroconversion during 24 wk of follow-up. The cumulative HBeAg seroconversion rate was 41.46%, whereas no patients achieved HBeAg seroconversion in the ETV group. However, the difference between the groups was not significant (41.46% vs 21.95%, P = 0.058).

The HBsAg level of one patient who lost HBsAg with PegIFN α -2a treatment for 48 wk was 0.67 IU/mL at the 24th wk of follow-up, even though the patient maintained HBeAg seroconversion, HBV-DNA negative status and normal serum ALT and AST.

One patient who received PegIFN α -2a developed a complication of hyperthyroidism during week 39, and the patient was not discontinued due to methimazole treatment.

Adverse events, including headache, dry mouth, weakness and decreases in leucocytes, erythrocytes, and platelets, occurred in the majority of patients. One



Figure 4 Proportion of patients in different hepatitis B surface antigen level groups during pegylated interferon α -2a sequential therapy. HBsAg: Hepatitis B surface antigen.

of the 35 patients in the PegIFN α -2a group had these adverse events, which were mild and had no effect on treatment progress. However, a minority of patients in the ETV group had the above-mentioned adverse events.

DISCUSSION

In our study, regardless of the baseline levels or HBeAg positivity or negativity of the two groups of CHB patients, HBV DNA was fully suppressed by 1-5 years of NA treatment. Despite this suppression, these patients remained HBeAg-positive, albeit at lower levels. Compared with ETV monotherapy, the addition of PegIFN α -2a for 48 wk, based on HBsAg-titer monitoring produced higher HBeAg seroconversion, greatly decreased HBsAg levels, and achieved HBsAg loss and even HBsAg seroconversion with no relapse after 24 wk of follow-up. These results are similar to Ouzan's report^[10].

The NEPTUNE study^[11] indicated that 14% of patients treated with PegIFN for one year had deferred HBeAg seroconversion, and 86% of the patients achieved HBeAg seroconversion during the therapy. In this study, the rate of HBeAg seroconversion was 21.95%, which lower than the rate after PegIFN α -2a treatment (36.59% vs 21.95%, P = 0.145). This result is consistent with previous research^[12] on ETV monotherapy. Moreover, we observed that PegIFN α -2a was effective even after treatment was terminated. The OSST study^[9] confirmed higher HBeAg seroconversion rates in the PegIFN α -2a group compared with the ETV group (14.9% vs 6.1%, P =0.0467). The differences in HBeAg seroconversion between the two groups were not significant, possibly because of the small sample size in our study.

HBsAg loss is considered the ultimate longterm goal of antiviral therapy by the Asian Pacific



Figure 5 The hepatitis B envelope antigen seroconversion proportion after treatment baseline at different levels of hepatitis B surface antigen at week 24 during pegylated interferon α -2a sequential therapy. HBsAg: Hepatitis B surface antigen.

Association for the Study of the Liver, EASL, and the American Association for the Study of the Liver^[5,13,14]. However, achieving HBsAg loss and sustained virological and serological responses is difficult with general treatment using NAs. The median number of years of NA treatment required for HBsAg loss is 52.2 years (interquartile range: 30.8-142.7)^[15]. In our study, 50% of patients exhibited a reduction of HBsAg levels to less than 100 IU/mL after PegIFN α -2a therapy, and 86.36% of patients had HBsAg levels < 1500 IU/mL. The level of serum HBsAg was predominantly and closely associated with intrahepatic cccDNA levels^[16]. HBsAg levels < 100 IU/mL at the end of the treatment indicated a sustained response to NA-induced HBeAg seroconversion^[17]. At the 3-year post-treatment follow-up, 52% of the patients with HBsAg levels < 10 IU/mL at the end of treatment achieved HBsAg loss^[18]. Moreover, IFN has both antiviral and immunomodulatory effects, and thus decreases the amount of cells containing the HBV intrahepatic cccDNA molecule, which is required for sustained, chronic HBV infection^[6]. Therefore, patients switching to PegIFN α -2a might achieve permanent HBeAg seroconversion and even achieve HBsAg loss to reach the ideal endpoint of therapy. Experts have suggested that to resolve long-term medication problems, and achieve higher HBeAg seroconversion, HBsAg loss and sustained response after treatment termination, NA-treated CHB patients should receive the combination therapy or switch to PegINF^[7].

Shouval *et al*^[19] demonstrated that after 48 wk of ETV treatment alone and 24 wk of follow-up, the virological relapse rate was 97%, and 39% of patients had serum ALT of less than $1 \times ULN$. Additionally, Seto



Figure 6 The proportion of hepatitis B surface antigen loss after treatment with pegylated interferon α -2a at different levels of hepatitis B surface antigen at week 24. HBsAg: Hepatitis B surface antigen.

et al^{20]} indicated that after 24 and 48 wk of entecavir treatment, 74.2% and 91.4% of patients suffered recurrent viremia. Chaung *et al*⁽²¹⁾ reported that 90% of patients experienced virological relapse once they discontinued NA therapy. In the present study, during the 24-wk follow-up, none of the patients who switched to PegIFN α -2a became HBV-DNA positive or had abnormal serum AST or ALT.

During the follow-up period, one of the patients in the PegIFN α -2a group who exhibited HBsAg loss at the end of the 48 wk of treatment became HBsAg-positive and exhibited an increased level of HBsAg. During the 24-wk follow-up period, this patient maintained normal hepatic function, and the level of HBV-DNA was below the detection limit of 0.67 IU/mL cccDNA remaining in the liver cells of patients who undergo HBsAg loss^[22]. Additionally, in HBsAg-loss patients, the median interval between HBV DNA measurements was 48 mo. The viral load in the extrahepatic reservoir decreases with time^[22]. Therefore, we considered the patient to be at a persistent low HBsAg level and closely monitored the patient's liver function and HBV DNA levels.

HBeAg seroconversion and lower HBsAg levels can reduce the incidence of liver cirrhosis and liver cancer^[23,24]. Compared with ETV monotherapy, PegIFN α -2a not only increased the serological conversion rate, but also produced an ideal effect after treatment termination, which has a persistent influence on the immune function of patients who achieved HBeAg seroconversion. Additionally, IFN prevents the formation of HBV proteins and depletes the intrahepatic cccDNA pool, which results in further HBsAg loss compared with ETV alone^[10].

Therefore, the results indicated that the application

Table 3 Predictors of response to PEGylated interferon- α -2a using baseline parameters and hepatitis B surface antigen levels at week 24

| | HBsAg loss a | t week 48 | HBeAg seroconversion at week 48 | | |
|--|---------------|-------------|---------------------------------|--------------------|--|
| | n | P value | п | P value | |
| HBsAg level < 1500 IU/mL at baseline | 5/12 (41.67%) | 0.0161 | 10/16 (62.5%) | 0.007^{1} | |
| HBsAg level ≥ 1500 IU/mL at baseline | 2/32 (6.25%) | | 5/28 (17.86%) | | |
| HBeAg-positive at baseline | 5/29 (17.24%) | 1.000^{1} | - | - | |
| HBeAg-negative at baseline | 2/15 (13.33%) | | - | | |
| HBsAg level < 1500 IU/mL at week 24 | 7/19 (36.84%) | 0.004^{1} | 8/17 (47.06%) | 0.266 ¹ | |
| HBsAg level \geq 1500 IU/mL at week 24 | 0/25 (0) | | 7/27 (25.93%) | | |

¹Continuity correction, α = 0.05. HBsAg: Hepatitis B surface antigen; HBeAg: Hepatitis B envelope antigen.

of PegIFN α -2a induces a strong cccDNA decline and low serum levels of HBsAg, thus reducing the relapse rate of CHB patients after treatment termination and improving immune control and safe treatment termination.

Santantonio *et al*^[25] and Marcellin *et al*^[26] reported that HBsAg loss and seroconversion rates did not differ significantly between lamivudine monotherapy and combined PegIFN α -2a therapy in patients who were HBeAg-negative. Janssen *et al*^[27] also indicated that HBeAg loss or seroconversion rates were similar after lamivudine monotherapy and combined PegIFN α -2a therapy in HBeAg-positive patients. However, these reports did not focus on NA-treated CHB patients. Therefore, additional clinical cases must be analyzed to determine if INF monotherapy directly, or the combined NA and interferon treatment, is superior for NA-treated CHB patients.

The level of HBsAg in the patients who were HBeAgnegative or HBeAg-positive was not related to the curative effect in the PegIFN α -2a group (P > 0.05). The lower the HBsAg level at baseline, the higher the HBeAg seroconversion and HBsAg loss rates at week 48. We speculated that the efficacy of 48 wk of treatment based on HBsAg levels at the 24th wk of therapy would produce a HBsAg loss rate of up to 36.84% (P < 0.05) in patients with a serum HBsAg level < 1500 IU/mL, and the efficacy was not determined by HBeAg seroconversion (P > 0.05).

The HBsAg loss rate of the patients with serum HBsAg levels < 1500 IU/mL in our trial was obviously higher than that observed in the OSST study^[9] (44.44% *vs* 25%), which may be related to the lower baseline HBV DNA levels (< 500 IU/mL) and longer ETV combination to ensure persistent virus inhibition. There are no unified clinical recommendations on how long NAs and PegIFN α -2a therapy should administered. The benefits of prolonged treatment with ETV or extended PegIFN α -2a treatment in patients with higher serum HBsAg levels at baseline require further clinical observation.

This study has some limitations, such as the small sample size, which prevented deeper analysis of the relationship between HBsAg levels and curative effect after 48 wk of therapy. CHB is a chronic disease; therefore, the follow-up period of only 24 wk was relatively short. The prognosis of patients requires longer follow-up times and further observation.

In conclusion, brief treatment of NA-treated CHB patients with a combination of NAs and PegIFN α -2a could achieve highly potent treatment termination safely, with a minimal risk of long-term resistance. Based on the initial serum HBsAg level in NA-treated CHB patients, we could select superior patients to switch to PegIFN α -2a and, according to the levels of HBsAg at 24 wk of treatment, adjust the treatment to continue with PegIFN α -2a or switch to NAs. This protocol has an important and significant effect on achieving treatment termination safely and with immune control.

COMMENTS

Background

Hepatitis B virus (HBV) infection is a significant clinical problem globally: it is estimated that approximately 240 million individuals are chronically infected with HBV worldwide. Therefore, standardized antiviral treatment, including nucleos(t)ide analogues (NAs) and interferon (IFN) is required to improve the prognosis of chronic hepatitis B (CHB). NA-treated CHB patients who switch to IFN have been reported to achieve higher rates of sustained virological and serological responses than those continuing with NA monotherapy. However, supporting medical evidence from clinical trials or clinical, real-life data are lacking.

Research frontiers

Recent research has focused on combination therapy with IFN and NAs to exploit the antiviral and immune regulation effects of these drugs. However, there are very few clinical studies about this combination worldwide, especially in China. This research investigated the efficacy of switching to IFN in NA-treated CHB patients.

Innovations and breakthroughs

NAs are used widely in CHB treatment in China. Not all patients are willing to continue taking NAs continuously. The European Association for the Study of the Liver indicated that IFN therapy is the preferred treatment option for CHB patients who achieve a sustained response after therapy. This research focused on the efficacy of a combination therapy with IFN and NAs. The authors analyzed different monitoring methods for NA-treated CHB patients switching to IFN, which has an important and significant effect on choosing suitable patients and estimating the risk of long-term resistance in treatment termination.

Applications

Medical evidence from clinical trials helps clinicians choose different types of standardized antiviral treatment for different CHB patients. The present



research showed that brief treatment of NA-treated CHB patients with a combination of NAs and pegylated interferon- α -2a (PegIFN α -2a) could achieve highly potent treatment termination safely, with a minimal risk of long-term resistance.

Terminology

Currently, standardized antiviral treatment includes nucleoside NAs and IFN. Treatment of CHB has a clear treatment course with IFN. However, CHB patients need to take NA for a long and undefined time because NAs cannot eliminate the virus completely. CHB patients treated with Entecavir (ETV) have a chance of HBeAg seroconversion at least 48 wk and show decreased serum alanine aminotransferase and aspartate aminotransferase levels. However, ETV cannot decrease the HBsAg level nor sustain virological and serological responses after therapy, luckily, IFN helps to fill this gap.

Peer-review

In this paper, the authors investigated the efficacy and safety of switching CHB patients successfully treated with Entecavir to PegIFN α -2a NA-treated. The topic is of great interest. In fact, in recent years several attempts have been performed to transform a "long-life" treatment with NAs to a treatment of a "finite" duration. The paper is well written and can be considered for publication after minor revisions.

REFERENCES

- 1 WHO Guidelines Approved by the Guidelines Review Committee. Guidelines for the Prevention, Care and Treatment of Persons with Chronic Hepatitis B Infection. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015 [PMID: 26225396]
- 2 Hou JL, lai W. [The guideline of prevention and treatment for chronic hepatitis B: a 2015 update]. *Zhonghua Ganzangbing Zazhi* 2015; 23: 888-905 [PMID: 26739464 DOI: 10.3760/cma. j.issn.1674-2397]
- 3 Yokosuka O, Takaguchi K, Fujioka S, Shindo M, Chayama K, Kobashi H, Hayashi N, Sato C, Kiyosawa K, Tanikawa K, Ishikawa H, Masaki N, Seriu T, Omata M. Long-term use of entecavir in nucleoside-naïve Japanese patients with chronic hepatitis B infection. J Hepatol 2010; 52: 791-799 [PMID: 20409606 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2009.12.036]
- 4 Yuen MF, Seto WK, Chow DH, Tsui K, Wong DK, Ngai VW, Wong BC, Fung J, Yuen JC, Lai CL. Long-term lamivudine therapy reduces the risk of long-term complications of chronic hepatitis B infection even in patients without advanced disease. *Antivir Ther* 2007; 12: 1295-1303 [PMID: 18240869]
- 5 European Association For The Study Of The Liver. EASL clinical practice guidelines: Management of chronic hepatitis B virus infection. *J Hepatol* 2012; 57: 167-185 [PMID: 22436845 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2012.02.010]
- 6 Wursthorn K, Lutgehetmann M, Dandri M, Volz T, Buggisch P, Zollner B, Longerich T, Schirmacher P, Metzler F, Zankel M, Fischer C, Currie G, Brosgart C, Petersen J. Peginterferon alpha-2b plus adefovir induce strong cccDNA decline and HBsAg reduction in patients with chronic hepatitis B. *Hepatology* 2006; 44: 675-684 [PMID: 16941693]
- 7 Expert guoup on treatment of patients with chronic hepatitis B who have an initial nucleotide(s)analogue therapy with pegylated interferon α. Expert opinion on the treatment of the NUCs-treated chronic hepatitis B patients treated with interferon alpha. *Zhongguo Ganzangbingxue Zazhi* 2013; 21: 494-497 [DOI: 10.3760/cma.j.issn.1007-3418.2013.07.005]
- 8 Bonino F, Marcellin P, Lau GK, Hadziyannis S, Jin R, Piratvisuth T, Germanidis G, Yurdaydin C, Diago M, Gurel S, Lai MY, Brunetto MR, Farci P, Popescu M, McCloud P. Predicting response to peginterferon alpha-2a, lamivudine and the two combined for HBeAg-negative chronic hepatitis B. *Gut* 2007; 56: 699-705 [PMID: 17127704]
- 9 Ning Q, Han M, Sun Y, Jiang J, Tan D, Hou J, Tang H, Sheng J, Zhao M. Switching from entecavir to PegIFN alfa-2a in patients with HBeAg-positive chronic hepatitis B: a randomised open-label

trial (OSST trial). *J Hepatol* 2014; **61**: 777-784 [PMID: 24915612 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2014.05.044]

- 10 Ouzan D, Pénaranda G, Joly H, Khiri H, Pironti A, Halfon P. Addon peg-interferon leads to loss of HBsAg in patients with HBeAgnegative chronic hepatitis and HBV DNA fully suppressed by longterm nucleotide analogs. *J Clin Virol* 2013; 58: 713-717 [PMID: 24183313 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcv.2013.09.020]
- 11 Chan HL, Leung NW, Hui AY, Wong VW, Liew CT, Chim AM, Chan FK, Hung LC, Lee YT, Tam JS, Lam CW, Sung JJ. A randomized, controlled trial of combination therapy for chronic hepatitis B: comparing pegylated interferon-alpha2b and lamivudine with lamivudine alone. *Ann Intern Med* 2005; 142: 240-250 [PMID: 15710957]
- 12 Chang TT, Gish RG, de Man R, Gadano A, Sollano J, Chao YC, Lok AS, Han KH, Goodman Z, Zhu J, Cross A, DeHertogh D, Wilber R, Colonno R, Apelian D. A comparison of entecavir and lamivudine for HBeAg-positive chronic hepatitis B. *N Engl J Med* 2006; **354**: 1001-1010 [PMID: 16525137]
- 13 Liaw YF, Kao JH, Piratvisuth T, Chan HL, Chien RN, Liu CJ, Gane E, Locarnini S, Lim SG, Han KH, Amarapurkar D, Cooksley G, Jafri W, Mohamed R, Hou JL, Chuang WL, Lesmana LA, Sollano JD, Suh DJ, Omata M. Asian-Pacific consensus statement on the management of chronic hepatitis B: a 2012 update. *Hepatol Int* 2012; 6: 531-561 [PMID: 26201469 DOI: 10.1007/s12072-012-9365-4]
- Lok AS, McMahon BJ. Chronic hepatitis B: update 2009. *Hepatology* 2009; 50: 661-662 [PMID: 19714720 DOI: 10.1002/ hep.23190]
- 15 Chevaliez S, Hézode C, Bahrami S, Grare M, Pawlotsky JM. Long-term hepatitis B surface antigen (HBsAg) kinetics during nucleoside/nucleotide analogue therapy: finite treatment duration unlikely. *J Hepatol* 2013; 58: 676-683 [PMID: 23219442 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep]
- 16 Thompson AJ, Nguyen T, Iser D, Ayres A, Jackson K, Littlejohn M, Slavin J, Bowden S, Gane EJ, Abbott W, Lau GK, Lewin SR, Visvanathan K, Desmond PV, Locarnini SA. Serum hepatitis B surface antigen and hepatitis B e antigen titers: disease phase influences correlation with viral load and intrahepatic hepatitis B virus markers. *Hepatology* 2010; **51**: 1933-1944 [PMID: 20512987 DOI: 10.1002/hep.23571]
- 17 Chan HL, Wong GL, Chim AM, Chan HY, Chu SH, Wong VW. Prediction of off-treatment response to lamivudine by serum hepatitis B surface antigen quantification in hepatitis B e antigennegative patients. *Antivir Ther* 2011; 16: 1249-1257 [PMID: 22155906 DOI: 10.3851/IMP1921]
- 18 Brunetto MR, Moriconi F, Bonino F, Lau GK, Farci P, Yurdaydin C, Piratvisuth T, Luo K, Wang Y, Hadziyannis S, Wolf E, McCloud P, Batrla R, Marcellin P. Hepatitis B virus surface antigen levels: a guide to sustained response to peginterferon alfa-2a in HBeAg-negative chronic hepatitis B. *Hepatology* 2009; **49**: 1141-1150 [PMID: 19338056]
- 19 Shouval D, Lai CL, Chang TT, Cheinquer H, Martin P, Carosi G, Han S, Kaymakoglu S, Tamez R, Yang J, Tenney D, Brett-Smith H. Relapse of hepatitis B in HBeAg-negative chronic hepatitis B patients who discontinued successful entecavir treatment: the case for continuous antiviral therapy. *J Hepatol* 2009; **50**: 289-295 [PMID: 19070393 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2008.10.017]
- 20 Seto WK, Hui AJ, Wong VW, Wong GL, Liu KS, Lai CL, Yuen MF, Chan HL. Treatment cessation of entecavir in Asian patients with hepatitis B e antigen negative chronic hepatitis B: a multicentre prospective study. *Gut* 2014; 64: 667-672 [PMID: 24833635]
- 21 Chaung KT, Ha NB, Trinh HN, Garcia RT, Nguyen HA, Nguyen KK, Garcia G, Ahmed A, Keeffe EB, Nguyen MH. High frequency of recurrent viremia after hepatitis B e antigen seroconversion and consolidation therapy. *J Clin Gastroenterol* 2012; 46: 865-870 [PMID: 22941429 DOI: 10.1097/MCG.0b013e31825ceed9]
- 22 Werle-Lapostolle B, Bowden S, Locarnini S, Wursthorn K, Petersen J, Lau G, Trepo C, Marcellin P, Goodman Z, Delaney WE, Xiong S, Brosgart CL, Chen SS, Gibbs CS, Zoulim F. Persistence of cccDNA during the natural history of chronic hepatitis B and

decline during adefovir dipivoxil therapy. *Gastroenterology* 2004; **126**: 1750-1758 [PMID: 15188170]

- 23 Martinot-Peignoux M, Carvalho-Filho R, Lapalus M, Netto-Cardoso AC, Lada O, Batrla R, Krause F, Asselah T, Marcellin P. Hepatitis B surface antigen serum level is associated with fibrosis severity in treatment-naïve, e antigen-positive patients. J Hepatol 2013; 58: 1089-1095 [PMID: 23369792 DOI: 10.1016/j. jhep.2013.01.028]
- 24 Liu WR, Tian MX, Jin L, Yang LX, Ding ZB, Shen YH, Peng YF, Zhou J, Qiu SJ, Dai Z, Fan J, Shi YH. High levels of hepatitis B surface antigen are associated with poorer survival and early recurrence of hepatocellular carcinoma in patients with low hepatitis B viral loads. *Ann Surg Oncol* 2015; 22: 843-850 [PMID: 25269529 DOI: 10.1245/s10434-014-4043-5]
- 25 Santantonio T, Niro GA, Sinisi E, Leandro G, Insalata M,

Guastadisegni A, Facciorusso D, Gravinese E, Andriulli A, Pastore G. Lamivudine/interferon combination therapy in anti-HBe positive chronic hepatitis B patients: a controlled pilot study. *J Hepatol* 2002; **36**: 799-804 [PMID: 12044531]

- 26 Marcellin P, Lau GK, Bonino F, Farci P, Hadziyannis S, Jin R, Lu ZM, Piratvisuth T, Germanidis G, Yurdaydin C, Diago M, Gurel S, Lai MY, Button P, Pluck N. Peginterferon alfa-2a alone, lamivudine alone, and the two in combination in patients with HBeAg-negative chronic hepatitis B. *N Engl J Med* 2004; **351**: 1206-1217 [PMID: 15371578]
- 27 Sonneveld MJ, Rijckborst V, Boucher CA, Hansen BE, Janssen HL. Prediction of sustained response to peginterferon alfa-2b for hepatitis B e antigen-positive chronic hepatitis B using on-treatment hepatitis B surface antigen decline. *Hepatology* 2010; 52: 1251-1257 [PMID: 20830787]

P- Reviewer: Santantonio TA S- Editor: Yu J L- Editor: Stewart G E- Editor: Liu WX







Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/ Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v22.i46.10219 World J Gastroenterol 2016 December 14; 22(46): 10219-10225 ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online) © 2016 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Retrospective Study

Incidence of hepatocellular carcinoma in outpatients with cirrhosis in Brazil: A 10-year retrospective cohort study

Marcelo Campos Appel-da-Silva, Suelen Aparecida da Silva Miozzo, Isabella de Azevedo Dossin, Cristiane Valle Tovo, Fernanda Branco, Angelo Alves de Mattos

Marcelo Campos Appel-da-Silva, Suelen Aparecida da Silva Miozzo, Isabella de Azevedo Dossin, Cristiane Valle Tovo, Angelo Alves de Mattos, Graduate Program: Hepatology, Universidade Federal de Ciências da Saúde de Porto Alegre (UFCSPA), Porto Alegre, RS 900150-170, Brazil

Fernanda Branco, Ultrasound Imaging Service, Hospital Santa Casa de Porto Alegre, Porto Alegre, RS 90050-170, Brazil

Author contributions: All authors contributed to this paper with conception, drafting, revision, and approval of the final version of the manuscript.

Institutional review board statement: The study protocol was approved by the institutional review board for human studies at the Universidade Federal de Ciências da Saúde de Porto Alegre and complied with the guidelines of the Brazilian Ministry of Health.

Conflict-of-interest statement: The authors state no conflicts of interest. No financial support was provided for the study.

Data sharing statement: No additional data are available.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Manuscript source: Invited manuscript

Correspondence to: Marcelo Campos Appel-da-Silva, MD, MSc, Graduate Program: Hepatology, Universidade Federal de Ciências da Saúde de Porto Alegre, Rua Dona Laura, 87/202, Porto Alegre, RS 900150-170, Brazil. marceloappel@yahoo.com.br Telephone: +55-51-32225366 Fax: +55-51-32225366 Received: August 26, 2016 Peer-review started: August 29, 2016 First decision: September 20, 2016 Revised: October 4, 2016 Accepted: November 14, 2016 Article in press: November 16, 2016 Published online: December 14, 2016

Abstract

AIM

To determine the incidence of hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) and the impact of HCC surveillance on early diagnosis and survival of cirrhotic outpatients.

METHODS

In this retrospective cohort study, cirrhotic outpatients undergoing HCC surveillance between March 2005 and March 2014 were analyzed. Exclusion criteria were HIV coinfection; previous organ transplantation; diagnosis of HCC at first consultation; missing data in the medical chart; and less than 1 year of follow-up. Surveillance was carried out every six months using ultrasound and serum alpha-fetoprotein determination. Ten-year cumulative incidence and survival were estimated through Kaplan-Meier analysis.

RESULTS

Four hundred and fifty-three patients were enrolled, of which 57.6% were male. Mean age was 55 years. Hepatitis C virus and heavy use of alcohol were the main etiologic agents of cirrhosis. HCC was diagnosed in 75 patients (16.6%), with an estimated cumulative incidence of 2.6% in the 1st year, 15.4% in the 5th year, and 28.8% in the 10th year. Median survival was estimated at 17.6 mo in HCC patients compared to 234 mo in non-HCC patients (P < 0.001). Early-stage HCC was more often detected in patients who underwent



WJG www.wjgnet.com

surveillance every 6 mo or less (P = 0.05). However, survival was not different between patients with early stage *vs* non-early stage tumors [HR = 0.54 (0.15-1.89), P = 0.33].

CONCLUSION

HCC is a frequent complication in patients with cirrhosis and adherence to surveillance programs favors early diagnosis.

Key words: Liver cirrhosis; Hepatocellular carcinoma; Epidemiology; Surveillance; Survival

© **The Author(s) 2016.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core tip: This retrospective cohort chart review study provides novel data regarding the incidence of hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) in the South of Brazil. Of 453 patients with cirrhosis attending a specialized reference clinic between March 2005 and March 2014, 75 (16.6%) developed HCC, with a cumulative incidence of 2.6%, 15.4% and 28.8% in the 1st, 5th, and 10th year respectively. Early-stage HCC was more often detected in patients undergoing strict surveillance every 6 mo. Results from this study highlight the need for strict surveillance programs favoring early diagnosis and, probably, a better prognosis.

Appel-da-Silva MC, Miozzo SAS, Dossin IA, Tovo CV, Branco F, Mattos AA. Incidence of hepatocellular carcinoma in outpatients with cirrhosis in Brazil: A 10-year retrospective cohort study. *World J Gastroenterol* 2016; 22(46): 10219-10225 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v22/ i46/10219.htm DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v22.i46.10219

INTRODUCTION

Liver cancer is the second leading cause of cancer death worldwide; it is also the fifth most common cancer in men and the ninth in women. In 2012, an estimated 782000 new cases of liver cancer occurred in the world, with report of 745000 deaths^[1]. Among primary liver malignancies, hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) accounts for 70%-85% of cases, and is associated with chronic liver disease and/or cirrhosis in 70%-90% of cases^[2,3].

The burden of HCC varies with geographic location, especially when associated with cirrhosis^[3]. Around 80% of cases occur in developing countries, and 55% in China alone^[4]. In highly endemic areas, such as sub-Saharan countries and Asia, the annual incidence rate is around 30/100000 population^[4-6]. Mediterranean countries (Italy, Spain and Greece) report intermediate incidence rates, with 10-20 cases/100000/year. An increase in the burden of HCC in low-incidence areas (Australia, North America, South America, and United Kingdom), with fewer than 5 cases/100000/ year, has

also been recently noted. In these areas, the growing prevalence of hepatitis C virus (HCV) infection, alcohol consumption, and nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) are the main causes underlying the increasing number of HCC cases^[2,3,7-11].

In Latin America, limited data are available on the incidence and population characteristics of patients with HCC^[12]. In Brazil, a national epidemiological survey sponsored by the Brazilian Society for Hepatology^[13] evaluated 1405 patients with HCC in 29 centers across the country. Using the Barcelona Clinic Liver Cancer (BCLC) staging classification^[14], 43% of the individuals were diagnosed with early stage tumors; 35% with intermediate stage tumors; and 22% with advanced stage tumors. Also, 98% had cirrhosis, which was caused by HCV in 39% and heavy use of alcohol in 14%. In the South of Brazil, HCV has been identified as the main etiologic factor of cirrhotic outpatients^[15].

Screening and surveillance of HCC using abdominal ultrasound have been shown to detect tumors at an earlier stage, increasing the odds of treatment and the adherence of health care services to current practice guidelines^[16-19]. Nevertheless, epidemiological studies in the United States have shown that only 12% to 78.8% of patients receive routine surveillance^[20,21]; possible barriers to screening and surveillance include socioeconomic factors and the lack of specific health policies for HCC^[22].

The objective of the present study was to determine the incidence of HCC and the impact of HCC surveillance on early diagnosis and survival of cirrhotic outpatients attending a tertiary hospital clinic in the South of Brazil.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

We carried out a retrospective cohort chart review study including all patients aged 18 years or older diagnosed with cirrhosis attending a specialized reference clinic (Complexo Hospitalar Santa Casa, Porto Alegre, Brazil) between March 2005 and March 2014. Exclusion criteria were HIV coinfection, previous organ transplantation, diagnosis of HCC at the first clinic appointment, incomplete medical records, or followup of less than 1 year. The diagnosis of cirrhosis was based on clinical, laboratory, and on ultrasonographic and/or upper GI endoscopic features. Those patients whose diagnosis remained inconclusive, percutaneous liver biopsy were carried out.

All patients underwent screening and surveillance for HCC, with abdominal ultrasound and serum alphafetoprotein (AFP) determination every 6 mo. Computed tomography (CT) or abdominal magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) with contrast were performed in all patients with evidence of nodular lesion measuring \geq 1 cm in diameter on ultrasound^[23].

HCC diagnosis was based on typical findings on contrast-enhanced CT or abdominal MRI - early arterial phase enhancement followed by rapid washout at the





Figure 1 Log-transformed alpha-fetoprotein values at the end of the study in patients with and without hepatocellular carcinoma.

late portal/venous phase. Inconclusive cases were referred for biopsy and histological evaluation^[23]. Patients with a diagnosis of HCC were classified according to BCLC criteria^[14].

All charts were reviewed for selection of study variables and outcomes during the study period, considering the data available for the first and the last consultations. The following variables were analyzed: age, sex, etiology of liver disease, Child-Turcotte-Pugh^[24] score, Model for End-Stage Liver Disease score^[25], use of statins, and serum levels of AFP.

The establishment of alcohol consumption was made through self-report of regular drinking, in a daily basis. Heavy use of alcohol was considered when alcohol consumption was greater than 40 g per day for men and women.

All patients received specialized treatment according to the etiology of liver disease and risk factors identified. Obese and/or NAFLD patients were referred to a Clinical Nutrition outpatient clinic. Those with alcohol dependency were headed for a public specialized psychiatric service and encouraged to attend support groups to stop drinking.

The patients were divided into two groups: with or without HCC. To compare the groups in terms of continuous variables with normal distribution, Student's t test was used. Mann-Whitney's test was used for comparison of variables with non-Gaussian distribution. For the comparison of categorical variables, the χ^2 test and Fisher's exact test were used. To evaluate the performance of AFP as a diagnostic tool, in patients with HCC, sensitivity, specificity, post-test probability, and likelihood ratio were calculated for different serum level ranges. These data were also represented as ROC curves and box plots generated with log-transformed values. Kaplan-Meier analysis was performed to examine cumulative incidence and survival in the 10-year follow-up period, with statistical significance calculated using the log-rank test. HR with 95%CI was calculated using a Cox regression model. Significance level was set at $\alpha = 5\%$.

Microsoft® Office Excel 2010 was used to store data,

and the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences v. 22.0 (IBM[®] SPSS) was used for analysis of results. The normality of data distribution was determined using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. Quantitative variables with normal distribution were expressed as mean and standard deviation; variables with non-normal distribution were expressed as median and interquartile range. Simple and relative frequencies were used for categorical variables.

The research protocol was approved by the Research Ethics Committee at Universidade Federal de Ciências da Saúde de Porto Alegre (protocol 367511/2011, approval report 14/2014).

RESULTS

Of 738 eligible patients, the following were excluded: 105 with incomplete medical records, 88 with noncirrhotic portal hypertension, 54 who were lost to follow-up, and 14 with HIV co-infection. Of the remaining 477 cirrhotic patients, 24 were diagnosed with HCC at the first clinic appointment and were thus excluded from the study. Thus, the final sample included 453 patients.

During follow-up, 75 patients (16.6%) were diagnosed with HCC. Median follow-up for this group was 15.7 mo. Among the 378 patients who did not develop HCC, median follow-up was 58.4 mo. Table 1 shows demographic and clinical data of the groups with and without HCC.

AFP levels were available for 343 patients, of which 57 had a diagnosis of HCC (16.7%). Baseline and endof-study AFP levels were significantly different between patients with and without HCC. Stratification of serum AFP levels into four ranges (Figure 1 and Table 2) revealed a trend for AFP > 20 ng/mL to predict HCC. The highest diagnostic probability was observed for AFP levels \geq 50 ng/mL (Table 2). Accuracy of AFP was measured by the area under the ROC curve, whose value was 0.769 (95%CI: 0.70-0.84).

The 10-year cumulative incidence of HCC was analyzed using a Kaplan-Meier curve (Figure 2). During this 10-year period, 453 patients were followed-up. The estimated incidence of HCC was 2.6% in the 1^{st} year, 15.4% in the 5th year, and 28.8% in the 10th year.

Among 419 patients who reported not using statins, 73 (17.4%) had HCC, *vs* only 1 patient among 34 using statins (2.9%), P = 0.028.

Survival analysis showed median survival of 234 mo (19.5 years) for the group without HCC and 17.6 mo (1.5 year) for patients with HCC. At the end of 10 years, none of the HCC patients were alive, whereas 55.8% of the patients without HCC were still living (P < 0.001, Figure 3).

BCLC staging of HCC at the time of diagnosis showed early stage tumors in 40 (53.3%) patients, intermediate stage tumors in 26 (34.6%) patients, and advanced tumors in 9 (12%) patients. Only 50.7% of individuals with HCC had undergone ultrasound surveillance every

WJG | www.wjgnet.com

Appel-da-Silva MC et al. Incidence of HCC in cirrhotic patients

Table 1 Demographic and clinical characteristics of cirrhotic outpatients attending a hospital clinic in the South of Brazil n (%)

| Characteristic | НСС | Without HCC | P value |
|-------------------------|-----------------|-----------------|---------|
| | <i>n</i> = 75 | <i>n</i> = 378 | |
| Age (yr) | 54.9 ± 10.7 | 53.2 ± 12.2 | 0.23 |
| Male sex | 44 (58.7) | 217 (57.4) | 0.90 |
| Cirrhosis etiology | | | 0.27 |
| HCV | 35 (46.7) | 132 (34.9) | |
| Alcohol | 16 (21.3) | 93 (24.6) | |
| HCV + alcohol | 15 (20.0) | 74 (19.6) | |
| HBV | 2 (2.7) | 3 (0.8) | |
| HBV + alcohol | 0 (0.0) | 5 (1.3) | |
| NAFLD | 1 (1.3) | 7 (1.8) | |
| Cryptogenic | 1 (1.3) | 12 (3.2) | |
| Other | 5 (6.7) | 52 (13.8) | |
| Baseline Child-Pugh | n = 74 | n = 377 | 0.81 |
| А | 45 (60.8) | 229 (60.7) | |
| В | 22 (29.7) | 119 (31.6) | |
| С | 7 (9.5) | 29 (7.7) | |
| End-of-study Child-Pugh | n = 75 | n = 367 | 0.38 |
| А | 30 (40.0) | 168 (45.8) | |
| В | 25 (33.3) | 127 (34.6) | |
| С | 20 (26.7) | 72 (19.6) | |
| Baseline MELD | n = 60 | n = 292 | |
| | 11.2 (6; 25) | 12.0 (6 ;27) | 0.12 |
| End-of-study MELD | <i>n</i> = 71 | <i>n</i> = 330 | |
| | 13.4 (6; 31) | 13.1 (6; 45) | 0.65 |
| Baseline AFP, ng/mL | n = 69 | <i>n</i> = 261 | |
| 0. | 6.1 (3.7; 19.0) | 4.0 (1.5; 8.0) | 0.01 |
| End-of-study AFP, ng/mL | n = 57 | <i>n</i> = 286 | |
| . 0. | 16 (4.9; 187.0) | 4.0 (2.5; 7.8) | < 0.001 |

Other, autoimmune hepatitis, primary biliary cholangitis, hemochromatosis, primary sclerosing cholangitis, alpha-1 antitrypsin deficiency; MELD and AFP expressed as median and interquartile range (25%-75%). HCV: Hepatitis C virus; HBV: Hepatitis B virus; NAFLD: Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease; MELD: Model for End-Stage Liver Disease; AFP: Alphafetoprotein.



Figure 2 Ten-year cumulative incidence of hepatocellular carcinoma in cirrhotic outpatients.

6 mo. The analysis of tumor staging (early *vs* nonearly) according to frequency of ultrasound surveillance showed a higher number of cases diagnosed with early stage tumors in patients with surveillance every 6 mo



Figure 3 Kaplan-Meier cumulative survival curve in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma and 10-yr follow-up. HCC: Hepatocellular carcinoma.

or less (P = 0.05). However, survival was not different between patients with early stage *vs* non-early stage tumors [HR = 0.54 (0.15-1.89), P = 0.33].

DISCUSSION

Given the impact of HCC incidence on patients with cirrhosis, as well as the scarcity of data regarding this population in Latin America, we set out to determine the incidence of HCC and the role of a surveillance program in a cohort of cirrhotic patients attending an outpatient clinic in the South of Brazil, region predominantly composed by European descendants.

In this study, 75 of 453 (16.6%) patients developed HCC over 10 years - a higher incidence than the 8.1% observed in a cohort followed-up in the Southeast of Brazil^[26]. Data from other countries also reveal higher incidences in various populations, such as 17.5% in the United States^[27] and 27% in an Italian cohort^[28]. Because Brazil is a country of continental proportions, the higher incidence detected in the South may be explained by geographic and/or racial heterogeneity, as well as specificities related to risk factors and access to health care services for screening, diagnosis, and follow-up. The predominance of the male sex and the mean age at diagnosis were similar to those described in other national^[13,29,30] and international^[12,31,32] studies.

In the present study, the etiology of liver disease was similar in patients with or without HCC, with HCV and alcohol being the main etiologic agents. In Brazil, chronic HCV infection and alcohol consumption are a major public health problem^[33,34]; nevertheless, in some regions HBV is still an important cause of cirrhosis and HCC^[35]. Llovet *et al*^[36] have shown that in Europe and North America, HCV and alcohol are more frequently associated with HCC than HBV, differently than what occurs in Asia and Africa.

The establishment of surveillance programs for patients with chronic liver disease gained momentum after the study by Zhang *et al*^[37], which showed that

 Table 2 Pre-test probability, likelihood ratio, post-test probability, sensitivity, and specificity of alpha-fetoprotein ranges to predict hepatocellular carcinoma

| AFP level (ng/mL) | Pre-test probability | LR+ | Post-test probability | Sensitivity | Specificity |
|-------------------|----------------------|-------|-----------------------|-------------|-------------|
| < 6.0 | 16.60% | 0.50 | 9.1% | 66.7% | 66.3% |
| 6-19.9 | 16.60% | 1.00 | 16.6% | 45.6% | 89.3% |
| 20-50 | 16.60% | 1.31 | 20.8% | 35.1% | 96.1% |
| > 50 | 16.60% | 10.03 | 66.8% | 35.1% | 96.1% |

LR: Likelihood ratio; AFP: Alpha-fetoprotein.

performing abdominal ultrasound and AFP testing every 6 mo was capable of identifying patients in earlier stages of the disease, increasing survival in up to 37% of cases.

A major objective of follow-up of patients with cirrhosis is the screening and surveillance of HCC according to various consensus statements and guide-lines^[31,38-40]. Brazilian Society for Hepatology^[41] has recently recommended the performance of abdominal ultrasounds every 6 mo, with measurement of AFP strictly in sites where physicians who are experienced in ultrasound are not available.

AFP was recognized in the 1970s as a tumor marker for diagnosis of HCC. This biomarker lost ground after many studies showed low sensitivity and specificity for detection of early stage tumors, leading to the exclusion of AFP dosing from the main consensus statements^[31,38,40]. Despite the debate, the Asian Pacific Association for the Study of the Liver and the Japan Society of Hepatology kept the recommendation for serial AFP measurement, based on the understanding that this information could complement ultrasound surveillance^[39,42]. In any case, it is well recognized that AFP may play an important prognostic role in the followup of these patients, since high AFP levels may signal more aggressive, multifocal tumors associated with venous portal thrombosis and/or metastases^[43].

In the present study, serum AFP levels were higher in patients with HCC than in those without HCC. Nevertheless, the absence of a cutoff point with satisfactory sensitivity and specificity to detect HCC compromises the usefulness of this test. We believe that AFP dosing is more valuable to establish HCC prognosis than HCC diagnosis^[44].

The incidence of HCC has been increasing globally, especially in the West, as a consequence of the obesity epidemic and of the growing number of patients with chronic liver disease^[45]. In our cohort, cumulative HCC incidence was 2.6%, 15.4%, and 28.8% in the 1st, 5th, and 10th year respectively, which is similar to the data reported for other cirrhotic cohorts^[27,46].

We observed that more patients were diagnosed with early stage HCC, as determined by BCLC criteria, in the presence of ultrasound monitoring at 6-mo intervals, even if survival was similar in this group, as compared to the group submitted to surveillance ultrasound at broader intervals. The difficulty in demonstrating increased survival associated with surveillance programs involves ethical issues relating to the performance of randomized, controlled trials. In this cohort, despite the lower survival of HCC patients *vs* those with cirrhosis and without HCC, there was no difference between those who underwent strict surveillance and those who did not. Sangiovanni *et al*^[28] successfully demonstrated increased survival in cirrhotic patients with HCC undergoing surveillance between 1985 and 2011.

Interestingly, we observed a negative association between use of statins and development of HCC. Even though this might be a chance finding, given the low number of patients using this medication, previous studies have reported an effect of statins on patients with chronic liver disease^[47-54]. All these previous works have described a protective effect. In fact, Chiu *et al*^[48] described a reduction of 38% in the risk of HCC in patients from a surveillance program.

In conclusion, the findings of the present study underscore the high incidence of HCC in individuals with cirrhosis, highlighting the importance of stimulating the adherence of health care services and patients to surveillance programs.

COMMENTS

Background

Liver cancer is the second leading cause of cancer death worldwide and, among primary liver malignancies, hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) accounts for 70%-85% of cases, and is associated with chronic liver disease and/or cirrhosis in 70%-90% of cases.

Research frontiers

All patients with chronic liver diseases are advised and guided to programmed screening and surveillance for HCC in order to allow early detection of nodular lesion.

Innovations and breakthrough

This study presents the incidence and impact of HCC in patients with cirrhosis in the South of Brazil and demonstrates that the adherence to surveillance programs are indeed effective for early diagnosis.

Applications

The present study underscore the high incidence of HCC in individuals with cirrhosis, highlighting the importance of stimulating the adherence of health care services and patients to surveillance programs.

Terminology

Screening and surveillance programs are usually done through periodic



abdominal ultrasound every 6 mo and may be associated with serum alphafetoprotein. Computed tomography or abdominal magnetic resonance imaging with contrast were performed in all patients with evidence of nodular lesion measuring ≥ 1 cm in diameter on ultrasound.

Peer-review

This retrospective cohort chart review study does a good job regarding the incidence of HCC in the South of Brazil and displays the need for strict surveillance programs favoring early diagnosis and prognosis. It is very wellwritten and the Discussion interprets the findings in view of the results obtained in this and in past studies on this topic. The study gives significant information and it may possibly help clinicians to develop further studies.

REFERENCES

- Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Dikshit R, Eser S, Mathers C, Rebelo M, Parkin DM, Forman D, Bray F. Cancer incidence and mortality worldwide: sources, methods and major patterns in GLOBOCAN 2012. *Int J Cancer* 2015; 136: E359-E386 [PMID: 25220842 DOI: 10.1002/ijc.29210]
- Cabibbo G, Craxì A. Epidemiology, risk factors and surveillance of hepatocellular carcinoma. *Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci* 2010; 14: 352-355 [PMID: 20496547]
- 3 Mittal S, El-Serag HB. Epidemiology of hepatocellular carcinoma: consider the population. *J Clin Gastroenterol* 2013; 47 Suppl: S2-S6 [PMID: 23632345 DOI: 10.1097/MCG.0b013e3182872f29]
- 4 Bosch FX, Ribes J, Díaz M, Cléries R. Primary liver cancer: worldwide incidence and trends. *Gastroenterology* 2004; 127: S5-S16 [PMID: 15508102 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2004.09.011]
- 5 Sherman M. Hepatocellular carcinoma: epidemiology, risk factors, and screening. *Semin Liver Dis* 2005; 25: 143-154 [PMID: 15918143 DOI: 10.1055/s-2005-871194]
- 6 Kew MC. Epidemiology of chronic hepatitis B virus infection, hepatocellular carcinoma, and hepatitis B virus-induced hepatocellular carcinoma. *Pathol Biol* (Paris) 2010; 58: 273-277 [PMID: 20378277 DOI: 10.1016/j.patbio.2010.01.005]
- 7 Hassan MM, Hwang LY, Hatten CJ, Swaim M, Li D, Abbruzzese JL, Beasley P, Patt YZ. Risk factors for hepatocellular carcinoma: synergism of alcohol with viral hepatitis and diabetes mellitus. *Hepatology* 2002; 36: 1206-1213 [PMID: 12395331 DOI: 10.1053/ jhep.2002.36780]
- 8 Kemp W, Pianko S, Nguyen S, Bailey MJ, Roberts SK. Survival in hepatocellular carcinoma: impact of screening and etiology of liver disease. *J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2005; 20: 873-881 [PMID: 15946134 DOI: 10.1111/j.1440-1746.2005.03844.x]
- 9 Bugianesi E, Leone N, Vanni E, Marchesini G, Brunello F, Carucci P, Musso A, De Paolis P, Capussotti L, Salizzoni M, Rizzetto M. Expanding the natural history of nonalcoholic steatohepatitis: from cryptogenic cirrhosis to hepatocellular carcinoma. *Gastroenterology* 2002; **123**: 134-140 [PMID: 12105842 DOI: 10.1053/gast.2002.34168]
- 10 El-Serag HB, Davila JA, Petersen NJ, McGlynn KA. The continuing increase in the incidence of hepatocellular carcinoma in the United States: an update. *Ann Intern Med* 2003; 139: 817-823 [PMID: 14623619 DOI: 10.7326/0003-4819-139-10-200311180-0 0009]
- 11 Mittal S, Sada YH, El-Serag HB, Kanwal F, Duan Z, Temple S, May SB, Kramer JR, Richardson PA, Davila JA. Temporal trends of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease-related hepatocellular carcinoma in the veteran affairs population. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2015; 13: 594-601.e1 [PMID: 25148760 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2014.08.013]
- 12 Fassio E, Míguez C, Soria S, Palazzo F, Gadano A, Adrover R, Landeira G, Fernández N, García D, Barbero R, Perelstein G, Ríos B, Isla R, Civetta E, Pérez Ravier R, Barzola S, Curciarello J, Colombato LA, Jmeniltzky A. Etiology of hepatocellular carcinoma in Argentina: results of a multicenter retrospective study. *Acta Gastroenterol Latinoam* 2009; **39**: 47-52 [PMID: 19408739]
- 13 Carrilho FJ, Kikuchi L, Branco F, Goncalves CS, Mattos AA.

Clinical and epidemiological aspects of hepatocellular carcinoma in Brazil. *Clinics* (Sao Paulo) 2010; **65**: 1285-1290 [PMID: 21340216 DOI: 10.1590/S1807-59322010001200010]

- Llovet JM, Brú C, Bruix J. Prognosis of hepatocellular carcinoma: the BCLC staging classification. *Semin Liver Dis* 1999; 19: 329-338 [PMID: 10518312 DOI: 10.1055/s-2007-1007122]
- 15 John JA, de Mattos AA, da Silva Miozzo SA, Comerlato PH, Porto M, Contiero P, da Silva RR. Survival and risk factors related to death in outpatients with cirrhosis treated in a clinic in Southern Brazil. *Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2015; 27: 1372-1377 [PMID: 26426832 DOI: 10.1097/MEG.00000000000480]
- 16 Singal AG, Pillai A, Tiro J. Early detection, curative treatment, and survival rates for hepatocellular carcinoma surveillance in patients with cirrhosis: a meta-analysis. *PLoS Med* 2014; 11: e1001624 [PMID: 24691105 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1001624]
- 17 Stravitz RT, Heuman DM, Chand N, Sterling RK, Shiffman ML, Luketic VA, Sanyal AJ, Habib A, Mihas AA, Giles HC, Maluf DG, Cotterell AH, Posner MP, Fisher RA. Surveillance for hepatocellular carcinoma in patients with cirrhosis improves outcome. *Am J Med* 2008; **121**: 119-126 [PMID: 18261500 DOI: 10.1016/j.amjmed.2007.09.020]
- 18 Abe R, Okano J, Imamoto R, Fujise Y, Koda M, Murawaki Y. [Evaluation of the surveillance program for hepatocellular carcinoma]. *Nihon Shokakibyo Gakkai Zasshi* 2012; 109: 741-750 [PMID: 22688099]
- 19 Kuo YH, Lu SN, Chen CL, Cheng YF, Lin CY, Hung CH, Chen CH, Changchien CS, Hsu HC, Hu TH, Lee CM, Wang JH. Hepatocellular carcinoma surveillance and appropriate treatment options improve survival for patients with liver cirrhosis. *Eur J Cancer* 2010; 46: 744-751 [PMID: 20060710 DOI: 10.1016/ j.ejca.2009.12.018]
- 20 Davila JA, Henderson L, Kramer JR, Kanwal F, Richardson PA, Duan Z, El-Serag HB. Utilization of surveillance for hepatocellular carcinoma among hepatitis C virus-infected veterans in the United States. *Ann Intern Med* 2011; 154: 85-93 [PMID: 21242365 DOI: 10.7326/0003-4819-154-2-201101180-00006]
- 21 Tong MJ, Chavalitdhamrong D, Lu DS, Raman SS, Gomes A, Duffy JP, Hong JC, Busuttil RW. Survival in Asian Americans after treatments for hepatocellular carcinoma: a seven-year experience at UCLA. *J Clin Gastroenterol* 2010; 44: e63-e70 [PMID: 19745756 DOI: 10.1097/MCG.0b013e3181b4b68b]
- 22 Zhao C, Nguyen MH. Hepatocellular Carcinoma Screening and Surveillance: Practice Guidelines and Real-Life Practice. J Clin Gastroenterol 2016; 50: 120-133 [PMID: 26583266 DOI: 10.1097/ MCG.0000000000000446]
- 23 Bruix J, Sherman M; Practice Guidelines Committee American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases. Management of hepatocellular carcinoma. *Hepatology* 2005; 42: 1208-1236 [PMID: 16250051 DOI: 10.1002/hep.20933]
- 24 Pugh RN, Murray-Lyon IM, Dawson JL, Pietroni MC, Williams R. Transection of the oesophagus for bleeding oesophageal varices. *Br J Surg* 1973; 60: 646-649 [PMID: 4541913 DOI: 10.1002/bjs. 1800600817]
- 25 Malinchoc M, Kamath PS, Gordon FD, Peine CJ, Rank J, ter Borg PC. A model to predict poor survival in patients undergoing transjugular intrahepatic portosystemic shunts. *Hepatology* 2000; 31: 864-871 [PMID: 10733541 DOI: 10.1053/he.2000.5852]
- 26 Paranaguá-Vezozzo DC, Ono SK, Alvarado-Mora MV, Farias AQ, Cunha-Silva M, França JI, Alves VA, Sherman M, Carrilho FJ. Epidemiology of HCC in Brazil: incidence and risk factors in a ten-year cohort. *Ann Hepatol* 2014; 13: 386-393 [PMID: 24927609]
- 27 Ascha MS, Hanouneh IA, Lopez R, Tamimi TA, Feldstein AF, Zein NN. The incidence and risk factors of hepatocellular carcinoma in patients with nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. *Hepatology* 2010; **51**: 1972-1978 [PMID: 20209604 DOI: 10.1002/hep.23527]
- 28 Sangiovanni A, Del Ninno E, Fasani P, De Fazio C, Ronchi G, Romeo R, Morabito A, De Franchis R, Colombo M. Increased survival of cirrhotic patients with a hepatocellular carcinoma detected during surveillance. *Gastroenterology* 2004; 126:

1005-1014 [PMID: 15057740 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2003.12.049]

- 29 Gonçalves CS, Pereira FE, Gayotto LC. Hepatocellular carcinoma in Brazil: report of a national survey (Florianópolis, SC, 1995). *Rev Inst Med Trop Sao Paulo* 1997; 39: 165-170 [PMID: 9460258 DOI: 10.1590/S0036-46651997000300008]
- 30 Teixeira A, Mentea E, Cantao C, Sankarankutty A, Souza F, Motta T, Monsignore L, Elias Junior J, Muglia VF, Abud DG, Peria FM, Zucoloto S, SILVA OC, Martinelli ALC. Clinical Characteristics of 130 Patients With Hepatocellular Carcinoma Followed at a Tertiary Hospital From Brazil. World J Oncol 2012; 3: 165-172
- 31 Méndez-Sánchez N, Ridruejo E, Alves de Mattos A, Chávez-Tapia NC, Zapata R, Paraná R, Mastai R, Strauss E, Guevara-Casallas LG, Daruich J, Gadano A, Parise ER, Uribe M, Aguilar-Olivos NE, Dagher L, Ferraz-Neto BH, Valdés-Sánchez M, Sánchez-Avila JF. Latin American Association for the Study of the Liver (LAASL) clinical practice guidelines: management of hepatocellular carcinoma. *Ann Hepatol* 2014; **13** Suppl 1: S4-40 [PMID: 24998696]
- 32 Méndez-Sánchez N, Villa AR, Vázquez-Elizondo G, Ponciano-Rodríguez G, Uribe M. Mortality trends for liver cancer in Mexico from 2000 to 2006. *Ann Hepatol* 2008; 7: 226-229 [PMID: 18753989]
- 33 Ferreira PR, Brandão-Mello CE, Estes C, Gonçales Júnior FL, Coelho HS, Razavi H, Cheinquer H, Wolff FH, Ferraz ML, Pessoa MG, Mendes-Correa MC. Disease burden of chronic hepatitis C in Brazil. *Braz J Infect Dis* 2015; 19: 363-368 [PMID: 26051505 DOI: 10.1016/j.bjid.2015.04.004]
- Portugal FB, Campos MR, de Carvalho JR, Flor LS, Schramm JM, Costa Mde F. Disease burden in Brazil: an investigation into alcohol and non-viral cirrhosis. *Cien Saude Colet* 2015; 20: 491-501 [PMID: 25715143 DOI: 10.1590/1413-81232015202.011 42014]
- 35 Gonçalves PL, Zago-Gomes Mda P, Gonçalves CS, Pereira FE. Hepatitis virus and hepatocellular carcinoma in Brazil: a report from the State of Espírito Santo. *Rev Soc Bras Med Trop* 2014; 47: 559-563 [PMID: 25467255 DOI: 10.1590/0037-8682-0145-2014]
- 36 Llovet JM, Burroughs A, Bruix J. Hepatocellular carcinoma. Lancet 2003; 362: 1907-1917 [PMID: 14667750 DOI: 10.1016/ S0140-6736(03)14964-1]
- 37 Zhang BH, Yang BH, Tang ZY. Randomized controlled trial of screening for hepatocellular carcinoma. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol 2004; 130: 417-422 [PMID: 15042359 DOI: 10.1007/ s00432-004-0552-0]
- 38 European Association For The Study Of The Liver; European Organisation For Research And Treatment Of Cancer. EASL-EORTC clinical practice guidelines: management of hepatocellular carcinoma. J Hepatol 2012; 56: 908-943 [PMID: 22424438 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2011.12.001]
- 39 Omata M, Lesmana LA, Tateishi R, Chen PJ, Lin SM, Yoshida H, Kudo M, Lee JM, Choi BI, Poon RT, Shiina S, Cheng AL, Jia JD, Obi S, Han KH, Jafri W, Chow P, Lim SG, Chawla YK, Budihusodo U, Gani RA, Lesmana CR, Putranto TA, Liaw YF, Sarin SK. Asian Pacific Association for the Study of the Liver consensus recommendations on hepatocellular carcinoma. *Hepatol Int* 2010; 4: 439-474 [PMID: 20827404 DOI: 10.1007/s12072-010-9165-7]
- 40 Bruix J, Sherman M; American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases. Management of hepatocellular carcinoma: an update. *Hepatology* 2011; 53: 1020-1022 [PMID: 21374666 DOI: 10.1002/ hep.24199]
- 41 **Carrillo FJ**, Mattos AA, Vianey AF, Vezozzo DC, Marinho F, Souto FJ, Cotrim HP, Coelho HS, Silva I, Garcia JH, Kikuchi L, Lofego P, Andraus W, Strauss E, Silva G, Altikes I, Medeiros

JE, Bittencourt PL, Parise ER. Brazilian society of hepatology recommendations for the diagnosis and treatment of hepatocellular carcinoma. *Arq Gastroenterol* 2015; **52** Suppl 1: 2-14 [PMID: 26959803 DOI: 10.1590/S0004-28032015000500001]

- 42 Kokudo N, Hasegawa K, Akahane M, Igaki H, Izumi N, Ichida T, Uemoto S, Kaneko S, Kawasaki S, Ku Y, Kudo M, Kubo S, Takayama T, Tateishi R, Fukuda T, Matsui O, Matsuyama Y, Murakami T, Arii S, Okazaki M, Makuuchi M. Evidence-based Clinical Practice Guidelines for Hepatocellular Carcinoma: The Japan Society of Hepatology 2013 update (3rd JSH-HCC Guidelines). *Hepatol Res* 2015; 45 [PMID: 25625806 DOI: 10.1111/hepr.12464]
- 43 Chan SL, Chan AT, Yeo W. Role of alpha-fetoprotein in hepatocellular carcinoma: prognostication, treatment monitoring or both? *Future Oncol* 2009; **5**: 889-899 [PMID: 19663737 DOI: 10.2217/fon.09.64]
- 44 Schraiber Ldos S, de Mattos AA, Zanotelli ML, Cantisani GP, Brandão AB, Marroni CA, Kiss G, Ernani L, Marcon Pdos S. Alpha-fetoprotein Level Predicts Recurrence After Transplantation in Hepatocellular Carcinoma. *Medicine* (Baltimore) 2016; 95: e2478 [PMID: 26817881 DOI: 10.1097/MD.00000000002478]
- 45 Venook AP, Papandreou C, Furuse J, de Guevara LL. The incidence and epidemiology of hepatocellular carcinoma: a global and regional perspective. *Oncologist* 2010; 15 Suppl 4: 5-13 [PMID: 21115576 DOI: 10.1634/theoncologist.2010-S4-05]
- 46 Chiaramonte M, Stroffolini T, Vian A, Stazi MA, Floreani A, Lorenzoni U, Lobello S, Farinati F, Naccarato R. Rate of incidence of hepatocellular carcinoma in patients with compensated viral cirrhosis. *Cancer* 1999; 85: 2132-2137 [PMID: 10326690 DOI: 10.1002/(SICI)1097-0142(19990515)85:10<2132::AID-CNCR6>3.0.CO;2-H]
- 47 El-Serag HB, Johnson ML, Hachem C, Morgana RO. Statins are associated with a reduced risk of hepatocellular carcinoma in a large cohort of patients with diabetes. *Gastroenterology* 2009; 136: 1601-1608 [PMID: 19208359 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2009.01.053]
- 48 Chiu HF, Ho SC, Chen CC, Yang CY. Statin use and the risk of liver cancer: a population-based case-control study. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2011; 106: 894-898 [PMID: 21157439 DOI: 10.1038/ajg.2010.475]
- 49 Tsan YT, Lee CH, Ho WC, Lin MH, Wang JD, Chen PC. Statins and the risk of hepatocellular carcinoma in patients with hepatitis C virus infection. *J Clin Oncol* 2013; **31**: 1514-1521 [PMID: 23509319 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2012.44.6831]
- 50 Singh S, Singh PP, Roberts LR, Sanchez W. Chemopreventive strategies in hepatocellular carcinoma. *Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2014; 11: 45-54 [PMID: 23938452 DOI: 10.1038/ nrgastro.2013.143]
- 51 Singh S, Singh PP. Statins for prevention of hepatocellular cancer: one step closer? *Hepatology* 2014; 59: 724-726 [PMID: 23839991 DOI: 10.1002/hep.26614]
- 52 Lai SW, Liao KF, Lai HC, Muo CH, Sung FC, Chen PC. Statin use and risk of hepatocellular carcinoma. *Eur J Epidemiol* 2013; 28: 485-492 [PMID: 23681775 DOI: 10.1007/s10654-013-9806-y]
- 53 Björkhem-Bergman L, Backheden M, Söderberg Löfdal K. Statin treatment reduces the risk of hepatocellular carcinoma but not colon cancer-results from a nationwide case-control study in Sweden. *Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf* 2014; 23: 1101-1106 [PMID: 25074765 DOI: 10.1002/pds.3685]
- 54 McGlynn KA, Divine GW, Sahasrabuddhe VV, Engel LS, VanSlooten A, Wells K, Yood MU, Alford SH. Statin use and risk of hepatocellular carcinoma in a U.S. population. *Cancer Epidemiol* 2014; 38: 523-527 [PMID: 25113938 DOI: 10.1016/ j.canep.2014.06.009]

P- Reviewer: Lachenmeier DW, Zhang ZM, Zhu X S- Editor: Gong ZM L- Editor: A E- Editor: Zhang FF





WJG | www.wjgnet.com



Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/ Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v22.i46.10226 World J Gastroenterol 2016 December 14; 22(46): 10226-10231 ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online) © 2016 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Prospective Study

Genotype specific peripheral lipid profile changes with hepatitis C therapy

Mark R Pedersen, Amit Patel, David Backstedt, Myunghan Choi, Anil B Seetharam

Mark R Pedersen, Department of Internal Medicine, Banner University Medical Center, University of Arizona College of Medicine, Phoenix, AZ 85006, United States

Amit Patel, David Backstedt, Department of Gastroenterology, Banner University Medical Center, University of Arizona College of Medicine, Phoenix, AZ 85006, United States

Myunghan Choi, Arizona State University College of Nursing and Health Care Innovation, Phoenix, AZ 85006, United States

Anil B Seetharam, Banner Transplant and Advanced Liver Disease Center, University of Arizona College of Medicine, Phoenix, AZ 85006, United States

Author contributions: Seetharam AB designed the study; Pedersen MR, Patel A and Backstedt D performed the data collection; Choi M analyzed the data; Pedersen MR wrote the paper; and Seetharam AB revised the manuscript for final submission.

Institutional review board statement: This study was reviewed and approved by the Banner University Medical Center - Phoenix Institutional Review Board.

Informed consent statement: The need for informed consent for the prospective study was waived by our institutional review board.

Conflict-of-interest statement: Anil Seetharam has served as a speaker and accepted speaker's fees for Gilead and Janssen.

Data sharing statement: No additional data are available.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Manuscript source: Invited manuscript

Correspondence to: Anil B Seetharam, MD, Banner Transplant and Advanced Liver Disease Center, University of Arizona College of Medicine, 1300 N. 12th Street Suite 404, Phoenix, AZ 85006, United States. anil.seetharam@bannerhealth.com Telephone: +1-602-8397000 Fax: +1-602-8397050

Received: June 23, 2016 Peer-review started: June 24, 2016 First decision: August 29, 2016 Revised:September 27, 2016 Accepted: October 27, 2016 Article in press: October 27, 2016 Published online: December 14, 2016

Abstract

AIM

To evaluate magnitude/direction of changes in peripheral lipid profiles in patients undergoing direct acting therapy for hepatitis C by genotype.

METHODS

Mono-infected patients with hepatitis C were treated with guideline-based DAAs at a university-based liver clinic. Patient characteristics and laboratory values were collected before and after the treatment period. Baseline demographics included age, ethnicity, hypertension, diabetes, hyperlipidemia, treatment regimen, and fibrosis stage. Total cholesterol (TCHOL), high density lipoprotein (HDL), low density lipoprotein (LDL), triglycerides (TG), and liver function tests were measured prior to treatment and ETR. Changes in lipid and liver function were evaluated by subgroups with respect to genotype. Mean differences were calculated for each lipid profile and liver function component (direction/magnitude). The mean differences in lipid profiles were then compared between genotypes for differences in direction/magnitude. Lipid profile and liver function changes were evaluated with Levene's test and student's t test. Mean differences in lipid profiles



WJG www.wjgnet.com

were compared between genotypes using ANOVA, *post hoc* analysis *via* the Bonferroni correction or Dunnett T3.

RESULTS

Three hundred and seventy five patients enrolled with 321 (85.6%) achieving sustained-viral response at 12 wk. 72.3% were genotype 1 (GT1), 18.1% genotype 2 (GT2), 9.7% genotype 3 (GT3). Baseline demographics were similar. Significant change in lipid profiles were seen with GT1 and GT3 (Δ GT1, p and Δ GT3, p), with TCHOL increasing (+5.3, P = 0.005 and +16.1, P <0.001), HDL increasing (+12.5, P < 0.001 and +7.9, P = 0.038), LDL increasing (+7.4, P = 0.058 and +12.5, P < 0.001), and TG decreasing (-5.9, *P* = 0.044 and -9.80 P = 0.067). Among genotypes (Δ GT1 v. Δ GT2 v. Δ GT3, ANOVA), significant mean differences were seen with TCHOL (+5.3 v. +0.1 v. +16.1, P = 0.017) and HDL (+12.3 v. +2 v. +7.9, P = 0.040). Post-hoc, GT3 was associated with a greater increase in TCHOL than GT1 and GT2 (P = 0.028 and P = 0.019).

CONCLUSION

Successful DAA therapy results in increases in TCHOL, LDL, and HDL and decrease in TG, particularly in GT1/GT3. Changes are most pronounced in GT3.

Key words: Hepatitis C genotypes; Lipids; Metabolic syndrome

© **The Author(s) 2016.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core tip: Different genotypes of the hepatitis C virus (HCV) are associated with differing levels of hepatic steatosis, with genotype 3 (GT3) having the strongest direct association. In this investigation, change in peripheral lipid panels during direct-acting antiviral therapy were assessed in a large HCV treatment cohort with respect to genotype. Total cholesterol in patients with GT3 increased significantly during treatment compared to other genotypes. Associated steatosis and differing lipid kinetics may influence response rates to direct acting therapy and may also influence genotype specific risks of hepatic and systemic complications.

Pedersen MR, Patel A, Backstedt D, Choi M, Seetharam AB. Genotype specific peripheral lipid profile changes with hepatitis C therapy. *World J Gastroenterol* 2016; 22(46): 10226-10231 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/ v22/i46/10226.htm DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v22. i46.10226

INTRODUCTION

Chronic hepatitis C virus (HCV) infection is associated with hepatic steatosis and hypocholesterolemia^[1]. HCV utilizes peripheral lipid metabolism pathways including hepatocyte very-low-density lipoprotein for viral assembly and requires several apolipoproteins for production of infective particles^[2,3]. Chronic HCV increases levels of hepatic steatosis independent of other classical risk factors for non-alcoholic fatty liver disease^[1]. The magnitude of this effect varies by genotype. Genotype 3 (GT3) in particular is associated with a primary hepatic steatosis that appears to correlate directly with viral load while genotype 1 (GT1) and 2 (GT2) have less pronounced secondary steatosis related to increased insulin resistance and body mass index^[1-3].

Successful clearance of HCV viremia with immunomodulatory therapy (pegylated interferon and ribavirin) has been associated with a rise in serum total cholesterol (TCHOL) and low density lipoprotein (LDL)^[4]. In the post-interferon era, Meissner *et al*^[5] demonstrated that patients with chronic HCV GT1 treated with sofosbuvir and ribavirin had increases in their serum LDL and decrease in serum triglyceride (TG).

Peripheral lipid profile changes during treatment for non-genotype 1 infection with DAA therapy are thus far uncharacterized. The purpose of this study was to examine effects of DAA therapy on serum TCHOL and peripheral lipid components and evaluate differences in responses among HCV genotypes.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Ethical considerations

This study was reviewed and approved by the Banner University Medical Center - Phoenix Institutional Review Board. While data was collected prospectively, all patients were monitored in accordance with American Association for the Study of Liver Disease and Infectious Diseases Society of America hepatitis C guidelines. As there was no deviation from standard of care, need for informed consent for the prospective study was waived by the institutional review board.

Study design

We performed a prospective cohort study of consecutively-enrolled mono-infected HCV patients achieving sustained virologic response at 12 wk (SVR12) treated at Banner University of Arizona Medical Center in Phoenix, Arizona from January 2014 to November 2015. After institutional review board approval, outpatient medical records were reviewed and variables of interest tabulated.

Treatment regimens

All patients were treated according to the American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases and the Infectious Diseases Society of America guidelines active at the time of treatment initiation. Consecutively enrolled subjects received one of the following treatment regimens: pegylated Interferon alfa 2a + sofosbuvir + ribavirin; sofosbuvir + ribavirin; sofosbuvir + simeprevir; or ledipasvir + sofosbuvir. When applicable, ribavirin was dosed by weight, 1000 mg total daily dose if weight < 75 kg or 1200 mg total daily dose if > 75 kg. Pedersen MR et al. HCV Therapy effect on lipids profiles

Baseline demographics

Baseline demographics were recorded prior (within 30 d prior) to regimen initiation including: age, ethnicity, treatment regimen, and fibrosis stage as well as the presence of hypertension, diabetes, and hyperlipidemia prior to treatment. Liver function tests [including alanine aminotransferase (ALT), total bilirubin, and albumin] as well as the protime/International Normalized Ratio (INR) were recorded before and after treatment. Fibrosis stage was assessed via FibroSure serum testing (Laboratory Corporation of American, Herdon, Virginia) or liver biopsy. Presence of hypertension, diabetes, and hyperlipidemia prior to treatment was determined based on documentation of formal diagnosis in the medical record and concomitant medications regimens indicative of the diagnosis (e.g., insulin use was considered indicative of diabetes). Medication lists were monitored prior to and after the end of treatment for any new or discontinued medications.

Metabolic measurements

Per protocol in the Liver Clinic at Banner University of Arizona Medical Center in Phoenix, Arizona, fasting lipid profiles, including TCHOL, high density lipoprotein (HDL), LDL, and TG low density were measured prior to treatment and at the end of treatment (within one month). Testing was performed *via* commercially available assays with Laboratory Corporation of America (Phoenix, Arizona) and Sonora Quest Laboratories (Tempe, Arizona). Metabolic variables were measured at two different time points: (1) prior to treatment (start); and (2) completion of treatment regimen (end of treatment response-ETR).

Response to treatment

End of treatment response and SVR12 were biochemically defined by an undetectable or below the lower limit of quantification HCV RNA PCR quantitative assay (Laboratory Corporation of America, Phoenix, Arizona and Senora Quest Laboratories, Tempe, Arizona). Liver enzyme and function tests (including ALT, total bilirubin, and albumin) as well as the protime/ INR were recorded before and after treatment using standardized assays at these same laboratories.

Statistical analysis

Baseline demographics by genotype were compared using descriptive statistics including chi square analysis for categorical variables and one-way ANOVA for continuous variables. Patients not achieving SVR12 were excluded. Changes in lipid profile and liver function tests were evaluated for significance with Levene's test of equal variances and the paired t test.

Mean differences were calculated for each component of the lipid profile within each genotype from treatment start to end. Mean differences were compared among genotypes for differences in direction/magnitude by total population and patients with cirrhosis and non-cirrhosis independently using ANOVA. When significant differences were present, post-hoc analysis was performed using the Bonferroni correction (when equal variances assumed) or Dunnett T3 (when equal variances not assumed) to determine the significantly different pairs. Significance was set at P < 0.05. Subgroup analysis of the changes in lipid profiles was performed separately for cirrhotics and non-cirrhotics by genotypes.

SPSS software (Statistical Product and Services Solutions, version 22, Chicago, IL, United States) was used for statistical analyses. All authors had access to the study data and had reviewed and approved the final manuscript.

RESULTS

Study population

A total of 375 patients were enrolled, of which 321 (85.6%) achieved SVR12 and were included in the study. Of these, 232 (72.3%) had G1, 58 (18.1%) had G2, and 31 (9.7%) had G3. Baseline demographics (Table 1) were similar, including prevalence of diabetes, hypertension, and hyperlipidemia. Incidence of cirrhosis was significantly higher in the G2 group (56.9%) than the G3 group (45.2%). During DAA therapy, serum albumin increased and ALT decreased across all genotypes (all P < 0.01). Serum INR improved only in G2 (P < 0.001) (Table 2).

Changes in peripheral lipid profiles during DAA therapy stratified by cirrhosis

On analysis by genotype, significant changes in lipid profiles were seen with GT1 and GT3. In GT1, TCHOL increased from 156.9 to 162.2 mg/dL (P = 0.005), LDL increased from 80.2 to 87.6 mg/dL (P = 0.058), HDL increased from 51.6 to 63.6 mg/dL (P < 0.001), and TG decreased from 114.6 to 108.7 mg/dL (P = 0.044). In GT3, TCHOL increased from 141.5 to 157.6 mg/dL (P < 0.001), HDL increased from 81.4 to 93.9 mg/dL (P = 0.038) and LDL increased from 81.4 to 93.9 mg/dL (P < 0.001). No significant changes were seen for GT2. These trends were consistent irrespective of the presence or absence of cirrhosis (Table 3). In the total population, absolute pre-treatment TCHOL was lowest in GT3 (P = 0.032), however similar between all three groups at the end of treatment (P = 0.81).

Differential effects in peripheral lipid profile based on genotype

On post-hoc comparison of the mean differences in lipid profiles between genotype (GT1 *vs* GT2 *vs* GT3, p), significant changes were seen in the total population with TCHOL (+5.3 mg/dL *vs* +0.1 mg/dL *vs* +16.7 mg/dL, P = 0.017) and HDL (+12.3 mg/dL *vs* +2 mg/dL *vs* +7.9 mg/dL, P = 0.049) (Table 4). GT3 was associated with a greater increase in TCHOL than both GT1 (P = 0.028) and GT2 (P = 0.019). There was no significant difference in HDL changes between paired

| Table 1 Baseline demo | ographics <i>n</i> (%) | | | | |
|-----------------------|------------------------|----------------|-----------------|-----------------|----------------|
| | All | Genotype 1 | Genotype 2 | Genotype 3 | <i>P</i> value |
| Number of patients | 321 (100) | 232 (72.3) | 58 (18.1) | 31 (9.7) | |
| Age (yr) | 57.7 ± 10.3 | 58.9 ± 9.5 | 55.5 ± 12.1 | 54.6 ± 10.8 | 0.009 |
| Gender (male) | 221 (68.8) | 160 (59.4) | 41 (61.2) | 20 (64.5) | 0.845 |
| Ethnicity | | | | | |
| Caucasian | 229 (71.3) | 171 (73.7) | 40 (70.0) | 18 (58.1) | 0.018 |
| African American | 19 (5.9) | 18 (7.8) | 1 (1.7) | 0 (0.0) | |
| Hispanic | 55 (17.1) | 32 (13.8) | 13 (22.4) | 10 (32.3) | |
| Asian | 16 (5.0) | 9 (3.9) | 4 (6.9) | 3 (9.7) | |
| Other | 2 (0.6) | 2 (0.9) | 0 (0.0) | 0 (0.0) | |
| Diabetes | 79 (24.6) | 59 (25.4) | 14 (24.2) | 6 (19.4) | 0.593 |
| Hypertension | 132 (41.1) | 105 (45.3) | 22 (37.9) | 5 (16.1) | 0.086 |
| Hyperlipidemia | 59 (18.4) | 44 (19.0) | 12 (20.7) | 3 (9.7) | 0.453 |
| Cirrhotic | 150 (46.7) | 103 (44.4) | 33 (56.9) | 14 (45.2) | < 0.001 |
| Treatment | | | | | |
| IFN + SOF + RBV | | 25 (10.8) | 0 (0.0) | 0 (0.0) | |
| SOF + RBV | | 57 (24.6) | 58 (100) | 31 (100) | |
| SOF + SMV | | 42 (19.0) | 0 (0.0) | 0 (0.0) | |
| SOF + LDV | | 140 (60.3) | 0 (0.0) | 0 (0.0) | |

IFN: Pegylated interferon; SOF: Sofosbuvir; RBV: Ribavirin; SMV: Simeprevir; LDV: Ledipasvir.

Table 2 Changes in liver function tests

| | | Genotype 1 | | | Genotype 2 | | | Genotype 3 | |
|-------------------------|-----------------|-----------------|---------|-----------------|---------------|---------|----------------|-----------------|---------|
| | Start Tx | End Tx | P value | Start Tx | End Tx | P value | Start Tx | End Tx | P value |
| Albumin (g/dL) | 3.5 ± 0.6 | 3.8 ± 0.6 | < 0.001 | 3.5 ± 0.5 | 3.7 ± 0.6 | < 0.002 | 3.4 ± 0.5 | 3.7 ± 0.6 | < 0.001 |
| ALT (U/L) | 70.2 ± 58.3 | 31.7 ± 38.7 | < 0.001 | 68.7 ± 48.3 | 26.4 ± 17.8 | < 0.001 | 101.9 ± 61.6 | 30.7 ± 30.3 | < 0.001 |
| Total Bilirubin (mg/dL) | 1.0 ± 0.8 | 0.9 ± 0.8 | 0.008 | 1.0 ± 0.9 | 0.9 ± 0.9 | 0.202 | 1.1 ± 0.7 | 1.1 ± 0.8 | 0.904 |
| INR | 1.1 ± 0.2 | 1.1 ± 0.3 | 0.112 | 1.1 ± 0.1 | 1.0 ± 0.1 | < 0.001 | 1.1 ± 0.2 | 1.1 ± 0.3 | 0.509 |

ALT: Alanine transaminase; INR: International Normalized Ratio.

Table 3 Changes in lipid profile by genotype in patients with cirrhosis and non cirrhosis

| | Т | otal population | | | Non-cirrhotics | | | Cirrhotics | | |
|------------|------------------|------------------|---------|------------------|------------------|---------|------------------|------------------|---------|--|
| | Start Tx | End Tx | P value | Start Tx | End Tx | P value | Start Tx | End Tx | P value | |
| Genotype 1 | | | | | | | | | | |
| T Chol | 156.9 ± 36.4 | 162.2 ± 41.0 | 0.005 | 169.9 ± 33.2 | 175.7 ± 38.2 | 0.046 | 146.4 ± 35.6 | 151.4 ± 40.0 | 0.052 | |
| HDL | 51.6 ± 18.5 | 63.9 ± 32.8 | < 0.001 | 54.4 ± 19.5 | 72.7 ± 36.4 | < 0.001 | 49.3 ± 17.2 | 56.9 ± 27.6 | 0.002 | |
| LDL | 80.2 ± 28.8 | 87.6 ± 62.7 | 0.058 | 87.1 ± 28.1 | 91.8 ± 31.6 | 0.091 | 74.6 ± 28.2 | 84.2 ± 79.1 | 0.15 | |
| TG | 114.6 ± 56.0 | 108.7 ± 56.0 | 0.044 | 117.3 ± 55.1 | 111.6 ± 57.6 | 0.27 | 112.5 ± 56.6 | 106.4 ± 56.5 | 0.070 | |
| Genotype 2 | | | | | | | | | | |
| T Chol | 162.9 ± 35.8 | 163.0 ± 32.9 | 0.99 | 174.2 ± 29.8 | 173.7 ± 27.5 | 0.91 | 148.2 ± 37.7 | 148.9 ± 34.1 | 0.90 | |
| HDL | 52.8 ± 18.6 | 54.8 ± 20.0 | 0.39 | 54.9 ± 17.4 | 55.3 ± 17.4 | 0.88 | 50.0 ± 19.7 | 54.0 ± 23.0 | 0.28 | |
| LDL | 86.7 ± 34.0 | 87.4 ± 30.2 | 0.82 | 95.3 ± 31.8 | 96.4 ± 27.0 | 0.82 | 75.4 ± 33.4 | 75.7 ± 30.0 | 0.93 | |
| TG | 114.3 ± 64.1 | 112.4 ± 65.8 | 0.73 | 120.6 ± 68.4 | 124.0 ± 74.2 | 0.72 | 106.1 ± 59.7 | 97.1 ± 48.6 | 0.078 | |
| Genotype 3 | | | | | | | | | | |
| T Chol | 141.5 ± 38.4 | 157.6 ± 34.4 | < 0.001 | 161.4 ± 35.5 | 181.5 ± 23.5 | 0.001 | 125.1 ± 32.5 | 137.9 ± 29.1 | 0.025 | |
| HDL | 45.4 ± 15.1 | 53.3 ± 16.6 | 0.038 | 49.3 ± 14.0 | 53.2 ± 14.3 | 0.37 | 42.2 ± 15.3 | 53.3 ± 18.2 | 0.065 | |
| LDL | 81.4 ± 32.1 | 93.9 ± 34.9 | < 0.001 | 92.5 ± 26.1 | 110.4 ± 21.4 | 0.003 | 72.2 ± 33.6 | 80.3 ± 37.9 | 0.045 | |
| TG | 108.6 ± 47.5 | 98.8 ± 41.2 | 0.047 | 119.0 ± 58.6 | 112.6 ± 47.1 | 0.36 | 100.1 ± 33.4 | 87.5 ± 31.2 | 0.12 | |

All values expressed as mean ± SD. All units are in mg/dL. T Chol: Total cholesterol; HDL: High density lipoprotein; LDL: Low density lipoprotein; TG: Triglycerides; Start Tx: Prior to treatment; End Tx: End of treatment.

genotypes on post-hoc analysis. In non-cirrhotics, the trends were similar, with changes in TCHOL (+5.8 mg/dL vs -0.4 mg/dL vs +12.8 mg/dL, P = 0.066) and in HDL (+18.2 mg/dL vs +0.5 mg/dL vs +11.1 mg/dL, P = 0.008). GT3 was associated with a greater increase in TCHOL than GT2 (P = 0.048). Additionally, GT1 was associated with a greater increase in HDL than GT2 (P

= 0.012). In cirrhotics, there were no differences seen in the changes in lipid profiles between genotype (Table 4).

DISCUSSION

Chronic hepatitis C infection is closely linked to lipid metabolism *via* shared use of the classical secretory

Pedersen MR et al. HCV Therapy effect on lipids profiles

| Table 4 | Differenti | al effect i | n lipid pro | ofile by geno | otype in p | atients wit | h cirrhosis | and non-ci | rrhosis | | | |
|---------|------------|-------------|-------------|---------------|------------|-------------|-------------|------------|---------|------|--------|---------|
| | | All p | atients | | | Non-ci | rrhotics | | | Cirr | hotics | |
| | GT1 | GT2 | GT3 | P value | GT1 | GT2 | GT3 | P value | GT1 | GT2 | GT3 | P value |
| T Chol | 5.3 | 0.1 | 16.1 | 0.017 | 5.8 | -0.4 | 12.8 | 0.066 | 5.0 | 0.7 | 20.1 | 0.39 |
| HDL | 12.3 | 2.0 | 7.9 | 0.049 | 18.2 | 0.5 | 11.1 | 0.008 | 7.6 | 4.0 | 4.0 | 0.69 |
| LDL | -5.9 | -1.1 | -11.9 | 0.550 | 4.6 | 1.0 | 8.1 | 0.150 | 9.7 | 0.3 | 17.9 | 0.82 |
| TG | 7.4 | 2.1 | 21.2 | 0.130 | -5.7 | 3.4 | -12.6 | 0.650 | -6.1 | -9.0 | -6.4 | 0.76 |

All values expressed as mean ± SD. All units are in mg/dL. T Chol: Total cholesterol; HDL: High density lipoprotein; LDL: Low density lipoprotein; TG: Triglycerides; Start Tx: Prior to treatment; End Tx: End of treatment.

pathway^[2,6-8]; however, specific viral/host protein interactions require further elucidation^[9]. The link between lipid metabolism and HCV was of particular interest during the era of interferon-based treatment, when components of the metabolic syndrome were identified as negative predictors of achieving SVR^[10]. However, medications aimed to optimize metabolic syndrome conditions prior to antiviral treatment, such as the PPAR- γ agonist pioglitazone and the 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-coenzyme A reductase inhibitor fluvastatin, yielded no significant improvement in SVR rates with pegylated-interferon based therapy^[11-15].

Increase in serum cholesterol levels during HCV infection has been demonstrated with successful HCV treatment. Previously identified changes in peripheral lipid profiles included increases in TCHOL and LDL^[4,16-18]. It has also been associated with increases in $\mathsf{HDL}^{\scriptscriptstyle[16,19]}$, though not in all studies^[4,17]. In our study, we found that treatment with DAA resulted in increases in TCHOL, LDL, HDL as well as a decrease in TGs in GT1, and increases in TCHOL, HDL, and LDL in GT3. Changes occurred irrespective of established pre-treatment cirrhosis. GT2 did not have any significant changes in lipid particle concentration. Meissner et al^[5], in his 2015 study of 55 GT1 patients treated sofosbuvir and ribavirin without interferon, also reported an increase in LDL and decrease in TG, however did not find any significant changes in TCHOL or HDL.

Research on the differences in lipid metabolism between genotypes of hepatitis C have focused mainly on steatosis. A review of 14 studies from 1997 through 2004 estimated the prevalence of steatosis in patients with chronic HCV to be 40%-86% (mean approximately 55%), compared to a baseline of approximately 20%-30% of patients in the United States and other western countries without the virus^[20]. GT3 in particular is associated with an increased incidence and severity of hepatic steatosis, estimated at 73% in this same study^[20]. This steatosis, in contrast to GT1, is independent of any co-existing insulin resistance or obesity^[1-3]. Hypocholesterolemia has been found to various extents across genotypes and is also known to be more pronounced in patients with GT3^[21,22]. This was also seen in our study. While the exact mechanism is unknown, it likely relates to alterations of the distal cholesterol synthesis pathway^[23].

Relatively little is known about the different effect of genotypes on the magnitude of lipid profile changes from start to end of treatment. One study identified that only GT3 treatment responders, but not non-responders or any GT1 patients, demonstrate an increase in serum cholesterol^[24]. A more recent investigation found significant post-therapeutic increases in TCHOL, LDL, HDL, and TGs, but greater increases in HDL in patients with GT2^[16]. All of the aforementioned analyses primarily included subjects treated with interferon and ribavirin.

Our study is the first to compare mean differences in lipid profile components between GT1, GT2, and GT3 after treatment with DAAs. We found patients with GT3 to have the most profound changes in lipid profile, characterized by a significantly greater increase in TCHOL than both GT1 and GT2 across the entire population. This was also reflected in our cirrhotic and non-cirrhotic subgroups. On the other hand, the lipid profiles of patient with GT2 were relatively unaffected by treatment in the cirrhotics, non-cirrhotics, and combined analysis, though the reason for this is unclear. Nonetheless, GT2 experienced improvement in synthetic function congruent with GT1 and GT3, as noted by an increase in albumin, and perhaps even better than GT1 and GT3 as evidenced by the significant improvement in INR not seen in the other two genotypes.

Unfavorable lipid changes are most pronounced in those with HCV GT3 infection who are successfully treated with DAAs. This may be a reflection of the more severe hypocholesterolemia that affects this group prior to treatment. Here, the increase in TCHOL brought it into a range that was not significantly different than either GT1 or GT2. The long term effect of the change in lipid profiles on cardiovascular risk and mortality is unknown, though it has been demonstrated that that patients successfully treated for HCV have lipid profiles may return to levels that potentially increase coronary disease risk^[4]. Long term follow-up of these patients is warranted to correlate these changes with clinical outcomes.

COMMENTS

Background

Different genotypes of the hepatitis C virus (HCV) are associated with differing levels of hepatic steatosis, with genotype 3 having the strongest direct association.

Innovations and breakthroughs

In this investigation, change in peripheral lipid panels during direct-acting antiviral therapy were assessed in a large HCV treatment cohort with respect to genotype. Total cholesterol in patients with genotype 3 increased significantly during treatment compared to other genotypes. Associated steatosis and differing lipid kinetics may influence response rates to direct acting therapy and may also influence genotype specific risks of hepatic and systemic complications.

Peer-review

The authors deal with a very interesting topic concerning the genotype specific peripheral lipid changes during daa therapy are uncharacterized. The manuscript is well written and although only four markers are used to support the scientific hypothesis data are promising.

REFERENCES

- Chang ML. Metabolic alterations and hepatitis C: From bench to bedside. *World J Gastroenterol* 2016; 22: 1461-1476 [PMID: 26819514 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v22.i4.1461]
- 2 Del Campo JA, Romero-Gómez M. Modulation of host lipid metabolism by hepatitis C virus: Role of new therapies. *World J Gastroenterol* 2015; 21: 10776-10782 [PMID: 26478669 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v21.i38.10776]
- 3 Hézode C, Roudot-Thoraval F, Zafrani ES, Dhumeaux D, Pawlotsky JM. Different mechanisms of steatosis in hepatitis C virus genotypes 1 and 3 infections. *J Viral Hepat* 2004; 11: 455-458 [PMID: 15357652]
- 4 Corey KE, Kane E, Munroe C, Barlow LL, Zheng H, Chung RT. Hepatitis C virus infection and its clearance alter circulating lipids: implications for long-term follow-up. *Hepatology* 2009; 50: 1030-1037 [PMID: 19787818 DOI: 10.1002/hep.23219]
- 5 Meissner EG, Lee YJ, Osinusi A, Sims Z, Qin J, Sturdevant D, McHutchison J, Subramanian M, Sampson M, Naggie S, Patel K, Remaley AT, Masur H, Kottilil S. Effect of sofosbuvir and ribavirin treatment on peripheral and hepatic lipid metabolism in chronic hepatitis C virus, genotype 1-infected patients. *Hepatology* 2015; 61: 790-801 [PMID: 25203718 DOI: 10.1002/hep.27424]
- 6 Lindenbach BD, Rice CM. Unravelling hepatitis C virus replication from genome to function. *Nature* 2005; 436: 933-938 [PMID: 16107832 DOI: 10.1038/nature04077]
- 7 Choo QL, Kuo G, Weiner AJ, Overby LR, Bradley DW, Houghton M. Isolation of a cDNA clone derived from a blood-borne non-A, non-B viral hepatitis genome. *Science* 1989; 244: 359-362 [PMID: 2523562]
- 8 Tiwari S, Siddiqi SA. Intracellular trafficking and secretion of VLDL. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2012; 32: 1079-1086 [PMID: 22517366 DOI: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.111.241471]
- 9 Coller KE, Heaton NS, Berger KL, Cooper JD, Saunders JL, Randall G. Molecular determinants and dynamics of hepatitis C virus secretion. *PLoS Pathog* 2012; 8: e1002466 [PMID: 22241992]
- 10 Cheng FK, Torres DM, Harrison SA. Hepatitis C and lipid metabolism, hepatic steatosis, and NAFLD: still important in the era of direct acting antiviral therapy? *J Viral Hepat* 2014; 21: 1-8 [PMID: 24329852 DOI: 10.1111/jvh.12172]
- 11 Conjeevaram H, Burant CF, McKenna B, Harsh D, Kang H, Das AK, Everett L, White D, and Lok ASH. A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study of PPAR-gamma agonist pioglitazone given in combination with peginterferon and ribavirin in patients with genotype-1 chronic hepatitis C. *Hepatology* 2008;

48 Suppl: 348A [DOI: 10.1002/hep.22641]

- 12 Harrison SA, Hamzeh FM, Han J, Pandya PK, Sheikh MY, Vierling JM. Chronic hepatitis C genotype 1 patients with insulin resistance treated with pioglitazone and peginterferon alpha-2a plus ribavirin. *Hepatology* 2012; 56: 464-473 [PMID: 22334369 DOI: 10.1002/hep.25661]
- 13 Ikeda M, Abe K, Yamada M, Dansako H, Naka K, Kato N. Different anti-HCV profiles of statins and their potential for combination therapy with interferon. *Hepatology* 2006; 44: 117-125 [PMID: 16799963 DOI: 10.1002/hep21232]
- 14 Milazzo L, Meroni L, Galazzi M, Cesari M, Caramma I, Marchetti G, Galli M, Antinori S. Does fluvastatin favour HCV replication in vivo? A pilot study on HIV-HCV coinfected patients. *J Viral Hepat* 2009; 16: 479-484 [PMID: 19215577 DOI: 10.1111/j.1359-289.2009.01104.x]
- 15 Rao GA, Pandya PK. Statin therapy improves sustained virologic response among diabetic patients with chronic hepatitis C. *Gastroenterology* 2011; 140: 144-152 [PMID: 20833169 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2010.08.055]
- 16 Chang ML, Tsou YK, Hu TH, Lin CH, Lin WR, Sung CM, Chen TH, Cheng ML, Chang KC, Chiu CT, Yeh CT, Pang JH, Shiao MS. Distinct patterns of the lipid alterations between genotype 1 and 2 chronic hepatitis C patients after viral clearance. *PLoS One* 2014; 9: e104783 [PMID: 25122116 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0104783]
- 17 Jung HJ, Kim YS, Kim SG, Lee YN, Jeong SW, Jang JY, Lee SH, Kim HS, Kim BS. The impact of pegylated interferon and ribavirin combination treatment on lipid metabolism and insulin resistance in chronic hepatitis C patients. *Clin Mol Hepatol* 2014; 20: 38-46 [PMID: 24757657 DOI: 10.3350/cmh.2014.20.1.38]
- 18 Bassendine MF, Sheridan DA, Bridge SH, Felmlee DJ, Neely RD. Lipids and HCV. Semin Immunopathol 2013; 35: 87-100 [PMID: 23111699 DOI: 10.1007/s00281-012-0356-2]
- 19 Pedersen M, Backstedt D, Kakati B, Choi M, and Seetharam A. Direct Acting Antiviral Therapy Improves Components of the Metabolic Syndrome during Treatment of Chronic Hepatitis C Infection. *Gastroenterology* 2015; 148: S1002-S1003 [DOI: 10.1016/S0016-5085(15)33421-1]
- 20 Asselah T, Rubbia-Brandt L, Marcellin P, Negro F. Steatosis in chronic hepatitis C: why does it really matter? *Gut* 2006; 55: 123-130 [PMID: 16344578]
- 21 Sheridan DA, Price DA, Schmid ML, Toms GL, Donaldson P, Neely D, Bassendine MF. Apolipoprotein B-associated cholesterol is a determinant of treatment outcome in patients with chronic hepatitis C virus infection receiving anti-viral agents interferonalpha and ribavirin. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2009; 29: 1282-1290 [PMID: 19392865 DOI: 10.111/j.1365-2036.2009.04012.x]
- 22 Hofer H, Bankl HC, Wrba F, Steindl-Munda P, Peck-Radosavljevic M, Osterreicher C, Mueller C, Gangl A, Ferenci P. Hepatocellular fat accumulation and low serum cholesterol in patients infected with HCV-3a. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2002; **97**: 2880-2885 [PMID: 12425563 DOI: 10.1016/S0002/9270(02)05473-4]
- 23 Clark PJ, Thompson AJ, Vock DM, Kratz LE, Tolun AA, Muir AJ, McHutchison JG, Subramanian M, Millington DM, Kelley RI, Patel K. Hepatitis C virus selectively perturbs the distal cholesterol synthesis pathway in a genotype-specific manner. *Hepatology* 2012; 56: 49-56 [PMID: 22318926 DOI: 10.1002/hep.25631]
- 24 Fernández-Rodríguez CM, López-Serrano P, Alonso S, Gutiérrez ML, Lledó JL, Pérez-Calle JL, Temiño R, Cacho G, Nevado M, Casas ML, Gasalla JM, Bonet B. Long-term reversal of hypocholesterolaemia in patients with chronic hepatitis C is related to sustained viral response and viral genotype. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2006; 24: 507-512 [PMID: 16886916 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2036.2006.03000.x]
- P-Reviewer: Georgopoulou U, Kanda T, Nakamoto S S-Editor: Yu J L-Editor: A E-Editor: Zhang FF





WJG | www.wjgnet.com



Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/ Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v22.i46.10232 World J Gastroenterol 2016 December 14; 22(46): 10232-10241 ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online) © 2016 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Prospective Study

Long-term prognostic impact of circulating tumour cells in gastric cancer patients

Hiroaki Ito, Jun Sato, Yukio Tsujino, Noriko Yamaguchi, Satoshi Kimura, Keigo Gohda, Katsuhiro Murakami, Manabu Onimaru, Tohru Ohmori, Fumihiro Ishikawa, Haruhiro Inoue

Hiroaki Ito, Manabu Onimaru, Haruhiro Inoue, Department of Surgery, Digestive Disease Center, Showa University Koto Toyosu Hospital, Tokyo 135-8577, Japan

Jun Sato, Yukio Tsujino, Keigo Gohda, Katsuhiro Murakami, Central Research Laboratories, Sysmex Corporation, Kobe 651-2271, Japan

Noriko Yamaguchi, Department of Surgery, Digestive Disease Center, Showa University Northern Yokohama Hospital, Yokohama 224-8503, Japan

Satoshi Kimura, Department of Laboratory Medicine and Central Clinical Laboratory, Showa University Northern Yokohama Hospital, Yokohama 224-8503, Japan

Tohru Ohmori, Institute of Molecular Oncology, Showa University School of Medicine, Tokyo 142-8555, Japan

Fumihiro Ishikawa, Department of Cancer Cell Biology, Showa University School of Pharmacy, Tokyo 142-8555, Japan

Author contributions: Ito H conceived and designed the experiments, collected blood samples, performed the experiments, managed clinical examination, performed treatment of individual patients, delivered clinical data, and performed the statistical analysis and data interpretation; Sato J, Tsujino Y, Gohda K, and Murakami K analysed the blood cells in the peripheral blood samples from the patients; Yamaguchi N and Onimaru M managed clinical examination, performed treatment of individual patients, and delivered clinical data; Kimura S participated in the study design, maintained the equipment, including the test tubes, and performed data interpretation; Ohmori T and Ishikawa F participated in the study design and performed data interpretation; Inoue H participated in the study design, performed treatment of individual patients, and performed data interpretation; all authors have read and approved the final manuscript.

Supported by a Japan Society for the Promotion of Science (JSPS) KAKENHI Grant-in-Aid for Challenging Exploratory Research (in part), No. 23659308; and JSPS KAKENHI Grant-in-Aid for Scientific Research, No. 26460688.

Institutional review board statement: The study was approved by the Institutional Review Board of the Showa University, Northern Yokohama Hospital (No. 0903-03).

Clinical trial registration statement: This study was registered with the University Hospital Medical Information Network in Japan, UMIN000004026.

Informed consent statement: The study protocol was explained to the patients and volunteers before written informed consent was obtained.

Conflict-of-interest statement: The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Data sharing statement: No additional data are available.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Manuscript source: Invited manuscript

Correspondence to: Hiroaki Ito, MD, Department of Surgery, Digestive Disease Center, Showa University Koto Toyosu Hospital, 5-1-38 Toyosu, Koto-ku, Tokyo 135-8577, Japan. h.ito@med.showa-u.ac.jp Telephone: +81-3-62046000 Fax: +81-3-62046396

Received: August 19, 2016 Peer-review started: August 22, 2016 First decision: September 12, 2016 Revised: September 27, 2016 Accepted: October 27, 2016 Article in press: October 27, 2016 Published online: December 14, 2016



WJG | www.wjgnet.com

Abstract

AIM

To analyse the long-term prognostic impact of circulating tumour cells (CTCs) in gastric cancer patients who underwent surgery.

METHODS

A 7.5-mL peripheral vein blood sample was obtained from each patient with treatment-negative gastric adenocarcinoma before surgery. OBP-401, a telomerasespecific, replication-selective, oncolytic adenoviral agent carrying the green fluorescent protein gene, was used to label CTCs. Correlations between the number of CTCs and clinical end points were evaluated.

RESULTS

The median follow-up period of the surviving patients with gastric cancer was 60 mo. The CTC number tended to increase concomitantly with disease progression. The overall survival of patients with more than five CTCs in 7.5-mL of peripheral blood was lower than that of patients with five or less CTCs, although the difference was not significant (P = 0.183). A significant difference in relapse-free survival was found between patients with more than five and those with five or less CTCs (P = 0.034).

CONCLUSION

A lower number of CTCs was correlated with higher relapse-free survival rates in patients. Detection of CTCs using OBP-401 may be useful for predicting prognosis in gastric cancer.

Key words: Circulating tumour cells; Gastric cancer; Surgery; Telomerase; Prognosis

© **The Author(s) 2016.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core tip: We show the long-term prognostic impact of circulating tumour cells (CTCs) in 65 patients with gastric cancer in this report. OBP-401, a telomerasespecific, replication-selective, oncolytic adenoviral agent carrying the green fluorescent protein gene, was used to label CTCs. A lower number of CTCs was correlated with higher relapse-free survival rates in patients with gastric cancer.

Ito H, Sato J, Tsujino Y, Yamaguchi N, Kimura S, Gohda K, Murakami K, Onimaru M, Ohmori T, Ishikawa F, Inoue H. Long-term prognostic impact of circulating tumour cells in gastric cancer patients. *World J Gastroenterol* 2016; 22(46): 10232-10241 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet. com/1007-9327/full/v22/i46/10232.htm DOI: http://dx.doi. org/10.3748/wjg.v22.i46.10232

INTRODUCTION

The presence of circulating tumour cells (CTCs) in

peripheral blood indicates a systemic disease stage in various malignancies, as CTCs are thought to be the source of haematogenous metastasis^[1]. Detection of CTCs in peripheral blood is useful for prognosis, monitoring of disease progression, and evaluation of treatment efficacy in breast^[2], lung^[3], prostate^[4], skin^[5], colon^[6], gastric^[7], and esophageal cancer^[8,9]. Although various methods have been developed to detect CTCs, the most commonly used techniques for their enrichment and characterisation are density gradient separation^[10], immunomagnetic separation^[11] flow cytometry^[12], direct enrichment by filtration^[13], and microchip technology^[14]. The CellSearch System (Veridex, LLC, Raritan, NJ, United States), which is based on immunomagnetic cell enrichment, is one of the most widely used techniques for automated enrichment and detection of CTCs^[15,16]. The advantage of immunomagnetic cell separation is that CTCs can be directly visualised under a microscope. In the CellSearch assay, cells detected with antibodies against epithelial markers (e.g., epithelial cell adhesion molecules, or EpCAMs) are classified as CTCs. During the epithelialmesenchymal transition (EMT), an important process that occurs in CTCs^[17], expression of epithelial surface markers is reduced. Thus, systems that rely on epithelial markers may fail to detect CTCs undergoing EMT^[18]. Methodologies based on direct enrichment by filtration may circumvent this issue to some extent, although cells detected in this manner often lack tumourigenicity.

Increased telomerase activity is a common characteristic of malignant tumours, and telomerase plays important roles in carcinogenesis and disease progression^[19]. OBP-401 (TelomeScan, Oncolys BioPharma, Tokyo, Japan) is a telomerase-specific, replication-selective modified viral agent in which the human telomerase reverse transcriptase (TERT) gene promoter is inserted into the E1 region, and the green fluorescent protein (GFP) gene is placed under the control of the cytomegalovirus promoter in the E3 region as a marker of viral replication^[20]. Thus, OBP-401 only proliferates in viable cells with high telomerase activity and provides a fluorescent label that allows tumour cells to be labelled, regardless of their epithelial marker expression profiles. We previously used OBP-401 to detect cells with high telomerase activity in blood samples of healthy and treatment-negative gastric cancer patients before surgery. We took 7.5-mL peripheral blood samples from cancer patients before surgery and healthy volunteers. We detected viable GFP-positive CTCs in the blood samples after incubation with OBP-401. This revealed that in patients with gastric cancer, a greater proportion of "high telomerase activity" cells was associated with a significantly poorer prognosis^[21]. In this report, we describe the final long-term results (median follow-up time of five years) of this initial study, which demonstrate that the OBP-401-dependent CTC assay has clinical utility in patients with gastric cancer.



MATERIALS AND METHODS

Patients and healthy volunteers

This report was the final analysis of our prospective preliminary study on CTCs from 65 patients with treatment-negative gastric adenocarcinoma who underwent surgery at the Digestive Disease Center of the Showa University Northern Yokohama Hospital between April 2010 and May 2011, and from whom we extracted peripheral blood samples before treatment. The inclusion criteria were: (1) histologically proven adenocarcinoma of the stomach by endoscopic biopsy; (2) clinical solitary tumour; (3) no prior endoscopic resection, chemotherapy, or radiotherapy; (4) aged 20-80 years; (5) Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group performance status (Oken et al^[22], 1982) of 0 or 1; (6) sufficient organ function; and (7) written informed consent. The exclusion criteria were: (1) synchronous or metachronous malignancy; (2) pregnant or breastfeeding women; (3) active or chronic viral hepatitis; (4) active bacterial or fungal infection; (5) diabetes mellitus; (6) systemic administration of corticosteroids; and (7) unstable hypertension. The pathologic stage of the disease was determined according to the seventh edition of the American Joint Committee on Cancer/ International Union Against Cancer TNM classification system^[23]. The depth of the tumour invasion in four patients without gastrectomy and the regional lymph node status of seven patients without sufficient lymphadenectomy were surgically diagnosed.

All of the patients were checked regularly in our hospital every 3 mo for the first 3 years post-operation, and every 6 mo for the following two post-operative years. The patients also underwent endoscopy and computed tomography at least once a year, according to their disease stage and course. Healthy volunteers were also recruited as controls. All healthy volunteers were employees of Sysmex Corporation, which included seven men (mean age, 31.4 years; range, 24-39 years) and three women (mean age, 33.7 years; range, 26-48 years). All volunteers underwent medical check-ups upon employment and annually; check-ups included medical interviews, auscultation, chest radiography, and blood and urine analyses. In addition, individual interviews were conducted before sample collection; any volunteer who was currently receiving medical treatment, pregnant, or breast-feeding or who had donated blood within the past month was excluded.

Telomerase-specific viral agent

OBP-401, a telomerase-specific, replication-selective adenoviral agent in which the *TERT* promoter element drives the expression of the *EIA* and *EIB* genes and into which the *GFP* gene is integrated, was used. The sensitivity and specificity of the assay using OBP-401 have been reported previously^[24]. Viral samples were stored at -80 $^{\circ}$ C.

Sample preparation and immunostaining

Details of sample preparation and assay were described

in our previous report^[21]. A 7.5-mL peripheral vein blood sample was obtained from each patient before surgery and from each healthy volunteer. The samples were drawn into tubes containing citric acid, phosphoric acid, and dextrose, and stored at 4 °C. The assay was started within 48 h of sample collection. The samples were centrifuged for 5 min at 540 \times g, and the plasma phase was removed. The cells were then washed four times with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) and twice with Roswell Park Memorial Institute medium. The samples were infected with 4×10^8 plaqueforming units of OBP-401 virus by incubation in the medium for 24 h at 37 °C. Dead cells were stained with the red-fluorescent reactive dye L23102 (Life Technologies, Carlsbad, CA, United States), OBP-401 was inactivated, and the cells were fixed with 2% paraformaldehyde for 20 min at room temperature. The samples were treated with a surface-active agent (Emalgen 2025G; Kao Chemicals, Tokyo, Japan) for 10 min at 40 °C to degrade red blood cells. Phycoerythrinlabelled anti-human CD45 antibody (BioLegend, San Diego, CA, United States) was diluted 1:5, and Pacific Blue-labelled anti-human CD326 (EpCAM) antibody (BioLegend) was diluted 1:10 in PBS containing 2% foetal bovine serum. Cells were incubated with the diluted antibodies for 30 min at 25 °C. After being washed with PBS containing 2% foetal bovine serum, the cells were mounted on two glass slides for microscopic analysis.

GFP fluorescence intensity of cultured cancer cell lines

Approximately 30000 cultured cells were added into 7.5-mL blood samples from healthy volunteers, which were mixed with various cancer cell lines: A549 (lung carcinoma), HepG2 (hepatocellular carcinoma), HEC-1 (endometrial carcinoma), KATO-III (gastric carcinoma), SBC-3 (small cell lung carcinoma), LNCaP (prostate adenocarcinoma), MDA-MB-468 (breast carcinoma), and OVCAR-3 (ovarian carcinoma). The cell lines were cultured according to the vendor's specifications.

Determination of GFP fluorescence intensity and cell size threshold

The threshold for GFP fluorescence intensity and cell size (diameter) were set based on the values from samples of healthy volunteers and the patients with gastric cancer by using receiver operating characteristic (ROC) analysis. The blood samples were subjected to the CTC detection assay, and GFP-positive cells were scored by fluorescence microscopy.

Cell counting and analysis

All detectable GFP-positive cells on the two slides were analysed under a computer-controlled fluorescence microscope (IX71, Olympus, Tokyo, Japan); the observer was blinded to the sample details. Cells with fluorescence intensities and diameters exceeding the threshold were scored as GFP-positive. Both EpCAM-positive and EpCAM-negative subpopulations



WJG | www.wjgnet.com

Table 1 Patient characteristics and clinical findings

| Variable | | Number of patients |
|------------------------|--------------------------------|--------------------|
| Sex | Male | 46 |
| | Female | 19 |
| Age (yr; mean, range) | | 58.8; 33-76 |
| Gastrectomy | Distal | 29 |
| | Total | 32 |
| | None | 4 |
| Surgical curability | R0 | 57 |
| | R1 | 0 |
| | R2 | 8 |
| Clinical course | Survival without relapse | 47 |
| | Survival after relapse | 2 |
| | Survival after non-curative | 1 |
| | surgery | |
| | Decease | 15 |
| Recurrence site | None | 47 |
| (including overlap) | | |
| | Remnant stomach | 1 |
| | Hematogenous | 5 |
| | Lymphatic | 4 |
| | Peritoneal dissemination | 5 |
| | Non-curative surgery | 8 |
| Postoperative | None | 37 |
| chemotherapy | | 44 |
| | Adjuvant chemotherapy | 11 |
| | Adjuvant and therapeutic | 9 |
| | chemotherapy | 0 |
| | Therapeutic chemotherapy after | 8 |
| TND (at a set | non-curative surgery | 40 |
| TINNI stage | 1 | 40 |
| | 11 | 10 |
| | | 10 |
| Dopth of tumour | 1 V T1 | 36 |
| invasion | 11 | 30 |
| | 12 | 8 |
| | 13 | 9 |
| | 14 | 12 |
| Lymph node | NU | 39 |
| metastasis | N1 | F |
| | INI NI2 | 5 |
| | INZ NI2 | 15 |
| Distant motostasis | INS MO | 15 |
| Distant metastasis | M1 | 56 |
| Main histological type | Differentiated | 25 |
| want instological type | Undifferentiated | 40 |
| I ymphatic invasion | IO | 35 |
| Lymphatic invasion | I 1 | 26 |
| | I Y | 20 |
| Venous invasion | VO | 35 |
| v enous invasion | V1 2 | 26 |
| | VI-Z VY | 20 |
| | ٧A | 4 |

were found in these cells, consistent with the finding that tumour cells undergoing EMT can be EpCAM-negative^[18].

Institutional review board statement and clinical trial registration

The study was approved by the Institutional Review Board of the Showa University, Northern Yokohama Hospital (No. 0903-03). This study was registered with the University Hospital Medical Information Network in Japan, UMIN000004026.

Informed consent statement

The study protocol was explained to the patients and volunteers before written informed consent was obtained.

Statistical analysis

All statistical analysis was performed using JMP Pro 12.2.0 (SAS Institute, Cary, NC, United States). Nonparametric comparisons were performed using the Wilcoxon signed-rank test, with a normal approximation. ROC analysis was performed to examine the difference between *GFP* fluorescence intensity and cell size in the blood samples of patients versus those in healthy volunteers. Cox proportional hazards analysis was used to investigate risk factors for survival, and to calculate overall and relapse-free survival rates. $P \leq 0.05$ was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

Patient characteristics and pathological findings

The clinicopathological characteristics of 65 patients (46 men and 19 women; mean age 60.7 years; range 33-76 years) are summarised in Table 1. The median follow-up period for the surviving patients was 60 mo. Fifty-seven of the 65 patients underwent pathological curative surgery, and of these patients, 10 experienced disease recurrence. Fifteen patients died. Twenty-nine patients had distal gastrectomy, 32 had total gastrectomy, and four had exploratory laparotomy. Twenty of the 57 patients that underwent curative surgery also received adjuvant chemotherapy, and nine of these 20 patients received therapeutic chemotherapy after disease recurrence.

Gallery of GFP-positive cancer cell lines after OBP-401 infection

After OBP-401 infection, GFP-positive cancer cell lines were detected (Figure 1A).

Comparison of GFP fluorescence intensity between cell lines and blood cells

The *GFP* fluorescence intensity [mean equivalent fluorochrome (MEFL)] of the cell lines and the GFP-positive cells detected in the peripheral blood samples are shown in Figure 1B. MEFL was higher in cell lines than in the GFP-positive cells in the peripheral blood samples from either healthy volunteers or patients with gastric cancer. In turn, MEFL was higher in GFP-positive cells from patients with gastric cancer than in the corresponding cells from healthy volunteers.

Comparison of GFP fluorescence intensity and cell diameter between patients and volunteers

The *GFP* fluorescence intensity and diameter of cells isolated from the peripheral blood samples are







Figure 1 Comparison of green fluorescent protein fluorescence intensity and cell diameter. A: Gallery of GFP-positive cell lines. The cell lines used were A549, HepG2, HEC-1, KATO-III, SBC-3, LNCaP, MDA-MB-468, and OVCAR-3; B: Comparison of GFP fluorescence intensity of cultured cell lines and blood cells from healthy volunteers and gastric cancer patients. The bottom and top of the box represent the lower and upper quartiles, and the band across the box shows the median. The lower and upper bars at the ends of the whiskers show the lowest data point and the highest data point, respectively. The cell lines used were A549, HepG2, HEC-1, KATO-III, SBC-3, LNCaP, MDA-MB-468 and OVCAR-3; C: Comparison of GFP fluorescence intensity between patients and healthy volunteers; D: Comparison of cell diameter between patients and healthy volunteers. To determine the cut-off line, we used ROC analysis to compare the GFP fluorescence intensity and diameter of cells from gastric cancer patients with those of healthy volunteers. Cells from the patients with gastric cancer had higher GFP intensities than those from the healthy volunteers (cut-off 78600927 MEFL sensitivity 82.5 %, specificity 39.7 %, and AUC 0.602). The diameters of GFP-positive cells in samples from patients with gastric cancer were higher than those in samples from healthy volunteers (cut-off 7.7418 μm, sensitivity 33.8 %, specificity 80.2 %, and AUC 0.578). GFP: Green fluorescent protein.

shown in Figure 1C and D. Based on ROC analyses, we defined cells with 78600927 MEFL or higher GFP fluorescence intensity and 7.7418 μm or larger diameter as the CTCs.

Association of CTCs with pathological findings

An increased number of CTCs was associated with disease progression. There was statistically significant difference in the number of CTCs between samples from patients with Stage I and those from patients with Stage III disease (P = 0.0460, Figure 2A). The number of CTCs also tended to increase concomitantly with progression of the primary tumour, as there was a statistically significant difference in the number of CTCs between samples from patients with T1 and those from patients with T4 tumours (P = 0.0335, Figure 2B). There was also a statistically significant difference

in the number of CTCs between samples from patients with N0 and those with N2 lymph node spread status (P = 0.0381, Figure 2C). However, there was no significant difference in the number of CTCs between samples from patients with distant metastases and those in which distant metastasis was absent (P = 0.4667, Figure 2D). The number of CTCs was also higher in samples from patients with lymphatic invasion, although there was no significant difference compared to patients without this clinical feature (P = 0.1297, Figure 2E). Similarly, although the number of CTCs in samples from the patients with venous invasion was higher than those in samples without this complication, the difference was not significant (P =0.0558, Figure 2F). Finally, we observed no significant difference in the number of CTCs in samples from patients with differentiated tumours when compared to

WJG | www.wjgnet.com



Figure 2 Relationship between circulating tumour cell number and pathological findings. Dots indicate the numbers of CTCs in each patient blood sample. The bottom and top of the box represent the lower and upper quartiles, and the band across the box shows the median. The lower and upper bars at the ends of the whiskers show the lowest data point within 1.5 interquartile ranges of the lower quartile, and the highest data point within 1.5 interquartile ranges of the upper quartile, respectively. The green bar shows the average. A: Disease stage (Stages 1-4 indicate disease progression); B: Depth of tumour invasion (T1-T4 indicate increasing depth); C: Lymphatic metastasis (N0-3 indicate number of metastatic lymph nodes); D: Distant metastasis (M0 = negative, M1 = positive); E: Lymphatic invasion (L0 = negative, L1 = positive); F: Venous invasion (V0 = negative, V1-V2 = positive); G: Histological type (differentiated and undifferentiated types). A: Relationship between CTC number and disease stage; B: Relationship between CTC number and T category. The number of CTCs tended to increase with progression of primary tumour. There was a statistically significant difference in the number of CTCs between samples from patients with T1 and those from patients with T4 status (P = 0.0335); C: The relationship between CTC number and N category. There was a statistically significant difference in the number of CTCs between samples from patients with N0 and those from patients with N2 classification (P = 0.0381); D: Relationship between CTC number and M category. There was no significant difference in the number of CTCs between samples from patients with distant metastases and those from patients without distant metastasis (P = 0.4667); E: Relationship between CTC number and lymphatic invasion. The number of CTCs in samples from patients with lymphatic invasion was higher than that in patients without invasion. However, this result did not reach the level of significance (P = 0.1297); F: Relationship between CTC number and venous invasion. The number of CTCs in samples from patients with venous invasion was higher than that in samples from patients without this pathology. However, this result did reach the level of significance (P = 0.0558); G: Relationship between CTC number and histological type. There was no significant difference in the number of CTCs between samples from patients with differentiated tumours and those from patients with undifferentiated tumours (P = 0.7752). CTCs: Circulating tumour cells.

those with undifferentiated malignancies (P = 0.7752, Figure 2G).

Overall and relapse-free survival

The overall survival rate of patients who had more than five CTCs (66.2%) was lower than that of patients who had five or less CTCs (80.5%); however, this difference was not significant (P = 0.183, Figure 3A). The relapse-free survival rate of patients who had more than five CTCs (64.3%) was significantly lower than that of patients who had five or less CTCs (88.3%)

(P = 0.034, Figure 3B).

Prognostic factor for survival

We investigated prognostic factors related to patient survival by using Cox proportional hazards analysis. Univariate analysis showed that fStage was, in some cases, a significant factor (fStage II, P = 0.196; fStage III, P = 0.0003; fStage IV, P < 0.0001). In contrast, the presence of more than five CTCs was not a significant factor (P = 0.183). Multivariate analysis including these two factors showed fStage to be the

WJG www.wjgnet.com

10237

Ito H et al. Circulating tumour cells in gastric cancer



Figure 3 Overall and relapse-free survival. A: The overall survival rate of 65 patients was compared using Cox proportional hazards analysis. Although there was no significant difference, the overall survival rate of the patients with more than 5 CTCs was lower than that of patients with 5 or less CTCs (hazard ratio, 2.07; 95%CI: 0.693-5.744; *P* = 0.183); B: The relapse-free survival rates of 57 patients with different CTC levels who underwent curative surgery were compared using Cox proportional hazards analysis. Relapse-free survival was significantly lower in patients with more than 5 CTCs (hazard ratio, 2.28; 95% CI: 0.068-4.698; *P* = 0.034). CTCs: Circulating tumour cells.

| Table 2 Risk factors for prognosis of patients ($n = 65$) | | | | | | | | |
|---|--------------|---------------------|-----------------------|--------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|--|--|
| Variable | | Univariate analysis | | | Multivariate analysis | | | |
| | Hazard ratio | 95%CI | <i>P</i> value | Hazard ratio | 95%CI | P value | | |
| Number of high | | | | | | | | |
| telomerase activity cells | | | | | | | | |
| ≤ 5 | 1.0 | | | 1.0 | | | | |
| > 5 | 2.069 | 0.693-5.744 | 0.183 | 0.900 | 0.294-2.591 | 0.847 | | |
| fStage | | | | | | | | |
| fStage I | 1.0 | | | 1.0 | | | | |
| fStage II | 7.097 | 0.281-179.3 | 0.196 | 7.106 | 0.281-179.6 | 0.182 | | |
| fStage Ⅲ | 25.18 | 4.053-482.6 | 0.0003 ^b | 26.17 | 4.017-510.6 | 0.0004^{b} | | |
| fStage IV | 83.57 | 14.86-1567 | < 0.0001 ^b | 85.76 | 14.91-1623 | < 0.0001 ^b | | |

 ${}^{\rm b}P < 0.01.$

only significant factor (fStage II, P = 0.182; fStage III, P = 0.0004; fStage IV, P < 0.0001), and the number of CTCs (more than five) to be non-significant (P = 0.847) (Table 2).

Risk factor for relapse after curative surgery

We also investigated factors for increased risk of relapse by Cox proportional hazards analysis. Univariate analysis showed that certain fStages were significant risk factors (fStage II, P = 0.337; fStage III, P =0.0001; fStage IV, P = 0.005). However, the presence of more than 5 CTCs had no significant influence on relapse rates (P = 0.052). Multivariate analysis including these two factors showed fStage to be the only significant factor (fStage II, P = 0.343; fStage III, P = 0.001; fStage IV, P = 0.004), whereas the number of CTCs was non-significant (P = 0.350, Table 3).

DISCUSSION

Here, we used a telomerase-specific adenoviral agent to detect CTCs to avoid relying on the heterogeneous expression of epithelial markers in CTCs undergoing EMT. The enumeration of CTCs is particularly important in gastric cancer, which is the second leading cause of cancer-related death worldwide. Our current data indicate that detection of CTCs may indeed be a useful prognostic indicator for use in patients with gastric cancer, and are consistent with previous reports^[25,26].

Our previous preliminary study showed that the number of CTCs isolated from cancer patients was related to surgical and pathological disease progression. Specifically, there were more CTCs in samples from patients with Stage III than in those with Stage I disease. The CTC count was also higher in patients with tumour depth T4 than in those with T1, and in individuals with lymph node metastasis status N2 versus those with N0. In addition, we found that the number of CTCs was associated with disease stage and relapse after curative surgery in gastric cancer patients. In the current study, the relapse-free survival rate of patients who had more than five CTCs was significantly lower than that of patients who had five or less. The overall survival rate of patients with more than five CTCs tended to be lower than that of the patients with five or less; in this case, however, the difference was not statistically significant. The number of CTCs was not an independent risk factor for either

WJG 🛘 www.wjgnet.com

| Table 3 Risk factors for relapse of patients who underwent curative surgery $(n = 57)$ | | | | | | |
|--|---------------------|-------------|---------------------|-----------------------|-------------|-------------|
| Variable | Univariate analysis | | | Multivariate analysis | | |
| | Hazard ratio | 95%CI | P value | Hazard ratio | 95%CI | P value |
| Number of high telomerase | | | | | | |
| activity cells | | | | | | |
| ≤ 5 | 1.0 | | | 1.0 | | |
| > 5 | 3.566 | 0.988-12.88 | 0.052 | 1.971 | 0.471-8.861 | 0.350 |
| fStage | | | | | | |
| fStage I | 1.0 | | | 1.0 | | |
| fStage II | 3.635 | 0.169-37.96 | 0.337 | 3.576 | 0.166-37.35 | 0.343 |
| fStage Ⅲ | 17.78 | 4.065-121.8 | 0.0001 ^b | 13.75 | 2.806-100.7 | 0.001^{b} |
| fStage IV | 239.6 | 7.943-7785 | 0.005 ^b | 289.4 | 9.331-9733 | 0.004^{b} |

 ${}^{\rm b}P < 0.01.$

overall or relapse-free survival. However, we suggest this may be due to the relatively small sample size we studied, and that examination of larger cohorts might reveal a more significant impact of CTC number on these clinical parameters. Cancer stem cells (CSCs) in the blood of cancer patients are increasingly viewed as important determinants of cancer metastasis^[27,28] and prognosis^[29]. Given that CSCs have high telomerase activity, and share many of the molecular hallmarks of EMT^[30], we suggest that our CTC assay could be used to detect both CSCs and CTCs during EMT.

One limitation of our study is that we could not achieve maximal sensitivity and specificity with regard to CTC detection. The definition of CTCs in this study was based on the threshold of GFP fluorescence intensity and cell diameter. However, these criteria resulted in a significant overlap between the data of healthy volunteers and those of cancer patients. More studies that compare healthy individuals with a larger population of patients with different cancer types are needed to clarify the suitability of CTC detection for clinical use. Another limitation of our study was that we did not determine the metastatic potential of the CTCs that we detected. Ideally, the functions of CTCs should be analysed after cell sorting, and CTCs with metastatic potential could be identified using additional tools such as DNA ploidy analysis^[31,32]. Furthermore, gene expression profiling of CTCs, primary tumours, and metastatic tumours will also provide important insight into the mechanisms responsible for cancer metastasis. In summary, CTCs are useful predictors of disease progression in gastric cancer patients, but they do not constitute an independent prognostic factor.

In conclusions, CTC number tended to increase with surgical and pathological disease progression. Although not an independent risk factor, a higher number of CTCs was significantly correlated with disease relapse in gastric cancer after curative surgery. However, our study analysed only a small number of participants, and whether all the CTCs we detected have true metastatic potential was not determined. Further studies with a larger number of participants are therefore required to confirm the findings of this study.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are grateful to all of the patients and volunteers who donated blood for this study. We would like to thank Professor Toshiyoshi Fujiwara (Okayama University Graduate School of Medicine, Okayama, Japan) for helpful comments and suggestions, Dr. Yasuo Urata (Oncolys BioPharma, Tokyo, Japan) for supplying OBP-401, Dr. Toshiyuki Ozawa and Dr. Akinori Masago (Sysmex Corporation, Kobe, Japan) for their valuable support, and the clinical staff involved in this project.

COMMENTS

Background

Detection of circulating tumour cells (CTCs) in peripheral blood is useful for prognosis, monitoring disease progression, and evaluation of treatment efficacy in malignancies, and various methods have been developed to detect CTCs.

Research frontiers

Most CTC detection systems that rely on epithelial markers may fail to detect CTCs undergoing the epithelial-mesenchymal transition.

Innovations and breakthroughs

Because OBP-401 is a telomerase-specific adenoviral agent, the OBP-401 assay does not depend on the expression of surface epithelial markers.

Applications

In this study, viable CTCs with high telomerase activity were detected using OBP-401 in blood samples from patients with gastric carcinoma. The authors showed that a lower number of CTCs correlated with higher relapse-free survival rates in patients with gastric cancer.

Terminology

The authors believe that the OBP-401 assay for detection of CTCs is clinically useful for patients with gastric carcinoma.

Peer-review

The authors presented a novel technique for detection of CTCs that does not depend on surface epithelial markers. The authors showed that a lower number of CTCs was correlated with higher relapse-free survival rates in patients with gastric cancer.

REFERENCES

Liotta LA, Kleinerman J, Saidel GM. Quantitative relationships of



intravascular tumor cells, tumor vessels, and pulmonary metastases following tumor implantation. *Cancer Res* 1974; **34**: 997-1004 [PMID: 4841969]

- 2 Cristofanilli M, Budd GT, Ellis MJ, Stopeck A, Matera J, Miller MC, Reuben JM, Doyle GV, Allard WJ, Terstappen LW, Hayes DF. Circulating tumor cells, disease progression, and survival in metastatic breast cancer. N Engl J Med 2004; 351: 781-791 [PMID: 15317891 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa040766]
- 3 Krebs MG, Sloane R, Priest L, Lancashire L, Hou JM, Greystoke A, Ward TH, Ferraldeschi R, Hughes A, Clack G, Ranson M, Dive C, Blackhall FH. Evaluation and prognostic significance of circulating tumor cells in patients with non-small-cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol 2011; 29: 1556-1563 [PMID: 21422424 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2010.28.7045]
- 4 Moreno JG, Miller MC, Gross S, Allard WJ, Gomella LG, Terstappen LW. Circulating tumor cells predict survival in patients with metastatic prostate cancer. *Urology* 2005; 65: 713-718 [PMID: 15833514 DOI: 10.1016/j.urology.2004.11.006]
- 5 Mocellin S, Del Fiore P, Guarnieri L, Scalerta R, Foletto M, Chiarion V, Pilati P, Nitti D, Lise M, Rossi CR. Molecular detection of circulating tumor cells is an independent prognostic factor in patients with high-risk cutaneous melanoma. *Int J Cancer* 2004; **111**: 741-745 [PMID: 15252844 DOI: 10.1002/ijc.20347]
- 6 Cohen SJ, Punt CJ, Iannotti N, Saidman BH, Sabbath KD, Gabrail NY, Picus J, Morse M, Mitchell E, Miller MC, Doyle GV, Tissing H, Terstappen LW, Meropol NJ. Relationship of circulating tumor cells to tumor response, progression-free survival, and overall survival in patients with metastatic colorectal cancer. *J Clin Oncol* 2008; 26: 3213-3221 [PMID: 18591556 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2007.15.8923]
- 7 Inoue M, Otsuka K, Shibata H. Circulating tumor cell count as a biomarker of a specific gastric cancer subgroup characterized by bone metastasis and/or disseminated intravascular coagulation - an early indicator of chemotherapeutic response. *Oncol Lett* 2016; 11: 1294-1298 [PMID: 26893733 DOI: 10.3892/ol.2015.4056]
- 8 Ito H, Kanda T, Nishimaki T, Sato H, Nakagawa S, Hatakeyama K. Detection and quantification of circulating tumor cells in patients with esophageal cancer by real-time polymerase chain reaction. J Exp Clin Cancer Res 2004; 23: 455-464 [PMID: 15595636]
- 9 Honma H, Kanda T, Ito H, Wakai T, Nakagawa S, Ohashi M, Koyama Y, Valera VA, Akazawa K, Hatakeyama K. Squamous cell carcinoma-antigen messenger RNA level in peripheral blood predicts recurrence after resection in patients with esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. *Surgery* 2006; **139**: 678-685 [PMID: 16701102 DOI: 10.1016/j.surg.2005.09.022]
- 10 Gertler R, Rosenberg R, Fuehrer K, Dahm M, Nekarda H, Siewert JR. Detection of circulating tumor cells in blood using an optimized density gradient centrifugation. *Recent Results Cancer Res* 2003; 162: 149-155 [PMID: 12790329]
- 11 Talasaz AH, Powell AA, Huber DE, Berbee JG, Roh KH, Yu W, Xiao W, Davis MM, Pease RF, Mindrinos MN, Jeffrey SS, Davis RW. Isolating highly enriched populations of circulating epithelial cells and other rare cells from blood using a magnetic sweeper device. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2009; 106: 3970-3975 [PMID: 19234122 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.0813188106]
- 12 He W, Wang H, Hartmann LC, Cheng JX, Low PS. In vivo quantitation of rare circulating tumor cells by multiphoton intravital flow cytometry. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2007; 104: 11760-11765 [PMID: 17601776 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.0703875104]
- 13 Vona G, Sabile A, Louha M, Sitruk V, Romana S, Schütze K, Capron F, Franco D, Pazzagli M, Vekemans M, Lacour B, Bréchot C, Paterlini-Bréchot P. Isolation by size of epithelial tumor cells: a new method for the immunomorphological and molecular characterization of circulatingtumor cells. *Am J Pathol* 2000; **156**: 57-63 [PMID: 10623654 DOI: 10.1016/S0002-9440(10)64706-2]
- 14 Nagrath S, Sequist LV, Maheswaran S, Bell DW, Irimia D, Ulkus L, Smith MR, Kwak EL, Digumarthy S, Muzikansky A, Ryan P, Balis UJ, Tompkins RG, Haber DA, Toner M. Isolation of rare circulating tumour cells in cancer patients by microchip technology. *Nature* 2007; 450: 1235-1239 [PMID: 18097410 DOI:

10.1038/nature06385]

- 15 Okabe H, Tsunoda S, Hosogi H, Hisamori S, Tanaka E, Tanaka S, Sakai Y. Circulating Tumor Cells as an Independent Predictor of Survival in Advanced Gastric Cancer. *Ann Surg Oncol* 2015; 22: 3954-3961 [PMID: 25777087]
- 16 Shimazu K, Fukuda K, Yoshida T, Inoue M, Shibata H. High circulating tumor cell concentrations in a specific subtype of gastric cancer with diffuse bone metastasis at diagnosis. *World J Gastroenterol* 2016; 22: 6083-6088 [PMID: 27468200 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v22.i26.6083]
- Książkiewicz M, Markiewicz A, Zaczek AJ. Epithelialmesenchymal transition: a hallmark in metastasis formation linking circulating tumor cells and cancer stem cells. *Pathobiology* 2012; 79: 195-208 [PMID: 22488297 DOI: 10.1159/000337106]
- 18 Gorges TM, Tinhofer I, Drosch M, Röse L, Zollner TM, Krahn T, von Ahsen O. Circulating tumour cells escape from EpCAM-based detection due to epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition. *BMC Cancer* 2012; 12: 178 [PMID: 22591372 DOI: 10.1186/1471-2407 -12-178]
- Blackburn EH. Telomere states and cell fates. *Nature* 2000; 408:
 53-56 [PMID: 11081503 DOI: 10.1038/35040500]
- 20 Fujiwara T, Kagawa S, Kishimoto H, Endo Y, Hioki M, Ikeda Y, Sakai R, Urata Y, Tanaka N, Fujiwara T. Enhanced antitumor efficacy of telomerase-selective oncolytic adenoviral agent OBP-401 with docetaxel: preclinical evaluation of chemovirotherapy. *Int J Cancer* 2006; **119**: 432-440 [PMID: 16477640 DOI: 10.1002/ijc.21846]
- 21 Ito H, Inoue H, Sando N, Kimura S, Gohda K, Sato J, Murakami K, Ito S, Odaka N, Satodate H, Kudo SE. Prognostic impact of detecting viable circulating tumour cells in gastric cancer patients using a telomerase-specific viral agent: a prospective study. *BMC Cancer* 2012; 12: 346 [PMID: 22873704 DOI: 10.1186/1471-2407 -12-346]
- 22 Oken MM, Creech RH, Tormey DC, Horton J, Davis TE, McFadden ET, Carbone PP. Toxicity and response criteria of the Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group. *Am J Clin Oncol* 1982; 5: 649-655 [PMID: 7165009 DOI: 10.1097/00000421-198212000-00 014]
- 23 Sobin LH, Gospodarowicz MK, Wittekind C. International Union Against Cancer: TNM classification of malignant tumours. 7th ed. Chichester, West Sussex, UK; Hoboken, NJ: Wiley-Blackwell, 2010
- 24 Kim SJ, Masago A, Tamaki Y, Akazawa K, Tsukamoto F, Sato J, Ozawa T, Tsujino Y, Noguchi S. A novel approach using telomerase-specific replication-selective adenovirus for detection of circulating tumor cells in breast cancer patients. *Breast Cancer Res Treat* 2011; 128: 765-773 [PMID: 21630023 DOI: 10.1007/s10549-011-1603-2]
- 25 Beeharry MK, Liu WT, Yan M, Zhu ZG. New blood markers detection technology: A leap in the diagnosis of gastric cancer. *World J Gastroenterol* 2016; 22: 1202-1212 [PMID: 26811658 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v22.i3.1202]
- 26 Wang HY, Wei J, Zou ZY, Qian XP, Liu BR. Circulating tumour cells predict survival in gastric cancer patients: a meta-analysis. *Contemp Oncol* (Pozn) 2015; 19: 451-457 [PMID: 26843841 DOI: 10.5114/wo.2015.56651]
- 27 Wicha MS. Cancer stem cells and metastasis: lethal seeds. Clin Cancer Res 2006; 12: 5606-5607 [PMID: 17020960 DOI: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-06-1537]
- 28 Zhong J, Chen Y, Wang LJ. Emerging molecular basis of hematogenous metastasis in gastric cancer. *World J Gastroenterol* 2016; 22: 2434-2440 [PMID: 26937132 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v22. i8.2434]
- 29 Pilati P, Mocellin S, Bertazza L, Galdi F, Briarava M, Mammano E, Tessari E, Zavagno G, Nitti D. Prognostic value of putative circulating cancer stem cells in patients undergoing hepatic resection for colorectal liver metastasis. *Ann Surg Oncol* 2012; 19: 402-408 [PMID: 22071867 DOI: 10.1245/s10434-011-2132-2]
- 30 **Karnoub AE**, Dash AB, Vo AP, Sullivan A, Brooks MW, Bell GW, Richardson AL, Polyak K, Tubo R, Weinberg RA. Mesenchymal

stem cells within tumour stroma promote breast cancer metastasis. *Nature* 2007; **449**: 557-563 [PMID: 17914389 DOI: 10.1038/ nature06188]

31 **Bonsing BA**, Beerman H, Kuipers-Dijkshoorn N, Fleuren GJ, Cornelisse CJ. High levels of DNA index heterogeneity in advanced breast carcinomas. Evidence for DNA ploidy differences Ito H et al. Circulating tumour cells in gastric cancer

between lymphatic and hematogenous metastases. *Cancer* 1993; **71**: 382-391 [PMID: 8422632]

32 Kolostova K, Matkowski R, Gürlich R, Grabowski K, Soter K, Lischke R, Schützner J, Bobek V. Detection and cultivation of circulating tumor cells in gastric cancer. *Cytotechnology* 2016; 68: 1095-1102 [PMID: 25862542 DOI: 10.1007/s10616-015-9866-9]

> P- Reviewer: Fiorentini G, Fiorentini HX, Tarnawski AS S- Editor: Yu J L- Editor: A E- Editor: Zhang FF







Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/ Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v22.i46.10242 World J Gastroenterol 2016 December 14; 22(46): 10242-10248 ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online) © 2016 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Randomized Controlled Trial

Randomized controlled study of the safety and efficacy of nitrous oxide-sedated endoscopic ultrasound-guided fine needle aspiration for digestive tract diseases

Cai-Xia Wang, Jian Wang, Yuan-Yuan Chen, Jia-Ni Wang, Xin Yu, Feng Yang, Si-Yu Sun

Cai-Xia Wang, Yuan-Yuan Chen, Jia-Ni Wang, Xin Yu, Feng Yang, Si-Yu Sun, Endoscopy Center, Shengjing Hospital of China Medical University, Shenyang 110004, Liaoning Province, China

Jian Wang, Endoscopic Center, Liao Dongwan Branch Courts, Shengjing Hospital of China Medical University, Dawa county town, Panjin 124200, Liaoning Province, China

Author contributions: Wang CX, Wang J and Chen YY performed the majority of experiments; Wang CX and Wang JN provided vital reagents and analytical tools and were also involved in writing and revising the manuscript; Yu X and Yang F provided the collection of all the human material; and Sun SY designed the study and wrote the manuscript.

Institutional review board statement: This study was approved by the Institutional Review Board and Ethics Committee of China Medical University (clinical trial registration number: ChiCTR-OCC-15005853).

Informed consent statement: All study participants, or their legal guardian, provided informed written consent prior to study enrollment.

Conflict-of-interest statement: The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Data sharing statement: No additional data are available.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Manuscript source: Unsolicited manuscript

Correspondence to: Si-Yu Sun, MD, PhD, Professor, Endoscopy Center, Shengjing Hospital of China Medical University, No. 36, Sanhao Street, Shenyang 110004, Liaoning Province, China. sun-siyu@163.com Telephone: +86-24-86176688

Received: October 18, 2016 Peer-review started: October 19, 2016 First decision: November 14, 2016 Revised: November 21, 2016 Accepted: December 2, 2016 Article in press: December 2, 2016 Published online: December 14, 2016

Abstract

AIM

To evaluate the efficacy and safety of nitrous oxidesedated endoscopic ultrasound-guided fine needle aspiration.

METHODS

Enrolled patients were divided randomly into an experimental group (inhalation of nitrous oxide) and a control group (inhalation of pure oxygen) and heart rate, blood oxygen saturation, blood pressure, electrocardiogram (ECG) changes, and the occurrence of complications were monitored and recorded. All patients and physicians completed satisfaction questionnaires about the examination and scored the process using a visual analog scale.

RESULTS

There was no significant difference in heart rate, blood oxygen saturation, blood pressure, ECG changes, or complication rate between the two groups of patients (P > 0.05). However, patient and physician satisfaction were both significantly higher in the nitrous oxide


compared with the control group (P < 0.05).

CONCLUSION

Nitrous oxide-sedation is a safe and effective option for patients undergoing endoscopic ultrasound-guided fine needle aspiration.

Key words: Endoscopic ultrasonography; Nitrous oxide; Sedation; Fine needle aspiration

© **The Author(s) 2016.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core tip: Endoscopic ultrasonography (EUS) has been widely used in the diagnosis and treatment of gastrointestinal tract and pancreaticobiliary diseases. However, EUS-guided fine needle aspiration (EUS-FNA) is a time-consuming procedure associated with pain and discomfort. Nitrous oxide, also known as laughing gas, is a colorless, short-acting inhaled agent that can produce anesthetic, analgesic, and anxiolytic effects. Safety and efficacy of nitrous oxide-sedated EUS-FNA. However, inhaled nitrous oxide has no effect on heart or lung function and patients remain awake, and this thus represents a feasible mode of sedation for EUS. The current study aimed to establish the safe.

Wang CX, Wang J, Chen YY, Wang JN, Yu X, Yang F, Sun SY. Randomized controlled study of the safety and efficacy of nitrous oxide-sedated endoscopic ultrasound-guided fine needle aspiration. *World J Gastroenterol* 2016; 22(46): 10242-10248 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v22/i46/10242.htm DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v22. i46.10242

INTRODUCTION

Endoscopic ultrasonography (EUS) has been widely used in the diagnosis and treatment of gastrointestinal tract and pancreaticobiliary diseases. However, EUS-guided fine needle aspiration (EUS-FNA)^[1-6] is a time-consuming procedure associated with pain and discomfort. Painless EUS can reduce patient suffering and thus make patients more likely to accept the examination. Intravenous anesthetic agents including benzodiazepine-opioid drugs and propofol are commonly used, but their respiratory-inhibitory effects limit their application^[7]. Furthermore, most EUS procedures require water injection into the digestive tract, which increases the risk of aspiration during anesthesia. Nitrous oxide, also known as laughing gas, is a colorless, short-acting inhaled agent that can produce anesthetic, analgesic, and anxiolytic effects. However, inhaled nitrous oxide has no effect on heart or lung function and patients remain awake, and this thus represents a feasible mode of sedation for EUS^[7]. The current study aimed to establish the safety and efficacy of nitrous oxide-sedated EUS-FNA.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study subjects

The inclusion criteria for the study were patients who required EUS-FNA and agreed to sedation with nitrous oxide. Patients were excluded if they exhibited any of the following contraindications to nitrous oxide sedation or EUS: (1) intending to get pregnant or in the first trimester of pregnancy; (2) coma; (3) within 1 wk of gas cerebral angiography; (4) diving diseases or a recent history of diving activities; (5) middle ear diseases; (6) pneumothorax, pulmonary cystic fibrosis, or chronic debilitating weakness due to other respiratory disorders; (7) intestinal obstruction; (8) history of gastrointestinal surgery; (9) history of sinus or nasal-septum surgery; (10) need for endoscopic treatment; (11) American Society of Anesthesiology (ASA) grade > 3; and (12) blood oxygen saturation < 95% and systolic blood pressure < 90 mmHg as displayed on the monitor.

This study was approved by the Institutional Review Board and Ethics Committee of China Medical University (clinical trial registration number: ChiCTR-OCC-15005853). All patients voluntarily provided written informed consent for their participation in this study. The operator performing the EUS-FNA procedure in this study was familiar with the technique.

Equipment

The following equipment was used: a nitrous oxide sedation system (AII 5000C; Shenzhen Security Technology Co., Ltd., China) (Figure 1); a patient monitor (PM-7000; Mindray); an ultrasound scanner (EUB 6500, Hitachi, Tokyo, Japan); a linear array echo-endoscope (Pentax EG3830UT, Japan); and a 22-gauge needle (EUS N-22-T, Wilson-Cook, United States).

Study design

This was a prospective, randomized, controlled clinical study. The patients were divided into an experimental group and control group using a random-number table. The experimental group received nitrous oxide inhalation, with the inspiratory flow of nitrous oxide adjusted according to the depth of sedation (range of nitrous oxide concentrations 30%-70%). The control group received oxygen inhalation at a concentration of 100% and flow rate of 2-3 L/min. Patients were placed in the left lateral recumbent position during the endoscopic procedure and EUS-FNA was performed using a linear array echo-endoscope (Figure 2). This was a single-blind study and the patients were unaware of the identity of the inhaled gas. Patients with unsuccessful EUS were excluded from the current study.

Patient monitoring

This study trained auxiliary nurses who adjusted the inhalation flow of nitrous oxide during the endoscopic operation, under the guidance of a physician, and

WJG www.wjgnet.com

Wang CX et al. NO-sedated EUS-FNA



Figure 1 Nitrous oxide sedation system (All 5000C; Shenzhen Security Technology Co., Ltd., China).



Figure 2 Patients were placed in the left lateral recumbent position during the endoscopic procedure and endoscopic ultrasonography-guided fine needle aspiration was performed using a linear array echo-endoscope. A: Patients were placed in the left lateral recumbent position during the endoscopic procedure and endoscopic ultrasonography-guided fine needle aspiration was performed using a linear array echo-endoscope; B: A 22G needle was used to puncture the pancreatic lesion; C: The lesion was in the body of the pancreas; D: The diagnosis of histology was adenocarcinoma.

who provided nursing care for the patients. All the physicians in this study were trained in cardiopulmonary resuscitation and tracheal intubation, ensuring that patients received timely basic cardiac life support. Patients' blood pressure, oxygen saturation, and heart rates were monitored closely, and the monitor set off an alarm if the oxygen saturation dropped to < 95% or the heart rate decreased to < 50 beats/min (bpm). Blood

pressure was measured automatically every 3 min, and the monitor alarm went off if the systolic blood pressure was < 90 mmHg. Continuous electrocardiogram (ECG) monitoring was performed in all patients. The auxiliary nurse helped to observe patients' thoracic movements and respiratory rates, and assisted endoscopic physicians to adjust the nitrous oxide inhalation flow promptly according to the depth of sedation, the specific circumstances of the patients, and examination during endoscopic operation. The auxiliary nurses were also responsible for monitoring the patients until 10 min after the termination of nitrous oxide inhalation to ensure that their vital signs were stable.

Safety evaluation

Patients were monitored closely and the following negative events were recorded: oxygen desaturation (oxygen saturation < 95%, but \ge 90%), hypoxia (oxygen saturation < 90%, but \ge 85%), severe hypoxemia (oxygen saturation < 85%), hypotension (systolic blood pressure < 90 mmHg), bradycardia (heart rate < 50 bpm), and tachycardia (heart rate > 120 bpm).

Patients and endoscopists completed questionnaires regarding their degree of satisfaction with the examination process, and scored them on a visual analog scale (VAS) scale. The following questions were included: (1) evaluation of the operation by the endoscopist: (smooth, ordinary, not smooth); (2) patient discomfort during the operation process (slight, moderate, severe); (3) patient tolerance with the examination process (good, medium, and low); and (4) willingness to receive the same examination again if needed (yes, no).

Treatment of complications

The endoscopy procedure was suspended and the inhalation of nitrous oxide in the experimental group was reduced or suspended and replaced by inhalation of pure oxygen if the patients experienced blood oxygen saturation < 95%, systolic blood pressure < 90 mmHg, or a heart rate < 50 bpm. If the above parameters were immediately restored to normal levels, the operation was continued and patients in the experimental group were given inhalational nitrous oxide at a slightly reduced flow rate than before. However, if the above-mentioned parameters persisted for > 1 min, the operation was terminated. If patients in the experimental group showed signs of excessive inhalation, nitrous oxide was reduced or terminated and replaced by oxygen inhalation. Signs of excessive inhalation of nitrous oxide included the following: disappearance of original signs of comfort and relaxation; new or sudden intolerance, dizziness, vertigo, agitation, or irritability; repeated or ambiguous words and poor response to verbal commands; fixation of eyes and unresponsiveness; sleepiness and difficulty keeping eyes open, or drowsy; dreaming or fantasizing; uncontrolled laughter; stopping breathing; or nausea and vomiting.

Statistical analysis

All the measured data were presented as means. All analyses were performed using SPSS 16 statistical software.

RESULTS

A total of 2877 patients required EUS examinations from March 1 2015 to May 31 2016, of whom 42 patients who required EUS-FNA were enrolled in the study (1.5%) according to the above criteria. There were 21 patients in the control group (pure oxygen group) and 21 patients in the experimental group (nitrous oxide group). There was no significant difference in ASA, age, or sex between the two groups. One patient failed to finish the EUS examination (difficulty in passing through the throat), and was excluded from the current study. The remaining 41 patients (20 in the control group and 21 in the experimental group) completed the examination and the relevant questionnaires, including 16 women and 25 men, average age 42.4 years, (range, 27-69 years). The average time to completion of EUS-FNA was 29 min (range, 14-47 min). The maximal concentration of nitrous oxide used varied among cases and ranged from 30%-70%.

The ECG monitoring results are shown in Table 1. Among the 21 patients in the nitrous oxide group who completed the examination, one patient (4.8%) experienced temporary oxygen desaturation and one experienced hypoxemia (4.8%). The symptoms resolved immediately after termination of nitrous oxide inhalation and inhalation of pure oxygen, with no decline in oxygen saturation after the restart of nitrous oxide inhalation. No patients developed severe hypoxemia, bradycardia (heart rate < 50 bpm), systolic blood pressure < 90 mmHg during the examination process, or tachycardia (heart rate > 120 bpm). There was no significant difference in heart rate, oxygen saturation level, or ECG changes between the two groups.

The results of the questionnaires completed by the physicians and patients are listed in Table 2 and the VAS scores are listed in Table 3. All physicians and patients completed the questionnaires. Physician and patient satisfaction with the examination process was significantly higher in the nitrous oxide group compared with the pure oxygen group (patient scores 87 vs 72, t = 4.702, P < 0.05; physician scores 91 vs 70, t = 10.163, P < 0.05). Among the 21 patients in the nitrous oxide group, 18 (85.7%) were willing to receive the same examination again if required, compared with only 9 of 20 (45%) in the control group.

DISCUSSION

EUS has been widely used in the diagnosis and treatment of digestive tract diseases. It can get closer to the common bile duct and pancreas than transabdominal ultrasound, thus avoiding interference from digestive tract gases and resulting in clearer imaging, and is considered to be preferable to computed tomography and magnetic resonance imaging



Wang CX et al. NO-sedated EUS-FNA

| Table 1 Electrocardiogram changes in patients during examination | | | | | | | | |
|--|------------------------------|----------|---------------------|---------|----------------|-----------------------|--|--|
| Group | Heart rate Oxygen saturation | | | | | Significant change in | | |
| | > 120 bpm | < 50 bpm | Oxygen desaturation | Hypoxia | Severe hypoxia | electrocardiogram | | |
| Experimental | 0 | 0 | 1 | 1 | 0 | 0 | | |
| Control | 2 | 0 | 1 | 2 | 0 | 0 | | |
| P value | > 0.05 | > 0.05 | > 0.05 | > 0.05 | > 0.05 | > 0.05 | | |

Table 2 Results of questionnaire

| Group | Eva | Evaluation by physicians | | | Patient discomfort | | | Patient tolerance | | |
|--------------|--------|--------------------------|------------|--------|--------------------|--------|--------|-------------------|--------|--|
| | Steady | Ordinary | Not steady | Mild | Moderate | Severe | Good | Medium | Poor | |
| Experimental | 17 | 3 | 1 | 18 | 2 | 1 | 18 | 3 | 0 | |
| Control | 11 | 2 | 8 | 6 | 3 | 12 | 9 | 5 | 7 | |
| P value | < 0.05 | | < 0.05 | < 0.05 | | < 0.05 | < 0.05 | | < 0.05 | |

| Table 3 Patient and physician visual analog scale scores for examination process | | | | | | | |
|--|----------------------------|------------------------------|---|--|--|--|--|
| Group | Patient satisfaction score | Physician satisfaction score | Willing to receive same examination again n (%) | | | | |
| Experimental | 87 | 91 | 18 (85.7) | | | | |
| Control | 72 | 70 | 9 (45) | | | | |
| P value | < 0.05 | < 0.05 | < 0.05 | | | | |

for the diagnosis of small pancreatic lesions. Numerous studies have demonstrated unique advantages of EUS for the diagnosis of gastrointestinal submucosal tumors. Furthermore, EUS-FNA is the first choice of diagnostic procedure in many diseases, such as pancreatic, gastrointestinal subepithelial, and mediastinal lesions^[1-6]. However, the use of a long hard endoscope means that it is much more uncomfortable than general gastroscopy, and cannot be tolerated by some patients. Although EUS can be performed under intravenous propofol anesthesia, some lesions can only be displayed clearly after gastric infusion of water, which increases the risk of aspiration during intravenous propofol anesthesia. The success rate of EUS could therefore be improved by establishing a method for reducing pain and discomfort and increasing patient tolerance.

Nitrous oxide is an inhaled sedative and analgesic agent, which passes through the blood-brain barrier into the brain and functions by inhibiting excitatory neurotransmitter release and nerve impulse conduction in the central nervous system, and altering the permeability of ion channels. Nitrous oxide does not stimulate the respiratory tract or bind to hemoglobin, and does not cause respiratory depression or damage heart, lung, liver, or kidney function. Nitrous oxide sedation is currently used widely in clinical situations, including in emergency surgery, dentistry, childbirth, abortion and curettage, and pediatrics, and can also be applied for gastrointestinal endoscopic sedation. Nitrous oxide-sedated endoscopy examinations have been shown to be safe and effective^[8-22], and nitrous oxide has proven a safe and effective choice for colonoscopy sedation and analgesia^[8-10,12,17,19-22]. However, nitrous

oxide is rarely used for EUS. Lan et al^[8] compared the diagnostic accuracy, safety, complications, and patient and examiner satisfaction among different sedation approaches in patients undergoing upper gastrointestinal endoscopy. Patients in the nitrous oxide sedation group reported greater satisfaction with the endoscopy procedure than patients in the conventional group (no sedation), with overall better tolerance and less pain, nausea, and vomiting (P < 0.05). A review of 11 studies by Welchman *et al*^[9] concluded that nitrous oxide provided comparable analgesia to intravenous sedation for patients undergoing colonoscopy. Wang et al^[10] first mentioned the use of nitrous oxide in EUS, and concluded that it offered a comfortable, safe and feasible option, especially for procedures requiring irrigation. Michaud and Gottrand^[13] showed that the time taken to regain consciousness was short following nitrous oxide sedation, which could effectively meet the sedative requirements for children undergoing gastroscopic examination, thus providing a valuable alternative method of sedation. Michaud et al^[14] compared the sedative effects of propofol and nitrous oxide in patients undergoing colonoscopy, and showed that both agents had similar sedative and pain-relieving effects, facilitated the operation, and shortened recovery time. In addition, nitrous oxide has demonstrated minimal effects on nerve function and therefore does not affect the patient's ability to drive^[15].

In this study, we monitored heart rate, blood oxygen saturation, blood pressure, and ECG in patients undergoing EUS under nitrous oxide sedation. Nitrous oxide had minimal effects on all these parameters, similar to the effects of pure oxygen. Patient and endoscopist satisfaction surveys and VAS scores

WJG | www.wjgnet.com

COMMENTS

Background

Endoscopic ultrasonography (EUS) has been widely used in the diagnosis and treatment of gastrointestinal tract and pancreaticobiliary diseases. However, EUS-guided fine needle aspiration (EUS-FNA) is a time-consuming procedure associated with pain and discomfort. Nitrous oxide, also known as laughing gas, is a colorless, short-acting inhaled agent that can produce anesthetic, analgesic, and anxiolytic effects. However, inhaled nitrous oxide has no effect on heart or lung function and patients remain awake, and this thus represents a feasible mode of sedation for EUS. The current study aimed to establish the safety and efficacy of nitrous oxide-sedated EUS-FNA.

Research frontiers

Nitrous oxide, also known as laughing gas, is a colorless, short-acting inhaled agent that can produce anesthetic, analgesic, and anxiolytic effects. However, inhaled nitrous oxide has no effect on heart or lung function and patients remain awake, and this thus represents a feasible mode of sedation for EUS. It is the first time to establish the safety and efficacy of nitrous oxide-sedated EUS-FNA.

Innovations and breakthroughs

Nitrous oxide-sedated endoscopy examinations have been shown to be safe and effective, and nitrous oxide has proven a safe and effective choice for colonoscopy sedation and analgesia. However, nitrous oxide is rarely used for EUS. In this study, the authors monitored heart rate, blood oxygen saturation, blood pressure, and electrocardiogram (ECG) in patients undergoing EUS under nitrous oxide sedation. Nitrous oxide had minimal effects on all these parameters, similar to the effects of pure oxygen. Patient and endoscopist satisfaction surveys and visual analog scale (VAS) scores indicated that the use of nitrous oxide significantly increased patient tolerance to EUS.

Applications

In this study, the authors monitored heart rate, blood oxygen saturation, blood pressure, and ECG in patients undergoing EUS under nitrous oxide sedation. Nitrous oxide had minimal effects on all these parameters, similar to the effects of pure oxygen. Patient and endoscopist satisfaction surveys and VAS scores indicated that the use of nitrous oxide significantly increased patient tolerance to EUS. Nitrous oxide sedation therefore represents a safe and effective choice in patients undergoing EUS-FNA.

Terminology

Nitrous oxide-sedation is a safe and effective option for patients undergoing endoscopic ultrasound-guided fine needle aspiration.

Peer-review

This is an interesting study about the safety and efficacy of nitrous oxidesedated endoscopic ultrasound-guided fine needle aspiration for digestive tract diseases.

REFERENCES

- Alkaade S, Chahla E, Levy M. Role of endoscopic ultrasound-guided fine-needle aspiration cytology, viscosity, and carcinoembryonic antigen in pancreatic cyst fluid. *Endosc Ultrasound* 2015; 4: 299-303 [PMID: 26643697 DOI: 10.4103/2303-9027.170417]
- 2 Rana SS, Sharma V, Sharma R, Gunjan D, Dhalaria L, Gupta R, Bhasin DK. Gastric gastrointestinal stromal tumor mimicking cystic tumor of the pancreas: Diagnosed by endoscopic ultrasoundfine-needle aspiration. *Endosc Ultrasound* 2015; 4: 351-352 [PMID: 26643707 DOI: 10.4103/2303-9027.170452]
- 3 Sharma M, Rafiq A, Kirnake V. Dysphagia due to tubercular

mediastinal lymphadenitis diagnosed by endoscopic ultrasound fine-needle aspiration. *Endosc Ultrasound* 2015; **4**: 348-350 [PMID: 26643706 DOI: 10.4103/2303-9027.170447]

- 4 Baysal B, Masri OA, Eloubeidi MA, Senturk H. The role of EUS and EUS-guided FNA in the management of subepithelial lesions of the esophagus: A large, single-center experience. *Endosc Ultrasound* 2015; Epub ahead of print [PMID: 26365993 DOI: 10.4103/2303-9027.155772]
- 5 Parekh PJ, Majithia R, Diehl DL, Baron TH. Endoscopic ultrasound-guided liver biopsy. *Endosc Ultrasound* 2015; 4: 85-91 [PMID: 26020041 DOI: 10.4103/2303-9027.156711]
- 6 Mohri D, Nakai Y, Isayama H, Koike K. Malignant peritoneal mesothelioma diagnosed by EUS-guided tissue acquisition. *Endosc Ultrasound* 2015; 4: 353-354 [PMID: 26643708 DOI: 10.4103/230 3-9027.170453]
- 7 Maslekar S, Gardiner A, Hughes M, Culbert B, Duthie GS. Randomized clinical trial of Entonox versus midazolam-fentanyl sedation for colonoscopy. *Br J Surg* 2009; 96: 361-368 [PMID: 19283736 DOI: 10.1002/bjs.6467]
- 8 Lan C, Shen X, Cui H, Liu H, Li P, Wan X, Lan L, Chen D. Comparison of nitrous oxide to no sedation and deep sedation for diagnostic upper gastrointestinal endoscopy. *J Gastrointest Surg* 2013; **17**: 1066-1072 [PMID: 23546559 DOI: 10.1007/s11605-013-2160-2]
- 9 Welchman S, Cochrane S, Minto G, Lewis S. Systematic review: the use of nitrous oxide gas for lower gastrointestinal endoscopy. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2010; **32**: 324-333 [PMID: 20491748 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2036.2010.04359.x]
- 10 Wang C, Sun S, Liu X, Guo J, Wang S, Wang G. Safety and efficacy of nitrous oxide for endoscopic ultrasound procedures that need irrigation. *Endosc Ultrasound* 2014; 3: S14-S15 [PMID: 26425514]
- 11 McQuaid KR, Laine L. A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized, controlled trials of moderate sedation for routine endoscopic procedures. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2008; 67: 910-923 [PMID: 18440381 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2007.12.046]
- 12 Froehlich F, Harris JK, Wietlisbach V, Burnand B, Vader JP, Gonvers JJ. Current sedation and monitoring practice for colonoscopy: an International Observational Study (EPAGE). Endoscopy 2006; 38: 461-469 [PMID: 16767580 DOI: 10.1055/ s-2006-925368]
- 13 Martin JP, Sexton BF, Saunders BP, Atkin WS. Inhaled patientadministered nitrous oxide/oxygen mixture does not impair driving ability when used as analgesia during screening flexible sigmoidoscopy. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2000; **51**: 701-703 [PMID: 10840303]
- 14 Michaud L, Gottrand F, Ganga-Zandzou PS, Ouali M, Vetter-Laffargue A, Lambilliotte A, Dalmas S, Turck D. Nitrous oxide sedation in pediatric patients undergoing gastrointestinal endoscopy. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 1999; 28: 310-314 [PMID: 10067734]
- 15 Forbes GM, Collins BJ. Nitrous oxide for colonoscopy: a randomized controlled study. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2000; 51: 271-277 [PMID: 10699770]
- 16 Harding TA, Gibson JA. The use of inhaled nitrous oxide for flexible sigmoidoscopy: a placebo-controlled trial. *Endoscopy* 2000; 32: 457-460 [PMID: 10863911 DOI: 10.1055/s-2000-652]
- 17 Maslekar SK, Hughes M, Skinn E, Graeme Duthie. Randomised controlled trial of sedation for colonoscopy: entonox versus intravenous sedation. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2006; 63: AB97 [DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2006.03.087]
- 18 Calleary JG, Masood J, Van-Mallaerts R, Barua JM. Nitrous oxide inhalation to improve patient acceptance and reduce procedure related pain of flexible cystoscopy for men younger than 55 years. *J Urol* 2007; 178: 184-188; discussion 188 [PMID: 17499771 DOI: 10.1016/j.juro.2007.03.036]
- 19 Løberg M, Furholm S, Hoff I, Aabakken L, Hoff G, Bretthauer M. Nitrous oxide for analgesia in colonoscopy without sedation. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2011; 74: 1347-1353 [PMID: 22136779 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2011.07.071]
- 20 Rao AS, Baron TH. Endoscopy: Nitrous oxide sedation for

colonoscopy-no laughing matter. *Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2010; 7: 539-541 [PMID: 20890315 DOI: 10.1038/ nrgastro.2010.148]

21 Fink SD, Schutz SM. Immediate recovery of psychomotor function after patient-administered nitrous oxide/oxygen inhalation for colonoscopy. *Gastrointest Endosc* 1998; 47: 201-202 [PMID: 9512294]

22 Trojan J, Saunders BP, Woloshynowych M, Debinsky HS, Williams CB. Immediate recovery of psychomotor function after patient-administered nitrous oxide/oxygen inhalation for colonoscopy. *Endoscopy* 1997; 29: 17-22 [PMID: 9083731 DOI: 10.1055/s-2007-1004055]

P- Reviewer: Ismail M, Kesavadevi J S- Editor: Qi Y L- Editor: A E- Editor: Zhang FF







Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/ Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v22.i46.10249 World J Gastroenterol 2016 December 14; 22(46): 10249-10253 ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online) © 2016 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

CASE REPORT

"*En bloc*" caudate lobe and inferior vena cava resection following cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for peritoneal and liver metastasis of colorectal cancer

Patricia Sánchez-Velázquez, Nicolas Moosmann, Ingolf Töpel, Pompiliu Piso

Patricia Sánchez-Velázquez, Pompiliu Piso, Department of Surgery, Barmherzige Brüder Krankenhaus Regensburg, 93049 Regensburg, Germany

Nicolas Moosmann, Department of Oncology and Hematology, Barmherzige Brüder Krankenhaus Regensburg, 93049 Regensburg, Germany

Ingolf Töpel, Department of Vascular Surgery, Barmherzige Brüder Krankenhaus Regensburg, 93049 Regensburg, Germany

Author contributions: All authors reviewed and supervised the manuscript; Sánchez-Velázquez P wrote the main manuscript text; Piso P was in collaboration with Moosmann N; Töpel I has supervised the design, develop and main content of the manuscript.

Institutional review board statement: This case report was approved by the Institutional Review Board standards.

Informed consent statement: The patient involved in this study gave her informed consent authorizing use and disclosure of her protected health information

Conflict-of-interest statement: The authors declare no conflict of interests.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons. org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Manuscript source: Unsolicited manuscript

Correspondence to: Patricia Sánchez-Velázquez, MD, Department of Surgery, Barmherzige Brüder Krankenhaus

Regensburg, Prüfeningerstrasse 86, 93049 Regensburg, Germany. patri_sv5@hotmail.com Telephone: +49-941-3692205

Received: August 2, 2016 Peer-review started: August 2, 2016 First decision: August 29, 2016 Revised: September 10, 2016 Accepted: September 28, 2016 Article in press: September 28, 2016 Published online: December 14, 2016

Abstract

There are diverse protocols to manage patients with recurrent disease after primary cytoreductive surgery (CRS) with hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC) for peritoneal carcinomatosis. We describe a case of metachronous liver metastasis after CRS and HIPEC for colorectal cancer, successfully treated with a selective metastectomy and partial graft of the inferior vena cava. A 35-year-old female presented with a large tumour in the cecum and consequent colonic stenosis. After an emergency right colectomy, the patient received adjuvant chemotherapy. One year later she was diagnosed with peritoneal carcinomatosis, and it was decided to carry out a CRS/HIPEC. After 2 years of total remission, an isolated metachronous liver metastasis was detected by magnetic resonance imaging surveillance. The patient underwent a third procedure including a caudate lobe and partial inferior vena cava resection with a prosthetic graft interposition, achieving an R0 situation. The postoperative course was uneventful and the patient was discharged on postoperative day 17 after the liver resection. At 18-mo follow-up after the liver resection the patient

WJG www.wjgnet.com

remained free of recurrence. In selected patients, the option of re-operation due to recurrent disease should be discussed. Even liver resection of a metachronous metastasis and an extended vascular resection are acceptable after CRS/HIPEC and can be considered as a potential treatment option to remove all macroscopic lesions.

Key words: Cytoreductive surgery; Liver resection; Hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy; Colorectal cancer; Liver metastasis

© **The Author(s) 2016.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core tip: Treatment of liver recurrence after a cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy is a great challenge. We report here the case of a young patient with metachronous liver metastases who was treated with a limited resection of segment I of the liver and vascular graft interposition of the inferior vena cava achieving a long-term survival. The surgical approach of these patients is extremely complicated and often requires complex major surgical procedures.

Sánchez-Velázquez P, Moosmann N, Töpel I, Piso P. "*En bloc*" caudate lobe and inferior vena cava resection following cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for peritoneal and liver metastasis of colorectal cancer. *World J Gastroenterol* 2016; 22(46): 10249-10253 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/ v22/i46/10249.htm DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v22. i46.10249

INTRODUCTION

Peritoneal carcinomatosis (PC) is the second most common presentation of metastatic colorectal cancer and is diagnosed in up to 4%-6% of these cases. Twenty five percent of these patients have the peritoneum as the only site of disseminated disease^[1]. PC was traditionally considered the last stage of the disease and was associated with a poor prognosis so that patients were often relegated to palliative systemic therapies. In recent decades multimodal PC treatment has made great advances; cytoreductive surgery (CRS), hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC) and systemic chemotherapy have shown promising results and have become standard therapy for PC patients in several countries^[2-7]. Various studies have reported that patients undergoing CRS with total macroscopic cytoreduction and HIPEC may achieve prolonged overall survival and potentially even a complete cure in selected patients^[4,8,9].

Up to 80% of patients with PC of colorectal origin treated with CRS and HIPEC are likely to $recur^{[10,11]}$. In selected cases the possibility of a reoperation

due to recurrence or even an extensive abdominal surgical procedure can be individually assessed. The data available on this approach show favourable long-term outcomes with similar morbidity and mortality to that of initial CRS/HIPEC^[12-15]. Simultaneous or staged combined CRS and liver resections have also been performed with comparable morbidity and long-term results^[16]. In this report we describe the case of a young female patient with metachronous liver metastasis after CRS and HIPEC for colorectal cancer successfully treated by a selective liver and vascular resection.

CASE REPORT

A 35-year-old female was referred to our emergency unit in February 2011, presenting with abdominal distension, pain, and vomiting for 3 d. Her medical history was only remarkable for asthma. Abdominal computed tomography (CT) was performed and revealed a large tumor in the cecum with consecutive colonic stenosis. The patient underwent an emergency right colectomy, and an R0 situation was achieved. Pathologic examination showed pT4a pN2a (4/22) cM0 poorly differentiated adenocarcinoma. Between March and August 2011 she received 12 cycles of adjuvant FOLFOX (folinic acid, 5-fluorouracil, and oxaliplatin). In February 2012 a CT scan identified lesions in the peritoneum with suspicions of peritoneal carcinomatosis. Our multidisciplinary tumour board decided on pursuing CRS with HIPEC. Abdominal exploration revealed widespread peritoneal carcinomatosis, especially in the pelvis and a large tumor mass in the left sub-diaphragmatic region with a peritoneal cancer index (PCI) of 14. Total parietal and diaphragmatic peritonectomy, proctocolectomy with an end ileostomy, terminal ileum resection, splenectomy, omentectomy, hysterectomy and bilateral salpingo-oophorectomy (CCR-0) were performed to remove the macroscopic tumor. HIPEC was carried out to treat the microscopic residual with mitomycin C, according to the closed-abdomen technique. The postoperative course was uneventful and the patient was duly discharged from hospital. At this time, no further chemotherapy was recommended as the patient had completed adjuvant chemotherapy after the first operation and a R0 situation was achieved. Adjuvant systemic chemotherapy, according to our institution protocols, is performed only in chemo naïve patients. From February 2012 until June 2014 the patient stayed free from recurrence. In July 2014 abdominal magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) surveillance revealed a solid tumor in segment 1 of the liver (Figure 1) so the patient underwent explorative laparotomy. During the procedure no evidence of a peritoneal recurrence was shown but many adhesions were found from the previous operations. A 4 cm tumor was identified in the caudate hepatic lobe infiltrating the inferior vena cava (IVC). The distal cava was mobilized towards the left renal vein and was divided at a level free of tumor





Figure 1 Magnetic resonance imaging shows an isolated liver metastasis in caudate lobe of the liver.



Figure 2 Distal inferior vena cava. A: Tumor mass infiltrating the inferior vena cava (ICV) at the bifurcation of the renal veins (vessel loop); B: Vascular interposition graft after partial resection of the IVC.

(Figure 2A). Liver segment 1 was transected following the clamp-crushing technique and ICV cranial to the tumor was dissected and divided under the major suprahepatic trunks. Vascular continuity was restored using a prosthetic graft interposition sutured with a running suture of prolene 5/0 onto the proximal and distal IVC (Figure 2B). The postoperative course was mainly uncomplicated except for right pleural effusion, initially managed conservatively with diuretic therapy, and later by thoracocentesis. The patient was finally discharged on the 17th postoperative day. Pathological examination revealed a poorly differentiated adenocarcinoma with identical immunohistochemical phenotype as previously. At this point it was decided not to continue with chemotherapy, as a CCR-0 situation had been surgically achieved and the patient had completed the 12-cycle adjuvant treatment in the past (Table 1). Eighteen months after metastasis resection of the liver and 4 years after CRS and HIPEC, the patient shows no evidence of neoplastic disease.

DISCUSSION

After initial CRS and HIPEC, recurrences are mostly intra-abdominal, even if complete cytoreduction is achieved^[17]. Protocols differ among the different

institutions, thus a number of different treatments are applied in high-volume centres, including chemotherapy, tumour debulking or re-do surgery for intraadominal metastasis.

The presence of synchronous liver metastases (LM) and PC was traditionally a contraindication for cytoreductive surgery. However, it has been shown that selected patients with low PCI and three or fewer LM can achieve prolonged survival if a liver resection is performed simultaneously^[16,18]. A recent meta-analysis by Cuba *et al*^[19] shows improved overall survival (OS) in patients who were treated with CRS and HIPEC and curative treatment of LM as compared to patients treated with modern systemic chemotherapy alone.

Nevertheless, it remains unclear which approach should be used in patients with isolated metachronous LM, as in our case report. Iterative cytoreductive surgery is feasible in cases of recurrence and appears to be worthwhile in terms of long-term outcomes^[20]. The study by Sugarbaker and colleagues was on one of the largest series and included 70 patients with PC of colorectal origin^[15]. This study showed that 53% of the patients had at least one reoperation after the initial cytoreduction. The overall survival of patients with repeated surgery approach was significantly longer (39 mo vs 20 mo). Brouquet et al^[13] reported on a cohort of 20 patients with repeat CRS + intraperitoneal chemotherapy (IPC) for isolated peritoneal tumour recurrence of all origins. Five- and 10-year overall survival (OS) rates were 72.5% and 58.1% respectively.

Even though they studied selected groups of patients, the studies by Sugarbaker and Brouquet underline the possibility of highly favourable outcomes and even long-term survival in palliative patients with recurrence of peritoneal carcinomatosis.

In this context, the study by Kianmanesh *et al*^[12] included 43 patients with PC of colorectal cancer origin who underwent CRS/HIPEC and specifically evaluated the role of simultaneous liver resection. They concluded that patients with colorectal PC, iterative CRS and HIPEC achieved appreciable long-term survival and that liver metastasis resection did not negatively influence the postoperative outcomes. However, they

Sánchez-Velázquez P et al. Caudate lobe resection after CRS and HIPEC

| Таріе і пі | story and detail surgical treatment of our patie | it's disease |
|------------|--|--|
| Time point | Diagnosis | Procedure |
| 2011 | Stenotic tumour of the cecum | Right Colectomy |
| | | Adjuvant chemotherapy (12 cycles with folinic acid, 5-fluorouracil, and oxaliplatin) |
| 2012 | Peritoneal carcinomatosis | CRS (CCR-0) |
| | PCI = 14 | Total parietal and diaphragmatic Peritonectomy |
| | | Proctocolectomy with end ileostomy |
| | | Terminal ileum resection |
| | | Splenectomy |
| | | Omentectomy |
| | | Hysterectomy |
| | | Bilateral salpingo-oophorectomy |
| | | HIPEC |
| | | 43.8 mg Mitomycin C intraperitoneal (1 h) |
| 2014 | Liver metastases segment I with IVC infiltration | Resection of liver segment I |
| | | Partial resection of IVC with prosthetic graft interposition |
| | | Cholecystectomy |
| | | Partial adrenalectomy |
| 2016 | No evidence of neoplastic disease | |

PCI: Peritoneal cancer index; CRS: Cytoreductive surgery; HIPEC: Hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy.

did not specify whether an extended vascular resection was performed or if liver resections were performed in cases of metachronous LM.

Achieving complete cytoreduction in most cases is challenging and implies an aggressive approach combining major surgical procedures not exempt from complications. In selected cases, as in the one presented here, the option of re-do surgery for liver metastasis is feasible. Even extended vascular resection is acceptable after CRS/HIPEC and can be considered as a potentially curative treatment option. Early detection of tumour recurrence through a close followup is essential, as well as a multidisciplinary assessment of patient selection. The patients should then be referred to a centre specialized in the treatment of peritoneal and liver metastases. In the present case, staged resection of both metastatic sites achieved long-term survival for a young female patient. To our knowledge, this is this first report on liver resection due to metachronous liver metastases following CRS and HIPEC.

COMMENTS

Case characteristics

A 35-year-old patient with liver recurrent disease after an extended cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC) procedure.

Clinical diagnosis

Abdominal magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) diagnosed the liver recurrence in the follow-up.

Differential diagnosis

There is no possible differential diagnosis in this case.

Laboratory diagnosis

All labs were within normal limits.

Imaging diagnosis

MRI showed a solid tumor in segment 1 of the liver.

Pathological diagnosis

pT4a pN2a (4/22) cM0 poorly differentiated adenocarcinoma.

Treatment

Complete surgical excision of lesion.

Related reports

There are currently no other reports of surgical excision of a liver metastasis in the caudate lobe two years after a cytoreductive surgery.

Experiences and lessons

The report is good example of patient tailored treatment in cases where guidelines are missing or suggest only palliative or best supportive care. It is also novel to perform such an extensive surgery after cytoreductive surgery and HIPEC.

Peer-review

The paper is well written.

REFERENCES

- Lemmens VE, Klaver YL, Verwaal VJ, Rutten HJ, Coebergh JW, de Hingh IH. Predictors and survival of synchronous peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal origin: a population-based study. *Int J Cancer* 2011; 128: 2717-2725 [PMID: 20715167 DOI: 10.1002/ ijc.25596]
- 2 Esquivel J. Cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for colorectal cancer: survival outcomes and patient selection. J Gastrointest Oncol 2016; 7: 72-78 [PMID: 26941985]
- 3 Esquivel J, Sticca R, Sugarbaker P, Levine E, Yan TD, Alexander R, Baratti D, Bartlett D, Barone R, Barrios P, Bieligk S, Bretcha-Boix P, Chang CK, Chu F, Chu Q, Daniel S, de Bree E, Deraco M, Dominguez-Parra L, Elias D, Flynn R, Foster J, Garofalo A, Gilly FN, Glehen O, Gomez-Portilla A, Gonzalez-Bayon L, Gonzalez-Moreno S, Goodman M, Gushchin V, Hanna N, Hartmann J, Harrison L, Hoefer R, Kane J, Kecmanovic D, Kelley S, Kuhn J, Lamont J, Lange J, Li B, Loggie B, Mahteme H, Mann G, Martin R, Misih RA, Moran B, Morris D, Onate-Ocana L, Petrelli N, Philippe G, Pingpank J, Pitroff A, Piso P, Quinones M, Riley L,

Rutstein L, Saha S, Alrawi S, Sardi A, Schneebaum S, Shen P, Shibata D, Spellman J, Stojadinovic A, Stewart J, Torres-Melero J, Tuttle T, Verwaal V, Villar J, Wilkinson N, Younan R, Zeh H, Zoetmulder F, Sebbag G. Cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy in the management of peritoneal surface malignancies of colonic origin: a consensus statement. Society of Surgical Oncology. *Ann Surg Oncol* 2007; **14**: 128-133 [PMID: 17072675 DOI: 10.1245/s10434-006-9185-7]

- 4 Verwaal VJ, van Ruth S, de Bree E, van Sloothen GW, van Tinteren H, Boot H, Zoetmulder FA. Randomized trial of cytoreduction and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy versus systemic chemotherapy and palliative surgery in patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal cancer. *J Clin Oncol* 2003; 21: 3737-3743 [PMID: 14551293 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2003.04.187]
- 5 Franko J, Ibrahim Z, Gusani NJ, Holtzman MP, Bartlett DL, Zeh HJ. Cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemoperfusion versus systemic chemotherapy alone for colorectal peritoneal carcinomatosis. *Cancer* 2010; **116**: 3756-3762 [PMID: 20564081 DOI: 10.1002/cncr.25116]
- 6 Piso P, Arnold D, Glockzin G. Challenges in the multidisciplinary management of stage IV colon and rectal cancer. *Expert Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2015; 9: 317-326 [PMID: 25192718 DOI: 10.1586/17474124.2015.957273]
- 7 **Piso P**, Arnold D. Multimodal treatment approaches for peritoneal carcinosis in colorectal cancer. *Dtsch Arzteblatt Int* 2011; **108**: 802-808
- 8 Elias D, Gilly F, Boutitie F, Quenet F, Bereder JM, Mansvelt B, Lorimier G, Dubè P, Glehen O. Peritoneal colorectal carcinomatosis treated with surgery and perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy: retrospective analysis of 523 patients from a multicentric French study. *J Clin Oncol* 2010; 28: 63-68 [PMID: 19917863 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2009.23.9285]
- 9 Koppe MJ, Boerman OC, Oyen WJ, Bleichrodt RP. Peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal origin: incidence and current treatment strategies. *Ann Surg* 2006; 243: 212-222 [PMID: 16432354 DOI: 10.1097/01.sla.0000197702.46394.16]
- 10 Cavaliere F, De Simone M, Virzi S, Deraco M, Rossi CR, Garofalo A, Di Filippo F, Giannarelli D, Vaira M, Valle M, Pilati P, Perri P, La Pinta M, Monsellato I, Guadagni F. Prognostic factors and oncologic outcome in 146 patients with colorectal peritoneal carcinomatosis treated with cytoreductive surgery combined with hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy: Italian multicenter study S.I.T.I.L.O. *Eur J Surg Oncol* 2011; **37**: 148-154 [PMID: 21093205 DOI: 10.1016/j.ejso.2010.10.014]
- 11 Mirnezami R, Moran BJ, Harvey K, Cecil T, Chandrakumaran K, Carr N, Mohamed F, Mirnezami AH. Cytoreductive surgery and intraperitoneal chemotherapy for colorectal peritoneal metastases. *World J Gastroenterol* 2014; 20: 14018-14032 [PMID: 25320542]

DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v20.i38.14018]

- 12 Kianmanesh R, Scaringi S, Sabate JM, Castel B, Pons-Kerjean N, Coffin B, Hay JM, Flamant Y, Msika S. Iterative cytoreductive surgery associated with hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for treatment of peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal origin with or without liver metastases. *Ann Surg* 2007; 245: 597-603 [PMID: 17414609 DOI: 10.1097/01.sla.0000255561.87771.11]
- 13 Brouquet A, Goéré D, Lefèvre JH, Bonnet S, Dumont F, Raynard B, Elias D. The second procedure combining complete cytoreductive surgery and intraperitoneal chemotherapy for isolated peritoneal recurrence: postoperative course and long-term outcome. *Ann Surg Oncol* 2009; 16: 2744-2751 [PMID: 19626375 DOI: 10.1245/s10434-009-0611-5]
- 14 Vassos N, Förtsch T, Aladashvili A, Hohenberger W, Croner RS. Repeated cytoreductive surgery (CRS) with hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC) in patients with recurrent peritoneal carcinomatosis. *World J Surg Oncol* 2016; 14: 42 [PMID: 26912149 DOI: 10.1186/s12957-016-0804-x]
- 15 Bijelic L, Yan TD, Sugarbaker PH. Treatment failure following complete cytoreductive surgery and perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy for peritoneal dissemination from colorectal or appendiceal mucinous neoplasms. *J Surg Oncol* 2008; **98**: 295-299 [PMID: 18726900 DOI: 10.1002/jso.21084]
- 16 Maggiori L, Goéré D, Viana B, Tzanis D, Dumont F, Honoré C, Eveno C, Elias D. Should patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal origin with synchronous liver metastases be treated with a curative intent? A case-control study. *Ann Surg* 2013; 258: 116-121 [PMID: 23207243 DOI: 10.1097/SLA.0b013e3182778089]
- 17 Verwaal VJ, Boot H, Aleman BM, van Tinteren H, Zoetmulder FA. Recurrences after peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal origin treated by cytoreduction and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy: location, treatment, and outcome. *Ann Surg Oncol* 2004; 11: 375-379 [PMID: 15070596 DOI: 10.1245/ASO.2004.08.014]
- 18 Elias D, Faron M, Iuga BS, Honoré C, Dumont F, Bourgain JL, Dartigues P, Ducreux M, Goéré D. Prognostic similarities and differences in optimally resected liver metastases and peritoneal metastases from colorectal cancers. *Ann Surg* 2015; 261: 157-163 [PMID: 24509197 DOI: 10.1097/SLA.00000000000582]
- 19 de Cuba EM, Kwakman R, Knol DL, Bonjer HJ, Meijer GA, Te Velde EA. Cytoreductive surgery and HIPEC for peritoneal metastases combined with curative treatment of colorectal liver metastases: Systematic review of all literature and meta-analysis of observational studies. *Cancer Treat Rev* 2013; **39**: 321-327 [PMID: 23244778 DOI: 10.1016/j.ctrv.2012.11.003]
- 20 Esquivel J, Sugarbaker PH. Second-look surgery in patients with peritoneal dissemination from appendiceal malignancy: analysis of prognostic factors in 98 patients. *Ann Surg* 2001; 234: 198-205 [PMID: 11505065 DOI: 10.1097/00000658-200108000-00009]

P- Reviewer: Hoskovec D, Levine EA, Peng SY, Tentes AA, van Oudheusden TR S- Editor: Qi Y L- Editor: A E- Editor: Liu WX







Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/ Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v22.i46.10254 World J Gastroenterol 2016 December 14; 22(46): 10254-10259 ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online) © 2016 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

CASE REPORT

Response of *BRCA1***-mutated gallbladder cancer to olaparib:** A case report

Yuan Xie, Yan Jiang, Xiao-Bo Yang, An-Qiang Wang, Yong-Chang Zheng, Xue-Shuai Wan, Xin-Ting Sang, Kai Wang, Da-Dong Zhang, Jia-Jia Xu, Fu-Gen Li, Hai-Tao Zhao

Yuan Xie, Xiao-Bo Yang, An-Qiang Wang, Yong-Chang Zheng, Xue-Shuai Wan, Xin-Ting Sang, Hai-Tao Zhao, Department of Liver Surgery, Peking Union Medical College Hospital, Chinese Academy of Medical Sciences and Peking Union Medical College, Beijing 100730, China

Yan Jiang, Da-Dong Zhang, Jia-Jia Xu, Fu-Gen Li, Institute of Precision Medicine, 3D Medicines Inc, Shanghai 201114, China

Kai Wang, Center for Precision Medicine, Zhejiang University International Hospital, Hangzhou 310000, Zhejiang Province, China

Author contributions: Xie Y and Jiang Y contributed equally to this work; Yang XB, Wang AQ, Zheng YC, Wan XS followed up the patient; Wang K, Zhang DD, Xu JJ provided genetic analysis for the variants tested in the patient; Li FG analyzed the genetic data and revised the manuscript; Sang XT and Zhao HT provided financial support for this work; Xie Y and Jiang Y wrote the paper; all authors have read and approved the final manuscript.

Supported by International Science and Technology Cooperation Projects, No. 2015DFA30650 and No. 2010DFB33720; Capital Special Research Project for Health Development, No. 2014-2-4012; and Capital Research Project for the Characteristics Clinical Application, No. Z151100004015170.

Institutional review board statement: The publication of this manuscript has been reviewed and approved by the PUMCH institutional review board.

Informed consent statement: The patient and his family signed informed consent before gene test and drug treatment.

Conflict-of-interest statement: We declare that the authors have no conflict of interest.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and

the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Manuscript source: Unsolicited manuscript

Correspondence to: Hai-Tao Zhao, MD, Department of Liver Surgery, Peking Union Medical College Hospital, Chinese Academy of Medical Sciences and Peking Union Medical College, 1 Shuaifuyuan, Wangfujing, Beijing 100730, China. zhaoht@pumch.cn Telephone: +86-10-69156042 Fax: +86-10-69156042

Received: July 31, 2016 Peer-review started: August 1, 2016 First decision: August 19, 2016 Revised: September 1, 2016 Accepted: September 28, 2016 Article in press: September 28, 2016 Published online: December 14, 2016

Abstract

Gallbladder cancer (GBC), although considered as a relatively rare malignancy, is the most common neoplasm of the biliary tract system. The late diagnosis and abysmal prognosis present challenges to treatment. The overall 5-year survival rate for metastatic GBC patients is extremely low. *BRCA1* and *BRCA2* are the breast cancer susceptibility genes and their mutation carriers are at a high risk for cancer development, both in men and women. Olaparib, an oral poly ADP-ribose polymerase inhibitor, has been approved by the Food and Drug Administration and the European Commission for the treatment of ovarian cancer with any *BRCA1/2* mutations. The first case of a *BRCA1*-mutated GBC patient who responded to olaparib treatment is reported here.

Key words: *BRCA*; Mutation; Olaparib; Poly ADP-ribose polymerase inhibitor; Gallbladder cancer



WJG www.wjgnet.com

© **The Author(s) 2016.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core tip: Gallbladder cancer (GBC) is the most common neoplasm of the biliary tract system. *BRCA1*, the first major breast cancer susceptibility gene, has been widely studied in breast and ovarian cancers. Olaparib, an oral poly ADP-ribose polymerase (PARP) inhibitor, has been approved by the Food and Drug Administration and the European Commission for the treatment of ovarian cancer with any *BRCA1/2* mutations. However, there is no report of a germline *BRCA1* functional mutation in GBC prior to this case. Even further, the GBC with a *BRCA1* mutation responded to the PARP inhibitor olaparib.

Xie Y, Jiang Y, Yang XB, Wang AQ, Zheng YC, Wan XS, Sang XT, Wang K, Zhang DD, Xu JJ, Li FG, Zhao HT. Response of *BRCA1*-mutated gallbladder cancer to olaparib: A case report. *World J Gastroenterol* 2016; 22(46): 10254-10259 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v22/ i46/10254.htm DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v22.i46.10254

INTRODUCTION

Gallbladder cancer (GBC) derives from the mucosal epithelial lining of the gallbladder and the cystic duct. It is a relatively rare malignancy, but is the most frequent malignant neoplasm of the biliary tract system. Epidemiological studies have demonstrated that the incidence of GBC is characterized by remarkable geographic distribution and ethnic disparities. The incidence is extraordinarily high in American Indians, elevated in Southeast Asia and guite low elsewhere in the Americas^[1]. Although GBC limits in Southeast Asia, with increasing global migration, the incidence is also increasing in the west, and spreads worldwide. The prognosis of GBC is dismal and the median survival for locally advanced GBC with non-surgical treatment is about 8 mo^[2]. Some patients detected incidentally during routine cholecystectomy for cholelithiasis have a long-term survival, but they only account for 2% of all cases with GBC^[3]. Clinically, the adjuvant treatment for GBC is gemcitabine or 5-fluorouracil-based chemotherapy, with or without radiotherapy^[4]. Even though the response rate remains low, there is no effective treatment. Here we report that a BRCA1mutated GBC patient responded to the poly ADPribose polymerase inhibitor (PARPi) olaparib.

CASE REPORT

A 74-year-old man, with a past history of primary hypertension, atrial fibrillation, coronary disease and cholelithiasis, presented with epigastric pain. The patient underwent a robot-assisted prostate cancer surgery on November 29, 2013, and his mother had



Figure 1 Histologic examination indicated gallbladder cancer with hepatic infiltration.



Figure 2 Genomic images from the integrated genome viewer for the alteration in *BRCA1* found in the patient's blood sample. The number of reads for the reference allele and variant allele are shown for each alteration.

died of esophageal cancer. Computed tomography (CT) of the abdomen revealed multiple low-density intrahepatic lesions as well as the gallbladder lesion on May 7, 2015. PET-CT revealed multiple hypermetabolic intrahepatic lesions apart from the porta hepatis on May 14, 2015. A laparoscopic exploration was performed and an intrahepatic biopsy was conducted on May 26, 2015. Histologic examination indicated GBC (Figure 1). Considering the dismal prognosis and his poor physical condition, systemic chemotherapy was not preferred. After having obtained consent from the patient and his family, we tested the tissue. Two specimens from different liver metastases and a blood sample were sent for next generation sequencing panel. We detected all genomic alteration types on over 390 genes commonly associated with cancers and found a somatic MET P1086A mutation in one of two liver metastases, but there was no literature to confirm this was a functional mutation. Bioinformatics analysis also suspected MET P1086A could have an impact on MET function. However, we also detected a germinal BRCA1 Q858* mutation in both liver metastases and further Sanger sequencing confirmed this result (Figure 2). Furthermore, the patient's offspring and siblings also had been screened for BRCA mutation from their saliva samples, and some family members were also BRCA1 Q858* mutation carriers

WJG 🛘 www.wjgnet.com



Figure 3 Pedigree of 74-year-old man affected by gallbladder cancer found to be carrier of BRCA1 gene mutation (indicated with arrow). Black denotes carrier of BRCA1 mutation.



Figure 4 Baseline (July 21, 2015) computed tomography of the abdomen revealed many intra- and extra-hepatic lesions before initiating olaparib treatment.

(Figure 3). The nonsense mutation may lead to the premature termination of BRCA1 protein translation and nonsense-mediated mRNA decay, and the loss-offunction disenables its involvement in transcriptional regulation of gene expression and repair of DNA damage, particularly double-strand breaks^[5]. Several studies have demonstrated that BRCA1 mutations increase the risks of breast, ovarian, prostate and pancreatic cancer^[5-7]. Poly ADP-ribose polymerase (PARP) inhibitors have been studied as potential cancer therapeutics by means of inhibiting base excision repair (BER) as well as by trapping PARP^[8,9]. A number of clinical trials have shown patients with germline BRCA1/2 mutations, especially in breast and ovarian cancer, to receive PARP inhibitor olaparib with survival benefit^[10-12]. Based on the gene alteration testing report and the clinical trial studies, the patient was started on olaparib 400 mg twice daily on July 21, 2015 (Figure 4). The patient could tolerate the dose, and subsequently his pain was relieved significantly. On August 23, 2015, CT of the abdomen revealed the shrinkage of both intra- and extra-hepatic lesions and some extra-hepatic lesions even appeared to be invisible (Figure 5). The patient responded well to olaparib until the occurrence of obstructive jaundice. On October 9, 2015, CT of the abdomen indicated

that intrahepatic lesions had dwindled; nevertheless, extrahepatic lesions became large and progressed (Figure 6). Subsequently, percutaneous transhepatic cholangiodrainage was performed to reduce the serum bilirubin level and the olaparib treatment was suspended from that time. We intended to resume olaparib treatment in combination with platinum agents at a later date. Unfortunately, the patient passed away as a result of severe biliary tract infection on November 25, 2015.

DISCUSSION

Like other cancers, substantial molecular alterations in genes contribute to the pathogenesis of GBC. Hitherto, in GBC, over 1450 single nucleotide variants, 34 deletions have been reported. The most frequent mutations are *TP53* (18%-63%), *KRAS*, *ERRB3* and *ERBB2* (*HER2*)^[13]. *BRCA1*, the first major breast cancer susceptibility gene, has been widely studied in breast and ovarian cancers. However, there is no report of germline *BRCA1* functional mutation in GBC prior to this case. Even further, the GBC with a *BRCA1* mutation responded to the PARP inhibitor olaparib.

Association of *BRCA1/2* mutations with susceptibility to breast and ovarian cancer has been investigated for

WJG | www.wjgnet.com



Figure 5 One month post-olaparib treatment (August 23, 2015). Computed tomography of the abdomen revealed shrinkage in both the intra- and extra-hepatic lesions and extra-hepatic lesions even appeared to be invisible.



Figure 6 Two and half months post-olaparib treatment (October 9, 2015). Computed tomography of the abdomen indicated that intrahepatic lesions dwindled; nevertheless, extrahepatic lesions became large and progressed.

years. It is estimated that about 60% of women with *BRCA1/2* mutations have developed breast cancer^[14]. A woman who carries a germline *BRCA1/2* mutation could be 5 times more likely to develop breast cancer than one who does not carry any BRCA1/2 mutation^[15]. Men who have *BRCA1/2* mutations are more likely to have prostate or pancreatic cancers. Men are 3.5 times and 8.6 times more likely to develop prostate cancer for *BRCA1* and *BRCA2* mutation carriers by age 65, respectively^[16]. Similar to prostate cancer, *BRCA1/2* poses a risk of pancreatic cancer development. Overall, *BRCA1* mutation increases the risk by 0- to 4.11-fold, while the *BRCA2* mutation increases the risk by 2.13-to 21.7-fold^[17].

The BRCA proteins play a pivotal role in repair of double-strand DNA breaks *via* homologous recombination (HR). Due to deficiency in BRCA proteins, *BRCA*-mutated cells are not capable of locating the DNA recombinase RAD51 to damaged DNA and hence are unable to perform HR efficiently. Subsequently, an error-prone DNA repair mechanism, such as nonhomologous end joining, is compelled to be used by cells, which often leads to cell death. BER, as one of the single-strand DNA break repair mechanisms, is crucial to address damaged single-strand DNA. Olaparib is an oral PARPi, and it was approved by

the Food and Drug Administration and European Commission for the treatment of ovarian cancer with any *BRCA1/2* mutations in 2014. Olaparib, by means of blocking BER, can convert single-strand DNA breaks to double-strand breaks, which gives rise to selective death of HR-deficient tumor cells. Mounting evidence has indicated that *BRCA*-mutated cancers are highly sensitive to PARP inhibitors and platinum agents. Compared with wild-type cells, *BRCA*-mutated cells are 1000-fold and 5-fold more sensitive to PARPi and platinum agents, respectively^[18,19].

In this case, we observed that the intrahepatic lesions had a favorable response to olaparib, while the extrahepatic lesions had a progression with the emergence of olaparib resistance. Despite the fact that olaparib holds considerable promise in targeted therapies for *BRCA*-mutated breast or ovarian cancers, drug resistance has became a potential issue. So far, several resistance mechanisms have been proposed. Olaparib-triggered secondary *BRCA* mutations are perhaps considered as the most well-validated mechanism in patients; others include up-regulation of PgP transporter, loss of 53BP1 as well as PARP expression^[20-22]. The comprehensive genomic alteration testing may provide novel clinical strategies for personalized therapy in advanced GBC. More

WJG | www.wjgnet.com

mechanisms regarding chemoresistance are expected to be explored and understood in the future, which will help develop strategies to re-sensitize tumor cells to PARPi and improve the long-term effectiveness.

COMMENTS

Case characteristics

A 74-year-old man, with a past history of primary hypertension, atrial fibrillation, coronary disease and cholelithiasis, presented with epigastric pain.

Clinical diagnosis

The physical examination revealed tenderness of the epigastrium, without rebound tenderness and muscle tonus.

Differential diagnosis

Hepatocellular carcinoma, intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma, metastatic lesions of non-hepatic origins, gallbladder cancer (GBC).

Laboratory diagnosis

The blood test for tumor markers revealed elevation of carbohydrate antigen 19-9 (4815.0 U/mL) and carcinoembryonic antigen (12.5 ng/mL), while alpha-fetoprotein and prostate specific antigen were within normal limits. The blood test for liver function revealed elevation of total bilirubin (23.0 μ mol/L) and direct bilirubin (9.2 μ mol/L), while alanine aminotransferase was within normal limits and the test for hepatitis virus was negative.

Imaging diagnosis

Computed tomography (CT) revealed multiple low-density intrahepatic lesions as well as the gallbladder lesion. Positron emission tomography-CT (PET-CT) revealed multiple hypermetabolic intrahepatic lesions apart from the porta hepatis.

Pathological diagnosis

Pathological examination revealed GBC with hepatic infiltration.

Treatment

The patient underwent a laparoscopic exploration and an intrahepatic biopsy. Two specimens from different liver metastases and a blood sample were sent for next generation sequencing panel. A germinal *BRCA1* Q858* mutation in both liver metastases was detected and further Sanger sequencing confirmed this result. Based on the gene alteration testing report and the clinical trial studies, the patient was started on olaparib 400 mg twice daily.

Related reports

There is no report of germline *BRCA1* functional mutation in GBC prior to this case. Even further, the GBC with a *BRCA1* mutation responded to the poly ADP-ribose polymerase (PARP) inhibitor olaparib.

Term explanation

BRCA1, the first major breast cancer susceptibility gene, has been widely studied in breast and ovarian cancers; their mutation carriers are at a high risk for cancer development. Olaparib, an oral PARP inhibitor (PARPi), has been approved by the Food and Drug Administration and European Commission for the treatment of ovarian cancer with any *BRCA1*/2 mutations.

Experiences and lessons

This case report describes the response of a germline *BRCA1*-mutated GBC patient to the PARPi olaparib. While the comprehensive genomic alteration testing may provide novel clinical strategies for personalized therapy in advanced GBC, drug resistance has become a potential issue. More discoveries concerning the mechanisms for chemoresistance will help develop strategies to re-sensitize tumor cells to PARPi and improve the long-term effectiveness.

Peer-review

This is a very interesting case report. In this manuscript, the authors reported a 74-year-old man, with a past history of primary hypertension, atrial fibrillation, coronary disease and cholelithiasis, who presented with epigastric pain.

REFERENCES

- Hundal R, Shaffer EA. Gallbladder cancer: epidemiology and outcome. *Clin Epidemiol* 2014; 6: 99-109 [PMID: 24634588 DOI: 10.2147/CLEP.S37357]
- 2 Boutros C, Gary M, Baldwin K, Somasundar P. Gallbladder cancer: past, present and an uncertain future. *Surg Oncol* 2012; 21: e183-e191 [PMID: 23025910 DOI: 10.1016/j.suronc.2012.08.002]
- 3 Dutta U. Gallbladder cancer: can newer insights improve the outcome? J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2012; 27: 642-653 [PMID: 22168580 DOI: 10.1111/j.1440-1746.2011.07048.x]
- 4 Siegel R, Ma J, Zou Z, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2014. *CA Cancer J Clin* 2014; 64: 9-29 [PMID: 24399786 DOI: 10.3322/ caac.21208]
- 5 Ferrone CR, Levine DA, Tang LH, Allen PJ, Jarnagin W, Brennan MF, Offit K, Robson ME. BRCA germline mutations in Jewish patients with pancreatic adenocarcinoma. *J Clin Oncol* 2009; 27: 433-438 [PMID: 19064968 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2008.18.5546]
- 6 Friedenson B. The BRCA1/2 pathway prevents hematologic cancers in addition to breast and ovarian cancers. *BMC Cancer* 2007; 7: 152 [PMID: 17683622 DOI: 10.1186/1471-2407-7-152]
- 7 Friedenson B. BRCA1 and BRCA2 pathways and the risk of cancers other than breast or ovarian. *MedGenMed* 2005; 7: 60 [PMID: 16369438]
- 8 Murai J, Huang SY, Das BB, Renaud A, Zhang Y, Doroshow JH, Ji J, Takeda S, Pommier Y. Trapping of PARP1 and PARP2 by Clinical PARP Inhibitors. *Cancer Res* 2012; 72: 5588-5599 [PMID: 23118055 DOI: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-2753]
- 9 Bryant HE, Schultz N, Thomas HD, Parker KM, Flower D, Lopez E, Kyle S, Meuth M, Curtin NJ, Helleday T. Specific killing of BRCA2-deficient tumours with inhibitors of poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase. *Nature* 2005; **434**: 913-917 [PMID: 15829966 DOI: 10.1038/nature03443]
- 10 Audeh MW, Carmichael J, Penson RT, Friedlander M, Powell B, Bell-McGuinn KM, Scott C, Weitzel JN, Oaknin A, Loman N, Lu K, Schmutzler RK, Matulonis U, Wickens M, Tutt A. Oral poly(ADPribose) polymerase inhibitor olaparib in patients with BRCA1 or BRCA2 mutations and recurrent ovarian cancer: a proof-ofconcept trial. *Lancet* 2010; **376**: 245-251 [PMID: 20609468 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(10)60893-8]
- 11 Gelmon KA, Tischkowitz M, Mackay H, Swenerton K, Robidoux A, Tonkin K, Hirte H, Huntsman D, Clemons M, Gilks B, Yerushalmi R, Macpherson E, Carmichael J, Oza A. Olaparib in patients with recurrent high-grade serous or poorly differentiated ovarian carcinoma or triple-negative breast cancer: a phase 2, multicentre, open-label, non-randomised study. *Lancet Oncol* 2011; 12: 852-861 [PMID: 21862407 DOI: 10.1016/S1470-2045 (11)70214-5]
- 12 Ledermann J, Harter P, Gourley C, Friedlander M, Vergote I, Rustin G, Scott C, Meier W, Shapira-Frommer R, Safra T, Matei D, Macpherson E, Watkins C, Carmichael J, Matulonis U. Olaparib maintenance therapy in platinum-sensitive relapsed ovarian cancer. *N Engl J Med* 2012; **366**: 1382-1392 [PMID: 22452356 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa1105535]
- 13 Bizama C, García P, Espinoza JA, Weber H, Leal P, Nervi B, Roa JC. Targeting specific molecular pathways holds promise for advanced gallbladder cancer therapy. *Cancer Treat Rev* 2015; 41: 222-234 [PMID: 25639632 DOI: 10.1016/j.ctrv.2015.01.003]
- 14 Foulkes WD, Shuen AY. In brief: BRCA1 and BRCA2. J Pathol 2013; 230: 347-349 [PMID: 23620175 DOI: 10.1002/path.4205]
- 15 Cavanagh H, Rogers KM. The role of BRCA1 and BRCA2 mutations in prostate, pancreatic and stomach cancers. *Hered Cancer Clin Pract* 2015; 13: 16 [PMID: 26236408 DOI: 10.1186/

Xie Y et al. BRCA1-mutated gallbladder cancer

s13053-015-0038-x]

- 16 Castro E, Eeles R. The role of BRCA1 and BRCA2 in prostate cancer. Asian J Androl 2012; 14: 409-414 [PMID: 22522501 DOI: 10.1038/aja.2011.150]
- 17 Luo G, Lu Y, Jin K, Cheng H, Guo M, Liu Z, Long J, Liu C, Ni Q, Yu X. Pancreatic cancer: BRCA mutation and personalized treatment. *Expert Rev Anticancer Ther* 2015; 15: 1223-1231 [PMID: 26402249 DOI: 10.1586/14737140.2015.1086271]
- 18 Farmer H, McCabe N, Lord CJ, Tutt AN, Johnson DA, Richardson TB, Santarosa M, Dillon KJ, Hickson I, Knights C, Martin NM, Jackson SP, Smith GC, Ashworth A. Targeting the DNA repair defect in BRCA mutant cells as a therapeutic strategy. *Nature* 2005; 434: 917-921 [PMID: 15829967 DOI: 10.1038/ nature03445]
- 19 Bhattacharyya A, Ear US, Koller BH, Weichselbaum RR, Bishop DK. The breast cancer susceptibility gene BRCA1 is required for subnuclear assembly of Rad51 and survival following treatment with the DNA cross-linking agent cisplatin. *J Biol Chem* 2000; 275: 23899-23903 [PMID: 10843985 DOI: 10.1074/jbc.C000276200]
- 20 Lord CJ, Ashworth A. Mechanisms of resistance to therapies targeting BRCA-mutant cancers. *Nat Med* 2013; 19: 1381-1388 [PMID: 24202391 DOI: 10.1038/nm.3369]
- 21 **Tangutoori S**, Baldwin P, Sridhar S. PARP inhibitors: A new era of targeted therapy. *Maturitas* 2015; **81**: 5-9 [PMID: 25708226 DOI: 10.1016/j.maturitas.2015.01.015]
- 22 Montoni A, Robu M, Pouliot E, Shah GM. Resistance to PARP-Inhibitors in Cancer Therapy. *Front Pharmacol* 2013; 4: 18 [PMID: 23450678 DOI: 10.3389/fphar.2013.00018]
- P- Reviewer: Charco R, Lee MW, Tsegmed U S- Editor: Gong ZM L- Editor: Logan S E- Editor: Zhang FF







Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/ Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v22.i46.10260 World J Gastroenterol 2016 December 14; 22(46): 10260-10266 ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online) © 2016 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

CASE REPORT

Schwannoma in the hepatoduodenal ligament: A case report and literature review

Shao-Yan Xu, Ke Sun, Hai-Yang Xie, Lin Zhou, Shu-Sen Zheng, Wei-Lin Wang

Shao-Yan Xu, Hai-Yang Xie, Lin Zhou, Shu-Sen Zheng, Wei-Lin Wang, Division of Hepatobiliary and Pancreatic Surgery, Department of Surgery, First Affiliated Hospital, School of Medicine, Zhejiang University, Hangzhou 310003, Zhejiang Province, China

Shao-Yan Xu, Hai-Yang Xie, Lin Zhou, Shu-Sen Zheng, Wei-Lin Wang, Key Laboratory of Combined Multi-Organ Transplantation, Ministry of Public Health, Hangzhou 310003, Zhejiang Province, China

Shao-Yan Xu, Hai-Yang Xie, Lin Zhou, Shu-Sen Zheng, Wei-Lin Wang, Key Laboratory of Organ Transplantation, Zhejiang Province, Hangzhou 310003, Zhejiang Province, China

Shao-Yan Xu, Hai-Yang Xie, Lin Zhou, Shu-Sen Zheng, Wei-Lin Wang, Collaborative Innovation Center for Diagnosis and Treatment of Infectious Diseases, First Affiliated Hospital, School of Medicine, Zhejiang University, Hangzhou 310003, Zhejiang Province, China

Shao-Yan Xu, Hai-Yang Xie, Lin Zhou, Shu-Sen Zheng, Wei-Lin Wang, Key Laboratory of Precision Diagnosis and Treatment for Hepatobiliary and Pancreatic Tumor of Zhejiang Province, Hangzhou 310003, Zhejiang Province, China

Ke Sun, Department of Pathology, First Affiliated Hospital, School of Medicine, Zhejiang University, Hangzhou 310003, Zhejiang Province, China

Author contributions: Xu SY collected case data and prepared the photos; Sun K proofread the pathologic materials; Xu SY wrote the manuscript; Xie HY, Zhou L, Zheng SS and Wang WL proofread and revised the manuscript; all authors approved the final version to be published.

Supported by the National Basic Research Program (973 Program) in China, No. 2013CB531403; the Major Program of Science and Technology of Zhejiang Province, No. 2014C13G2010059; the National Natural Science Foundation of China, No. 81172315 and No. 81572307; and the Fund for Innovative Research Groups of the National Natural Science Foundation of China, No. 81421062.

Institutional review board statement: The study was reviewed

and approved by the Institutional Review Board of the First Affiliated Hospital, School of Medicine, Zhejiang University, Hangzhou, China.

Informed consent statement: Informed consent was obtained from the patient.

Conflict-of-interest statement: The authors declare that there is no conflict of interest related to this report.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Manuscript source: Unsolicited manuscript

Correspondence to: Wei-Lin Wang, PhD, MD, Division of Hepatobiliary and Pancreatic Surgery, Department of Surgery, First Affiliated Hospital, School of Medicine, Zhejiang University, No. 79 Qingchun Road, Hangzhou 310003, Zhejiang Province, China. wam@zju.edu.cn Telephone: +86-571-87236466 Fax: +86-571-87236466

Received: July 13, 2016 Peer-review started: July 15, 2016 First decision: August 29, 2016 Revised: September 13, 2016 Accepted: September 28, 2016 Article in press: September 28, 2016 Published online: December 14, 2016

Abstract

Schwannomas are mesenchymal neoplasms with low malignant potential that arise from Schwann cells. They can occur almost anywhere, although the most common

locations are the head, neck and extremities. Primary benign schwannoma of the hepatoduodenal ligament is rare. To date, only three cases have been reported in the English literature. In the present study, we report a case of hepatoduodenal ligament schwannoma in a 43-year-old male, who was admitted to our hospital because of a abdominal mass found by physical examination. It was hard to determine the definitive location and diagnosis of the mass using ultrasound, computed tomography and magnetic resonance cholangiopancreatography. During laparotomy, the mass was found in the hepatoduodenal ligament and close to the cholecystic duct, so we resected the gallbladder and cholecystic duct along with the mass. The gross specimen revealed an 8.5 cm \times 5.5 cm \times 3.0 cm localized tumor. Microscopic examination showed that the tumor was mainly composed of spindle-shaped cells. Immunohistochemical staining showed a strong positive S-100 protein reaction. Finally, the lesion was diagnosed as a benign schwannoma in the hepatoduodenal ligament. However, one month later, the patient was readmitted to our hospital because of skin and sclera jaundice caused by common bile duct stenosis without common bile duct stone or tumor. The patient recovered well after implantation of a common bile duct stent under endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography. He was followed up for a period of 17 mo, during which he was well with no complications.

Key words: Schwannoma; Hepatoduodenal ligament; Endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography; Laparotomy; Jaundice

© **The Author(s) 2016.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core tip: To date, only three cases of the hepatoduodenal ligament schwannomas have been reported in the English literature. We present the fourth hepatoduodenal ligament schwannoma. It is challenging to determine the location and obtain a precise diagnosis prior to operation. Following complete tumor excision, patients with benign schwannomas generally have a good prognosis. Common bile duct stenosis after resection of the schwannoma in hepatoduodenal ligament has not been reported and we present the first one cured by implanting a common bile duct stent under endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography. We also conduct a literature review so as to deepen the understanding of the subject.

Xu SY, Sun K, Xie HY, Zhou L, Zheng SS, Wang WL. Schwannoma in the hepatoduodenal ligament: A case report and literature review. *World J Gastroenterol* 2016; 22(46): 10260-10266 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet. com/1007-9327/full/v22/i46/10260.htm DOI: http://dx.doi. org/10.3748/wjg.v22.i46.10260

INTRODUCTION

Schwannomas are neurogenic tumors originating from the Schwann cells in nerve sheaths^[1]. They can occur in patients at all ages with no obvious gender difference. As revealed by cytogenetic analysis, most schwannomas showed either monosomy 22 or loss of 22q material^[2]. More than 90% of schwannomas are benign and comprise about 5% of benign soft-tissue neoplasms^[3,4]. They can arise in almost every location, although the most common sites are the head, neck and extremities^[5]. Schwannomas in the hepatoduodenal ligament are uncommon and only three cases have been reported in the English literature^[6-8]. Patients with schwannomas in the hepatoduodenal ligament are normally asymptomatic and the tumors are found incidentally. We present a case of hepatoduodenal ligament schwannoma in a 43-year-old male and review the literature. He is believed to be the first patient with subsequent common bile duct stenosis after complete removal of hepatoduodenal ligament schwannoma and to be cured by implantation of a common bile duct stent under endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography (ERCP).

CASE REPORT

On November 21, 2014, a 43-year-old male was admitted to our hospital for physical examination. His abdomen was soft, lax and nondistended without evidence of a palpable mass. His family history had no significant disease. Laboratory results were normal. Ultrasound (US) revealed an 8.3 cm × 5.2 cm, welldefined hypodense lesion, between the pancreatic head and portal vein. No blood flow signal was found within the mass by Color Doppler US. An unenhanced computed tomography (CT) scan showed an 8.2 cm \times 5.1 cm well-defined cystic and solid mass above the pancreatic head and adjacent to the common hepatic artery. The pancreaticoduodenal artery was compressed by the mass. On contrast-enhanced CT, the mass showed no obvious enhancement (Figure 1B). Computed tomography angiography showed that the blood supply of the tumor was probably from the branches of the pancreaticoduodenal artery (Figure 1C). Magnetic resonance cholangiopancreatography (MRCP) showed that the mass was inhomogeneous and hyperintense on T2-weighted images and probably located in the pancreatic head, and the middle-low segment of the common bile duct was compressed (Figure 2). According to the imaging examinations, an abdominal mass was primarily considered.

After sufficient preoperative preparation, exploratory laparotomy was performed. We found a mass surrounded by a fibrous capsule in the hepatoduodenal ligament, closely adjacent to the gallbladder, cholecystic duct, common bile duct, portal vein, right hepatic artery, duodenum and postcava, without biliary

Baishideng®

Xu SY et al. Schwannoma in the hepatoduodenal ligament



Figure 1 Computed tomography findings. A: An unenhanced computed tomography (CT) scan showed an 8.2 cm × 5.1 cm well-defined cystic and solid mass (arrow) above the pancreatic head and adjacent to the common hepatic artery; B: On contrast-enhanced CT, the mass (arrow) showed no obvious enhancement; C: CT angiography showed that the tumor blood supply (arrow) was probably from branches of the pancreaticoduodenal artery.



Figure 2 Magnetic resonance cholangiopancreatography findings. A: Magnetic resonance cholangiopancreatography (MRCP) showed that the mass (arrow) was inhomogeneous and hyperintense on T2-weighted images and probably located in the pancreatic head; B: The middle-low segment of the common bile duct was compressed.

duct dilatation. The tumor blood supply was mainly from the surrounding vessels of the duodenum. We carefully separated these tissues around the tumor and ligated the tumor blood vessels. However, the mass and cholecystic duct were too close to separate, so we resected the gallbladder and cholecystic duct along with the mass. Intraoperative frozen-section pathology could not offer an accurate diagnosis and only suggested a soft-tissue tumor.

Macroscopically, there was a mass in the hepatoduodenal ligament 8.5 cm × 5.5 cm × 3.0 cm in size and yellowish-white in color. Microscopically, the tumor had a capsule that was adjacent to the cholecystic duct (Figure 3A) and mainly consisted of spindleshaped cells with no atypia, compatible with a benign schwannoma with both hypercellular and hypocellular areas visible (Figure 3B). Immunohistochemical investigation showed that protein S-100 was positive (Figure 3C), while CD34 (Figure 3D), CD117 and smooth muscle actin (SMA) were negative. Finally, the tumor was diagnosed as schwannoma in the hepatoduodenal ligament. After surgery, the patient recovered uneventfully and left the hospital 6 d later. However, one month later, the patient was readmitted to our hospital because of skin and sclera jaundice without abdominal distension, abdominal pain, fever, nausea and vomiting. Laboratory results were: total bilirubin 113 μ mol/L (0-21), direct bilirubin 76 μ mol/L (0-5), indirect bilirubin 37 μ mol/L (3-14), aspartate transaminase 301 U/L (8-40), alanine transaminase 543 U/L (5-35), alkaline phosphatase 452 U/L (40-150), γ -glutamyl transpeptidase (GGT) 441 U/L (11-50) and creatinine 90 μ mol/L (45-84). No other abnormal laboratory results were found.

US showed that the intra- and extrahepatic bile ducts were expanded. The diameter of the initial segment of the common bile duct was 1.1 cm with no mass or stones in the duct. MRCP showed that the middle common bile duct segment was narrow and even interrupted, while the higher common bile duct segment and intrahepatic bile ducts were expanded (Figure 4). So, the patient was diagnosed with jaundice caused by common bile duct stenosis. Under ERCP, we implanted a stent into the strictured common bile duct (Figure 5). One day later, the patient recovered well and left our hospital. He was followed up for 17 mo,

WJG | www.wjgnet.com



Figure 3 Microscopic examination and immunohistochemical staining. A: Microscopically, the tumor (red arrow) with a capsule (black arrow) was adjacent to the cholecystic duct (green arrow) (HE, × 200); B: The tumor mainly consisted of spindle-shaped cells with both hypercellular and hypocellular areas (HE, × 200). Immunohistochemical investigation showed that the tumor was positive for protein S-100 (C) and negative for CD34 (D) (HE, × 100). HE: Hematoxylin and eosin.



Figure 4 Magnetic resonance cholangiopancreatography findings after surgery. Magnetic resonance cholangiopancreatography showed that the middle common bile duct segment was narrow and even interrupted (arrow), while the higher common bile duct segment and intrahepatic bile ducts were expanded.

during which, he was well with no complications.

DISCUSSION

Schwannomas are neoplasms that originate from Schwann cells of nerve sheaths^[9]. More than 90% of schwannomas are benign and comprise only approximately 5% of benign soft-tissue neoplasms^[5]. Schwannomas can occur in patients at any age with no significant gender difference, but are most commonly found in patients between 20 and 50 years old^[5]. They

can arise almost anywhere, although the head, neck and extremities are the most common sites^[10]. In the abdominal cavity, the retroperitoneum (6% of primary retroperitoneal tumors)^[11] and stomach^[12] are the most frequently involved sites. However, schwannomas in the ligaments^[13], bowel mesentery^[14] and abdominal organs including the gallbladder^[15], pancreas^[16] and liver^[17] are rare. To the best of our knowledge, only three cases of schwannoma in the hepatoduodenal ligament have been reported^[6-8]. The clinical characteristics of these cases including the present one are shown in Table 1. One patient was female and the other three patients were male, aged 62, 29, 50 and 43 years, respectively (mean age, 46 years). One patient presented with pain in the right abdomen following trauma and a mass in the hepatoduodenal ligament was occasionally found by imaging. The remaining patients were all asymptomatic and the masses were found by routine physical examination. Although every patient received more than two imaging examinations, none was accurately diagnosed as schwannoma in the hepatoduodenal ligament preoperatively.

Accurate preoperative diagnosis of the tumor is a huge challenge because neither the clinical symptoms nor the radiological characteristics of schwannomas are specific. Definitive diagnosis can only be determined by histopathological and immunohistochemical examinations of surgical specimens. Schwannomas are encapsulated tumors that consist of hypercellular Xu SY et al. Schwannoma in the hepatoduodenal ligament

| Table 1 Clinical characteristic of the four patients with benign schwannoma in the hepatoduodenal ligament | | | | | | | | | | |
|--|------|---------|----------------------|-----------------------------------|----------|-----------------|---|-------------------------|-------------------|----------|
| Ref. | Year | Sex/age | Symptom | Imaging method | No. | Size (cm) | Preoperative diagnosis | Treatment | Follow-up (mo) | Status |
| Nagafuchi et al ^[6] | 1993 | F/62 | Asymptomatic | US, CT, ERC, CA | Solitary | 9 × 5 × 4.5 | NA | Laparotomy | 26 | Survived |
| Pinto <i>et al</i> ^[7] | 2011 | M/29 | Asymptomatic | US, endoscopy, US, biopsy, MRI | Solitary | 4.5 × 2.9 | Spindle cell neoplasia or stromal tumor | Laparotomy | NA | NA |
| Tao <i>et al</i> ^[8] | 2016 | M/50 | Right abdominal pain | US, CT | Solitary | 4.5 × 2.5 × 2.5 | Stromal tumor | Laparoscopic surgery | 7 | Survived |
| Present case | 2016 | M/43 | Asymptomatic | US, CT, MRCP, CTA, ERCP | Solitary | 8.5 × 5.5 × 3.0 | Abdominal mass | Laparotomy | 17 | Survived |

NA: Not available; US: Ultrasound; CT: computed tomography; MRI: Magnetic resonance imaging; MRCP: Magnetic resonance cholangiopancreatography; CTA: Computed tomography angiography; ERC: Endoscopic retrograde cholangiography; CA: Celiac angiography; ERCP: Endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography.



Figure 5 Endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography. Under Endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography, a stent was implanted into the strictured common bile duct.

(Antoni type A) and hypocellular (Antoni type B) areas, with varying amounts of these two histological components^[8]. The former is composed of closely packed spindle cells with occasional nuclear palisading, as well as Verocay bodies. The latter consists of loosely arranged tumor cells and abundant myxoid stroma. Occasionally, these may degenerate and become cystic^[8]. Immunohistochemically, schwannomas are strongly positive for S-100, and negative for desmin, smooth muscle myosin, SMA, CD34 and CD117^[18].

Precise diagnosis of these tumors prior to operation is difficult. Multiple imaging modalities including US, CT and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) can be performed to establish a probable diagnosis. Schwanommas are usually showed as well-defined hypodense lesions by US and no echoic enhancement is demonstrated by Color Doppler US^[8]. On unenhanced CT, schwannomas are usually well-defined hypodense lesions with encapsulation and/or cystic degeneration. Schwannomas with high Antoni A areas appear inhomogeneous due to increased lipid content. Antoni B areas of schwannomas appear cystic and multiseptated and show low density due to loose stroma and low cellularity^[2]. On contrast-enhanced CT, Antoni A areas are usually enhancing lesions, whereas Antoni B areas are frequently nonenhancing lesions^[8]. On MRI, the schwanommas typically appear hypointense on T1-weighted images and inhomogeneous and hyperintense on T2-weighted images^[2,19]. By outlining the degree of vascular involvement of the tumor, MRI is also useful to assess the potential biological behavior of these tumors as benign or malignant^[19]. Endoscopic US (EUS) is helpful to clarify the location and nature of the mass^[7]. In addition, celiac angiography can be used to indicate the arteries supplying the tumor^[6]. EUSfine needle aspiration (FNA) may contribute to precise preoperative diagnosis. In a case reported by Li et al^[20], a pancreatic schwannoma was accurately diagnosed preoperatively by EUS-FNA. In another report, three cases of asymptomatic retroperitoneal tumors were diagnosed as benign schwannomas by EUS-FNA, thus avoiding surgical resection^[21].

Surgery can demonstrate the tumor site and be curative. In the present case, we found by laparotomy that the mass was located in the hepatoduodenal ligament and adjacent to important tissues and organs including the gallbladder, cholecystic duct, common bile duct, duodenum and postcava. The tumor vascular supply was mainly from the surrounding vessels of the duodenum. We carefully separated these tissues around the tumor and ligated the blood vessels. However, the mass and cholecystic duct was too close to separate, so the gallbladder and cholecystic duct were removed completely along with the tumor. Histopathological and immunohistochemical examinations of surgical specimens showed a schwannoma in the hepatoduodenal ligament. However, 1 mo later, the patient was readmitted to our hospital because of jaundice and diagnosed with obstruction of the common bile duct without a mass or stones in the duct. Fortunately, the patient was cured by implantation of a common bile duct stent under ERCP.

In conclusion, schwannoma in the hepatoduodenal ligament is rare. We have presented the fourth hepatoduodenal ligament schwannoma. It is a challenge to determine the location and obtain a precise diagnosis prior to surgery, although multiple imaging modalities

Baishideng®

WJG www.wjgnet.com

are used. Following complete tumor excision, patients with benign schwannomas generally have good prognosis. Common bile duct stenosis after resection of schwannoma in the hepatoduodenal ligament has not been reported previously. We have presented the first case to be cured by implantation of a common bile duct stent under ERCP.

COMMENTS

Case characteristics

A 43-year-old man was referred to our hospital because of an abdominal mass found by physical examination.

Clinical diagnosis

The abdomen was soft, lax and nondistended without evidence of a palpable mass.

Differential diagnosis

Abdominal sarcoma, abdominal neurogenic tumor, pancreatic cancer and cholangiocarcinoma.

Laboratory diagnosis

Before surgery, laboratory results were normal.

Imaging diagnosis

Ultrasound (US) revealed an 8.3 cm × 5.2 cm, well-defined hypodense lesion between the pancreatic head and portal vein. No blood flow signal was found within the mass by Color Doppler US. An unenhanced computed tomography (CT) scan showed an 8.2 cm × 5.1 cm well-defined cystic and solid mass above the pancreatic head and adjacent to the common hepatic artery. The pancreaticoduodenal artery was compressed by the mass. On contrast-enhanced CT, the mass showed no obvious enhancement. Computed tomography angiography showed that the blood supply of the tumor was probably from branches of the pancreaticoduodenal artery. Magnetic resonance cholangiopancreatography showed that the mass was inhomogeneous and hyperintense on T2-weighted images and probably located in the pancreatic head, with compression of the middle-low segment of the common bile duct. According to imaging examinations, an abdominal mass was primarily considered.

Pathological diagnosis

Microscopically, the tumor had a capsule and was adjacent to the cholecystic duct (Figure 3A), and mainly consisted of spindle-shaped cells with no atypia, compatible with a benign schwannoma with both hypercellular and hypocellular areas. Immunohistochemical investigation showed that the tumor was positive for protein S-100, but negative for CD34, CD117 and smooth muscle actin. Finally, the tumor was diagnosed as a schwannoma in the hepatoduodenal ligament.

Treatment

The patient underwent complete resection of the gallbladder and cholecystic duct along with the tumor in the hepatoduodenal ligament.

Related reports

Schwannoma in the hepatoduodenal ligament is rare. To date, only four cases have been reported in the English literature, including our case presented in this report.

Experiences and lessons

It is a challenge to determine the location and obtain a precise diagnosis prior to surgery, although multiple imaging modalities are used. Following complete tumor excision, patients with benign schwannomas generally have good prognosis. Common bile duct stenosis after resection of the schwannoma in

Xu SY et al. Schwannoma in the hepatoduodenal ligament

hepatoduodenal ligament has not been reported and we present the first case to be cured by implantation of a common bile duct stent under endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography.

Peer-review

This study highlights the diagnosis and treatment of a rare schwannoma in hepatoduodenal ligament and the authors also conducted a literature review so as to deepen the understanding of the subject. The information of this paper is valuable to the readers.

REFERENCES

- 1 Le Guellec S. [Nerve sheath tumours]. *Ann Pathol* 2015; **35**: 54-70 [PMID: 25541115 DOI: 10.1016/j.annpat.2014.11.008]
- 2 J D, R S, K C, Devi NR. Pancreatic schwannoma a rare case report. J Clin Diagn Res 2014; 8: FD15-FD16 [PMID: 25177575 DOI: 10.7860/JCDR/2014/8465.4642]
- 3 Ariel IM. Tumors of the peripheral nervous system. *CA Cancer J Clin* 1983; **33**: 282-299 [PMID: 6413007]
- 4 Pilavaki M, Chourmouzi D, Kiziridou A, Skordalaki A, Zarampoukas T, Drevelengas A. Imaging of peripheral nerve sheath tumors with pathologic correlation: pictorial review. *Eur J Radiol* 2004; **52**: 229-239 [PMID: 15544900 DOI: 10.1016/ j.ejrad.2003.12.001]
- 5 Das Gupta TK, Brasfield RD. Tumors of peripheral nerve origin: benign and malignant solitary schwannomas. *CA Cancer J Clin* 1970; 20: 228-233 [PMID: 4316984]
- 6 Nagafuchi Y, Mitsuo H, Takeda S, Ohsato K, Tsuneyoshi M, Enjoji M. Benign schwannoma in the hepatoduodenal ligament: report of a case. *Surg Today* 1993; 23: 68-72 [PMID: 7681709]
- 7 Pinto J, Afonso M, Veloso R, Tente D, Fernandes S, Proença L, Carvalho J, Pontes JM, Fraga J. Benign schwannoma of the hepatoduodenal ligament. *Endoscopy* 2011; 43 Suppl 2 UCTN: E195-E196 [PMID: 21590600 DOI: 10.1055/s-0030-1256354]
- 8 Tao L, Xu S, Ren Z, Lu Y, Kong X, Weng X, Xie Z, Hu Z. Laparoscopic resection of benign schwannoma in the hepatoduodenal ligament: A case report and review of the literature. *Oncol Lett* 2016; 11: 3349-3353 [PMID: 27123115 DOI: 10.3892/ ol.2016.4410]
- 9 Das Gupta TK, Brasfield RD, Strong EW, Hajdu SI. Benign solitary Schwannomas (neurilemomas). *Cancer* 1969; 24: 355-366 [PMID: 5796779]
- 10 Abell MR, Hart WR, Olson JR. Tumors of the peripheral nervous system. *Hum Pathol* 1970; 1: 503-551 [PMID: 4330996]
- 11 Xu SY, Sun K, Xie HY, Zhou L, Zheng SS, Wang WL. Hemorrhagic, calcified, and ossified benign retroperitoneal schwannoma: First case report. *Medicine* (Baltimore) 2016; 95: e4318 [PMID: 27472709 DOI: 10.1097/md.00000000004318]
- 12 Tao K, Chang W, Zhao E, Deng R, Gao J, Cai K, Wang G, Zhang P. Clinicopathologic Features of Gastric Schwannoma: 8-Year Experience at a Single Institution in China. *Medicine* (Baltimore) 2015; 94: e1970 [PMID: 26559271 DOI: 10.1097/ md.000000000001970]
- 13 Bayraktutan U, Kantarci M, Ozgokce M, Aydinli B, Atamanalp SS, Sipal S. Education and Imaging. Gastrointestinal: benign cystic schwannoma localized in the gastroduodenal ligament; a rare case. *J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2012; 27: 985 [PMID: 22515807 DOI: 10.1111/j.1440-1746.2012.06960.x]
- 14 Tang SX, Sun YH, Zhou XR, Wang J. Bowel mesentery (mesoappendix) microcystic/reticular schwannoma: case report and literature review. *World J Gastroenterol* 2014; 20: 1371-1376 [PMID: 24574814 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v20.i5.1371]
- 15 Liu LN, Xu HX, Zheng SG, Sun LP, Guo LH, Wu J. Solitary schwannoma of the gallbladder: a case report and literature review. *World J Gastroenterol* 2014; 20: 6685-6690 [PMID: 24914396 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v20.i21.6685]
- 16 Nishikawa T, Shimura K, Tsuyuguchi T, Kiyono S, Yokosuka O. Contrast-enhanced harmonic EUS of pancreatic schwannoma. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2016; 83: 463-464 [PMID: 26341855 DOI:

Xu SY et al. Schwannoma in the hepatoduodenal ligament

10.1016/j.gie.2015.08.041]

- 17 Xu SY, Guo H, Shen Y, Sun K, Xie HY, Zhou L, Zheng SS, Wang WL. Multiple schwannomas synchronously occurring in the porta hepatis, liver, and gallbladder: first case report. *Medicine* (Baltimore) 2016; 95: e4378 [PMID: 27537565 DOI: 10.1097/md.00000000004378]
- 18 Weiss SW, Langloss JM, Enzinger FM. Value of S-100 protein in the diagnosis of soft tissue tumors with particular reference to benign and malignant Schwann cell tumors. *Lab Invest* 1983; 49: 299-308 [PMID: 6310227]
- 19 Rha SE, Byun JY, Jung SE, Chun HJ, Lee HG, Lee JM.

Neurogenic tumors in the abdomen: tumor types and imaging characteristics. *Radiographics* 2003; **23**: 29-43 [PMID: 12533638 DOI: 10.1148/rg.231025050]

- 20 Li S, Ai SZ, Owens C, Kulesza P. Intrapancreatic schwannoma diagnosed by endoscopic ultrasound-guided fine-needle aspiration cytology. *Diagn Cytopathol* 2009; 37: 132-135 [PMID: 19031416 DOI: 10.1002/dc.20985]
- 21 Kudo T, Kawakami H, Kuwatani M, Ehira N, Yamato H, Eto K, Kubota K, Asaka M. Three cases of retroperitoneal schwannoma diagnosed by EUS-FNA. *World J Gastroenterol* 2011; 17: 3459-3464 [PMID: 21876639 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v17.i29.3459]

P-Reviewer: Armstrong N, Pavlovic M S-Editor: Qi Y L-Editor: A E-Editor: Zhang FF







Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc

8226 Regency Drive, Pleasanton, CA 94588, USA Telephone: +1-925-223-8242 Fax: +1-925-223-8243 E-mail: bpgoffice@wjgnet.com Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx http://www.wjgnet.com





© 2016 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.